





Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2007 with funding from Microsoft Corporation

平平至

# SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY

/// BULLETIN 39

## TLINGIT MYTHS AND TEXTS

RECORDED BY

## JOHN R. SWANTON



21/12/09

WASHINGTON
GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
1909

E 51 U6 ho,39

## LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

SMITHSONIAN INSTITUTION,
BUREAU OF AMERICAN ETHNOLOGY,
Washington, D. C., May 20, 1908.

SIR: I have the honor to submit herewith for your consideration the manuscript of Tlingit Myths and Texts, by Dr. John R. Swanton, with the recommendation that it be published in this Bureau's series of Bulletins.

Yours, respectfully,

W. H. Holmes, Chief.

The Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D. C.



## CONTENTS

	Page
Phonetic Key	VIII
Introduction	1
Myths Recorded in English at Sitka	3
1. Raven	3
2. The Big Clam	21
3. English Version of the Story of the Four Brothers	22
4. Origin of the Killer Whale	25
5. Kaka'	28
6. The Land-otter Sister	29
7. The Land-otter Son	30
8. The Wolf-chief's Son	33
9. Wolverine-man	36
10. The Halibut People	38
11. Stories of the Monster Devilfish and the Cry-baby	40
12. The Woman who was Killed by a Clam	41
13. Root-stump	41
14. The Protracted Winter	43
15. Beaver and Porcupine	43
16. The Poor Man who Caught Wonderful Things	45
17. The Finding of the Blue Paint, and How a Certain Creek Received its Name	46
18. Various Adventures near Cross Sound	47
19. Kāts!	49
20. The Unsuccessful Hunters.	50
21. Origin of Iceberg House	52
22. The Woman Taken Away by the Frog People.	53
23. How the Frogs Honored the Dead.	54
24. The Brant Wives.	55
25. Story of the Puffin	57
26. Story of the Wain-house People.	58
27. The Alsek River People	64
28. The Youthful Warrior	69
29. The First War in the World.	72
30. How Protestant Christianity was First Heard Of at Sitka	79
Myths Recorded in English at Wrangell.	80
31. Raven	80
32. Kakē/qļutê	154
33. Origin of the Gonaq Ade't	165
34. A Story of the Gonaq Ade't	170
35. Origin of the Llê'naxxī'daq	173
36. The Thunders	175
37. Origin of the Screech Owl	176
38. Little Felon	177
39. Origin of the Fern Root and the Ground Hog	180
40. The Halibut that Divided the Queen Charlotte Islands	180
To. The manner that Divided the Queen Charlotte Islands	100

## CONTENTS

	Recorded in English at Wrangell—Continued.	Page
	The Image that Came to Life	181
42.	Djīyī'n	182
43.	The Self-burning Fire	186
44.	The Giant of Tā'sna	187
45.	The Woman who Married a Land Otter	187
	The Land-otters' Captive	188
47.	The Man Fed from the Sky	189
48.	The Salmon Sack	192
	Roots.	192
	The Mucus Child	194
51.	The Salmon Chief	196
	The Jealous Uncle	198
	The Man who Married the Eagle	203
	The Brant Wife	206
	The Duck Helper	208
	The Boy who Shot the Star	209
	The Boy and the Giant.	212
	The Boy with Arrows on his Head.	214
	Gamnā/tck!î	215
	The Hīn-tayī'cî	217
	The East and North Winds.	219
	The Big Beaver	219
	9	220
	Beaver and Porcupine The Man who Entertained the Bears.	220
	Mountain Dweller	222
	How the Sitka Kîksa'dî Obtained the Frog.	
		224
	Qāqlatcgū'k	225
	The Beaver of Killisnoo.	227
	Story of the Grizzly-bear Crest of the Te'qoedî	228
70.	Story of the Eagle Crest of the Nexa'dî	229
	Story of the Killer-whale Crest of the Daqulawe'dì	230
	Story of the Nanyaā'yî Crests	231
	Story of the Frog Crest of the Kîksa'dî of Wrangell	232
	Story of the Kā/gwantān Crests	233
	Migration of the Gānaxa'dî to Tongass	233
	The Woman who Married the Frog.	236
	The Girl who Married the L!AL!	237
	The Woman who Married a Tree	238
	The Girl who Married the Fire Spirit.	239
	Orphan	240
	The Dead Basket-maker	240
	The Crying-for Medicine	241
	The Runaway Wife	242
	The Rejected Lover	243
	The Faithless Wife	245
	The Woman who Married the Dead Man	247
	The Returned from Spirit Land	249
88.	The Sky Country	250
Texts		252
	The Origin of Copper	252
	The Man who was Abandoned	262
91.	The Shaman who Went into the Fire, and the Heron's Son	267
92.	Mountain Dweller	280

CONTENTS	VII
Cexts—Continued.	Page
93. Kāhā'slî, the Strong Man	289
94. The Llê'naxxī'daq	292
95. Origin of the Frog Crest among the Kîksa'di	294
96. How the Kîksa'dî Came to Sitka	295
97. The Four Brothers	297
98. The Kîksa'dî Woman who was Turned into an Owl	299
99. Moldy-end	301
100. Moldy-end (Wrangell version)	311
101. Qāq!Atcgū'k	321
102. The Sea-lion Hunt	324
103. The War in the Spruce Canoe.	325
104. Story of the Kā/gwantān	326
105. Story of the Kå/ckle qoan	347
106. Origin of a Low-caste Name	369
The Tobacco Feast	372
Speeches Delivered at a Feast when a Pole was Erected for the Dead	374
Words of Songs Taken in connection with Graphophone Records	390
Abstracts of Myths	416
Myths recorded in English at Sitka	416
Myths recorded in English at Wrangell	429

#### PHONETIC KEY

- ā a longer and shorter forms of the Continental a, like a in far
- â as in fall
- A as in final; a close approximation to u in cut
- ē e longer and shorter forms of the Continental e, like a in fate
- ê as in bell
- i i longer and shorter forms of the Continental i, like ee in street
- î as in hit
- ō o longer and shorter forms of English o, as in flow
- ū as in rule
- u as in put
- " barely formed o and u sounds; rather qualities of the preceding consonant sounds than independent vowels
- q the velar k, not found in English
- g the velar g corresponding to the preceding, not found in English
- $\dot{y}$  a sound similar to but deeper than the preceding, pronounced by the younger Indians almost like English y
- $\mathbf{x}$  the velar spirant, pronounced like Spanish j or German ch
- $\dot{x}$  the palatal spirant, often mistaken for h
- c like English sh in short
- dž as in adze
- ts as in sits
- dj like English j and dg in judge
- tc like English ch in church
- L not found in English, but resembling a rapid pronunciation of t and l, or of k and l
- not found in English, but resembling a rapid pronunciation of d and l
- i a spirant belonging to the same series as the preceding; not found in English though often represented by thl or hl
- t, d, n, s, k, g, h, w, y approximate the sounds for which they stand in English though the agreement is by no means absolute
- t!, s!, ts!, tc!, L!, k!, q! are similar to t, s, ts, tc, L, k, q, but are accompanied by a catch in the breath which sometimes gives the impression of a pause, and sometimes sounds like a sharp click
- k! when k! is pronounced very far forward in the mouth it is sometimes set off in this way, but the distinction between the two sounds is by no means clear
- Labials are found only in a few words of foreign origin

## TLINGIT MYTHS AND TEXTS

Recorded by John R. Swanton

#### INTRODUCTION

The following myths and texts were collected at Sitka and Wrangell, Alaska, in January, February, March, and April, 1904, at the same time as the material contained in the writer's paper on the Social Condition, Beliefs, and Linguistic Relationship of the Tlingit Indians published in the Twenty-sixth Annual Report of the Bureau. For further information regarding these people the reader is referred to that paper, to Krause's Tlinkit Indianer (Jena, 1885), Emmons' Basketry of the Tlingit Indians, Niblack's Coast Indians of Southern Alaska and Northern British Columbia, Dall's Alaska and its Resources. Boas's Indianische Sagen von der Nord Pacifischen Küste Amerikas (Berlin, 1895), and the same writer in the Fifth Report of the Committee Appointed by the British Association for the Advancement of Science, to Investigate the Northwestern Tribes of Canada, and the two special reports on Alaska for the censuses of 1880 and 1890. Most of the ethnologic information contained in the works of Veniaminoff and other early writers is incorporated into the work of Krause.

Stories 7, 19, 94, 101, 102, and 103 were related by the writer's Sitka interpreter, Don Cameron, of the Chilkat Kā'gwantān; stories 96 and 97 by Katlian, chief of the Kîksa'dî; story 105 by a Yakutat man. O!ā'dastin; and all the other Sitka stories, including the texts numbered 89-93, 95, 98, 99, and 104-by an old man of the Box-house people, named Dekinā'k!u. From Katishan, chief of the Kasq!ague'dî of Wrangell, were obtained stories 31, 32, 33, 38, 65, 67, 68, 69, 70, 71, 72, 73, 74, 100, 106, and the potlatch speeches. Stories 34, 35, 42, 50, 52, 53, 54, 57, 64, and 75 were related by an old Kake man named Kasā'nk!, and the remaining Wrangell tales by Katishan's mother. The last-mentioned has lived for a considerable time among the whites at Victoria, but with one exception her stories appear to have been influenced little by the fact. Her son has been a church member and shows a moralizing tendency; at the same time he was considered the best speaker at feasts in past times, and is supposed to have a better knowledge of the myths than anyone else in Wrangell. Dekinā'k!u of Sitka is also a church member but his stories appear to be entirely after the ancient patterns.



## MYTHS RECORDED IN ENGLISH AT SITKA

### 1. RAVEN<sup>a</sup>

No one knows just how the story of Raven really begins, so each starts from the point where he does know it. Here it was always begun in this way. Raven was first called Kit-ka'ositiyi-qā-yīt ("Son of Kit-ka'ositiyi-qā"). When his son was born, Kit-ka'ositiyi-qā tried to instruct him and train him in every way and, after he grew up, told him he would give him strength to make a world. After trying in all sorts of ways Raven finally succeeded. Then there was no light in this world, but it was told him that far up the Nass was a large house in which some one kept light just for himself.

Raven thought over all kinds of plans for getting this light into the world and finally he hit on a good one The rich man living there had a daughter, and he thought, "I will make myself very small and drop into the water in the form of a small piece of dirt." The girl swallowed this dirt and became pregnant. When her time was completed, they made a hole for her, as was customary, in which she was to bring forth, and lined it with rich furs of all sorts. But the child did not wish to be born on those fine things. Then its grandfather felt sad and said, "What do you think it would be best to put into that hole? Shall we put in moss?" So they put moss inside and the baby was born on it. Its eyes were very bright and moved around rapidly.

Round bundles of varying shapes and sizes hung about on the walls of the house. When the child became a little larger it crawled around back of the people weeping continually, and as it cried it pointed to the bundles. This lasted many days. Then its grandfather said, "Give my grandchild what he is crying for. Give him that one hanging on the end. That is the bag of stars." So the child played with this, rolling it about on the floor back of the people, until suddenly he let it go up through the smoke hole. It went straight up into the sky and the stars scattered out of it, arranging themselves as you now see them. That was what he went there for.

Some time after this he began crying again, and he cried so much that it was thought he would die Then his grandfather said, "Untie the next one and give it to him He played and played with it around behind his mother. After a while he let that go up through the smoke hole also, and there was the big moon.

Now just one thing more remained, the box that held the daylight, and he cried for that. His eyes turned around and showed different colors, and the people began thinking that he must be something other than an ordinary baby. But it always happens that a grandfather loves his grandchild just as he does his own daughter, so the grandfather said, "Untie the last thing and give it to him. "His grandfather felt very sad when he gave this to him. When the child had this in his hands, he uttered the raven cry, "Ģā," and flew out with it through the smoke hole. Then the person from whom he had stolen it said, "That old manuring raven has gotten all of my things."

Journeying on, Raven was told of another place, where a man had an everlasting spring of water. This man was named Petrel (Ganū'k). Raven wanted this water because there was none to drink in this world but Petrel always slept by his spring, and he had a cover over it so as to keep it all to himself. Then Raven came in and said to him, "My brother-in-law, I have just come to see you." How are you?" He told Petrel of all kinds of things that were happening outside, trying to induce him to go out to look at them, but Petrel was too smart for him and refused.

When night came, Raven said, "I am going to sleep with you, brother-in-law." So they went to bed, and toward morning Raven heard Petrel sleeping very soundly. Then he went outside, took some dog manure and put it around Petrel's buttocks. When it was beginning to grow light, he said, "Wake up, wake up, wake up, brother-in-law, you have defecated all over your clothes." Petrel got up, looked at himself, and thought it was true, so he took his blankets and went outside. Then Raven went over to Petrel's spring, took off the cover and began drinking. After he had drunk up almost all of the water, Petrel came in and saw him. Then Raven flew straight up, crying "Gā."

Before he got through the smoke hole, however, Petrel said, "My spirits up the smoke hole, catch him." So Raven stuck there, and Petrel put pitchwood on the fire under him so as to make a quantity of smoke. Raven was white before that time, but the smoke made him of the color you find him to-day. Still he did not drop the water. When the smoke-hole spirits let him go, he flew around the nearest point and rubbed himself all over so as to clear off as much of the soot as possible.

This happened somewhere about the Nass, and afterwards he started up this way. First he let some water fall from his mouth and made the Nass. By and by he spit more out and made the Stikine. Next he spit out Taku river, then Chilkat, then Alsek, and all the other large rivers. The small drops that came out of his mouth made the small salmon creeks.

After this Raven went on again and came to a large town where were people who had never seen daylight. They were out catching eulachon in the darkness when he came to the bank opposite, and he asked them to take him across but they would not. Then he said to them, "If you don't come over I will have daylight break on you." But they answered, "Where are you from? Do you come from far up the Nass where lives the man who has daylight?" OAt this Raven opened his box just a little and shed so great a light on them that they were nearly thrown down. He shut it quickly, but they quarreled with him so much across the creek that he became angry and opened the box completely, when the sun flew up into the sky. Then those people who had sea-otter or fur-seal skins, or the skins of any other sea animals, went into the ocean, while those who had land-otter, bear, or marten skins, or the skins of any other land animals, went into the woods [becoming the animals whose skins they wore]. (5)

Raven came to another place where a crowd of boys were throwing fat at one another ① When they hit him with a piece he swallowed it. After a while he took dog's manure and threw at the boys who became scared, ran away, and threw more fat at him. ② He consumed all in this way, and started on again. ④

After a while he came to an abandoned camp where lay a piece of jade (s!ū) half buried in the ground, on which some design had been pecked. This he dug up. Far out in the bay he saw a large spring salmon jumping about and wanted to get it but did not know how. Then he stuck his stone into the ground and put eagle down upon the head designed thereon. The next time the salmon jumped, he said, "See here, spring salmon jumping out there, do you know what this green stone is saying to you? It is saying, 'You thing with dirty, filthy back, you thing with dirty, filthy gills, come ashore here.'"

Raven suddenly wanted to defecate and started off. Just then the big spring salmon also started to come ashore, so Raven said, "Just wait, my friend, don't come ashore yet for I have some business to attend to." So the salmon went out again. Afterward Raven took a piece of wild celery (yā'naet), and, when the salmon did come ashore, he struck it with this and killed it. Because Raven made this jade talk to the salmon, people have since made stone axes, picks, and spears out of it.

Then Raven, carrying along the spring salmon, got all kinds of birds, little and big, as his servants. When he came to a good place to cook his fish he said to all of them "Here, you young fellows, go after skunk cabbage. We will bury this in the ground and roast it." After they had brought it down, however, he said, "I don't want any of that. My wife has defecated all over that, and I will not use it. Go back and pass over two mountains." While they were gone,

Raven put all of the salmon except one fat piece cut from around the "navel" which is usually cooked separately, into the skunk cabbage and buried it in the fire. Before they returned, he dug this up and ate it, after which he put the bones back into the fire and covered them up.

When the birds at last came back he said to them, "I have been across two mountains myself. Now it is time to dig it up. Dig it out." Then all crowded around the fire and dug, but, when they got it up, there was nothing there but bones.

By and by the birds dressed one another in different ways so that they might be named from their dress. They tied the hair of the blue jay up high with a string, and they added a long tail to the ts!ēgēnî', another crested bird. Then they named one another. Raven let out the ts!ēgēnî' and told him that when the salmon comes he must call its slime unclean and stay high up until the salmon are all gone.<sup>b</sup>

Now Raven started off with the piece of salmon belly and came to a place where Bear and his wife lived. He entered and said, "My aunt's son," is this you? The piece of salmon he had buried behind a little point. Then Bear told him to sit down and said, "I will roast some dry salmon for you." So he began to roast it. After it was done, he set a dish close to the fire and slit the back of his hands with a knife so as to let grease run out for Raven to eat on his salmon. After he had fixed the salmon, he cut a piece of flesh out from in front of his thighs and put it into the dish. That is why bears are not fat in that place.

Now Raven wanted to give a dinner to Bear in return, so he, too, took out a piece of fish, roasted it, set out the dish Bear had used, close to the fire and slit up the back of his hand, thinking that grease would run out of it. But instead nothing but white bubbles came forth. Although he knew he could not do it, he tried in every way.

Then Raven asked Bear, "Do you know of any halibut fishing ground out here?" He said "No." Raven said, "Why! what is the use of staying here by this salt water, if you do not know of any fishing ground "I know a good fishing ground right out here called Just-on-the-edge-of-kelp (Gī'ck!îcuwanyî'). There are always halibut swimming there, mouth up, ready for the hook."

By and by Raven got the piece of fish he had hidden behind the point and went out to the bank in company with Bear and Cormorant. Cormorant sat in the bow, Bear in the middle, and, because he knew where the fishing ground was, Raven steered. When they arrived Raven stopped the canoe all at once. He said to them, "Do you see

that mountain, Was!ē'tî-cā? (When you sight that mountain, that is where you want to fish.' After this Raven began to fill the canoe with halibut. So Bear asked him, "What do you use for bait anyhow, my friend?" (Corvus respondit, "Testium cute ad escam praeparandam utor." Ursus aiebat corvo, "Licetne uti meis quoque?" Sed corvus dixit, "Noli id facere, ne forte sint graviter attriti." Paulo post ursus aegre ferens aiebat, "Abscide eos." Tum corvus cultellum acuens aiebat, "Pone eos extrema in sede." Postea corvus eos praecidit, at ursus gemens proripuit circum scapham et moriens incidit in undas extremo cum gemitu.]

After a while Raven said to Cormorant, "There is a louse coming down on the side of your head. Come here. Let me take it off." When he came close to him, he picked it off. Then he said, "Open your mouth so that I can put it on your tongue." When he did open his mouth, however, Raven reached far back and pulled his tongue out. (2) He did this because he did not want Cormorant to tell about what he had done. He told Cormorant to speak, but Cormorant made only a gabbling noise. "That is how young fellows ought to speak," said Raven. Then Raven towed the dead bod; of the bear behind the point and carried it ashore there. Afterwards he went to Bear's wife and began to take out his halibut. He said to the female bear, "My father's sister, cut out all the stomachs of the halibut and roast them.' So she went down on the beach to cut them out. While she was working on the rest of the halibut, he cooked the stomachs and filled them with hot rocks. Then he went down and said to her, "You better come up. I have cooked all those stomachs for you. You better wash your hands, come up, and eat. @ After that Cormorant came in and tried to tell what had happened but made only a gabbling sound. Raven said to the bear, "Do you know what that fellow is talking about? He is saving that there were lots of halibut out where we fished. Every time we tried to get a canoe load they almost turned us over." When she was about to eat he said, "People never chew what I get. They always swallow it whole." Before she began she asked Raven where her husband was, and Raven said, "Somehow or other he caught nothing, so we landed him behind the point. He is cutting alders to make alder hooks. He is sitting there vet."

After the bear had swallowed all of the food she began to feel uneasy in her stomach, and Raven said to Cormorant, "Run outside quickly and get her some water." Then she drank a great quantity of water, and the things in her stomach began to boil harder and harder. Said Raven, "Run out Cormorant." He did so, and Raven ran after him. Then the female bear ran about inside the house grabbing at everything and finally fell dead. Then Raven skinned the

female bear, after which he went around the point and did the same thing to the male. While he was busy there Cormorant came near him, but he said, "Keep away, you small Cormorant, and struck him on the buttocks with his hand saying, "Go out and stay on those rocks." Ever since then the cormorants have been there. Raven stayed in that place until he had consumed both of the bears.

Starting on again, Raven came to a place where many people were encamped fishing. They used nothing but fat for bait. He entered a house and asked what they used for bait. They said "Fat." Then he said, "Let me see you put enough on your hooks for bait," and he noticed carefully how they baited and handled their hooks. The next time they went out, he walked off behind a point and went under water to get this bait. Now they got bites and pulled up quickly, but there was nothing on their hooks. This continued for a long time. The next time they went out they felt the thing again, but one man among them who knew just how fish bite, jerked at the right moment and felt that he had caught something. The line went around in the water very fast. They pulled away, however, until they got Raven under the canoe, and he kicked against it very hard. All at once his nose came off, and they pulled it up @ When they landed, they took it to the chief's house and said, "We have caught a wonderful thing. () It must be the nose of the Gonagade't." took it, put eagle down on it, and hung it up on the wall.

After that, Raven came ashore at the place where he had been in the habit of going down, got a lot of spruce gum and made a new nose out of it. Then he drew a root hat down over his face and went to the town. Beginning at the nearer end he went through the houses saying "I wonder in what house are the people who caught that Gonaqadē't's nose." After he had gone halfway, he entered the chief's house and inquired, "Do you know where are the people who caught that Gonaqadē't's nose?" They answered, "There it is on the wall." Then he said, "Bring it here. Let me examine it." So they gave it to him. "This is great," he said, and he put up his hat to examine it. "Why," said he, "this house is dark. You ought to take off the smoke-hole cover. Let some one run up and take it off so that I can see." But, as soon as they removed it, he put the nose in its place, cried "Gā," and flew away. They did not find out who he was.

Going thence, Raven saw a number of deer walking around on the beach, with a great deal of fat hanging out through their noses. As he passed one of these, he said, "Brother, you better blow your nose. Lots of dirt is hanging out of it." When the deer would not do this, Raven came close to him, wiped his nose and threw the fat by his own side. Calling out, "Just for the Raven," he swallowed it.

Now Raven formed a certain plan? He got a small canoe and began paddling along the beach saying, "I wonder who is able to go along with me.' Mink came down and said, "How am I?" and Raven said, "What with?" (i. e., What can you do?). Said Mink, "When I go to camp with my friends, I make a bad smell in their noses. With that." But Raven said, "I guess not. You might make a hole in my canoe, so he went along farther. The various animals and birds would come down and say, "How am I?" but he did not even listen. After some time Deer ran down to him, saying, "How am I?" Then he answered, "Come this way, axkwa'l?, come this way axkwa'l?." He called ! im axkwa'l? because he never got angry. Finally Raven came ashore and said to Deer, "Don't hurt yourself, axkwa'l?." By and by Raven said "Not very far from here my father has been making a canoe. Let us go there and look at it."

Then Raven brought him to a large valley. He took very many pieces of dried wild celery and laid them across the valley, covering them with moss. Said Raven, "axkwa'li, watch me, axkwa'li, watch me." Repeating this over and over he went straight across on it, for he is light. Afterwards he said to Deer, "axkwa'li, now you come and try it I will not break," and he crossed once more. You better try it now," he said. "Come on over. Deer did so, but, as he was on the way, he broke through the bridge and smashed his head to pieces at the bottom. Then Raven went down, walked all over him, and said to himself, "I wonder where I better start, at the root of his tail, at the eyes, or at the heart." Finally he began at his anus, skinning as he went along. He ate very fast.

When he started on from this place, he began crying, "Axkwa'L!î-ī-ī, Axkwa'L!î-ī-ī," and the fowls asked him, "What has become of your friend, Axkwa'L!î?" "Some one has taken him and pounded him on the rocks, and I have been walking around and hopping around since he died."

By and by he came to a certain cliff and saw a door in it swing open. He got behind a point quickly, for he knew that here lived the woman who has charge of the falling and rising of the tide. Far out Raven saw some kelp, and, going out to this, he climbed down on it to the bottom of the sea and gathered up a number of small sea urching (nīs!) which were lying about there. He brought these ashore and began eating, making a great gulping noise as he did so. Meanwhile the woman inside of the cliff kept mocking him saying, "During what tide did he get those things?"

While Raven was eating Mink came along, and Raven said, "Come here. Come here." Then he went on eating. And the woman again said, "On what tide did you get those sea urchins you are making so much noise about?" "That is not your business," answered Raven. "Keep quiet or I will stick them all over your

buttocks." Finally Raven became angry, seized the knife he was cutting up the sea urchins with and slit up the front of the cliff out of which she spoke. Then he ran in, knocked her down and began sticking the spines into her buttocks. "Stop, Raven, stop," she cried, "the tide will begin to go down." So he said to his servant, Mink, "Run outside and see how far down the tide has gone." Mink ran out and said, "It is just beginning to go down." The next time he came in he said, "The tide is still farther down." The third time he said, "The tide is lower yet. It has uncovered everything on the beach." Then Raven said to the old woman, "Are you going to let the tide rise and fall again regularly through the months and years?" She answered "Yes." Because Raven did this while he was making the world, nowadays, when a woman gets old and can not do much more work, there are spots all over her buttocks.

After the tide had gone down very far he and his servant went out. He said to Mink, "The thing that will be your food from now on is the sea urchin (nīs!). You will live on it." The tide now goes up and down because he treated this woman so.

Now Raven started on from this place crying, "My wife, my wife!" Coming to some trees, he saw a lot of gum on one of them and said to it, "Why! you are just like me. You are in the same state." For he thought the tree was crying.

After this he got a canoe and began paddling along. DBy and by Petrel met him in another canoe. So he brought his canoe alongside and said, "Is this you, my brother-in-law. Where are you from?" He answered, "I am from over there." Then Raven began to question him about the events in this world, asking him how long ago they happened, etc. He said, "When were you born? How long have you been living?" And Petrel answered, "I have been living ever since the great liver came up from under the earth. I have been living that long." So said Petrel. "Why! that is but a few minutes ago," said Raven. Then Petrel began to get angry and said to Raven, "When were you born?" "I was born before this world was known." "That is just a little while back."

They talked back and forth until they became very angry. Then. Petrel pushed Raven's canoe away from him and put on his hat called fog-hat (qogā's! s!āxu) so that Raven could not see where he was. The world was round for him [in the fog]. At last he shouted, "My brother-in-law Petrel, you are older than I am. You have lived longer than I." Petrel also took water from the sea and sprinkled it in the air so that it fell through the fog as very fine rain. Said Raven, "Î, î." He did not like it at all. After Petrel had fooled him for some time, he took off Fog-hat and found Raven close beside him, pulling about in all directions. Then Raven said to Petrel, "Brother-in-law, you better let that hat go into this world."

So he let it go. That is why we always know, when we see fog coming out of an open space in the woods and going right back again, that there will be good weather.

Leaving this place, Raven came to another where he saw something floating not far from shore, though it never came any nearer. He assembled all kinds of fowl Toward evening he looked at the object and saw that it resembled fire. So he told a chicken hawk (ka!k") which had a very long bill to fly out to it, saying, "Be very brave. If you get some of that fire, do not let go of it." The chicken hawk reached the place, seized some fire and started back as fast as it could fly, but by the time it got the fire to Raven its bill was burned off. That is why its bill is short. Then Raven took some red cedar, and some white stones called neq! which are found on the beach, and he put fire into them so that it could be found ever afterward all over the world.

After he had finished distributing the fire he started on again and came to a town where there were many people. He saw what looked like a large animal far off on the ocean with fowl all over the top of it. He wondered very much what it was and at last thought of a way of finding out. He said to one of his friends, "Go up and cut a cane for me." Then he carved this cane so as to resemble two tentacles of a devil fish. He said, "No matter how far off a thing is, this cane will always reach it."

Afterward he went to the middle of the town and said, "I am going to give a feast. My mother is dead, and I am going to beat the drums this evening I want all of the people to come in and see me." In the evening he assembled all of the people, and they began to beat drums. Then he held the cane in his hands and moved it around horizontally, testing it. He kept saying "Up, up, up." He said, "I have never given any feast for my mother and it is time I did it, but I have nothing with which to give a feast. Therefore I made this cane, and I am going to give a feast for my mother with this wonderful thing."

Then he got the people all down on the beach and extended his cane toward the mysterious object until it reached it And he began to draw it in little by little, saying to the people, "Sing stronger all the time." \*\*D\*\* When it struck land, a wave burst it open. It was an everlasting house, containing everything that was to be in the waters of the world. He told the people to carry up fish and they did so. If one had a canoe, he filled it; if he had a box, he filled that; and those that had canoes also boiled eulachon in them. Since then they have known how to boil them. With all of these things Raven gave the feast for his mother.

After this was over he thought up a plot against the killer whales and sent an invitation to them. Then he told each of his people to make a cane that would reach very much above his head. So, when the killer whales came in and inquired, "What do the people use those canes for that extend up over their heads?", he replied, "They stick them down into their heads." They asked him several times, and he replied each time in the same way. After a while one of the whales said, "Suppose we try it." Raven was glad to hear that and said, "All right, we will try it with you people, but the people I have invited must not look when I put a cane into anyone's head.' Then he went away and whittled a number of sticks until they were very sharp. After that he laid all of the killer whales on the beach at short distances apart, and again he told them not to look up while he was showing one how it was done. took a hammer or maul and drove his sticks into the necks of these whales one after the other so that they died. But the last one happened to look up, saw what was being done, and jumped into the ocean.

a[Now Raven and another person started to boil out the killer-whales' grease, and the other man had more than he So Raven dreamed a dream which informed him that a lot of people were coming to fight with him, and, when such people really did make their appearance, he told his companion to run out After he had done so, Raven quickly drank all the latter's grease. By and by, however, the man returned, threw Raven into a grease box, and shut him in, and started to tie it up with a strong rope. Then Raven called out, My brother, do not tie the box up very strongly. Tie it with a piece of straw such as our forefathers used to use. The man did so, after which he took the box up on a high cliff and kicked it over. Then Raven, breaking the straw, flew out, crying "Gā." When he got to the other side of the point, he alighted and began wiping himself.]

Next he came to a large whale blowing along out at sea, and noticed that every time it came up, its mouth was wide open. Then Raven took a knife and something with which to make fire. When the whale came up again he flew into its mouth and sat down at the farther end of its stomach. Near the place where he had entered he saw something that looked like an old woman. It was the whale's uvula (Anū't!ayî). When the whale came up, it made a big noise, the uvula went to one side and the herring and other fish it lived on poured right in. Then Raven began eating all these things that the whale had swallowed, and, presently, he made a fire to cook the fat of the whale itself that hung inside. Last of all he ate the heart. As soon as he cut out this, the whale threw itself about in the water and soon floated up dead. Raven felt this and said, "I wish it

a This paragraph is perhaps misplaced, the incident being confounded with another on page 17.

would float up on a good sandy beach.' After he had wished this many times, the whale began to drift along, and it finally floated ashore on a long sandy beach.

After a while some young fellows who were always shooting about in this neighborhood with their bows and arrows, heard a voice on the beach say, "I wonder who will make a hole on the top so that he can be my friend." The boys ran home to the town and reported, "We heard a queer noise. Something floated ashore not far from this place, and a person inside said, 'I wish that somebody would make a hole above me so that he can be my friend." Then the people assembled around the whale and heard Raven's words very clearly. They began to cut a hole just over the place these came from and presently they heard some one inside say, "Xōnē'-ē." When the hole was large enough, Raven flew straight up out of it until he was lost to sight. And they said to him, "Fly to any place where you would like to go." After that they cut the whale up and in course of time came to the spot where Raven had lighted his fire to make oil.

Meanwhile Raven flew back of their camp to a large dead tree that had crumbled into fine pieces and began rubbing on it to dry himself. When he thought that the people were through making oil, he dressed himself up well and repaired to the town. There he said to the people, "Was anything heard in that tc!ān (his word for whale)?" and one answered, "Yes, a queer noise was heard inside of the whale." "I wonder what it was," said Raven.

After their food was all prepared Raven said to the people, "Long ago, when a sound was heard inside of a tc!ān, all the people moved out of their town so as not to be killed. All who remained were destroyed. So you better move from this town." Then all of the people said, "All of us better move from this town rather than be destroyed. So they went off leaving all of their things, and Raven promptly took possession of them.

Raven once went to a certain place outside of here (Sitka) in his canoe. It was calm there, but he began rocking the canoe up and down with his feet until he had made a great many waves. Therefore there are many waves there now even when it is calm outside, and a canoe going in thither always gets lost.

By and by Raven came to a sea gull standing at the mouth of a creek and said to it "What are you sitting in this way for? How do you call your new month?" "Yadāq!o't," replied the sea gull. Raven was questioning him in this way because he saw many herring out at sea. So he said, "I don't believe at all what you say. Fly out and see if you can bring in a herring." This is why, until

a This name does not occur in the list given by this same man (Twenty-sixth Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology, p. 426.) He said it was the eighth month and according to his list the eighth month is March, which he calls Hin ta'nax kayā'ni di'si, "Month when things under the sea begin to grow."

the present time, people have differed in their opinions concerning the months and have disputed with one another. §

After they had quarreled over it for a long time, the gull became angry, flew out to sea, and brought back a big herring. He lighted near Raven and laid the herring beside him, but, when Raven tried to get it, he gulped it down. In another direction from the sea gull Raven saw a large heron and went over to it. He said to the heron, "Sea gull is calling you Big-long-legs-always-walking-upon-the beach." Then, although the heron did not reply, he went back to the sea gull and said, "Do you know what that heron is saying about you? He says that you have a big stomach and get your red eves by sitting on the beach always looking out on the ocean for something to eat.' Then he went back to the heron and said to it," When I meet a man of my own size, I always kick him just below the That fellow is talking too much about you. Go over, and I will help you thrash him." So the heron went over toward the sca gull, and, when he came close to it, Raven said, "Kick him just under his stomach." He did so, and the big herring came out. Then Raven swallowed it quickly saying, "Just for the Raven."

Going on again, Raven came to a canoe in which were some people lying asleep along with a big salmon which he took away. When the people awoke, they saw the trail where he had dragged it off, and they followed him. They found him lying asleep by the fire after having eaten the salmon. Seeing his gizzard hanging out at his buttocks, they twisted it off, ran home with it and used it as a shinny

ball; this is why no human being now has a gizzard. ⑤

The people knew it was Raven's gizzard, so they liked to show it about, and they knocked it around so much that it grew large by the accumulation of sand. But Raven did not like losing his gizzard. He was cold without it and had to get close to the fire. When he came to the place where they were playing with it, he said, "Let it come this way." No sooner had they gotten it near him, however, than they knocked it away again. After a while it reached him, and he seized it and ran off, with all the boys after him. As he ran he washed it in water and tried to fit it back in place. It was too hot from much knocking about, and he had to remove it again. He washed it again but did not get all of the sand off. That is why the raven's gizzard is big and looks as if it had not been washed.

Next Raven came to a town where lived a man called Fog (or Cloud)-on-the-Salmon (Xā'tka-kogā's's'î) He wanted to marry this man's daughter because he always had plenty of salmon. He had charge of that place. So he married her, and they dried quantities of salmon, after which they filled many animal stomachs with salmon eggs. Then he loaded his canoe and started home. He put all of the fish eggs into the bow. On the way it became stormy, and they could

not make much headway, so he became tired and threw his paddles into the bow, exclaiming to his wife Now you paddle!" Then the salmon eggs shouted out, "It is very hard to be in stomachs. Hand the paddles here and let me pull." So the salmon eggs did, and, when they reached home, Raven took all of them and dumped them overboard. But the dried salmon he carried up. That is why people now use dried salmon and do not care much for salmon eggs. (5)

Journeying on, Raven came to a seal sitting on the edge of a rock, and he wanted to get it, but the seal jumped into the ocean. Then he said, "Yak!oct!A'L!," because he was so sorry about it. Farther on he came to a town and went behind it to watch. After a while a man came out, took a little club from a certain place where he kept it in concealment, and said to it, "My little club, do you see that seal out there? Go and get it." So it went out and brought the little seal ashore. The club was hanging to its neck. Then the man took it up and said, "My little club, you have done well," after which he put it back in its place and returned to the town. Raven saw where it was kept, but first he went to the town and spoke kindly to the owner of it. In the night, however, when every one was asleep, he went back to the club, carried it behind a point and said to it & See here, my little club, you see that seal out in the water. and get it." But the club would not go because it did not know him. After he had tried to get it to go for some time, he became angry and said to it, "Little club, don't you see that seal out there?" He kept striking it against a rock until he broke it in pieces. (7)

Coming to a large bay Raven talked to it in order to make it into Nass (i. e., he wanted to make it just like the Nass), but, when the tide was out great numbers of clams on the flats made so much noise shooting up at him that his voice was drowned, and he could not succeed. He tried to put all kinds of berries there but in vain. After many attempts, he gave it up and went away saying, "I tried to make you into Nass, but you would not let me. So you can be called Skana'x" (the name of a place to the southward of Sitka). (5)
Two brothers started to cross the Stikine river, but Raven saw

them and said, "Be stones there." So they became stones. a @

Starting on he came to the ground-hog people on the mainland. His mother had died some time before this, and, as he had no provisions with which to give a feast, he came to the ground hogs to get some The ground-hog people know when slides descend from the mountains, and they know that spring is then near at hand, so they throw all of their winter food out of their burrows & Raven wanted then to do this, so he said, "There is going to be a world snow slide." But the ground-hog chief answered, "Well! nobody in this town knows about it." Toward spring, however, the slide really took

place, and the ground hogs then threw all of their green herbs, roots, etc., outside to him. ©

[Postea corvus in litus descendit cum quidam eum certiorem faceret de quattuor mulieribus, quae essent in insula, maturitatem adipiscentes. Deinde conatus est muliebria genitalia conficere e cortice lini arboris, et cum adveniret mediam in viam, quae in insulam perducebat, simile nomine eam nuncupavit; sed res male processerunt. Cortex edidit vocem argutam at ille, ira incensus, in undas eum proiecit. Eodem modo tentavit tabaci folia et alias res, sed inutile erat. Postremo processit in insulam, cui nomen erat muliebribus genitalibus (Gânq!ā'tê). Eius comes vir quidem nomine Ignavus (Q!Atxā'n) erat. Corvus autem aiebat ignavo, "Etiam si aliquid minime pavorem tibi iniicit, percute scapham." Mox ignavus scapham quassabat atque exclamavit, "Iam luna adest." Paene corvum in undas proiecit, qui, etsi ipse hortatus cum erat ut id faceret, aegre tulit. Corvus omnia genitalia, quae in insula erant, colligens, complevit scapham. Disponens ea locis in aequis, praeparvit dare propter ea convivium escis porci.]

After this he said to the people, "Make ear pendants because I am going to invite the whole world." He was going to invite everyone because he had heard that the Gonaqadē't had a Chilkat blanket and a hat, and he wanted to see them. First he invited the Gonaqadē't and afterwards the other chiefs of all the tribes in the world. At the appointed time they began to come in. When the Gonaqadē't came in he had on his hat with many crowns and his blanket but was surrounded by a fog. Inside of the house, however, he appeared in his true form. It is from this feast of Raven's that people now like to attend feasts. It is also from this that, when a man is going to have a feast, he has a many-crowned hat carved on top of the dead man's grave post (kūtī 'ya).

Raven made a woman under the earth to have charge of the rise and fall of the tides. \*\*O One time he wanted to learn about everything under the ocean and had this woman raise the water so that he could go there. \*\*D He had it rise very slowly so that the people had time to load their canoes and get into them. \*\*O When the tide had lifted them up between the mountains they could see bears and other wild animals walking around on the still unsubmerged tops. Many of the bears swam out to them, and at that time those who had their dogs had good protection. \*\*Some people walled the tops of the mountains about and tied their canoes inside. They could not take much wood up with them. Sometimes hunters see the rocks they piled up there, and at such times it begins to grow foggy. That was a very dangerous time. The people who survived could see trees swept up roots and all by

4 (LEZE).

the rush of waters, and large devilfish and other creatures were carried up by it.

When the tide began to fall, all the people followed it down, but the trees were gone and they had nothing to use as firewood, so they were destroyed by the cold. When Raven came back from under the earth, if he saw a fish left on top of a mountain or in a creek, he said, "Stay right there and become a stone." So it became a stone. If he saw any person coming down, he would say, "Turn to a stone just where you are," and it did so.

After that the sea went down so far that it was dry everywhere. Then Raven went about picking up the smallest fish, as bull heads and tom cod, which he strung on a stick, while a friend who was with him at this time, named Cak!a'ku,a took large creatures like whales. With the grease he boiled out, Cak!a'ku filled an entire house, while Raven filled only a small bladder.

Raven stayed with Cak!a'ku and one night had a dream. He said to his friend, "I dreamed that a great enemy came and attacked us." Then he had all the fowls assemble and come to fight, so that his dream might be fulfilled. As soon as Raven had told his dream, Cak!a'ku went down and saw the birds. Then Raven went into the house and began drinking up his grease. But the man came back, saw what Raven was doing, and threw him into a grease box, which he started to tie up with a strong rope. Raven, however, called out, "My brother do not tie me up with a strong rope, but take a straw such as our forefathers used to employ." He did so. Then Raven drank up all the grease in the box, and, when the man took him up on a high cliff and kicked him off, he came out easily and flew away crying "Gā."

One time Raven assembled all the birds in preparation for a feast and had the bears in the rear of his house as guests. All the birds had canes and helped him sing. As he sang along Raven would say quietly, "Do you think one of you could fly into the anus of a bear?" Then he would start another song and end it by saying in much the same language, "One of you ought to fly up into that hole" (i. e., anus). He kept taunting the birds with their inability to do this, so, when the bears started out, the wren (wu'lnaxwū'ckaq, "bird-that-can-go-through-a-hole") flew up into the anus of one of them and came out with his intestines. Before it had pulled them far out the bear fell dead. Then Raven chased all of the small birds away, sat down, and began eating.

Raven never got full because he had eaten the black spots off of his own toes. He learned about this after having inquired everywhere

for some way of bringing such a state about. Then he wandered through all the world in search of things to eat.

After all the human beings had been destroyed Raven made new ones out of leaves. Decause he made this new generation, people know that he must have changed all of the first people who had survived the flood, into stones. Since human beings were made from leaves people always die off rapidly in the fall of the year when flowers and leaves are falling.

At the time when he made this world, Raven made a devilfish digging-stick and went around to all created things (shellfish apparently) saying, "Are you going to hurt human beings? Say now either yes or no." Those that said "No" he passed by; those that said "Yes" he rooted up. He said to the people, "When the tide goes out, your food will be there. When the tide comes in, your food will be in the woods," indicating bear and other forest animals.

In Raven's time the butts of ferns (k!wałx) were already cooked, but, after some women had brought several of these in, Raven broke a stick over the fern roots. Therefore they became green like this stick. He also broke the roots up into many layers one above another.

Devilfish were very fat then, and the people used to make grease out of them, but, when Raven came to a place where they were making he said, "Give me a piece of that hard thing." That is why its fatness left it.

[Corvus appellavit saxum, quod erat tectum algis, "Pudenda, ubi crescunt crines." Nepotes patris eius rogaverunt, "Esne capillatus?" Et ille respondit, "Sane, pudenda mea pilis vestita sunt." At modo habebat in mente copias algarum, quae protegebant saxum in quo sedebat.]

One time Raven invited all the tribes of little people and laid down bear skins for them to sit on. After they had come in and reached the bear skins, they shouted to one another, "Here is a swampy, open space." That was the name they gave to those places on the skins from which the hair had fallen out. By and by Raven seized the bear skins and shook them over the fire, when all the little people flew into the eyes of the human beings. He said, "You shall be pupils in people's eyes," and ever since human beings have had them.

Now he went on from this place and camped by himself. There he saw a large sculpin trying to get ashore below him, and he said to it, "My uncle's son, come ashore here. Come way up. One time, when you and I were going along in our uncle's cañoe we fell into the water. So come up a little farther." Raven was very hungry, and, when the sculpin came ashore, he seized it by its big, broad tail intending to eat it. But it slipped through his fingers. This happened many times, and each time the sculpin's tail became smaller. That is why it is so slender to-day. Then Raven said to it, "From now on you shall be named sculpin (wēq!)."

Raven had a blanket which kept blowing out from him, so he threw it into the water and let it float away. Then he obtained a wife, and, as he was traveling along with her, he said & There is going to be a great southwest wind. We better stop here for a little while. I expect my blanket ashore here." After a while it came in. Then his wife said to him, "Take your blanket ashore and throw it on some branches.' He did so and it became Rebis bracteosum (Tlingit, cax) When they went on farther the sea became so rough that his wife was frightened, and told him to put ashore some of the fat with which his canoe was loaded. He did this, but was so angry with his wife for having asked him, that he said to her, "You better put ashore your sewing basket," and so she did. a ?

Then he left his wife and went along by himself. He assembled very many young birds, and, when he camped told them to go after

cat!k!, the term he at that time applied to drinking water.

Afterwards he came to a certain place and started to make a salmon creek. He said, "This woman shall be at the head of this creek." The woman he spoke of had long teats, so he called her Woman-withlong-teats-floating-around (Hīn-cakxē'nayî), saying, "When the salmon come to the creeks, they shall all go up to see her." That is why salmon run up the creeks. (5)

After this he went into the woods and set out to make the porcupine. For quills he took pieces of yellow cedar bark, which he set all the way up and down its back so that bears would be afraid of it. This is why bears never eat porcupines. He said to the porcupine, "Whenever anyone comes near you, throw your tail about." This is

why people are afraid of it when it does so.

Now Raven went off to a certain place and made the west wind, naming it Q!āxō'. He said to it, "You shall be my son's daughter."
No matter how hard you blow you shall hurt nobody.

He took up a piece of red salmon and said to it, "If anyone is not strong enough to paddle home he shall take up this fish and blow behind him."(1)

Raven is a grandchild of the mouse (kulē'lta!nî). That is why a

mouse can never get enough to eat. 5

Raven also made the south wind (sā'naxet). When the south wind climbs on top of a rock it never ceases to blow.

He made the north wind (xūn), and on top of a mountain he made a house for it with something like ice hanging down on the sides. Then he went in and said to it, "Your buttocks are white." This is why the mountains are white with snow.

He made all the different races, as the Haida and the Tsimshian. They are human beings like the Tlingit, but he made their languages

different. (7)

a This is evidently told to account for certain peculiarly shaped rocks.

He also made the dog 1 It was at first a human being and did everything Raven wanted done, but he was too quick with everything, so Raven took him by the neck and pushed him down, saying, "You are nothing but a dog. You shall have four legs."

One time Raven came to a certain thing called fat-on-the-sea (yīkatāyî'), which stuck out of the ocean. He kept saying to it, "Get down a little," so it kept going under the surface. But every time it came up he took his paddle and cut part off. It did this seven times, but, when he spoke to it the eighth time, it went down out of sight, and he never saw it again.

As he was traveling along in another place, a wild celery came out, became angry with Raven, and said, "You are always wandering around for things to eat." Then he named it wild celery (yā'naet) and said to it, "You shall stay there, and people shall eat you.

Once he passed a large tree and saw something up in it called caxda'q. © Raven called out "Caxda'q," and it shouted back, "You Raven." They called back and forth to each other for some time. ©

[Advenit in alium locum et alligavit aliquid circum caput ostrei, quod protrudebat ex arena. Appellavit idem Ldas-qē't (viri pudenda).]

## SUPPLEMENTARY TO STORY 1

Near a bay not far from Kōts!ē'L! there used to be a sea-water pond in which lived a beaver. Raven very much wanted to get at this beaver and kill it, so he dug two trenches in order to drain the lake at low tide. After the water had run out through them, and the beaver had become visible at the bottom, he let down a kind of hook and pulled it up.

Raven had tried every sort of thing as a post under this earth. Last of all he caught this beaver and made the post out of the bone of its foreleg [which is very solid]. That is why the world is now standing. Old-woman-underneath (Hayicā/nak!u) attends to this post, but, when she is hungry, the earth shakes. Then people put grease into the fire and it goes to her.

After he had killed the beaver Raven killed also a big whale and got his people to tow it to the place where the beaver had formerly lived. He got four large canoes full of people to tow it up the rapids in one of the canals he had then made. After they had labored for many days, they became tired, and he said to them, "Take it easy." Finally he himself became tired and said, "Turn into stone." All did so, and to this day you can see a large island there shaped like a whale and a string of four smaller islands extending out from one end of it.

Raven named several places in this neighborhood. One was Qāguantoqa', (A-hidden-person); another Tsētk! (Little Ladder).

He named an island outside, Łat!a'n. Still another was called Łaqo'xas!, after the name of a small canoe, because one of these was passing at the time.

Between two mountain peaks just eastward of Sitka is a hollow filled with trees supposed to resemble boys, so the place is called K!êsā'nî-ā'yaodihayiya, Where-is-a-big-crowd-of-boys. Raven appointed this as the place from which the sun would turn back north. A point on the coast just north of Sitka was called by him K!o'lacatq!a', Point-holding-things-back, because when a canoe passes it coming toward Sitka it can not go fast (i. e., it does not seem to get by this rapidly). Just north of this is a kind of bay which Raven called Ka'dalatc-xak', Noisy-beach.

### 2. THE BIG CLAM

At the farther end of Tenakee inlet (T!ī'nage) is a little bay called Where-sweetness-killed-a-person (Gatlqō'wageya). One summer there were many people encamped there drying salmon, and among them manylively young people. One day some girls took a canoe and crossed the bay to a strawberry patch on the other side. Afterwards a man named Ts!ēL! went down into the water to wade over to them but was swallowed by a halibut. So they named the place Kots!ē'L! after this man.

Near this inlet is a high cliff in front of which a big clam formerly lived. It used to stick its head (lit. penis) high up out of the water. It always had its valves open, and if a canoe passed that way, it would close them on it (lit. shut its mouth on it), and the canoe was gone.

Raven heard of this clam, and he instructed a little mink to call to it, "Stick out your head and let us see you," (īli'l-anaxdā'x ts!agā'x dustī'n), while the people stood ready above with sharpened sticks. But, instead of speaking as it was told, the mink said, "Raven made clam" (Yēl dje'aosîniyî gāl!). Finally the mink said plainly as he had been directed, "Stick your head out of the water and let us see you," and it began to put out its head. He said, "A little more." When it was well out, all the people seized their sticks and plunged them into it, cutting the ligament which held the valves together so that they sprang apart. Then the whole bay began to smell badlyfrom it. On the rock slide back of the place where this clam used to run out its head all sorts of things now grow. It is called Clam-slide (Yēs-kādê').

## 3. ENGLISH VERSION OF THE STORY OF THE FOUR BROTHERS $^a$

There were four brothers who owned a dog of an Athapascan variety called dzī.<sup>b</sup> They had one sister. One day the dog began barking at something. Then Kack!a'lk!, the eldest brother, put red paint inside of his blanket, took his rattle, and followed. The other brothers went with him. They pursued it up, up, up, into the sky. The dog kept on barking, and they did not know what it was going to do. It was chasing a cloud.

When they got to the other side of the world they came out on the edge of a very steep cliff. They did not know what to do. The dog, however, went right down the cliff, and they saw the cloud still going on ahead. Now these brothers had had nothing to eat and were very hungry. Presently they saw the dog coming up from far below bringing the tail of a salmon. After a while they saw it run back.

Then they said to one another, "What shall we do? We might as well go down also." But, when £q!ayā'k!, the youngest brother, started he was smashed in pieces. The two next fared in the same way. Kack!a'lk!, however, braced his stick against the wall behind him and reached the bottom in safety. Then he put the bones of each of his brothers together, rubbed red paint on them, and shook his rattle over them, and they came to life.

Starting on again around this world, they came to a creek full of salmon. This was where the dog had been before. When they got down to it they saw a man coming up the creek. He was a large man with but one leg and had a kind of spear in his hand with which he was spearing all the salmon. They watched him from between the limbs of a large, dead tree. When he got through hooking the salmon, he put all on two strings, one of which hung out of each corner of his mouth. Then he carried them down.

Then Łq!ayā'k! said to his brothers, "Let us devise some plan for getting the salmon spear." So he seized a salmon, brought it ashore and skinned it. First Kack!a'lk! tried to get inside of it but failed. When Łq!ayā'k! made the attempt, however, he swam off at once, and, if one of his brothers came near him, he swam away. Then the other brothers sat up in the dead tree, Kack!a'lk! at the top.

When the big man came up again after salmon, Łq!ayā'k! swam close up to him, and he said, "Oh! my salmon. It is a fine salmon." But, when he made a motion toward it with his spear, it swam back into deep water. Finally it swam up close, and the big man speared it easily. Then Łq!ayā'k! went to the tail of the fish, cut the string

a This story was told by Dekinā'k!a. According to some, the story begins with the birth of five children from a dog father. See stories 97 and 31 (pp. 99-106).

b Łakitcane', the father of these boys, is said to have lived near the site of the Presbyterian school at Sitka and to have used the "blarney stone," so called, as a grindstone.

which fastened the big man's spear point to the shaft and swam off with the point. Upon this the big man pulled his shaft up, looked at it and said, "My spear is gone." Then he went downstream. In the meantime Lq layā'k! came ashore, got out of the fish, came up to his usual station on the lowest limb of the tree, and sat down there. They had him sit below because he talked so much, and because he was the most precipitate.

That night the one-legged man did not sleep at all on account of his lost spear. He was using it in working for the bear people. When he came up next morning he had a quill in his hands which would tell him things. He took this about among the trees, and, when he came to that on which the brothers were sitting, it bent straight down. Then he cried, "Bring my spear this way." Although he saw no one, he knew that there were people there who had it. Then he came to the bottom of the tree, seized £q!ayā'k! and tore him in pieces. So he served the next two brothers. But Kack!a'lk! had his dog, which he was able to make small, concealed under his coat and, after his brothers were torn up, he let it go, and it tore the big man all to pieces. Because he had his red paint, rattle, and dog he cared for nothing. Now he put the red paint on his brothers' bodies and shook the rattle over them so that they came to life.

Next morning they got into the same tree again. Then they saw a man with two heads placed one over another coming up the stream. It was the bear chief. He hooked a great many salmon and put them on pieces of string on each side of his mouth. Next evening a little old man came up. £q!ayā'k! came down and asked, "What are you doing here?" He said, "I have come up after salmon." But he could hook none at all, so £q!ayā'k! caught a lot for him. Then £q!ayā'k! asked him: "What does that double-head that came up here do?" The old man said, "I will tell you about it." So they said to him: "Now we want you to tell the truth about this? What does he really do when he gets home with his salmon? We will get you more salmon if you tell us truly." And the old man answered: "When he gets home with a load of salmon, he leaves it down by the river. Then he takes off his skin coat and hangs it up." This is what he told them.

The next time the two-heads came up and began to throw salmon ashore, it said all at once, "I feel people's looks." As soon as he came opposite the place where they were sitting, Kack!A'Lk! threw his dog right upon him. It caught this big bear by the neck and killed him. Every time thereafter, when the little old man came up, they questioned him about the people in the place he came from.

At last they caught a lot of salmon and prepared to descend. Then Kack!a'lk! put on the bearskin, placed his brothers under his arms

inside of it, took strings of salmon as the bear had done, and started on. When he came in front of the houses he acted just like the two-headed man. First he entered the two-headed man's house and shook his skin, whereupon his brothers and the dog passed behind the screens in the rear of the house and hid themselves. After that he began fixing his salmon, and, when he was through, took off his coat and hung it up in the manner that had been described to him.

Toward evening a great deal of noise was heard outside, made over some object. Łq!ayā'k! very much wanted to go out and look, but they tried to prevent him. Finally he did go out and began to play with the object, whereupon the players rolled it on him and cut him in two. After that the two brothers next older went out and were cut in two in the same manner. After this Kack! A'Lk! sent his dog out. He seized the object, shook it and made it fly to the tops of the mountains, where it made the curved shapes the mountains have to-day. Then it rolled right back again. When it rolled back, the dog became very angry, seized it a second time, shook it hard, and threw it so high that it went clear around the sun. It made the halo of light seen there. Then Kack! A'Lk! took his brothers' bodies, pieced them together, put red paint upon them and shook his rattle over them. They came to life again. Then he took the dog, made it small, and put it under his arm; and they started off. Since that time people have had the kind of spear (dīna') above referred to. The brothers started on with it, and, whenever they were hungry, they got food with it. They always kept together.

After a while they came across some Athapascan Indians called Worm-eating people (Wūn-xa qoan). These were so named because, when they killed game, they let worms feed upon it, and, when the worms had become big enough, they ate them through holes in the middle of their foreheads which served them as mouths. Łq!ayā'k! wanted to be among these Athapascans, because they had bows and arrows and wore quills attached to their hair. They used their bows and arrows to shoot caribou, and, when they were pursuing this animal, they used to eat snow.

After Lq!ayā'k! had obtained his bow and arrows they came out at a certain place, probably the Stikine river, and stayed among some people who were whipping one another for strength, in the sea. Every morning they went into the water with them.

At that time they thought that Łq!ayā'k! was going with his sister, and they put some spruce gum around the place where she slept. Then they found the spruce gum on him and called him all sorts of names when they came from bathing. They called him Messenger-with-pitch-on-his-thigh (Naqā'nî q!acgū'q!o), the messenger being a brother-in-law of the people of the clan giving a feast. They named him so because they were very much ashamed. This is why people

have ever since been very watchful about their sisters. Because he had been fooling with his sister, when £q!ayā'k! went out, his brothers said to him, "You do not behave yourself. Go somewhere else. You can be a thunder (hēl!)." They said to him, "Hā'agun kādî'."<sup>a</sup>

This is why, when thunder is heard, people always say, "You gummy thigh." It is because £q!ayā'k! became a thunder. Their sister was ashamed. She went down into Mount Edgecumbe (L!ux) through the crater.

Because the thunder is a man, when the thunder is heard far out at sea, people blow up into the air through their hands and say, "Let it drive the sickness away," or "Let it go far northward." The other brothers started across the Stikine and became rocks there.

## 4. ORIGIN OF THE KILLER WHALE<sup>b</sup>

A man named Nātsalane', belonging to the Tsague'dî (Seal people), made killer whales. He first tried to carve them out of red cedar, then out of hemlock, then out of all other kinds of wood in succession. He took each set of figures to the beach and tried to make them swim out, but instead they floated up on the surface. Last of all he tried yellow cedar, and was successful.

He made these of different sorts. On one he marked white lines with Indian chalk from the corners of its mouth back to its head. He said, "This is going to be the white-mouthed killer whale." When he first put them into the water he headed them up the inlet, telling them that whenever they went up to the heads of the bays they were to hunt for seal, halibut, and all other things under the sea; but he told them not to hurt a human being. When you are going up the bay, people will say to you, "Give us something to eat." Before this people did not know what the killer whale is.

Another thing people did not know was that the killer whale could go ashore and camp. One time a man married a high-caste woman and went up to the head of a certain bay with her, because he knew that the killer whales always went there. On the way they saw a camp fire blazing upon the shore. There were killer whales encamped here, but he thought they were human beings and landed to see them. When they got close in, he jumped into the water to urinate. All at once the killer-whale chief said, "I feel people's looks. Go outside and look on the beach." But, when they saw him urinating, they started off, leaving their camp just as it was, jumped into the water, and swam away.

a It is said that no one knows what these words mean.

Then he went up to the camp with his wife, and they saw all kinds of food there. His wife said, "It is lucky that we came across this;" and after a while the man said, "Let us cook some, my wife." Then the woman took her cooking basket and put some water into it. Presently she said, "Way out there is a canoe coming." It was a black canoe. She said, "We better leave this alone until the canoe comes so that we can invite them to eat with us." Her husband said, "All right." By and by his wife said, "What is the matter? To my eyes it does not appear like a canoe. It is too black." It was really a young killer whale, under which the other killer whales were swimming to make it appear like a canoe. When the supposed canoe reached land, the whales rushed ashore, seized the woman, who had concealed herself behind her husband, and carried her down to the sea. They took her away because her husband had taken their provisions. This time, when the killer whales rose again, instead of appearing like only one canoe, they came up out of the water thick everywhere and began to swim down the bay very fast. Meanwhile the husband went down to his canoe, got in, and paddled after them along the shore. But, when they came to a high cliff where the water went down deep, all the whales suddenly dived out of sight.

Now the man climbed to the top of this cliff, fastened a bough to his head and another slim spruce bough around his waist, filled the space inside of his shirt with rocks, and jumped into the ocean at the spot where his wife had disappeared, falling upon a smooth, mossy place on the bottom. When he awoke, he arose, looked about, and saw a long town near by. He entered the last house, which proved to belong to the chief of the shark people.

In this house he saw a man with a crooked mouth peeping out at him from behind a post. A long time before, when he had been fishing, a shark had cut his line and carried off the hook, and it was this hook that now peeped out at him. It said, "Master, it is I. When your line broke, they took me down here and have made me a slave."

Then he said to the shark chief, "Is there any news in this town?" and he replied, "Nothing especial in our town, but right across from us is the killer-whales' town, and recently we heard that a woman had been captured there and is now married to the killer-whale chief." Then the shark chief continued: "The killer-whale chief has a slave who is always chopping wood back in the forest with a stone ax. When you come to him, say within yourself, 'I wish your stone ax would break.' Wish it continually." So the shark instructed him.

Then he went over to the killer-whale town, and, when the slave's ax did break, he went up to him and said, "I will help you to fix that stone ax if you will tell me where my wife is." So he began to fix it in place for him. It was the only stone ax in the killer-whale

tribe. Then the slave said, "I always bring wood down and make a fire in the evening, after which my master sends me for water. When you see me going after water, come to the door and wait there for me. As soon as I come in I am going to push over the fire. At the same time I am going to empty the water into it so as to make a quantity of steam. Then rush in and carry out your wife."

The man followed these directions and started away with his wife. Then his halibut hook shouted, "This way, my master, this way." So he ran toward the shark people's town, and they pursued him. Now the killer whales attacked the shark people because they said that the sharks had instructed him what to do, and they killed many sharks.

In return the sharks began to make themselves strong. They were going out again to fight the killer whales. They went to some rocks and began sharpening their teeth. Then they began the battle, and whenever the killer whales approached, the sharks would run against their bellies and rip them open, letting out their entrails. The whole bay was full of killer whales and sharks. What happened to the woman is not told.

When the killer-whale tribe start north the seals say, "Here comes another battle. Here come the warriors." They say this because the killer whales are always after seals. Killer whales are of different kinds, and the one that always swims ahead is the red killer whale, called "killer-whale-spear" (Kīt-wusā'nî). It was so named by the man who made these animals because he shaped it long and slender. The Tsague'dî, to which this man belonged, are a branch of the Daq-Llawe'dî; therefore the DaqLlawe'dî are the only people who make the killer whale their emblem."

On their way to us the first killer whales came into a bay called Kots!ē'L!, after Ts!ēL!, the first man who came to that bay. They encamped at its head and the day after began digging into the clift. The land there is not very high, so they were soon through, laid skids down, and carried their canoes across. Some people watched them. The killer whales always used to cross at the place where they laid down these skids, and now people cross there. It is called Killer-whale-crossing place (Kītgū'nî), but is now overgrown with trees and underbrush.

[This place is said to be on the north arm of Tenakee bay, where a canal has been projected to enable boats to reach Huna more easily.]

a The Wü'ckitan must, however, be added.

## 5. KAKA'a

When Kaka' was taken south, either to Cape Ommaney or farther, a woman came to him and said, "I am in the same fix as you. We are both saved by the land otters." That is how he found out what had happened to him. The woman also said, "I am your friend, and I have two land-otter husbands who will take you to your home." Then she called him to her and began to look over his hair. Finally she said, "Your wife has put the sinew from a land-otter's tail through your ear. That is what has caused you to become a land otter."

Then they took down what looked to him like a canoe, but really it was a skate. The skate is the land-otter's canoe. When they set out, they put him into the canoe, laid a woven mat over him and said, "You must not look up again." He did look up, however, after a time and found himself tangled among the kelp stems. These land otters were going to become his spirits.

On their journey they started to cross a bay called Ken to an island called Telnu', and, as daylight was coming on, they began to be afraid that the raven would call and kill them before they reached the other side. It was almost daylight when they came to land, so they ran off at once among the bushes and rocks, leaving Kaka' to pull up the canoe. This was hard work, and while he was at it the skin was all worn from his lower arm, so he knew that it was a skate.

Some people traveling in a canoe saw his shadow there and tried hard to make him out clearly, but in vain. They did not want to have him turn into a land otter, so they said, "Kaka', you have already turned into a ground hog."

By and by one of his friends heard him singing in the midst of a thick fog at a place near the southern end of Baranoff island on the outside. Each time he ended his song with the words, "Let the log drift landward with me." Then it would drift shoreward with him Meanwhile he was lying on the log head down with blood running out of his nose and mouth and all kinds of sea birds were feeding on him. It was his spirits that made him that way. The real land otters had left him, but they had come to him again as spirits.

Now the people sang a song on shore that could be heard where Kaka' was floating, but, although they heard the noise of a shaman's beating sticks, they could not get at him. Then the friend who had first found him went ashore and fasted two days, after which he went out and saw Kaka' lying on his back on the log. He was as well as when he had left Sitka. Then his friend brought him ashore, but the land-otter spirits remained with him, and he became a great shaman.

a See story 31, pp. 87-88.

b So interpreters persist in speaking of the capture of a human being by anthropomorphic animals or other supernatural beings.

## 6. THE LAND-OTTER SISTER a

A man set out from Sitka to a certain camp with his children in order to dry halibut, for in those days that was how they had to get their food. It was spring time. Then, too, they had stone axes and used small half baskets for pots in which to do cooking. His wife and children spent all of their time digging clams, cockles, and other shellfish down on the beach and in laying them aside for future use. The man, meantime, was hewing out a canoe with his stone ax. They had a hard time, for they had nothing to live on except the things picked up at low tide.

Many years before this man's sister had been drowned, but so long a time had passed that he had forgotten her. She, however, had been taken by the land otters and was married among them, having many children. From around a neighboring point she was watching him. Her children were all working to collect a quantity of food.

After this the woman's husband told her to take a lot of food to her brother. All the land-otter-people are called "Point people" (Q!ātkwedî'); they have plenty of halibut, seal, etc. So she began packing these things up to take them to her brother. In front of his dwelling house her brother had a house made of branches, and one evening he heard someone come in front of his house and seem to lay down a heavy pack there. Then the person said, "The place where you are stopping is wonderfully far from us." He went out and saw a woman but did not know who she was because her arms were grown to her breast and her mouth was thrown open with her upper lip drawn up under her nose. But the woman could see how he felt, so she said to him, "It is I. I am your sister who lives a short distance away around this point." Then she brought the basket into her brother's house and said to him, "Take the things out of the basket, for I have to return before the raven calls."

Next evening she came back with another full basket. This time she said, "You have three nephews who will come over and help you get halibut and other things." So the little otters came to their uncle. From their waist up they looked like human beings; below they were otters, and they had tails. Their mother came with them and began to take her brother's children on her lap saying, "Little tail (Llīt k!Atsk!u'), little tail growing down." As she sang tails began to grow down from them. Then their father looked at them, became angry, and said, "What are you doing to my children anyway?" Immediately she slapped them on the buttocks and said, "Up goes the little tail, up into the buttocks (tū'denAtsī yēq)," and the tails went up into their buttocks.

After his nephews had stayed with him for some time the man said within himself, "I have no devilfish for bait," and the same evening the young fellows were gone after it. Although it was high tide many devilfish were found in front of his house. The young otters called good weather bad and bad weather good.

One day they went out with their uncle to fish, and, when he put his line down with the buoy on it, the little otters all jumped into the water. They went down on the line and put on the hook the biggest halibut they could find. After they had brought in the canoe loaded twice their uncle had an abundance of provisions.

In the evening the otters had worked so hard that they fell asleep on the opposite side of the fire with their tails close to the blaze. Then their uncle said to them, "Your handy little tails are beginning to burn." On account of those words all became angry and left him, going back to their father. Then the man's sister came to him and asked what he had said to his nephews. He said, "I simply told them that their clothes were beginning to burn on them." So the the otters' father tried to explain it, saying to them: "Your uncle did not mean anything when he said your clothes were beginning to burn. He wanted only to save your clothes. Now go back and stay with him." So they got over their displeasure and went back.

All that time the man was working upon his canoe. He said within himself, "I wonder how my canoe can be gotten down." Next morning his nephews went up, put their tails under it, and pulled it down. When they got it to their uncle's house, he loaded the canoe and started home with them, but quite near his town he missed them out of the canoe. Then all the people there wondered where he could have gotten a canoe load of such things as he had. He gave everything to his friends. Then his wife said to the people, "Something came to help us. We have seen my husband's sister who was drowned long ago, and that is the way we got help."

Afterward he went back to the place where he had received assistance but saw nothing of those who had helped him. He hunted all about the place from which his sister used to come but found nothing except land-otter holes. He became discouraged and gave up searching.

## 7. THE LAND-OTTER SON

There was a great famine at Sitka, and all the people went halibut fishing. Then a certain man went with his wife to the mouth of Redoubt bay. He had prepared barks some time before, and, when they got to this place, they made a house out of them. They fished there for a long time, but caught no more than one or two halibut a week. By the end of two months they had little to live on except shellfish and other things picked up at low tide.

One evening they caught a small halibut at their fishing ground. They cooked a piece of it and put the rest on the drying frame in the brush house the man had constructed outside.

Next day they heard a noise there as if something were being thrown down and moved about. The woman said, "What can that be?" Then her husband went out and was astonished to see two medium-sized devilfish lying there. He wondered how they had gotten up from the beach. Then he went in and said, "Wife (dia), I am in luck. There are two large devilfish out there. I do not know who brought them. To-morrow morning we will take them and see if we can not eatch some halibut. The person who brought them here is very kind, for I have been hunting everywhere vainly for bait." The woman sat down and considered. She said, "Do you know who brought them here?" He said, "No." Then she said, "I will tell you who brought them here. Don't you remember that my son was drowned a year ago, and no one has seen anything of him since? It must be he, who has taken pity on us because he sees how poor we are. I will call his name if I hear anyone whistle to-morrow or any other night, for I know it is my son." So the woman spoke.

In the morning they went out with these devilfish and caught two halibut. Evening came on. After they had reached home and it was dark, they began to cook some halibut. Just as the woman was putting some into the pot a person whistled behind the house. Then she said, "We have longed for you, my dear son. Come in. Don't whistle around us. We have been wishing for you for the last year, so do not be afraid. It is only your father and I. Come in." Then it whistled again. The man went to the door, opened it, and said, "Come in, my son, I think you have come to help us because we are very poorly off here. The door is open. Come right in." So the father said. And without their seeing him enter, all of a sudden he was seated opposite them with his hands over his face. Then they spoke to him, saying, "Is it you, my son?" He only whistled [by drawing in his breath]. That was the way he spoke to them. Toward midnight he began to speak. The father said, "Is it you, my son?" The land-otter-man (kū'cta-qa) said, "Yes." He motioned to them that there was something outside which he had brought for them. It was some more devilfish. He said, "In the morning we will go out." The woman gave him a pillow and two blankets for the night, and he slept on the other side of the fire.

So early in the morning that it was yet dark he took his father by the feet and shook him, saying, "Get up. We will go out." He told him to take his fishing line, and they carried down the canoc. Then the land-otter-man stepped in and his father followed. His father gave him a paddle. The canoe went flying out to the halibut

ground. It was his son's strength that took them there so quickly. Then the land-otter-man suddenly stopped the canoe. He took the line and baited a hook with one devilfish tentacle. He baited all of the hooks and lowered them. Then he tied the end of the line to the seat. He said to his father, "Put the blanket over you. Do not watch me." His father did so but observed him through a hole in the blanket. The land-otter-man, without causing any motion in the canoe, jumped overboard, went down the line, and put the largest halibut that he could find on their hooks. When he came in he shook the canoe and his father pretended to wake up. He gave the line to his father who began to pull up. Very many big halibut began to come up, which he clubbed and threw into the canoe as fast as he could. Then he turned the canoe around and started for home. The canoe was full.

On the way the land-otter-man was in the bow holding a spear. After he had held it there for a long time he threw it. His father could not see that he had thrown it at a large seal. He brought it close to the canoe, gave it one blow to kill it and threw it into the canoe. When they came ashore it was almost daybreak. Then, motioning to his father that the raven might call before he reached shelter, he ran straight up into the woods.

Now the man's wife came down and began cutting up the halibut. By the time they had it all into the house it was dark. The same evening, before they knew it, he was with them again. Then the man took some pieces of raw halibut, cut them into bits and placed them before him. He turned his back on them and ate very fast. He could eat only raw food.

About a week later they told their son not to go into the woods at night but to stay with them. So he did. When he wanted to go fishing he would awaken his father while it was still dark, and they would start off. Each time they brought in a load of seal, halibut, and all sorts of things. They began to have great quantities of provisions.

After that they began to see his body plainly. His mouth was round, and long hair had grown down over his back to his buttocks. He took nothing from his father and mother but raw food.

Some time after they began to pack up to come to Sitka. He now talked to them like a human being and always stayed with them. He helped load their canoe, and his father gave him a paddle. Then they set out, the land-otter-man in the bow, his father in the stern, and his mother between. When they came to Poverotni point (Kaodjîxîtî-q!a), the woman saw the shadow of her son's arms moving, his hands which held the paddle being invisible. She said to her husband, "What is the matter with my son? He does not seem to be paddling. I can see only his shadow now." So she moved for-

ward to see whether he was asleep or had fallen into the water. Her son was not there. The blanket he had had around his knees was there, but he was gone. She said to her husband, "Your son is gone again," and he replied, "I can not do anything more. He is gone. How can I bring him back?" So they went on to Sitka.

When they came to Sitka, they reported all that had happened. The father said, "My son helped us. Just as we got around the point he disappeared out of the canoe." So his friends gave a feast for him. His father's name was Sakī', and the place where they fished for halibut is now called Sakī'-ī'dî.

#### 8. THE WOLF-CHIEF'S SON

Famine visited a certain town, and many people died of starvation. There was a young boy there who always went around with bow and arrows. One day, as he was hunting about, he came across a little animal that looked like a dog and put it under his blanket. He brought it to his mother, and his mother washed it for him. Then he took the red paint left by his dead uncles, spit upon the dog and threw paint on so that it would stick to its hair and face. When he took the dog into the woods, it would bring him all kinds of birds, such as grouse, which he carried home to his family. They cooked these in a basket pot. Afterward he brought the animal down, washed it, and put more paint upon its legs and head. This enabled him to trace it when he was out hunting.

One day after he had traced it for some distance, he found it had killed a small mountain sheep, and, when he came down, he gave it the fat part. With the meat so obtained he began to take good care of his mother and his friends. He had not yet found out whether the animal was really a dog.

The next time they went hunting they came across a large flock of sheep, and he sent the dog right up to them. It killed all of them, and he cut the best one open for it. Then he took down the rest of the sheep and dressed them. What the animal was killing was keeping some of his friends alive.

One time the husband of a sister came to him and said, "I wish to borrow your animal. It is doing great things in this place." So he brought the little dog from the house he had made for it, painted its face and feet, and said to his brother-in-law, "When you kill the first one cut it open quickly and let him have it. That is the way I always do." Then this brother-in law took up the little dog, and, when they came to a flock of sheep, it went straight among them, killing them and throwing them down one after another. But, after he had cut one open, he took out the entrails, threw them into the dog's face, and said, "Dogs always eat the insides of animals, not the

good part." The dog, however, instead of eating it, ran straight up between the mountains, yelping.

Now when his brother-in-law brought the sheep down, the man asked him, "Where is the little dog?" And he said, "It ran away from me." That was the report he brought down. Then the owner of the dog called his sister to him and said, "Tell me truly what he did with the little dog. I did not want to let it go at first because I knew people would do that thing to it." His sister said, "He threw the entrails to it to eat. That is why it ran off."

Then the youth felt very sad on account of his little animal and prepared to follow it. His brother-in-law showed him the place between the mountains where the dog had gone up, and he went up in that direction until he came to its footprints and saw the red paint he had put upon it. This animal was really the wolf-chief's son who had been sent to help him, and, because the man put red upon its head and feet, a wolf can now be told by the red on its feet and around its mouth.

After he had followed the trail for a long distance he came to a lake with a long town on the opposite side. There he heard a great noise made by people playing. It was a very large lake, so he thought, "I wonder how I can get over there." Just then he saw smoke coming out from under his feet. Then a door swung open, and he was told to enter. An old woman lived there called Woman-alwayswondering (Łūwat-uwadjī'gî-cāna'k!"), who said to him, "Grandchild, why are you here?" He answered "I came across a young dog which helped me, but it is lost, and I come to find where it went." Then the woman answered, "Its people live right across there. It is a wolf-chief's son. That is its father's town over there where they are making a noise." So the old woman instructed him.

Then he wondered and said to himself, "How can I get across?" But the old woman spoke out, saying, "My little canoe is just below here." He said to himself, "It might turn over with me." Then the old woman answered, "Take it down. Before you get in shake it and it will become large." Then she continued: "Get inside of the boat and stretch yourself on the bottom, but do not paddle it. Instead wish continually to come in front of that place."

He did as she directed and landed upon the other side. Then he got out, made the canoe small and put it into his pocket, after which he went up among the boys who were playing about, and watched them. They were playing with a round, twisted thing called gîtcxanagā't (rainbow). Then some one directed him to the wolfchief's house at the farther end of the village. An evening fire, such as people used to make in olden times, was burning there, and, creeping in behind the other people, the man saw his little wolf playing about near it in front of his father.

Then the wolf chief said, "There is some human being looking in here. Clear away from before his face." Upon this the little wolf ran right up to him, smelt of him, and knew him at once. The wolf chief said, "I feel well disposed toward you. I let my son live among you because your uncles and friends were starving, and now I am very much pleased that you have come here after him." By and by he said, "I think I will not let him go back with you, but I will do something else to help you." He was happy at the way the man had painted up his son. Now he did not appear like a wolf but like a human being. The chief said, "Take out the fish-hawk's quill that is hanging on the wall and give it to him in place of my son." Then he was instructed how to use it. "Whenever a bear meets you," he said, "hold the quill straight toward it and it will fly out of your hand." He also took out a thing that was tied up like a blanket and gave it to him, at the same time giving him instructions. "One side," he said, "is for sickness. If you put this on a sick person it will make him well. If anyone hates you, put the other side on him and it will kill him. After they have agreed to pay you for treating him put the other side on to cure him."

Then the chief said, "You see that thing that the boys are playing with? That belongs to me. Whenever one sees it in the evening it means bad weather; whenever one sees it in the morning it means good weather." So he spoke to him.

Then they put something else into his mouth and said to him, "Take this, for you have a long journey to make." He was gone up there probably two years, but he thought it was only two nights.

At the time when he came within sight of his town he met a bear. He held the quill out toward it as he had been instructed and suddenly let it go. It hit the bear in the heart. Still closer to his town he came upon a flock of sheep on the mountain, and sent his quill at them. When he reached them, he found all dead, and, after he had cut them all open, he found the quill stuck into the heart of the last. He took a little meat for his own use and covered up the rest.

Coming to the town, he found no one in it. All had been destroyed. Then he felt very sad, and, taking his blanket out, laid the side of it that would save people, upon their bodies, and they all came to life. After that he asked all of them to go hunting with him, but he kept the quill hidden away so that they would not bother him as they had before. When they came to a big flock of mountain sheep, he let his quill go at them so quickly that they could not see it. Then he went up, looked the dead sheep over, and immediately cut out the quill. All his friends were surprised at what had happened. After they had gotten down, those who were not his close friends came to him and gave payment for the meat.

The people he restored to life after they had been dead for very many years had very deep set eyes and did not get well at once.

After that he went to a town where the people were all well and killed some of them with his blanket. Then he went to the other people in that place and said, "How are your friends? Are they dead?" "Yes." "Well I know a way of making them well." He went up to them again with his blanket and brought them back to life. They were perfectly well.

This man went around everywhere doing the same thing and became very famous. Whenever one was sick in any place they came after him and offered him a certain amount for his services, so that he became the richest man of his time.

#### 9. WOLVERINE-MAN

There were people living in a certain town on the mainland. You know that in olden times the people did not use guns. They hunted with bows and arrows, and horn spears, and it was very hard work to use them. So, when they were going hunting, they had to fast and wash their heads in urine. That is why in all of these stories—which I am telling you just as they were told in the olden times—food was very scarce and hard to get. Success depended on what things were used and how people prepared themselves.

One day a certain man at this place began preparing himself by washing his head in urine, and the following morning he dressed and started up the valley carrying his horn spear. At the head of this valley he saw a flock of mountain sheep, but he could not get at them, so he camped over night. In the morning he saw that a wolverine (nūsk) was among these sheep killing them off.

Next evening he reached the top of the mountain and started into the brush to camp, but came to a house with the door wide open for him. On the inside hung pieces of fat from all kinds of animals the wolverine had killed. He wanted to go in very much, but instead he sat down in the brush near by and waited.

Presently a man came along carrying a pack. This was Wolverineman (Nū'sgu-qa). He said, "My trader, you are here. Why don't you step inside?" Then they entered, and Wolverine-man took off his clothes and began wringing them out just like a human being. Then he heated some hot rocks, took his half basket, chopped up the bones of a ground hog and put these into it along with the cooking stones. Then he said to the man, "Give me that kandalā'x. Give me that kandalā'x. Give me that kandalā'x his man, and they mean, "Give me my dish. Give me my little spoon." So, when one went up to the top of this mountain in olden times he called his dishes and spoons by those names.

Then Wolverine-man placed the food before his guest, but, when the latter was about to take some, Wolverine-man said something that sounded strange to him. He said, "There he is picking it up. There he is going to eat it." It sounded strange. Then he kept on talking: "He is getting closer to the small bones. He is getting closer to the small brother of the big bone. He is getting closer to the small brother of the big bone." He did not want the man to eat the small bones at the joint, and it was from Wolverine-man that people learned not to eat these. He said, "I am not saying this to you because I hate you. If anybody swallows these, the weather is not clear on top of the mountain. It is always foggy, and one can kill nothing. This is why I am telling you." Meanwhile the people in the camps hunted every day for this man but in vain.

By and by Wolverine-man said to him, "Go around to the other side of the mountain and sit down where the ground-hogs' places are." He went there every day, but always came home without anything. Wolverine-man, however, brought him a great load every time. Finally Wolverine-man told him to go and cut off two small limbs with his ax. People generally carried a stone ax when off hunting. With these he made a trap for him and named it Never-lasting-over-night (Łankā'k!xē). It was so named because it was certain to catch.

When they went up next day, Wolverine-man said, "I am going this way. Do not set your trap until you see a large ground hog going into a hole. Set it there:" Soon after he left Wolverine-man he saw a big ground hog going into its hole. He set up his trap there, stood near, and watched. Soon he heard the crack of his trap falling. He set it up many times, and each time he caught one. He killed four that day. That is why the trap is called Never-lasting-over-night. From that time on he increased the size of his catch every day, while Wolverine-man did not catch much. When he got home with all his ground hogs Wolverine-man lay down by the fire and began singing, "What I would have killed has all gone over to a lazy man's side."

Next morning, when they again started off to hunt, Wolverine-man, instead of continuing on his usual route, came back to see what his companion was doing. Then he climbed into a tree to watch him, began to play around in the tree, and afterwards suddenly fell down. He wanted to deceive the trapper. This tree is a small bushy one called s!ax, and it is Wolverine-man's wife with which he had really been cohabiting. The man, however, observed what he was doing, and returned home at once, upon which Wolverine-man became so ashamed that he lay down and covered himself with ashes.

After that Wolverine-man told his guest to lie down and cover himself up. Then he took his urinal full of urine, with two white

rocks in it, to another place. He was going to bathe to purify himself from his wife. After he had purified himself, he came home, put grease into the fire and began to motion toward his face and to blow with his mouth. Then he took a wooden comb and began to comb his hair. The man had covered his head with the blanket but was watching through a hole.

Now the man arose and said to Wolverine-man, "I am going home to my children." Then Wolverine-man told him not to say where he had been but to keep him in remembrance by means of the trap. He had stayed with Wolverine-man more than a month, and,

when he went down, he had a big pack of skins.

Then he began to distribute these to all his friends, telling them that he had discovered a place where there were lots of things, and that he had a trap which never failed to kill ground hogs and other animals if set on the mountain over night. When he explained to the people how to set up this trap, a man named Coward (Q!atxā'n) said, "I will go along with you." This time they did not go way up to the place where Wolverine-man had helped him but into one of the lower valleys where there were many ground hogs. There they constructed a house out of dry sticks and began trapping. Coward had understood him to say that he caught ground hogs by whittling up sticks near the hole. That was what he was doing every day, until finally his companion said, "What do you do by the holes that you do not catch anything?" He said, "Why, I have already cut up two big sticks by the holes." Then the other answered, "That is not right. You have to cut and make a trap with which to trap the ground hog."

After that this man thought he would do the same thing to the tree he had seen Wolverine-man do, but he fell to the ground and was barely able to crawl home. When he thought he had enough skins, he started to pack up and return. The trap was very valuable at that time because it was new, and anyone borrowing it paid a great deal. So he became wealthy by means of it. He went to every other town to let people know about it. They would invite him to a place, feast him, and ask him for it. He became very wealthy.

#### 10. THE HALIBUT PEOPLE

There was a very long town where people were fishing for halibut. One evening the daughter of the chief, whose house was in the middle of the place, went down on the beach to cut up halibut, and slipped on some halibut slime. She used bad words to it.

A few days afterward many canoe-loads of people came to get this girl in marriage, and she started off with them. But, although they appeared to her like human beings, they were really the halibut people. As soon as they had left the village they went around a point, landed, and went up into the woods after spruce gum and pitch.

They brought down a great quantity of this, heated a rock in the fire and spread pitch all over it. When it was melted they seated the woman upon it. The two brothers of this girl searched along shore for her continually, and finally they discovered where she was; but she was dead.

Then they felt very sad on her account and asked each other, "What shall we do about her?" They thought of all kinds of schemes, and at last hit upon a plan. Then they went home, filled a bladder full of blood, and went out to the halibut fishing ground. The elder brother let his younger brother down on a line, but before he got far he lost his breath and had to be pulled up. So the elder brother prepared himself. He put on his sister's dress, took his knife and the bladder full of blood, and got safely to the bottom. When he arrived there he found himself in front of a house. Some one came out to look and then said to the chief inside, "Has your wife come out to see you?" They thought it was the dead woman. So the halibut chief said, "Tell her to come in," and he married her.

At this time the friends of the young man were vainly endeavoring to catch halibut, and he could see their hooks. Instead of coming into the houses these would fall around on the outside. They tried all kinds of hooks of native manufacture, but the only one that succeeded was Raven-backbone-hook (Yēl-tū'dʌq!ê), which came right in through the smoke hole.

After a while the halibut chief said, "Let us go and take a sweat bath." [Frater autem puellae mortuae semper secum portabat vesicam cruore plenam, quo ungebat extrema vestem qua indutus erat, ut rhombum deciperet, dicens, "Mensibus affectus sum; noli mihi appropinquare."]

That night, as soon as the halibut chief was asleep, the man took his knife, cut the chief's head off and ran outside with it. Everybody in the town was asleep. Then he jerked on his brother's line,

and his brother pulled him up along with the head.

After that they paddled along shore for some time, and on the way the elder brother kept shooting at ducks with his arrows. Finally he hit one and took it into the canoe. It was shivering, and his brother said, "Look at this little duck. It is dying of cold. I wish you were by my father's camp fire." On account of these bad words the canoe went straight down into the ocean.

Arrived at the bottom, they saw a long town, and some one said, "Get out of the canoe and come up." Then the duck led them up into the house of his grandfather, the killer whale—for the killer whale is grandfather to the duck—and a big fire was built for them. Then they seated the brothers close to this and said, "Do you think it is only your father who has a big fire?" After they were so badly burned that their heads were made to turn backward with the heat, they were thrown outside. There they became the ducks called

Always-crying-around-[the-bay] (Yīkagā'xe). You can hear them crying almost any time when you are in camp. They never got back to their friends.

# 11. STORIES OF THE MONSTER DEVILFISH<sup>a</sup> AND THE CRY-BABY<sup>b</sup>

Many people once went to a certain camp to dry salmon. They did not know that a big devilfish lived under a steep cliff not very far from this place. In olden times, besides using hooks, they caught salmon by means of traps (cal), and when the trap was full, they would take out the fish and hang them on drying frames. When these people had many fish on the frames, they took off their covers so that the red color shone out on the ocean very distinctly.

A man and his two brothers living at this camp were fond of hunting, and one day, when very many salmon were on the frames, they started out. While they were gone the devilfish saw the glow on the water from the red salmon, threw his tentacles around the camp and swept every vestige of it into the sea. In those times a hunter washed in urine before going out hunting and was then sure to kill something, but on that day everything the hunters speared got away. When they returned to the camp, they saw many pieces of canoes drifting about the bay. Then they were very sad on account of the loss of their friends, but they did not know what had destroyed them.

After they had remained there for four days, they told the youngest to climb to the top of a high hill and watch them. Then the eldest told his other brother to cut four young spruce trees, and he sharpened these, making two for himself and two for his brother. Early in the morning they loaded their canoe with rocks and prepared to meet the dangerous animal. They went out in front of the high cliff and began throwing rocks down there, the elder saying to his youngest brother, "Look down."

After a while they saw the large devilfish coming up right under them. Then they took the sharpened sticks and began to pierce its flesh. The youngest watched all that happened. When their canoe was broken up, they climbed on top of the devilfish and continued running the sticks into it until it died. When that happened it carried them down along with it.

Then the youngest brother started off to find some settlement, and when he came to one, the people set out at once to look for his brothers. Finally they discovered the place to which the devilfish had floated, along with the hunters and their canoe. But it did not get the salmon it had destroyed so many people for. Then the people gave a death feast and all cut their hair off short.

In the town to which these people belonged once lived a little boy who was always crying. His parents tried to rear him properly, yet he cried, cried, cried all the time. Finally his father shouted out, "Come this way Djînakaxwa'ts!a." Pull this boy away, for he cries too much." Toward evening he repeated the same words, and this time a land-otter-man behind the house shouted out stutteringly, "Bring my grandchild here and let him eat galkadaxa'k!" to keep him quiet." So the little boy was taken away and given what appeared to him to be blackberries.

Two days afterward they began searching for him, and they finally found him far up in the woods. When they brought him down he had a big belly and did not cry as loudly as he had before, so they thought that something was wrong. Then they boiled some dried salmon and gave him broth made from it. The heat of this broth expelled all of the small creatures that had been given him to eat under the appearance of blackberries. Spiders began running out of his mouth, ears, nose, eyes, and buttocks. His insides were filled with them, and they had eaten out all of his flesh. When these were expelled, nothing was left but the skin which they threw away.

## 12. THE WOMAN WHO WAS KILLED BY A CLAM

There was a famine at a certain town and many people had to depend on shellfish, so the women went down to the beach at low tide every day to gather them. One time a chief's daughter went down and reached far under a rock to find some clams. Then a large bivalve called xīt closed upon her hand, holding her prisoner. Presently the tide began to rise, and, when it had almost reached her, she began singing a song about herself. She kept on singing until the tide passed right over her. Then all felt sad and held a feast for her at which they put food, blankets, and other things into the water.

### 13. ROOT-STUMP b

There was a certain town in which many people were dying of sickness, but those who felt well used to play shinney on the beach every day. Then something came down through the air and one of them seized it and was dragged up from the ground. Another person grasped his feet, endeavoring to pull him back, but he, too, was carried up and another and another until there were ten. All of these were taken up out of sight.

The next day the same thing came down a second time, and ten more were carried off. This happened every day until all the men in the town were gone. Next it came to a woman, and all the women were carried away in the same manner except two.

These two women now walked along the beach calling for help. They did not know whither their friends had gone. And every day they went up into the forest after roots.

One day, after they had gone up into the woods, one of these women began swallowing root-juice, and it formed a child in her. This was born and proved to be a boy. After he had grown a little larger, his mother named him Root-stump (Xat-cūgū'lk!î). This is what helped her. All the men who used to chop canoes away from town had also disappeared.

The child grew very rapidly and repeatedly asked his mother, "Where have all my friends gone?" She said to him, "We do not know. They kept going up into the air." When he was a little larger he began to test himself. He would go up to a tree, seize a limb, and try to stretch himself. Then roots would run out from him in every direction because his mother had named him to have that sort of strength."

His mother said to him, "Look out when you go down on the beach to play, because those who do so go up into the air and you will also go up. So look out." Then he ran down to the beach and began playing. All at once the thing came down. He seized it, and immediately roots grew out from him into the ground in every direction. So he pulled down the thing that was killing his people, and it broke into small pieces.

There was another being in the woods who always chopped and made noises to entice people to him in order to kill them. He was in the habit of killing people by asking them to get into his canoe, when he knocked out a thwart so that it closed in upon them. He was the one who had killed the canoe-makers. Root-stump once found this man engaged in making a canoe, and the man asked him to jump inside. Root-stump knew what he was about, however, and jumped out too quickly. Then Root-stump was so angry that he seized the canoe-maker and beat his brains out. He broke up the canoe and piled it on top of him.

This boy grew up into a very fine man. He brought in all kinds of things for his mother. If he were hunting mountain sheep and came to a chasm or other similar place, he would cross it by sticking his roots into the ground on the other side.

This is why they say even at the present time to a woman who works with roots, "Do not swallow the sap. You might have a baby from it."

## 14. THE PROTRACTED WINTER

One time some boys pulled a piece of drifting seaweed out of the water on one side of their canoe and put it in again on the other. It was almost summer then, but, for having done this, winter came on again and snow was piled high in front of the houses so that people began to be in want of food. One day, however, a blue jay perched on the edge of a smoke hole, with elderberries in its mouth, and cried, "Kîlna'xe." This was the name of a neighboring town. So the people took all the cedar bark they had prepared to make houses out of and went to Kîlna'xe where they found that it was already summer and the berries were ripe. Only about their own town was it still winter. This happened just beyond the town of Wrangell.

I tell you this story to show how particular people used to be in olden times about things, for it was only a piece of seaweed that brought winter on.

## 15. BEAVER AND PORCUPINE a

A porcupine and a beaver were once very close friends.<sup>b</sup> They traveled about everywhere and reported to each other all that happened. The bear is very much afraid of the porcupine, but he hates the beaver. Wherever the beaver has a dam the bear breaks it up so as to let the water down, eatches the beaver and eats him. But he is afraid of the porcupine's sharp quills, so the porcupine sometimes stayed in the beaver's house, which is always dry inside.

When the lake began falling, they knew it was caused by the bear, and the porcupine would go out to reconnoiter. Then he would come back and say to his friend, "Do not go out. I will go out first." Then the bear would be afraid of the porcupine's sharp quills and go away, after which all the beavers began repairing their dam while the porcupine acted as guard.

By and by the porcupine said to the beaver, "I am hungry. I want to go to my own place." Porcupine got his food from the bark and sap of trees, so he told the beaver to go up a tree with him, but the beaver could not climb. Then the porcupine told him to stay below while he went up to eat. Soon they saw the bear coming, and the beaver said, "Partner (xō'ne), what shall I do? The bear is getting near." Then the porcupine slid down quickly and said, "Lay your head close to my back." In that way he got the beaver to the top of the tree. But, after a while, the porcupine left him, and the beaver did not know how to climb down. He began to beg the porcupine in every way to let him down, but in vain. After quite a while, however, the squirrel, another friend of the beaver,

a See story 63. b WutcyAqu'wu, signifying friendship between people regardless of relationship.

came to him and helped him down, while the porcupine was off in a hole in the rocks with a number of other porcupines.

By and by the porcupine went back and saw his friend swimming in the lake. The beaver asked him down to the lake and then said, "Partner, let us go out to the middle of the lake. Just put your head on the back of my head and you will not get wet at all." Because these two friends fell out, people now become friends, and, after they have loved each other for a while, fall out. Then the porcupine did as he was directed, the beaver told him to hold on tight, and they started. The beaver would flap his tail on the water and dive down for some distance, come to the surface, flap his tail, and go down again; and he repeated the performance until he came to an island in the center of the lake. Then he put the porcupine ashore and went flapping away from him in the same manner.

Now the little porcupine wandered around the whole island, not knowing how to get off. He climbed a tree, came down again, and climbed another, and so on. But the wolverine lived on the mainland near by, so after a while he began to sing for the wolverine (nūsk) "Nū-u-sguē-e', Nū-u-sguē-e', Nū-u-sguē-e'." He called all the animals on the mainland, but he called the wolverine especially, because he wanted the north wind to blow so that it would freeze.

Then the wolverine called out, "What is the matter with you?" So he at last sang a song about himself, saying that he wanted to go home badly. After he had sung this the whole sea froze over, and the porcupine ran across it to his home. This is why they were going to be friends no longer.

Then the porcupine made friends with the ground hog and they stayed up between the mountains where they could see people whenever they started up hunting. One day a man started out, and when they saw him, the porcupine began singing, "Up to the land of ground hog. Up to the land of ground hog." The man heard him. That is why people know that the porcupine sings about the ground hog.

After this the man began trapping ground hogs for food and caught a small ground hog. He took it home and skinned it. Then he took off the head and heated some stones in order to cook it. When he was just about to put it into the steaming box the head sang plainly, "Poor little head, my poor little head, how am I going to fill him?" The man was frightened, and, instead of eating, he went to his traps in the morning, took them up (lit. "threw them off") and came home.

Next morning he reported everything to his friends, saying, "I killed a ground hog, skinned it and started to cook the head. Then it said to me, 'Poor little head.'" After that he went out to see his

bear traps. While he was endeavoring to tighten the release of one of these, the dead fall came down and struck him in the neck, making his head fly off. When he had been absent for two days they searched for him and found him in his own trap. This was what the ground hog had predicted when it said, "My poor little head." They took his body down to the beach, beat the drums for him, and had a feast on the ground hogs and other animals he had trapped.

## 16. THE POOR MAN WHO CAUGHT WONDERFUL THINGS

There was a long town from which all the people used to go out fishing for halibut and other large fish every day. In those times, before bone was used, they made hooks of two pieces of spruce from young trees, sharpened the point and hardened it in the fire. For lines they dried slender kelp stems.

A very poor man living at one end of the town fished among the others, but did not catch anything. While they were having a good time fishing he remained perfectly quiet, and they kept laughing at him. One day, when he pulled at his line, it acted as if it were fast to something. He thought it had caught upon a rock and pulled it about in the endeavor to free it. All at once it began to come slowly up, and, although every one laughed at him, he held on.

After he had brought it close to the canoe, he looked down and saw that it was a great live abalone caught in the flesh. Its color shone out of the water. As it ascended it was so big that all the canoes seemed to come inside of it, and it shone in every one's face. Then some people who wanted to take this valuable thing away from him, said, "Cut the line. It is a great thing that you have caught. You better let it go." After a while he became tired of the people's talk, so he cut his line. Then it began to go down very slowly, shining all over.

Then others came to him and said, "You did not do the right thing. It is a very valuable thing you let go." He said, "Has it sunk?" So nowadays, when a person has lost a valuable thing, they say to him, "Is it an abalone that has sunk?" (Dê'ca gu'nxa ak we wut!a'q!) Whenever he thought about this he cried at the riches he had let go.

Another time they went out fishing, and he was with them. He had a sponge in his hand, and taking a piece of flesh out of his nose inside so as to make it bleed, he filled the sponge with blood and let it down into the ocean. When he began to pull up his hook, it was again fast. He pulled it up slowly, for it was very heavy. It was another valuable thing, the nest of a fish called îcqē'n. Then he filled his canoe with these fishes, called the other canoes to him and filled them. After that he stood up in his canoe and said, "The abalone has not been drowned from me yet. I still have it." He

distributed these fishes all over the town and began to get rich from the property he received. People gave him all kinds of skins—moose, caribou, fox, etc. He had great stores of riches from having caught the abalone and the nest of fishes.

# 17. THE FINDING OF THE BLUE PAINT, AND HOW A CERTAIN CREEK RECEIVED ITS NAME

At Sitka lived four brothers who were very fond of hunting. In those days people liked to hunt about the straits north of Sitka for fur seals, sea otters, etc. One day, while they were out, they were forced to take refuge from a storm at a place near Mount Edgecumbe, called Town-on-the-inside-of-blue-paint-point (Nexî'ntaiataq!-ān), and while hunting about this place during their long stay they discovered a rocky cave or overhanging cliff from which soft blue stuff continually dropped. The youngest said, "I have discovered a valuable thing which will be used for painting and for everything carved."

After they had been there for a long time the weather became fine and the sea smooth. Now in olden times people knew that everything was dangerous. When the brothers were about to start, they said, "We will take some off now to carry home." So they knocked off a big piece, rolled it up among their clothes and hid it away. But the canoe had scarcely started before the sea began to get rough. When they were some way out they headed for an island outside of Edgecumbe which they had to pass. Then the eldest, who was steering, began to compose a song about the course he was taking: "Which way shall I steer the canoe, straight out into the ocean or straight on to the shore?" The youngest said, "There is no way of getting home. Would it not be better to throw this blue paint into the water? Then we can get ashore." So the eldest brother put in the next verse as follows: "Which way shall we steer, straight in or not? Shall we not throw this blue paint into the water? If not how shall we be saved?" Then he exclaimed, "Bring the blue stuff here and tie it to my head, and I will be drowned with it so that things shall eat me up with it."

They were not drowned, however, and reached shore in safety, so people still speak of their bravery in not throwing the blue paint overboard. To this day they say that, if you take anything from there, the weather will be stormy, and people are still afraid to do it, but take the risk because the thing obtained is valuable.

For a long time after the brothers reached shore with this blue paint the weather was bad and great rollers came sweeping in out of the ocean. No one could go to sea after halibut.

At that time some people were camping a short distance north of Sitka, and one day two women went from there with their children to dig clams. They came into a small inlet and made their camp.

Then the women began bringing up shellfish, which they afterwards boiled to get the insides out, ran small sticks through them, and hung them up to dry for their children. One day they went down on the beach as usual, leaving their babies in camp, and the smallest began crying. Then a child somewhat larger shouted, "The baby is crying. The baby is crying." Its mother said, "Bury one of those cockles in the fire and cook it for her," but the little boy understood his mother to say, "Dig a hole for your little sister in the fire and put her into it." So the little boy began to pull the fire apart and to make a hole in the middle of it. He tried to knock his little sister into this hole but she kept getting up again, so he shouted, "She keeps trying to get away from me." After a while he became too strong for his little sister, put her in, and covered her over.

When his mother came up, she said, "Little son, where is your little sister?" "I have buried her in the fire. She is there." So after that they named the stream Creek-where-a-person-was-burned (Ka'xsîganîhīn).

## 18. VARIOUS ADVENTURES NEAR CROSS SOUND

There is a place in the neighborhood of Cross sound called K!udē'sq!ayîk, which people used to frequent in olden times to hunt, catch halibut, and so on. People were then in the habit of traveling from camp to camp a great deal. One time a man and his wife went out to to get cedar bark off from some trees, and the man went quite a distance up into the woods from his wife with his stone ax and tree climber. This tree-climber was an apparatus composed of ropes, with a board for the climber to stand on. But, while he was high up in a tree, the board slipped from under the man's feet, and the rope held him tight to the tree by his neck so that he died. Since he did not come back, his wife went home and reported that he was missing. Then they hunted for him everywhere, and finally a man found him hanging from the tree dead. The dead man was brother of a chief. So they took the board that had fallen from under his feet home, laid it across the neck of a slave and killed him to be revenged on the board. They kept the board and exhibited it at feasts. Afterward people were called for the death feast.

People continued going to the different bays hunting, and one day a canoe with two men in it anchored close by a cliff. While they were there one of them saw two huge devilfish arms moving across the bay. They ran ashore and hid under a rock, letting the arms pass over them, while the devilfish took the canoe into its hole under water.

Then the men started up the hill. On their way home they saw in a small creek what appeared to be a little halibut, but on coming closer they found that it was only a white rock which had that appearance.

After they had reached home and had reported what had happened, all the people began to chop at a log. Then they started a big fire and began to burn it. But, when it was half burned, they put out the fire by throwing hot water upon it. They were going to take it to the devilfish hole and drown it there. So they took it over to that place and let it down, but never saw it again.

Later four other men went hunting by canoe one autumn to a place called Watas!ā'x, where they encamped. By and by one of the party, on going to his traps, found a big land otter in one of them. He took the bough of a tree, twisted it around the land otter's neck, and carried it home. He did not know what it was. As he dragged it home it went bouncing along behind him and at every bounce something whistled behind him. Arrived at camp he began to skin it. Then he said to his brothers, "Go and get your pot ready to cook it," but, when they began to cut it up to put it in, something whistled. "That is just what I heard on the way," he said.

After the pot had boiled and they had begun eating, something began to whistle in a tree near by and threw a rock down. They threw one back and soon rocks were flying back and forth. It was a great thing to fool with. By and by the men said, "You might cut our faces," so, instead of throwing rocks, they seized long cones and threw these back and forth all night. Toward morning the being in the tree, which was a land-otter-man, began to hit people, and they on their part had become very tired. Finally they tried to get him down by lighting a fire under the tree where he was sitting. When it was burning well, all suddenly shouted, and he fell into it. Then they threw the fire over him, and he burned up. But when they started for the beach to go home, all wriggled from side to side and acted as if they were crazy; and when anyone went to that place afterward he would act in the same manner.

These men lived at a place called Person-petrified (Cakdahana'), and when they came home, it was told them, "A woman and her child have been lost from this place." This woman had been attacked by some strange man, whom she also killed with the pole which was used to take off cedar bark. At that time many persons had disappeared, and the people were wearied out looking for them. Now, however, they were determined to find the murderers, so all got into one canoe and started along the coast. After a time the high waves compelled them to encamp, and all went up into the woods to hunt through them for a beach. Then they came to a house made of driftwood, where the murderers lived. They went to each end where the main stringer protruded, lifted it off of its

supporting posts and let it fall on the occupants. Those who tried to get out between the logs they killed. Then they set the ruined house on fire and burned it with all it contained; and they broke up the canoe belonging to those people.

Close by lived a shaman related to the same people. His spirits told him that there was a mountain near by where flint could be obtained. His spirits had so much strength that he went right to that place and broke it off. In those days every time a shaman cut an animal's tongue he had more strength, so, when his strength was all combined, it amounted to considerable.

At that time the people did not have any flint, but, after the spirit discovered it, all knew where it was to be found, and they have since brought it from there.

## 19. KĀTS!a

Kāts! belonged to the Kā'gwantān and lived at Sitka. One day he went hunting with dogs, and, while his dogs ran on after a male bear, this bear's wife took him into her den, concealed him from her husband, and married him. He had several children by her. Indoors the bears take off their skin coats and are just like human beings.

By and by he wanted to go back to his people, but before he started she told him not to smile at or touch his Indian wife or take up either of his children. After his return, he would go out for seal, sea lions, and other animals which he carried up into an inlet where his bear wife was awaiting him. Then the cubs would come down, pull the canoe ashore violently, take out the game and throw it from one to another up to their mother. On account of the roughness of these cubs it came to be a saying in Sitka, "If you think you are brave, be steersman for Kāts!."

One day Kāts! pitied one of his children and took it up. The next time he went up the inlet, however, the cubs scized him and threw him from one to another up to their mother, and so killed him. Then they scattered all over the world and are said to have been killed in various places.

What is thought to have been the last of these was killed at White Stone Narrows. When some people were encamped there a girl spoke angrily about Kāts!'s child, and it came upon them, killing all except a few who escaped in their canoes, and this woman, whom it carried off alive, making her groan with pain. One man tried to kill it but did not cut farther than its hair. Finally all the Indians together killed it with their spears and knives.

a See story 69; also Boas, Indianische Sagen von der Nord-Pacifischen Küste Amerikas, p. 328.

b Because a human being married among the grizzly bears, people will not cat grizzly-bear meat.

## 20. THE UNSUCCESSFUL HUNTERS

Two persons very fond of hunting were in the habit of washing in urine, as was usual in old times when one wanted something very much. Then they went to a sea-lion rock, and one of them threw his spear at a sea lion but the point broke off the handle. The animal was the sea-lion-chief's son. Afterwards the man who had done it was drowned, but his companion reached the sea-lion rock in safety. He looked about for his friend, but could not see him, so he went up on top of the rock, lay down, and, pulling the grass over himself, fell asleep. While he was asleep and dreaming, some one came to him and said, "I come to help you." He awoke, but there was nothing visible except nesting birds flying about the island. Then he again fell asleep, and again he heard some one come to him and say, "I come to help you. The place you have drifted upon is a house. When you hear the noise of a shaman's beating sticks, go straight to the door of the place from which it comes."

Soon he heard the noise of the sticks, as the man had forewarned him, just a little below the place where he was lying. He stepped forward quietly, and lo! he came to the door of a fine, large house. Inside of this he saw those who were beating the sticks and a man lying sick "with pneumonia," out of whom the string of the spear hung. Then he crept in quietly, hiding behind the people, and said within himself, "If it were I, I would push that spear in a little farther, twist it to one side and pull it out." Upon this everybody said, "Make way for him. This shaman says he can take the spear out by twisting it and then pulling out." He said to himself, "I guess I can do it," so he let them have their way. Then he came out in the middle of the house, pulled his blanket about himself, used his hand like a rattle and ran around the fire just like a shaman. When he went to the spear and moved it a little, the sick man cried out. After that he let it alone for a while. He wished very much that they would give him in payment a large animal stomach which was hanging on a post. So the man's father said, "Pay it to him."

Now he tied his blanket tightly about himself and said, "Bring in some water." Then he ran around the sick man again, and, when he came to where the spear was, he summoned all his strength, pushed it in a little, turned it round slightly and pulled it out. At once he pushed it into the water in the customary manner and blew eagle down upon it, when all of the white matter came out of the wound and the sick man got his breath. After that he hid the spear quickly from the eyes of the people.

When he went out, the man who had first come to his assistance came again. This was the puffin (xîk). It said, "Take that big stomach, get inside, and go home in it. After you get inside do not think of this place again." He did as the puffin had directed, but, when

he was within a short distance of the shore, he thought of the place where he had been and immediately floated back to the island. The second time the skin carried him right ashore. Then he got out, went home to his friends and reported everything that had happened.

Another canoe also set out to hunt in much the same way. After the people had gone on for a very long time unsuccessfully, they came upon a great seal standing out of the water, and one of the hunters speared it. It was nothing but an old log drifting about which had appeared to him like a seal. That night they anchored their canoe in front of a steep cliff not far from this place and prepared to spend the night there. By and by they heard a skate flopping along on the water near by, whereupon the steersman took his spear and struck it on one side of the belly. Then the skate swam right down into the ocean.

This skate was a slave of the Gonaqadē't who lived under that same cliff, and when the Gonaqadē't heard him groaning under the house steps where he always stayed, he said to one of his other slaves, "Get up and find what he is groaning about." Then the skate said, "There is a canoe outside here. The people in that canoe have done something to me."

Then the Gonaqade't awoke all his slaves' nephews and said, "Bring that canoe in here."

Presently the man in the bow of the canoe awoke and looked about. Their canoe was on top of the inside partitions of a house. He took something and poked his steersman quietly to awaken him, for he saw that something was wrong.

Early in the morning the Gonaqadē't awoke and said to his nephews, "Make a big fire." Then he exclaimed angrily, "It is of no use to bother poor slaves. Why did they want to kill that slave?"

Meanwhile the friends of these people were searching for them everywhere.

Then the chief told them to come forward, saying to them, "You will now be judged." One could not see the part of the house near the door, it was so crowded with the nephews and friends of the Gonaqadē't (i. e., all kinds of fishes and marine animals) dressed in every style. They said to them, "To what tribe do you belong?" and the bow man replied, "We are of the Katagwa'dî family." Then the chief said, "If one is going to visit a person, he should enter his house in a polite manner and not destroy anybody. Let them wash their hands. Give them food and dress them up well. I am a Katagwa'dî myself, so you are my friends." Then they fixed them up well, dressing them and combing their hair. But at home the people were beating drums, because they thought these men were dead.

Then the chief said to them, "When you build a house, name it Rock House (TA hit). It is a good thing that we use each other's emblems." Afterward the Gonaqadē't's people loaded their canoe, combed their hair with cottonwood boughs so that it smelt good, and let them go home.

And when they first reached home they were dressed so finely that the people did not know them. The chief said to his friends, "A great living thing saved us. He gave us a thing to go by which shall be our emblem, namely, that whenever we build a house we shall call it Rock House.

## 21. ORIGIN OF ICEBERG HOUSE a

A man and his wife were living at a certain fort. At that time some disease came into the world and destroyed all of their uncles, fathers, and friends. Then the man thought within himself, "I ought to give some sort of feast to my dead friends," and he began to gather berries.

One day a quantity of ice floated up on the beach below him. He took this up piece by piece and put it into the house, treating the pieces as his guests. He poured a great deal of oil into the fire to make it blaze. Then he took dishes, put berries into them, and placed these in front of the pieces of ice to show that he was sorry for the dead people, and desired to give some one a feast. After he had given to them, the ice gave forth a kind of squeak as if the pieces were talking to him, though he could not make out what was said. It is from this squeak that the people now know that he invited them, and it is from this circumstance also that, when ice drifts down upon a person in a canoe, he talks to it and gives it tobacco, calling it "My son's daughter" or "My son's wife." This is ahead of the Tcūkane'dî (i. e., the beginning of the Tcūkane'dî clan). Therefore they own Iceberg House.

Afterwards this man went out again. He said to himself, "I will invite anyone out on the sea that hears me." After he had gotten well out in his canoe he shouted, "Everybody this way. Everybody this way," just as though he were calling guests, and immediately crowds of the bear tribe, thinking they were the ones invited, began coming down between the mountains.

When he saw these animals coming, the man told his wife to be courageous, but for himself he said he did not care whether he lived or died, because all of his friends were dead. When the bear people began to come in, he told them to go up to the rear end of the house, saying, "It is your brother-in-law's seat you are going to sit down

a See story 64.

b This man can not have belonged to the Teūkane'di himself, because the ice he invited must be of the opposite clan, but his wife may have been. He perhaps belonged to the Tla'qldentān.

in" (i. e., that was where he formerly sat). His wife was somewhat frightened, but he talked to them as if they were his own people. As he called out the names of the dead men who had held those seats they would say in turn, "Hade' (present)," and he would pass a dish up to the speaker.

After they were through eating the chief of the bear tribe said to his friends very plainly, "Do not leave this man friendless, but go to him every one of you and show your respect." So they told the man to lie down in front of them, and before they left they licked him, meaning that thereby they licked his sorrow away. They said, "This is because you feel lonely." Then the bears started off.

At that time men from some other town came near, watched the big animals come out and heard the man speak to them as if they were his own friends, but they were afraid to go near.

## 22. THE WOMAN TAKEN AWAY BY THE FROG PEOPLE a

There was a large town in the Yakutat country not very far back of which lay a big lake very full of frogs. In the middle of the lake was a swampy patch on which many frogs used to sit.

One day the town-chief's daughter talked badly to the frogs. She took one up and made fun of it, saying, "There are so many of these creatures, I wonder if they do things like human beings. I wonder if men and women cohabit among them."

When she went out of doors that night, a young man came to her and said, "May I marry you?" She had rejected very many men, but she wanted to marry this one right away. Pointing toward the lake he said, "My father's house is right up here," and the girl replied, "How fine it looks!" When they went up to it, it seemed as though a door was opened for them, but in reality the edge of the lake had been raised. They walked under. So many young people were there that she did not think of home again.

Meanwhile her friends missed her and hunted for her everywhere. Finally they gave her up, and her father had the drums beaten for a death feast. They cut their hair and blackened their faces.

Next spring a man who was about to go hunting came to the lake to bathe himself with urine. When he was done, he threw the urine among a number of frogs sitting there and they jumped into the water. When he was bathing next day he saw all the frogs sitting together in the middle of the lake with the missing woman among them. He dressed as quickly as possible, ran home to the girl's father, and said, "I saw your daughter sitting in the middle of the pond in company with a lot of frogs." So her father and mother went up that evening with a number of other people, saw, and recognized her.

a See story 76. This myth is more often localized at Wrangell, and the woman's name is said to have been Qaltsi'xkli.

After that they took all kinds of things to make the frog tribe feel good so that they would let the woman return to her parents, but in vain. By and by her father determined upon a plan and called all of his friends together. Then he told them to dig trenches out from the lake in order to drain it. From the lake the frog chief could see how the people had determined, and he told his tribe all about it. The frog people call the mud around a lake their laid-up food.

After the people had worked away for some time, the trench was completed and the lake began draining away fast. The frogs asked the woman to tell her people to have pity on them and not destroy all, but the people killed none because they wanted only the girl. Then the water flowed out, carrying numbers of frogs which scattered in every direction. All the frog tribe then talked poorly about themselves, and the frog chief, who had talked of letting her go before, now had her dressed up and their own odor, which they called "sweet perfumery," was put upon her. After a while she came down the trench half out of water with her frog husband beside her. They pulled her out and let the frog go.

When anyone spoke to this woman, she made a popping noise "Hu," such as a frog makes, but after some time she came to her senses. She explained, "It was the Kîkca' (i. e., Kîksa'dî women) that floated down with me," meaning that all the frog women and men had drifted away. The woman could not eat at all, though they tried everything. After a while they hung her over a pole, and the black mud she had eaten when she was among the frogs came out of her, but, as soon as it was all out, she died. Because this woman was taken away by the frog tribe at that place, the frogs there can understand human beings very well when they talk to them. It was a Kîksa'dî woman who was taken off by the frogs, and so those people can almost understand them. They also have songs from the frogs, frog personal names, and the frog emblem. All the people know about them.

### 23. HOW THE FROGS HONORED THE DEAD

One time, when they were afraid of being attacked, all of the Kîks-A'dî and Kā'gwantān encamped on Kanasq!ē' (St. Lazaria island). There are two parts to this island separated at high tide, and the KîksA'dî encamped upon one, while the Kāgwantān lived upon the other. On the same island there is also a small salt water pond at the bottom of which was a creature called L\(\text{lin}\), and, being pressed for food on account of their fear of the enemy, the allies often tried to bail out this pond when the tide left it, to get at the sea animal.

While the people were there, a chief of the Kā'gwantān died, and, after he had been in the house among his friends for eight days, one of his friends said to the Kîksa'dî, "Take care of his dead body." All the

Kā'gwantān chiefs marry Kîkea' (Kîksa'dî women). But the real frog tribe thought they were the ones who were summoned, because they are also Kîkea'.

Then all the Kîksa'dî made ready to go ashore to burn his dead body. They chopped much wood and made a fire, while all of the Kîksa'dî and Kā'gwantān stood around it, and everyone felt badly. All at once a big frog, as long as the hand and wrist, jumped out from the place where the fire was and began making a noise. All looked at it. It had come out because the frogs were the ones to whom the Kā'gwantān had spoken. After that it jumped into the fire and burned up.

Then all the people tied themselves up (ga'xanî) (i. e., tied their blankets around their waists, as they did when they were engaged in lifting the suna) out of respect to the chief. All felt very badly about the dead man, and one person said, "It will not be like draining out the Llin lake (Llin ā'ya). Let us go to war." So they captured slaves and killed them for the dead man, and, when they put food into the fire for him, they also named the frog that it might receive some as well.

## 24. THE BRANT WIVES b

A Kîksa'dî youth lived with his father in a long town. When he was well grown, he went about in the woods hunting with bow and arrows. One time he came close to a lake and heard the voices of girls. When he got nearer he saw two girls bathing there. Then he skirted the shore toward them, and, when he was very close, discovered two coats just back of the place where they were. These were really the girls' skins. He took them up, and they began talking to him, saying, "Give us those skins." But he said, "I want to marry both of you." So he married both of them and took them to his father's house.

Both of this man's wives used to look over his hair to pick out the lice. When spring was coming on and the brants were coming from the south, the girls sat on top of the house with him and kept saying, "There comes my uncle's canoe." There comes my father's canoe." They were beginning to get homesick, and they asked their husband if he would let them go home. When the brants began coming, one would say, "Those are my friends coming up. I am going to ask them to give me something to eat." So, when they were above the house, she said, "Give me something to eat," and down came green herbs one after another.

When it was time for the brants to start back south, both of the girls had become tired. They wanted to go home. They knew when it was time for their father's canoe to pass over, and just before it was due they told their husband to go up into the woods after some-

a See Twenty-sixth Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology, p. 430.

thing. When he came down, his wives were gone. He said to his father, "Do you know where they went?" but he answered, "No."

Then the young man said, "I will start down on foot to the place

Then the young man said, "I will start down on foot to the place whither I think they have gone." So he set out, and after he had gone on for some time, he heard people making a noise. It was the brant tribe in camp. On this journey he took a bag full of arrows with mussel-shell points, and bows. For this reason, when he came back of the place where they were, and they caught sight of him, they were afraid and flew away. Then he went down to the place where they had been sitting and found all kinds of green herbs such as brants live on.

After this the girls said to their father, "Let us camp a little way off. He has been with us for some time, and we have gotten his heat. Therefore let us camp near by so that he can come to us and be taken along." But their father answered, "When he comes behind us again and camps, say to him, 'Our fathers a do not like to see your bows and arrows. Get rid of them." They came to him and repeated these words, but he said, "I do not take them in order to do harm to your fathers but to get game for myself. I wish you would tell them that I want to go along, too." So they told him to come down, and, when he did so, his father-in-law said, "Bring out the best coat. I want to put it on my son-in-law."

After that his wives said to him, "We are going to start along with you. When we set out do not think about going back and do not look down." Then they put a woven mat over him and started. After they had gone on for some distance the man wanted to urinate and dropped down from among them on the smooth grass. The brants did not want to leave him, and they followed. It was quite close to their real camping place. The brant tribe was so large that he felt as if he were in his own father's house. They would play all.

the evening, and he felt very happy among them.

When they arrived at their real home, this man took off his bag of bows and arrows and hid it back in the woods so that they could not see it. In the same town were fowls of all kinds—brants, swans, herons, etc.—and by and by war arose over a woman, between the brant tribe and the heron tribe. They went outside and started to fight. The swan tribe was between, trying to make peace. When they came out to fight for the second time, the brant tribe was pretty well destroyed by the heron people's long, pick-like bills. It was from the herons that the Indians learned how to make picks. This is also the reason why the L!ūk!naxa'dî use the swan as their crest, for they are very slow, and the Kîksa'dî use the brant as their emblem because they are very lively.

Then the brant chief said to his son-in-law, "Your wives' friends are almost destroyed. Could you do anything with your bows and arrows to help them?" You could not see whether these were brants or people. They looked just like people to him. When he ran among them to help his wives' friends, he killed numbers at each shot and made them flee away from him. The heron tribe was so scared that they sent out word they would make peace. So messengers were sent back and forth, and the heron chief was taken up among the brants while the brant chief was taken up among the herons." They renamed the heron with his own name and the brant with his own name. In making peace they had a great deal of sport and all sorts of dances. From that time on the heron has known how to dance, and one always sees him dancing by the creeks. Then the birds began to lay up herbs and all kinds of things that grow along the beach, for their journey north.

Meanwhile the man's people had already given a feast for him, and he never returned to his father. He became as one of the brants. That is why in olden times, when brants were flying along, the people would ask them for food.

#### 25. STORY OF THE PUFFIN

There is a place called Gānaxa' and a creek close by called Gānaxa'-hīn whither many people used to go to dry salmon and do other work. One day some women went out from there at low tide to a neighboring island to dig shellfish. They brought their canoe to a place where there was a hole in the side of the island, but, when they endeavored to land, a breaker came in, upset the canoe, and drowned all of them except one. In former times, when this woman went by in her father's canoe, she used to think the birds here looked pretty and was in the habit of saying, "I wish I could sit among those birds." These birds were the ones that saved her. They felt so happy at having gotten her that they flew about all the time.

Meanwhile drums were beaten at the town to call people to the death feast, for they thought that she was drowned.

One time a canoe from the village containing her father happened to pass this place, and they said to him, "Look among those birds. Your daughter is sitting there."

The puffin chief had ordered the lagwâ'te!, a bird which lives on the outer islands and is the puffin's slave, to braid the woman's hair, and she always sat on the edge of the cliff.

Her father was very rich, so he filled many canoes with sea-otter, beaver, and marten skins for the birds to settle on when they flew out. When they reached the place, however, he could not see his daughter, for they had taken her inside. Then he became angry. They carried all sorts of things out there but in vain.

At last, about four days afterward, the girl's mother thought of the white hair that had belonged to her grandfather. In the morning she said to her husband, "We have that old hair in a box. What can we do with it? We ought to try a strategem with it. Suppose we put boards on the canoes, spread the hair all over them, and take it out." They did this, and, when they got to the cliff where their daughter used to be, they saw her sitting on the edge with her hair hanging over. They went close in. Then all the birds flew out to them, and each stuck a white hair in its head where you may see it at this day. The girl, however, remained where she was.

Then these birds flew in to the puffin chief and told him about the hair. They thought a great deal of it. Therefore the chief told them to carry the girl back to her father. But before she went he said to her, "If you are ever tired of staying with your father, come back to us." At that time she had a nose just like one of these birds, because she had wanted to be one of them.

The sea gull is also the slave of the puffin. Therefore the Huna people say that when anyone goes to that place it calls his name, because it was the slave of the puffin at the time when this woman was there.

Because some of their people were drowned at that island, all of the T!A'q!dentān claim it. Later they built a house which they named after it.

## 26. STORY OF THE WAIN-HOUSE PEOPLE

People came to a fort to live and began to kill bears, ground hogs, porcupines, mountain sheep, etc., with spears, and bows and arrows, laying the meat up in the fort. After they had killed some of these animals they would cut off their heads, set them up on sticks, and begin to sing for them.

There was a young man among them who had been put into a mountain-sheep's skin instead of a cradle as soon as he was born. When he grew older he was able to follow the mountain sheep to places where no one else could get, so he killed more than the others. He would also play and dance around the heads after they had been cut off and say, "I wish my head were cut off, too." Then people sang about it. Meanwhile the sheep were getting tired of losing so many of their number.

One day all the people went up to a mountain to hunt, and, finding a flock of sheep, began to chase them to a certain place where they could bunch all together. Suddenly this youth became separated from the other people, and on the very top of the mountain was met by a fine-looking man who shone all over and had a long white beard.

This man led him through a door into what he at first thought was a house, but it was really the inside of the mountain. All at once it looked very strange to him. Piles of horns lay about everywhere.

Meanwhile all of his friends had missed him and were hunting about, but had to go home without him. They thought he was gone forever. They hunted for him every day and found his horn spear stuck into the ground at a certain place near the top of the mountain, but nothing more. After searching everywhere in vain they became discouraged and beat the drums for him.

Meanwhile the mountain sheep tried to fit a pair of horns on the young man's head. They heated these first in the fire, and tried to put them on, when it seemed to him as if the insides of his head were all coming out.

The people kept up their search for him, however, and about a year afterward a man climbed up on the same mountain to hunt sheep. Above him he saw a big flock, and he heard a noise as though some one were shouting or talking there. Then he went straight down, for he knew that it was the person who had been lost, and he knew that the mountain sheep had captured him. Pointing this mountain out to the people, he said to them, "It is he, for I know his voice." So all the people started up.

Now the sheep could see whenever the Indians set out to hunt for the person they had taken, and they said to him, "There come your friends. If you will tell them to throw away their weapons, we will let you go to them." So he said to his friends, "If you will lay down your hunting weapons, I will tell you what these mountain sheep say to me." Afterward he said, "They say that I am being punished because you are destroying them too much, and, when you have killed them, you take the heads and put them on sticks." Although he was among the mountain sheep he retained his own language. said besides, "The mountain-sheep chief tells me to say to you that you must hang up the sheep skins with their heads toward the mountain and the rising sun and put eagle feathers upon them. They tell me to say, 'Do not put our heads on sticks. Grizzly-bears' heads are the only ones you should treat that way-not ours." One could not see or hear this man unless he were specially purified by bathing in urine. Afterward the sheep went right into the mountain with him to the place where they have their homes.

Now they tried in every way to recover him, and finally came out with dogs. Then the mountain sheep said to him, "You can go among your friends after a while, but now you may talk to them from the top of a little cliff." So his friends came up underneath this, and he talked down to them. By and by the sheep again changed their minds regarding him, and one day he said to his friends, "This is the last time I shall come to see you. If you are going to begin a war on

my account, try it in the fall. Then they always come down into the thick timber below the glacier, and you can come up there with dogs."

In the autumn, therefore, they prepared to kill the sheep. The people were told to put the sheep heads toward the rising sun and throw their skins about anywhere without drying, for they thought that this would make the mountain sheep let their friend go.

Then the mountain-sheep chief said to the man, "They are going to let you go now, because all of your fathers are suffering very much from not having their skins well dried."

The mountain sheep could easily see when all of his friends started out to fight for him, and they got him ready to send down to them. Then they said, "Now you will be allowed to start down to them." When they got down far enough the dogs which were coming up in front met the flock he was standing among. Then they took off his mountain-sheep skin and put it aside, leaving him in human form, and he chased all the dogs away from them.

He stood in the midst of the flock of sheep, and all the people stood below. Then he said to his friends, "Do not kill any more mountain sheep, for they will now let me go among you." So they broke all of the shafts of the spears they had used in fighting the mountain sheep and threw them away.

When he came down he smelt like the things that grow on the tops of cottonwood trees (dōxkwā'nk!). They brought him into the house and he saw the mountain-sheep skins lying about there at random. Then he said, "They let me come among you again that I might have you dampen these, hang them up, and dry them thoroughly." After they had worked upon the skins for some time they put red paint upon them and eagle down. The man who had come down from among the sheep told his people to say this to the skins while they were doing so: "We will put your skins in just the position in which they came off from the flesh."

In the morning all of the houses shook. Every piece of flesh that had come off of the mountain sheep was in its place in the skins, and, when the man who had come back to them opened the door, they came down from the drying racks and marched off. But they had been so long among the Indians that just before they reached the highest mountain where they belonged they lost their way and became scattered over all the mountains. Because the mountain sheep once saved (or captured) a man, they have beards and look in other respects like human beings.

After this the mountain sheep sent a spirit called Yīxâ' (A-very-young-man (or -yēk)) to the man who had been rescued, to be his strength (yēk). There was great rejoicing among his friends when this spirit began to manifest itself in him, and all commenced to

20

sing for him. At the command of this spirit he had them make him a pair of snowshoes with which his spirit could take him around the fire, a shaman's mask, and bows and arrows.

Then they came with him to Fort-by-small-lake (Āk!u Nū), just west of Juneau, a and built a big house for him with inside rooms (t!āq!), corner and middle posts, the last mentioned being carved to represent the Great Dipper (Yaxtê'). At that time the shaman fasted for four days and Yaxtê' (the constellation) appeared to him. So from that house the people were called Yaxtê'-hît-tan (Wain-House people).

The mountain-sheep tribe gave this man the name of Skōwada'l, and he was also called Caxtcā'te (Long-toothed-humpback). When his spirit was about to work in him, two porcupine bladders were blown up and hung in the house, and, when the spirit arrived, all stood up in the customary way. Then he put on his mask and his snowshoes, which were thrown down on the floor for him, and carried his bow and arrows in his hand. Although he could not see through this mask, he climbed up on the walls of the inside rooms and ran around there backward. While there he shot at a bladder and the arrow passed straight through it.

When the shaman's spirits left him he said, "You people are going to see a wonderful gift. It is coming to such and such a place." In the morning they went out with a dog and armed with spears, and before they got far away the dog began to bark at a bear. Then the animal ran under a log, and all climbed on top of the log prepared to spear it. The shaman had said, "Something is going to happen to one-of you," and sure enough the first man that speared this bear fell down before it and was caught and killed. Then the others quickly speared the bear through and through and killed it.

Meanwhile a spirit came to the shaman, who had remained at home, saying, "Your friend has been killed by a bear." They brought the bear and the dead man's body down at once and laid the body before him in the middle of the house. Then the shaman took some of the red paint with which they had brought the mountain sheep to life and put it on the body after which he began running around it. The third time he did this the dead man sat up. The shaman always had such strength.

Some time afterward he again began testing his spirits, because they were going south to war, and, when they left him, he told his people that they would destroy an entire town.

When he was walking around in the woods a raven fell in front of him, and on getting back to the house he said to his clothes man, "I am in luck." He told some one to return with him, and they found the raven still with life in it. Then he said to his friends, "I will set up

all these things." So he took sticks and set them all round the raven. "Before I cut it," he said, "I will let the wings flap over it. This will be (i. e., represent) your enemies. Before I cut it I will cause it to kill all of your enemies. The raven will have so much strength." When they tested him the spirit said, "All people on sticks," meaning that it wanted all of their foes to fall on sticks and be destroyed when they fought. Then they prepared, saying, "We will start." The shaman said, "At the moment when we arrive a man is going to chop down a tree in front of us."

Toward morning they came close to the fort, all prepared for fighting. After they had surrounded it a man came out with a stone ax and climbed up a tree to chop off limbs. Then they shot him with arrows, unnoticed by the fort people, so that he fell down dead. But a little while afterward the fort people said, "Where is that man who climbed the tree a short time ago. He is not there now." At once they rushed together on both sides, and all those in the fort were destroyed just as the shaman had predicted. Then they returned to their own fort, which was also known as Eulachon-trap fort (Cāł nū).

Another time five women went around the island where they had their fort, after mussels, and came to a reef on the outer side. They left their canoe untied and it floated away. Then the tide began to come up. They stood up on the reef with their hands in the air, singing death songs for themselves, for they knew they were about to dic. After that the reef was called Woman reef (Cā q!ā't!agu), on account of the women who were destroyed there.

A year after this some people went across from the fort to a lake into which salmon run, and were surprised on encountering people. They thought it was some war party from very far south and beat a precipitate retreat to the fort. Then the people in the fort saw a big cance all covered with abalone shell come out from this place and make straight toward them. When it had come close in, the chief questioned these strangers and learned that they were on a friendly visit from Yakutat. It took the strength of all the people to bring up this cance. Then they made the fort chief a present of land-otter skins, marten skins, skins of all kinds. This was the custom in olden times, a slave being generally given back.

The chief at this place had a nephew named Yêtxâ' who was very fond of gambling. The fourth day that the visitors were in town the chief's nephew was away from home, and the fire went out. Then he acted as though he were crazy. He went down to the valuable canoe of the visitors, broke off the stern piece for firewood, and threw it indoors so that the abalone shells fell off of it.

Next morning, when the man that owned the canoe got up, he saw that his stern piece was missing, and that burnt abalone shells were lying by the fire. He called to his companions, "Get up and let us be gone. Push the canoe down and load it quickly." He had a number of copper plates and other property which he had not yet unpacked, and, after he had gotten a little distance from the fort, he landed and took these out. Then he went right back in front of the fort to destroy them on account of the injury he had received. When these people came opposite they took out a copper plate, struck it on the edge of the canoe so as to make it sound and threw it into the sea. They threw away four. Then the fort chief also took four coppers, flung them on the wall of the fort and threw them into the ocean.

[I have explained to you before where this copper came from. It came from the Copper river. Probably this rich man came several times before the fort. Coppers were valued according to their height when they were first made, some at four slaves and some at  $\sin x$ .]

When the Yakutat man came before this fort again, his copper plates were all gone, and he began to use cedar bark. His people would tie a rock on each piece and throw it into the water. Meanwhile the fort chief put his canoe on the walls of the fort and began to put Indian beads, caribou skins, moose skins, and other articles into it. Since these L!enē'dî have the dog salmon for their emblem, the chief's sister began acting like one when it is shaking out its eggs. She pretended to be shaking out riches in the same way, and, while she did so, they threw the canoe over the edge of the fort, and all the good things spilled out. The man from Yakutat was foolish to try to contend with so wealthy a chief. His name (i. e., the Yakutat man's) was Kā'yeswūsâ't. They chased him out with riches, and told him to come back again with more property. A song was composed about this afterward to the effect that he was simply fooling the people with this yellow cedar bark which was not real property at all. (See song 43.)

In the same fort a woman gave birth to a boy, who exclaimed as soon as he was born, "How many things there will be for all the people who are holding my mother." In olden times certain women used to hold a woman who was about to give birth, and they were paid for this service. The child grew very fast. He was going to be the greatest liar among his people. After he was grown up and had a family of his own, his mother died, and he started for Chilkat to invite people to the death feast. This was before the Russians came.

He said to his children, "Pull away. Pull fast." He had started off without any of the property he had intended to take, but on his way Indian rice hailed into his canoe, and a large box of grease floated down to him. When he got close to the mouth of Chilkat river he came in front of a waterfall. He tasted the water of this and found it very sweet. Then he took all of his buckets and filled them with

it so that they might put this water on the rice when they ate it. As he was bound for Klukwan, the village farthest up the river, he said to his children, "Blow on the sail." They did so and passed right up to Klukwan. Then he stood up in his canoe and began to talk. They took all of his stuff up, and in the evening the drums were beaten as a sign that he was going to give out property.

He began to cry in the customary manner as he beat the drums. Then he took a piece of bark and put it in front of his eyes, upon which the tears ran down it in a stream. Afterward he gave out two copper plates and invited the people to eat what he had brought. Then the people danced for him in return, and a man came in with something very shiny on top of his head.<sup>a</sup>

That is all he told when he returned.

### 27. THE ALSEK RIVER PEOPLE

Once there was a famine among the people of Alsek (Alsē'x) river. There were two shamans there, one of whom began singing to bring up eulachon, while the other sang for strength in order to obtain bears and other forest animals.

The first shaman's spirit told him that if he would go down the little rapids he would see great numbers of eulachon. So he dressed up next morning and went straight down under the water in a little canoe.

That night the other shaman's spirits came to him, saying that the first shaman would remain under water for four nights; that he had gone into a house where were eulachon, salmon, and other fish and had thrown the door open.

At the end of four days they hunted all around and found him lying dead on the beach amid piles of eulachon. As soon as they brought him up, all the eulachon that were in the ocean started to run up river, and everyone tried to preserve as many of them as he could.

In the same town were two menstruant women, and the other shaman told these that there would be a great many land otters about the town that evening. Just as he had said, at the time when his spirits came to him that evening, numbers of land-otter-men came through the village. They could be heard whistling about the town. Finally some one said, "Why is it that it sounds as if they were all where the two women are?" Sure enough, they found that the land otters were talking inside of the two women. The ones that were inside of them were really land-otter-men, that is, men who had been taken away by the land otters and made like themselves.

A person would often creep close up to these women to find out what they were, but every time something spoke out inside, "Do not

a This last was said to be "the way the story went," but otherwise was unexplained.

sneak around here for I can see you." They could not get at them. These land-otter-men had come to the women to turn them into land-otter-people also.

A menstruant woman is the only thing that will enfeeble the power of a shaman's spirit, therefore, although the shaman endeavored to get these land-otter-men out of the women, his spirits kept turning back. When the shaman's spirit came to him next evening, it said that there were more land-otter-men coming to take away the ones in these women and the women with them. He told the people to be watchful, because there was going to be a great disturbance that night. When night came on the people were all very much frightened at the noises the land-otter-men made under the houses, and they had great trouble keeping the two women in their rooms so that they should not be carried off. All the people helped them, but the land otters were invisible. After that nobody went out to camp for a long time. Then they said to the two women, "Take your bloody clothes to different beaches, leave them there, and tell the land otters that they are too great animals to fight with weak beings." In those times whenever a menstruant woman said anything of that kind it had to be obeyed. So the land otters went off.

The shamans in those times were very strict and strong, and whatever they saw was true. By and by these shamans said, "Something is going to happen to that great town there by the lake." When the things that had happened in their neighbors' town regarding the land otters were reported to the people there, they said, "Are you afraid of those things that stutter and can not talk like you and I?" By and by two men started hunting from this place. When they had reached the top of a neighboring mountain, they looked back and saw a great flood come down between the mountains and overwhelm their town. This flood was caused by an avalanche which poured into the lake and filled it up, forcing the water out. Some human bodies were hanging to the branches of trees. The men knew this had happened on account of the way they had spoken of the land otters, and, starting on aimlessly, they came to the town where the shamans lived.

One of these two shamans had a quantity of oil which he was going to carry to another town. He wanted to buy skins of kinds different from those his own people had. When they reached a camping place outside of the town the man's spirit told him to go down to the beach at low tide and carry a hook with him. A shaman's spirits never liked salt things. There he saw a very big devilfish under a rock, and his spirit said to him, "Look out, master, that is a big live devilfish." As soon as he had hooked it, he saw what appeared to be two ducks flying toward him from either side, but they were really the devilfish's arms. Then his spirit told him to run up quickly on the bank, and

he squatted down there under a rock, while the devilfish's tentacles swept over him, carrying all the forest trees along with them. Two days after this his spirit told him to set out again.

When this shaman arrived at K!akanuwū', where many people lived, everybody wanted to see him and try his strength, because they had heard that he was a great shaman. One evening they began trying him. They threw his mask on his face and it stayed there, covering up his eyes so that he could not see where he was going. Then, when he ran around the fire, the people stuck out their feet to trip him, but he jumped over them every time. This showed how strong his spirits were. Another time his spirits came to him they built a big fire and he started around it. Then he threw the fire round upon everyone who was there and as high up as the ceiling, but the fire hurt nobody. By and by his clothes man said, "Another spirit is coming to him soon, named Guts!caxo't!qā." This spirit had a big knife in his hand with which he would hit people on the breast. When it came to him, the shaman told the older people to stand up straight and motionless and not to fear, for if one got scared he would die. He hit one, and they laid him in a certain place. Then everyone said, "You better kill that shaman, for he has slain the best man in the company." After his spirits had gone away, however, the shaman went to the body out of which blood was still flowing and said, "It will be all right," while his spirits made a noise. Then the man got up and jumped about. The people looked at the wounded place, but there was not so much as a scar upon it.

After a while the shaman began trading off his grease to all who wanted it. One day he said, "Something is about to come up that will be very dangerous to you people." It was the moon. When the moon came up it shone brightly, and the stars were bright, but after a time the moon began to hide its face from them. That was what he had predicted. The people, however, thought this was caused by the shaman himself.

Then the leading men and women of the Kā'gwantān dressed themselves up, put grease on the fire, and began dancing to dance the moon out. After awhile it came out just a little, so they felt very happy and danced still harder. They continued doing so until the whole moon was out. At the same time people took whatever property they had, held it up and called the moon for it. They say the moon acts in this way because it feels poor and lonely, so, when the moon or sun does thus, they act in this manner. After that the shaman went home and told his fellow shaman how everyone had tried him in this place. "When I went around the fire, people put out their feet to make me stumble. They tried me in every way."

The shaman left at home was also trying to exert his power. His spirits were singing inside of him in order to bring salmon into the

creeks, and he told someone to make him a one-barbed hook (dina'). Whenever the salmon he was after came he was going to use this in order to get it. When it came up it filled the whole of Alsek river and broke all the hooks of those who tried to catch it. Then the shaman selected a small boy and said, "This little boy is going to hook it." So he gave him the hook he had had made, and the little boy pulled it up easily. The shaman's spirits had killed it. This salmon was so large that all in that town had a share, and even then it was more than they could cook for one meal. It was the biggest salmon ever killed. There are two creeks in that region, and to this day a young boy can easily pull in a large spring salmon there such as is hard for an adult to manage.

There is a hole near by called Hole-Raven-bored (Yēl-djuwatu'lia), because Raven made it long ago. In early times, whenever there was to be a large run of eulachon or other fish, quantities of rocks came out of that hole. So people used to go there to look at it.

In one place Alsek river runs under a glacier. People can pass beneath in their canoes, but, if anyone speaks, while they are under it, the glacier comes down on them. They say that in those times this glacier was like an animal, and could hear what was said to it. So, when they camped just below it, people would say, "Give us some food. We have need of food." Then the glacier always came down with a rush and raised a wave which threw numbers of salmon ashore.

The people were also in the habit of going up some distance above the glacier to a place called Cānyuka' after soapberries which grow there in abundance. The first time they went up they discovered people who were all naked except about the loins, and there was a shaman among them who was reputed to have a great deal of strength. For that reason they tried him. They took mussel shells, clam shells, and sharp stones and tried to cut his hair, but a single hair on his head was 3 inches across, so everything broke. This shaman had many spirits. Some were glacier spirits, called Sīt! tu koha'nî, Fairgirls-of-the-glacier; others were of the sky tribe called Gūs! tu koha'nî, Fair-girls-of-the-sky.

The shaman said that, on their way down, one canoe load of the down-river people would be drowned as they passed under the glacier; but the spirits of the shaman below told him about this, and he went up to see the Athapascan shaman. In those days shamans hated one another exceedingly. So the Athapascan shaman placed kaq!-anaq!aq!, something to destroy all of one's opponent's people, before his guest. The latter, however, all at once saw what it was and went home. Soon after he got there, the Athapascan shaman died, killed by his rival's spirits, and his spirits passed to one of his friends.

The shamans living on Alsek river had a great deal of strength.

The shamans living on Alsek river had a great deal of strength. All things in the sea and in the forest obeyed them. A rock just

south of Alsek river, named Ta'naku, has within it the spirits of a shaman called Qātsatî'. When a person wanted to kill some animal he placed things there, and now the T!a'q!dentān make a door like it and use it as an emblem. Near by is a place where many wild onions grow. They were planted there by Raven.

There is a small river beyond Alsek to which the Alsek River people once went for slaves. On their second expedition they killed a rich man, and those people, who were called L!uq!oedî', built a fort. Among them was a very brave man, named Łucwâ'k, who conceived the idea of making the gate very strong, and of having it fastened on the inside so that it could be opened only wide enough to admit a single person at a time. Now, when the Alsek River people came up again and tried to enter the fort through this door, they were clubbed to death one at a time. By morning there were piles of dead bodies around the door.

Then the survivors begged Łucwâ'k to let them have the bodies of those who had been wealthy, but he climbed up on the fort and said, "I will name my fort again. Know that it is Eagle fort. The eagle's claws are fastened in the dead bodies, and he can not let go of them. Poor as we are you always bring war against us, but now it is our turn. We have done this work, and I can not let one go." Toward evening, however, he had all of the bodies thrown outside, and climbed on the top beam of the fort where he walked about whistling with happiness. Meanwhile his opponents loaded their canoes with the dead and took them home. When they burned these, they took all the women they had enslaved in previous expeditions and threw them also into the flames. Then all the Eagle people assembled, returned to Eagle fort, burned it, and destroyed nearly everybody inside. Łucwâ'k's body was not burned, because he was a brave man, and brave men do not want to sit close to the fire in the Ghosts' home like weaklings.

Another time some Alsek people went visiting at a certain place and were invited to take sweat baths. But their hosts remained outside, and, when the Alsek people came out, they killed them. One of their victims was a man named Sītā'n, related to the Athapascans. He protected himself at first by holding a board in front of his face. Then they said, "Take down the board, Sītā'n. What we are doing now is especially for you." In those times a person used to make some kind of noise when he went out expecting to be killed. So Sītā'n uttered this cry, ran out, and was killed.

After they had collected all of the dead bodies on a board a woman came crying out of the town. Then they said to her, "Are you really crying? If you are really crying for the dead bodies, lend us your husband's stone ax so that we can cut firewood with which to burn them." In those times stone axes were valuable and, when one was

broken, people beat a drum as though somebody had died. It means that this woman was very sorry indeed for the dead people when she lent her stone ax for this purpose.

When the Alsek River people heard of this slaughter they were very sad, but first they started their respective shamans fighting. It was really the shamans' spirits that fought. The shaman would stand in one place and say, "Now we are going to fight." He would also perform with knives just as if he were fighting something, though at that time the shamens were very far apart. Their spirits, however, could see each other plainly. They would also give the names of those warriors who were to be killed.

On the next expedition from Alsek against the people who had killed so many of their friends, they killed the same number on the other side. That was the way people did in olden times. They kept on fighting until both sides were even. Therefore they stopped at this point.

### 28. THE YOUTHFUL WARRIOR

A man belonging to the Wolf clan went hunting with his brothers-in-law. He wore a black bear-skin coat. They went up a certain creek after grizzly bears, but one time at camp he climbed a tree with his bear skin on and was filled with arrows by his companions who mistook him for an animal. Then he said to them, "I will not say that you filled me with arrows. I will say that I fell from the tree." So, when they got him home, he said, "I fell from a tree." After he was dead, however, and his body burned, they found mussel-shell arrow points lying among his bones.

After this his friends told his sister's son to go up to the place where he had been killed. The name of this place is Creek-with-a-cliff-atits-mouth (Watlagê'L), and it is near Port Frederick. When the hunters came into camp with a bear the boy pretended to be asleep, but really he was looking through a hole in his blanket. While they were cooking the bear some of them suggested that they say to this boy, "The bear's soup is very sweet," but others did not wish to. They tried to get the boy to eat some of it, but he would not. Then they started home with him.

After he had reached home he said to his mother, "Let us go down to the beach. I want you to look over my hair for lice." But, when she got down there with him, he said, "Mother, I want you to tell me truly what my fathers meant. They said, 'Wake this young fellow up and let him drink some of this bear's soup." Then his mother became frightened and said to him, "Your uncle went to that creek. They shot him full of arrows there." When he found that out he chased his mother away.

When he was a few years older he began bathing for strength in winter-time. After people had whipped each other they would go to the shaman to see what he predicted. This had been going on for some time when four persons went out of the town to carve things for the shaman. They were gone so long that late in the winter it was thought they had been lost, and the shaman was consulted. They laid him in the middle of the house and tested his spirits in every way to find out what the matter was. Finally, the shaman got his spirits to take a certain man up to the sky to see if he could discover the missing men. The man he chose knew that the young man was preparing to kill some one, so, when he awoke, he said to him, "Tell the shaman that they are there (i. e., in the heaven to which those go who are killed)." And the youth said to the people, "The persons who destroyed my uncle are the same who destroyed these. Let us go to war."

Then they made a war hat for the young man all covered with abalone shells, and he went out to fight. Every time he went out he conquered, because he was strong. The missing men, however, got home safely. After some time the youth came against a fort where lived an old sister of his father, and this woman shouted down to him during the fight, "I never thought that that boy would grow into such a powerful man. When I took away the moss a from his cradle he never felt how cold it was." So the young man, when he got into the fort, inquired, "Who said that to me?" "It was your father's sister who said it." So he pitied his father's sister, pulled off his war hat, and smashed it on the rocks in front of her, breaking the abalone shells all to pieces. He gave up fighting, and they made peace.

Some time after this, however, he killed one of his own friends belonging to another town, and they came over and killed two of his people in revenge. After that every time the young man ate, he would say, "I will leave this good part for my enemy," meaning that he would feed them on a good war. He always made fun of his enemies because he was brave. So the people at this place, when they had destroyed all of his companions, took him captive because he had talked so much. They would not let him touch the bodies of his friends, and he said to them at last, "Let me have my friends." "Will you do this any more?" they said. "No, I will not set out to war any more. Let me have my friends." Then they lowered a canoe into the water with himself and a few others who had been preserved, and they started home with the bodies. On the way one of his companions said to him, "I wish you would steer this canoe well." "It can not be steered well," he said, "because there are so few to paddle it." Some of the women belonging to his enemies were in the canoe along with them. When they burned their dead, they put these

aA piece of moss was placed in the cradle for sanitary purposes.

women into the fire along with the bodies. Then the man gave up all idea of fighting. He was the last one left in that clan.

After they had made peace on both sides, a man named Qoxti'te came there from Prince of Wales island on the way to Chilkat. He went to the man who used to fight so much and said, "How is Chilkat? Is it a town?" He answered, "It is a notable town. A man has to be careful what he does there or he will suffer a great shame." Then he started for Klukwan, which he wanted to see very much. He came in sight of the first village, Yêndō'staq!ê, with many people going around in it, and said to his wife, "Put on your earring [of abalone shell]." The earring was called Earring-that-can-be-seen-clear-across-the-Nass (Nā'skanax-dutī'n). Then the man also put on his leggings and dressed up finely, for if one were not dressed up just right he would suffer a great shame. Afterward he began dancing in his canoe. When he came away from Chilkat he left his dancing clothes with the people but brought back a great quantity of presents received for dancing.

A very rich man once started from Chilkat to Kaqlanuwū' on a visit with his wife and all of his property.<sup>a</sup> When they approached the town the people heard his wife singing. She had a very powerful voice. Then they were frightened and wondered what man was smart enough to reply to this wealthy visitor. There was a certain poor man who always sat with his head down, and they kept taunting him, saying, "Will you speak to that rich man?"

When the visitor came in front of the houses he did not speak to the men who lived in them but to the dead chiefs who had formerly owned them. No one replied, for they did not know what to say. After a while, however, the poor man seized a spear and rushed down to the rich man's canoe. Then the people shouted, "There goes Saqayê'. He is going to kill this rich man. Stop him." When he got right in front of the canoe they caught him, but he said, "I did not want to kill this rich man, but I heard people talking so much about him that I pretended to." His action had a sarcastic import, because others were so much afraid of the visitor.

The rich man talked from the canoe for such a long time that they made a long noise instead of speaking to him, to let him know that he had talked too long about things that were past. Then they said to him, "Jump into the water." This was formerly said to a visitor when blankets were about to be given away for some dead person, though they always stood ready to catch him. Afterward they took the man up into a house, placed a Chilkat blanket under him, and gave him five slaves and a canoe load of property for his dead friend. When he went home they returned his visit.

a There seems to be no connection between this part of the story and that which goes before except that both happened at Kaq!anuwū'.

### 29. THE FIRST WAR IN THE WORLD a

A man named Xaku'te! was very fond of hunting and hunted almost every day with his brother-in-law, bringing home seal and all sorts of game which he had speared. There was no money in those days.

It was winter. One morning when he went out he speared a porpoise near the place where a devilfish lived, and began to skin it there, letting its blood spread out over the water. He told his steersman to keep a sharp lookout for the devilfish.

While they were moving along slowly skinning it, they saw the color of the devilfish coming toward them from under the water. It had its arms extended upward ready for action.

Xaku'tc! had a big spear ready by his side, while his brother-inlaw began to sharpen his knife and thought to do great things with it. When the devilfish came up out of the water he jumped into the midst of its arms along with his knife and was swallowed so quickly that he was able to do nothing; so his brother-in-law had to fight by himself. After he had fought with it for a long time he killed it, and it began to sink with him. The canoe stood up on one end before it went under, and he climbed up on the thwarts as high as he could go. At last the devilfish went right under with them, and finally floated up again at a place called Narrow point (Kuĥsa'o q!a).

Some one must have witnessed this fight, for they cut the devilfish open to see if the hunter were there, and found him stowed away snugly inside of it. That was the man that people often talk about in these days as Xaku'tc!. He it was who killed the devilfish.

Afterward his spirit came to one of his friends. People now try to get strength from him because he killed this devilfish. In olden times, when one killed a great creature, his strength always came to another person. Then his strength came to a certain person, impelling him to go to war.

They used to put a light, thin-skinned coat on this person's back to try his strength by endeavoring to pull it off, but they were not able to do so. They would pull this coat as far back as his shoulders, but, try as hard as they might, they could not get it farther. Then [the spirit in this shaman] told his name. He said, "I am Xaku'te!. I have been swallowed by a devilfish, and I come to you as a spirit (yēk)." Many people came to see the shaman when he was pos sessed and to try him with the coat which no one could pull off. What do you think it was that held it on his back?

a Cf. the first part of this story with story 11 and story 31, pp. 150-151.

b Said to mean "shaggy," referring to the thick, lumpy hair of the grizzly bear. The man was probably one of the Kā'gwantān.

After they had tested all of his spirits they started south to war. They were always warring with the southern people. They and the southern people hated each other. When they went down with this shaman they always enslaved many women and sometimes destroyed a whole town, all on account of his strength.

There was a brave man among the southern people, called Q!oga', who liked to kill people from up this way. One time a little boy they had captured escaped from the fort where he was. He had a bow and arrows with him. The brave man discovered where he was, went after him, and pulled him out from under the log where he was hiding. But meanwhile the spirits in the canoes of the northern people had seen Q!ōga'. Then Q!ōga' took the little boy down on the beach and said to him, "Shoot me in the eye." He put an arrow in his bow and took such good aim that the arrow passed straight through it. The point of this arrow was made of the large mussel shell. The brave man fell just like a piece of wood thrown down. The little boy had killed him. Then all ran to the little boy and took off his head. The chiefs passed his dried scalp from one to another and wondered at what he had done. They named him ever after Little-head (Qācā'kļu), and the man he killed was called One-Littlehead-killed (Xūgā'wadjaget). Even now they relate how Littlehead killed the brave man. Then the northern people came around the fort and destroyed everybody there, some of those in the canoes being also killed.

After that the southern people started north to war. They had a shaman among them. On the way they came to a man named Murrelet (Tclīt). When this man was young, he had been trained to run up steep cliffs by having a mountain-sheep's hoof tied to his leg or neck, and being held up to the walls of the house and made to go through the motions of climbing. They said, "Is this the man they talk about so much who can run up any mountain?" This is what they said when they were chasing him. Then

they caught him and took him into one of their canoes.

Now the war chief said to his friends, "Let us take him ashore to that cliff." So they took him to a place called Bell point (Gao lītu') where part of the town of Huna is, to try him there. They said to him, "Murrelet, go up this cliff." When he attempted it, however, he fell back into the canoe. All the people in the canoes laughed at him. They said, "Oh! you little thing. Why is it that they say you are the best runner up this way?" After he had fallen back the third time, he said, "This is not the way I am dressed when I go up a cliff. I always carry a stone ax, a staff, and a flint, and I always carry along a seal's stomach full of grease." They prepared these things for him and gave them to him. Then he

started up, wearing his claw snowshoes, which must have been shod with points as strong as the iron ones people have now. He stepped up a little distance, shook himself, and looked down. Then he called like the murrelet and went up flying. The warriors were surprised and said, "Now give him some more things to put on his feet." They talked about him in the canoes. They said, "Look! he is up on the very top of the mountain peeping at us." Then he lit fires all along on top of the mountain. All the war canoes went along to another place where was a sandy beach.

Then they tied all the canoe ropes to the body of Murrelet's steersman, intending to use him as an anchor. Murrelet heard him crying and ran down the mountain toward him. He turned the world over with his foes.<sup>a</sup> As he came he made a noise like the murrelet. When he got near he told the man to cry very loudly. Probably this man was his brother. It is rather hard to say. Then he said, "I am going to cut the ropes now. Cry harder." So he cut all of the ropes, and they ran off, while the war canoes floated away. Afterward, however, the warriors found where they had drifted to and recovered them.

Then they started for the fort toward which they had originally set out and captured it.

One high-caste woman they saved and carried south. They took good care of her on account of her birth. At the time when she was captured she was pregnant, and her child was born among the southern people. They also took good care of him; and while he was growing up his mother would take some of his blood and put it upon his nose to make him brave.

For a long time he was ignorant that they were slaves, until one day a young fellow kicked his mother in the nose so that it bled. Then they told him, but he said, "You people know that she is my mother. Why don't you take good care of her even if she is a slave?" After that a spirit possessed him. It was sorrow that made him have this spirit. Then he ordered them to make a paddle for him, and they made him a big one. His spirit was so very powerful that he obtained enough blankets for his services to purchase his mother's freedom. Afterward he got ready to come north with his father and mother, and they helped him to load his canoe. Before he started his father's people asked him not to bring war down upon them. No one else went with them because his spirit was going to guide them.

When they were about to start they put matting over his mother, and, whenever they were going to encamp, they never went right ashore but always dropped anchor outside. How it happened they did not know, but on the way up his mother became pregnant

a Meaning that he sent sleep on them to make them sleep harder.

and what was born from her had strength. This strength was what brought them up. During that journey the shaman never ate.

When they came to the beach his friends did not know at first who he was, but his mother related all that had happened. Then his friends came in and began to help him show his spirits. He was getting other spirits from the country of the people he was going to war against. From his wrist up to his elbow he made as many black spots as there were towns he intended to conquer, and, while all were helping him with his spirits, the spots one after another began to smoke. His father told him to remember the place where he had stayed and not destroy it. So, when the spots burned, the burning stopped at the one at his elbow which he simply cleaned away with his hand. This meant that he would extinguish the fire at that point and not fight there.

Then all of his friends prepared themselves and set out to war. They came straight up to a certain fort without attempting to hide, and the fort people shouted, "Come on, you Chilkat people." They had no iron in those days, but were armed with mussel-shell knives and spears, and wore round wooden fighting hats. They destroyed all the men at this fort and enslaved the women and children. Afterward they stood opposite the fort, took off their war hats and began to scalp all they had killed. When they got off they put the scalps on sticks and tied them all around the canoe. They called this, "Shouting out for the scalped heads" (Kēcayat-dus-hu'ktc). They felt very happy over the number of people they had killed and over the number of slaves they had captured. There were no white people here then, not even Russians. It was very close to the time when Raven made us. The people who were doing these things were Kā'gwantān. They had started to war from Lucā'cak!î-ān and Kaq!anuwū'.

After that all the southern people started north to make war, coming by the outside passage. The first place they reached while rounding this island was Murrelet-point fort (Aoh-tc!ī'tînū). One canoe started off to spy upon them and was chased ashore but was carried across a narrow strip of land and so got back. Therefore this place is called Things-taken-over (Ā'naxgahna'). Then they came right up to the fort, destroyed it, and captured the women. There must have been a hundred canoes coming to war. In those days they always used bows and arrows.

A certain woman captured here said, "There is another town up the inlet from us." So they started up about evening and, when the tide was pretty well up, passed through a place where there is a small tide rip. They caught sight of the town far back inside of this and exclaimed, "There's the town." Then they landed just below it and started up into the forest in order to surround it. When it became very dark they began to make noises like birds up in the

woods. In the morning they descended to fight, and the women and children began crying. They captured all. Meanwhile the tidal rapids began to roar as the tide fell.

One woman among the captives was very old. They asked her what time of tide to run the rapids, and she said to herself, "It is of no use for me to live, for all of my friends and brothers are gone. It is just as well to die as to be enslaved." So she said to them, "At half tide."

Then two canoes started down ahead in order to reach some forts said to lie in another direction. They rushed straight under and were seen no more. The old woman was drowned with them. So they made a mark with their blood at the place where these two canoe loads had been drowned to tell what had happened. It may be seen to-day and looks like yellowish paint.

Next day the remaining canoes started out when the tide was high and came to another fort next morning. While they were around behind this a woman came out. Then they seized her and ran a spear up into her body from beneath many times until she dropped dead without speaking. So this fort came to be called, Fort-where-they-stabbed-up-into-a-woman's-privates (Kak!-kagūs-wudū'wata'qî-nū). Then the people fought with clubs and bows and arrows until all in the fort were destroyed, and started on to another. When they made an attack in those days, they never approached in the day-time but toward morning when everybody was sleeping soundly. Both sides used wooden helmets and spears.

At this fort the women were always digging a big variety of clam (called gāl!), storing these clams in the fort for food. The fort was filled with them. So, when the assailants started up the cliff, one of the men inside struck him with a clam shell just under the war hat so that he bled profusely. He could not see on account of the blood. Then the man in the fort took an Indian ax and beat out his brains. Afterward all in the fort seized clam shells and struck their foes in the face with them so that they could not come up. They threw so fast that the canoes were all kept away; so that place is now called Where-clams-kept-out-the-foes (Xa'osîxani-gāl!). For the same reason this was the only fort where any people were saved, and on the other hand many of the enemy were destroyed by the fort people.

Now they left this fort and came to another, landing on a beach near by, and between them and the fort was what they supposed to be a fresh water pond. Then one of them called Little-bear-man, because he had on a bear-skin coat, began to shoot at the fort with arrows. But the people in the fort shouted to him, "Do not be in such great haste. The tide runs out from the place where you are."

Then the bear man said, "The people here say that the tide runs out

from this place, but [I know] that it is a fresh-water pond." Presently the tide began to run out from it as they had told him, so he chopped some wood, made a fire and lay by it to wait. After the tide had ebbed they began to fight, destroyed everybody there, and burned the fort down. Close by the site of this fort is a place called Porpoise-belly (Tcīteîū'k!).

The warriors thought they were getting much the best of the people up this way, but really only a few were left to look after the forts,

most being collected elsewhere.

After they had destroyed all the people in four forts they landed on a long sandy beach to cut off the scalps. When there was no time to scalp, the heads were carried away until there should be more leisure. Scalps and slaves were what people fought for, and they dried the scalps by rubbing them on hot stones or holding them near the fire. Then they again started north. This raid consumed the whole summer.

Southward of Huna was a fort on a high cliff, called Jealous-man fort (Caosîtī'yīqā-nuwu'). It was named from the man who encamped there who was so jealous of his wife that he would let no one else live near him. When the foes all stopped in front of him, and he could hear them talking, he began to quarrel with them, saying, "You big round heads, you want to destroy all of the people up this way." While they were talking back at him one of their canoes struck a rock and split in two, and, after they had rescued the people in it, they began talking about this circumstance, saying, "If we wait any longer he will quarrel us over as well." So they left him and went on north.

The next fort they attacked is called Huna-people's fort (Hū'na-qāwu-nuwu'), and it stood just where they were going to turn south again. Here they had the greatest fight of all, and the fort people killed many of them. Finally they broke up all the canoes of these people and started south. At this time they were overloaded with the slaves they had taken, but they went in to every fort they passed near and broke up the canoes belonging to it. The last of these forts was called Fort-that-rapids-run-around (Dātx-xātkanada'-nū). When they had destroyed all of the canoes there, they said, "Will you people bring any more wars upon us? You will not dare to fight us again." They felt very happy, for they thought that they had destroyed all of the northern people, and that no more raids would be made upon them.

Most of the northern people, however, were encamped along the coast to the westward, and, when they heard what had happened, they came from Yakutat, Alsek river, and other places to Lucā'cak!î-ān. They talked together for a long time and finally decided upon a plan. All the men began to sharpen their stone axes, and, when that was

finished, they came to a big tree they had already marked out and began to chop at it from all sides. This was the biggest tree ever known. While they worked, the women would come around it wailing and mourning for their dead friends. It took two days to chop this tree down, and, if anybody broke his stone ax, they felt very sorry for him and beat the drums as though some one were dead. Then they cut the tree in two and took a section off along the whole length where the upper side of the canoe was to be, and the head workman directed that it be burnt out inside with fire. So all the people assembled about it to work, and as fast as it was burnt they took sticks and knocked off the burnt part so as to burn deeper and to shape it properly when it had been burned enough. There was one heavy limb that they let stand, merely finishing about it. This work took them all winter. During the same time they bathed in the sea and whipped one another in order to be brave in the approaching war.

Toward spring they got inside of the canoe with their stone axes and began to smooth it by cutting out the burnt part. Then they began to give names to the canoe. It was finally called Spruce-canoe (Sīt-yāk"). The thing they left in the middle was the real thing they were going to kill people with. Finally they finished it by putting in seats.

Now they were only waiting for it to get warmer. In those days there were special war leaders, and in fighting they wore helmets and greaves made of common varieties of wood.

There was a shaman among these people named Qāla'tk! belonging to the Naste'dî. Because they were going to war, all of his people would come about him to help him capture the souls of the enemy. One time he said to his clothes man, "Go out for food, and be brave. The head spirit is going to help you." So the clothes man went out as directed and the spirit showed him the biggest halibut in the ocean. For the float to his line he used the largest sea-lion stomach, and, when he began to pull it up, it looked as though the whole ocean were flowing into its mouth. But the shaman told him to be courageous and hold on though the hook looked like nothing more than a small spot. It did not even move, for the strength of the spirits killed it, but it was so large that they had to tow it in below the town. Then all the people who were going to fight cut the halibut up and began to dry it. There was enough for all who were going to war and for all the women left at home. When it was dried they started to pack part away in the canoe. Then they pushed the canoe down on skids made of the bodies of two women whom they had captured from the southern people on a previous expedition and whom they now killed for the purpose. Meanwhile the southern people thought that they had destroyed all of those at the north and were scattered everywhere in camps, not taking the trouble to make forts.

Finally all the northern warriors got into the big canoe and they started south. It took probably ten days to get there. At the first camp they reached they killed all the men and put the women and children down on the sharpened limb alive. Of one woman who was saved they asked where the other people were, and she said that they were scattered everywhere in camps which she named. After they had destroyed the second camp they enslaved more women, whom they also put upon the sharpened limb. As they never took any off, the number on this increased continually. Then they asked the woman: "Didn't you expect any war party to come down here?" She said, "No one expected another raid down here, so they built no forts."

The big canoe went around everywhere, killing people, destroying property, and enslaving women. The women captured at each place told them where others were to be found, and so they continued from place to place. They destroyed more of the southern people than were killed up this way. When they thought that they had killed everybody they started north, stopping at a certain place to scalp the bodies. Then they reached home, and everybody felt happy. They not only brought numbers of slaves but liberated those of their own people who had been taken south. Since that time people have been freer to camp where they please, and, although the northern and southern people fought against each other for a long time, more slaves were taken up this way, so the northern people did not esteem the southern people very highly. This is said to have been the very oldest war.

# 30. HOW PROTESTANT CHRISTIANITY WAS FIRST HEARD OF AT SITKA $^a$

A man went south from Sitka and returned after two months. When he came ashore he called all the people to a dance and told them that God (Dekī'-anqā'wo, Distant-chief) had come down from heaven to help them.

Then all the women made beadwork for their hair and ears. One evening, when they were through with that, they again began dancing. While the women danced they would fall flat on their backs. When this happened, in accordance with directions the man had received below, they brought up salt water, wet part of each woman's blanket and flapped it against her breast to make her come to. This prevented the smallpox from having any effect upon her. They kept on dancing a whole year.

alt is possible, however, that this was the result of Jesuit teaching on the upper Skeena.

## MYTHS RECORDED IN ENGLISH AT WRANGELL

### 31. RAVEN a

In olden times only high-caste people knew the story of Raven properly because only they had time to learn it.

At the beginning of things there was no daylight and the world lay in blackness. Then there lived in a house at the head of Nass river a being called Raven-at-the-head-of-Nass (Nās-ca'kî-yēł), the principal deity to whom the Tlingit formerly prayed but whom no one had seen; and in his house were all kinds of things including sun, moon, stars, and daylight. He was addressed in prayers as Axcagū'n, or axkînaye'gî, My Creator, and Wayîgêna'lxe, Invisible-rich-man. With him were two old men called Old-man-who-foresees-all-troubles-in-the-world (Adawū'ł!-ca'naku!) and He-who-knows-everythingthat-happens (Łiu'wat-uwadjī'gî-can). Next to Nās-ca'kî-vēł, they prayed to the latter of these. Under the earth was a third old person, Old-woman-underneath (Hayi-cā'nak!u); placed under the world by Nās-ca'kî-vēł. Nās-ca'kî-vēł was unmarried and lived alone with these two old men, and yet he had a daughter, a thing no one is able to explain. Nor do people know what this daughter was. The two old persons took care of her like servants, and especially they always looked into the water before she drank to see that it was perfectly

First of all beings Nās-ca'kî-yēl created the Heron (Łaq!) as a very tall and very wise man and after him the Raven (Yēl), who was also a very good and very wise man at that time.

Raven came into being in this wise. His first mother had many children, but they all died young, and she cried over them continually. According to some, this woman was Nās-ca'kî-yēl's sister and it was Nās-ca'kî-yēl who was doing this because he did not wish her to have any male children. By and by Heron came to her and said, "What is it that you are crying about all the time?" She answered, "I am always losing my children. I can not bring them up." Then he said, "Go down on the beach when the tide is lowest, get a small, smooth stone, and put it into the fire. When it is red hot, swallow it. Do

a See story 1. Into this story, as will be seen, the writer's informant has woven a large portion of the sacred myths of his people.

bIn another place the writer's informant admitted that he had concluded this must be the case, because there were no bad stories about Näs-ca/ki-yēl.

c See Twenty-sixth Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology, p. 454.

not be afraid." She said, "All right." Then she followed Heron's directions and gave birth to Raven. Therefore Raven's name was really Itca'k!", the name of a very hard rock, and he was hence called Ta'qlîk!-īc (Hammer-father). This is why Raven was so tough and could not easily be killed.

Heron and Raven both became servants to Nās-ca'kî-yēl, but he thought more of Raven and made him head man over the world.

Then Nās-ca'kî-yēł made some people.

All of the beings Nās-ca'kî-yēl had created, however, existed in darkness, and this existence lasted for a long time, how long is unknown. But Raven felt very sorry for the few people in darkness and, at last, he said to himself, "If I were only the son of Nās-ca'kî-yēl I could do almost anything." So he studied what he should do and decided upon a plan. He made himself very small, turned himself into a hemlock needle, and floated upon the water Nās-ca'kî-yēl's daughter was about to drink. Then she swallowed it and soon after became pregnant.

Although all this was by the will of Nās-ca'kî-yēł and although he knew what was the matter with his daughter, yet he asked her how she had gotten into that condition. She said, "I drank water, and I felt that I had swallowed something in it." Then Nās-ca'kî-yēł instructed them to get moss for his daughter to lie upon, and on that the child was born. They named him Nās-ca'kî-yēł also. Then Nās-ca'kî-yēl cut a basket in two and used half of it for a cradle, and he said that people would do the same thing in future times, so they have since referred its use to him.

Nās-ca'kî-yēl tried to make human beings out of a rock and out of a leaf at the same time, but the rock was slow while the leaf was very quick. Therefore human beings came from the leaf. Then he showed a leaf to the human beings and said, "You see this leaf. You are to be like it. When it falls off the branch and rots there is nothing left of it." That is why there is death in the world. If men had come from the rock there would be no death. Years ago people used to say when they were getting old, "We are unfortunate in not having been made from a rock. Being made from a leaf, we must die."

Nās-ca'kî-yēl also said, "After people die, if they are not witches, and do not lie or steal, there is a good place for them to go to." Wicked people are to be dogs and such low animals hereafter. The place for good people is above, and, when one comes up there, he is asked, "What were you killed for?" or "What was your life in the world?" The place he went to was governed by his reply. So people used to say to their children, "Do not lie. Do not steal. For the Maker (Nās-ca'kî-yēl) will see you."

a See Twenty-sixth Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology, pp. 460 to 463.

<sup>49438-</sup>Bull. 39-09-6

Some time afterward a man died, and Raven, coming into the house, saw him there with his wife and children weeping around him. So he raised the dead man's blanket with both hands, held it over the body, and brought him back to life.

After that both Raven and her husband told this woman that there was no death, but she disbelieved them. Then Raven said to her, "Lie down and go to sleep." And, as she slept, she thought she saw a wide trail with many people upon it and all kinds of fierce animals around. Good people had to pass along this trail in order to live again. When she came to the end of the trail there was a great river there, and a canoe came across to her from the other side of it. She entered this and crossed. There some people came to her and said, "You better go back. We are not in a good place. There is starvation here, we are cold, and we get no water to drink."

This is why people burn the bodies of the dead and put food into the fire for them to eat. Burning their bodies makes the dead comfortable. If they were not burned their spirits would be cold. This is why they invite all those of the opposite clan as well as the nearest relations of the dead man's wife, seating them together in one place, and burn food in front of them. It is because they think that the dead person gets all of the property destroyed at the feast and all of the food then burned up. It is on account of what Raven showed them that they do so.

Because Nās-ca'kî-yēl got it into his mind to wish for daylight in the world, he had wished for a grandchild through whom it might come. Now, therefore, although he knew what answer he would receive, he sent for Liu'wat-uwadjī'gî-can and questioned him to see whether he would answer right: "Where did this child come from? Whose is it? Can you tell?" And the other said, "His eyes look like the eyes of Raven." That is how he came to get the name Raven.

After a while the baby began to crawl about. His grandfather thought a great deal of him and let him play with everything in the house. Everything in the house was his. The Raven began crying for the moon, until finally they handed it to him and quick as a wink he let it go up into the sky. After he had obtained everything else, he began to cry for the box in which daylight was stored. He cried, cried, cried for a very long time, until he looked as though he were getting very sick, and finally his grandfather said, "Bring my child here." So they handed Raven to his grandfather. Then his grandfather said to him, "My grandchild, I am giving you the last thing I have in the world." So he gave it to him.

Then Raven, who was already quite large, walked down along the bank of Nass river until he heard the noise people were making as they fished along the shore for eulachon in the darkness. All the people in the world then lived at one place at the mouth of the Nass.

They had already heard that Nās-ca'kî-yēl had something called "day-light," which would some day come into the world, and they used to talk about it a great deal. They were afraid of it.

Then Raven shouted to the fishermen, "Why do you make so much noise? If you make so much noise I will break daylight on you." Eight canoe loads of people were fishing there. But they answered, "You are not Nās-ca'kî-yēt. How can you have the daylight?", and the noise continued. Then Raven opened the box a little and light shot over the world like lightning. At that they made still more noise. So he opened the box completely and there was daylight everywhere.

When this daylight burst upon the people they were very much frightened, and some ran into the water, some into the woods. Those that had hair-seal or fur-seal skins for clothing ran into the water and became hair seals and fur seals. Hair seal and fur seal were formerly only the names of the clothing they had. Those who had skins called marten skins, black-bear skins, grizzly-bear skins, etc., ran into the woods and turned into such animals.

Petrel (Ganū'k) was one of the first persons created by Nās-ca'kî-yēl. He was keeper of the fresh water, and would let none else touch it. The spring he owned was on a rocky island outside of Kuiu, called Dekī'-nū (Fort-far-out), where the well may still be seen. Raven stole a great mouthful of this water and dropped it here and there as he went along. This is the origin of the great rivers of the world, the Nass, Skeena, Stikine, Chilkat, and others. He said, "This thing that I drop here and there will whirl all the time. It will not overflow the world, yet there will be plenty of water." Before this time Raven is said to have been pure white, but, as he was flying up through the smoke hole with Petrel's water, the latter said, "Spirits, hold down my smoke hole." So they held him until he was turned black by the smoke.

After this Raven saw a fire far out at sea. Tying a piece of pitchwood to a chicken hawk's bill, he told him to go out to this fire, touch it with the pitchwood, and bring it back. When he had brought it to him Raven put it into the rock and the red cedar saying, "This is how you are to get your fire, from this rock and this red cedar," and that is the way they formerly did.

Thus Raven (Yēł) went about among the natives of Alaska telling them what to do, but Nās-ca'kî-yēł they never saw. Raven showed all the Tlingit what to do for a living, but he did not get to be such a high person as Nās-ca'kî-yēł, and he taught the people much foolishness. At that time the world was full of dangerous animals and fish. Raven also tied up some witches, and so it was through him that the people believed in witchcraft. Then he told the people that some wild animals were to be their friends (i. e., their crest animals) to which they were to talk.

Once he gave a feast and invited persons to it from other places. He had two slaves after that, named Gîdzagē't and Gîdzanū'q!u. This is why the natives here had slaves. It was on account of his example. There was a man who had no arm, so Raven thought he would be a shaman and cure him. This is how the Tlingit came to have shamans. After there was death he showed them how to dance over the body placed in the middle of the floor.

Raven also taught the people how to make halibut hooks, and went out fishing with them. He had names for the halibut hooks and talked to them before he let them down into the sea. That is why the natives do so now. He also taught them to be very quick when they went out halibut fishing or they would catch nothing.

He also made different kinds of fish traps and taught the people how to use them. He made the small variety and a big trap, shaped like a barrel, for use in the Stikine.

He taught them how to make the seal spear (kat). It has many barbs, and there are different kinds. One is called tsa-caxîctdzā's. It is provided with some attachment that hits the seal (tsa) upon the head whenever it comes to the surface, driving its head under water until it dies, and that is what the name signifies.

Then he showed them how to make a canoe. This he did on the Queen Charlotte islands. At first the people were afraid to get into it, but he said, "The canoe is not dangerous. People will seldom get drowned."

He taught them how to catch a salmon called  $\hat{c}q\bar{e}'n$ , which requires a different kind of hook from that used for halibut. The place where he taught people how to get different kinds of shellfish is a beach on the Queen Charlotte islands called Raven's beach to this day.

After he was through teaching the people these things, he went under the ocean, and when he came back, taught them that the sea animals are not what we think they are, but are like human beings. First he went to the halibut people. They have a chief who invited him to eat, and had dried devilfish and other kinds of dried fish brought out. He was well liked everywhere he went under the sea because he was a very smart man. After that he went to see the sculpin people, who were very industrious and had all kinds of things in their houses. The killer-whale people seemed to live on hair-seal meat, fat, and oil. Their head chief was named Gonaqadē't, and even to this day the natives say that the sight of him brings good fortune.

While he was under the ocean he saw some people fishing for halibut, and he tried to tease them by taking hold of their bait. They, however, caught him by the bill and pulled him up as far as the bottom of their canoe, where he braced himself so that they pulled his bill out. They did not know what this bill was and called it gonē't-luwu' (bill-of-something-unknown). Then Raven went from house to house inquiring for his bill until he came to the house of the chief. Upon asking for it there, they handed it to him wrapped in eagle down. Then he put it back into its place and flew off through the smoke hole.

Raven left that town and came to another. There he saw a king salmon jumping about far out at sea. He got it ashore and killed it. Because he was able to do everything, the natives did all that he told them. He was the one who taught all things to the natives, and some of them still follow his teachings. After that he got all kinds of birds for his servants. It was through these that people found out he was the Raven.

Once he went to a certain place and told the people to go and fight others. He said, "You go there and kill them all, and you will have all the things in that town." This was the beginning of war.

After having been down among the fish teaching them, Raven went among the birds and land animals. He said to the grouse (nukt), "You are to live in a place where it is wintry, and you will always look out for a place high up so that you can get plenty of breeze." Then he handed the grouse four white pebbles, telling him to swallow them so that they might become his strength. "You will never starve," he said, "so long as you have these four pebbles." He also said, "You know that Sealion is your grandchild. You must be generous, get four more pebbles and give them to him." That is how the sealion came to have four large pebbles. It throws these at hunters, and, if one strikes a person, it kills him. From this story it is known that the grouse and the sealion can understand each other.

Raven said to the ptarmigan: "You will be the maker of snow-shoes. You will know how to travel in snow." It was from these birds that the Athapascans learned how to make snowshoes, and it was from them that they learned how to put their lacings on.

Next Raven came to the "wild canary" (s!ās!), which is found in the Tlingit country all the year round, and said: "You will be head among the very small birds. You are not to live on what human beings eat. Keep away from them."

Then he went to the robin and said: "You will make the people happy by letting them hear your whistle. You will be a good whistler."

Then he said to the flicker (kūn): "You will be the head one among the birds next in size. You will not be found in all places. You will be very seldom seen."

He said to the luga'n, a bird that lives far out on the ocean: "You will live far out on the ocean on lonely rocks. You will be very seldom seen near shore."

Then he came to the snipes and said to them: "You will always go in flocks. You will never go out alone." Therefore we always see them in flocks.

He said to the āsq!acā'tcî, a small bird with greenish-yellow plumage: "You will always go in flocks. You will always be on the tops of the trees. That is where your food is."

To a very small bird called kot!ai', about the size of a butterfly, he said: "You will be a very respectable bird. You will be seen only to give good luck. People will hear your voice always but never see you."

Then Raven came to the blue jay and said: "You will have very fine clothes and be a good talker. People will take patterns (probably "colors") from your clothes."

Then he went to a bird called xūnkahā' and said: "You will never be seen unless the north wind is going to blow." That is what its name signifies.

He came to the crows and said: "You will make lots of noise. You will be great talkers." That is why, when you hear one crow, you hear a lot of others right afterward.

He came to a bird called gus!yiadū'ł and said to it: "You will be seen only when the warm weather is coming on. Never come near except when warm weather is coming."

He came to the humming bird and said: "A person will enjoy seeing you. If he sees you once, he will want to see you again."

He said to the eagle: "You will be very powerful and above all birds. Your eyesight will be very good. What you want will be very easy for you." He put talons on the eagle and said that they would be very useful to him.

And so he went on speaking to all the birds.

Then he said to the land otter: "You will live in the water just as well as on land." He and the land otter were good friends, so they went halibut fishing together. The land otter was a fine fisherman. Finally he said to the land otter: "You will always have your house on a point where there is plenty of breeze from either side. Whenever a canoe capsizes with people in it you will save them and make them your friends." The land-otter-man (kū'cta-qā) originated from Raven telling this to the land otter. All Alaskans know about the land-otter-man but very few tell the story of Raven correctly.

If the friends of those who have been taken away by the land otters get them back, they become shamans, therefore it was through the land otters that shamans were first known. Shamans can see one another by means of the land-otter spirits although others can not.

The first man captured (or "saved") by the land otters was a Kîksa'dî named Kaka'. The land otters kept coming to him in large canoes looking like his mother or his sister or other dear relation, and pretending that they had been looking for him for a long time. But they could not control themselves as well as he, and at such times he would discover who they were and that their canoe was nothing but a skate. Finally, when Kaka' found that he could not see his friends, he thought that he might as well give himself up to the land otters. Then they named him Qowulka', a word in the land-otter language now applied to a kind of fishhook which the halibut are thought to like better than all others. Nowadays, when a figure of Qowulka' is made, it is covered with a dog skin, because it was by means of a dog skin that he frightened the land otters, and they also hang his apron about with dog bones. The shaman who is possessed by him dresses in the same manner. From Kaka' the people learned that the land otters affect the minds of those who have been with them for a long time so as to turn them against their own friends. They also learned from him that there are shamans among the land otters, and that the land otters have a language of their own.

For two years Kaka''s friends hunted for him, fasting at the same time and remaining away from their wives. At the end of this period the land otters went to an island about 50 miles from Sitka and took Kaka' with them. The land-otter tribe goes to this place every year. Then an old land-otter-woman called to Kaka': "My nephew, I see that you are worrying about the people at your home. When you get to the place whither we are going place yourself astride of the first log you see lying on the beach and sit there as long as you can." And her husband said to him: "Keep your head covered over. Do not look around." They gave him this direction because they thought, "If this human being sees all of our ways and learns all of our habits, we shall die." On the way across the land-otter-people sang a song, really a kind of prayer, of which the words are, "May we get on the current running to the shore."

The moment they came to land the land-otter-people disappeared and he did not know what had become of them. They may have run into some den. Then he ran up the sandy beach and sat on the first log he came to, as he had been directed. The instant his body touched it he became unconscious. It was a shaman's spirit that made him so.

By and by Kaka's friends, who were at that time hunting for fur seals, an occupation that carries one far out to sea, suddenly heard the noise of a shaman's drum and people beating for him with batons. They followed the sound seaward until they saw thousands and thousands of sea birds flying about something floating upon the ocean a mile or two ahead of them. Arrived there they saw that it

was a log with Kaka' lying upon it clothed only in a kelp apron. The people were delighted to find even his body, and took it into their canoe. He looked very wild and strange. He did not open his eyes, yet he seemed to know who had possession of him, and without having his lips stir a voice far down in his chest said, "It is I my masters." It was a shaman's spirit that said this, and to the present day a shaman's spirit will call the shaman's relations "my masters."

The old woman that saved him and told him to sit astride of the log was his spirit and so was her husband. The log was the spirit's canoe. This woman and her husband had been captured by the land otters long before, but Kaka' was so strong-minded a fellow that they felt they could do nothing with him, so they let him go and became his spirits. They could not turn him into a land otter because he did not believe that land otters are stronger than human beings.

After the people had brought Kaka' to a place just around the point from their village, he said, "Leave me here for a little while." So most of his relations remained with him, while two went home to tell the people who were there. They were not allowed to keep it from the women. Then they made a house for him out of devil clubs and he was left there for two days while the people of the town fasted. They believed in these spirits as we now believe in God. Before he was brought home the house and the people in it had to be very clean, because he would not go where there was filth. After they got him home they heard the spirit saying far down within him, "It is I, Old-land-otter-spirit (Kū'cta-koca'nqo-yek)." This was the name of the old woman who first told him what to do. The next spirit was The-spirit-that-saves (Qōsîne'xe-yek). He sang inside of him the same song that the land otters sang. It was his spirit's song and has many words to it.

All the birds that assembled around him when he was floating upon the sea were also his spirits. Even the wind and waves that first upset him were his spirits. Everything strange that he had seen at the time when the land otters got possession of him were his spirits. There are always sea birds sitting on a floating log, and from Kaka' people learned that these are shamans' spirits. It is from his experience that all Alaskans—Tlingit, Haida, even Eskimo and Athapascans—believe in the land-otter-men (kū'cta-qa). By means of his spirits Kaka' was able to stand going naked for two years. This story of Kaka' is a true story, and it is from him that the Tlingit believe in shamans' spirits (yēk).a

After leaving the land otters Raven appeared at Taku. There is a cliff at the mouth of that inlet called Was!as!e' where the North Wind used to live, and Raven stayed there with him. The North Wind was very proud and shone all over with what the Indians thought were icicles. So the Indians never say anything against the North Wind, however long it blows, because it has spirits (i. e., power). Years ago people thought that there were spirits in all the large cliffs upon the islands, and they would pray to those cliffs. They had this feeling toward them because Raven once lived in this cliff with the North Wind.

Raven observed certain regulations very strictly when he was among the rivers he had created. He told people never to mention anything that lives in the sea by its right name while they were there, but to call a seal a rabbit, for instance, and so with the other animals. This was to keep them from meeting with misfortune among the rapids. Formerly the Indians were very strict with their children when they went up the rivers, but nowadays all that has been forgotten.

After this Raven went to Chilkat and entered a sweat house along with the chief of the killer whales who tried to roast him. Raven, however, had a piece of ice near him and every now and then put part of it into his mouth. Then he would tell the killer whale that he felt chilly and make him feel ashamed. "If I did not belong to the Gānaxte'dî family," said Raven, "I could not have stood that sweat house." For this reason the Gānaxte'dî now claim the raven as an emblem and think they have more right to it than anybody else.

It was from Raven that people found out there are Athapascan Indians. He went back into their country. So the Chilkat people to this day make their money by going thither. He also showed the Chilkat people how to make tcît, secret storehouses maintained some distance out of town, and he taught them how to put salmon into these and keep them frozen there over winter. So the Chilkat people got their name from tcît, "storehouse," and xāt, "salmon."

Raven also showed the Chilkat people the first seeds of the Indian tobacco and taught them how to plant it. After it was grown up, he dried it, gathered clam shells, roasted them until they were very soft, and pounded them up with the tobacco. They used to chew this, and it was so good that it is surprising they gave it up. They made a great deal of money at Chilkat by trading with this among the interior Indians, but nowadays it is no longer planted.

Then Raven went to a river beyond Copper river called Łaxayî'ka and told the people that they were to make canoes out of skins.

a This is an error, Łaxayi'k being a general term for the Yakutat country and people.

There he found a chief named Ayā'yî, who had married the daughter of another chief by whom he had five children, four boys and a girl. His wife was always making baskets, while Ayā'yî himself went out camping or to other villages. He had a long box that he took about everywhere he went and always had hung overhead. In those days each family tattooed the hands in some special way. One time, when the chief's wife was sitting under this box a drop of blood fell out of it upon her hand. Her husband was away, so she took the box down and looked into it. It was full of severed hands, and by the tattoo marks she knew that they belonged to her uncles. She was very fond of her uncles and cried continually for them.

After her husband had found her weeping several times he asked, "What are you always crying about?" and she said, "I am getting tired of living here. I want to go back to my father and mother." Then he said, "We will start back to your father's place to-morrow." So next day he carried her and her children to a place not far from her father's town and let them off there telling them to walk across. Then he paddled home.

Even before she started across, his wife noticed that there was a heavy fog over her father's village, and when she got there she found it vacant. There was nothing in it but dead bodies, and she went from house to house weeping. Now after her children had thought over this matter for a while, they skinned some of the bodies and made a canoe out of them. It was the first of the skin canoes. It was all on account of Ayā'yî having murdered the people of that town. They tied those places on the canoe that had to be made tight, with human hair. Afterward they took it down to the water and put it in, making a kind of singing noise as they went. Nowadays these canoes are made of all kinds of skins, but the hair used is always human hair and they sing in the same manner when they put them into the water. They also made a drum out of human skin.

After that all got into the canoe, and they started for their father's town, singing as they went, while their mother steered. When they came in front of it the people said, "There is a canoe coming. We can hear singing in it, and in the song they are mentioning Ayā'yî's name." That was all they could hear. The whole town came out to look at the canoe. Then the eldest son arose in the canoe, mentioned his father's name, and said, "Give me my uncle's hands. If you do not give them to me I will turn this town of yours upside down." When he started this song again he began drumming and the town began to sink. It shook as if there were an earthquake. Now the people of the town became frightened. They went to Ayā'yî and told him he would be killed if he did not let the hands go. So he gave them up. When the children got these hands they went away singing the same song. At that the town again began to

sink and carried down all of the people with it. Afterward it resumed its former position, but it is said that you can see shells all over the place to this day.

After they had reached their own village Raven said to the eldest boy, "Get some eagle feathers and put them on the mouths of your uncles and all the other town people. After you have placed them there blow them away again. Put their hands in their proper places, and put feathers over the cuts. As soon as you have blown the feathers away from their mouths, they will return to life." He did so, and all the dead people came to life.

One day Raven saw a whale far out at sea and sat down on the beach to study how he should bring it ashore. Then he got some pitchwood and rocks of the kind that was formerly used in making fire, flew out to the place where he thought the whale would come up, and went into its open mouth. He made a fire inside of the whale and cooked everything there. Only he would not touch the heart. When the whale took in many fish he ate them. Finally he did cut the whale's heart out and killed it, after which it began drifting about from place to place. Then he sang: "Let the one who wants to be high-born like me cut the whale open and let me out, and he will be as high as I am." He also sang: "Let the whale go ashore. Let the whale go ashore on a long sandy beach." Finally he heard waves breaking on a sandy beach, and he said again: "Let the one who wants to be high-born like me cut the whale open and let me out, and he will be as high as I am." Suddenly he heard the voices of children. These children heard his voice, went home and informed their parents. Then the people all came there and cut the whale open, and Raven flew off into the woods crying "Q!one'. q!one', q!one'."

Raven stayed up in the woods a long time in order to get the grease and smell off of his feathers, and, when he came down again, he saw boxes and boxes of whale grease. Then he made believe he was surprised and asked the people where they got all of it. They said: "We found a whale that had come right in here where we could get it easily. So we are making oil out of it." Said he: "Did you hear anything inside when it first came ashore." "Yes! there was some strange sound in there, and something flew out calling itself qlone'." Then Raven answered, "Years ago just such a thing as this happened, and all of the people of that town that heard the noise died. It brings bad luck to hear such a noise in a whale. You people must leave this right away. Don't eat any of it. Leave it here."

Then all of the people believed him and left their oil there. It became his. $^a$ 

Next Raven went to a place where many sea lions, seals, and porpoises were lying about. Among these there were a number of children, who cut pieces of fat from the animals and threw them back and forth. So he made himself look like a child and, when they threw him a piece of fat, he ate it. Finally the children missed their fat and said, "What is becoming of all the fat we were playing with? It is all disappearing."

Then Raven came to a large town where everyone appeared to have died. He entered the largest house, and saw no one inside, yet he could feel a person continually pushing against him. It was a ghost house, and the town was called the Town of Ghosts (Qayahāyî' ānî'). Afterward Raven loaded a canoe with provisions from the ghosts' houses and started to paddle away, but he did not notice that a very long line was fastened to the stern of the canoe and secured at the other end round a tree. When he reached the end of this rope the canoe was pulled right back to the beach, and the goods were all carried up to the house by invisible hands. One of the ghosts also dropped a very large rock upon his foot, making him lame.

Next Raven went among the Athapascan Indians of the interior beyond the place he had reached before. There he saw a giant cannibal called Cannibal-man. Knowing that this cannibal was very smart he tried to get the better of him, so he won his confidence and learned that he was married to the black pine (\text{tAt}).^d In the morning the cannibal bathed. After that the two became very good friends, and the cannibal said to Raven, "I am going hunting, and I am going to get four animals, two mountain goats and two ground hogs." So the cannibal took a hide rope such as the interior Indians used to make and started. On the way Raven said to the cannibal, "Where is that man called Tsa'maya?" He

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> The writer's informant added, "In our days when a person is making a living dishonestly by lying and stealing he is not told so directly, but this story is brought up to him and everyone knows what it means."

b"When older people were giving their children advice they would bring up this part of the story and tell them not to be greedy and selfish, but honest. They would say they did not want them to be like Raven, who ate up all his playmates' fat. When people went about trading they would also bring up this story to a person who wanted to make all the profit himself. They would tell him he was like Raven, who wanted to enjoy everything himself." (From the writer's informant.)

c "This episode is brought up to a child people desire to make honest. They say that just as these goods were taken back from Raven, and he was made to feel shame at having been discovered, a thief will always be found out. If the child becomes a thief when he grows up, they tell him that he will be classed among the very lowest no matter how well born he was. They also tell the little ones that there is a Creator watching them all the time, just as these ghosts watched. The Raven could not see them, but they saw him. They say that a person who does evil things is like a crippled or deformed person, for he has disgraced his family. They tell them that a person who gets that low is nobody and that the Creator despises him." (From the writer's informant.)

d What immediately follows was probably considered by my informant too indecent to relate.

was another very powerful man. And the cannibal showed him where Tsa'maya lived.

Then Raven stayed with Tsa'maya, and they became good friends ... also. The latter lived all by himself at that time, all of his friends having been killed by Wolverine-man (Nūsga-qā'). So he said to -Raven, "I do not know what to do with him. I would like to kill him." And Raven said to him, "Do you see this spear? Go and get a bear skin and put it around yourself. Put the spear in such a position as to make him believe he has killed a bear." Tsa'maya did so, and by and by Wolverine-man came along. He was very glad when he saw the bear and said, "I have another." Then he picked the bear up, took out the spear and carried it home. After that he went to gather wood. While he was gone Raven made himself appear like a common blackbird and in that form said to Tsa'maya, "Wolverine-man's heart is in his foot." Then he took the little spear he had concealed in his long hair and gave it to Tsa'maya, who speared Wolverine-man in the foot as soon as he came in. He was hurt badly but ran away from them. When they caught up with him and told him they were going to kill him, he said, "All right." But every time they killed him he came to life again until finally they burned him. Then, when they were about to pulverize his bones, the bones spoke up and said to them, "Pulverize my bones and blow them away. They will always be a bother to you and everybody else. I shall always remain in the world." That is where the mosquitoes and gnats come from.a

Afterward Raven came to where a house was floating far out at sea, called K!u'datan kahî'tî. Nās-ca'kî-yēł had been keeping it there, and in it were all kinds of fishes, but Raven did not know how to get at them. At the same place he also met a monster, called Q!ā'naxgādayiyê (which seems to mean "a thing that is in the way"), who had a spear like the arm of a devilfish called, "devilfish-arm spear." Raven wanted this, and obtained it by marrying the monster's daughter. Then he got into a canoe, paddled out near the house, and speared it. Inside he heard all kinds of songs sung by different voices. These were the songs people were to sing in the fishing season. When Raven threw his spear, it became very long and wrapped itself around the house so firmly that he was enabled to take his canoe ashore. He had great difficulty, however, for as he did so he had to sing continually, "I think so, I think so," a song known to all of the Raven people. Whenever he stopped singing, the house went back to the place where it had been at first. This happened three times and the fourth time he got it in.

a "This episode is referred to when a person takes after a bad father. They say to him, 'Why do you take after your father? Everybody knows that you are his child. Can't you take another road and do better than he did?'" (From the writer's informant.)

After that the door of the house opened, and all kinds of fish came out of it. He sang, "Some go to Stikine river. Some go to Chilkat river," which they immediately did. Then he sang again, "Some go to the small creeks to provide the poor people." That is how fish came to be all over the world.<sup>a</sup>

Now Raven went farther and came to a woman and a little girl all alone. She was crying and Raven asked her, "What are you crying about?" "I have lost all of my friends. I am all alone here with my little girl. The people kept going off hunting or fishing and never come back. What has happened to them I do not know." Then Raven said to the girl, "Do you know the thing with which they make fire?" She said "No," for they had kept their fires all night since the other people were gone. Then Raven showed her how to make fire with the fire drill. He said, "Drill away until you get a lot of this fine stuff. Then take some and eat it."

After the girl had done this she became pregnant and gave birth to a male child whom they called Fire-drill's son (Tū'fì-ya'dî). Then Raven said to her, "There is a cold spring back here. Bathe your little one in it every day, and he will grow up very fast." To this day they call that spring Water-that-makes-one-grow. The woman bathed him as directed and he soon grew up into a man very skilful at work of all kinds. Finally he asked his mother: "Mother, is this the way you have always been? Didn't you have a father, mother, and friends?" But she said, "We have always been this way." He was so bright that she would not tell him. Then the child went on asking, "Whose houses are those? I think that you had friends who have all died off, and you will not tell me." So his grandmother finally told him what had happened.

This boy was a good shot with arrows, but he said, "What can I do? All the canoes lying here are old and broken." In the night, however, his father, Fire-drill, appeared to him in a dream and said, "Take one of those old canoes up into the woods and cover it with brush. No matter how old it is. Do it." The morning after he had done this, he went there and found a very pretty little canoe with all things in it that he needed. Then his father appeared to him again, pulled the root of a burned tree out of the ground and made it into a little dog for him. He called it Gant (Burnt), and it could scent things from a great distance. Although small it was as powerful as a bear. He also gave his son a bow, and arrows pointed with obsidian(?). Finally he gave him a very powerful club called Qōtacā'yî-q!us.

Now he thought of what his grandmother had told him, took his canoe down, and prepared to go away. He told his mother that he might be gone for two days and said, "Take care of this fire drill. Hang it in a safe place overhead, and, if I am killed, it will fall." He went along on the water shooting at birds and suddenly saw a canoe coming toward him. "There is the thing that has killed all of my mother's friends," he thought. Then he began talking to his dog, his club, and his bow and arrows, all of which could understand him.

The man coming toward him had only one eye, placed in the middle of his face and from this fact was called Lēcawā'gî (Man-withone-eye). He was a very big man whose home was in a cliff. Then he said to the boy, "Is this you, my nephew?" He answered, "It is I." "Where did you come from?" "From my uncle's village." "Yes, I know you." The one-eyed man could read the boy's thoughts and said to him, "It was not I who killed your uncles and your mother's friends. It was the East wind and the North wind." He mentioned all of the winds. But the boy knew that this big man was after him, and he knew what he meant by talking to him so kindly. Then the big man said, "Let us trade arrows." "Oh! no, my arrows are better than yours. They cost a great deal." One of the boy's arrows was named Heart-stopper (Teq!-gots), because a person's heart stopped beating the instant it touched his body. Another was pointed with porcupine quills, and a third with bark. The big man made the boy believe that his arrow points were sea urchin spines, but in reality they were only the seed vessels of fireweed. This man was a bad shaman. He held his arrow points up, and said, "Do you see these arrows?" He could see that the points were all moving. Then the boy said, "It is wonderful, but my arrows are not like that. They are only good for shooting birds." Now the shaman's object was to get Heart-stopper. Finally the boy said to the shaman, "Look here, you call yourself my uncle. That is how you did away with my uncles and my mother's friends, is it? You will never make away with me so." That angered the big man, and before they knew it both had their arrows in hand, but the boy was the quicker and killed his antagonist; the dog helped him. Then the boy took the big man's. tongue out and burned his body. All this time his mother was worrying about him.

Then he paddled along by the shore and heard some one calling to him. He thought, "There is another bad man." So he went to the place and discovered on a very steep cliff falling sheer into the water an aperture with red paint around it and devil clubs tied into a ring hanging close by. Some one inside of this invited him in, and, as he was very brave and cared for nothing, he went up to the

entrance. The person who lived there was the wife of the man he had killed. She had seen his canoe passing and thought, "He must have killed my husband." So she said, "Your aunt's husband went across that way." And the boy said, "I have seen your husband." This woman's name was Knife-hand (Djîwan-yīs!), because she had a knife on each hand. She said to the boy, "You better come in here and let me give you food before you go on." "All right," he said. So he entered and found her cooking the parts of a human being. She called the ends of its fingers, "crab apples," its eyes, "berries," etc. When he told her that he did not eat that sort of food, she at once said, "Well! let us have a fight then. We will kill each other." He agreed and she went to a large rock where he could hear her drawing both hands back and forth to sharpen them. As soon as she had finished, she threw her hand at him, but he jumped aside so quickly that it stuck in the spot where he had been sitting, and, when she drew her hand away, the knife remained there. Then the boy jumped forward, seized it, and threw it back with such good aim that it killed her. He also cut her tongue out. He had no more than finished with her, however, than he noticed that the entrance hole was growing smaller and smaller. So he made himself small also, crept into one of the ermine skins he had tied in his hair, and ran out. When he came home again with his canoe loaded down with seal and deer, his mother and grandmother were very glad to see him, for they had been weeping for him and worrying about him ever since he left. Now he told them not to worry any longer because he had killed the bad people who destroyed their friends.

Next he said to his mother, "Mother, do not be afraid to tell me. What was it that killed my uncles when they went back here hunting?" By and by he went back into the woods to hunt and saw smoke rising a long distance off. He came to a house and entered. There he saw a very old woman called Old-mole-woman (K!aga'kqō cā'naku). As soon as she saw the boy this woman said, "My grandson what is it that you are after?" The boy felt that she was an honest old woman and said, "I am looking for the person that killed my uncles and all of my mother's friends." Then she told him to come in and eat. She picked a small piece of salmon out from between her teeth which at once turned into a whole salmon. That was the way she got anything she wanted, and it was the only way she got her food. Then she said to the boy, "Grandson, it is pretty hard to get at the beings that murdered your uncles. They are the hawks (kîdjū'k). You must find their nests, which are very high up, and watch until the old birds go away, leaving their two young ones." When he came to the nest, however, he saw that the old birds were away, so he went up to the young ones and said to them, "What do you live on?" The birds showed him numbers

of human skulls and other human bones lying about the base of the tree and said, "That is what we live on." They also said, "Our father and our mother always come just at daybreak. You can not see them because they come in clouds. Our mother comes over the mountain in a yellow cloud and our father comes in a black cloud." Then he said to the birds, "Do not tell about me or I will kill you," and they believed he would do it.

Suddenly the boy saw the yellow cloud coming. He distinguished the mother bird bringing a human body for her children to eat. Then he killed her and threw her down to the foot of the tree along with the body she was carrying. After that he saw the black cloud coming and presently distinguished the father bird. The father bird said to the young ones, "Where is your mother?" and they answered, "Our mother dropped the dead body she was bringing and went down after it." As he was sitting there talking the boy killed him also and threw his body down. Then he said to the little birds, "You must never kill people any more or live on human flesh. I will go and get something for you to eat until you are strong enough." So he went out hunting and brought them a lot of ground hogs, saying to them, "This is what you are to live upon." So these birds now live only on ground-hog meat. They do not live on human flesh any more. They kill their victims with rocks, and a person who is about to become rich will see them throw one of these. Then he picks it up and it brings him good luck.

After that he went back to the old woman and told her what he had done, and she was very happy to learn that these dangerous birds were killed. He said to her, "I am going back to my mother and grandmother. I and my dog have obtained a great deal of food for them." He also gave a quantity of food to the old woman who had helped him. His mother and grandmother were very glad when they saw him come back with the skins of those birds and a

quantity of provisions.

Now Fire-drill's son collected enough food and grease in boxes to last his mother and grandmother all their lives and said, "Mother, I am going to leave you forever. I was not put here to be with you always. I have done what I wanted to do. If what you have hanging overhead falls, you may know that you will never see me again. But do not worry, for it is my duty to leave you." Then he went away.

As he was traveling along from that place, Fire-drill's son saw some one ahead of him called Dry-cloud (Gus!-xūk). He was able to travel very fast, and he chased it. As he was running along he came to the mink people. He ran along again and came to the marten people. Both kept saying to him, "We want you to be our

friend," but he paid no attention to them and kept on pursuing Drycloud. Then he came to the wolf people and stayed there.

One of the wolf chiefs thought a great deal of Fire-drill's son. One time the wolves began talking about all those things that can run very fast, and finally they spoke about the mountain goats, how they can travel about easily among the cliffs, and said that they were going out to hunt them. When they set out, all ran hard to see who could kill the first one, but Fire-drill's son's dog killed a great number before anyone could get near them, so many, in fact, that Fire-drill's son took only the leaf lard home to show how many he had gotten. Then the wolves all went up and brought down the dead goats, and they felt very much ashamed that they, who were noted runners and hunters, had gotten nothing. They wondered what they could do to get even with Fire-drill's son. Then they took a quantity of long stringy vines called mountain-eel (cayali't'i), made them into rings and began playing with them. They would let these roll down the sides of the mountains and jump through them when they were at full speed. Anyone who got eaught in one of these would be cut in two.

Fire-drill's son's wolf friend said to him, however, "My friend, don't go near those people that are playing. You do not know anything about the things they are using. They will kill you." He answered, "No, I will not play with them, but let us watch them." So they went out and watched them. Then Fire-drill's son said to his dog, "Now, you play there and throw it as high as you can." So the dog played with it and threw it as high as he could. It was a fine moonlight night, and the ring rolled right up to the moon, where it became the ring you see there whenever there is going to be a change in weather. After that his friend, the wolf chief, said to the rest of the wolves, "You know that this son of Fire-drill is a wonderful fellow. He can do anything. Do not try to injure him in any way, but treat him as a friend."

After that Fire-drill's son and his wolf friend went off together, and the wolf said, "Some strange being walks around here. Don't

a See story 3.

b "This story is referred to in drawing the moral that one should never do anything spiteful or try to get ahead of one who knows better. If he does he will always get the worst of it. This is why in olden times the Indians looked up to the chiefs and those of high caste, knowing that they had been brought up and instructed better than themselves, and never tried to get ahead of them.

<sup>&</sup>quot;It is also brought up to the people how Fire-drill's son fed the young hawks instead of killing them. If a young person is very cruel they say to him, 'If the hawk can be made a friend of mankind, why can not you make friends with your enemies? If you want to be respected do not make enemies, but friends always?'

<sup>&</sup>quot;They tell the young people that a bad fellow is always like the one-eyed man, trying to get advantage of a good person. He is quick to say whatever comes into his mind, while the good man always thinks first. Therefore whatever the latter says people know is right. They ask their children to choose which of the two they would rather resemble.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Because the one-eyed man said, 'I did not kill your uncles or your mother's friends,' a murderer nowadays will never come out and say, 'I am the one who killed that man.' He always tries to make an innocent person suffer. As the one-eyed man's wife invited this boy to have something to eat in

run after him or he will take your life." It was Dry-cloud that he meant. "Don't mind me," said Fire-drill's son, "I know what he is. I only play with him. I know that this fellow can't be killed, and I know that he can not kill anybody else, but I have to follow him. That was my father's advice to me." So they kept on after Drycloud and the wolf had to run with all his might, but it did not seem to Fire-drill's son that he was going rapidly at all. Whenever the wolf got his tail wet in crossing a stream he was too much tired out to shake it, so he simply yelped and Fire-drill's son shook it for him. By and by they saw smoke far ahead of them and presently came to where an old woman lived alone by herself. They stayed with her for some time, and could see Dry-cloud as long as they were there, for he lived in the neighborhood of her house. Then they helped the old woman and collected a quantity of wood for her. After that she said to the boy, "Grandson, there is a big fish over yonder. It killed all of my friends in this town. That is why I am all alone here." He went to the place where she said the monster lived and found a red cod. He said to her, "Grandmother, that is not a monster fish. It is good to eat." So he took his bow and arrows and told his friend to watch him. Then he went to the red cod and killed it, and, seeing that there were numbers of sharp spines upon it, he took off its skin and dried it. He said to the wolf: "My friend, do you know this woman? She is really Daughter-of-the-calm (Kaye'L!î-sī). She is a very nice, pretty girl." Afterward Fire-drill's son married Daughterof-the-calm and had a child by her named Łakîtcîne'. He gave this boy his dog and put the red-cod skin upon him as a shirt. Then he said to his wife: "This is going to be a very bad boy." a

Łakîteîne' lived at Sitka.<sup>b</sup> He had a wife from among human beings, and every day, while he went out halibut fishing, she dug clams. The dog, Gant, that his father had given him he renamed Caq!. Łakîteîne' had several children, but he killed all of them. He would take a child up, pet it, and sing cradle songs to it, and at the same time make his red-cod spines stick into it so that it died.

order to kill him, so a bad person says whatever he chooses to a good one. But they tell their children, 'This will not kill you. They are doing themselves injury instead of you. So turn and walk away from them'

<sup>&</sup>quot;If a poor person has self-respect, he will have good fortune some time, just as in the case of the two old women to whom Rayen brought fortune.

<sup>&</sup>quot;The example of Fire-drill's son is commended because he did not use his power meanly. He knew that he was very powerful, but when all the animals tried his power he did not do them any harm. He did not want to show his strength at once. If he had been a mean man he might have killed the old woman that lived back in the woods instead of helping her and getting her food." (From the writer's informant.)

a Katishan added that once while Fire-drill's son was chasing Dry-cloud he was pulled into a village in the sky for some offense and punished there. Since then people have believed that the stars are inhabited. They were thought to be towns and the light the reflection of the sea.

b Near the site of the Presbyterian School.

He also used the "Blarney stone" as a grindstone, and killed some of his children by rubbing their faces upon it.

His wife mourned very much for her children, and finally thought of a way of being revenged upon him. She had a litter of puppies by the dog. There were originally twelve, but seven died, leaving four male puppies and one female. These puppies grew up very fast. While the man and his wife were away fishing and digging clams the puppies played about the house, and the noise they made sounded just like that of children. But the female always watched at the door, and when their mother ran up to stop them all would be lying about on the floor asleep. They kept getting noisier and noisier, and sounded more and more like human beings. Finally Łakîtcîne' heard it and said to his wife: "Who are these making so much noise here?" "It is those dogs." Then she thought very seriously what she should do with the puppies. The next time Łakîtcîne' was out he heard them still more plainly, and now he thought that he heard human voices. He came ashore in great anger and said to his wife: "It is not those dogs that I hear talking." He was so dangerous a man that his wife was very much frightened.

After that she formed a plan. So, when her husband went out halibut fishing the next time, she stuck her digging stick into the ground, put her blanket around it, and her hat upon the end. Then she ran up through the woods and hid herself, while the little dog was watching Łakîtcîne'. After that she crept back to the house, which was made of brush, and in which they were again making a great deal of noise. Looking inside, she found that the boys were all playing about in human forms, their dog skins lying a short distance away from them. Then she quickly ran in upon them, exclaiming, "You must like to be dogs since you wear dog skins," grabbed the skins and threw them into the fire. The little dog that sat outside was the only one that remained in its original form.

Now, when Łakîtcîne' came ashore, and saw the children, he was angry and felt very much ashamed at having been outwitted. He did not know how to kill them, for he thought they had more power than he. One, named Kack! A'Lk!, was a shaman. He had his grandfather and the one-eyed man and his wife that his grandfather had killed as his spirits. Łakîtcîne' thought that he would first quarrel with his wife, and, when he came into the house, he began to throw and kick things about. But, when he began to beat his wife, the children jumped upon him and fought with him. They also asked the dog to help them. Together they killed him.

After these boys were grown up, their mother told them many times of a certain monster at a place called Kagē't!, that had been

a A conspicuous bowlder with flat, smooth top nearly in front of the Presbyterian Indian School.

killing many people. Finally they set out to see it, anchored off the mouth of the bay, and killed it with spears and arrows. They took the skin from its head. Then they went throughout Alaska, killing off the monsters of the sea and land that had troubled people and making others less harmful. The natives say, if it had not been for those boys, they would be there yet. They made some of these monsters promise that they would not kill people. The wolves, which were very destructive in those days, became less harmful through them. Although people in Alaska are afraid of wolves, you have not heard of anyone being killed by them.

There was one person called Tcāk!i's! resembling an eagle, who flew around and was very powerful. He would say to the bears and other game animals, "You are going to be killed." Because he kept warning the animals, human beings were starving, so the brothers came to him and made him promise not to injure people or forewarn the other animals.

Afterward the brothers left their mother at that place and went up to Łāxayî'k, where they had heard of a bad person called One-leggedman (Lē-laq!ocî'). His proper name, however, is Man-that-dries-fish-for-the-eagle (Tcāk!-q!ē'dî-at-q!an-qā), and he is very fond of spearing salmon. First the boys came to the prints of his one foot going up beside the river, and after a while they saw him coming down toward them spearing salmon. His shirt was the skin of a brown bear and had strength as well as he.

Afterward Łq!ayā'k! caught a salmon, took all of the meat out, and got into its skin. Next day, at the time when they knew One-legged-man was about to come up, Łq!ayā'k! put it on again and laid himself in a salmon hole in the creek. The big man, who was just coming along, saw a fine salmon go into the hole and said, "What a fine looking salmon." He thought that he could not get it, but, after he had stood watching it for a while, it swam up toward him, and he speared it. Just as he was dragging it ashore, however, Łq!ayā'k! cut the cord to his spear point with a knife he had taken along and swam back into the water hole. Then the big man looked at his spear and said to himself, "My fine spear is gone;" but after he had observed closer he said, "This is not broken. It is cut. I suppose it is Łq!ayā'k!'s doing." After that he went on up the stream while the brothers cooked salmon for their meal.

By a by they saw One-legged-man coming down again carrying a feather tied on the end of a long stick. He would point this feather at different trees and then smell of it. Finally he pointed it at the tree in which £q!ayā'k! and his brothers were then sitting and said, "£q!ayā'k! is in that tree." Then he spoke out saying, "Give me my spear." £q!ayā'k! kept saying to his brothers, "Shall I go out and fight him?" But they answered, "No, no, don't go yet." He

was so determined, however, that he finally went out and was killed. Then the other brothers and the dog fell upon this man. After they had set their dog on him, they killed him. They took his bear-skin shirt off and burned his body. Eq!ayā'k! had been torn all to pieces, but Kack!a'lk! put the pieces together, acted around him like a shaman, and brought him back to life.

Then £q!ayā'k! went along up to the head of that stream dressed in One-legged-man's shirt and acting like him. When he got there he found the largest two bears that ever lived. These were the wife and father-in-law of the man they had killed. £q!ayā'k! threw down one salmon before the woman and another very bright one before her father just as One-legged-man had been in the habit of doing. The woman found out right away that £q!ayā'k! was not her husband, but she made love to him and he took her as his wife. His father-in-law also thought a great deal of him. Every morning £q!ayā'k! would go off down stream after salmon just as One-legged-man had done. On these expeditions he was always accompanied by his dog, which kept chewing on something continually. He was really chewing those wild peoples' minds away to make them tame so that they would not hurt £q!ayā'k!'s brothers. His brothers all came to him.

After that they began pursuing Dry-cloud like Fire-drill's son. Like him they chased it from one kind of animal to another. They chased it for months and months until they had followed it far up into the sky where you can see the tracks of £q!ayā'k! to this very day (the milky way). Finally they reached a very cold region in the sky and wanted to get back, but the clouds gathered so thickly about them that they could not pass through. Kack!a'lk!, therefore, called his spirits to open a passage. After they had done so his brothers fell through and were smashed to pieces on the earth. Kack!a'lk!, however, had his spirits make him enter a ptarmigan (q!ēs!awa'), and reached the earth in safety. Then he shook his rattle over his brothers and brought them to life.

Before they ascended into the sky the brothers had killed all of the monsters on Prince of Wales island and elsewhere in Alaska except one at Wrangell called Kaxqoyê'ndua. When they heard about this one, they went to He-who-knows-everything-that-happens (Łiu'wat-uwadjī'gî-cana'ku) and said to him, "Grandfather, we want your canoe. Will you lend it to us?" Its name was Arrow-canoe (Tcū'net-yāku). Then the old man said, "What do you want the canoe for, grandchildren?" So they told him, and he said, "There is a very bad thing living there. No one can get to him. Several different kinds of spirits are to be met before you reach him. They are very dangerous." Then he gave them directions, saying, "When the monster is sleeping, he has his eyes open, but when he is awake he has his eyes closed, and he is then watching everything. When you

see that his eyes are closed, do not try to kill him. Approach him when his eyes are open. The canoe," he said, "is right round there back of my house." They went to look for it but saw nothing at that place except an old log covered with moss. They said to him, "Where is the canoe you were talking about?" Then the old man came out and threw the moss off, revealing a fine painted canoe. Another name for this was Canoe-that-travels-in-the-air (Qaxyī'xdoxoa), referring to its swiftness. All of the paddles that he brought out to them were beautifully painted. Then they got into the canoe and tested it.

Next day they set out and soon came to a point named Point-that moves-up-and-down (Yên-yulu'-slîta'ngî-qla). Whenever a canoe approached it this point would rise, and, as soon as the canoe attempted to pass under, would fall and smash it. They, however, passed right underneath, and it did not fall upon them. They killed it by doing so, theirs being the first canoe that had passed under.

Beyond this they saw a patch of kelp called Kelps-washed-up-against-one-another-by-the-waves (WūcxkAdutī't-gīc), which closed on those trying to pass, but they shot through as soon as the kelp parted. Thus they killed the kelp patch, and the kelp piled up in one place, becoming a kelp-covered rock which may still be seen.

Next they reached Fire-coming-up-out-of-the-sea (Hīnax-qega'ntc), which rose out of the ocean quickly and fell back again. When it fell back they passed over it and killed it.

After that they came to Dogs-of-the-sea (Wūcladagū'q-caq!), after whom Łakîtcîne''s dog is said to have been named.<sup>a</sup> These drew to each side and then ran together upon anyone who tried to pass between. Arrow-canoe was too quick for them, however, and killed them by running through in safety. Then they became rocks.

Before the monster's dwelling were two mountains, called Mountains-that-divide (Wū'cqAdagAt-ca), which formed his doors. These would separate and come together again. Arrow-canoe passed between when they were separated and killed them. You can see them now, one on each side of a salt-water pond, looking as though they had been cut apart.

As soon as they had passed between these they saw the monster, a very bad shaman called also Shaman-of-the-sea (Hīn-t!aq-f'xt!f). He looked as though his eyes were open, so they threw a rope made of whale sinew about his neck. Immediately he shook himself and broke it. They made ropes out of the sinews of all the different monsters they had killed, but he broke them. All the time they were doing this a little bird called Old-person (Laguqā'wu), b kept coming to their camp and saying, "My sinews only, my sinews." So they

b Probably the wren.

a In another place, however, Katishan suggested that it might have been named from leq!, his red-cod blanket. The word caq! must be an old term for dog or some variety of dog.

finally killed this bird, took out its sinews, and worked them into a very small thread. As soon as they threw this around the monster's head it came off. Then they took off its scalp, which had long hair like that of other shamans, and the rest of its head turned into a rock at that place. They now had two principal scalps from the two big monsters they had killed.

When the brothers now returned to the old man and related what had happened, he felt very good and said, "There would have been no person living. This monster would have killed them all, if you had not destroyed it." Everybody who heard that the monster was dead, was glad, and did not fear to go to that place any more.

After this they returned to their mother and sister. At that time their sister had just reached puberty and was shut up in the house with a mat curtain hung in front of her. So they hung the shaman's scalp up in front of 'the curtain. They also made her drink water through the leg bones of geese and swans so that she should not touch the drinking cups. Her mother put a large hat upon her so that she should not look at anything she was forbidden to see. If one shouted that a canoe was coming, or that anything else was taking place that she wanted to witness, she did not dare to look out. Since her time these same regulations have been observed.

Then they left that place and moved south through the interior. Having killed off the ocean monsters, they were now going to kill those in the forest. Besides that, they hunted all of this time, killing bear, ground hogs, and other animals; but their sister was not allowed to look at any of them. Among other wild animals they told the wolverine and wolf that they must not kill human beings but be friendly with them. They killed ground hogs, mountain sheep, and other animals for them and told them that that was what they were to live upon.

At one place they saw a smoke far off in the woods and, advancing toward it, came to the house of a man named He-whose-hands-see (Djīnqotī'n). He was so called because he was blind and had his wife aim his arrows for him. He said to Łq!ayā'k!, "My wife saw a grizzly bear and told me where it was. She aimed my arrow and I shot at it. I felt that I had killed it, but she said I had not. My wife has left me on account of this, and I don't know where she is or what I am living on or how I am living without her." Then Łq!ayā'k! and his brothers gave him ground-hog skins filled with grease and fat such as the interior people used to make, also dried meat.

While they were in the interior the brothers also made needles out of animal bones and threads out of sinew for their sister to use behind the screen. She worked with porcupine quills and dyed sinews, and it is through her that the interior women are such fine workers with the needle.

After they met this man the girl's brothers asked her to make a small net for them. This net was patterned after a spider's web which Spider-spirit (Qasîst!a'n yēk) showed to Kack!a'lk!, saying, "You are to take this as a pattern." Then they took the old man to the creek and said, "Do you feel this creek along here?" Putting a long handle on the net, they said to him again, "Dip this net into the water here. It is easy. You can feel when a fish gets into it." They gave him also a basket their sister had made and said, "When you want to cook the fish, put it in here together with many hot rocks." After showing him how to cook his fish they left him and came to another camp. There another old man lived who said to them, "Do you see that mountain?" There were two mountains close together. "A very bad person lives over there named Long-hairedperson (Cakulya't!)." So, after the brothers had gotten a great deal of food together for the old man, they left their mother and sister with him and went out to look for Long-haired-person. After a while they came upon good, hard trails made by him along which he had set spears with obsidian points, and presently they saw him coming along one of these with his long hair dragging on the ground. He had a bone in his nose and swan's down around his head and wrists. he said, "Come to my house. I invite you home to eat something. I know you are there." He said this although he could not see them. Then the boys came out to him and called him "brother-in-law," and he said, "It is four days since I saw you, my brothers-in-law. Your story is known everywhere." This Athapascan shaman's spirits were telling him all these things. So he took them home and gave them all the different kinds of food to which they were accustomed, not treating them as a wild man would. Then they said to him, "You see the old person that lives near by. Do not do any harm to him. He is our grandfather. If you see that old blind fellow down yonder, give him food also. Treat him like the other." Presently the shaman said to the brothers, "Let us make a sweat house." In olden times people used to talk to each other in the sweat houses, and the shamans learned a great deal from their spirits inside of them. That was why the shaman wanted them to go in. But, when they were inside, and he and Kack! A'Lk! had showed each other their spirits, it was found that Kack! A'Lk!'s spirits were the stronger.

Now they returned to their mother and sister and took them to the head of the Taku river, where they spent some time in hunting. Then they crossed to this side and, moving along slowly on account of their sister, they came to a place on the Stikine called in Athapascan Hak!'ts, where they also hunted. Their destination was the Nass. Coming down along the north bank of the Stikine to find a good place for their sister to cross, they started to make the passage between Telegraph and the narrows, one of them taking the dog on his back.

Before the brothers set out, however, their mother covered their sister up so that she would not look at them until they got over. But when they were half way across, they started back and it looked to the mother as if they were drifting downstream. She said to her daughter, "Daughter, it looks as if your brothers were going to be drowned. They are already drifting down the river." Upon that, the girl raised her covering a little and looked out at them, and immediately they turned into stone. The pack that one of them was carrying fell off and floated down a short distance before petrifying, and it may still be seen there. The dog also turned to rock on its master's head and the mother and sister on shore. One of the boys had green and red paints with him, such as they used to paint their bows and arrows and their faces, and nowadays you can go there and get it. Years ago people passing these rocks prayed to them, stuffed pieces of their clothing into the crevices, and asked the rocks for long life.a

Raven was then living just below this place. His smoke may still be seen there, and they call it Raven's smoke (Yēl s!ē'ge). When Kack!A'Lk! turned into a rock, Raven said, "Where is that shaman that was going to come to after he had died?" He meant that, while he used to restore his brothers to life by shaking his rattle over them, he could not now restore himself; and people now apply these remarks to a shaman who has not succeeded in saving a person after he has been paid a great deal for his services. They will say, "Where is that shaman that could save anybody, but could not save the very person we wanted saved?" If a shaman were not truthful, they would say, "He is trying to have Kack!A'Lk!"s spirits but will never get them because he is not truthful like Kack!A'Lk!."

As Raven was traveling along after his encounter with the mother of Fire-drill's son, he saw a sculpin on the beach looking at him and hid from it to see what it would do. Then he saw it swim out on the surface of the ocean and go down out of sight some distance off. After that he opened the door of the sea, went to the house of the sculpin, which was under a large rock, and said to it, "My younger brother, this is you, is it?" "I am not your younger brother." "Oh!

a See stories 3 and 97.

b "The disobedience of the young woman in looking up contrary to the directions of her brothers is brought up to girls at that period in life. This is why they do whatever their mothers tell them at that time, and do not dispicase their brothers. They always think of  $\mathbb{Z}_{q}$ 'ayā'kl's sister. So this part of the story always taught them to be obedient.

Anciently we were taught commandments similar to those of the whites. Don't look down on a person because he is proud. Don't look down on a low-caste person. Don't steal. Don't lie." (From the writer's informant.)

yes, you are my younger brother. We were once coming down Nass river in a canoe with our father and had just reached its mouth when you fell overboard and sank forever." Then the sculpin said, "I can not be your younger brother for I am a very old person." Said Raven, "I want you to be next to me. There will be many sculpins, but you shall be the principal one." So he placed the sculpin (wēq!) in the sky where it may still be seen [as the Pleiades]."

Raven saw a canoe out after halibut and said, "Come ashore and take me across," but they paid no attention to him. Then he said, "If you do not I will put you up in the sky also. I will make an example of you, too." Then he held his walking stick out toward the canoe and they found themselves going up into the sky. That is what you can see in the sky now. It is called The-halibut-fishers (Dana'qu's!îkê).

Raven went to another place and determined to invite some people to a feast, so he invited all the seal people. When each seal came in he smeared its forehead with pitch, and, as soon as it got warm, the pitch ran down over the seal's eyes and blinded it. Then he clubbed it to death.

He went along again, saw a nice fat deer, and said to it, "My friend this is you is it?" There was a deep, narrow canyon near by and Raven laid a rotten stick across it saying, "Let us go across to the other side upon this," but the deer said, "No, I can not. It will break with me and I shall get hurt." "No, you shall see how I cross it." So Raven went over and Deer tried to follow him but fell to the bottom of the canyon and was crushed to death. Then Raven went down and ate him, stuffing himself so full that he could scarcely move. He then acted as though he were very sad and pretended to cry, saying, "My friend, my friend, he is gone." He pretended that the wild animals had devoured him."

After this Raven went to ground-hog's house for the winter. The ground-hogs go into their holes in September. At home they live like human beings and to them we are animals just as much. So Raven spent the winter with one of them and became very sick of it,

<sup>&</sup>quot;So nowadays, when a person wants people to think he knows a great deal and says, 'I am very old,' they will answer, 'If Sculpin could not make Raven believe he was so old and knew so much, neither can you make us believe it of you. An older person will come along and show you to the world as the sculpin is seen now.' So, to-day, when children go out in the evening, they will say, 'There is that sculpin up there.'"

b"When a child was lazy and disobedient, they told him how the halibut fishermen got up into the sky for their laziness. Therefore the children were afraid of being lazy." (From the writer's informant.)

c"This is brought up to a child to prevent him from being a murderer in secret, or a coward." (From the writer's informant.)

d "This episode is brought up when one who was the enemy of a dead man is seen to act as if he were very sad in the house where his body lies. People say to one another. 'He is acting as Raven did when he killed his friend the deer.' It is also applied to a person who is jealous of one who is well hrought up and in good circumstances. When such a person dies he will act like Raven." (From the writer's informant.)

but he could not get out. The ground-hog enjoyed himself very much, but Raven acted as if he were in prison and kept shouting to his companion, "Winter comes on, Winter comes on," thinking that the ground-hog had power to make the winter pass rapidly. The ground-hog had to stay in his hole for six months, and at that time he had six toes, one for each, but Raven pulled one of his toes out of each foot in order to shorten the winter. That is why he has but five nowadays."

Next Raven married the daughter of a chief named Fog-over-thesalmon (Xāt-ka-qogā's!î). It was winter, and they were without food, so Raven wanted salmon very much. His wife made a large basket and next morning washed her hands in it. When she got through there was a salmon there. Both were very glad, and cooked and ate it. Every day afterward she did the same thing until their house was full of drying salmon. After that, however, Raven and his wife quarreled, and he hit her on the shoulder with a piece of dried salmon. Then she ran away from him, but, when he ran after her and seized her, his hands passed right through her body. Then she went into the water and disappeared forever, while all of the salmon she had dried followed her. He could not catch her because she was the fog (gūs!). After that he kept going to his father-in-law to beg him to have his wife come back, but his father-in-law said, "You promised me that you would have respect for her and take care of her. You did not do it, therefore you can not have her back."b

Then Raven had to leave this place, and went on to another town where he found a widower. He said to this man, "I am in the same fix as you. My wife also has died." Raven wanted to marry the daughter of the chief in that town, so he said, "Of course I have to marry a woman of as high caste as my first wife. That is the kind I am looking for." But Tsagwâ'n (a bird), who was also looking for a high-caste wife, followed Raven about all the time. He said to the people, "That man is telling stories around here. His first wife left him because he was cruel to her." For this reason they refused to

a "This episode used to be brought up to girls of 14 or 15 who wanted to run about to feasts and other festivities without their mothers or grandmothers. Such girls were told that they were like Raven when he was imprisoned in the ground-hog hole and wanted to get out. Those who stayed indoors were respected by everybody. They also likened Raven to a foolish girl who tries to lead a good girl, Ground-hog, astray. They told the latter that some injury would result, as happened to Ground-hog in losing his toes. When a mother saw that her daughter was willing to listen to a foolish girl, she would say to her, 'Whatever that foolish girl leads you to will be seen on you as long as you live." (From the writer's informant.)

b" When a young man was about to marry, people would bring this story up to him and tell him that if he did not take care of his wife and once forgot himself, he might lose her. If his wife were a good woman and he treated her right, he would have money and property, but if he were mean to her, he would lose it. And if he lost his wife and had been good to her, he could get another easily." (From the writer's informant.)

give the girl to him. Then he said to the chief, "If I had married your daughter you would have had a great name in the world. You will presently see your daughter take up with some person who is a nobody, and, when they speak of you in the world, it will always be as Chief-with-no-name. You may listen to this Tsagwâ'n if you want to, but you will be sorry for it. He is a man from whom no good comes. Hereafter this Tsagwâ'n will live far out at sea. And I will tell you this much, that neither Tsagwâ'n nor myself will get this woman." This is why Tsagwâ'n is now always alone. Raven also said to the chief, "You will soon hear something of this daughter of yours." All the high-caste men wanted to marry this woman, but she would not have them.

but she would not have them.

Going on again, Raven came to an old man living alone, named Damnā'djî, and said to him, "Do you know the young daughter of the chief close by here?" "Yes, I know her." "Why don't you try to marry her?" "I can't get her. I know I can't, so I don't want to try." Then Raven said, "I will make a medicine to enable you to get her." "But I have no slave," said the old man; "to get her a man must have slaves." "Oh!" said Raven, "you do not have to have a slave to get her. She will take a liking to you and nobody can help it. 'She will marry you. Her father will lose half of his property." Then he made the old man look young, got feathers to put into his hair and a marten-skin robe to put over him so that he appeared very handsome. But Raven said to him, "You are not going to look like this all of the time. It is only for a day or so."

After this the rejuvenated man got into his skin canoe, for this was well to the north, and paddled over to where the girl lived. He did not ask her father's consent but went directly to her, and she immediately fell in love with him. Although so many had been after her she now said, "I will marry you. I will go with you even if my father kills me for it."

When the chief's slaves found them in the bedroom at the rear of the house, they said to the chief, "Your daughter is married." So her mother looked in there and found it was true. Then her father said, "Come out from that room, my daughter." He had already told his slaves to lay down valuable furs on the floor for his daughter and her husband to sit on. He thought if she were already married it was of no use for him to be angry with her. So the girl came out with her husband, and, when her father saw him he was very glad, for he liked his looks, and he was dressed like a high-caste person.

Then the chief related to his son-in-law how a fellow came along wanting to marry his daughter, and how Tsagwâ'n had come afterward and told him that he had been cruel to his first wife. Said

the chief, "This man had a wife. His first wife is living yet. I don't want to hurt his wife's feelings."

After that his son-in-law said, "My father told me to start right out after him to-day in my canoe." He was in a hurry to depart because he was afraid that all of his good clothing would leave him. He said to his wife, "Take only your blanket to use on the passage, because I have plenty of furs of every description at home." So she took nothing but her marten-skin robe and a fox robe.

As she lay in the canoe, however, with her head resting on his lap she kept feeling drops of water fall upon her face, and she said many times, "What is that dripping on my face?" Then he would say, "It must be the water splashing from my paddle," but it was really the drippings that fall from an old man's eyes when he is very filthy. Her husband had already become an old man again and had lost his fine clothing, but she could not see it because her face was turned the other way. When the woman thought that they were nearly at their destination she raised herself to look out, glanced at her husband's face, and saw that he was an altogether different man. She cried very hard.

After they had arrived at his town the old man went from house to house asking the people to take pity on him and let him bring his wife to one of them, because he knew that his own house was not fit for her. These, however, were some of the people that had wanted to marry this woman, so they said, "Why don't you take her to your own fine house? You wanted her." Meanwhile she sat on the beach by the canoe, weeping. Finally the shabby sister of this old man, who was still older than he, came down to her and said, "See here, you are a high-caste girl. Everybody says this man is your husband, and you know he is your husband, so you better come up to the house with me." Then she saw the place where he lived, and observed that his bed was worse than that of one of her father's slaves. The other people also paid no attention to her, although they knew who she was, because she had married this man. They would eat after everybody else was through, and, while he was eating, the people of the town would make fun of him by shouting out, "Damnā'djî's father-in-law and his brothers-in-law are coming to his grand house to see him." Then he would run out to see whether it were so and find that they were making fun of him. Every morning, while he was breakfasting with his wife, the people fooled him in this way.

Although he had not said so, the father-in-law and the brothers-in-law of Damnā'djî thought that he was a very high-caste person because he was dressed so finely. So they got together all their expensive furs to visit him, and they had one canoe load of slaves, which they intended to give him, all dressed with green feathers

1

from the heads of mallard drakes. One morning the people again shouted, "Damnā'djî's father-in-law and his brothers-in-law are coming to see him." Running out to look this time, he saw canoe after canoe coming, loaded down deep. Then he did not know what to do. He began to sweep out the house and begged some boys to help him clean up, but they said, "You clean up yourself. Those are your people coming." The people of the place also began hiding all of their basket-work pots, and buckets.

As they came in, the people in the canoes sang together and all of them were iridescent with color. They were very proud people. Then the old man begged the boys to carry up the strangers' goods, but they replied as before, "You carry them up yourself. You can do it." So the strangers had to bring up their own things into the house and sit about without anyone telling them where. The old man's sister was crying all the time. Then the strangers understood at once what was the matter and felt very sorry for these old people.

man's sister was crying all the time. Then the strangers understood at once what was the matter and felt very sorry for these old people. After that the old man kept saying to the boys who came in to look at his visitors, "One of you go after water," but they answered, "Go after water yourself. You can do it." He tried to borrow a basket for his guests to eat off of, but they all said, "Use your own basket. What did you go and get that high-caste girl for? You knew that you couldn't afford it. Why didn't you get a poor person like yourself instead of a chief's daughter? Now you may know that it isn't fun to get a high-caste person when one is poor." His brothers-in-law and his father-in-law felt ashamed at what they heard, and they also felt badly for him. Then the old woman gave her brother a basket that was unfit for the chief's slaves to eat out of, and he ran out to get water for his guests.

When he got there, however, and was stooping down to fill his basket, the creek moved back from him and he followed it. It kept doing this and he kept running after it until he came to the mountain, where it finally vanished into a house. Running into this, he saw a very old woman sitting there who said to him, "What are you after? Is there anything I can do for you?" He said, "There is much that you can do for me, if you can really do it. My friends are very mean to me. My father-in-law and the other relations of my wife have all come to my place to visit me. I married a very high-caste woman, and the people of my place seem to be very mean about it. I am very poor and have nothing with which to entertain them." He told all of his troubles to her from the beginning, and, when he was through, she said, "Is that all?" "Yes, that is all." Then the woman brushed back his hair several times with her hand, and lo! he had a head of beautiful hair, while his ragged clothes changed into valuable ones. He was handsomer and better clothed than at the time when he first obtained his wife. The old woman

that brought him luck is called L!ê'naxxī'daq-that-lives-in-the-water (Hīntak-L!ê'naxxī'daq). The old basket he had also turned into a very large beautiful basket. Then she said to him, "There is a spring back in the corner. Go there and uncover it and dip that basket as far down as you can reach." He did so and, when he drew it out, it was full of dentalia.

Now Damnā'djî returned home very quickly, but nobody recognized him at first except his wife and those who had seen him when he went to get her. Afterward he gave water to his guests, and they could see dentalia shells at the bottom. The house was now filled with spectators, and those who had made fun of him were very much ashamed of themselves. After he had given them water, he gave them handfuls of dentalia, for which his father-in-law and his brothers-in-law gave him slaves, valuable furs, and other property. So he became very rich and was chief of that town. That is why the Indians do the same now. If a brother-in-law gives them the least thing they return much more than its value.

Now he had a big house built, and everything that he said had to be done. The people that formerly made fun of him were like slaves to him. He also gave great feasts, inviting people from many villages. But, after he had become very great among them, he was too hard upon the people of his town. His wife was prouder than when she was with her father and if boys or anyone else displeased her they were put to death.

As they were now very proud and had plenty of people to work for them, the husband and wife spent much time sitting on the roof of their house looking about. One spring the woman saw a flock of swans (goql) coming from the southeast, and said, "Oh! there is a high-caste person among those birds that I was going to marry." Another time they went up, and a flock of geese (t!āwa'q) came along. Then she again said to her husband, "Oh! there is the high-caste person I was going to marry." By and by some sand-hill cranes (dūl) flew past, and she repeated the same words. But, when the brants (qên) came over, and she spoke these words, they at once flew down to her and carried her off with them. Her husband ran after the brants underneath as fast as he could, and every now and then some of her clothing fell down, but he was unable to overtake her.

When the birds finally let this woman drop, she was naked and all of her hair even was gone. Then she got up and walked along the beach crying, and she made a kind of apron for herself out of leaves. Continuing on along the beach, she came upon a red snapper head, which she picked up. She wandered on aimlessly, not knowing what to do, because she was very sad at the thought of her fine home and her husband. Presently she saw smoke ahead of her and

arrived at a house where was an old woman. She opened the door, and the old woman said, "Come in." Then she said to the old woman, "Let us cook this red snapper head." "Yes, let us cook it," said the latter. After they had eaten it, the old woman said to her, "Go along the beach and try to find something else." So she went out and found a sculpin (weq!). Then she came back to the house and cooked that, but, while they were eating, she heard many boys shouting, and she thought they were laughing at her because she was naked. She looked around but saw no one. Then the old woman said to her, "Take it (the food) out to that hole." She went outside with the tray and saw an underground sweathouse out of which many hands protruded. This was the place from which the shouting came. She handed the tray down and it was soon handed up again with two fine fox skins in it. Then the old woman said to her, "Make your clothing out of these furs," and so she did.

After she had put the skins on, this old woman said, "Your father and mother live a short distance away along this beach. You better go to them. They are living at a salmon creek." So the girl went on and soon saw her father and mother in a canoe far out where her father was catching salmon. But, when she ran down toward the canoe to meet them, her father said to his wife, "Here comes a fox." As he was looking for something with which to kill it, she ran back into the woods.

Then she felt very badly, and returned to the old woman crying. "Did you see your father?" said the latter. "Yes." "What did he say to you?" "He took me for a fox. He was going to kill me." Then the old woman said, "Yes, what else do you think you are? You have already turned into a fox. Now go back to your father and let him kill you."

The woman went to the same place again and saw her father still closer to the shore; and she heard him say, "Here comes that big fox again." Then she ran right up to him, saying to herself, "Let him kill me," and he did so. Years ago all the high-caste people wore bracelets and necklaces, and each family had its own way of fixing them. Now, as this woman was skinning the fox, she felt something around its foreleg. She looked at it and found something like her daughter's bracelet. Afterward she also cut around the neck and found her daughter's necklace. Then she told her husband to come and look saying, "Here on this fox are our daughter's necklace and bracelet." So they cried over the fox and said, "Something must have made her turn into a fox." They knew how this fox ran toward them instead of going away.

Now they took the body of the fox, placed it upon a very nice mat, and laid another over it. They put eagle's down, which was always kept in bags ready for use, on the body, crying above it all the time. They also began fasting, and all of her brothers and relations in that village fasted with them. All cleaned up their houses and talked to their Creator (Cagū'n). One midnight, after they had fasted for many days, they felt the house shaking, and they heard a noise in the place where the body lay. Then the father and mother felt very happy. The mother went there with a light and saw that her daughter was in her own proper shape, acting like a shaman. Then the woman named the spirits in her. The first she mentioned was the swan spirit, the next the goose spirit, the next the sand-hill-crane spirit, the next the brant spirit. Another spirit was the red-snapperhead spirit which called itself Spirit-with-a-labret-in-its-chin (Tūts-ya-ū'wu-yēk), and another the fox spirit (Nāgas!e' koyē'k). Now the father and mother of this woman were very happy, but her husband lost all of his wealth and became poor again.<sup>a</sup>

Raven went to another place and turned himself into a woman. Then she thought within herself, "Whose daughter shall I say I am?" She saw a sea gull sitting out on a high rock and thought she would call that her father. Years ago a chief would always pick out a high place in the village on which to sit in the morning, and when Raven saw the sea gull she thought within herself, "I am Tacakītūa'n's (Sitteron-a-high-cliff's) daughter." A canoe came along filled with killer whales returning to their own village, and she married one of them. When they got near the town, some one on the beach called to them, "Where is that canoe coming from?" and one replied, "We have

a"As'Tsagwâ'n was a mischief maker and followed Raven to tell what he had done to his wife, so some man will always follow one up if he doesn't tell the truth. Formerly, when a man left his wife, a settlement of property was made and, if a man married again before this took place, his first wife made trouble for his second. Since no one wants trouble of this kind, a woman always found out what a man was like before she married him, just as this woman found out about Raven.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Since Damnā'djī married a woman of higher family than himself and was taunted by the town people, nowadays they tell a young man that, if he marries a girl of higher rank than himself, they will not remain together long, because she will feel above him and want him to please her continually, while she does nothing to please him. As Damnā'djī from being poor became rich suddenly and was very hard on his people till all of his riches were again taken away from him, they say, 'When you become wealthy after having been poor, don't be proud or your money will all leave you.' When a man has had plenty of money all his life and wastes it foolishly, they say of him, 'He has fallen from the hands of the brant. So a young man nowadays saves up a considerable sum of money before he marries that he may not be made fun of. Perhaps if we had not had this story among the natives of Alaska we would have had nothing to go by.

<sup>&</sup>quot;The fact that Damnā'dji's wife's relations did not insult or maltreat him after they learned how poor he was, shows that they were really high caste. Had they but recently acquired their wealth they would have done so. Therefore people say to a person who speaks before he thinks, 'Why can't you be like Damnā'dji's brothers-in-law? Think before you speak.' When the village people were making fun of their brother-in-law, his wife's relations might have done anything to them, for they had wealth in furs and slaves, but they kept quiet because they had too much respect for their sister to disgrace her husband's village people. It was also out of respect for their sister that, when they found out that all that the poor man had for them to drink was water, they drank it willingly without saying a word, where a low-caste person would have grumbled. Therefore people tell a man who has no respect for his brother-in-law because he is low-caste that he ought to be like these brothers-in-law of Damnā'dji. Because Damnā'dji was lucky twice, the people in olden times used to pray for luck continually. If he wanted to be lucky a poor man lived a very pure life. Those who do not do what is right never will have luck." (From the writter's informant.)

been after a wife and we have her." "Which chief's daughter is that?" they inquired, because in olden times people never went for any woman by canoe except the daughter of a chief. "It is Tacakī-tūa'n's daughter," said they. "It is Cudā'xduxō''s (Barked-hemlock's) daughter." All of the killer whales believed this.

After that, the killer whales began to notice that their food was disappearing very rapidly, although they were always out fishing and hunting and had had their house piled full of boxes of grease. They said, "What is wrong? What has become of all the grease and fat in these boxes?" They could not find out for a long time. Raven wore a labret at that time set with abalone shell which was formerly very valuable, and it is from him that high-caste people afterward used these. After some time they found this labret in one of the boxes of grease and said, "Just look at this labret in here." Then Raven exclaimed, "Ih! my labret, that is always the way with my labret. Whenever it feels like doing so, it will leave my lip and go off anywhere."

By and by Raven said, "I wonder what is wrong that I have such bad dreams. I dreamt that all the people of this village were asleep, and my husband went to sleep and never woke up. My dreams always come true. Whatever I dream surely happens." Late the next night she got a stick, sharpened the ends, and killed her husband; and early in the morning they heard her crying, "My husband, Cāwa't-kala'qdagê's father." Years ago, before the white laws came in force, when a chief used these words in his speech, people knew that he had a grudge against some one and was going to murder him. The killer whales, however, did not know what she meant.

Then Raven told the people that her husband had said, "Take me and place me quite a distance from the town." They did so, and she said, "When you hear me cry, I don't want any of you to pass the place where I am mourning. Tie up the fingers of my right hand. Allow me to eat with my left hand only. You people must also wait upon me. You must bring me everything I eat. Also paint my face black." She being the widow, they had to do everything just as she told them, and these are the regulations people have observed up to the present time. When they heard her crying around the spot where her husband's body had been laid, no one dared go near, and to this day those who go by a house where people are mourning have to be very quiet. Nor do they pass it at all unless they are compelled to.

Raven stayed there mourning for a long time, but she was really eating the killer-whale's body. After she had remained by it for a very long time, she would come home chewing gum, but, when the husband's relations asked her for a piece, she would say, "No, no one can chew this gum but Maca'," which was the name she gave to herself.

She lived there for a long time, continually crying out of doors, but she was really crying for joy because she intended to kill all of the killer whales.

While sitting outside one day a kēk! (a small sea gull with black head and white body) flew past, and Raven said, "Here comes the man I made white." By and by she saw another, called kur!ê'ta, also white, and repeated the same words. Then some swans came along far up in the sky, and she said the same thing about them. The killer whales heard all this and said, "Since you have made them white, can't you make us white also?" "It will hurt you to be made white," said Raven. "Those people that came along were made white because they were brave." Then she sharpened the same hardwood stick with which she had killed her husband and told all of the killers to lie in a row. She began pounding this into their ears, and so killed all of them but the last. This looked up in time to see what she was doing and rushed into the sea saying, "Raven has finished us sure enough" (Qothaga'sînī'yēl). Raven remained there for some time eating the whales she had killed.

The reason why there are so many cowards among men nowadays is because Raven, being a man, made himself into a woman at that time. The people that live single all their lives are such as came from Raven at that period. This is also why thieves are great talkers and, when they have gotten into trouble, have a way of getting out, and why some women are bad and deceive their husbands; for Raven said that his husband had wanted to be buried a long way from town, and they believed him. This is why the Tlingit used to be very careful of the way they spoke and even of the way they walked when in public.<sup>a</sup>

After that Raven came to a fishhawk (kūnackanyē't) and exclaiming, "Oh! my friend." entered its house, where was a great quantity of food. He felt very happy at the sight, and said to the bird, "I will stay with you all winter." Then he stayed so long that the hawk began to get tired of him, because Raven would not work. When he saw that the bird was getting weary of him he would say, "The time for me to work hasn't come yet. When I work you will have plenty of rest. You will not have to do a thing. This beach

a''This part of the story was referred to when one wished to imply that a person was trying to make people believe that he was better than he really was. So nowadays, when a high-caste man wants to marry an orphan, people find out who her father is, because Raven made believe her own father was a chief. Some women will go off to a strange place and say falsely, 'I am so-and-so's daughter,' making people think that she belongs to a very high family. The same sort of woman will assume mourning for her husband, and make people believe she is mourning when she is really thinking what she is going to do and where she is going. If she finds out she can get her living falsely, she will keep on being false. That is why Raven told so many stories about her husband's death. When a mother sees that her girl is very foolish, she will say to her, 'When you marry and become a widow, you will eat up your husband's body,' meaning that, if her husband leaves her any property, she will use it up foolishly. She also says to her, 'You are so foolish now, I believe you will steal after you are married,' meaning that she will be foolish with what her husband earns. Then, she says, 'They will find you out by finding something of yours in the place where you have been, and it will be a disgrace to your brothers and your father.''' (From the writer's informant.)

will be covered with all kinds of fish, and you will be tired of preparing them." So the hawk would think of what Raven was going to do for him, forget everything else, and work all the harder to supply him with food while Raven stayed in the house. Raven would also talk to him, saying, "I remember to have seen you long ago. You were very high-caste. I remember it very well." In that way he made the hawk forget for a time all the bad feelings he had had toward him. But finally the little hawk determined to go away, and he left Raven there alone.<sup>a</sup>

Then Raven went to another industrious bird, called hīnyîklē'xî, a fishing bird living along the river. He called him "brother-in-law," and was invited to have something to eat, but next morning the bird left him for he knew that he was a lazy fellow.

After that Raven came to the goose people, and married a woman among them. By and by they said to him, "We are going to leave for other countries. I don't think you can stand the journey." "Oh! yes," said Raven, "I think I can stand the journey. If you can, I can." So they set out, and, when Raven became tired, his wife flew along under him to hold him up. Finally they came to camp and began going out on the beaches to dig roots. Raven helped them, but he did not like the goose life nor the food they ate, so he commenced to get very lean. One day he killed a goose and began cooking it apart by himself, but they discovered him and said, "He is a man-eater." So they left him."

Raven went to another place, and they said to him, "There will soon be a great feast here," and they asked him to make a totem pole. He finished it, and, when they put it up, they had a big dance. The people who gave this were of the Wolf clan, so he danced with one of the two Raven parties. Afterward he made a long speech to the host. Then they danced again, and Raven held a spear in his hands. This meant that he was going to invite to a feast next, and was done that they might give him more than the others. So nowadays some are in earnest in doing this while others go through the performance and leave without keeping it in mind. Raven was the person who first had those dances and speeches.

a''This is the way nowadays with persons who have no respect for themselves. They go from house to house to be fed by others, and such persons are greedy, great eaters, and lazy. The people tell their children that those who lead this kind of life are not respected. A person who tells the truth is always known because he keeps his word. When Katishan was a boy, they used to say to him when they could not make him do anything, 'You are so lazy that you will be left in some village alone.' [It is said that Raven comes along and helps one abandoned in a village.] This is why the Tlingit tried hard to earn their living and make things comfortable for themselves." (From the writer's informant.)

b''So it is always said, 'A lazy man will be known wherever he goes.' Such a person will go from place to place living on others and perhaps bringing in a few pails of water or some wood for his food, but however high-caste he is, he will be looked down upon. Therefore the little ones were taught to stay in their native place and make their living there, instead of wandering from town to town. To this day the high-caste Indians do so and visit in other towns only for a short time. Then people say 'Look at so-and-so. He stays in his own village.' " (From the writer's informant.)

o"Nowadays it is said that although a wicked man may appear very nice he will soon be found out. Some little act will betray him." (From the writer's informant.)

While they were engaged in the last dance the opposite company of Ravens danced very hard and showed fight by crossing the line which is always set between. For this reason Raven would not go to the next feast, to be confronted by these people. They sent after him many times, and when they finally became tired of sending. began the feast without him. Then he told his slave to go over and see if they were already eating, and on his return he said, "They are having a grand time. They are eating a great quantity of food." "Take me there," said Raven to his slaves. So they went along with him, one on each side. When he came there he saw that they were having a grand time distributing boxes of food to all the head chiefs, and he said to a slave, "Ask them where this chief shall sit." He did so, but they went on with their feast without paying the slightest attention to him. Then Raven made his slave ask again. "Where shall this chief sit? Where shall this chief sit?" and again they paid no attention, although he shouted so that all in the house could hear him. When the people left he was still standing around, so his slaves said to him, "Why were you so particular? We could have had a great deal to eat." After all were gone Raven ate the leavings.

So nowadays, when a person wants more than anyone else and makes people send for him again and again, they go on with the feast, lest those of the opposite party think that the host cares more for this one person than for all the rest of them and leave his house. That is why they paid no attention to Raven when he did come. One reason why Raven stayed away was that he thought he would make them come after him several times because he had promised to give a feast in return. Nowadays a person who is going to give a feast acts in the same way, and people know by it what he intends.

The following winter Raven gave his feast. This was at Alsek river, and you can still see his house there with the boxes inside [a rock hollowed out like a cave with other rocks inside of it]. When they came in sight of that the Indians would pray to it.

As soon as his guests came, Raven went down to meet them with his bow and arrows. That is why people now go down with their guns. He had so much respect for his guests that he had all of his relations act as servants, washing their hands and waiting on them while they ate. Therefore the natives now act just so when they invite people from other towns. Raven taught that all who came after should do just as he had done. He also prepared chewing tobacco for his guests.

Then he began building his house, and, when the frame, consisting of four uprights and two cross-pieces, was completed, he and his friends danced the first dance. In this dance people sing funeral songs. Eight songs, or one song with eight verses, are used at this

time, following a certain regular sequence and, if one that does not know the song starts it and begins with the wrong verse, it is looked on as a disgrace to his people. The guests danced, wearing their masks, hats, emblem coats, and other festal paraphernalia. After that he distributed his property, the people that had invited him before and the leading chiefs obtaining most of it.<sup>a</sup>

After this Raven returned to the place where he was born and found the box which had held the sun, moon, and stars, and which now contained his mother, still hanging up in the house of Nas-ca'kîyel. Then he went out with his bow and arrows and shot a whale (yā'î). It floated ashore on the beach and every day he saw all kinds of sea birds sitting upon it, but he did not like the looks of any of them. Finally, however, he shot a bird called cax and a large bird which was very pretty and had a bill that looked like copper. Then he went to Nās-ca'kî-vēl's house, took down the box which contained his mother, and liberated the flickers (kūn) which she always kept under her arms. When Nas-ca'kî-yel saw that, he said, "All those pretty things of mine are gone." They knew that Raven had done this, so they called him into the house, and Nāsca'kî-yēl asked him if it was indeed he. He said, "Yes." Then Nās-ca'kî-yēl said, "Go and fell that tree standing over there," for he wanted the tree to kill him. But when the tree fell upon Raven it could not kill him because he was made of rock. Finding him still alive, Nās-ca'kî-yēł called him in the following day and said, "Go and clean out that canoe." It was a canoe just being made, and when Raven got into it to clean it out it closed upon him. Then he simply extended his elbows and broke the canoe after which he smashed it up for firewood. All this Nas-ca'kî-vēl saw, and again sent for him. He came in, and they put into the fire a large copper kettle made like a box, filled it with water, and put heated stones into it. Then they told him to get in, and they covered it over in

a "So nowadays a man that has invited people previously is paid first, receiving more than he had given. If he thinks that he has received more than he ought he gives another feast. When we now look back at this it looks as though these people were fighting to see which family was highest.

<sup>&</sup>quot;When a man has invited people and they are coming in toward the town he himself remains in the house. Then some of his relations come and pound on the door and say to him, 'Why are you staying in the house? You are acting like a coward. Your enemies are coming.' So the host comes out with his bow and arrows, or nowadays his gun, and says, 'Where are those enemies you were telling me about?' 'There they are out there in that canoe.' 'Those are not my enemies. That is a crowd of women in that canoe. Years ago my relations invited them.' He calls them women when his people had invited them twice without a return invitation. The people that are going to give the feast study what they are to say before they have it, and they never let outsiders know what it is. As the visitors' canoe approached shore they might say, 'What is that I see out there?' Then one would look and reply, 'That is a Gonaq Adē't.' They call it a Gonaq Adē't because they know that that party will give a feast and invite them in return. \* They also have songs ready to sing at the very beginning of the feast, and, when such a song is started it shows that the feast will be a blg one." (From the writer's informant.)

b" Some people call this woman Nas-ca'ki-yel's wife and some his daughter, but I have always heard that she was his daughter." (From the writer's informant.)

order to kill him. Raven, however, again changed himself into a rock, and, when they thought he was cooked to pieces and looked inside, they saw that he was still there. Then they told him to come out.

Now Nās-ca'kî-yēł was very angry and said, "Let rain pour down all over the world, and let people die of starvation." Then it became so wet and stormy that people could not get food and began to starve. Their canoes were also broken up, their houses fell in on them, and they suffered terribly. Now Nas-ca'kî-vēl asked for his jointed dance hat and when he put it on, water began pouring out of the very top of it. It is from Nas-ca'kî-yel that the Indians obtained this kind of hat. When the water rose so as to cover the house floor, Raven and his mother got upon the lowest retaining timber. This house we are talking of, although it looked like a house to them, was really part of the world. It had eight rows of retaining timbers, and, as the water came up, Raven and his mother climbed to a higher one. At the same time the people of the world were climbing up into the hills. When the waters reached the fourth retaining timber they were half way up the mountains. When the house was nearly full of water, Raven had his mother get into the skin of the cax he had killed, while he got into the skin of the white bird with copper-colored bill, and to this very day Tlingit do not eat the cax because it was Raven's mother. The cax, which is a great diver, now stayed on the surface of the water, but Raven himself flew to the very highest cloud in the sky and hung there by his  $bill_a$ 

After Raven had hung to this cloud for days and days, nobody knows how long, he pulled his bill out and prayed to fall upon a piece of kelp, for he thought that the water had gone down. He did so, and, flying off, found the waters just half way down the mountains.

Then he traveled along again and came to a shark which had a long stick it had been swimming around with. He took this, stuck it straight down into the sea and used it as a ladder on which to descend under the ocean. Arrived at the bottom, he gathered up some sea urchins and started along with them.

By and by Raven came to a place where an old woman lived and said to her, "How cold I am after eating those sea urchins." As she paid no attention to him, he repeated it over and over for a long time.

a A short version of this part of the story was related to me by my Sitka interpreter who had obtained it from his wife. According to this, a man had a wife of whom he was very jealous. People wanted to get to her and marry her, but he guarded her very closely. Finally a man reached her and pulled aside her arms, letting free all of the land animals and sea creatures she had been keeping there. That was why her husband was so jealous about her. Afterward the husband raised a flood, but one man heard of it and made a big canoe to which others attached theirs, and all went up together. He also took two animals of each species into his canoe. This last is evidently a Christian addition. By some the jealous husband is said to have been Loon.

At last she said, "What low tide is this Raven talking about?" He did not answer, and presently she said again, "What low tide are you talking about?" After she had asked him this question many times Raven became very angry and said, "I will stick these sea-urchin shells into your body if you don't keep quiet." At last he did so, and she began singing, "Don't, Raven, the tide will go down if you don't stop." At the same time Raven kept asking Eagle, whom he had set to watch the tide, "How far down is the tide now?" "The tide is down as far as half a man." By and by he asked again, "How far down is the tide?" "The tide is very low," said Eagle. Then the old woman would start her song again. "Let it get dry all around the world," said Raven to Eagle. By and by Eagle said, "The tide is very, very low now. You can see hardly any water." "Let it get still drier," said Raven. Finally everything became dry, and this was the lowest tide that there ever was. All kinds of salmon, whales, seals, and other sea creatures lay round on the sand flats where the people that were saved could get them. They had enough from that ebb tide to supply them for a long, long time. When the tide began to rise again all the people watched it, fearing that there would be another flood, and they carried their food a long distance back, praying for it to stop.

Quite a while before this flood took place the shamans had predicted it, and those who worked from that time on collecting food were saved while the others were destroyed.

After the flood Raven stayed in a town of considerable size. A man there, named Caq!uk!u, collected all kinds of big sea animals, as whales and seals, at the time of this great ebb and made a great quantity of grease out of them, while Raven collected only small fishes like cod and red cod and obtained but a few stomachs full of oil. He would cat this up as fast as he made it, but his companion worked hard so as to have a large quantity on hand.

By and by Raven said to Caq!uk!u, "My uncle, I had a bad dream last night. I dreamt that there was war here and that we were all killed. You must be on the watch." After that Raven said to the birds, "You must make a lot of noise now." They did so and Caq!uk!u, thinking warriors were coming to kill him, ran out of the house. At once Raven began carrying off the boxes of grease to a certain place in the woods. Just as he was at work on the last of these the people of the house came back, pushed him into it, and tied him up, but he made a hole with his bill and escaped. Then he went to the place where he had hidden the boxes and stayed there for a year, until he had eaten everything up.

Next Raven returned to Nass river and found that the people there had not changed their ways. They were dancing and feasting and invited him to join them.

By and by he came to where war was going on between two different parties, and he said to them, "Make carved fighting hats, greaves, and war coats to protect your bodies." The name of one village was Gît!î'kc and the warring families were the Gînaxdâ'yîkc (or Gîtgîealk) and the Gîtandu'. The people of Gît!i'ke were getting the worst of it. There were only three of them left—the chief, his sister, and his sister's daughter. So the chief began sending to all the villages for an aged man who was very smart and knew the old stories. Whenever he brought in an old man, however, the latter would talk of what good food he had been eating and what a high family he belonged to, or tell what a wild life he had led when he was young, all which had no interest for the chief. He thought if he could find an old man that would tell him just the old story he wanted, he would pay him well. Finally he found that among his enemies was Old-man-whoforesees-all-troubles-in-the-world, the one spoken of at the beginning of this story, and he sent for him without letting the rest of his enemies know about it.

After a while he heard this old man coming along, talking very loud, like a brave person, and he thought, "This is the old man from whom I am going to hear the story." Then the old man said, "Chief, if you are pleased with the story I am about to tell you, let me know how long I shall stay in your house, and, if you are not pleased, let me go at once." After that he told him all about the brave people that had lived in times gone by, and said, "Always speak very highly of your enemies. If you speak slightingly of them they will get above you. If you speak to them in a nice manner, you will be able to stand alone. If you speak to your enemies kindly, they will say, 'Let us give ourselves up to him.'" Then the chief said to the old man, "You shall stay with me a long time," so he stayed there, and next day they waited on him, giving him water to wash his hands and face and food to eat.

After that the old man sent for a piece of Alaska maple (q!āq!ē') and made a war hat out of it carved to resemble a wolf. Then he said, "Isn't there a wolf skin around here somewhere?" So they killed a wolf, skinned it entire along with the claws and teeth and put the dancing hat inside to fill out the head. He sent for another piece of hard wood from a tree called saks and made an arrow out of it. He burned black lines around the shaft of this arrow like those on gambling sticks. Then he said to the chief, "Your sister shall sing the war song for you, and your sister's daughter shall beat the drum. Put the wolf on while the song is being sung and go down toward that beach just below the house. Jump over that rock four times." There was a big rock upon the beach just below the house. As he gave these directions the old man made his voice sound as though he were making war. He began to excite the chief. "My nephews," he con-

tinued, "are out in the canoe farthest from the beach. Be careful how you use your arrow. Do not point it toward that canoe." When the old man was about to leave him he handed him the arrow and a bow and said, "Put on your war clothes about midnight. Then stand in front of your house and pretend that you are going to shoot. Stand with the arrow pointed toward your enemies' village and say to the arrow just before you let it go, 'I am shooting you to kill the chief of my enemies.' Then let the arrow go." After that the old man left, saying that that was all he intended to tell him.

The chief did everything just as he had been directed. At midnight he put on his war clothes and said to his sister, "You start the the war song, and let my niece go to the drum." Then he took the position the old man had told him and shot the arrow saying, "Lodge in the heart of my enemies' chief." He shot, and in the morning the people of that village saw that the chief was dead. They thought that he had died of heart disease, but, when they examined his body, they found the small arrow sticking into his heart. Then they cut this out and began asking one another, "Where has this arrow come from? What tribe does it belong to?" So they sent for the old man who had made it and, as he was examining it, he said, "I wonder to what place this belongs." Just then it flew out of his hand, and he said, "Run out and see what it is going to say." So all ran outside, and the arrow flew up and down in the sky saying "Nu'xgayu." This is the Tsimshian name of an animal, but the old man made it indicate by that the village from which it came. After that it went across to their enemies' town. Now, when they saw this, they got into their canoes and went over to fight. As soon as the canoes had gotten around his house the chief said, "I am not afraid to be killed by you, because I know that you are all from a high family." Then he again had his sister sing the war song and his niece beat the drum, and he acted as the old man had directed him. Just before he came out he threw out ashes which looked like smoke and concealed his movements. In the midst of this he came out and shot the arrow toward their canoes, which passed through every man in four of them. Then it came back to him, and he shot it through four more Those who were left went home. canoe loads.

The day after this still more came to fight him with like result, but the next time he made a mistake, shot toward the canoe which contained the old man's relations, and killed all of them. Then the arrow flew back to the old man, who sent it at the chief for whom he had made it, and killed him.

Now the chief's sister put on her brother's war clothes, while her daughter sang the song and drummed. With the arrow which had traveled back to her, she began killing off her enemies just as her brother had done. So the people made fun of the old man, saying,

"I thought you said you had killed that chief." "I did kill him." "Well! if you killed the chief, who is it that is killing our friends?" Still he kept assuring them that he had killed the chief. Then they started over once more. But, this time, when the woman had shot and was running back into the house, they saw by the apron she wore that it was a woman, and the canoes started shoreward, the people exclaiming, "It is a woman. It is a woman." When all had landed, and she saw that they were coming after her, she and her daughter escaped out of the rear of the house and ran up into the woods. From the top of the mountain there she glanced back and said to her daughter, "Look at your uncle's house. It is burning." They could see the fire and smoke coming from it. Then they felt very sad and composed songs which the Indians sing to this very day. They cried so hard that they fell asleep. After that they went farther into the forest crying, and the mother said as she wept, "I wonder whom I can get to marry my daughter so that he can help me."

By and by Mink came to the woman and said, "What is the matter with me? Will not I do for your daughter?" "What do you do for a living?" she asked him. "I have a smell that kills everything." Then the woman went straight on without paying the least attention to him. Next Marten came along. To this woman they appeared as human beings. And Marten said, "What is the matter with me?" "What can you do for a living?" He said he was a very fast runner and could get anything he wanted, but she rejected him. Then she went on again singing as before, "Who will marry my daughter in order to help me?" Next came Mountain-goat. "What is the matter with me?" "What do you do for a living?" "I can kill anything with my horns. I live far up among the bluffs where nothing can harm me." He did not please her, and she went on past. Then Wolf came, saying, "What is the matter with me? Can not I get your daughter?" "What do you do for a living?" "I am a fast runner. I can kill anything I want. I have plenty to eat." He did not suit her, and she passed by him, but he was so determined that he met her again with a mountain goat in his mouth. She went right by, however, and came to a lake where she repeated the same words. At that place she met a very fine-looking young man, Frog. "What do you do for a living?" she asked, and he did not tell her what he did but said, "Although I am small very few people like me. Even the big animals are scared of me." After him Grizzly Bear asked, "What is the matter with me?;" "What do you do for a living?" "Don't you see how large I am? I am a very powerful fellow." He showed her his strength and what teeth he had, and said that he was very quick and active, but she refused to have him, and went on. Then she met the Wild Canary (s!ās!). "What do you do for a living?" she said. "I am a fine singer." She went on and met another bird, called Ts!īnîgē'nî, and asked, "What do you do for a living?" "Don't you see that I am a very handsome fellow. All the women want to marry me." Then she went along and met Fox, who said, "What is the matter with me?" "What do you do for a living?" she asked. She noticed that he was dressed very warmly in very beautiful clothing. "I can run and get anything I want," he said. "I have plenty to eat." He did not suit her, and she went right by. After a while there came Lynx (gāk), who replied to her question by saying, "I am a traveler and get all kinds of birds to eat." Next she met Wolverine (Nūsk) which answered, "I am a good hunter and I kill all kinds of animals."

After that she went along sadly, repeating as usual, "Who will marry my daughter so that he can help me?" Then she saw a man who shone all over, standing on top of a mountain. She came very close to him, and he said, "What is the matter with me?" "What do you do for a living?" "I move about as quick as thought. Wherever I want to go, there I am at once. My father is the sun." She said, "Let us see him then." So he spoke to the sun. It was a cloudy day, but, when he spoke to it, the sun appeared and it became very warm. "All right," she said, "you can have my daughter for your wife." After that the man took a limb from a tree and said to his mother-

After that the man took a limb from a tree and said to his mother-in-law, "You shall be this limb." He put her inside and shoved the limb back. Then he said to her, "The world will call you 'Woman-of-the-forest' (Ās-gutu'yîk-cā). You will mock everybody that shouts or whistles. When they hear you they will know what it is." So she became the echo.

After this a spherical cloud came down and rolled up with them. As the cloud was going up, the man said to his wife, "Don't look at it. Keep your face hidden." When he told her to open her eyes again she saw that she was in a beautiful place with flowers all about. It was his house. It was a grassy country and there were all kinds of fruits about the place.

There this woman had eight children, seven boys and a girl. She was very much afraid of everything, and that is why women are so to-day. Then they built for these children a small house with a painted front, put up forty boxes of every kind of fruit and berry, also dried salmon, grease, and other kinds of food, and stored the house with them. They had bracelets and a marten-skin robe made for the girl, and her grandfather said to her, "You are going to be very quarrelsome. While quarreling you will always examine your bracelets." Then their grandfather prepared war clothes for the boys and said, "You are now going down to fight." He also gave them a painted wooden wedge and said, "Keep this with you all the time. When you are fighting and see that your enemies are too strong for you, and you are getting beaten, put this wedge into the

fire. While putting it into the fire, say this: 'Grandfather, our enemies are beating us?'" Then they were all placed, together with their house and its contents, in the spherical cloud and set down on the site of Gît!î'kc. As soon as it landed, the little house grew to be a big house with painted front, and the boxes of berries, salmon, and other provisions were all big painted boxes. Everything had been made small so as to come down without being seen.

Then the children of the sun were all very happy, and made so much noise that their enemies, who were out on the river fishing for eulachon, heard them and said, "Those are the bones of the Gît!î'ke people that are making so much racket." As soon, however, as they found that their enemies' village was repeopled they started off in their canoes to make war upon them. They were so numerous that the children of the sun found they were going to be beaten and put their wedge into the fire. Then the sun came out fiercely, and many of the enemy became so hot that they jumped into the ocean. The ocean was so hot that they died there, while those upon land, becoming too blinded to fight, were also killed."

Therefore nowadays people do the same thing. When they fight and a good man of high easte is killed, his friends do not come to their opponents as though they were angry. They use good words to them, and thereby induce a man of equally high rank on the other side to come out and be killed by them. If they went there talking meanly they would not get him to come out. The woman who was saved remembered how her brother and all of her relations had been killed. Therefore she took good care in selecting a husband for her daughter, because she felt if she did so she would get all of her relatives back. That is why the Indians of good family took such good care of a daughter in old times. They knew that if she married well she would be a help to the family.

When the inhabitants of that town became very numerous the daughter of the chief there used to go out berrying. One day, while she was out after berries, she stepped into the manure of a grizzly bear and said, "That nasty thing is right in the way." Then the grizzly bear came to her in the form of a fine-looking man, and she went off with him but they thought that a grizzly bear had killed her. Now the grizzly-bear people watched her very closely, and, whenever she went out of the den, they covered up her tracks. This girl had dentalium shells around her neck, and the bears were very much surprised to find one of these lying in her tracks every time they covered them over. Early in the morning the male bears went out after salmon, while their wives gathered firewood. They always

selected wet wood for this, but the girl got nothing but dry wood, and her fire continually went out. She could never start a fire with it. One day, however, an old woman called to her and said, "You are with a different sort of people. You are brought away from your own people. I got here because the same thing happened to me. Use wet wood like the rest of the women. Leave that dry wood alone." Then she used wet wood and had good fires.

When this girl had lost almost all the dentalia from her clothing she thought, "What is going to become of me?" But the old woman said to her, "Do you want to save yourself? Do you want to go back to your father and mother? This is not a good place where you are. Now," she said, "go and get a piece of devil's club, a thorn from a wild rose bush, some sand, and a small rock. When you see these bear people coming after you, throw that devil's club back of you first. Next throw the thorn, then the mud, then the sand, then the rock."

So the woman collected these things and started off on the run, and after a while she saw the bears coming behind her. When they had gotten quite close to her she threw back the devil's club and there came to be so many devil's clubs in that spot that the bears could not get through easily. While they were in the midst of these she got a long distance off. The next time they got close she threw back the thorn, and rose bushes covered the country they had to traverse, retarding the bears again and enabling her to obtain another long lead. Next she threw back the mud, and the place became so muddy that they had to wade through it slowly. After that she threw the sand which became a sand bank, and the bears slid back from it in attempting to cross. Finally she threw back the rock, and there was a high cliff which it took the bears a long time to surmount.

Before the bears had overcome this obstacle the girl came out on a beach and saw a man in front of her in a canoe fishing for halibut. She said to him, "Come ashore and save me," but he paid no attention to her. After she had entreated him for some time he said, "Will you be my wife if I come to save you?" "Let me get into your canoe, and let us go out. Then I will talk to you about that." Finally, when she saw that the bears were very close to her, she said, "Have pity on me. Come and save me." "Will you be my wife, if I come and save you?" "Yes, I will be your wife." Upon that he came in very quickly, took her into his canoe and went out again. He was fishing with a float on the end of his line, and, when he came back to it, he began pulling his line up. Then the bears rushed down to the beach and shouted, "Bring us our wife. That is our wife you have in your canoe. If you don't bring her to us we will kill you." At first he paid no attention, but after a while he said,

"Well! if you think you can kill me, swim out here." Immediately they plunged into the water and when she saw them coming the girl was frightened, but the man said, "Don't be frightened. My father was of the Ginaxcamgê'tk." When the bears got close to the canoe, he put his club into the sea and it killed them all. Then they went to his home.

The morning after this, when her husband was about to go out fishing, he said to the woman, "I liave a wife living on the other side of the house. She is a very bad woman. Don't look at her while she is eating." After her husband got home from fishing he waited on his new wife and was very kind to her, and, when they were through eating, they went up to the top of the house to sit. Then she said to him, "I am your wife now. Anything you know or whatever you have seen you must tell me all about." So her husband said, "This wife of mine is a very large clam. She is very high. Nobody looks at her. You see that there is always water in the place where she is sitting. Anyone that looks at her falls into this water and drifts away." This man lived under ground, but the girl thought she was in a house because she was as if out of her head. Her husband caught halibut all of the time to give to his monster wife, and the girl thought to herself, "How does that thing he feeds so much eat?" One time, therefore, as soon as the clam began eating, she lay down, made a hole in her blanket and looked through it at the big clam eating. She saw that it was a real clam. When the clam saw that she was looking, it shot out so much water that the house was filled, and the girl was carried underneath the clam by the current. When her husband got home, however, and found the girl gone, he said to the clam, "Where is that girl?" He became very angry with the clam and killed it by breaking its shell. Then he found the girl's dead body in the water under the clam, took it out, put eagle feathers upon it, and restored it to life. Therefore nowadays eagle feathers are used a great deal at dances and in making peace.b

By and by the man said to his wife, "Do you know that your father lives a short distance from here? Do you want to go to see your father and mother?" She was very glad to hear that, and

a Said to be the Tsimshian word for GonaqAde't.

b" Eagle feathers are often referred to nowadays in speeches. Thus people will say to one who is mourning, 'You have been cold. Therefore I bring you these feathers that have been handed down from generation to generation.' When peace is about to be made one man is selected called the 'deer' (Qōwakā'n) because the deer is a very gentle animal. When a man is so taken he is supposed to be like the deer, and he has to be very careful what he says. Eagle feathers are put upon his head because they are highly valued. The songs he starts while dancing are those sung when the people were preserved from some danger, or at the time of the flood. He does not sing anything composed in time of war. They also called the 'deer' the 'sun deer' (gagā'n qōwakā'n), because the sun is very pleasant to see and never does anybody any harm. Some called him 'fort deer 'Nu qōwakā'n), because people are safe in a fort. For this office a high-caste person was always selected." (From the writer's informant.) Cf. Twenty-sixth Annual Report of the Bureau of American Ethnology, p. 451.

they started off at once, after loading the canoe down with food, for this being was rich and had all kinds of things. His canoe was a brown bear, which traveled of itself but had to be fed at short intervals.<sup>a</sup> Just before they reached her father's town, they landed, carried their canoe up and placed all of the food under a large tree where it would keep dry. Then the man stayed with it and told his wife to go over to her father's house. Her father and mother had thought that she was dead, so they were very happy to see her. She said to her father, "There is a lot of food close by here. I have brought it to you." At that time she looked very filthy to them and her clothing ragged, though to herself she appeared beautiful. So her father was very much ashamed of her and gave her some good clothing. She also smelt to them very strongly of the beach. Then they went over and brought in all the food, but her husband did not come with them.<sup>b</sup>

At that time the woman was pregnant, and presently she gave birth to a boy. He was very smart like his father, though they did not let him know who his father was. When he grew larger, he was a fine shot with bow and arrows, bringing in all sorts of small animals, and the other boys were jealous of him.

One time, when he was out in a canoe with other boys, hunting, he began shooting at a cormorant (yūq), which kept going farther and farther out. All of a sudden it became foggy and they could not see their way, so they fastened their canoe to the end of a drifting log which was sticking out of the water, and waited. Then some one came to them and said to the boy, "I am after you. Your father wants you." At once the boy lost consciousness, and, when he came to, found himself in a very fine house on the mainland. The chief living there said, "Do you know that you are my son?" He also gave him a name, Camgigê'tk, and he thought a great deal of him, but the boy thought it strange that he never inquired for his mother. Then he gave his son abalone shells and sharks' teeth (caxda'q) as presents. He also made him a club and said to him, "Whenever you are among wild animals and find there are too many, put this club down and it will fight for you. When you see seals or sea lions sitting on the rocks, put it down and it will kill

a"I have always wondered what this part of the story means but was never told. It must have been because we were going to have steamboats. Every now and then at the present time something happens like things in the stories. The poor people always had luck in those days, and I have always wondered what it meant. Years ago, too, we used to hear the old people say, 'There will be no slaves. Those that have been slaves are going to feel themselves above the real high-caste Indians.' And sure enough nowadays the people that have come from slaves are very proud, while the race of nobies is dying out. They are protected by law and know that nothing harmful can be said to them. We heard of this years ago." (From the writer's informant.)

b"Some people are like this nowadays. They are very poor but are so used to the life that they can not see it, and so used to fifth that they do not notice it." (From the writer's informant.)

them." After this it seemed to the boy as if a door were opened for him, and he saw the canoe he had left with the boys in it. They said, "What happened to you? Where have you been?" But he only answered, "Did not you see me sitting on the very top of this log?" He was so smart that they believed him. Then they reached home safe and the grandparents were very glad to see him, but only his mother knew what had happened. Like his father, the boy was a great hunter and fisherman. Before he came the people of that town had been starving, but now, especially since he had obtained the club, they had plenty to eat. His grandfather's house was always full of halibut, seal, and sea-lion meat.

Then his grandmother said to him, "Grandson, do not go over in that direction. None of the village people go there, and those who have done so never returned." This, however, only made the boy anxious to see what was the trouble, so he went there and, killing some seals and halibut, put them into the water to entice the creature up. Finally he saw a gigantic crab (s!a-u) coming up in the sea, so he put his club into the ocean, and it broke the crab's shell and killed it. Then he and his slave pulled the big crab ashore, and he took a load of its flesh home to his grandparents. His grandparents had worried all the time he was away, but his mother knew that her son had power over all kinds of fish, because his father is chief of the sea. Everything in the sea is under him.

Another time his grandmother said to him, "There is a place over in this direction where lives a big mussel (yīs!). No canoe can pass it without being chewed up." So he went to the mussel and killed that. He took all of its shell home, and the people throughout the village bought it of him for spears, arrow points, and knives.

At the same time he also brought home a load of cockles, clams, and other shellfish. In the Tsimshian country the shellfish are fine, and the mussels are not poisonous as they are here. In April the Alaskans do not dare to eat shellfish, especially mussels, claiming that they are poisonous. It is because he killed the big mussel that they are all poisonous here. Since his time, too, boys and girls have done whatever their fathers used to do.

After that the boy married and had a son who was very unlike him. His name was Man-that-eats-the-leavings (Q!a-ī'tê-cūka-qā), and, when he grew up, he was worthless. He seemed to see the shellfish, however, and understood the shellfish language.

-

At the same time the daughter of the chief in a certain village not far away went out of doors and slipped on slime which had dropped from a devilfish hung up in front. She said, "Oh! the dirty thing." About the middle of the following night a fine-looking young man

came to her, and she disappeared with him; and the people wondered where she had gone. This young man was the devilfish, whom she married, and she had several children by him. Meanwhile, as she was their only child, her parents were mourning for her continually. After some time had passed, her parents saw two small devilfishes on the steps of the chief's house early in the morning, and the people said to the chief, "What devilfishes are these here on the steps?" He said, "Throw them down on the beach." They did so, but the little devilfishes came right back. They threw them down again, but the chief said, "If they come up the third time, leave them alone. Let them do what they will, but watch them closely." Then they came right into the chief's house, and one climbed into the chief's lap while the other got into that of his wife. He said, "My daughter must have gone to live among the devilfishes." To see what they would do, he said, "My grandchildren, is this you?" Upon which they put their tentacles around his neck and began moving about. Then he gave them some food on long platters, and they acted as though they were eating from these. Afterward he said, "Take those platters and follow them along to see where they go." They did so and saw them disappear under a large rock just in front of the town. So the people came back and said to the chief, "They went under that large rock down there. Your daughter must be under there also." When the people got up next morning they saw on the steps the platters they had taken down, wiped very clean.

Now the chief felt very badly, for he knew what had happened to his daughter, so he said to the people in his house, "Go down and invite my daughter, and say, 'Your father wants you to come to dinner.'" So they went down and said, "Your father has sent us to invite you, your children, and your husband to come to dinner at his house." "We are coming," said the woman from under the beach, "so go back. We will be there soon." She knew the voices of all of her husband's servants. When these came back to the chief, he said, "Did you ask her? Did you go there?" "Yes, we were there." "What did you say to her?" "We told her just what you wanted us to say to her. She said that her husband, her children, and herself would be here soon."

So the people watched for her, and by and by she came up along with her devilfish husband and with the two little devilfishes right behind her. Her marten-skin robe was rotten, all sorts of sea weeds were in her hair, and she looked badly, although she had formerly been very pretty. Her father and mother were very sorry. Then they set out food for them and afterward took the trays down to the place where the little ones had gone under the rock.

Now the chief invited all of the people into his house, gave them tobacco to chew, and told them how badly he felt. After they had

talked the matter over for a while they said to him, "You might as well have all the devilfishes killed. When those small ones are grown up you do not know what they will do to your house." So they invited the devilfishes again, killed the big one, threw the little ones down on the beach, and kept the girl. By and by, however, the girl said to her father, "There is going to be a terrible war. All of the devilfish are assembling. Don't allow any of the people of your town to sleep at night. Let them watch." So, when night came on, they could see large and small devilfishes coming in through every little crack until the house got quite full of them, and some people were suffocated by having the devilfishes cover their mouths. The devilfish that they had killed was chief among them.

Just then Man-that-eats-the-leavings came to that town, and they told him what a hard time they were having every night with the devilfish, so he stayed with them until evening. When they came in this time he seemed to have control over them, and they ceased bothering the people. The large devilfishes are called dagasa'. The small ones, which they threw down on the beach, are those that the Alaskan Indians see, but these do not injure anyone now because their grandfather was a human being.

Afterward they bathed the girl to take all the devilfish off of her, and put fine clothing on her. Her face was very pretty, so that all the neighboring chiefs wanted to marry her. In olden times a good looking woman was considered high-caste, for they knew she would marry well, and a good looking woman among the high-caste people was considered very high.

Among those who wanted to marry this girl was Man-that-eats-the-leavings. He lived in a brush house at a place where garbage was thrown out. He was a fine shot, however, and one day he went to a lake behind the town where a loon was swimming about and shot it. When the arrow struck it gave forth a sound like a bell and swam right up to the shore. Then he went down to it and found, instead of a loon, a canoe made out of copper. This was, in fact, the grizzly-bear canoe that had belonged to his grandfather. It had long since been forgotten. Next he found a piece of a painted house front (q!ēn) and shook it, upon which a grand house stood there with four horizontal house timbers, and he lined the inside of this house with copper-plates made out of the copper canoe. Then he married the chief's daughter without her father's consent and took her to his house.

By and by the chief's daughter was missed, and they hunted for her through all of the houses, but they did not look into the old brush house, for they thought she would never go there. They thought

that she might have gone back to the rocks again, and they dug up all of the large rocks to look underneath them. Finally, however, they saw her going into the brush house and told her parents, and her parents felt very badly on her account. All got out spears to kill her husband, but her mother said, "I am going there to see her first." So she went down in great anger, but found the door already open for her, and, when she went in, each side of the house shone so brightly that she could hardly keep her eyes open. She saw that the house was full of very nice things, so she said to her daughter, "Daughter, are you married?" "Yes, mother, I am married." Her mother had intended to take her home and have her husband killed, but instead she put the fire out and sat in the ashes, as was customary in the case of a woman whose daughter married without her consent. It meant that she wanted property. And before she had sat there very long, her new son-in-law handed out eight bright copper plates and sent her home, and she told her husband all that she had seen. Then they laid their spears aside, and the following morning they saw a beautifully painted house standing where the brush house had been. Now the chief invited his daughter and her husband to a feast. The servants that were sent with the invitation were finely dressed. When they got there, they said to the girl, "We are sent after you by your father; he wants you to come to a feast, you and your husband." They did so, and, after food had been served, he gave his son-in-law eight slaves, one for every copper plate his wife had received. And to this day, when a girl runs off with some one, and her people find he is all right, they do all they can for her.a

By and by this chief's daughter had a little boy who proved to be very smart and became a great hunter. He used to hunt far up on the mountains for mountain goats and other animals. One time he fell from the top of a mountain and lost consciousness, and, when he came to, he saw many men standing about him in a circle. They had cedar-bark rings around their heads and necks. Then they said to him, "What kind of spirit do you want, the Raven Spirit or the Wolf Spirit?" and he said "The Wolf Spirit." So they held white rocks over his head, and he became unconscious. That is how he got the spirit. Then he ran around screaming, naked except for an apron, while all of the Cliff Spirits and all of the Forest Spirits sang and pounded on sticks for him. They also tied up his hair like a wolf's ears. This is the origin of the Łuqana', or secret societies, and the one this man first started is said to have been the Dog-eaters' society. He sang a song, too, only employed nowadays by a high-caste person

a For another version of this part, see story 89.

when he is inititated. It is called Cīnā'xkk!, and goes this way, "I am above the world. I walk in high places. There is nobody else after me. I am alone." Those who became luqana's after this were not like him, because he said, "I am alone. There is nobody after me." They only imitate him.

There are many kinds of luqana's. Some are dog-eaters and some pretend to eat the arms of people. It is previously arranged between the luqana' and his father what he is to do and whom he is to injure, and, after the spirit has come out, the father has to pay a great deal of money for damages. The luqana's are always found at feasts, and high-caste people stand around them. The people who learned from this boy first are those in the direction of Victoria, and there they think that a person who has performed many times is very high. It is only very lately that we Alaskans have had luqana's. Łuqana' is a Tsimshian word meaning yēk.<sup>a</sup> When they perform up here, the southern Tlingit dance Tsimshian dances and the northern Tlingit Athapascan dances.

After this youth had come back to his people from the woods and had shown them all about the luqana', he went to the Queen Charlotte islands and came to the greatest chief there. Then the people at that place said to him, "It is terrible the way things have been going on. We have wizards (nuks!ā'tî), who kill men in a sly way. There is one very high-caste person here who has taught himself to be a wizard. And they told him this man's story.

He and his friend were very dissolute young men who wanted very much to be wizards, and the former begged his slave to tell him what to do. "If you want to become one very much," said he, "go down there and sleep among the driftwood left by the tide. you will see what it is." They did this, and a very nice looking woman came to them and taught them witchcraft. This was the mouse (k!utslī'n). They thought that it was a fine thing. After a while the woman again appeared to them in a dream and said, "Would you like to be among the geese and brants?" They answered "Yes," one saying, "I will be a goose;" the other, "I will be a brant." At once they flew off in those forms. / They thought that it was a fine thing to be wizards, and would spend all their nights going about that way, never cominggotten morning. For that reason the town people began to suspect took it, rething was wrong with them. Nowadays a person among fuse timives who sleeps much is said to be of no account, for it wande ough sleep that witchcraft started. They also say that a wiza vitlas no respect for anything and never speaks to his neighbors.

a Actually it is from the Kwakiuti word Lū'koala. Katishan calls it Tsimshian because the Tlingit received their secret societies through them.

Finally a certain man began to drink salt water and fast in order to discover the wizards. He also made a medicine. Then he dreamt about them, and went to them, telling them everything he knew. The two young men replied, "Don't tell about us. If you keep it to yourself we will pay you ten slaves. We will let you win ten slaves from us in gambling." And they did so.

This is the story that the huqana' man told to his friends when he came home, and wherever he told it there began to be wizards. Therefore witchcraft came to Alaska through the sons of Ayā'yî a and through the Haida. They also learned from the Haida that witchcraft may be imparted by means of berries. When women are gathering these, they do not pick up the ones that are dropped accidentally, no matter how many they may be, because that is what witches do.

The shamans say it is this way: A man claims that he sees a large creek. It is witchcraft. A smaller creek flows into this. It is the lying creek. Another creek comes into it. It is the stealing creek. Still another creek comes into it. It is the profligates' creek. All these are in witchcraft.

One time Raven came to a place called Cold-town and said to the boys there, "Let us go shooting with bow and arrows." He took down his own canoe and they started out, but presently the canoe upset and the boys were all drowned. Then he said to them, "You will stay here." They are the īkaṣā'xe, sea birds whose voices can be heard at a long distance.

Next Raven went to Tān-lutū' (the southern end of Prince of Wales island) and saw a man there named QonAlgī'c.<sup>b</sup> Raven said to him, "What are you doing here?" "I am a great gambler," he said. "I love to gamble." Said Raven, "You are a gambler but you can not win a thing. If you eat forty devil's clubs and fast many days you will become a great gambler. You will win everything you wish. But why do you want to learn gambling?" The man said, "I have been gambling steadily and I can not win anything. A person won from me my wife's clothing and all of my food and property. Since I have so disgraced myself, I have left my town and have come here to die." Said Raven, "Gambling is not very good. There will always be hard feelings between gamblers, yet I will show you how. One of the sticks has a red mark around it. It will be named nāq (devilfish). You will see the smoke of nāq. When you get the devilfish, you are lucky. As long as it keeps away

from you, you are unlucky." Then he said to the man, "Make a house for yourself out of devil's clubs first and stay inside while you are fasting. After you have fasted four days, Greatest Gambler (Alqā'-s!ā'tî) will appear to you."

When the man had fasted for three days, living on nothing but devil's clubs, he started to look for more. Then he found a devil's club, as big around as a large tree, covered with scars, and he took the bark off in eight different spots. Then he went to sleep and dreamed that a man came to him. He said, "Do you know that I am Greatest Gambler? You took the bark off from me in eight spots. It was I standing there." Then Greatest Gambler said to him, "When you leave this place, look around down on the beach and you will find something. When you reach your own village do the same thing again, and you will find something else."

Next morning a real person came to him and said, "I want to see your gambling sticks." So he showed them to him, and he gave them their names. He gave all of them their names at that time. Each stick had a certain mark. One was named devilfish and the others were called after other kinds of animals and fish. They are the same to-day among both Tsimshian and Tlingit.<sup>a</sup> The two principal sticks besides the devilfish are tuq (a small bright fish found in the sand along shore) and āncā'djî (a small gregarious bird which seems to feed on the tops of trees).

After Greatest Gambler had showed him how to gamble he prepared to return to his people. When he was getting ready he looked about upon the beach and found a sea otter lying there. When he reached the first place where he had camped on coming away he camped there again and on looking around as directed found a fur seal. He took off the two skins there and dried them. It took him a whole day.

When he at last entered the village everybody made fun of him, saying, "Ayâ'o QonAlgī'c" (said to be Haida words meaning "Come and let us gamble, QonAlgī'c"). He had made a shirt out of the sea otter and a blanket out of the fur seal, so they were anxious to gamble in order to win those things. When they first heard him speak of gambling they made fun of him, thinking to beat him as before, and the same one who had before won all of his goods sat down opposite. He was a fine gambler and therefore very rich. When they started to play, the poor man began to go through all kinds of performances, jumping up, running about, and saying funny things to his opponent, so that the latter became confused and could not do anything. The poor man began winning his goods, and, when he got tobacco, he would treat the crowd about him with it. Finally the poor man said, "That is enough. I am through," but the rich man answered, "Stay and

alt appears from examples that no such uniformity really exists.

let us gamble more," thinking that he would get all of his goods back. The poor man, however, said he was through but would be willing to gamble with him the next day, and he left his opponent sitting there feeling very badly. The same day, however, his opponent went over to him again and again asked him to gamble. "Oh! let us wait until to-morrow," he said, and he spoke kindly to him. Finally they began again. Whatever words the poor man used toward his opponent at this time, people use at this day. By and by he said to the chief, "Let us gamble for food next. I want to feed my people." Then the rich man was angry, sat down, and began gambling with him for food. Again his opponent won everything and said, "That is enough. We have plenty of time to gamble. We will gamble some other day." So they stopped, although the chief would have persevered, and the poor man invited all of his friends in order to give them the food he had won.

Next day the chief again brought over his gambling sticks, and they recommenced. Whenever the poor man saw that his luck was turning, he would jump up, run around the circle of people, who were watching him closely, run to a little creek near by, wash his hands very clean and return to gamble. He did that over and over again while he was gambling. Sometimes he would run off and chew upon a piece of dried salmon. Then he could see the devilfish smoke much better. This time they staked slaves, and he won quite a number, after which he jumped up, saying that he had gambled enough. The chief begged him to continue, but he said, "No, we have gambled long enough. I will gamble every day with you if you desire, but this is enough for to-day."

Next morning they gambled again. A big crowd always followed him to the gambling place because the way he acted was new to them. He would jump up, call certain of his lucky sticks by name and say, "Now you come out." Before he began gambling he mixed his sticks well together and said, "The āsq!ancā'djî sticks will come out." So they came out, flew around and around his head and settled among the other sticks again. He was the only one who could see them.

By this time the chief opposing him had become fairly crazy. He had nothing left but his house, his sisters' children, his wife, and himself. He wanted to stake his sisters' children, but his opponent said that he would not gamble for people. Then the chief caught hold of him and begged him, and his own friends came to him and said, "Why don't you gamble and win those friends of his? You are very foolish not to." "I do not want to gamble unless I can win something," he said. "What good will those people be to me? I can not do anything with them after I win them." "You will have the name of having won them. Remember what he did to you. He did not

have pity on you. When he won your wife's clothes did he give them back?" Then the poor man moved a piece of painted moose hide, called ck!ut!ê', around in front of the chief. It made him very angry, but he dared not say anything. The chief lost his nepbews, his house, and his wife's clothes and offered to stake his wife, but his opponent refused until his cousin said, "Go on and get everything he has. If you do not want them you can give them back." So he won his wife also. Then he put his gambling sticks away, refusing to gamble for the chief himself, because he knew that there is always trouble at the bottom of gambling. But his friends said, "If he is foolish enough to stake himself and his wife, go on and gamble. After a while he will feel it in his face (i. e., be ashamed)." So he played once more and won his opponent also.

Then he said, "Since you have staked everything and I have won, I suppose that this is all. Do you remember how you won everything from me? You were very hard on me. You even won my wife's clothing, and you did not give me anything back. You left me in such a condition that I could not do a thing to help myself and my wife. You know that I have won you. You belong to me. You might be my slave, but I will not be that hard upon you. I have won you and your wife, but I don't want to claim you. Take your wife also. She is yours and I don't want to claim her either."

High-caste people did not become gamblers, because they always remembered this saying. They always told their children that gambling belonged to lower people and was not work for an honest person. On account of what happened at that time a gambler will now get crazy over the game, and think, when he is using the last money in his purse, "I am going to win it back. I may win it back with the last cent I have." So he keeps on and on until he goes through with everything. The whole town knows that he is going crazy over gambling, but he thinks that he is doing the right thing. When a gambler wins a lot of things from anyone nowadays, he remembers Qonalgi'c and gives some of them back. He is not as hard on him as the chief was to the poor man."

It is from Qonalgi'c also that the gambling sticks have different names and that there are different kinds of nāqs and different sorts of cīcts. These cīcts are lucky gambling sticks, but the lucky medicine that a gambler obtains is also called cīct. In order to get it he has to fast, remain away from his wife, and keep what he is doing secret. At that time he wishes for whatever he desires. This medicine also makes a person brave and is used when preparing for some important action. The name cīct is said to have come from a wolf which had something stuck between its teeth. When a certain man got this out, the wolf said, 'I will show you my cīct. I will tell you what it is."

People who cheat have gambling sticks like birds that are able to

fly away, and they keep the names of these sticks to themselves.

It is since the time of this first gambler, too, that people have had the custom of saying to a gambler, "Why don't you give a feast with the food you have won?"

Gamblers claim that when the sticks move in a certain way while they are gambling, it means death in the family. If they keep the rules of their cīct it will tell them what animal they are going to kill when they are out hunting.

After the rich opponent of Qonalgi'c had lost all of his property, his wife left him, and he went away from that town. He made a bow and arrows and wandered about in the forest like a wild animal. Coming down to the beach at a certain place, he found a fine bay and built his house upon it. There he began to collect clams and fish which he dried for himself. He was gone all winter, but in those times the Indians did not care for foolish people, viewing them as though they were dead, so his friends did not look for him.

While he lived in that place the chief heard a drum sounding from some distant place, but he did not take the trouble to see what it was. Finally he discovered that the noise was caused by a grouse and said to it, "I see you now. I have been wondering what it was that I heard so much." Then he said to the grouse, "You are a great dancer, are you not?" "Yes, I dance once in a while when I am lonely." "Come along and let us have a dance. I am pretty lonely myself." So that evening he saw all kinds of birds, which were the grouse's friends, and they had a dance. They danced so much that this man forgot all that he had been grieving about and felt very happy. Therefore people always dance for one who is mourning, to make him forget it. This is where the first dance came from.

Then the chief said to the grouse, "How came you to know about dancing?" "There is a person out on that island who knows a lot about medicine. He knows how to make medicine for dancing and fighting." "You must let me see him," said the man. The bird answered, "If you want to see this great medicine-man you must. fast to-morrow. This is the great person who knows all about medicines." Now, after the chief had fasted, he went to sleep and dreamed that a man came to him, showed him a certain leaf on the marsh and said, "Take that leaf and put it into this sack. Then go down toward the beach. As soon as you get down you will see an eagle lying there. Take off its claws and feathers, and, after you have put the leaf in them, draw the cords so as to pull its talons tight around it. After that go down to where the waves are coming in, and at the place the tide has left, stoop down, pretend to pick up something and put it

into your sack. That will be the wave. Then take a feather from the back of the head of an ayahī'ya (a solitary bird that continually flies about on the beach) and put it with the rest. You will become a great dancer like that bird. Finally take this medicine to a point running far out into the ocean where the wind blows continually. Tie it there to the top of a tree, where it will always be blowing back and forth."

The man did as he had been directed, and the day after began to think of composing a song. On account of the medicine this was not hard for him. He also felt that he could dance, and began dancing the same evening. While doing so he was very light upon his feet. He was as if in a trance, not knowing exactly what he was doing. Then he thought to himself, "I am going to the next town." So he went there and began singing, and it was soon noised about, "A man has come here who is a great singer. He is going to dance to-night." Then all the people went to that house where he was to dance. He danced and taught the women his songs, which were very sad. He sang about the different clans [among the Haida], picking out only good clans. So the young women of those families began to bring him presents, and each thought, "I will give the most." They gave him all kinds of things, robes, fur shirts, blankets, leggings. He was becoming very rich through dancing.

In the same town was the young son of a chief who wanted very much to learn to dance and said to him, "How did you come to learn to dance?" He answered, "I have medicine for dancing." "You must show me how. I will pay you well. I want very much to learn." Then he showed him how to make the medicine. He said, "You have to fast. If you do that you will learn. Fast to-morrow, and the next day I will take you up to the woods." When they went up he said, "After you have learned how to do this, you must think of composing a song, and you will see that you will be able to do so at once. You will be so happy over it that you will feel as though you were making a great fire." In the morning the young man sang and found he could compose songs. Then he went up to the woods and danced all alone by himself. Like the other, he felt light as if he were in a dream. By and by it was reported all over town, "This chief's son can compose fine songs." He danced for them, and, because he was a younger person than the other, he danced far better. At this the youth's boy friends said to him, "What makes you do such a thing? It doesn't look right for you to do it." They tried to make him believe he was above dancing, because they were jealous of him. So he went to the man who had instructed him, and the latter said, "People will do this (i. e., dance) all over the world. You will soon hear of it. You and I will not be the only ones doing it. They say this because they are jealous of

you." The youth had composed so many beautiful songs that all the girls had fallen in love with him. That was why the other youths were jealous of him. The first dancer also said to him, "It is not high-caste people like yourself merely who will compose songs. Everybody will learn these and compose others. Anybody that composes songs like this after having made medicine will have his name become great in the world."

When this youth had told his father all he had learned, his father asked all the people of that town to come to his house and repeated it to them. Then he said, "I do not think it is well for a high-caste person to compose songs and be a dancer. They say that a person's name will become very high and be known everywhere if he composes songs and becomes a dancer, but a chief's son's name is already high, and a chief's name is known everywhere. Why should he compose songs and dance to make it so? It is better that the poorer people should do this and make their names known in the world." If the chief had not said this, people that compose songs and dance would be very scarce among us. It is because the chief said, "Let it be among the poorer people so that their names may be known," that there are so many composers and dancers among us. For no chief composes or dances without giving away a great deal of property. Thus it happens that there are two kinds of dances, a dance for the

Thus it happens that there are two kinds of dances, a dance for the chief and his sons and this common or Haida dance (Dekī'na AL!ē'x'). In the latter, women always accompany it with songs, and, if the composer sings about some good family, members of the latter give him presents. When the chief is going to dance, he has to be very careful not to say anything out of the way. He dances wearing a head dress with weasel skins, a Chilkat blanket, and leggings and carrying a raven rattle. He is the only one whose voice is heard, and he speaks very quietly. Meanwhile, until it is time for them to start singing for him, the people are very quiet and then only high-caste people sing. The Haida dance, however, is always accompanied by noise. It is rather a dance for pleasure, while the chief's dance is more of a ceremony. Although most of the people who witness it are high-caste, anyone is welcome. All watch the chief's actions and listen to his words very closely. If he makes the least mistake, showing that he has not studied his words beforehand very well, they have too much respect for him to say anything to him at that time. Next day, however, after he has found it out, if he does not take his words back, the people that had heard will disgrace him by giving away a great deal of property. The Haida dance was done away with years ago, while the chief's dance has been given up only in very recent times.

After this the man that first taught dancing married in that town and forgot all about the wealth he had lost. This shows that he was

not smart, for a smart man, when he loses a very little of his property, thinks of it and next time tries to do better. One time he and his wife went away in a canoe and upset. His wife was drowned, but he was captured by the land otters who named him Tūts!īdîgū'L, and he has strength like that of a shaman among them. When anyone is drowned by the upsetting of his canoe, they say "Tūts!īdîgū'L has him."

One time four boys went out hunting from Klawak with bow and arrows. They saw some black ducks and shot at them, but the ducks kept swimming out to sea, drawing them on. Far out the canoe upset. They hunted for the boys for days and days, but could not find them. Then some property was given to a shaman named Tuxsta, who sent his spirit after them to the point on the beach from which they had set out. Then the shaman said, "The spirits of the boys seem to have taken the road to the land-otters' dens." Therefore they kept on until they saw the boys upon a point of land, but, as soon as the latter saw them, they ran into the dens of the land otter. Then the town chief said, "Let the whole town gather pitchwood and burn up the land-otter dens." So all of the people went thither in their canoes, made fires at the mouths of the dens and killed the land otters as soon as they came out. All perished but a few, who said, "It is Tūts!īdîgū'L's fault that they have burned up our housesa nd our food." Then Tūts !īdîgū'L jumped into the sea from the other side of the point with the boys all around him, so that they could not be found.

After this the shaman said, "The land otters are going to make war upon the people here," and soon after they did so. The people attacked them in return and they warred for some time. Many people fell down suddenly and were taken sick, while others were injured by having limbs of trees fall upon their heads. The shaman said that these mishaps were really effects of the land-otters' arrows, made of the shells of the spider crab. The people were also suffering from boils and pimples all over their bodies, and he said that these were produced by the poisonous shells. So many were dying that all became frightened. Whenever anyone went out hunting or fishing he would be troubled with boils and itching places and have to return. The shaman's spirits, which the land otters could see, were the only things they feared.

Finally the shaman saw that there were two white land otters, and he said, "If you can get hold of those you will be all right." Then a canoe with four men started off, and the shaman sang with them telling them that his spirits were going along also to look after them. He said, "You will be lucky. You will get them. As soon as you get them put feathers on their heads." So they went away and camped

for the night. They were unable to sleep, however, on account of the strange noises about their camp as if people were talking in very low tones. Still they could not see anything. They would say to one another, "Do you hear that?" "Yes," they answered. It was caused by the two high-caste white land otters who were talking to Tuxstā"s spirits.

Next morning the men arose very early, and the eldest said to the one next in years, "Get up. I have had a queer dream. I dreamt that we had a deer and that we were taking our deer to the landotter den." Then one of them answered, "You have had a lucky dream. Let us start right away." So they took the canoe down and set out. Going along on the opposite side of the point on which they had camped, they saw the two white otters swimming in the water. The shaman's spirits had been holding them. Then the men said to them, "Stay there. We have had you for a long time now." So the otters remained where they were, and they caught them and put feathers upon their heads. They were making deer of them. They took them home to the fort in which they dwelt and carried them in. All the people danced for them. And that night, after they had retired, the people dreamt that the land otters were dancing the peace-making dance. Some of the people said, "They really danct," but others replied, "No, they did not dance. We only dreamt it." Still they dressed up to dance in return. All were fasting, as was customary when peace is about to be made. They also fed the land otters and waited upon them very carefully.

By and by the shaman said that the land otters were coming, so the people made ready for them. They soaked a very bitter root, called slike, in water for a long time. Some said, "They are not coming. The shaman has made that up," but others believed him and got ready. Finally the shaman said, "To-morrow they will be here." The next morning it was very foggy and they could not see far out, but they heard a drum beating. At length the land-otter-people came ashore, and they helped them carry their things up to the houses. One of these land otters had two heads, one under the other. It was Tūts līdîgū'l. All said, "We depend on Tūts līdîgū'l." Then numbers of land otters came into the house, but, as soon as Tūts līdîgū'l appeared at the door, everybody there but the shaman fell down as if dead. The shaman in turn filled his mouth with the poisonous water they had prepared and spit it about upon the otters, rendering unconscious all that it touched. The land otters, however, shouted, "Keep away from Tūts līdîgū'l. Let him do his work." So Tūts līdîgū'l danced, saying, "Ha, ha, ha." When they started a song, the land otters mentioned Tūts līdîgū'l's name in the manner of the Indians. When they were through with their dance, all of the people woke up, and the land otters also came to. But, when the human

beings got up on their feet, all had vanished including the two white ones.

: Then the village people said to one another, "Did you see the dances?" "Yes," they answered. They knew something had happened and did not want to admit having missed it. "Did you see this Tūts!īdîgū'\(\text{L}'\)" "Yes." "How was he dressed?" "He had two heads and wore a dancing apron. He carried two large round rattles. As soon as he moved around sideways we all went to sleep."

Now all the people were very happy because the salmon were running, but before they had left the town Raven came to them and said, "Don't leave the town. Stay right here. Don't go to any of the salmon creeks." They were very hungry for salmon, however, and said to four boys, "Go to the salmon creek close by and get some salmon for the village." So they went there and filled their canoe.

This salmon stream runs down into a sort of lake, and, while they were upon this paddling homeward, they heard some one calling to them. Presently a man came down through the woods and shouted, "Stay where you are, and I will tell you something." Looking at this man, they saw that he was naked and painted red all over. He said, "When you have gone a short distance, the fellow sitting in the bow will fall over. When you have gone a little farther, the next will do the same. A little farther still the next one will fall over. You fellow in the stern will reach home and tell the news. It is through the shaman's own spirits that he is killed."

They could not understand this last saying for the shaman had been alive when they left, but all things happened just as the man had predicted. After they had gone a short distance the man in the bow fell over with blood pouring out of his mouth. The same thing happened to the next two. When the steersman reached town with the three bodies they asked him what was the matter, but he said, "Do not ask me any questions. Give me something to eat quickly." So they gave him some food, and, after he had finished eating, he said, "As we were paddling along from the creek with our salmon, a man came out of the woods saying, 'Stay where you are and I will tell you something.' So we stopped, and he went on, 'When you get a short distance from here, the man in the bow will drop over, a little farther the next one and a little farther the next one. There will be three. It is what the shaman sees that kills him.' It has happened just as he said. And he said to me, 'The fellow in the stern will get home and have something to eat. Just as soon as he has eaten he will drop over." And so it happened. Just as soon as he had told the story he dropped over dead. Then the shaman asked for his apron, hat, and necklace as if he were going to doctor some one. As soon as

he had dressed, he turned himself around three or four times, as the shamans used to do when they were dying. Afterward blood began to flow from his mouth, and he died.

Now the people of that town were very much frightened, and none of them went away. They had heard before that the land otters have death and all kinds of sickness for their bows and arrows, but until then they had not believed it. Afterward the people began to starve, and the children especially suffered very much. One child, who must have been very poor, would cry at night with hunger. After he had been crying for several nights in this manner the people saw a torch coming toward the house and heard the bearer of it say, "Come here, grandchild, and I will feed you on q!olkAdAkê'x." The child did so. This man was named Man-with-a-burning-hand (DjînakaxA'dza), because his hand was always on fire and what he called q!olkAdAkê'x were ants (wanatu'x). This happened at Ta'qdjîk-ān, the old town of the Klawak people.

Now the father and mother of this child looked about for it, weeping continually. As they were passing a certain cliff, they heard a child crying there, and, raising a flat rock which appeared to cover an opening, they saw it lying inside. Then they saw that ants were crawling out of its nose, eyes, and ears. After that many other children were brought thither, and their parents said to them, "Look at this. Man-with a-burning-hand did this because the child cried so much. You are always crying too. This will happen to you some day if you do not stop." Back of the site of Ta'qdjîk-ān there is a cliff still called Man-with-a-burning-hand. This story was mostly for children, and, when a child cried too much, they would say, "Do not cry so much or Man-with-a-burning-hand will get you." The story was known all over Alaska, and the children were very much afraid of Man-with-a-burning-hand."

In the same town, Ta'qdjîk-ān, lived a chief named Ģalwē't! belonging to the Takwane'dî family. He was bathing in the sea for strength every day, and the people of his village bathed with him. In the cold mornings he would rise, run down to the sea, and rush in. Then he would run up to a good-sized tree and try to pull a limb out of it. He would afterward go to another and try to twist it from top to bottom. He wanted to do these things because he was trying to become a killer of sea lions.

The same chief had a nephew who was thought to be very weak and a great coward. He would not go into the water, and the people

teased him by pushing him over, when he would not do a thing in return. He was very slow. The man's real name was Dukt!ū'L! (Black-skin), but they nicknamed him Atqahā's!î. His real name may also have been a nickname originally, applied to him because he was ugly.

At the same time Black-skin was merely feigning weakness, and, though he continued to lie in bed when the others bathed, at night after all were asleep, he would steal off and do the same thing himself for hours and hours. He remained in so long that he had to float to rest his feet. On coming out he would throw water on the ashes of the fire so as to make it steam and lay his mat on top. That was the only bed he had. The people thought that he was a low, dirty fellow, but in reality he kept himself very pure and would not lie or steal. He did not say a word when they made fun of him, though he was strong enough to have done almost anything to them if he had so desired. When they sent him after big pieces of firewood he acted as if they were very hard to lift, and they thought he was so lazy that they gave him very little to eat.

The people went on in this way, bathing every day with their chief, while Black-skin bathed at night. After they were through, the village people would make a big fire, take breakfast and then go after wood. As soon as the people came up, Black-skin moved into a corner and slept there. One night, while Black-skin was bathing, he heard a whistle that sounded to him like that of a loon. He thought, "Now that I am seen I better let myself go." So he went toward the place where he had heard it and saw a short, thick-set man standing on the beach clothed in a bear skin. This man ran down toward him, picked him up, and threw him down upon the beach. Then he said, "You can't do it yet. Don't tell anyone about me. I am Strength (Łatsī'n). I have come to help you."

Toward morning Black-skin came in feeling very happy, for he thought that he had seen something great. He kept thinking of Strength all the time. He could not forget him, but he was quieter than ever in his demeanor. When they were playing in the house he would never pay any attention, and, if they said mean things to him, he let them go on unnoticed, although he belonged to the family of the chief. Anything they wanted they asked him to get, and he got it. In olden times the boys used to wrestle in the chief's house while their elders looked on, and they would try to get him to wrestle also. Sometimes the little boys would wrestle with him, and he pretended that they pushed him down. Then they would make fun of him saying, "The idea of a great man like you being thrown by a child."

When he went in bathing again, this man felt very happy for he knew that he had strength. Anything hard to do, when he looked at it, appeared easy to him. That night he heard the whistle once more.

He looked round and saw the same man, and the man said, "Come over this way. Come over to me." Then they seized one another, and as soon as the short man felt his grip, he said, "Don't throw me down. Now you have strength. You are not to go into the water again. Go from here right to that tree and try to pull the limb out." So he went to the tree and pulled it right out. Then he put it back again. After he had done so, the man told him to go to the other tree. "Twist it right down to the roots," he said. So he did. Afterward he untwisted it and made it look as before.

Just after he got to bed the people started in bathing. As they passed him the boys would pull his hair saying, "Come on and go in bathing, too;" but he paid no attention. After they had bathed they went up to this limb as usual, and Galwē't! pulled it out with ease. Black-skin lay in bed, listening to the shouting they made. Then Galwē't! ran to the other tree and twisted it to the very root. When they came home, they told the story to one another, saying, "Galwē't! pulled out that limb." The chief himself felt very proud, and the people of the village were very happy that he had done so, especially his two wives. Then they tried to get Black-skin out of bed. They laughed at him, saying, "Your chief has pulled out the limb. Why couldn't you? He has also twisted that tree. You sleep like a chief and let your chief go bathing in the morning." They laughed at him, saying, "He is sleeping in the morning because he has pulled out that limb and twisted that tree."

They had been bathing in order to hunt sea lions, so the young men said, "To-morrow we are going after sea lions. I wonder which part of the canoe Black-skin will sleep in. He is such a powerful fellow." And one boy said, "Why this Black-skin will sit in the bow of the canoe so that he can land first. He will tear the sea lions in two." Black-skin listened to all this, but he paid no attention to them. The whole town was going all day long to see the place where the limb had been pulled off and the tree twisted down to the root. Those people almost lived on this sea-lion meat, but it was very scarce and only powerful people could get it. For this reason they picked out only the strongest fellows from among those who had been bathing with the chief, to go after them to the sea-lion island. This island was very slippery because the sea lions stayed there all of the time and very few could get up to the place where they were. That is why they went through such hardships to get at them.

The elder of the chief's two wives had had pity on Black-skin, and would do little favors for him on the sly. So Black-skin, after he had bathed secretly, came to his uncle's wife and said, "Will you give me a clean shirt; it doesn't matter much what it is so long as it is clean, and something for my hair?" "Are you asked to go?" she said. He replied, "I am not asked, but I am going." So she prepared food for

him and put it in as small a package as she could. All prepared and got into the canoe. Last of all came down Black-skin, and, when they saw him, they said, "Don't let him come. Don't let him come." Seeing that he was determined to get in they began pushing the canoe out as fast as they could. Black-skin then seized the canoe, and they struck his fingers to make him let go. It sounded like beating upon a board. And, although all of them were shoving it out, he exerted a very little of his strength, pulled the canoe back, and jumped in. Then the people talked very meanly to him, but the chief said, "Oh! let him be. He will bail out the canoe for us on the way over." So he sat in the place where one bails. The uncle might have suspected something after his nephew had pulled back the canoe, but he did not appear to. As they went rapidly out they said, "Black-skin came along to tear the sea lions in two." They asked him, "How many sea lions shall I skin for you?" But Black-skin said nothing.

The sea-lion island had very precipitous sides against which great

The sea-lion island had very precipitous sides against which great waves came, so Gałwē't! waited until the canoe was lifted upon the crest of a wave and then jumped ashore. He was a powerful fellow, and seizing a small sea lion by the tail smashed its head to pieces on the rocks. Then he thought he would do the same thing to a large one. These large sea lions are called q!at!-cu-qā'wu (men-of-the-islands). He went to the very largest of these and sat astride of its tail, intending to tear it in two, but the sea lion threw him up into the air, and, when he came down, he was smashed to pieces on the rocks.

Now, when Black-skin saw what had happened to his uncle, he felt badly. Then he put his hand into his bundle of clothes, took out and put on his hair ornament and his shirt, while all watched him, and said. "I am the man that pulled out that limb, and I am the man that twisted that tree." He spoke as high-caste Indians did in those days. and all listened to him. He said to them, "Take the canoe closer to shore." Then he walked forward in the canoe, stepping on the seats which broke under his weight, precipitating their occupants to the bottom of the canoe. The young men that were sitting in his way he threw back as if they had been small birds. Then the people were all frightened, thinking that he would revenge himself on them for their meanness, but he jumped ashore where his uncle had gone and walked straight up the cliff. The small sea lions in his way he killed simply by hitting them on the head and by stepping on them. He looked only at the big one that had killed his uncle, for he did not want it to get away. When he came to it, he seized it and tore it in two. few of the sea lions escaped, but he killed most of them and loaded the canoe down. While he was doing this, however, his companions, who were very much ashamed of themselves and very much frightened, paddled away and left him. They said to the people in the town, "It was Black-skin who pulled out the limb and twisted the tree." Then the town people were troubled and said, "Why did you leave him out there? Why didn't you bring him in?"

Meanwhile Black-skin took out the sea-lion intestines and dried them. He had nothing to make a fire with and did not know what he should do. So he lay down and went to sleep, his head covered with his blanket. Then he heard something that sounded like the beating of sticks. Suddenly he was awakened by hearing someone say, "I have come after you." He looked around, but could not see anything except a black duck which was swimming about in front of him. Then he saw the black duck coming toward him and said to it, "I have seen you already." It answered, "I am sent after you. Get on my back but keep your eyes closed tight." So he did. Then the duck said again, "Now open your eyes." He opened them and saw that he was in a fine house. It was the house of the sea lions. is through this story that the natives to the present day say that everything is like a human being. Each has its "way of living." Why do fish die on coming out of the water? It is because they have a "way of living" of their own down there.

Meanwhile the elder wife of the chief, who had helped Black-skin, was mourning for her husband and nephew. Her husband's body was still on that island. The older people were also saying to the people who had left him, "Why did you do it? A powerful fellow like that is scarce. We want such a fellow among us." Then the widow begged the young men to go back to the island and bring home her nephew and her husband's body, but the younger wife did not care. Finally some other people did go out. They saw the body there, but Black-skin was gone. Then they took aboard the body, loaded the canoe with the bodies of sea lions, and went home. When they heard of it the wise people all said that something was wrong. The shamans said that he was not dead and that they would see him again. They said that he was off with some wild animal. This troubled the village people a great deal. They felt very badly to think that he had kept himself so very lowly before the low-caste people, and they feared that he was suffering somewhere again when he might just as well have occupied his uncle's place.

Black-skin, however, continued to stay among the sea lions. They looked to him like human beings, but he knew who they really were. In the same house there was a boy crying all the time with pain. The sea-lion people could not see what ailed him. Black-skin, however, could see that he had a barbed spear point in his side. Then one of the sea lions spoke up saying, "That shaman there knows what is the matter. He is saying, 'How is it that they can not see the bone in the side of that child?" Then Black-skin said, "I am not a shaman, but I can take it out." So he cut it out and blood and matter came out with it. Then they gave him warm water to wash the wound, and,

since the young sea lion belonged to high-caste people, they said to him, "Anything that you want among us you can have." So he asked for a box that always hung overhead. This box was a kind of medicine to bring any kind of wind wanted. The sea lions would push the box up and down on the water, calling the wind to it like a dog, whistling and saying, "Come to this box. Come to this box." So the natives now whistle for the winds and call them. Then the sea-lion people told Black-skin to get into it, and, as soon as he did so, he saw that he was very far out at sea. He began to call for the wind that blows shoreward, and it carried him ashore. Then he got out of the box and hung it out on the limb of a tree in a sheltered place. He did this because the sea-lion people had told him to take very good care of that box and not go near anything unclean with it.

Black-skin had now landed only a short distance from his own town, so he walked home, and his uncle's wife was very glad to see him, feeling as if his uncle had come back. The dried sea-lion entrails he wore around his head. Then he asked all of the town people to come together, and the people who had been cruel to him were very much ashamed, for they thought that he had gone for good. He, however, looked very fine. He eyed his enemies angrily but thought thus, "If I had not made myself so humble, they might not have treated me that way." So he overlooked it. Some of the people that had left him on the sea-lion island were so frightened that they ran away into the woods. Some of the old people and the good-hearted people were very glad that he was back, but he could see that others hung their heads as if they were ashamed. Then he said, "Some of you know how cruel you were to me. You know well that you are ashamed of vourselves. But I can see that some of you feel good because you know that you felt kindly toward me. It will always be the case that people who are cruel to poor people will be ashamed of it afterward." They had thought that he would avenge himself on them, but he talked to them in a very kindly manner saving, "Do not make fun of poor people as you did when my uncle was alive."a

After this the people went out hunting and encamped in a place called Tayu'k!naxe. A man went out from here with his brother and little son one day, and, when they returned, saw that every one had disappeared. They felt very badly and said, "What is wrong with our village?" Then they saw that the whole town was covered with devilfish slime and said, "It is that monster devilfish that has done all this." People say that he had seen the red glow of the salmon on the drying frames outside. Then the two men said to the boy with them,

"You must stay here. We are going off." So they made a mat house over him and let him have their blankets. They were wild at the thought of having lost all their friends. Then they killed a number of porpoises and seals, went to the devilfish's place and threw them into the water above him. After a while they saw that the water was getting frothy around them with ascending bubbles and presently saw the devilfish coming up. It looked very white. One of these men was making a noise like the raven; the other was acting like a dog salmon. All that went on was observed by the little boy. As soon as the devilfish reached the surface they jumped upon it with their knives and began slashing it. They cut its ink bag and all the water became black. The devilfish and the men died.

Soon after this had happened a canoe from another camp came there, saw this object floating on the sea some distance out from the village, and thought that it was yet alive; so they hurried to get past it. When they came ashore the boy told them all that had happened, and they cried very much at seeing him there alone, for he was their relative. After this they returned with him to their camp, which was situated upon an island near by, and told the story there, on which two canoe loads of people left to look for the devilfish. After they had found it and had cut it open with their stone axes, they saw the two men still inside, knife in hand. All the village people that the devilfish had eaten were also there. Then they took the bodies back to town and had a death feast.<sup>a</sup>

Later on a chief's daughter at the place named Q!aqa'x-duū' obtained a wood worm (L!uq!u'x) as a pet and fed it on different kinds of oil. It grew very fast until it reached the length of a fathom. Then she composed a cradle song for it: "It has a face already. Sit right here. Sit right here (K!esi-ya'k!a A'sgî. Tc!ayā'k! A'nu)." She sang again, "It has a mouth already. Sit right here. Sit right here." They would hear her singing these words day after day, and she would come out from her room only to eat. Then her mother said to her, "Stay out here once in a while. Do not sit back there always." They wondered what was wrong with her that she always stayed inside, and at last her mother thought that she would spy upon her daughter. She looked inside, therefore, and saw something very large between the boxes. She thought it an awful monster, but left it alone, because her daughter was fond of it.

Meanwhile the people of the town had been missing oil from their boxes for some time, for this worm was stealing it. The mother kept saying to her daughter, "Why don't you have something else

for a pet? That is a horrible thing to have for a pet." But her daughter only cried.

Now, the people got ready to kill this thing, and they tried in every way to induce the girl to come away from her house. Her mother told her that her uncle's wife wanted her help, but, although she was very fond of her, that was not sufficient to get her out. Next morning she said to the big worm, "Son, I have had a very bad dream." After they had begged her to come out day after day she finally came. "Mother," she said, "get me my new marten robe." Then she tied a rope around her waist as a belt and came out singing a song she had been composing ever since they first began to beg her: "I have come out at last. You have begged me to come out." I have come out at last, you have begged me so hard, but it is just like begging me to die. My coming out from my pet is going to cause death." As she sang she cried, and the song made the people feel very badly. Then she heard a great uproar and said to her uncle's wife, "They are killing my son at last." "No," said her uncle's wife, "it is a dog fight." "No, they are killing him." They had quite a time killing the worm, and when she heard that it was dead she sang, "They got me away from you, my son. It isn't my fault. I had to leave you. They have killed you at last. They have killed you. But you will be heard of all over the world. Although I am blamed for bringing you up, you will be claimed by a great clan and be looked up to as something great." And to this day, when that clan is feasting, they start her four songs. This clan is the Ganaxte'dî. Then she went to her father and said, "Let that pet of mine be burned like the body of a human being. Let the whole town cut wood for it." So they did, and it burned just like coal oil.

Another of this woman's songs was, "You will be a story for the time coming. You will be told of." This is where the Gānaxte'dî come from. No one outside of them can use this worm. What causes so many wars is the fact that there are very many people having nothing who claim something. The Gānaxte'dî also own Black-skin. They represent him on poles with the sea-lions' intestines around his head.

The girl's father felt very badly that she should care for so ugly a creature, but to please her and make her feel better, he gave a feast along with tobacco and said, "If my daughter had had anything else for a pet, I would have taken good care of it, too, but I feared that it would injure the village later on, so I had to have it killed."

In the town where this occurred a man named S!āwa'n became a shaman. He told the people to leave and go somewhere else because spirits were saying in him, "If you stay in this village, you will all

die." There was so much respect for shamans in those days that people obeyed everything that they told them to do. By and by his spirit said to the shaman, "You will be asked to go somewhere, my master. My masters, the people of the village, do you go away with me?" And the village people kept saying to him, "Yes, we are going along with you." Then the spirit said, "The persons that are going to invite me from here are not human beings. They are already getting ready to come."

By and by the canoe came after him. He seemed to know that there was something about to happen, and said, "Somehow or other you people look strange." He put all of his things into small boxes ready to depart. Then he got in and they covered him with a mat until they reached their village, when he got up and saw some fine houses. The fronts were beautifully painted. Among these houses was one with a crowd of people in front which they tried to make him believe was that where the sick person lay. His rattle and belt, however, ran up on the shore ahead of him and entered the proper house, which was in another part of the town. These people were land otters, and they called him by name, "S!āwa'n, S!āwa'n." They said to him, "All the shamans among us have been doctoring him, and they can not do a thing. They can not see what is killing him. That is why we have asked you to come."

Then the shaman thought within himself, "Who will sing my songs for me?" but the land otters spoke out, saying, "We can sing your songs. Don't be worried." Inside of this house there hung a breast-plate made out of carved bones, such as a shaman used in his spiritual combats. The land otters saw that he wanted it and said, "We will pay you that for curing him." Then the shaman began to perform. He could see that the land otter was made sick by an arrow point sticking in its side, but this was invisible to the land otters. After he had pulled it out, the sick otter, who belonged to the high-caste people, sat up immediately and asked for something to eat. The shaman kept the arrow point, however, because it was made of copper, and copper was very expensive in those days.

Then one of the land-otter shamans said to him, "I will show you something about my spirits." And so he did. He saw some very strange things. When he was shown one kind of spirit, the land otter said, "You see that. That is Sickness (Nīk!). What he called Sickness was the spirit of a clam. These clams look to the spirits like human beings. That is why the spirits are so strong." He also showed him the Spirit of the Sea (Dekī'na yēk), the Spirit of the Land (Dā'qna-yēk), the Spirit from Above (Kīyē'gî), and the Spirit from Below (Hāyī'naq-yēk). All these became the man's spirits afterward.

Nowadays, when a man wants to become a shaman, he has to cut the tongue of a land otter and fast for eight days. You can tell a shaman who has been fasting a great deal because his eyes become very sharp.

After he had shown all of the spirits, they said, "We will take you to your town any time you want to go." Then they took him to his

own town. They had to cover him up again.

The people of S!āwa'n's village were always looking for him, and one day four men in a canoe saw something far out on the shore which looked very strange. A number of sea gulls were flying around it. Going closer, they saw the shaman lying there on a long sandy beach, the gulls around him. They did not know of any sandy bay at that point, and said that it was the shaman that brought it up there. They then took him into the canoe and brought him over. He was so thin that he appeared to have fasted a long time. After they got him home the spirits began mentioning their names, saying, "I am Spirit of the Sea; I am Spirit of the Land," etc. Every time a spirit mentioned his name, the people would start its songs.

This is the last thing that happened in the Raven story. From this time on everything is about spirits (yēk) over and over again. Very few people believed in Nās-ca'kî-yēl. Most believed in the spirits. From the time that these come into the story you hear little about Raven because people had so much more faith in spirits. You notice that in every Tlingit town in Alaska there are shamans, and years ago, when a shaman died, there was always one right after him, and he was always of the same family. It is through these that the Raven story has been getting less and less.

## 32. KAKĒ'Q!uTĒa

A Huna man named Kakē'q!utê and his wife were paddling along in a canoe about midnight in search of seals, and he kept hearing a noise around his head like that made by a bird. Finally he hit the creature with his hand and knocked it into the canoe. It was shaped like a bird, only with eyelids hanging far over, and its name is Sleep (Ta). He gave this to his wife saying, "Here, you can keep this for your own." So she gave it to her relatives, who built a house called Sleep house (Ta hît). All the poles in it were carved to resemble this bird.

The man got very tired after that without being able to sleep, until at last he ran away into the forest. He walked along there, came to a big glacier, and walked along upon that. After he had traveled for some time he came across a small creek in which he discovered

a According to Katishan, he belonged to the L!ūk!naxa'dî. But see story 104.

eulachon. He roasted some on sticks before the fire. After he had thought over the problem for a while, he made a small fish trap with a hole in it for the fish to enter. The trap was soon filled with a multitude of fishes. Then he took all out, dug a hole in the ground, and placed the fish there. He was glad to think that he could get something to eat, so he remained in that place.

One day, while he was roasting fish, he saw eight Athapascans (Go'nana), and knew from that that he was in the interior. These men wore nice fur clothing and had their faces painted. Kakē'q!"tê became frightened and ran into the woods, leaving his fish roasting by the fire. Afterward the eight men acted as though they were calling him, so he climbed up into a tree and watched them. They did not know where he had gone. Then the men sat down and ate his fish, after which they stuck a copper-pointed arrow into the ground where each roasting stick had been. This was the first time a Tlingit had seen copper.

Next day the same men came back. They were dressed much better, and two nice-looking women were with them. Then they called to him saying, "You have brought us good luck, so we want you to be our friend. If you will come and stay with us you can have either of these sisters of ours." So he came down from the tree where he had been hiding, went with them, and married both of their sisters.

Now they took him to the place from which they got their fish and showed him how they did it. It was by making deadfalls in the water, in which they caught only one small fish at a time. Kakē'-q!utê was surprised to see how hard they worked to get a fish. If a man were lucky he would get perhaps forty or fifty very small fishes.

Now, Kakē'q!utê ordered all in the village to procure young trees that were very limber and to split them into long pieces. He told them to whittle these down very smooth, and sat in the middle to show them how. Then he got some roots and tied the sticks together. The name of this trap is t!ītx. It is shaped like a barrel with the inner entrance just small enough for the fish to pass through. At the mouth of this trap a weir is run across the stream.

The whole village worked with him fixing the traps. Finally they cut posts to fasten them to and placed them at that point in the river which the tide reaches. When the tide went down they went to look at them and found them full of eulachon. Before they could never get enough of these fishes but now there were plenty for the poor, who formerly could obtain none. Even the old people were cutting and drying some to put in holes and make oil out of. Some filled twenty boxes with oil, some thirty. Some boxes of this kind weigh 150 pounds, some 100, some 50, some 20. Before his time the people of that village could not sleep, because they had to run down

to their traps very often to look at their deadfalls, but after he came they had a very easy time. Therefore the whole village was pleased with him, looked upon him as a very high-caste person, and would do as he told them.

By and by the salmon season came. The people there had copperpointed salmon spears (kat) with handles of fine, thin wood, but the water was so muddy that they could spear only by means of the ripple marks, and often got but one or two a day. The most that any man obtained was three.

Kakē'q!utê watched and knew that he could help them. He always traveled around with his wives' brothers, and wherever they went the people followed, for they thought that he knew how to get salmon. He inquired if this were the only way they knew of to catch salmon, and they said, "Yes, this is the only way except that when they get in a shallow place we can club them." One of his brothersin-law also said to him, "The only time we can obtain salmon is when they are very old and their flesh is turning white. Then the water is low, and they go near the shore where we can see them. We can also get them at that time from the little creeks that come into the river." Now Kakē'q !utê took the spear from his brother-in-law and taught him how to feel along the river for salmon and catch them on the barbs as soon as they were felt. In half an hour he had six salmon. All the people of the village were looking on. Then he said to his brother-in-law, "You can feel them very easily. They are slippery. When you feel anything slippery, do not be in too great hurry and be careful not to go under the salmon. When you first put your spear into the water you will feel the ground and you will raise it up from the ground and move it along. I know how to make a salmon trap, too. I will show you that to-morrow. To-day we can not do it."

Next day the whole village went to work making salmon traps. Again he asked them to get young trees and split them. All did as he told them. They made eighteen traps that day. They got roots and split them, and all worked taking the bark off. The whole village imitated Kakē'q!utê, watching his every movement. Next day they put the traps into the water, and all were very anxious about them, even the women sitting along the shore watching. Some of the poor people, who knew that they would result similarly to the first traps he had made, were so anxious to see them that they could not sleep. The day before all of the women sat down to make ropes in the manner he showed them, and each went to the traps next morning provided with one. When they got there they found every one of them loaded with salmon. All the people in the town, old and young, went to see these traps. While they were emptying the traps and stringing some of the salmon, others would be coming in,

and it made the whole village happy. Then Kakē'q!"tê distributed the salmon, for everyone thought that it belonged to him. He gave to the poor people, who had never before tasted salmon, and he said to the wealthy, "Don't feel offended that I give them as much as you for they need it as much. To-morrow and the day after we will have it."

At this time of the year they never got any salmon to dry. If one got a salmon he ate it at once. Only when the salmon was old did they dry it. Each man had a place where he speared salmon, and no one dared go there. Those spots were all named. When they got salmon from the traps they were all rich, and they were glad to have a supply so early in the season. Before they had these traps they ate every part of the salmon, all the insides, the heart, etc., but after they had had the traps for a few days you could see along the beach various parts of the fish, as the heads, and even some good parts, where they had been thrown away. After they were through drying their salmon they had enough for a year, and they stored them all away in boxes.

That fall the Athapascans went up among the valleys for ground hogs, each man having his own place, where no one else was allowed to intrude. That day only one came from the very best spots and in the whole village there were but three. Kakē'q!utê watched how they got them. Ground hogs were valued even by the coast people on account of the blankets made of their skins. Then he asked them, "Is this the only way you get your ground-hog meat?" "Yes," they said, "this is the only way." Then he sat right down and began carving some pieces of wood, while everybody watched him, believing that whatever he did would succeed. He asked the women to make hide thongs. All sat down to do it, and with them he made slip-nooses to be placed at the mouths of the ground-hog burrows. Then he said, "I don't want anyone to go over there. Keep away from the traps." So they did, and the morning after he went out among his traps accompanied by all of the people. In each trap was a ground hog, and he gave every man in the village five. Even when they had killed three, the meat was distributed so that all had at least a taste of the broth. They remained in this place just three days, and he killed them off so in that time they had to move to another. Each valley was claimed. by some man, who had a special tree there on which his dried meat was hung, and every time they moved to a new valley they left the meat hanging on the limbs of the tree in the place abandoned.

Then the people started for home, carrying their meat along with them. They would carry part of it a certain distance and go back for more, and repeat the process until all was down on the beach. After that he told them how to prepare their food to keep it over winter. He told them to get their cooking baskets and cook their meat well. After it was cooked, he told them to put it on sticks high up in the house and dry it in the smoke. When it was dried, he asked them to take it down and put it in oil for the winter. One family would have from four to six boxes of such dried meat. Before this man came they did not know how to do that. They ate everything as soon as it was procured, and it was very hard for them to get enough. Kakē'q!utê also saw the women going after berries and eating them at once. If they kept any very long they would spoil on their hands. Then he said, "Don't you know how to preserve berries for winter?" "No," they replied. So he showed them how to dry these and how to cook the different kinds of berries and preserve them in grease.

Before his time the Athapascans did not know how to put up their winter food. They would stay on the spot where they had killed a moose until it was eaten up. That was why they were always in want. The Athapascans were very wild and did not seem to have any sense. Before Kakē'q!utê came among them these people were always hunting, but now they stayed in one place and had an easy time. A person went hunting only for amusement in case he got tired of staying in doors. Before this, too, they did not have a taste of berries after the berry season. They ate them on the bushes like the birds. Now, however, they have plenty all the year round. They used to live in winter on dried salmon and what meat they could get. If they could get nothing while hunting, many died of starvation.

When spring came on, Kakē'q!"tê also showed them a certain tree and said, "Don't you know how to take off the bark of this tree and use it?" They replied that they never knew it could be eaten. So he took a limb from a hemlock, sharpened it, and showed them how to take off the hemlock bark. After that he took big mussel shells (yīs!) from his sack and said, "Do you see these. This is the way to take it off." After he had obtained quite a pile of bark, he showed them how to eat it, and they thought that it was very nice, because it was so sweet. Then he sharpened some large bear bones on a rough rock, gave one to each woman and said, "Use it as I have used the shell." Each woman's husband or son stripped the bark off of the tree, and the women sat down with their daughters to help them and separated the good part. He was teaching the people there to live as do those down on the ocean.

Next Kakē'q!"tê collected a lot of skunk cabbage, dug a hole in the ground, and lined it with flints, while all stood about watching him. Then he made a fire on top of these rocks to heat them, and afterwards threw a little water upon them, filling up the remainder of the pit with successive layers of skunk cabbage and hemlock bark. Over all he spread earth and made a fire above. He left just so much fire

on it all night. All the village people were looking on and getting wood for him.

Now the people felt very happy to see how well they had gotten through the winter and that they were learning to put up more food. The younger people would dance all day. In the morning they were asked to go out and uncover the hole. He uncovered his own first. It was so savory that the whole village was scented with it. Then he tasted it, found it sweet, and asked the rest of the village to taste it. The rumor of its excellence spread all over town, and so many came to try it that before he knew it half of his bark was gone. All the people of the village were burying bark as he had done.

After he had taken the bark out a quantity of water was left, which they poured into their dishes. Then he put the cooked bark into a dish and pounded it with a masher. After that he pressed the cakes very hard and made a hole in one corner of each in order to hang it up. The cakes dried very quickly. Some cakes they put away dry, and some that were dried very hard they put into oil. After they had been in oil for several months he took them out and ate them. They tasted very good. He also showed how to use those that had been put away dry. He took them out and boiled some water for them, after which he soaked some in it. They tasted altogether different from those that had been in the oil.

Next Kakē'q!utê showed the people how to put up a certain root (ts!ēt) found on sand flats and taken before tops come upon it. Geese also live upon this root. He collected a lot of this and brought it to his wives, asking them whether they ate it. They said they did not, and when they had tasted it they found it very sweet. This root tastes like sweet potatoes. Then the people took their canoes and went to get these roots for their winter's food. Each carried a hardwood stick with sharpened ends. He said, "This is women's work or for boys and girls. It is easy. Where I come from the women do that." After they had dug many roots he showed them how to dry these. He tied up a bunch of them and on top another until he had made a long string. Then he hung them up where they could dry quickly. He cooked them in pots. After the water is poured off from them they move around as if alive, and for that reason Tlingit widows do not eat them, fearing that they will make them nervous. After being cooked in pots they taste just as if fresh.

He also showed them how to put up a root called s!în, which he pounded up and pressed into cakes like the bark. They are soaked like the others and also eaten with oil. He showed them as well how to kill seals and prepare their flesh. For the next winter they prepared more than for the winter preceding. That fall, after the food was all put away, they went into the interior after-furs. He showed them how to catch animals by means of deadfalls with fat as bait.

Before his time the only way they had gotten their furs was with bow and arrow. They used to chase bears with dogs and shoot them after hours spent in pursuit. Now they obtained very many furs and made numbers of blankets out of them.

After he had shown the Athapascans all these things Kakē'q!utê said, "Now I want to go to my native town." At first they were not willing to have him leave, but he asked so persistently that they finally consented. Before they sent him away, however, they took him away and obtained some small coppers for him. After that they got everything ready and set out the following winter. As they paddled on they could see the places where he had camped during the hard time he had had after he left his own village. He asked the people to go up with him along the same trail he had taken through the woods. By that route they came to Grass creek (Tcū'kan-hīn), to the place he had left, but, when they came down, the people of that village were afraid of them. These were the Tcūkane'dî, Kā'gwantān, Wuckitā'n, Kosk!ē'dî, T!a'q!dentān, L!ūk!naxa'dî, and Q!at!kaā'yî.

By and by one of the Tcūkane'dî came out right opposite them and said, "What are you coming here for, you land-otter people? We are not the people who have been making medicine for you." When they saw that those people did not care to receive them they went back through the woods to the town of the L!ū!k!naxa'dî. L!ūk!naxa'dî saw that they had coppers, and took them away. Then the L!ūk!naxa'dî said, "You are going to be our people." Each man took a man out of the canoe and said, "You will be my friend." That was the way they used to do. They would take away a person's goods and then give him just what they wanted The Athapascans were foolish enough to allow it. Afterward the Tcūkane'dî felt that they were unlucky in not having taken the visitors in themselves. Therefore, when a person is unlucky nowadays, they say of him, "He sent the Athapascans away." Because they did this the Tcūkane'dî are below all other Tlingit families. That was what brought them bad luck, and that is also how the L!ūk!naxa'dî became very rich. They got a claim on the place where the copper plates come from.

Next spring the L!ūk!naxa'dî went right to the mouth of Copper river. They made a village there at once and called it Kos!ē'xka. One of the mountains there they called Tsałxā'n and another Mas!ī'ca. All along where they went they gave names. A certain creek was called Na'gaku-hīn, and they came to a lake which they named Łtū'a. Then they went to a river called Ałsē'x, at the mouth of which they established a town and named it Kos!ē'x. Afterward they went to the river from which the copper came and called it Îq hī'nî (Copper river). At Kos!ē'x they built a house called Ta hît (Sleep house). Then all of them were L!ūk!naxa'dî, but some, from the fact that they camped on an island, came to be called Q!At!kaā'yî

(Island people). The Kosk!ē'dî, originally a part of the L!ūk!naxa'dî, used to encamp at a certain place where they dug the root s!în. This root pressed is known as t!aganîsk!êx, and the Kosk!ē'dî receive their name from this word.<sup>a</sup> The Kosk!ē'dî built a house and roofed it with moose hide. So they came to own the Moose house (Xās! hît).

The wives of the L!ūk!naxa'dî were Kā'gwantān. They (the Kā'gwantān) were invited to Chilkat by a chief named Tailless-Raven (Ckū'wu-yēl). In the same town they were about to fell a tree to make a totem pole out of it, and just before they did so Cqēlaqā', a shaman, interviewed his spirits. When they struck the tree with an ax he said, "The chip went toward Huna. How is it that it went toward Huna?" And, when the tree fell, he said, "It fell toward Huna. How is it that it fell toward Huna?" This spirit's name was Ānkaxwā'î, and the pole was carved to resemble him. When it was brought in he said, "How is it that there is something wrong with these people we have invited. My spirit sees that there is something wrong with them." Then they made a raven hat, and the spirit in the shaman said, "The raven you made has been shot with an arrow. Many arrows are sticking into its body and blood is coming from its mouth."

The people giving the feast gave a great deal of property away to the Kā'gwantān. Each man in the family would give so many slaves and so much in goods. On their way home from this feast the L!ūk!naxa'dî also made a raven, and some time later they went to a feast at the Kā'gwantān village of Kaq!anuwū'. Close to that place Q!one, chief of the L!ūk!naxa'dî, put on the raven hat. Its tail and beak were made of copper, and the wings were copper plates. It had a copper plate lying in front of it at which it pecked. L!ūk!naxa'dî also lived among the Kā'gwantān in that town, and they said, "Where has that raven been?" The canoe people answered, "Why! this raven has been at Chilkat." "What did it eat at Chilkat?" "All that it ate at Chilkat was salmon skins." By salmon skins they meant the furs and hides that had been given away. Then they took the wings from this raven and the copper he had been pecking at and threw them ashore for the Kā'gwantān. They said, "Those are worth forty slaves." Before, when the Ganaxte'dî (of Chilkat) had feasted and used their own raven hat, they spoke so highly of it that the L!ūk!naxa'dî had become jealous.

By and by news of what the L!ūk!naxa'dî had done reached Chilkat, and the Gānaxte'dî were very angry. They began to build Whale house (Yā'î hît). Then they began to buy slaves in all quarters. They bought some Dē'citān, some Tcū'kanedî, and some L!enē'dî, and,

when they invited people to the feast for these houses, they first gave away the slaves they had been buying. The L!ūk!naxa'dî felt very badly at this, because—Flathead slaves not being esteemed very highly—this amounted to more than they had given away. Then war broke out between the two families, and the L!ūk!naxa'dî were badly defeated, losing many people. After that the people whose friends had been enslaved, purchased, and given away felt so badly that they also made war on the Gānaxte'dî with no better result.

One of the Ganaxte'dî chiefs was named Yēl-xāk. In those times people were afraid of a high-caste person who was rich, strong, and brave and did not want to have anything to do with him. This man's father-in-law was a L!ūk!naxa'dî chief at Łaxavî'k named Big Raven (Yēl-Lēn). Then Yēl-xāk told his slaves to take food and tobacco to his father-in-law through the interior by Alsek river, and he did so. When he arrived, the chief said to him, "What did you come for?" "Your daughter has sent me with some tobacco." Big Raven was very fond of tobacco. Before the slave started on this errand his master had said to him, "Be sure to notice every word he says when you give him the tobacco." Then the slave took away from the tobacco the cottonwood leaves and a fine piece of moose hide in which it was wrapped. As soon as he saw the leaves Big Raven said, "I feel as though I had seen Chilkat now that I have seen these cottonwood leaves. Chilkat is a respectable place. A lot of respectable people live there. They are so good that they give food even to the people that were going to fight them." This Big Raven was a shaman and a very rich one.

When the slave returned to Chilkat and told his master what Big Raven had said, they held a council the same evening in Ckū'wu-yēl's house, Whale house, and Yel-xak said to his slave, "Now you tell these people what that father-in-law of mine has said to you." And the slave said, "As soon as he saw me, he said, 'What are you doing here?' and I told him that his daughter had sent me to him with tobacco. After he had uncovered the tobacco and had seen the leaves he said. 'They are such respectable people in Chilkat that they feed even the people who had come to fight them.' That was what Big Raven said." Then Yēl-xāk said, "I wonder if he thinks he has gotten even with me for the L!ūk!naxa'dî I killed on Land-otter point. I wonder whether he thinks he has gotten even with me for having killed all those at Anak!-nū." He thought that Big Raven was a coward and was going to make peace. Then he moved about very proudly, while the visitors from other places watched him closely, and everything that he said or did was reported to Big Raven.

A man among the L!ūk!naxa'dî, named Cādisî'ktc, was bathing in order to acquire strength to kill the Ģānaxte'dî. Then the L!ūk!naxa'dî pounded on Big Raven's house to have his spirits come

out. Big Raven said, "Ła'kua has gotten up already. Ła'kua has looked out now. My masters, which way is this Ła'kua going to go?" The people said, "What are you saying, Big Raven? Go wherever you think best." Then he told them to pound away on the sticks, and he shouted, "Here, here is the camping place." After the spirit had been all over their course it said, "Hō, hē, the Raven swinging back and forth."

For Cādisî'ktc's war hat they made a carving of a monster rat which is said to live under the mountain Was!ī'cā. His spear points they made out of iron—taken probably from some wreck. They considered themselves very lucky when they found this iron. They thought that it grew in the timber and not that it belonged to a ship. This they called Gayē's! hā'wu (Log of Iron). Gayē's! was originally the name given to black mud along the beaches to which people likened iron rust.

Now the war canoes started from Kos!ē'x for Chilkat, drilling as they went. When people do this they take out their drums and drill wherever possible. There are certain songs called "drilling songs." When the shaman said, "This is the place where La'kua camped," they camped there. They thought that it would bring bad luck to go any farther than to the place where he had camped. When on an expedition the war chief never looked back in the direction in which they had come. At Kaq!anuwū' they stopped long enough to get the L!ūk!naxa'dî there. Those were the people of which so many had been killed by the Chilkat before. The Kîksa'dî, T!a'q!dentān, and other families also started with them, and they paid these for their help with copper plates. All this time the shaman's spirit sang the same song about "the raven swinging back and forth."

At last the warriors reached Chilkat and stood in a row fronting the river back of the Chilkat fort. Behind all stood Cādisî'ktc. Then Yēl-xāk came out on top of the fort and said, "Where is that Cādisî'ktc?" So Cādisî'ktc stepped out in front of his party with the mouse war hat on his head, saying, "Here I am." Then Yēl-xāk said, "Where has that mouse (kuts!ī'n) been? What has he been doing?" He answered, "I have been in that great mountain that belonged to my mother's uncle, and I have come out after you." After this they heard a drum in the fort, which meant that those people were about to come out. Then they came out in files, and Yel-xak and Cadisî'ktc went to meet each other with their spears. But the Chilkat still had their spears pointed with bone and mountain-goat horn, and when Yēl-xāk speared Cādisî'ktc he did not seem to hurt him. Cādisî'ktc, however, speared Yēl-xāk through the heart, and his body floated down the river on which they fought until it struck against a log running out from the bank. The end of this log moved

up and down with the current and Yēl-xāk's body moved up and down along with it. Then the shaman said, "Now you see what my spirit has been singing about. That is the raven moving back and forth. Now you people are going to eat them all up. Don't be frightened any more, for you have them all now that you have gotten him." At once they began to wade across, while the Chilkat people, when they saw that their head man was dead, ran past their fort up into the mountains. At that time the Llūklnaxa'dî took the totem pole ānkaxwā'î. That is what the Chilkat shaman had meant by the chip flying toward Huna and the tree falling toward it. And this is also why they had so great faith in spirits at that time.

Ckū'wu-yēl felt badly for the loss of his totem, so he took the copper raven he had captured from the L!ūk!naxa'dî before and started toward Kaq!anuwū' to make peace. His wife's father was head chief of the L!ūk!naxa'dî. At this time the war had lasted for a long time, perhaps five years. Ckū'wu-yēl composed and sang a song as he went along, as follows, "Why did you leave the Chilkat river as it flows, you raven? Why didn't you take it all into your mouth?" He meant to say, "If you are so strong, why didn't you make the river go entirely dry?" The L!ūk!naxa'dî had gathered many families against him, but the river was as large as ever.

Just as  $Ck\bar{u}'wu-y\bar{e}l$  came to the L! $\bar{u}k!naxa'd\hat{i}$  town, a man ran down toward the canoe, making believe that he was going to kill him, but one of the  $K\bar{a}'gwant\bar{a}n$  caught him and said, "Why do you want to kill that chief? You are not as high as he." He said, "It isn't because I am anxious to kill him, but because I was always so afraid of him when he was warring." a

Then they seized Ckū'wu-yēl to make him a deer and took him into Sleep house, the house of his father-in-law. When she saw him going in there, his wife came out of the canoe, carrying the raven hat he had captured. Eagle down was upon it. So they, in turn, brought out the ānkaxwā'î with eagle down upon it. They also painted the face of the deer and the face on the corner post representing Sleep. This was because they had so much respect for this post. The painting of its face was the end of their troubles.

It was against the deer's rules to eat devilfish or any kind of fresh fish, but they thought, "If he still feels badly toward us, he will refuse to eat it." So he said to them, "Bring that devilfish here. I will eat that devilfish." They did not want him to eat it, but they wanted to see what he would say. As soon as he asked for it, therefore, all shouted and put it back from him. They said, "It is so. He has come to make peace." Then they danced for him.

After this all of the Ganaxte'dî came over and carried away his father-in-law to be deer on the other side.

They said to Ckū'wu-yēl, "Have you your canoe ashore with all of your people in it?" He said, "I have it ashore." This was their way of asking whether there would be any more war. Then they would say to the deer again, "My deer, we are going to camp in a nice sunny place, are we not; and we are going to come in in a sheltered place where there are no waves, are we not?" He would say, "Yes, we are going to camp in a good place." Then they would say to him, "You are going to sleep well hereafter, are you not?" And he answered, "Yes." When they were moving about, warring people could never sleep well. That is why they said this to him. By the waves and wind they meant the troubles they had had, and by saying that they were going to camp in a calm place they meant that they were not going to war any more.

The opposite deer, taken from Sleep house, was asked similar questions. If the deer did not have his mind fixed on making peace people knew it by his songs, therefore they noticed every word he uttered. A high-caste person was always selected as deer, because through him there would be a certain peace. The man that came to another village to be taken up as deer brought food with him on which to feast the people there. The other side gave a feast in return.

After they had made peace Ckū'wu-yēl danced on the beach just before he set out. Łdahī'n, the owner of Sleep house, danced on the other side. This is the only way in which people made up with each other after having been enemies for years. It happened years and years ago, and to this day those people are friends.

## 33. ORIGIN OF THE GONAQADE'T

In a village somewhere to the northward a high-caste person had married a high-caste girl from a neighboring village. His mother-in-law lived with them, and she disliked her son-in-law very much because he was a lazy fellow, fond only of gambling. As soon as they were through with their meal she would say to the slaves, "Let that fire go out at once." She did not want her son-in-law to have anything to eat there. Long after dark the man would come in, and they would hear him eating. Then his mother-in-law would say, "I suppose my son-in-law has been felling a tree for me." Next morning he would go out again very early. His wife thought it was useless to say anything. The same thing happened every evening.

When summer came all the people went after salmon, and the gambler accompanied them. After he had hung up quite a lot of this salmon and dried it, he took it up into the woods beside a lake and made a house there out of dry wood. Then he began chopping with his stone ax upon a big tree which stood a little distance back. It took him a very long time to bring it down. After he had felled it into the lake he made wedges out of very hard wood and tied their thick ends

with roots to make them strong. He tried to split the tree along its whole length. When he had accomplished this he put crosspieces between to hold the two sections apart. Then he baited his line with salmon, with the bright part turned out, and let it down between. He had been told that there was a monster in that lake, and he was going to find out. By and by he felt his line move, but when he pulled up quickly it broke. The next time, however, he pulled it up still more rapidly and the creature followed it to the surface between the two halves of the tree. Then he pushed the crosspieces out so that the halves of the tree sprang together and caught its head while he jumped ashore. He stood on a grassy spot near by to watch. Then the monster struggled hard to get away, and it was so strong that it kept dragging the tree clear under water, but at last it died. Now the man spread the cedar apart by means of his crosspieces, dragged out the monster's body and examined it. He saw that it had very sharp, strong teeth and that its claws looked like copper. Then he skinned it with the claws, etc., entire, dried it very carefully, got inside, and went into the water. It began to swim away with him, and it swam down to the monster's house under the lake, which was very beautiful.

After this man had come up again, he left his skin in a hole in a dry tree near by and went home, but did not say a word to anybody about what he had discovered. When winter came all went back to their village, and the following spring there was a famine.

One morning the man said to his wife, "I am going away. I will be here every morning just before the ravens are awake. If you hear a raven before I get back don't look for me any more." Then he again got into the monster's skin and swam to his house. He found that from there he could go out into the sea, so he swam along in the sea, found a king salmon and brought it back. He took off his skin and left it where he had put it before. The salmon he carried to town and left on the beach close to the houses.

Next morning this man's mother-in-law got up early, went out, and came upon a salmon. She thought that it had drifted there, so she took it home. Then she came in and said to her husband, "I have found a fine big salmon." They cooked it for all the people in the village and distributed the food, as was formerly the custom. Next evening her son-in-law did the very same thing, only he caught two salmon. Then he went to bed. He told his wife that it was he who was getting these salmon, but she must not say a word about it.

The third time he brought salmon in and his mother-in-law found them she considered the matter very deeply. Her son-in-law would sleep all day, not getting up to eat until it was almost evening. Before this he had been in the habit of rising very early in order to gamble. When he got up next day, the old woman said to him, "The idea of starving people who are sleeping all day. If I did not go

around picking up dead salmon the whole village would be starving." He listened to what she said, and afterward he and his wife laughed about it.

Next evening he went out again and caught a very large halibut, which he also put in front of his mother-in-law's house. By this time the woman thought, "I wonder what this is that is bringing me luck. It must be a spirit. I believe I am going to become the richest person in the world. That is why this is happening to me." When she went out this morning, as was now her custom, and saw the large halibut, she called to her husband and her slaves to bring it up. She felt very proud. Then the chief sent word all through the village, "No one is to go out early in the morning. My wife has had a bad dream." She had not really had such a dream, but she told her husband so because she did not want anybody to get ahead of her. In those days everyone listened to what the chief said and obeyed him. Next morning the young man got a seal and laid it down before the houses.

Meanwhile his mother-in-law treated him worse and worse. She said, "I will never go out again in the morning to find anything. I know that the people in this village would starve if I did not find things." After that she found the seal. Then they singed the hair off, scraped it in water to make the skin white, and cooked it in the skin. The chief invited everyone in the village to his house to eat it. He made speeches and listened to speeches in return which told how his wife had saved all of them. Her son-in-law lay in bed taking everything in. Also when a canoe landed in front of the town his mother-in-law would say, "I suppose my son-in-law has brought in a load of seal," and he listened to her as he lay there.

In the middle of that night the old woman pretended that she had spirits. The spirit in her said, "I am the spirit that finds all this food for you." Then she said to her husband, as she lay in bed, "Have a mask made for me, and let them name it Food-finding-spirit. Have a claw hat made." So her husband sent for the best carver in town, and he made all of the things she had asked for. Her husband had an apron made for her with puffin beaks all around it.

After that spirits came to her and mentioned what she was going to find. She rattled her rattle, and her spirits would say that she was rattling it over the whole village. Her son-in-law lay abed listening. The whole village believed in her and thought that she was a wonderful shaman.

The first time the woman went out she found one salmon, the next time two salmon, the third time a halibut, the fourth time two halibut, and after that a seal. Now she said her spirits told her that she was going to find two seals, so, her son-in-law who had heard it, went out the following night and found the two seals. His wife felt very badly for him because her mother nagged him continually. She talked more and more of her spirits all the time, and the high-caste people invited to their feasts spoke very highly of them. She would sing how high her spirits were, and the village paid her a great deal of attention. But she called her son-in-law Sleeping-man. She gave him to eat only a few scraps left over, and would say to the people, "Leave some scraps there for Sleeping-man."

Next morning she found a sea lion which her son-in-law had caught that night, and again she felt very proud. Her son-in-law kept saying to his wife, "Always listen for the ravens. If you hear the ravens before I come you may know that something has happened to me. If you hear one before I come get right out of bed." When his mother-in-law invited all the people for this sea lion the people would say, "It has been this way from olden times. The chiefs in a village are always lucky." Then the woman acted like a shaman and said, "The people of the village are not to go over that way for wood, but over back of the village." Although she had not a single spirit she made the people believe she had them.

Next morning the son-in-law went out again, caught a whale, and left it in the usual place. The village people were very much surprised when the chief's wife found it, and she was very proud. She filled a large number of boxes with oil from what was left over after the feast. She had boxes full of all kinds of food, which the town people were buying. They looked up to her as to a great lord.

But her son-in-law said to his wife, "Don't help yourself to any of that food. Whatever she gives us we will take." She was treating him worse every day. The son-in-law also said to his wife, "If you see that I am dead in the skin I have, which has been bringing us good luck, do not take me out of it but put me along with the skin in the place where I used to hide it, and you will get help."

This went on for a long time, but he thought he would not get another whale because he had had such a time with the first. Meanwhile his mother-in-law continued to say spiteful things about him, things to make the village people laugh at him, and now that she had spirits she was worse than ever. Quite a long time after this, however, he did catch two whales and tried to swim ashore with them. He worked all night over them, and, when he got near the place where he used to leave things on the beach, the raven called and he died.

When his wife heard the raven's cry she remembered what he had said, and began dressing herself, crying as she did so. Still she remained in doors, knowing that the whole village would go down to see the monster. Then her mother walked out as usual and saw two whales lying there with a monster between them. It had two fins on its back, long ears, and a very long tail. All of the people went

down to look at it and said to one another, "There is a terrible monster there. Come down to look at it. It is something very strange." They did not know what it was, but supposed that it was the old

woman's spirit.

At last, when she heard all this racket going on, the chief's daughter started down the steps from the high foundation such as they used to build on in those days, and she wept very loudly as she descended so that all the people could hear her. They looked at her and wondered what was wrong with her, thinking, "What does that highcaste girl mean by calling the monster her husband?" Nobody would go near, for they were afraid of the chief, of the chief's daughter, and of the monster. But, when the girl had come down, she said to her mother, who was still looking at the monster, "Where are your spirits now? You are a story teller. You say that you have spirits when you have not. That is why this happened to my husband." Now the interest was so intense that people had crawled up on the roofs of the houses and on other high places to look at the monster. As the girl also stood there looking, she said, "Mother, is this your Food-finding spirit? How is it that your spirit should die? Spirits all over the world never die. If this is your spirit make it come to life again."

Then the girl went close to the monster and said to the village people, "Some of you that are very clean come and help me." Her husband had died in the act of holding the jaws of the monster apart to come out, one hand on each. When the people saw this they were very much surprised and said, "He must have been captured by that monster." From that time on this monster has been known as the Gonaqadē't.

The people helped to take the woman's husband and the monster's skin up to the edge of the lake and put them into the hollow in the tree. There they saw the log, broken hammers, and wedges lying about where he had killed it, and reported to the rest of the people so that everyone went there to look. But the old woman was so ashamed that she remained in doors and died. When they found her body blood was coming out of the mouth.

Every evening after this the dead man's wife went to the foot of the tree which contained his body and wept. One evening, however, she perceived a ripple on the water, and looking up, saw the monster flopping around in the lake. Then the creature said to her, "Come here." It was the voice of her husband. "Get on my back," it said, "and hold tight." She did so, and he swam down to the monster's former house. This monster is the Gonaqadē't that brings good luck to those that see him. His wife also brings good luck to those who see her, and so do their children, "the Daughters of the Creek," who live at the head of every stream.

# 34. A STORY OF THE GONAQADE'T

The head chief of the people living at the head of Nass river once came down to the ocean and on his way back tied his canoe to a dead tree hanging from a cliff. At midnight he felt the canoe shaking very hard. He jumped up and was terrified to see foam breaking almost over his canoe. Then he thought of a sea monster, and climbed up to the cliff by means of the dead tree. His nephews, however, went down with the canoe. A Gonaqadē't had swallowed them.

Along with this canoe had come down another, which stopped for the night at a sandy beach right opposite. They had seen the chief's canoe there the night before, and, observing next morning that it was gone, supposed the chief had started on ahead and continued their journey. They had also felt the motion of the sea, although it was previously very calm. When they reached home the canoe chief asked whether the head chief had returned, and they said, "No." Then he told them how strangely the sea had acted and how he missed the chief's canoe and thought that it had gone on ahead.

After he had remained in the village for five days the canoe chief began to think seriously about the chief's absence. Then he got into a large canoe along with very many people and set out to look for him. Four men stood up in the canoe continually, one at the bow, one at the stern, and two in the middle, looking always for the chief from the time that they left their village. They camped very early that night and arrived next morning at the dead tree where the chief's canoe had been tied. As they passed this place they heard somebody shout, and the man in the stern, looking up, saw the missing chief standing on the very top of the cliff. They saw also signs of the Gonaqadē't and knew what had happened. Then they took him in, but he would say nothing until they had gotten back to the village. There he spoke, saying, "I did not have time to awaken my sisters' children. I could not have saved myself if I had done so. That is why they are gone." He felt badly about them.

Then all the people in the village began bathing for strength, sitting in the water and whipping each other, so that they might kill the monster. The chief, however, was very quiet, and, when they asked him what they should do, he told them to do as they pleased. They were surprised at this. When he saw that they really meant business he was very silent, and they could see that he was thinking deeply. Finally he said, "Boys, you better not punish yourselves so much. You are injuring yourselves, and you are all that I have left now. Let us treat this monster kindly. Instead of having destroyed my sisters' children, he may have taken them to live with him, and, if we were to kill him, we might kill my sisters' children as well. Instead

I will give a feast and invite this Gonaqadē't to it." They all told him to do so if he thought he could get his nephews back thereby.

Then they talked this whole matter over in the chief's house, and the chief said, "Who will go to invite this Gonaqade't?" And many of the brave young men answered, "I will; I will," so that he got a canoe load very quickly. After that the chief said, "Which one of my brothers-in-law will go to invite him?" "I will," answered one of them who was also brave. Then all got into the canoe, traveled that night and encamped just before dawn on a sandy beach close to the Gonagade't's cliff. About noon they put on their best dancing clothes and paddled to the cliff. Then the chief's brother-inlaw arose in the canoe and shouted out as loudly as he could, "The great chief has invited the Gonaqade't to a feast." He repeated . these words four times, and the fourth time he did so the water began to act as on the night when the chief's nephews had been lost. The foam became very thick finally, and the cliff opened, revealing at some distance a very long town. They were invited to come nearer, and, although they thought that the cliff would close upon them, they did so. There were many men about this town, and out of one large house came the chief (the Gonaqade't), who said, "Our song leader is out after wood. Therefore, my father's people, you will have to stay out there quite a while. We must wait for our song leader." Then the Gonaqade't said, "A long time since I heard that I was going to be invited to a feast by that great chief." While he was so speaking there came people into the town with a load of wood, and they knew that it was the song leader himself. The Gonagade't's people were now so impatient that all rushed down to the song leader's canoe and carried it up bodily. Then the streets became empty, because everyone had gone in to dress, and in a little while they came down on the beach again and danced for the people in the canoes.

As soon as this was over the visitors asked to come ashore, and immediately their canoe with everyone inside was carried up to the house of the chief. One of the visitors was sent to all the houses in the town to invite them to the chief's house, and there they gave them Indian tobacco and watched very closely to see what they would do with it. They seemed very fond of it.

After this tobacco feast was over the Gonaqadē't said, "Let us have a dance for these people who have come to invite us. Let us make them happy." They went away and dressed, and that evening they had a dance for their visitors. Then the Gonaqadē't said, "These people that come to invite me have to fast." Early next morning, therefore, the Gonaqadē't sat up in bed and said to the people in the house, "Make a fire and let us feed these people who have

come so far to invite me." He sent one of his men through the village to announce that he was going to have a feast for the people who had come after him. When this was over, he said to his visitors, "You will stay here with us for four days."

Many people had volunteered to go on this expedition, because they thought that if they were swallowed they would see those who had been lost before, and they looked for them all of that time, but in vain. At the close of the fourth day the Gonaqade't said, "We will start off very early in the morning." When they got close to the host's village, however, it rained hard, and they thought they would not be able to dance in it. Seeing that it did not let up, they said to the Gonaqade't, "Haven't you a shaman among you! Now is the time to get help from your shaman. He ought to make it stop raining." They employed him, and he made the rain stop by summoning his spirits. All this time the people who had invited the Gonagade't were very silent, and only he knew what was the matter with them. As they were now very close to the town, they sent one canoe thither to make it known that the Gonagade't's people were encamped close by, ready to come to the village. The chief told his people to get a quantity of wood and take it to those he had invited, because they were to stay there another day. All in the village were anxious to do this, because they thought that they would see the chief's nephews. As they went along they said to one another that they would look for the chief's eldest nephew, whom they expected to see dressed in his dancing clothes. But, when they arrived at the camp, they were disappointed.

Next morning all of the Gonaqade't's people started for the village, and, when they arrived, they were asked to stop their canoes a few feet off so that the village people could dance for them. Then the village people came down close to their canoes and danced. Afterward the Gonaqade't's people danced. The Gonaqade't himself always led, wearing the same hat with jointed crown.

Next day the village people danced again, and, after they were through, the chief said that his guests would have to fast. So they fasted all that day, and very early in the morning the Gonaqadē't got up and told his people that they must sit up in bed and sing before the raven called. This they had to be very particular about. Then the village chief sent to the different houses to announce that the Gonaqadē't and his people were to eat, and he gave them food that day. They danced for three days and feasted for the same length of time. The fourth day the village chief invited the Gonaqadē't's people in order to give them property. He gave more to the Gonaqadē't than to all the rest. That was his last feast. The evening he finished it he felt sad, and he and all of his people were very quiet because they had not yet seen his nephews. He said to himself, "I

wonder why this Gonaqadē't did not bring my sisters' children. That is just what I invited him to the feast for."

Soon after this thought had passed through the chief's mind the Gonaqadē't called loudly to one of his men, "Bring me my box from over yonder." This box was beautifully carved and painted, and it was from it that the Tsimshian came to know how to carve and paint boxes. Then he took out a chief's dancing hat with sea lion bristles and a rattle, and just as soon as he had done so the chief's eldest nephew stood beside him. He put the headdress upon him and gave him the rattle, and the Gonaqadē't's people sang songs for him. They sang four songs, and the Gonaqadē't said, "This hat, this rattle, and these songs are yours." The village chief was happy when he saw his nephew.

Then the Gonaqadē't went through the same actions as before. There had been twenty youths in the chief's large canoe, and he gave each a hat, a rattle, and four songs, making them all stand on one side of the house. Now the village chief felt very happy and was glad that he had invited the Gonaqadē't to him instead of doing as the village people had planned.

Next morning, when the Gonaqadē't was preparing to start, it was very foggy. He and his people left the village singing, and their canoes went along side by side until they passed out of sight in the fog. They returned to their own home.

It is from this story that people do not want to hear the raven before their guests get up. The chief's headdress with sea lion bristles also came from the GonaqAdē't, and so it happened that the Nass people wore it first.

# 35. ORIGIN OF THE L!Ê'NAXXĪ'DAQ a

A boy at Auk (Āk!") heard that a woman lived in the lake back of his village. He heard this so often that he was very anxious to see her. One day, therefore, he went up to the lake and watched there all day, but he did not see anything. Next day he did the same thing again, and late in the afternoon he thought that he would sit down in the high grass. The sun was shining on the lake, making it look very pretty.

After some time the youth noticed ripples on the water, and, jumping up to look, saw a beautiful woman come up and begin playing around in it. After her came up her two babies. Then the man waded out into the lake, caught one of the babies, rolled it up in his skin coat, and carried it home.

All that night he had to watch the child very closely, for she kept trying to get away, but at last he became so sleepy that he rolled the child up once more and fell asleep. Now the child got up, dug out the eyes of everybody in that house, beginning with the man who had captured her, and went from house to house throughout the entire village doing the same thing.

There was a sick woman in that place for whom they had made a small house back of her own, and, when this child came in to her, she tried to make out whose it was. She said to herself that she thought she knew every child in the village, yet she did not recognize this one. The child had the people's eyes rolled up in some leaves. As it sat close to the fire eating them the woman thought, "What is that child eating?" She would throw them into the fire and then take them out and eat them. Finally the woman sat up, looked to see what the child was devouring, and discovered they were human eyes. After she was through with what she had the child would go out again after more. The woman watched her closely.

Now the sick woman felt very sleepy but she did not dare to sleep for, every time she began to doze off, she felt the child coming toward her face. She had a little child beside her. Finally the sick woman determined that she would stay awake, so she placed her walking stick very close to her, and, as soon as the child came too close, she would strike it and make it run away. This continued until daylight when the child disappeared.

Now the woman was surprised to hear no noises about the town and wondered what was wrong. She thought she would go out to look. First she went to her own house and saw that all the people there were dead, with their eyes gouged out, and she saw the same thing in all the other houses. Then the woman felt very sad. She threw her marten-skin robes about herself, took a copper plate on each side, placed her baby on her back and started off. She is the L!ê'naxxī'daq, which a person sees when he is going to become very wealthy. (The L!ê'naxxī'daq is therefore one of the L!enē'dî.)

One time after this a man of the Wolf clan named Heavy Wings (Kîtcîlda'lq!) was out hunting and heard a child cry somewhere in the woods. He ran toward the sound very rapidly, but, although the child's voice seemed to be very close to him, he could not see what caused it. Then he stopped by the side of a creek, tore his clothes off, and bathed in the cold water, rubbing himself down with sand. Afterward he felt very light and, although the voice had gotten some distance away, he reached it, and saw a woman with an infant on her back. He pulled the child off and started to run away with it, but he did not escape before the woman had given him a severe scratch upon his back with her long copper finger nails. By and by he came to a tree that hung out over the edge of a high cliff and ran out to the end of it with the child in his arms. Then the woman begged very hard for her baby saying, "Give me my baby." As she spoke she put her hand inside of her blanket and handed him a copper. When he still

refused to give her the child she handed him another. Then he gave the child back, and she said, "That scratch I made on your back will be a long time in healing. If you give a scab from it to any one of your people who is poor, he will become very rich. Do not give it to anybody but your very near relations."

And so in fact it turned out. The sore did not heal for a long time, not even after he had become very rich. Everything that he put his hand to prospered, and the relations to whom he had given scabs

became the richest ones next to him.

#### 36. THE THUNDERS

A high-caste girl who had four brothers went out of the house one morning and stepped on a snail. Then she said "Oh! this nasty thing. There isn't a time when I go out but that snail is around this house." The evening after a youth of about her own age came to the girl, and she went off with him.

When the people found that she had disappeared they searched for her everywhere. They did not know what had become of her. Her brothers also hunted everywhere, but for a long time without result. Some distance behind the village was a high, perpendicular cliff without a tree or a bush on it, and half way up they at last saw their sister with a very large snail coiled around her. They ran about underneath and called to her to throw herself down, but she could not. 'She was stuck there.

After this the four brothers tried to find some way of flying. They tried one kind of wood after another and also bone for wings but in vain. After they had flown for a short distance they always dropped down again. Finally they employed yellow cedar. The first time they used it they got half way up to the place where their sister was, but the second time they reached her and dragged her down, leaving the snail still there.

But the four brothers now left their own village, because they said that their sister had disgraced them, and they became the Thunders. When they move their wings you hear the thunder, and, when they wink, you see the lightning.

At the time when these brothers first went away the people at their father's village were starving, so they flew out over the ocean, caught a whale and brought it to the town that it might be found next morning. So nowadays people claim that the Thunder is powerful and can get anything, because they know that it was powerful at that time. After the famine was over they left the world below, went to the sky to live, and have never been seen since.

The Tagestina' claim the Thunder, because those brothers belonged

to that family.

#### 37. ORIGIN OF THE SCREECH OWL a

There was a certain woman at Sitka living with her husband and her husband's mother. One evening she got hemlock branches, made strings out of red-cedar bark, tied them together, and put them around herself. Then she went out to a flat rock, still called Herring rock, where herring are very abundant, just as the tide was coming over it, and, when the fish collected in the branches, she threw them up on the beach. Every day during the herring season she did the same thing, and after she reached the house she put her apron carefully away until next time.

One day her old mother-in-law heard her cooking the herring and said, "What is that you are cooking, my son's wife?" "Oh!" she answered, "a few clams that I have collected." "Will you give me some?" said the old woman, for she was hungry, but, when she reached out her hand for it, her daughter-in-law dropped a hot rock into it and burnt her.

When her son came home that evening the old woman told him what had happened. She said, "She was cooking something. I know that it did not smell like clams. When I asked her for some she gave me a hot rock and burnt my hand. I wonder where she got that fish, for I am sure that it was some sort of fish. Immediately after you leave she is off. I don't know what she does."

When the man heard that, he and his brother who had been hunting with him started out at once before his wife saw them. They pretended that they were again going hunting, but they returned immediately to a place where they could watch the village. From there they saw the woman put on her apron of hemlock boughs, go out to the rock, and come home with the herring. As soon as she had gone in they went out themselves and got a canoe load of the fish. Then the woman's husband went up to the house and said to his wife, "I have a load of herring down there." So she ran down to the canoe and saw that it was loaded with them. She began shouting up to them, "Bring me down my basket," for she wanted to carry up the fish in it. The people heard her, but they felt ill-disposed toward her on account of the way she had treated her mother-in-law, so they paid no attention. She kept on shouting louder and louder, and presently her voice became strange. She shouted, "Hade' wudîkā't, wudîkā't, wudîkā't." She also began hooting like an owl.

As she kept on making this noise her voice seemed to go farther away from the village. The people noticed it but paid no attention. After she had asked for the basket right behind the village, she sounded still more like an owl, and finally she ceased to ask for the

a Story 98 is another version.

b This way with the basket (kat).

basket, and merely hooted (hm, hm). She had become the screech owl. She left them altogether.

Nowadays, when a young girl is very selfish, people say to her, "Ah! when you get married, you will put a hot rock into your mother-in-law's hand, and for punishment you will become an owl."

# 38. LITTLE FELON

A certain man had a felon (kwêq) on his finger and suffered terribly, so that he could get no sleep. He did not know what to do for it. One day somebody said to him, "Hold it under the smoke hole of the house and get some one to poke it with something very sharp through the smoke hole. You will find that it will get well." He did so, and the two eyes of the felon came right out. Then he wrapped them up and put them away. Late in the evening he looked at it and saw a little man there about an inch long. It was the disease from his finger. He took very good care of this little man and he grew rapidly, soon becoming large enough to run about. He called the little man Little Felon (Kwêqk!").

Little Felon was a very industrious little fellow, always at work, and he knew how to carve, make canoes, paint, and do other similar things. When he was working his master could not keep from working himself. He simply had to work. They thought it was because he had come from the hand. Little Felon was also a good shot with bow and arrows, and he was a very fast runner, running races with all the different animals. Finally he started to run a race with the heron, and everybody said the heron would prove too much for him. They raced all the way round Prince of Wales island, and, when they were through, Little Felon said to the heron, "I have been way back among the mountains of this island, and there are thirty-three lakes." The heron answered, "I have been all along the creeks, and there are fifty creeks."

By and by a youth said to Little Felon, "There is a girl living with a certain old woman. She is a very pretty girl and wants to marry, but she hasn't seen anybody she likes. Her grandmother has the dried skin of an animal and she has been making all the young fellows guess the name of it. Those that guess wrong are put to death. You ought to try for her." But Little Felon said to the boy, "I don't care to marry, and I don't want to guess, because I know. You tell her that it is the skin of a louse. It was crawling upon the woman, and she put it into a box and fed it until it grew large. Then she killed and skinned it. You will get her if you tell her. But be careful. That old woman knows a lot about medicines. When you are going toward her, go with the wind. Don't let the wind come from her. Don't go toward her when the south wind is blowing. Go

49438—Bull. 39—09—12

toward her when the north wind is blowing. Nobody goes directly to her. People talk to her from quite a distance. A person goes to her house only to be put to death. Those persons who guess stand a great way off to do it. When they don't guess right they go to that house and are put to death. She has a large square dish in which she cooks their bodies."

After that the boy went toward the old woman's camp and remained at some distance from her for a very long time, for the south wind was blowing continually. She seemed to know that he was there, and said to her granddaughter, "There is a fellow coming who has been around here for a very long time. He is the one who is going to marry you." The little man had said to the youth he was helping, "Don't tell about me. That old woman has all kinds of dangerous things with which to kill people."

As soon as the north wind began to blow, Little Felon told him to go on, so he approached the old woman unnoticed and stood looking at her for a long time. Finally she looked up, saw him, and said, "Oh! my grandson, from how far away have you come?" He told her, and she invited him in to have something to eat. She gave him all kinds of food. Then, when they were through, she showed him the skin and said, "What kind of skin is this?" He answered, "That is a louse skin, grandma." She looked at him then for some time without speaking. Finally she said, "Where are you wise from, from your father?" "Oh!" he said, "from all around." Then she said "All right, you can marry my granddaughter. But do you see that place over there? A very large devilfish lives there. I want you to kill it."

The youth went back to Little Felon and told him what she had said. "Oh!" he answered, "there is a monster there. That is the way she gets rid of boys, is it?" So Little Felon made a hook, went to the place where the devilfish lived, made it small, and pulled it right out. He put the stick over his companion's shoulder and said to him, "Carry it this way." The youth did so and, coming to the old woman's house, he said, "Is this the devilfish you were talking about?" He threw it down, and it grew until it became a monster again that filled the entire house. The old woman felt very badly, and said, "Take it out of this house and lay it down outside." He did so, and the moment he picked it up it grew small again.

Then the old woman said, "Do you see that cliff that goes right down into the water? A monster rat lives there. If you kill it, you shall have my granddaughter." The youth went away again and told Little Felon about it, who said, "I told you so. I knew that she would give you a lot of things to do." So they got their bows and arrows ready, went to the hole of the monster, and looked in. It was asleep. They began shooting it. They blinded it first by

shooting into its eyes and then they shot it through the heart. They ran in to it to shoot, but, as soon as they had wounded it fatally, they rushed out again, and it followed them. It ran right into the ocean, and they could hear it splashing the water about it with its tail. It sounded like thunder. Finally the rat died and drifted ashore.

Then Little Felon told the young man to take it up and carry it to the old woman, and, as soon as he had grasped it, it was very small and light. He carried it in to her and said, "Is this the rat you were talking about?" Then he threw it down, and it filled the house. So she said, "Take it up and put it outside."

Now the old woman spoke again. "Way out there in the middle of the ocean is a sculpin. Go out and fish for it, and you shall get my granddaughter." So he and Little Felon went out there and caught the sculpin, which Little Felon made very small. He threw it into the bottom of the canoe and left it there. When they reached land the youth took it up to the old woman and threw it down inside. Lo! it was an awful monster with great spines.

Now the old woman did not know what to do. She thought, "What kind of boy is this?" Then she said, "Do you see that point? A very large crab lives out there. Go and kill it." When they got out there they saw the crab floating about on its back. It looked very dangerous. Little Felon, however, told the crab to get small, and it did so. He killed it, put it into the canoe, and carried it to the old woman, who exclaimed, "Oh! he has killed everything that belongs to me."

Then the old woman said, "Go far out to sea beyond the place where you got that sculpin. I dropped my bracelet overboard there. Go and get it." So he and Little Felon set out. But first they dug a quantity of clams and removed the shells. They took these out to that place and threw them around in the water, when all kinds of fish began to come up. Then Little Felon saw a dogfish coming up and said to it, "A bracelet was lost over there. Go and get it for me." He did so, and the youth took it to the old woman.

Then the old woman was very much surprised and said, "Well! that is the last." So she said to her granddaughter, "Come out. Here is your husband. You must have respect for him always." So he married her. After that he went over to Little Felon and asked how much he owed him. "You don't owe me anything," said Little Felon. "You remember that at the time I was suffering so badly you pricked me through the smoke hole." And the youth answered, "Oh! yes, this is the fellow." Little Felon (Kwêqk!") is a slender fish that swims close to the beach.

After that the young man and his wife always traveled about together, for he thought a great deal of her. By and by, however, they had a quarrel and he was cruel to her. So she went away and sat

down on a point, after which she disappeared and he did not know what had happened to her. He went out on the point and hunted everywhere. He is a lonely beach snipe, called ayAhīyiya', which is often seen hunting about on the points to-day, and when they see him the Tlingit say, "There he is looking for his wife."

## 39. ORIGIN OF THE FERN ROOT AND THE GROUND HOG a

The girls of a certain place were playing house under a cliff back of their village, and each of them took some kind of food there. Among them were two very poor little orphans who had no food to bring, so the elder went home and brought up the bony part of a dry salmon and the younger a fern root named k!wakx. Then the older girls took these from them and threw them away, so that they began to cry very hard.

While the girls were crying, the cliff behind them fell over in front and imprisoned them all. They began to cry from fright. After that they began to rub on the cliff the tallow and salmon they had with them, and the little birds that had also been imprisoned began to peck it off, so that at length they began to make a hollow in the rock. In course of time the birds pecked a hole entirely through, and, when it was large enough, the girls began to crawl out. Finally all of the girls were taken out except one poor little girl who got stuck half way. The walls had in reality closed in on her, and they continued to do so until they had cut her quite in two. Her head became the fern root (k!walx) and her body became a ground hog.

# 40. THE HALIBUT THAT DIVIDED THE QUEEN CHARLOTTE ISLANDS

Formerly there was but one village on the Queen Charlotte islands (Dekī' qoan ā'nī, Town-far-out). Every day the people used to go out from this village to fish for halibut, and all were successful except one man. Though the people all about his canoe were pulling in fish he caught nothing day after day, and he became angry.

One calm day, however, he had a bite. Pulling at his line he found that something very strong was attached to it. After he had pulled it up a short distance it would pull the line away from him, and each time he let it go for fear of losing it. When he at last got it up, however, it was only a little halibut about as big as a flounder. He could not catch anything else.

In the evening, after this man had brought his halibut ashore and had entered his house, he said, "I have a very small halibut. It might bring me luck." His wife took up her knife and went down to it, but when she saw that diminutive fish she took it by the tail and threw it up on the beach. Then the halibut, which was still alive, began

to flop up and down faster and faster. Presently the woman saw a larger halibut lying there. Everybody now watched it, and it kept flopping and increasing in size until it became as large as a paddle. By and by it grew to the size of a large piece of red-cedar bark prepared for roofing, and at length it covered the entire beach. Toward evening it was a veritable monster, which smashed the whole town in pieces by its motions. Before that the Queen Charlotte group formed one large solid body of land, but the halibut broke it into the various portions that exist to-day. At that same time the people of this single village were scattered all over the group.

#### 41. THE IMAGE THAT CAME TO LIFE

A young chief on the Queen Charlotte islands married, and soon afterwards his wife fell ill. Then he sent around everywhere for the very best shamans. If there were a very fine shaman at a certain village he would send a canoe there to bring him. None of them could help her, however, and after she had been sick for a very long time she died.

Now the young chief felt very badly over the loss of his wife. He went from place to place after the best carvers in order to have them carve an image of his wife, but no one could make anything to look like her. All this time there was a carver in his own village who could carve much better than all the others. This man met him one day and said, "You are going from village to village to have wood carved like your wife's face, and you can not find anyone to do it, can you? I have seen your wife a great deal walking along with you. I have never studied her face with the idea that you might want some one to carve it, but I am going to try if you will allow me."

Then the carver went after a piece of red cedar and began working upon it. When he was through, he went to the young chief and said, "Now you can come along and look at it." He had dressed it just as he used to see the young woman dressed. So the chief went with him, and, when he got inside, he saw his dead wife sitting there just as she used to look. This made him very happy, and he took it home. Then he asked the carver, "What do I owe you for making this?" and he replied, "Do as you please about it." The carver had felt sorry to see how this chief was mourning for his wife, so he said, "It is because I felt badly for you that I made that. So don't pay me too much for it." He paid the carver very well, however, both in slaves and in goods.

Now the chief dressed this image in his wife's clothes and her marten-skin robe. He felt that his wife had come back to him and treated the image just like her. One day, while he sat mourning very close to the image, he felt it move. His wife had also been very fond of him. At first he thought that the movement was only

his imagination, yet he examined it every day, for he thought that at some time it would come to life. When he ate he always had the image close to him.

After a while the whole village learned that he had this image and all came in to see it. Many could not believe that it was not the woman herself until they had examined it closely.

One day, after the chief had had it for a long, long time, he examined the body and found it just like that of a human being. Still, although it was alive, it could not move or speak. Some time later, however, the image gave forth a sound from its chest like that of crackling wood, and the man knew that it was ill. When he had some one move it away from the place where it had been sitting they found a small red-cedar tree growing there on top of the flooring. They left it until it grew to be very large, and it is because of this that cedars on the Queen Charlotte islands are so good. When people up this way look for red cedars and find a good one they say, "This looks like the baby of the chief's wife."

Every day the image of the young woman grew more like a human being, and, when they heard the story, people from villages far and near came in to look at it and at the young cedar tree growing there, at which they were very much astonished. The woman moved around very little and never got to talk, but her husband dreamed what she wanted to tell him. It was through his dreams that he knew she was talking to him.

## 42. DJĪYĪ'N a

While the Tlingit were still living at Klinkwan (Łînqº-ān) a famine broke out. There was an orphan girl there named Djīyī'n who was taking care of herself. Once in a while her father's sister would help her, but all were starving, her father's sister also being poor.

One day some women were going off to dig ts!ēt roots, and this orphan very much wished to accompany them, but they would not take her. They said she was dirty and would bring them bad luck. When she laid hold of the canoe they struck her fingers to make her let go, but she was very hungry and very persistent, so that her father's sister finally took her in. When they encamped that night she did not come back, and they did not know what she was living on. The women who were angry with her said, "What is the matter with her? Why doesn't she come back to eat?" When they got ready to start home the orphan had not returned, and they left her there alone. They also threw water on the fire.

The girl's aunt, however, procured a coal and threw it into the brush house where they had camped, along with a piece of dried sal-

a Or better Djûn. Haida versions of the same will be found in Memoirs Amer. Mus. Nat. Hist., vIII, 226, 247. Aqā'niq!ēs is said to be in all probability Kayā'niq!ēs (For-the-leaves).

mon. She was careful not to let the others see what she was doing. Then she went back and said to the girl, "Are you coming?" "No," she replied, "since they don't want to take me, I better stay." Then her aunt said, "I have put a live coal in that brush house along with a piece of dried salmon."

As soon as the others had gone away the orphan made a big fire and cooked her roots and salmon, but she did not feel like eating. Therefore, instead of doing so, she went away and dug some more roots. In the evening she went back to her brush house, thinking she could eat now, but found that she had no appetite. So she lay down and went to sleep. Early in the morning she was awakened by a great noise which she found on looking out was made by a flock of brants (qên). She felt so tired that she lay down again and went to sleep, and, when she awoke once more, she thought she would set out after more roots. Going down to the flat where these roots grew, she found it covered with brants feeding upon them. When they saw her they flew away. Then she began removing the dead grass from the place where she was going to dig, and to her surprise came upon several big canoes looking as if they had been buried there, which were loaded with eulachon oil, dried eulachon, dried halibut, She felt very happy. She thought how lucky it and dried salmon. was that she had remained there when all of the village people were

Now the orphan thought that she would eat something, so she took some salmon and a bundle of halibut home with her. On roasting a piece of salmon, however, she found that she could not eat it. She did not know what had gotten into her that she could not force herself to eat. She wished that her aunt were with her. Next morning she discovered that the spirits were keeping food away from her because she was becoming a shaman. The brants had become her spirits. The brant spirits always come to Raven people like her. So she became a great shaman and was possessed by spirits every day, while sea gulls, crows, and all kinds of sea and woodland birds sang for her. This happened every day. Two or three times a day she would go to see the buried canoes, but she could not eat anything, and she gave up digging roots because she had no way of sharpening her sticks. Meanwhile everyone in the village thought that she had starved to death.

After some time had passed, the girl wished that some one would come to her from the village, and the day after a canoe appeared in sight. This made her very happy, especially when it got close and she found it contained some people of her acquaintance from the village. She called them up to her brush house and gave them some food from the canoes, and they remained there two or three days. They were out hunting for food. After a while she told them it was time for them

to go, and, when they were on the point of starting, she said, "Do not take a bit of the food I have given you. Leave it all here. Tell the people of our village that Djīyī'n is still living and is doing well. Tell my aunt that she must try to get here as soon as she can."

When these people got back to the village and told what had happened to the orphan, how much food she had and how lucky she had been, all the town people who had been dying of starvation started off immediately for the place where she was living. When they came in sight of her brush house they saw that from the sky right down to it the air was filled with birds. There were so many that one could not see through them. They could also hear men and women singing and the shaman performing, but, when they came close, all of the birds flew away.

As soon as the shaman heard that her people were coming she walked out to meet them and asked, "Which canoe is my aunt in? Let her land here." All of the food in one of her canoes she gave to her aunt. Then she said, "I want two women to come ashore to help me with my singing." The high-caste women in the canoes, who were all painted up, would rise one after the other, but she would not have them, and finally called two who were orphans like herself and had been treated very badly by their own people. All the others then started to come ashore, and she told them where to camp. She had room enough in her own house only for the two girls and her aunt.

These high-caste people had brought their slaves with them when they came to her, and she got them herself in exchange for food. She had three brush houses built to hold them. She also dressed up the two little orphans so that they looked very pretty. After a long time the people left her to return to their own village, and, when another long period had elapsed, her spirit made the town chief sick, and they hired her to come and treat him.

This shaman had belonged to a very high-caste family, but they had died off and left her very poor, and nothing remained of her uncle's house except the posts. Grass grew all about inside of it, and when the shaman was entering the village she saw the posts of her uncle's house and felt very sad. She told them to land near by. Then she looked up, raised an eagle's tail in one hand, blew upon it, and waved it back and forth in front of them. The fourth time a fine house stood there. Then they carried all of her things into this, and she had the slaves she had procured work for her, while the two orphans she had taken were now considered high caste.

At that time the sick chief's daughter also fell sick. Then the spirits turned all the minds of the chief's people away from her, and they paid other shamans in the village. The sick ones, however, continued to get worse and worse, until they finally remembered that

she also was a shaman and sent for her. When the messenger came one of the orphans asked, "How much will they pay the shaman?" "Two slaves," they said. She thought that this was not enough, and the messenger went back. When he came again, she again asked, "How much are they going to pay the shaman?" "Two slaves and some goods." Then she agreed, and, as soon as the messenger had left, Djīyī'n said to the two girls, "Come on. Let us go."

As soon as she had arrived at the house she sat down between the two sick people and worked very hard to cure them. Her spirits could see immediately what the matter was. This house was crowded with people except around the fire where the shaman was perform-Then Djīyī'n walked around and said, "The witch that is killing you two has not come." They sent to all the houses in the village and assembled those who were there in the house in place of the previous occupants. Djīyī'n examined all of them again, and again said, "The witch is not yet here." Finally the spirits in her began to say, "The road of the witch is very clear now. The road of the witch is straight for this house." Again they said, "The witch is coming." By and by they began to hear a bird whistling in the woods back of the house, and she said, "Yes, hear her. She is coming." And when the sound came near the door she said, "Open the door and let her come in." So they opened the door, and there sat a wild canary (s!ās!). Then the shaman told her to sit between the two sick persons, and she did so. She was making a great deal of noise, and the shaman said, "Tie her wings back." Not long afterward the people heard a great noise like thunder which seemed a great distance off. Then the shaman said, "Here are her children. They are offended and are coming in. Stop up all of the holes so that they may not enter." The noise grew louder and louder, however, and presently birds began to fly in right through the boards. At last the house became so full of them as to be well nigh suffocating, and very many of the people were injured. Whoever the birds flew against would have a cut or bruise. All at once the house again became empty, not a bird being left inside except the one that was tied.

By this time it was morning, the people having sat in that house all night, and the bird made still more noise. "She is already telling about it," said the shaman. "She wants to go to the place where she has the food and the pieces of hair with which she is bewitching you." Finally she left the house, but although they had untied her wings she walked along ahead of four men instead of flying. She went up the way she had come down and began scratching at the roots of some bushes some distance up in the woods. There she came upon the top of a skull in which were some hair, food, and pieces of clothing arranged in a certain manner along with different kinds of

leaves. She took these down to the beach and threw them out on the sea in different directions. Afterward she went back to the house with the four men still following her.

By and by the bird began making noises again, and the shaman, who alone could understand her, said that she wanted to leave the place. She hated to go back to her own place among the other birds because she knew that they would be ashamed of her, so she asked them to take her to a town called Close-along-the-beach (Yênq!asē'sîtciyî-ān). When they took down a canoe to carry her off she flew right into it. Then the shaman said, "When you get her to the place whither she wants to go, go ashore and put her there, and turn right back." Then they started on with her, and after a time she made so much noise that they said, "Let us put her ashore here. This must be the place." They did so, and, as soon as they got close in, the bird flew out upon the beach and started up it very fast. One man followed her to see where she would go and saw her pass under a tree with protruding roots. This was the town she had been talking about.

As soon as the witch put the skull and other things into the water the chief and his daughter recovered. Before the events narrated in this story people did not know anything about witchcraft, and the ancients used to say that it was from this bird that they learned it years ago.

#### 43. THE SELF-BURNING FIRE

One winter the people at a certain place on Copper river were left with nothing to eat and began dying off. About the middle of that winter all of the children and some of the adults were dead, and only about half of the former population remained. When only eight men were left they said to one another, "Let us leave. Let us walk down this side of the river." So they started off down the bank, and, after a long time, one of them died of cold. They buried him and went on. By and by another froze to death and was also buried. This kept on until there were only four. One day three of the remainder succumbed in succession, the last at evening, leaving but one man from all that village. This man was very sickly looking, but he felt strong, and when his last companion fell, he left him lying there and went on rapidly. He thought he would drop with grief, however, at the loss of his last comrade.

As he was going on quite late in the evening he suddenly heard some one shout right ahead of him. He followed the voice, which kept on calling continually. Finally he came to a great fire and stood near it to warm himself. It was that that had been calling him.

a The words of the narrator, but corpses were usually burned.

When the man had become thoroughly warmed he was about to start on again. Suddenly, however, he heard the bushes breaking behind him, and, looking back, he saw all the men who had frozen to death and all of the village people standing around the fire. This fire is called Self-burning Fire (Wayî'k! ga'nî), and it was that that had brought all of those people to life. From that time on they were able to get their food very easily at the mouth of the river.

# 44. THE GIANT OF TA'SNA

At Tā'sna, near the mouth of the Yukon(?), was a large village in which everybody had died except one small boy. His mother was the last to perish. This boy was very independent, however, remaining in his mother's house all the time instead of going around to the other houses in the place. Every day he went out with his bow and arrows and shot small birds and squirrels for his sustenance.

On one of these hunting trips, however, he met a very large man with bushes growing on one side of his face. The big man chased him, and, being very quick, the boy tried to climb up a tree, but the big man reached right up after him and pulled him down. Then the big man said, "I am not going to hurt you. Stand right here." So he put the boy on a high place, went some distance away and said, "Take your bow and arrows and shoot me right here," pointing at the same time to a spot between his eyebrows. At first the boy was afraid to do so, and the big man begged him all that day. Finally, when it was getting dark, he thought, "Well! I will shoot him. He may kill me if I don't, and he will kill me if I do." The moment he shot the man, however, he saw his mother and all the village people that had been lost. All had been going to this big man. That was why the man wanted the boy to shoot him. It brought all the people back.

[This story is used in potlatch speeches.]

# 45. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED A LAND OTTER a

A man at Sitka had three little children who were crying with hunger because he had nothing to give them. His sister had been captured by the land otters after having been nearly drowned. Then he said to the little ones, "You poor children, I wish your aunt were living." Some time afterward that same evening he heard a load set down outside, and going out to look, he saw a very large basket filled with all kinds of dried meat and fish, and oil. The sister he had been wishing for had brought it. Then this woman herself came in and said, "I have brought that for the little ones. I will be right back again. I live only a short distance from here.

We have a village there named Transparent-village (Kāna'xadak-ān). You must come and stay with us." The man said that he was making a canoe and had to finish it, but she replied, "Your nephews are coming over, and they will finish your canoe for you."

After the food that his sister had brought him had given out she came to him again with more and said, "I have come after you now. Bring your little ones and come along. I see that you are having a hard time with them."

So her brother prepared to go. Before he started he got some blue hellebore (s!îkc), which he soaked in water to make it very strong and bitter, and finally his sister's boys came, fine-looking young men who were peculiar only in having very long braids of hair hanging down their backs. In reality these were their tails. He showed them where his canoe was so that they could go to work on it, and, after they had completed it roughly, they pulled it down for him.

Then the man started off with his family, and, sure enough, when he rounded the point what appeared to him like a fine village lay there. The people came to meet them, but his sister said, "Don't stay right in the village. Stay here, a little distance away."

The people of that place were very good to him and gave him all the halibut he wanted, but he always had the blue hellebore by him to keep from being injuriously affected. They were also in the habit of singing a cradle song for his youngest child which went this way, "The tail is growing. The tail is growing." Then he examined the child, and in fact a tail was really growing upon it, so he chopped it off.

Finally the man's sister told him that he was staying there a little too long, and he started back toward his village. As he went he looked back, and there was nothing to be seen but land-otter holes. Before they had appeared like painted houses. Then he returned to his own place with all kinds of food given him by the land otters.

#### 46. THE LAND-OTTERS' CAPTIVE

Several persons once went out from Sitka together, when their canoe upset and all were drowned except a man of the Kîksa'dî. A canoe came to this man, and he thought that it contained his friends, but they were really land otters. They started southward with him and kept going farther and farther, until they had passed clear round the Queen Charlotte islands. At every place where they stopped they took in a female land otter. All this time they kept a mat made out of the broad part of a piece of kelp, over the man they had captured until at length they arrived at a place they called Rainy-village (Sī'wu-ā'nî).

At this place the man met an aunt who had been drowned years before and had become the wife of two land otters. She was dressed in a ground-hog robe. Then she said to him, "Your aunt's husbands will save you. You must come to see me this evening." When he came his aunt said, "I can't leave these people, for I have learned to think a great deal of them."

Afterward his aunt's husbands started back with him. They did not camp until midnight. Their canoe was a skate, and, as soon as they came ashore, they would turn it over on top of him so that, no matter how hard he tried to get out, he could not. In making the passage across to Cape Ommaney they worked very hard, and shortly after they landed they heard the raven. They could go only a short distance for food.

When they first started back the woman had said to her husbands, "Don't leave him where he can be captured again. Take him to a good place." So they left him close to Sitka. Then he walked around in the neighborhood of the town and made the people suffer so much every night that they could not sleep, and determined to capture him. They fixed a rope in such a way as to ensnare him, but at first they were unsuccessful. Finally, however, they placed dog bones in the rope so that they would stick into his hands, dog bones being the greatest enemies of the land otters.

Late that night the land-otter-man tore his hands so with these bones that he sat down and began to scream, and, while he was doing this, they got the rope around him and captured him. When they got him home he was at first very wild, but they restored his reason by cutting his head with dog bones. He was probably not so far gone as most victims. Then they learned what had happened to him.

After this time, however, he would always eat his meat and fish raw. Once, when he was among the halibut fishers, they wanted very much to have him eat some cooked halibut. He was a good halibut fisher, probably having learned the art from the land otters, though he did not say so. For a long time the man refused to take any, but at last consented and the food killed him.

### 47. THE MAN FED FROM THE SKY

Dātgā's, the nephew of a chief at Chilkoot, used to lie all the time bundled up in a corner made by the retaining timbers. When everybody else was in bed he would rise and go to the fire. Then he would gather the coals into a heap in order to warm his blanket over them. The people of that town were starving, so Dātgā's would say, as he held his blanket over the coals, "Would that a piece of dried salmon fell upon this from the smoke hole." He did this every night.

a Supernatural beings who heard the raven call before they came to land, died.

One time, as he was standing over the fire without holding his blanket out, some one called to him, "Dātgā's, stretch out your blanket once more." So he stretched it out and held it there for some time thinking, "Who is that calling me?" By and by he heard the voice again, "Dātgā's, stretch it out farther." So, though he could not see who was speaking, he stretched it far out. Then half of a salmon fell upon his blanket. He took this, cut it into small pieces, and distributed them among a number of empty boxes that were in the house. At once all of those boxes were full of salmon.

The uncle of Datga's had two wives, the younger of whom was very good to him. Although they had to be sparing with their food, when they were eating salmon she always put a little piece aside for him. The next evening, after he had eaten his morsel of food and was lying down, he was called once more by the voice, "Stretch your blanket out again." He ran quickly to the smoke hole and spread out his blanket under it, but nothing came down, so he said, "I think I will wish for something. I wish that some grease would come down to eat with the salmon." And suddenly a sack of grease fell upon his blanket, knocked it away, and dropped upon the fireplace. He ran with this to the empty grease boxes and put a spoonful in each, upon which all were immediately filled with grease. Once more the voice called him, "Dātgā's, stretch your blanket out again." He did so, wishing for a sack of berries, and an animal stomach filled with them dropped down at once. This time he held his blanket very firmly so that it would not be carried out of his fingers. He put a spoonful of berries into each empty berry box, and they were all filled.

After this he sat down thinking that he would not be summoned again, but once more the voice came, this time very loudly, "Dātgā's, stretch out your blanket." So he stretched it out, and there came down upon it a sack of cranberries preserved in grease. He put a spoonful into each empty box as before and filled them.

Again came the voice, "Dātgā's, stretch out your blanket." Then there came down a piece of venison dried with the fat on. When he had cut it into many small pieces and distributed these among the boxes they were at once filled. It was now very late, but the voice called him once more, "Dātgā's, stretch out your blanket again." Then there came down a cake of dried soapberries which he broke into little pieces, distributed among the boxes and made those full also.

Next morning the chief's house was crowded with hungry people begging for food, and all that the chief could give them was a little tobacco to chew. He had nothing even for himself. Seeing this, the people began to go out. Now, Dātgā's said to his uncle, "Why are all going out without having had anything to eat?" He was a very quiet fellow who seldom said anything, and, when he broke out in

this manner, his uncle became very angry with him. "Why do you want those people to stay?" he said. "What will you give them to eat? If you have so much to say why don't you feed them?" "Well," answered Dātgā's, "I will feed them." His uncle looked at him in surprise. He had seen him acting strangely at night, and had wondered what he was doing. While they were talking, the younger wife of his uncle kept looking at him and shaking her head, because she was afraid that her husband would become angry with him.

His uncle thought that the boy was only talking, so he said "Feed"

His uncle thought that the boy was only talking, so he said, "Feed them, then." The boy said, "Call them all in and I will feed them." Half of the people had already gone out, but some stood listening to him as he talked with his uncle, and one of these who stood near the

door called those that had gone out, to return.

When the people were all in, Dātgā's went to the place where the salmon used to be packed away, and his uncle thought to himself, "That fellow is going back there to those empty boxes." When he returned with one of them, however, it looked very heavy, and presently he handed out a salmon to every boy in the room, telling him to roast it at the fire. So his uncle had nothing more to say.

Next Dātgā's told some of the boys to get trays, and, after he had filled them, he set them before the people. Telling them to keep quiet, he went back again to the place where the boxes were and called for help. Two more boys went back there and brought forward a box of oil to eat with their salmon.

ward a box of oil to eat with their salmon.

After they had eaten these things, he called the boys to go back with him again and they brought out a box of venison. His uncle kept very quiet while this was going on, and his younger wife felt very proud. Next Dātgā's had them bring out a box of berries preserved in grease, which he passed around in large dishes. The chief began to think that his nephew was giving too much at a time of famine, but he could say nothing. Then preserved high-bush cranberries were served to the people in large dishes and finally soapberries, which all the boys stirred.

After this feast everyone left the house, but they seen same heals.

After this feast everyone left the house, but they soon came back one by one to buy food, for they had plenty of other property. People that were dying of starvation were strengthened by the food he gave them. For one large moose hide he would give two salmon. He asked his uncle's younger wife to receive the goods that he was getting in exchange. But, after he had obtained a great deal of property more than half of the food was still left.

The chief, his uncle, was quite old at that time, both of his wives being much younger. He felt very well disposed toward his nephew to think that he had been so liberal and had kept up his uncle's name, so he said to him, "You have done well to me and to my village

a These were the berries called tinx.

people. Had it been another young fellow he would have hidden the food, but instead you have brought my village people and myself to life. Now take your choice between my wives. Take whichever you want."

The young man did not answer at once, but the younger wife knew that he would choose her, because the elder wife hated him. Finally he said, "I will take the young woman, for she has been good to me." Then his uncle moved to one side and let his nephew take his place. He became exceedingly wealthy, and was very good to the people of his village and to his uncle.

### 48. THE SALMON SACK

A small boy whose father was dead lived with his mother at the town of Āsna'xk! on the Queen Charlotte islands. The other town people were continually bringing in halibut and a salmon called îcqē'n, but he and his mother could not get one piece and were very hungry. One day he begged to accompany some people who were going out, and they consented. When he got to the fishing ground he had a bite and began to pull up his line very rapidly. As he did so numbers of salmon tails began coming up for some distance around, and the people started to put them into the canoe. They did not know what it meant. When he got it up they found that it was a very large sack full of salmon with just their tails sticking out, and they completely filled their canoes, for the salmon extended all about them. Then they carried these ashore and had so many that they began making oil out of some. With this oil and the dried salmon the people of that village had plenty to eat.

Years ago it always happened that the poor people to whom others were unkind brought luck to the village. They were so unkind to this boy that they did not give him any halibut, and that is why it was through him that they had plenty to eat.

#### 49. ROOTS a

A boy was walking along in front of the houses of a very populous village early one morning when a quill fell right in front of him. The boy picked it up and started to run away, but it lifted him up into the air out of sight. After that several other people were missed, and no one knew what had become of them. Finally, however, they saw another going up very rapidly, and so discovered what was the matter. Now, the people watched very closely, and, when another was seen to be taken up, a man seized him by the legs. He, however, was also lifted into the air. Then another grasped him, and all of the people of the village kept on doing this, thinking to break the

string, until no one was left in that town except a woman and her daughter. These two lived at one end and refused to touch the others.

The mother of this girl was very fond of making spruce-root baskets, and, when she went after roots, the girl always accompanied her. When her mother cut off the ends of the roots out in the forest her daughter would chew them because they were sweet, and swallow the juice, after which she would spit them out and take more. Finally she got so used to chewing them that she would chew up fine the roots themselves and swallow them.

Now, after this had gone on for some time, the girl saw that she was growing large, and presently she gave birth to a boy baby. While this child was still very small she bathed him in cold water to make him strong, and he grew very fast.

When he was partially grown he one day saw the quill which had carried away the people, picked it up and pulled on it very hard. Then he noticed that someone was pulling it up. This invisible person tried to pull him up also, but he was very strong and ran out roots into the ground in every direction so that he could not be moved. All that he could see was the quill. He tried hard to find a line fastened to it, but there was nothing visible except the quill pulling up and down. He determined to hold on, however, to see what would happen, and at last he felt something break and the quill come away in his hands.

While Roots continued sitting in the same place a boy came to him saying, "Where is that quill of mine? Give it to me." Then Roots answered, "Well! where are my village people? Give them to me." "Give me the quill first," said the boy. "No, give me back my village people first, and I will give you the quill." Then he begged very hard for his village people, and the boy begged very hard for the quill, until at last Roots heard the noise of people coming. At that he handed back the quill and the boy vanished.

The people did not come that day, however, and Roots was uneasy, feeling that he had been very foolish to give the quill back before his friends had returned. Next morning early, however, he heard a great noise as of people moving about, and he jumped out of bed to look. The houses throughout the village were filled with their former occupants, who had come back during the night. All were very glad to get back after their long absence, for where they had been they seemed to have suffered. All complained of the mean master that they had had, but they could not tell whether they had been made slaves or not. All were very good to Roots for having restored them.

Afterward Roots, the full form of whose name is Root-ends (XAt cugū'Lk\!î), was known everywhere, and all of the strong people would go to his village to test him. Among them went a strong rock, called Itc!, who felt that he was very powerful. When they began to

contend, Roots jumped upon Itc! first but could not move him. Then Roots looked at his antagonist and saw that he was half buried in the ground although a human being. This made Roots angry and he stooped down, picked Itc! up, and threw him down headlong. After he had done so he looked and lo! there lay only a rock. If it had not been for the numbers of roots that Roots sent out, however, Itc! would have beaten him.

#### 50. THE MUCUS CHILD

From a certain village the men began to disappear. They would go up into the woods behind after firewood and never come back. Finally all the rest of the men went up there together, intending to kill whatever had been destroying their friends, but they, too, never came back. Then the women and children began disappearing in the same manner until not one person remained except a woman and her daughter who refused to go out.

After that the younger woman walked back and forth in front of the houses, crying and calling to each of the former house owners. One day she cried very hard until the mucus ran down from her nose, and, wiping this off, she threw it down near one of the doors. After a while she noticed from the corner of her eye that it moved. She looked at it closely and saw that it was like a bubble. Then she stooped down to examine it and saw in it a little man. Before the bubble had disappeared she picked it up and swallowed it and soon discovered that she was pregnant. In a short time she gave birth to a boy.

This mucus child grew up very fast, and, when he was old enough to shoot, his mother made him a bow and arrows with which to practise. When he became somewhat larger he asked his mother, "Mother, why are these houses empty? Where have the people that occupied them gone?" And his mother answered, "We had many friends in this village. They would go after wood and never return. The women and children did the same thing. They followed their husbands and parents and never returned." This boy grew up very fast, and meanwhile he kept thinking to himself, "I wonder what happened to those people who went up after wood and did not come back." After he had become still larger he made himself a bow and arrow points, and his mother made him a quiver. With these he ventured a short distance up into the woods. He was afraid to go far.

Finally he thought, "I am going a long distance up into the woods, but I am not going to say a word about it to my mother." And so, early in the morning, he went straight up from the house and, after traveling for some time, reached a creek of black water which ran out from under a glacier. There he met a large man who said to him,

"Grandson, take off all of your clothes, get into this creek until the water is up to your neck, and sit there no matter how cold it is." The boy did so, and, after a long time, the big man saw the water shake around him and thought, "The water is shaking because he has sat in it so long that he is beginning to get cold." Then the big man told him to come out, and, after he had done so, he said, "Go and try to pull up that tree." This tree was a short one, and he pulled it up easily by the roots. Then the big man told him to strike a large round white rock near by to see if he could smash it, and he did so. The rock was broken in pieces. But this rock was only a friable one put there on purpose for the boy to break. Then the big man said to him, "Put on your clothes now and go home. To-morrow come up again."

The next day the big man told him to get into the creek again, and, when he saw him shivering, told him to come out and pull up a still larger tree. He pulled it up easily. Then he took him to a still larger rock that looked shiny and hard and told him to strike it. When he did so the tree went into slivers, but the rock was intact. So he told the boy to dress, run down home, and come up again very early. This time he was told to pull up a big crab-apple tree. He succeeded, but, although it looked easy to him to break the rock, only the tree was shattered.

The fourth time the boy came up very early before daylight. After he had been in the stream long enough to shiver the big man said, "Run to that tree standing over there. Try to break that." It was a wild maple, but he broke it more easily than the crab apple. The big man was surprised.

Now the boy knew that he had great strength, and when the big man told him to try to smash the rock again, the rock flew all about. Then the big man took off his leggings, his shirt, and his moccasins, which were beautifully worked with porcupine quills, and put them on the boy. The moccasins were made to tie to the leggings and the sole of one of them was a whetstone. Then the man told him that he was Strength and had come to help him. He showed him a valley and said, "Go right up that valley, making sure to walk in the middle of it. On one side is the glacier. As soon as you reach the top of the mountain you will hear some one calling. You will see a large town there. This village is where your people went when they disappeared and those are the wolf people that took them. As soon as they get within your reach hit them with your club, and if it touches one of them it will kill him. Run up the hill. If you run down the hill you will be caught. If you become tired, think of me and you will become stronger."

Now the boy went up the hill as he had been directed until he reached the end of the valley, where he heard some one call. He

looked down and saw a very large town. At once people came running toward him, and he clubbed them. He could see them fall but did not feel his club strike. He kept on running up the hill, clubbing his pursuers as he went until he had destroyed all of them. Then he returned to his benefactor.

When Strength heard what had happened, he said, "Go back, for there is another village on the other side. Go there and call to them. They will not see you as quickly as these first. Call to them, 'Give me my uncle's life, my village people's life.' If they refuse, tell them that you are going to strike their village with your club. If they allow you to have it they will hand you a box." He gave the boy strict orders not to strike unless they refused to give him the box of lives.

When the boy came to the first house in this village, he asked for the lives of his town people, but they said, "We don't know where they are. They might be in the next house." He went to that, and they said the same thing there. They answered him in the same manner at all of the houses. By the time he reached the last he was discouraged, thinking that he had undertaken all of that labor for nothing. He went in there, however, and said, "Give me my village people's lives. If you don't give them to me, I will strike your village." This was the town chief's house, however, and he said, "Don't strike our village. I will give you the lives of your village people." These people were also wolf people. Then the wolf chief handed him'the box of lives and said, "Take it back to your village and leave it in each house for four days. At the end of four days go into the house and see what has happened."

After this the boy returned to his native village and left the box of lives four days in the house of his uncle, the chief. Early on the morning of the day following he heard noises there, jumped up and went over to it. There were all of his people walking about and looking very happy. He left the box in every house in town for the prescribed period until all the absent ones had come to life, and all of their houses were filled as before. All the time this boy was away among the wolves his mother and grandmother were worrying about him, but after the people had been restored they were very happy.

#### 51. THE SALMON CHIEF

A certain fisherman fished for salmon and nothing else. One day, after he had fished for a long time, he was walking upon the beach and came upon a salmon left by the tide. He was very glad for he had not been getting any fish for some time and saw that this was nice and fresh. He said to himself, "Oh! what a nice meal I shall have." He had been very hungry for salmon. But, as he reached down to pick it up, it spoke to him saying, "No, no, don't eat me. I am chief of all the

salmon. Put me into the water and let me go out again. You will get lots of salmon if you let me go." The man felt very badly to lose it, but he thought that since it talked to him in this way he would let it go, and he did so.

Before this happened it had been very stormy, so that the fisherman had been unable to get anything, but now it became calm, and he went out fishing and caught many salmon. Next day he went for more, but it was so stormy at sea that he could not catch any. Then he thought that he would walk along shore again. He did so, and when he came to the place where he had found the first salmon he saw another large, fine salmon. He thought, "Oh! what a fine-looking salmon, and I have to let it go again." But the salmon spoke up at once saying, "No, don't let me go. Take me home, and you shall have me for your supper. After you have cooked me do not break any of my bones. Take care of all of them. Take the bones out of my head and place them in a dish. Then put them under your pillow and sleep on them to-night."

This man lived alone with his wife, and they had no children but were very anxious for them. About midnight the man awoke and, looking under his pillow, saw two fine-looking boy babies.

The children grew up quite fast, and one of them was very brave, but the other was a coward and always stayed at home. One day the former asked his father, "Are you two the only ones who live here?" "That is all; that is all," said his father, for he did not want his son to leave them. After that the boy begged hard to go away, and asked his father to put up some food for him to take, but at first his father refused. He begged so hard, however, that after a while his parents consented and prepared it.

So the boy finally went away, and presently he came to where an old woman lived. This woman said to him, "My grandson." "Oh! my grandmother," said he. Then she gave him something to eat. She put something into a very small kettle, and, after it was cooked, she gave it to him and it tasted very good. Then she looked up at him and said, "I suppose you thought 'That old woman who lives back there is starving.' I don't suppose you thought I had anything to eat." Afterward the boy said, "Grandmother, why is it that this village looks so black?" She answered, "There is a monster there which is a human being and yet not a human being. It has seven heads. It is to be fed with the chief's daughter. Otherwise he will murder every one in the village." Finally they heard a drum and saw people going along dancing. They were taking the chief's daughter to this monster. Then the boy saw them return without her."

a This portion of the story and that which follows look like a garbled European myth, such as the story of Perseus and Andromeda, or that of Hercules and the Hydra.

At once the boy started on a run toward the place whither they had taken this girl and presently came upon her walking toward the monster very slowly. When she heard some one walking up to her she turned round and saw the boy. She said, "Where are you going?" Said he, "Where are you going?" "Oh! my father has given me to this seven-headed monster, and that is where I am going." Then the boy said, "Don't go there. You better go back with me." She kept going along closer and closer to the monster's place and seemed to go slower and slower.

By and by they saw the man with his seven heads sticking out of the den. He began to laugh when he saw them and said, "I thought I was going to have only one girl to eat, but I am also going to have a fat, plump boy." The boy answered, "You are going to have me to eat, are you? You and I will fight first." Then the monster laughed again and said to him, "Do you see all of those bones around there." Human bones lay all around. "And you think you can fight me."

After that they began fighting. The boy had a knife made of obsidian (în). He was very quick and could walk all over his opponent because the latter was slow and clumsy, so he finally cut off three of the monster's heads. Then the boy said, "Let us sit down for a minute and rest." They did so, and, after a while the monster said, "I am strong now, stronger than I have ever been." But the boy answered, "You had seven heads and I cut off three, leaving you but four, yet you say that you are stronger than before. You may be stronger, but you are too slow." The girl stood near by looking on. Then they started fighting once more, and the boy cut off the monster's four remaining heads for he was slower than ever.

Now they went home to the boy's father, and, when he told him what had happened, his father felt very proud of him. The boy wanted to marry the chief's daughter, and, although his people were poor, the chief consented willingly.

### 52. THE JEALOUS UNCLE a

A high-caste man had a beautiful wife of whom he was very jealous. He had also four sisters well married in different villages, all with sons. One morning the eldest of these sisters said to her husband, "I want to go to see my brother. I believe he would like to see our son." Her husband was willing, because he wanted to see the man himself. When they arrived there, the woman's brother pretended that he thought a great deal of his nephew, but really he did not want to see him for fear his wife would take a liking to him because he was handsome. He told the young man, however, that he was going to take him everywhere with him. His mother felt very happy to think

a This is expressed in a rather unusual manner, and may have been modified perhaps by white influences, but the main plot is entirely native.

that her brother thought so much of him and left him there with his uncle.

Immediately after his mother had gone, however, the uncle determined to make away with him, because his wife seemed to like him. So next morning he said, "We are going down right away to get some devilfish to eat. The tide will soon be low enough." Then the boy prepared himself, for he was very anxious to go, and they set out. His uncle said, "Walk right along there," pointing to a high ridge parallel with the beach. "Walk ahead, and I will follow you."

The boy did as he was directed and soon saw something large on the beach, that kept opening and closing. It was a very large clam. His uncle told him to get right on top of the ridge to watch it, for it was the first time he had seen anything of the kind. As the boy was very anxious to examine it, he got up there and leaned far over. When he did so, however, the clam opened and remained open, and his uncle pushed him right down into it. Then the clam closed upon him and killed him. The boy's parents soon found out what had happened to their son, and, although his uncle declared that it was an accident, they knew that he was jealous and did not believe him.

Some time after this the uncle turned his thoughts to his second sister's son who was still handsomer. His wife had seen this youth, and had told her husband how fine he was. This made him very jealous, and he sent to this sister, saying that it was about time she sent one of her sons to help him, for he had no children and needed help. He knew that the oldest child would be sent, because the next was a girl. So the boy came, and he threw him down into the big clam like the other. The uncle was very jealous of his wife because he knew that everyone fell in love with her on account of her beauty.

After this the uncle sent for the third sister's child who was older than the last he had killed, but he would not go for a long time, and his parents did not ask him to. He was a flighty youth, however, and, after his uncle had sent for him several times, he thought of his uncle's handsome wife and made up his mind to visit them.

All of the time this boy was with him the uncle watched him and his wife very closely and would not leave the house for a minute. His wife was very anxious to give him warning, but her husband feared it and watched her too closely. She made signs to the boy, but he did not understand them. When his uncle took him down to the beach, he said, "I must go back to the house after a drink of water." He thought that his uncle would wait for him, but instead he followed him right back to the house. Then the boy said to his uncle's wife, "Where is the water?" She pointed it out, but, as her husband stood close by, she could not say anything more. So they went down to the beach, but, when the youth saw this clam moving in the distance, he ran by it very quickly, and his uncle was disappointed. Then they

went on farther, and the uncle said to him, "Do you see that hole down there?" He could see plainly a very large hole. Then his uncle said, "The devilfish that we want to get for our supper is in that." He handed him the stick for getting devilfish and said, "Hook it. You can get it very easily." The boy put the end of his stick into the hole, felt that the fish was there, and hooked it. Immediately he tried to run off, but his uncle was right behind him, and pushed him forward so that the devilfish seized him and dragged him under the rock.

All the time this man was killing his nephews, the youngest, who looked very much like the first one killed, had been practising. His father showed him how to make himself look like a very small ball of feathers. He had the shaman of that village make a bracelet of eagle down for him inclosing a piece of devil's club carved by the shaman. Then the shaman said, "Just as soon as you find that you are in danger turn this bracelet around on your wrist four times as quickly as you can." Then the shaman told him to climb a very high tree, and climbed right after him, while his father stood watching. shaman said, "Now turn that around on your wrist four times as quickly as you can." He did so, and just as he finished the shaman pushed him down. Then his father saw nothing but a ball of eagle down rolling down the tree. As soon as it reached the ground there stood the boy, and the shaman knew that everything was all right. He also gave the boy a knife having a handle carved like devil's clubs, which he kept in the bosom of his shirt, tied around his neck.

After this the boy's friends took him to his uncle and remained with him for three days. On the fourth day they returned. Then the uncle's wife cried continually to think that a boy not fully grown should be left there to be killed, and his uncle said to her angrily, "What is it you are always crying about? You are in love again aren't you?" Then the boy said aloud so that his uncle could hear, "You are in love with the right one this time." At that his uncle became angry and told him he talked too much. Right away he said, "Come on with me. We will get a devilfish for our supper." So the boy prepared himself, and they started off, while his uncle's wife came out and watched them, thinking that he was the last.

As they went along the boy saw the clam, and, before his uncle told him it was there, he stood still just above it. For a moment he forgot about his bracelet, but, just as he saw his uncle raise his hands, he remembered and turned his bracelet about once. When he reached the clam he turned it for the fourth time and fell into the clam as a ball of feathers, while his uncle went home, thinking he had disposed of him. The ball of feathers inside, however, turned back into a boy, and he cut both sides of the clam and came out.

Then he saw the devilfish-stick his uncle had given him lying there and thought he would go on and see the devilfish they were to have

had for their supper. When he reached the place and saw the devilfish sitting outside of its hole he became frightened, yet he thought that he would try to kill it. Now he went up to the creature and turned his bracelet around twelve times, wishing that it become small. It did grow small, and he killed it easily and dragged it home on his stick. Reaching the house, he pushed the door open and threw it right in front of his uncle, where it reassumed enormous proportions. Then his uncle was astonished to see him and began screaming loudly, begging the boy to take the devilfish out at once. So he took it out and threw it down upon the beach. Afterward he looked back at it, and it had become the same big devilfish again.

Now the boy remained with his uncle for a very long time, and his uncle's wife thought a great deal of him, while his uncle seemed to do so too. One day, however, he saw his wife talking to the boy and again determined to kill him. Then he put something sharp pointed on the ground, took the nephew up to the top of a very high tree and crawled up after him. The boy, who knew what was going to happen, began singing and turning his bracelet round slowly at the same time. Just as he had turned it for the fourth time his uncle reached him and pushed him over. When he landed upon the ground, however, there was nothing to be seen but a ball of eagle down.

His uncle saw this, and, feeling that he could not kill his nephew, treated him well for a very long time, but watched him closely. His wife said to the boy, "Your uncle is thinking a great deal because he can't kill you." But all that the boy would answer every time she said this was, "Only a ball of eagle down." She did not know what he meant.

One day the uncle thought that he would deceive his wife and nephew, so he told the latter that he was going back into the woods and started off. Instead of going away, however, he went back of the house, looked through a hole at them and listened. Then the boy came to his wife and sat down close to her, and she said, "Let us run away. I am afraid of your uncle." He answered that he would if he could get a canoe, and she told him of a place where there was a canoe, some distance from the town. Then the uncle came right in and wanted to kill his wife on the spot but was so fond of her that he could not. The boy sat perfectly still, moving his bracelet.

That night the uncle treated his nephew very kindly and began telling him all kinds of stories, until at last the boy fell asleep. This was just what he wanted. Then he tied the boy to a board, thinking, "I am going to get rid of him this time. The feathers will get wet, and he will be drowned." So he took him quite a distance out to sea and set him adrift there. It was very stormy.

The boy, however, floated along for some time and finally came ashore in safety on a nice sandy beach. The tide was very low. Then he heard the laughter of some girls who were out digging clams. There were three of them, and they were sisters. Now the eldest of the girls saw something moving on the beach and went thither, thinking it was some dying animal. Instead she saw a handsome youth, who looked right up at her but said nothing. Said she, "What has happened to you?" But he would not speak. She called to her sisters, and they ran up. Then the second sister immediately fell in love with him, but the youngest had nothing to say. The eldest had formerly been in love with the youth that was first destroyed, so she said to her second sister, "How much like my dead lover he looks." She saw him smile because he knew her, but he did not know the others, and immediately the eldest began to cry, saying that that was her lover's smile only that he was a larger man. Then the second sister laughed, saying that she was going to untie him and have him for her husband. The youngest, however, said, "Well! you two can have him, for I am not going to have a man that can not talk." "If he comes out all right after we have untied him," said the eldest, "we will both be his wives." So, the two older girls untied him and started to raise his head while the youngest ran off to dig clams. They asked him if he could talk, and he said, "Yes." As he walked between the girls, one of them said, "You shall go to my father's house with me." At the time they untied him the eagles were gathering around to devour him.

Then they took him into their father's house and their father said, "Who is that fellow?" "We found him," said the second, "and we are going to marry him." This one was very quick to speak, while the eldest was slow and quiet. Their father consented, and he married both of the girls. Then the eldest spoke to her father of how much he resembled her dead lover, although the boy had not told anything about himself.

Those girls used to go off to hunt and spear salmon just like boys, so the younger said next morning, "I am going out to spear salmon." She brought a salmon home. The day following both girls asked him to go with them, and he did so. They tried to teach him how to hunt, for he belonged to such a very high family that he had never learned.

On the way the younger wife acted sulkily toward her elder sister because she would never leave their husband's side. So she started off alone, and her husband was afraid she would go away for good, for he liked her very much on account of her liveliness. In the evening, however, she came back with a salmon and said to her sister, "You can live on love. You stick by your husband and do not go to get anything to eat." Then their husband carried the

salmon back, and his elder wife came home slowly. The younger sister cooked the salmon and put it between herself and her husband. He pulled it along toward his elder wife, but the other said, "She shall not have any. She is going to live on love." Then her husband said that if she would let her sister have some salmon he would go out and try to get another himself. It was early in the spring and the salmon were scarce. The younger wife now felt jealous of her sister because she thought that their husband thought more of her than of herself, though really the reverse was the case. He pitied the elder, however, because she had done so much for him.

When the young man saw that his younger wife was angry toward the elder, however, he determined to leave them for a time. The younger did not want to let him go, and begged him hard to remain, but the elder said nothing, for he had told her his reasons. Finally he told his younger wife that she must let him go but that he would come back. He said that she must treat her elder sister well because his cousin (lit. "elder brother.") had been in love with her. When she asked him what cousin he meant, he explained that his elder brother had died quite a while ago and that this girl had been in love with him. After that she let him set out.

At this time he thought that he would kill his uncle, so he paddled thither. His uncle saw him, knew what he had come for, and was frightened. Then the young man went to his uncle's house, spent the evening and started away again. About midnight, however, he returned and told his uncle that he had come to kill him because he had murdered his brothers and made him himself suffer. Although his uncle begged hard to be spared, he killed him, and, after telling his uncle's wife that he had killed her husband and why he had done so, he returned to his wives.

# 53. THE MAN WHO MARRIED THE EAGLE

This is a story of something that happened among the Haida. It is about a young man there who married a very fine-looking girl. This girl deceived her husband and went with the son of the town chief, but her husband found it out and killed him. Since the dead man belonged to such high-caste people, the girl's husband was afraid and told his slave to take him off in his canoe. Before the relatives of the murdered man found it out and had started in pursuit, he had gotten some distance away. He and his slave paddled very hard and got way out into the ocean, and, when at last the man looked up, he found that he was close to a large rock very far out. Then he jumped ashore, and, seeing that there were very many seals there, he began clubbing them forgetful of the fact that he was a fugitive. At last, when he did look up, he found that his slave had deserted him and was now a long distance off.

The man camped on the rock that night and next morning studied very hard what he should do. At last he fixed upon a plan which he proceeded to carry out. Taking the largest seal he had killed, he skinned it very carefully so as not to cut through the hide anywhere. Late that night he got inside, tied the skin together over himself very tightly so that no water could come in, and set himself adrift. Then he floated along on the ocean, and at times he felt that he was bumping against rocks, but he kept quiet and after he had gone for a long time he felt himself drift ashore upon a beach.

Next morning very early, as he lay there, the man heard an eagle cry and knew that it was flying toward him. Finally it lighted right on top of the seal. The eagle seemed to notice, however, that this seal sounded empty, and instead of trying to eat it, sat still there. By and by the man took out his knife, cut through the skin right where the eagle sat and seized its legs. Then he looked up at it through the hole, and lo! instead of an eagle there was a girl. Then the girl said to him, "Come up to my father's house with me." He agreed, and, when she had taken him up, he saw a fine house over every bed in which hung an eagle skin.

After that the young man took the girl for his wife. At that time one of his brothers-in-law stood up and gave him an eagle-skin coat, saying, "I have given you a coat as a present. With this coat you can catch cod easily." Another brother-in-law got up and said, "I also give you a coat. With this coat you can easily catch salmon." Another got up and said, "I also give you a coat. With this coat you can catch halibut." Another got up and said, "I, too, will give you a coat. With this coat you can catch seal. Always sit on a tree top and look down at the water. Then the seal will look to you like a very small fish. It feels like a small fish when you catch it in this coat." So, all in the house presented him with different coats. The last of them was a young black eagle which said, "I give you this coat, and with this coat you can catch a sea lion." Then the older eagles made fun of his gift, saying, "With that young skin you need not think you can catch even the smallest trout."

Meawhile the people in the town this boy had come from had sent his mother, who was a very old woman, away from the village to starve. He was at that time very near where she was living, but he did not know it.

After this the young man put on the coat he had received first, went out in it and caught a cod which he gave to his wife. He put the next coat on and caught a salmon. When he looked down upon this it appeared to be very small, and it felt very light while he was carrying it, but when he got it home it was a very large fish. With the next coat he caught a very big halibut, and with the next a seal. This seemed very light to him, but, when he got it home to his father-

in-law and his brothers-in-law, he was surprised at its size. Lastly, he put on the black eagle skin. He went out and watched, and after a while he saw a sea lion a long distance out. He went after it and brought it ashore easily, but, after he had taken it to his father-in-law, he wondered how he had carried it.

By and by the man felt that his mother was suffering somewhere, and, going along the beach, he found her living in a little house made of branches. He asked her what the matter was, and she told him. Then he said to his mother, "In the morning you will hear some sea gulls. As soon as that happens, get up and go along the beach. You will find a large salmon." The woman did so. In the morning she got up and looked and a very large salmon lay there. She had to cut it up and carry it to her brush house in pieces. In the evening her son went to her again and said, "To-morrow I will get a seal for you. Look for it very early." So she awoke very early, found a large seal, and took up its meat.

After that her son went to her again and told her that he had been captured by the eagles and was living very comfortably among them. He said that he had a wife who was very good to him and told her not to worry for he would always look after her. Then he said, "Early next morning go and look again. I will try to get you a sea lion." She did so, and found a very large sea lion upon the beach. She took off the skin, dried it, preserved the oil, and dried the meat.

Now the man went to his mother once more and said to her, "Next morning I will get a whale and leave it down here on the beach. Don't touch it. A canoe will come from our village and find it. While they are cutting up the whale don't go down to them." It happened just as he had said, and when this canoe had carried back the news everybody came down from the village to cut it up.

As the old woman did not go down to look while they were cutting up this whale, some one said, "Run up to see the old woman." When they came there, they found her in a very large brush house in which salmon, seal, and sea-lion meat were drying. They were surprised to see how much food she had when they themselves had barely enough. Then everybody ran up to look at her. They had stripped the whale down, but had not taken off the pieces. When they left her house to go down again, the old woman came out and the eagle, which had sat on top of a tree watching, said to her, "Get away." After that one of the men took a rock and hit her in the face with it.

When the eagle saw what was done to his mother he flew down, seized the town chief by the top of the head and flew up with him. Then he came down again far enough for a person to seize the town chief's legs and flew round and round the whale. By and by another man caught hold of the chief and was unable to let go. The eagle flew around a little higher up until another seized the second man, and so

he continued to do until he had carried up all of the men. Meanwhile the women were in a great hurry to cut the whale, but the old woman poked it, telling it to go out, and it went away from them right out to sea. Meanwhile the eagle rose higher and higher into the air and flew far out over the ocean, where it dropped all of the men of that place and drowned them.

### 54. THE BRANT WIFE a

A man at Gonā'xo in the Łaxayî'k (or Yakutat) country married a brant woman (qên). One day in spring this woman said to her husband, "Let us go outside and watch the flocks of geese passing. My father's canoe will soon be coming along." Then they went out and saw a flock of brant coming. The brant seemed to stop over the woman a little while, and she called to them saying, "Have you anything for me?" Immediately some dried ts!ēt fell upon her lap.

Next day she again said to her husband, "I am sure that my father's canoe will come along to-day. Let us go outside and sit there." So they did. Then they saw the largest flock of brant they had yet observed, and the woman jumped up, saying, "There is my father's canoe coming along." When the flock got over the place where they were sitting, one of them made a great noise directly overhead, and her husband thought that must be his wife's father. His wife also began making the brant noise in return, so that her husband became very much frightened. As soon as she had finished she flew up among the brant people.

Now her husband started off under the flock, and ran for a very long time until he was thoroughly tired out. Seeing that he was now so far behind that she could barely see him, his wife said to her father, "Father, let us camp here." So her father had them encamp there on a flat place, and her husband saw it from a high hill. When he came up with them, he stood around on the flats and would not go near. By and by a man came out to him and said, "You better come in. We have a place prepared for you." So he went in, and found his wife sitting on a mat in the house with room enough for him beside her. The brants looked to him just like human beings. Then they cooked for them, and afterward left the place, taking him with them. When they reached the place where they were to stay all summer, he saw that they worked very hard to get food in order to take it back.

Some time afterward the sand-hill cranes (dūl) and the geese (t!āwa'k) made war on the brants and killed off many of the latter. At first the man stood and watched them without taking part, and at last his wife's father, who was chief of the brants, said to his daugh-

ter, "Daughter, why is it that your husband will not help us? Doesn't he see that my people have all been killed? Ask him to help me." Then the man made war aprons, coats, and hats for the brants and for himself, and he made himself a club. He killed great numbers of sand-hill cranes and geese, while none of the brants were destroyed. After he had killed enough of the enemy to make up for the brants that had been destroyed, his father-in-law told his daughter to say to him that he had killed enough. "If he kills any more," he said, "they will want to kill more of my people." So all stopped fighting, and they recommenced collecting food for the return journey. The girl's father felt very good toward his son-in-law for saving their lives.

When fall came and the brants were ready to start back their chief said, "We will not go back the same way we came. We must go another way." Then they started. It seemed to the man that they were going in canoes instead of flying. Late the first evening the chief said, "Now we will camp out here." The place that he referred to was a large rock far out at sea, and they camped upon it. After they had eaten all went to sleep.

Next morning, however, although the man awoke early, he found himself lying out on the rock alone. Then he was very sad, and did not know what he should do. He thought, "How am I to get home from here without any canoe?" He remained out upon that rock for a long time and thought that he should never see his friends again. He remained there, in fact, all winter, living on food that the brants had left him. When spring came he was more anxious than ever to get home, so much so that he did not care to eat anything and went for several days without nourishment.

One morning he said to himself, "What is the use of getting up?" And he lay down again with his blankets over his head. After some time had passed, he heard something say to him very loudly, "Why are you lying here? What are you doing out here on this rock?" He threw his blanket off and looked around but saw nothing except a bird called gus!yadū'li sitting near by. He lay down again, and again he heard the voice. He heard it for the third time. Every time the bird was sitting in the same place. When he again lay down he thought he must be crazy, but on keeping a lookout he saw the gus!yadu'li run up toward him very fast, so he said to it quietly, "I have seen you." Then the bird replied, "I have come to bring you luck. Get on my back and keep your face buried in the feathers on the back of my neck." When he had done this, the bird started to fly off with him. It said, "Don't look up. I do not want you to look up." The farther it went the more it repeated this warning, so he tried hard to keep his face concealed. Finally the bird stopped, and he wondered where they were. "You can open your eyes now,"

said the bird, and when he did so he saw that they were on a big pile of seaweed drifting around far out at sea. Then the bird told him to close his eyes again, and by the time it stopped with him once more he was very tired. Then the bird said again, "Now open your eyes." He opened his eyes and recognized the place well as being close to his own village.

### 55. THE DUCK HELPER

All the people in a village called Tā'sna, "just south of the mouth of the Yukon," once died of smallpox with the exception of one woman and her son. The boy was just old enough to realize what had happened. His mother kept weeping day after day, and it so distressed her son that he went off hunting with bow and arrows and did not return until he thought she was through.

One day he went farther than he realized and on turning about was puzzled to know where the village lay. He walked for a long time in different directions trying to find it but in vain. He was lost and had to camp that night. Next morning he began looking again, and he looked all day with no better success. On the third morning, after he had looked about until he was very tired, he caught sight of water through the trees and, thinking it was the ocean, ran quickly toward it. When he came up to it, however, he found it was only a lake. He remained there for some time, living on roots, and afterward continued his journey. Again he traveled all day and on the following morning he again saw water through the woods. Now he felt happy once more, but when he came down to it and looked around, lo! it was the same lake he had left.

By this time the boy was too tired to walk any more, so he thought, "Well! I might as well stay right here." He covered himself up with moss and went to sleep. Suddenly, however, he was awakened by a voice saying, "Who is this boy?" He looked around but saw no one. He was entirely alone. Then he fell asleep again, and again something said, "Who is this boy?" He thought that he was dreaming, for, when he looked around, he saw only a black duck far out on the water.

After this the boy said to himself, "Now I am going to sit up and watch." So he seated himself against a large bush and, although he became so sleepy there that his eyes kept closing, he would open them resolutely and keep on the watch. Finally he got up and went behind the bush. While his eyes were closed, the boy heard the same voice again, but he was not quite asleep, so he opened them quickly and saw the black duck (gāxu) on the beach. Immediately it turned into a man, who stood looking at him. "What are you doing here?" said the man. Then the boy told him how he had gotten lost. "All of our village people died, and my mother cried so that I wanted to

get away from her, so I traveled in the woods alone and became lost. Since that day I have not been home to see my mother." Then the man took off his coat, gave it to the boy, and said, "Put on this coat. As soon as you have done so, stretch out your arms and keep going like that. Don't think of me and don't think of this lake. Think of your uncle's house."

The boy did as he had been told, and it seemed to him that he was flying along very rapidly far above the trees. For a long time he thought of nothing else than his uncle's house and his uncle's village, but at length he remembered the lake and lo! he was there once more with the man standing before him in the same place. Then the man said, "Didn't I tell you not to think of me or the lake? Start over again. Think of nothing but your uncle's house and the village you are bound for." So this time the boy tried very hard, and all at once he came out back of his uncle's house, where his mother was waiting and calling for him. When she recognized him she was very happy.

## 56. THE BOY WHO SHOT THE STAR

Two very high-caste boys were chums. The father of one was town chief and had his house in the middle of the village, but the house of the other boy's father stood at one end. These boys would go alternately to each other's houses and make great quantities of arrows which they would play with until all were broken up.

One time both of the boys made a great quantity of arrows to see which could have the more. Just back of their village was a hill on the top of which was a smooth grassy place claimed by the boys as their playground, and on a certain fine, moonlight night they started thither. As they were going along the lesser chief's son, who was ahead, said, "Look here, friend. Look at that moon. Don't you think that the shape of that moon is the same as that of my mother's labret and that the size is the same, too?" The other answered, "Don't. You must not talk that way of the moon." Then suddenly it became very dark about them and presently the head chief's son saw a ring about them just like a rainbow. When it disappeared his companion was gone. He called and called to him but did not get any answer and did not see him. He thought, "He must have run up the hill to get away from that rainbow." He looked up and saw the moon in the sky. Then he climbed the hill, and looked about, but his friend was not there. Now he thought, "Well! the moon must have gone up with him. That circular rainbow must have been the moon."

The boy thus left alone sat down and cried, after which he began to try the bows. He put strings on them one after the other and tried them, but every one broke. He broke all of his own bows and all of his chum's except one which was made of very hard wood. He thought, "Now I am going to shoot that star next to the moon." In that spot was a large and very bright one. He shot an arrow at this star and sat down to watch, when, sure enough, the star darkened. Now he began shooting at that star from the big piles of arrows he and his chum had made, and he was encouraged by seeing that the arrows did not come back. After he had shot for some time he saw something hanging down very near him, and, when he shot up another arrow, it stuck to this. The next did likewise, and at last the chain of arrows reached him. He put a last one on to complete it.

Now the youth felt badly for the loss of his friend and, lying down under the arrow chain, he went to sleep. After a while he awoke, found himself sleeping on that hill, remembered the arrows he had shot away, and looked up. Instead of the arrows there was a long ladder reaching right down to him. He arose and looked so as to make sure. Then he determined to ascend. First, however, he took various kinds of bushes and stuck them into the knot of hair he wore on his head. He climbed up his ladder all day and camped at nightfall upon it, resuming his journey the following morning. When he awoke early on the second morning his head felt very heavy. Then he seized the salmon berry bush that was in his hair, pulled it out, and found it was loaded with berries. After he had eaten the berries off, he stuck the branch back into his hair and felt very much strengthened. About noon of the same day he again felt hungry, and again his head was heavy, so he pulled out a bush from the other side of his head and it was loaded with blue huckleberries. It was already summer there in the sky. That was why he was getting berries. When he resumed his journey next morning his head did not feel heavy until noon. At that time he pulled out the bush at the back of his head and found it loaded with red huckleberries.

By the time he had reached the top the boy was very tired. He looked round and saw a large lake. Then he gathered some soft brush and some moss and lay down to sleep. But, while he slept, some person came to him and shook him saying, "Get up. I am after you." He awoke and looked around but saw no one. Then he rolled over and pretended to go to sleep again but looked out through his eyelashes. By and by he saw a very small but handsome girl coming along. Her skin clothes were very clean and neat, and her leggings were ornamented with porcupine quills. Just as she reached out to shake him he said, "I have seen you already."

Now the girl stood still and said, "I have come after you. My grandmother has sent me to bring you to her house." So he went with her, and they came to a very small house in which was an old woman. The old woman said, "What is it you came way up here

after, my grandson?" and the boy answered, "On account of my playmate who was taken up hither." "Oh!" answered the old woman, "he is next door, only a short distance away. I can hear him crying every day. He is in the moon's house."

Then the old woman began to give him food. She would put her hand up to her mouth, and a salmon or whatever she was going to give would make its appearance. After the salmon she gave him berries and then meat, for she knew that he was hungry from his long journey. After that she gave him a spruce cone, a rose bush, a piece of devil's club, and a small piece of whetstone to take along.

As the boy was going toward the moon's house with all of these things he heard his playmate screaming with pain. He had been put up on a high place near the smoke hole, so, when his rescuer came to it, he climbed on top, and, reaching down through the smoke hole, pulled him out. He said, "My friend, come. I am here to help you." Putting the spruce cone down where the boy had been, he told it to imitate his cries, and he and his chum ran away.

After a while, however, the cone dropped from the place where it had been put, and the people discovered that their captive had escaped. Then the moon started in pursuit. When the head chief's son discovered this, he threw behind them the devil's club he had received from the old woman, and a patch of devil's club arose which the moon had so much trouble in getting through that they gained rapidly on him. When the moon again approached, the head chief's son threw back the rose bushes, and such a thicket of roses grew there that the moon was again delayed. When he approached them once more, they threw back the grindstone, and it became a high cliff from which the moon kept rolling back. It is on account of this cliff that people can say things about the moon nowadays with impunity. When the boys reached the old woman's house they were very glad to see each other, for before this they had not had time to speak.

The old woman gave them something to eat, and, when they were through, she said to the rescuer, "Go and lie down at the place where you lay when you first came up. Don't think of anything but the playground you used to have." They went there and lay down, but after some time the boy who had first been captured thought of the old woman's house and immediately they found themselves there. Then the old woman said, "Go back and do not think of me any more. Lie there and think of nothing but the place where you used to play." They did so, and, when they awoke, they were lying on their playground at the foot of the ladder.

As the boys lay in that place they heard a drum beating in the head chief's house, where a death feast was being held for them, and the head chief's son said, "Let us go," but the other answered,

"No, let us wait here until that feast is over." Afterward the boys went down and watched the people come out with their faces all blackened. They stood at a corner, but, as this dance is always given in the evening, they were not seen.

Then the head chief's son thought, "I wish my younger brother would come out," and sure enough, after all of the other people had gone, his younger brother came out. He called to his brother saying, "Come here. It is I," but the child was afraid and ran into the house instead. Then the child said to his mother, "My brother and his friend are out here." "Why do you talk like that?" asked his mother. "Don't you know that your brother died some time ago?" And she became very angry. The child, however, persisted, saying, "I know his voice, and I know him." His mother was now very much disturbed, so the boy said, "I am going to go out and bring in a piece of his shirt." "Go and do so," said his mother. "Then I will believe you."

When the boy at last brought in a piece of his brother's shirt his mother was convinced, and they sent word into all of the houses, first of all into that of the second boy's parents, but they kept both with them so that his parents could come there and rejoice over him. All of the other people in that village also came to see them.

## 57. THE BOY AND THE GIANT

At a certain place in the interior lived a manly little boy who was very fond of hunting. He would take his lunch and go off hunting very early in the morning and stay all day, bringing home two or three porcupines in the evening. One morning he started earlier than usual and came upon a giant as tall as the trees. He was very much frightened and ran away with the big man in pursuit. As the giant was not a very fast runner, the boy kept ahead of him until he came to a sort of cave like a house at the foot of a hill and entered it. When the big man saw this, he said, "Come here, my grandson." The boy refused, and the giant continued his entreaties for a long time. At last the boy consented to go with him, so the giant said, "Get inside of my shirt. I will carry you that way." Then the boy vaulted in there, and they started off.

After they had gone along in this manner for some time, the boy, who had his head out, saw a very small bird called old-person (Lagu-qā'k!u) and said, "Grandpa, there is a bird I would like to have." Then the big man stopped and let him down, and he shot the bird with an arrow and put it into his bosom, after which he crawled back into the big man's shirt. But now this bird had increased the boy's weight so much that the giant could scarcely move along. At every step he took he sank deep into the moss. When the boy noticed this, he said to himself, "How is it that, since I picked up

this small bird, I have gotten very heavy, and it is hard for him to walk?" Then he threw the bird away and the giant walked on again as lightly as before. The boy enjoyed so much being with this giant that he had forgotten all about his father and mother. After that they traveled on together until they came to a very large lake. In it the boy saw beaver houses, and the beaver dam ran right across it. He thought, "This is a beaver lake. This is the kind of place my father has told me about." Then the big man tore a hole through the top of a beaver house, took all of the beavers out, and made a fire right back of the lake at which to cook them. They camped there for several days, living on beaver meat and drying the skins. But the first evening the giant said, "Keep a look out. If you hear any noise during the night, wake me up. There is a bigger man than I of whom I am much afraid." He also said to the boy, "Sleep some distance away from me, or I might move against you or throw my leg on you so as to kill you."

The second night they encamped there the boy heard the bushes breaking, and sure enough the second giant came along. He was so tall that his head was far up above the trees, and they could not see it. This second giant had been looking for the other for a long time unsuccessfully, so he rushed upon him, threw him down, and lay on top of him. Then the boy's friend cried, "Grandson, take that club of mine out and throw it at him." The boy ran to the big man's bed, took his club, which was made from the entire skeleton of a beaver, out from under it, and threw it at the intruder. As soon as he let it go out of his hands it began chewing at the second giant's leg, and, as he was unable to feel it, the club chewed off both his legs. Then the other, who had been almost smothered, killed him and threw his body into the lake.

After this the boy's companion had nothing to fear, and wandered from lake to lake, and the boy was so fond of hunting that he forgot all about his father and mother. It was now winter time, and that winter was very severe. From the time the second giant had been killed he had been doing nothing but killing beaver.

One evening, however, the boy began thinking of his father and his mother, and was very quiet. Then the big man said, "Why is it that you are so quiet this evening?" The boy answered, "I have just thought of my father and mother. I feel lonely (i. e., homesick) for them." Then his companion said, "Would you like to go to them?" "I can't go to them because I don't know where they are. I don't know which way to go to get to them." Then the big man said, "All right, you can go," but the boy did not know what he meant. Now the big man went to a small tree, broke it off, trimmed it well for the boy, and said to him, "Take this along and as soon as you feel that you are lost, let it stand straight up and fall over.

Go in the direction in which it falls. Keep on doing this until you get to your father's place."

At first the boy was afraid to start off alone, but finally he did so. Whenever he was in doubt about the direction he let the tree fall, and it led him at last right down to his father's village, where all were exceedingly glad to see him.

#### 58. THE BOY WITH ARROWS ON HIS HEAD

A chief's daughter married her father's nephew and had a child by him who was named Wats!îhî'tcî. He was not exactly a human being, for he had sharp arrow points on his head. When his mother began petting him and using endearing terms to him, he said to her, "Don't pet me. I am no baby." And he ran the arrow points on his head into his mother's breast and killed her. Afterward he ran off into the woods and became a very bad person, killing everybody who went off hunting or after wood.

At that time his mother's brother was out on the mountains hunting along with his children. He knew that his nephew was killing people, so he made his house very strong to keep him out. He also set around bundles of dry straw shaped like human beings, and he even prepared a hole in the mountains as a place of refuge.

How his nephew found out where he lived is not known, but one day he suddenly walked right in. His uncle was sitting behind a bundle of straw in the rear of the house, while his wife and children were in the hole he had made in the mountain. The boy always had his arrows and spears, the points of which were obsidian (în), ready to use, but instead of aiming at his uncle he pointed his arrow at a bundle of straw opposite. While he was doing so his uncle shot him under the left arm, and he was so badly hurt that he left his spear and ran out.

As his assisting spirit this boy had a bird called gusliadū'li of about the size of a robin. This spirit now doctored him and took out of him all of the poison his uncle had put on the end of his arrow. But, while he was doing this, his uncle tracked him by the marks of blood until he came to the place where the boy lived. When he entered that place his nephew said, "Don't kill me, uncle. I have made a hole in the ground over there and have filled it with goods. You may have them if you do not kill me. If you let me go now I will never kill another person." In spite of all his protestations, however, his uncle killed him for having destroyed so many of the town people and for having forced him to live back among the mountains. Then he burned his nephew's body and went home with all of his family, leaving the ashes where they lay. These ashes were driven about by the wind and became the minute gnats that forment people.

## 59. GAMNĀ'TCK!Î a

Gamnā'tck!î killed a seal, skinned it, and threw the skin and meat to his wife to wash. While she was washing them in the sea she saw some killer whales coming landward. By and by the meat she was washing drifted out from her and she waded after it. She went out until the water reached her hips. Then she suddenly felt some one pull her and she disappeared under water. It was the killer-whale people who thus took her into their canoe.

After that Gamnā'tck!î felt very badly and thought to himself, "How can I get my wife back? How can I look for her under the water?" He could not sleep all night, and early in the morning he thought, "I wonder if I couldn't raise this water so as to go under it." In the morning, therefore, before he had eaten he took his red and black paints, went down to the water, raised the edge of it just as if he were raising a blanket, and walked under. He walked on farther and farther. It was just like walking on land.

By and by he came to a village full of very pale people who went about with their heads down. He found out that they were the red-cod people. He wanted to make friends of them, so, thinking that they looked very white, he painted them all red—men, women, and children. That is how these fishes got their color. After that he asked them if they had seen his wife, but they said that they had seen no one, so he went on. Presently he came to another village and asked the people there the same question to which he received the very same answer. Those were the halibut people. In each village they gave him something to eat.

After he had left the halibut people Gamnā'tck!î traveled for several days before he came to another town. By and by, however, he perceived smoke far ahead of him, and, going toward it, he saw that it was from a fort. Inside of this fort was a large house which he immediately entered, but the people there did not seem to care to see strangers and would not talk to him. These were also very pale people, so to please them he took out his black paint and painted all of them with it. Then they felt well disposed toward him and were willing to talk. "Can you tell me what clan has my wife?" he said. At first they said that they did not know, but afterward one replied, "There is a strange woman in that town across there." Then this person pointed the village out, and Gamnā'tck!î felt pleased to know where his wife was. The people he had come among were the sharks, and those whose village they showed him were the killer whales.

Then the shark chief said, "Every time we have had a fight we have beaten them." The shark people also said to him, "The killer-whale chief has a slave. Every morning the slave goes out after

a Evidently a version of the Tsimshian story of Gunaxnaxsimgyêt. See story 4.

water. Go to the creek and tell him what to do when he comes in. Tell him to bring the water in and hand it to the chief over the fire. As he does so he must drop it, and, while the house is full of steam, pick up your wife and run out with her. The chief has married her. Then come over here with her. They will run after you, but, if you can get away, come right across." The shark people had always been jealous of the killer whales because they had this woman.

While the shark people were telling him what to do, a strange, bonylooking person kept jumping up from behind the boxes. He wondered what made him act so queerly and began to feel uneasy about it, but, when the bony person saw him looking at him in a strange manner, he said, "Why! don't you know me. I am that halibut hook (nax") that the sharks once took away from you. My name is Lgudji' (the name of an island)."

Just after that the man started for the killer-whale town and sat down by the creek. When the slave came out after water, he asked him to help him, saying, "I hear that my wife is with this chief." "Yes," the slave answered, "if she were a man, they would have kept her for a slave like myself. Since she is a woman, the chief has married her, and she is living very well. I will help you as much as I can. She wants to return to you. Now watch and I will do what you tell me to do. I will spill this water on the fire."

After that he took Gamnā'tck!î to the door and showed him where his wife sat. Then the slave walked in with the water while he stood outside watching. He watched his wife through a crack and saw that she appeared very much cast down. As soon as the fire was put out and the house filled with steam he ran in, seized his wife, and started off with her.

Then, when the slave thought that he had gotten a long distance away, he shouted, "Some one has taken the woman away." The chief looked around, and sure enough his wife was gone. Going outside, they saw that this man had almost reached the shark fort, and they saw him enter it.

As soon as he got there, the shark people began to dress themselves for war. They were noisy and acted as though they were very hungry, so that Gamnā'tck!î became frightened. The halibut hook came to him, however, and told him not to be frightened, because the killer whales were coming over. All at once the fort began moving up and down. Whenever the killer whales tried to enter, the fort killed them by moving up and down and cutting off their heads. The slaughter was so great that the few survivors were frightened and went back. Two or three days later the killer whales came again with like result.

After this the shark people said to Gamnā'tek!î, "You better not start out right away. Stay here a while with us. They might be

lying in wait for you. Since we have fought for you so much, it is better that you should get to your home safely." Gamnā'tck!î did so, and some time later they said, "Go straight along by the way you came, and you will find your way out easily." He did this and reached his home in safety.

## 60. THE HĪN-TAYĪ'CÎ

There is a fish, called hīn-tayī'cî, which is shaped like a halibut but has very many "legs."

Early one spring a Kîksa'dî shaman at Sitka named Face-of-mountain (Cā'dāq) began singing, and the people did not know why. Another morning he got up very early and began to sing again, while the spirits talked to him. Then all of the Kîksa'dî also rose. When his possession was over the shaman said to them, "Take the canoe down and let us start off." They did so, placing the shaman in the bow under a mat, and, as they went along, his spirits talked under it. Finally they came to a deep bay in front of Sitka and the spirits said, "This is the place," so they started shoreward. When they came to a spot just beyond a steep cliff which runs down precipitously into the sea, the spirits said, "Here is the place where we are to land." Then the shaman went up from the canoe and sat in a hollow on top of a rock, while all watched him. By and by his spirit said that the people must do likewise, so they found similar places and seated themselves there.

Now the shaman seemed to be watching for something, so all of the people looked in the same direction, and suddenly they saw a school of killer whales coming along, making noises like yelping dogs. The people wondered what was the matter and looked closely. Finally right out from the cliff they saw something very black and shiny. It was the hīn-tayī'cî, and, when a killer whale ran up against it, he would be cut in two. The killer whales fought very hard, but, when they were through, only three remained, who went off barking like dogs. After that the hīn-tayī'cî came up in front of the place where the men were sitting and made a great noise. They wondered at this and were frightened, but the shaman understood it and said to them, "It is saying 'Don't feel badly for me if I should get killed. I should not have fought those people, but I had to do it, for they were coming here to eat all of my food."

Now the people went home, but, after some time had passed, the shaman asked them to take the canoe down once more and go out again. They did so willingly, for they were anxious to see what more would happen. The shaman had learned that all the killer-whale people were going against the hīn-tayī'cî and that the sculpin (wēq!) had come to him saying, "The people are coming after you again."

So the people went to their former station, and presently the hīntayī'cî came out of his hole and began jumping about on top of the water like a salmon. It was very quick and very large. When it saw the great crowd of killer whales coming on, it went out to meet them and killed all except the killer-whale chief and two others, which it allowed to escape. Then it again jumped up and down in front of the people, making a great noise, and the shaman told them it said, "I am tired. If they come right back with the same number of people, I shall be killed. It will be my fault. I should not have killed them."

Then the people went home and remained there quite a time. At length, however, the shaman's spirits told him that the sculpin had again come to the hīn-tayī'cî to say that people were coming to kill him. So he told his friends about it, and they went to the same place. As they sat there watching, they saw a smoke arising far in the distance. It was the killer whales blowing. There were still more of them this time, but, as before, the hīn-tayī'cî destroyed all except three. Again it told the people that it expected to be killed next time.

Now the shaman was very anxious to know what would be the outcome of all this, so he went back to his village and waited impatiently for another fight to take place. Finally the sculpin went to the hīntayī'cî once more and said, "They are gathering more men for you, stronger men this time. They are getting the devilfish people to fight you." When the shaman learned of it through his spirits he told his people, and they went out to the cliff. Again they saw something coming from a distance very rapidly, making the water boil. Just as the devilfishes reached the hole of the hīn-tayī'cî, the latter jumped through the largest of them, after which it killed all of the others and all of the killer whales but three. It was easier for him this time because there were fewer killer whales.

Next time the sculpin came to the hīn-tayī'cî it said "All of the monster halibut are being gathered to fight with you." So the people went over once more and sat in their accustomed places. They saw the largest halibut go up toward the hīn-tayī'cî's hole with open mouth ready to swallow it, but, as before, the hīn-tayī'cî jumped through and through it, and killed all of its antagonists except three killer whales. Where they fought the water was covered with blood, and after every battle the hīn-tayī'cî would come out and say that next time it expected to be killed.

Now, however, a very long time passed before the shaman heard anything, and he began to think that they had given up fighting. But finally his spirit came to him once more to say that the sculpin had been to the hīn-tayī'cî. The sculpin had said to it, "They are coming after you again. They have gathered all of the big crabs to

kill you." Then the hīn-tayī'cî answered, "Those are the ones that are going to get me." So the shaman went out with his friends and watched from their former stations.

Presently the watching people saw the killer whales approach with a big crab in advance of them. Its body was under water, but its legs stuck out, and the water seemed to boil as it swam forward. Then the hīn-tayī'cî came out and said to the shaman, "They will get me this time. It is my own fault. I am sure that I can not kill that big person with the shell." Then the hīn-tayī'cî went back into its hole, and the crab ran up against the opening so it was unable to get out. So the hīn-tayī'cî said, "How is it that you do not allow me to come out when you have come here to fight me? Let me come out so that you can get me. I have killed enough of you deep-water people to come out now. Stand away a little and let me come."

The hīn-tayī'cî wanted to see where the joints on the crab's claws were situated, and, as soon as the crab moved to one side, it went against one of them and cut it off. With its remaining claw, however, the crab seized it, lifted it into the air, and killed it in sight of everyone. After that it placed the body on the back of the chief killer whale, and the crab and the killer whales sang together as they went away with its body. As they went they kept close to the surface of the water.

## 61. THE EAST AND NORTH WINDS

A high-caste man married the daughter of East-wind (Sā'naxet). After a time he heard of a very pretty high-caste girl, the daughter of North-wind (Xūn), so he left his first wife, came north, and married her. Then he took her back to the village where his first wife lived.

Now the people said to his first wife, "There is a very pretty woman here. Her clothes are very valuable and sparkle all over. They make a noise like bells." East-wind's daughter was at once jealous and said, "I will soon be able to fix that pretty girl you boys are talking about." Quite a while afterward it began to grow cloudy and warm, and sure enough the daughter of North-wind lost all of her beautiful clothing. It was icicles and frost that were so pretty, and when she lost these she lost her beauty with them.

### 62. THE BIG BEAVER

At a certain place far back in the forest was a large lake in which were many beaver houses. One time some people found this lake and dug a trench out of it in order to drain it. Then they broke up the beavers' houses so that the beavers began to swim down through the trench. As they floated along the people killed them, all except one very large beaver, which they knew must have been there on account of its fresh tracks. They looked into all of the beaver houses they had broken up, but could not find it. It must have gotten out at the very start and made its escape into the woods.

Quite a while after this had been done, the people who had killed the beavers walked up to the place where the lake had been. When they got close to the place where they had let it out they heard a woman singing in a beautiful voice: "Why didn't you ask one another to stop, my brothers? You begged yourselves to go off, my brothers." She sang thus because all of those who had destroyed the beavers were to die. She was sitting on a part of the broken dam. So, on the way back to their village, all of these people were drowned and only a few bodies were recovered. Those whose bodies were not found had been captured by the big beaver.

## 63. BEAVER AND PORCUPINE a

The beaver and the porcupine (łak!a'tc) were great friends and went about everywhere together. The porcupine often visited the beaver's house, but the latter did not like to have him come because he left quills there. One time, when the porcupine said that he wanted to go out to the beaver's house, the beaver said, "All right, I will take you out on my back." He started, but instead of going to his house he took him to a stump in the very middle of the lake. Then he said to him, "This is my house," left him there, and went ashore.

While the porcupine was upon this stump he began singing a song, "Let it become frozen. Let it become frozen so that I can cross to Wolverine-man's place." He meant that he wanted to walk ashore on the ice. So the surface of the lake froze, and he walked home.

Some time after this, when the two friends were again playing together, the porcupine said, "You come now. It is my turn to carry you on my back." Then the beaver got on the porcupine's back, and the porcupine took him to the top of a very high tree, after which he came down and left him. For a long time the beaver did not know how to get down, but finally he climbed down, and they say that this is what gives the broken appearance to tree bark.

## 64. THE MAN WHO ENTERTAINED THE BEARS<sup>b</sup>

A man belonging to the Raven clan living in a very large town had lost all of his friends, and he felt sad to think that he was left alone. He began to consider how he could leave that place without undergoing hardships. First he thought of paddling away, but he said to himself, "If I paddle away to another village and the people there see that I am alone, they may think that I have run away from my own village, from having been accused of witchcraft or on account of some

TLINGIT MYTHS AND TEXTS SWANTON

other disgraceful thing." He did not feel like killing himself, so he thought that he would go off into the forest.

While this man was traveling along in the woods the thought occurred to him to go to the bears and let the bears kill him. The village was at the mouth of a large salmon creek, so he went over to that early in the morning until he found a bear trail and lay down across the end of it. He thought that when the bears came out along this trail they would find and kill him.

By and by, as he lay there, he heard the bushes breaking and saw a large number of grizzly bears coming along. The largest bear led, and the tips of his hairs were white. Then the man became frightened. He did not want to die a hard death and imagined himself being torn to pieces among the bears. So, when the leading bear came up to him, he said to it, "I have come to invite you to a feast." At that the bear's fur stood straight up, and the man thought that it was all over with him, but he spoke again saying, "I have come to invite you to a feast, but, if you are going to kill me, I am willing to die. I am alone. I have lost all of my property, my children, and my wife."

As soon as he had said this the leading bear turned about and whined to the bears that were following. Then he started back and the rest followed him. Afterward the man got up and walked toward his village very fast. He imagined that the biggest bear had told his people to go back because they were invited to a feast.

When he got home he began to clean up. The old sand around the fireplace he took away and replaced with clean sand. Then he went for a load of wood. When he told the other people in that village, however, they were all very much frightened, and said to him, "What made you do such a thing?" After that the man took off his shirt, and painted himself up, putting stripes of red across his upper arm muscles, a stripe over his heart, and another across the upper part of his chest.

Very early in the morning, after he had thus prepared, he stood outside of the door looking for them. Finally he saw them at the mouth of the creek, coming along with the same big bear in front. When the other village people saw them, however, they were so terrified that they shut themselves in their houses, but he stood still to receive them. Then he brought them into the house and gave them seats, placing the chief in the middle at the rear of the house and the rest around him. First he served them large trays of cranberries preserved in grease. The large bear seemed to say something to his companions, and as soon as he began to eat the rest started. They watched him and did whatever he did: The host followed that up with other kinds of food, and, after they were through, the large bear seemed to talk to him for a very long time. The man thought that

he was delivering a speech, for he would look up at the smoke hole every now and then and act as though talking. When he finished he started out and the rest followed. As they went out each in turn licked the paint from their host's arm and breast.

The day after all this happened the smallest bear came back, as it appeared to the man, in human form, and spoke to him in Tlingit. He had been a human being who was captured and adopted by the bears. This person asked the man if he understood their chief, and he said, "No." "He was telling you," the bear replied, "that he is in the same condition as you. He has lost all of his friends. He had heard of you before he saw you. He told you to think of him when you are mourning for your lost ones."

When the man asked this person why he had not told him what was said the day before, he replied that he was not allowed to speak his native language while the chief was around. It was on account of this adventure that the old people, when they killed a grizzly bear, would paint a cross on its skin. Also, when they gave a feast, no matter if a person were their enemy, they would invite him and become friends just as this man did to the bears, which are yet great foes to man.

#### 65. MOUNTAIN DWELLER a

Years ago young women were not allowed to eat between meals. Two sisters belonging to a high family once did this, and, when their mother found it out, she was very angry. She pulled the elder girl toward her, abused her shamefully, and scratched the inside of her mouth all over in pulling out the tallow she had eaten. She said, "What do you mean, especially you, you big girl? It is not right that you should eat anything between meals. What do you mean?" The younger sister was still quite little, therefore nothing was done to her, but she was offended at the treatment her elder sister had received. Finally the mother said, "You are so fond of eating you better marry Mountain Dweller (Cāqanayî')." This being lived upon the mountains and was a great hunter. That evening the sisters ran off into the woods.

Next morning, when her daughters did not appear, their mother thought that they had stayed in bed and called to them, "Isn't it time you were getting out of bed?" By and by, however, she found that they were gone, and the people began searching for them. Their mother would go from one place to another where they had been playing, but nobody saw anything of them for seven days.

Meanwhile, although they were suffering with hunger, the girls went farther and farther into the woods. When they got very far up among the mountains they heard somebody chopping wood, and the elder sister said to herself, "I wonder if that isn't the man mother was talking about?" Coming closer, they discovered a man with his face painted red. He looked up, saw the girls, and said, "What are you poor girls doing way back here?" Then the elder answered, "Mother abused us. That is why we left our home. She abused us because we ate some tallow. She said, 'You are so fond of eating tallow you better go and marry Mountain Dweller."

Then Mountain Dweller, for it was he, invited them into his house, and they found it very grand. Another house near by was full of all kinds of meat drying. Seeing that they looked hungry, he gave them some food. Next morning early, when he was getting ready to hunt, he said to them, "Do you see that curtain over there?" In one part of the house a large skin curtain was hanging. "A very bad woman lives behind that. Don't peep at her."

At their father's village all the people were now mourning for them, and all of their relations had their hair cut and their faces painted black.

The elder sister was now married to Mountain Dweller, the younger being still a little girl. After a while the former became curious to see the bad woman her husband had told her not to look at, so she peeped at her through a hole. At once the bad woman seemed to feel that some one was looking at her, threw up her hands, and screamed. Then both of the girls fell over dead.

By and by Mountain Dweller came home from the hunt, saw them, and knew what had happened. Then he went over to the bad woman and killed her. After that he put eagle down upon the girls' bodies and walked around them several times, shaking his rattle. In that way they were restored to life.

After the girls had lived there for a long time, Mountain Dweller said, "Don't you wish you might see your father and mother again?" The younger said, "Yes," and the elder also wished it. After that Mountain Dweller hunted a great deal to prepare a quantity of meat for his father-in-law. He said to his wife, "Make a little basket, just big enough to put your finger into." When it was done, he shook it and made it very large. Then he put all kinds of meat and tallow and sacks of grease into this basket. He shook it again and made it small with all of the meat inside.

When the girls came to their father's house their little brother ran out, saw them, and went in again crying, "Mother, my sisters are out there." But his mother became angry and said, "Why do you say that? Your sisters have been dead a long time, and yet you say that they are out there." But the boy screamed, "Those are my sisters. Don't I know them?" "Well! let me see the hair from their marten-skin robes." In those times none but high-caste people such as these wore marten skins, so when he came in again bringing pieces

from their robes she and her husband and all her relations went out. There she saw both of her daughters. "My daughters," she cried, and wept with happiness. All in the village ran to see them and were very happy.

Next day the elder girl said to her mother, "Mother, there is a basket a little way back there in the woods. Send after it and have it brought down." All the people went out to it, but returned saying, "It is such a large basket that all the people in the village can't bring it in." Then the girl went up herself, and it became small so that she brought it home easily. As soon as she had gotten it into the house and had set it down, it became large once more. Then she began to unpack it, and the house was filled with all sorts of meats. They feasted on these, and the village people were satisfied and felt very happy. Their mother, however, took too much grease on top of everything else. On going to bed, she drank some very cold water which hardened the grease so that her stomach broke in two.

Nowadays it is a fortunate man that hears Mountain Dweller's ax or sees where he has been chopping. The basket obtained from him at this time is called Mother-basket (Kakula), and is used by the Gānaxte'dî as an emblem.

## 66. HOW THE SITKA KÎKSA'DÎ OBTAINED THE FROGa

A man and his wife were crossing the mouth of a big bay named L!ē'yāq, when it became so foggy that they could not even see the water around their canoe and stopped where they were. Then, quite a distance away in the thick fog, they heard singing, and it continued for so long a time that they learned the song by heart. The words of this song are (first verse), "We picked up a man; you picked up a man;" (second verse), "They captured a man; they captured a man; you've captured a man." The voice was so powerful that they could hear it reecho among all the mountains.

When the fog began to rise so that they could look under it a little they heard the song coming nearer and nearer. They looked about and finally saw that it came from a very little frog. To make sure of it they paddled along for some time in the direction it was taking. Then the man said, "This frog is going to be mine. I am going to claim it," and his wife answered, "No, it is going to be mine. I am going to claim it." But, after they had disputed for some time, the man finally let it go to his wife.

Then the woman took it ashore, treating it like a child, carried it up to the woods, put it down by a lake and left it there. From that time on, her people have been Kîksa'dî. That is how the Sitka Kîksa'dî came to claim the frog.

# 67. QĀQ!ATCGŪ'Ka

One of the Sitka Kîksa'dî, a man named Qāq!Atcgū'k, was very fond of hunting and could use his spear very accurately. He had two wives and several children, to whom he always brought home a fur seal.

One time he heard a little fur seal crying continually, and he heard one of the others say to it, "Take care of that baby. Feed it. Qāq!atcgū'k comes here hunting." Then Qāq!atcgū'k was frightened and said to his companions, "Let us go back." So they went back and told the people in town what had happened. Then Qāq!atcgū'k broke up his canoe, his paddles, and his spears, and burnt them, saying, "I will never go out hunting again." So he remained at home for a long time.

One day, however, when a crowd of people were eating fur-seal meat, his little ones looked on hungrily. He pitied them so much that he did not know what to do. Then he said to his wife, "Go to your brother and ask him to loan me his canoe and spears." Then he started off again, but, although there were many seals about, he could not get one. A young seal in particular he tried very hard to get. He kept chasing it farther and farther out to sea. At last he said to his men, "Let us go back. I can not get anything." When they started paddling, however, a light breeze was blowing out from Sitka, and, although they worked vigorously the shore seemed to get more and more distant. Finally all became tired, threw their paddles into the canoe, and lay down to sleep, letting themselves drift farther and farther out.

After a very long time they came to a rock crowded with sea lions, fur seals, and sea otters, which seemed very tame. They clubbed numbers of them. Fresh water they obtained from a wild celery (kūq!) which has hollow stalks full of water. They built a house out of dry bushes, cooked the flesh of the sea animals and lived thus until August.

At last they wanted to start home again, so they made ropes of sea-lion hide, dried four sea-lion stomachs to carry along as floats, and filled a fifth with water. In the bottom of their canoe they put numbers of sea-lion bristles and loaded the rest of it down with valuable furs. They also cooked a lot of dried and fresh meat for the journey. Then they started off, guiding themselves by the sun, which they knew came up right behind Sitka in summer. When the sun set, they anchored by means of their hide lines and put the four sea-lion stomachs around their canoe to float it in case of storms. They did this every day.

Finally, after many days were past, they saw what they thought was a sea gull, but it always stayed in one place, and at last they

discovered that it was a mountain. Then they felt brave and worked harder, and it became bigger and bigger. They did not know what mountain it was but said, "If we get to that place we can reach the village." After a while they saw another mountain farther back and then knew that the first was Mount Edgecumbe (L!ūx) and the second Verstovaia (Qanē'sdî-ca). By and by they reached the mountain and drew their canoe up in a little bay under it, which they named Placewhere-canoe-rested (Yaku-kusē'gaku). After two days they started on again. Then they said, "Everyone has now gone to the salmon creeks." By and by they came to Sitka village and had no more than done so before the wind began to blow very hard. They must have been on the rock seven months. As they had anticipated, they found Sitka empty, and started for the salmon creek, Daxē't.

All of the village people were then at Daxē't drying salmon, and both of Qāq!Atcgū'k's wives were with them. The younger had already remarried, but the elder sat near\_the point every day and cried for him. They had held a death feast for him and had set up a post. They were burning food and clothing for him.

That day, after the old wife had sat crying for some time, she looked up and saw a canoe with three men in it coming toward her. As she wept she looked up at it every now and then. When it got very close she suddenly stopped crying and thought to herself, "There is a fellow in that canoe that paddles just like my husband." It made her feel sad. But, when it was still nearer, she said, "That is he and his brothers who went with him. Nobody ever paddled so much like him." Then she got up and walked toward the house.

Then her husband, who thought a great deal of her, stood up and said, "That is my wife." He looked again and was certain of it. Then he said to his brothers, "That is my wife. She must have been sitting there, crying."

When the woman reached her house she said, "There is a canoe coming and I am sure that one of the men in it is my husband. Go out and look." Then all went out, and saw that it was indeed he, and began to shout his name, announcing that he had come back. When he at length landed, he asked first for his wives, and they said, "The younger is married again, but the elder has been grieving her life away." He asked whether his children were all alive and they said they were. Then they brought up his furs and other property from the canoe, and he began telling how he had happened to stay away so long. He told them how hard they had tried to get back, and how he had thought of his wife and children worrying at home, how they lived upon the large rock, how they provided themselves with water and meat, and how many valuable furs they could have gotten had they had bigger canoes. He told them how the seals, fur seals, sea otter, and sea lions were so tame that they looked at

them like human beings, and how numerous they were. He also told them what a dreadful thing it is to be out at sea without knowing where one is or which way to go home, that it is like being in the inside of a bucket. When it was cloudy they did not know where the sun rose or set. He said that that was a valuable rock out there, and that wherever one looked or stepped lay sea-lion bristles. also told the people how much surprised they were at having fine weather out at sea and at having it become stormy as soon as they got to the village. He told how they camped in their canoe, how they fixed it for the night, and everything else connected with their journey. He said that he dreamed all the time of being with his people, and that he used to wake up and tell his brothers that his old wife and all of his children were well. He always had had bad dreams about the younger wife, however, probably because she was married again. He had also composed a song about his dreams, which he sang to them. In this song he said, "Here I am lost and vet I dream I am at home with my people. I have no hope of seeing them, and yet I see them in my dreams."

When he heard that the people had had a feast for him, he said, "Which of you gave a feast for me?" Then they pointed to a certain man and answered, "There is the principal one who gave a feast for you." They pointed to others and said, "That one gave so much for you and that one so much." He gave all of them valuable skins for what they had done.

### 68. THE BEAVER OF KILLISNOO

Some people belonging to the Dē'citān family captured a small beaver, and, as it was cunning and very clean, they kept it as a pet. By and by, however, although it was well cared for, it took offense at something and began to compose songs. Afterward one of the beaver's masters went through the woods to a certain salmon creek. and found two salmon-spear handles, beautifully worked, standing at the foot of a big tree. He carried these home, and, as soon as they were brought into the house, the beaver said, "That is my make." Then something was said that offended it again. Upon this the beaver began to sing just like a human being and surprised the people very much. While it was doing this it seized a spear and threw it straight through its master's chest, killing him instantly. Then it threw its tail down upon the ground and the earth on which that house stood dropped in. They found out afterward that the beaver had been digging out the earth under the camp so as to make a great hollow. It is from this story that the Dē'citān claim the beaver and have the beaver hat. They also have songs composed by the beaver.

# 69. STORY OF THE GRIZZLY-BEAR CREST OF THE TE'QOEDÎ $^a$

A man belonging to the Te'qoedî went hunting on Unuk (Djū'nax) river, and came to a bear's den. While he was examining it the male bear threw him inside. Then the bear's wife dug a hole in the ground and concealed him there. When the male bear came in he said, "Where is that man that I threw in here?" "I haven't seen anyone. You haven't thrown anybody in here." "I did. I threw a man in here." The male bear became angry at her denials and left her, upon which the man married this bear and had children by her, although he had a family at home.

Meanwhile the man's four brothers looked for him continually, keeping away from their wives so as to find him, but in vain. They could see his tracks in the snow, but they could not discover where they led to. They suspected the truth, because other hunters had also been captured there by animals, and the shamans told them that this had happened to him. As soon as they left the town with their dogs, however, the she-bear could feel it and made them pass by.

But the youngest boy had not searched. Finally he started off too, and the bear felt that he was coming, but she found that she could not make him turn aside and said to her husband, "Well! we are caught." The dogs scented him, and, when he looked out, there was his own dog barking. He called to it by its name, Man-for-the-mountains (Cā'yīs!-xwa). Then his brother knew what was the matter and came to the mouth of the den with his spears, determined to bring back his brother alive or dead. When the man saw his youngest brother outside he said, "Stand right there. Don't do any harm. I am here. Although I am with this wild animal, I am living well. Don't worry about me any more."

When he was first taken into this den it looked like a den and nothing more, but that night he thought that he was in a fine house with people all about eating supper, and his wife looked to him like a human being.

In May, when the bears were about to leave their dens, his wife said, "Now you can go to your village. Take good care of your little ones. Don't go near your wife. Don't look toward her even." So he went to the place where his brothers were living and said, "Tell my wife not to come near me for a while. She must have pity on me. Ask her to stay away." Then he began to go off hunting. He had luck from his bear wife, and killing seals was nothing to him. One day, while he was out, he saw some bear cubs coming toward him and presently found that they were his little ones. Then he gave them all the seals he had killed. He fed them every day. When his

younger brother went hunting with him and the cubs came running toward the canoe, he would say, "Don't be frightened. Those are your children" (meaning "your brother's children").

By and by his human wife came to him. She was angry with him and said, "Why do your children starve on my hands? What are you doing feeding cubs instead of my little ones?" After that, though he did not dare to say a word to his wife, he began feeding her children. He thought, "I wonder what will happen to me now for feeding the little ones."

Presently he went hunting again and again took some seals to his cubs. As he was going toward them he noticed that they did not act the same as usual. They lay flat on the ground with their ears erect. Then he landed, but, when he got near them, they killed him. It is on account of this story that the Te'qoedî claim the grizzly bear.

## 70. STORY OF THE EAGLE CREST OF THE NEXA'DÎ

There was a very poor Nexa'dî man who did not know how to provide himself with food, so he lived off of others. He was always cruising around in a small canoe, getting small bullheads and flounders. One time he went out just for the day. He did not take any food along and therefore became very hungry. Early next morning something said to him, "I have come after you." He heard the voice but could not see anything. Finally, however, he stepped out from the place where he had been sitting and saw a young eagle perched upon a branch. The man was wearing an old ground-hog blanket full of holes, so he lay down again and put his eye to one of these. Then the eagle came very close to him and, taking the blanket down, he said to it, "I have seen you now." Immediately the eagle looked like a human being and said, "My grandfather has sent me for you."

The poor man followed this eagle right up to the woods and they came upon a large trail there over which the eagle led him. By and by they came to some steps which led up to a house situated high up. He followed his guide inside of this and found it very clean and nice there. Everything was just like the houses of human beings, and mats were strewn round upon the floor. Then they gave him all kinds of fine fish and game to eat, and he wanted to stay among them forever. He was very poor among his own people, but these eagles treated him well. He married one of the eagle women and remained there for a long time.

After he married, this man's brothers-in-law gave him a coat and named it, as they put it on him, Camping-under-water-for-two-days (Dēx-hīn-tā'dê-uxe'). Before they put it on they warmed it. This coat was so named because, when an eagle gets hold of a seal, the

seal is so strong that it will swim around with the eagle attached to it, and the longest time the eagle can stand this is two days. Now the poor man was an eagle himself, and he learned from the eagles how to catch fish. He thought all the time that he was spearing them, but in reality he was catching them in his talons. He became a great fisher and hunter.

The mother and brothers of this poor man were just as poor as he had been, and, when he saw his brother out fishing, he would leave some fish where he could find it. His brother thought that he was very lucky. Finally his mother dreamed that some one said, "It is I, mother, who provides for you all of this fish and meat," and afterward they would dream that he said to them, "I have left a fish (or seal) on such and such a point. Go there and get it." When they did so, sure enough it was there. Sometimes he would say in his mother's dream, "We are going off camping. You must go there and camp near by." They did so and dried a lot of fish which he had gotten for them.

In another dream he said, "I have married one of the eagle women. I can not come among you any more."

One time, when they were out camping, they saw an eagle working very hard to bring ashore a load of fish. After it had done so, the eagle sat up on a branch and said, "It is I." It told them its name, which was the name of the missing man. It is because a friend of theirs was once among the eagle people that the Nexa'dî claim the eagle. This clan is now scattered everywhere.

# 71. STORY OF THE KILLER-WHALE CREST OF THE DAQL!AWE'DÎ a

There was a man called Natsîlane' (the name of a worm that appears on dried salmon) who was continually quarreling with his wife. He had many brothers-in-law, who became very much ashamed of this discord but had to stay around to protect their sister. One day his brothers-in-law took him to an island far out at sea, named Kats!ē'uxtî, and talked very kindly to him. But, while he was out of sight upon the island, they left him. Then he began thinking, "What can I do for myself?" As he sat there he absent-mindedly whittled killer whales out of cottonwood bark, which works easily. The two he had made he put into the water and, as he did so, he shouted aloud as shamans used to do on such occasions. Then he thought they looked as if they were swimming, but, when they came up again, they were nothing but bark. After a white made two more whales out of alder. He tried to put his clan's spirits into them as was often done

by shamans, and, as he put them in, he whistled four times like the spirit, "Whu, whu, whu, whu." But they, too, floated up. Now he tried all kinds of wood—hemlock, red cedar, etc. Finally he tried pieces of yellow cedar, which swam right away in the form of large killer whales. They swam out for a long distance, and, when they came back, again turned into wood. Then he made holes in their dorsal fins, seized one of them with each hand and had the killer whales take him out to sea. He said, "You see my brothers-in-law traveling about in canoes. You are to upset them." After he had gone out for some distance between the whales they returned to land and became wood once more. He took them up and put them in a certain place.

The next time he saw his brothers-in-law coming along in their canoes he put his spirits into the water again, and they smashed the canoes and killed those in them. Then Natsîlane' said to his killer whales, "You are not to injure human beings any more. You must be kind to them." After that they were the canoes of spirits, and, if shamans are lucky, they get these spirit canoes. It is through this story that the Daqu!awe'dî claim the killer whale. This clan was scattered everywhere in Alaska, as well as among the Athapascans, Haida, and Tsimshian.

# 72. STORY OF THE NANYAĀ'YÎ CRESTS

At the time of the flood the Nanyaā'yî were climbing a mountain on the Stikine river, called Sēku'qle-ca, and a grizzly bear and a mountain goat went along with them. Whenever the people stopped, these two animals stopped also, and whenever they moved on the animals moved on. Finally they killed the bear and preserved its skin with the claws, teeth, and so forth, intact. They kept it for years after the flood, and, as soon as it went to pieces, they replaced it with another, and that with still another up to the present time. This is why they claim the grizzly bear. During the times when this bear skin has been shown thousands of dollars worth of slaves and furs have been given away. Shakes (Cēks), head chiefs of this clan, would go up to a row of slaves and slap each one, upon which the slave would either have to be killed or sent home. This is why they gave great names to their children. They were very proud of owning this bear and did all kinds of things toward it. That is why all Alaska speaks of the Nanyaā'yî as the chief ones owning the grizzly bear. Very many songs were composed concerning it, with words such as these, "Come here, you bear, the highest bear of all bears."

They also have the head of the mountain goat, but they do not value it as highly.

# 73. STORY OF THE FROG CREST OF THE KÎKSA'DÎ OF WRANGELL $^a$

A man belonging to the Stikine Kîksa'dî kicked a frog over on its back, but as soon as he had done so he lay motionless unable to talk, and they carried his body into the house. This happened at Town-of-the-frogs (Xîxtc!-xā'yika-ān), so named because there are many frogs near by.

The reason why this man lost his senses was because the frogs had taken his soul. They had it tied to a house post, and some of them said, "Let him starve right there where he is tied." Others said, "No, don't let him starve there. Feed him and let us see what the chief says." This chief's name was Frightful-face (Yakū'ldî). When he at last came in his canoe, they said, "Frightful-face has come." Then all went down to his canoe to welcome him, and, when he reached his house, they told him the news. They said, "This man disgraced us terribly. He threw one of our women down and kicked her over." The woman was called Woman-in-the-road (Deyêxcā'gu). When the chief looked up, he said, "Untie him and bring him here." Then he said to the man, "We belong to your clan, and it is a shame that you should treat your own people as you have done. We are Kîksa'dî, and it is a Kîksa'dî youth who has done this. You better go to your own village. You have disgraced yourself as well as us, for this woman belongs to your own clan."

As soon as he had left the frogs' house, his body lying at home came to. He had thought all the time that his body also was in the house of the frogs. Then he got up and began to talk. He said, "Something strange has happened to me. The frog people captured me on account of that frog that I kicked over in front of the house the other day. They had tied me to the chief's house-post, and some wanted to kill me at once, while others wanted to starve me, and still others wanted to wait until their chief, Frightful-face, came home. When the latter at length arrived, they said to him, 'We have a man in here who has been throwing down one of our women. We have been waiting for you to see what shall be done with him.' I listened to all they said. Then the frog chief said, 'Untie him,' and all minded him. As soon as he had heard about it, he said, 'See here, young man, what is this you have done? Don't you know that we belong to your clan and that this woman you have done that to is of the same If it were not for that, we would not let you go. As it is you may go.' "

All of the Kîksa'dî were listening to what this man said, and it is because the frog himself said he was a Kîksa'dî that they claim the frog.

## 74. STORY OF THE KĀ'GWANTĀN CRESTS

A man belonging to the Kā'gwantān was out camping, and saw a wolf coming toward him, showing its teeth as though it were laughing. On looking more closely, he saw that it had a bone stuck between its teeth. Then he took the bone out and said, "Now you must show me what makes you so lucky." The wolf turned right round and walked away, but next night the man dreamed he had come to a very fine town. It was the wolf town, and the wolf he had befriended came to him and told him something to make him lucky, saying, "I am your friend." He was grateful for what the man had done to him. Since then the Kā'gwantān have used the wolf.

Another time when some Kā'gwantān were getting herring at Townat-mouth-of-lake (L!uq!ā'ceîk-ān), a bear came to the place where they were, reached down through the smoke hole and took away the herring they were drying. Then the people said, "Who is this thief that is stealing all the fish?" For that he killed all of them. Then the Kā'gwantān seized their spears and set out to kill the bears in that neighborhood. When they discovered those bears they were lying in holes they had dug for themselves, and the people said to them, "Come out here and let us fight it out." Then the bears did so, and the people killed them. They took the skins from the heads of the bears and preserved them. The bears so killed were Kāts!'s children. This is how the Kāgwantān came to use the grizzly bear.

## 75. MIGRATION OF THE GĀNAXA'DÎ TO TONGASS

At Klawak was a man of the Gānaxa'dî named Dancer (L!ē'xe) who was very fond of gambling but unable to win. Finally his wife said, "If you gamble again we will leave each other. I don't want to be with you any more. You are gambling too much." Her husband said that he would stop, and for a little while he did so. One day, however, a great game was in progress far out on the marsh, and his wife missed him. She knew where he was and felt very badly. In the evening, when he came home, she found out that he had lost everything in the house. Then she said to him, "You have been gambling again." "Yes," he said. She said nothing more, thinking it was of no use, until late in the evening. Then the men that had won their property came after it, and Dancer got up and showed them where the things were, but his wife did not speak a word. There was nothing left for her except a blanket and pillow. Finally, after they were gone, the woman sat down and began to cry. When she was through she said to him, "The house belonged to you, but you must go out, for you have gambled with all of my things. If you do not go I must. I married against the wishes of my people

and they will not take me in if I leave here." Then her husband said, "Do not feel badly if you should happen to hear of me," and he went away.

This man had seven sisters, all of them very well off, but they would not have anything to do with him. Very early in the morning he went to their houses and awakened the boys. Without asking the permission of their mothers he told them to get their bows and arrows quickly and come along with him. Next morning, after he had walked with them for some distance, they found a canoe, and he had them all get into it. In the evening, when their uncle camped with them, the children began to feel that something was wrong, and some cried, saying that they wanted to get back to their fathers and mothers. Then he told them that they would soon come to a fine town, and kept on going farther and farther away until they reached a place called Sea-lion's-face (Tān-yeda') where Tongass now stands. They kept on beyond this until they came to a large rock some distance out at sea on which were sea otters; these they clubbed.

Some of the boys were now quite large. Later they came to a long sandy beach, and their uncle made a house there out of driftwood. He dried the skins and made that place his permanent residence.

During the second night they spent there, Dancer heard the two dogs he had brought along, barking. He told his sisters' children to get out of bed to see what was the matter. They did so, and, on running out, discovered a large animal coming along, as big as a black bear. At first they thought that it was a bear, but it was of a different color, so they concluded that it was medicine. His nephews shot at it, and the man picked up their arrows and noticed that there was something like clay upon them. Everyone pursued the animal and at last they saw it disappear into a hole in a mountain. Meanwhile Dancer took the clayey substance from all of the arrows, wrapped it in leaves, and put it into the bosom of his shirt, giving the arrows back to the boys.

Now, Dancer made the place his town, and continued to live there with his nephews who were grown up. The stuff he had taken from their arrows he put behind the barbs of others so that they could use them in hunting. He also put some of it on their eyebrows, their hair, and around their mouths. He said it was to make the hair thick in those places, and sure enough they came to have fine eyebrows, hair, and mustaches. They became fine-looking men.

When they went out hunting with the medicine arrows he had made, and shot at a seal, even if the arrow merely came close to the seal without touching it, the seal would die. That was also a great place for sea lions, and whenever they saw one of those animals, their uncle would go out with a fan made from the tail of an eagle, anointed with this medicine, and wave it toward the sea lion. Then the animal

came right up on the beach, and they clubbed it to death. They had all kinds of food in their house and were continually drying meat and skins. The house became so full, in fact, that they had to build a larger one.

By and by their uncle said that he wanted some eagles, and the boys, of whom there were eleven, went out with their bows and arrows, and each brought one in. Then each of them had an eagle's tail fan for himself such as were formerly used in dancing. They also killed all kinds of birds and secured plenty of marten skins and weasel skins. Of these latter the uncle sewed together a marten-skin robe and a weasel-skin shirt for each boy as well as one for himself.

One time Dancer and his nephews went a long distance beyond their village and found a box, beautifully carved and painted, lying upon the beach. They said to one another, "There must be people living over this way." At that time they did not know anything about the Tsimshian. Keeping on farther, they saw still more signs

of people, and finally they came to a Tsimshian town.

Then they returned to their own place, and afterward the uncle felt that some people whom they knew were coming to see them. These people were his brothers-in-law, who had been hunting for him continually and had just started out once more. When their canoe came in sight, Dancer said, "There is a canoe coming right along there in the direction we came from." He had composed some songs while he was there, so he said, "You boys must dress yourselves to dance for the people in that canoe." When the canoe got closer he went outside and shouted, "That canoe must stay out there. Don't come in right away." So the canoe stopped, and after a while the boys came out and danced for the canoe people while he sang. The men in the canoe recognized Dancer but not the boys, who had grown up very quickly into fine-looking men. After that they invited the canoe people up to the house. They entered, and all the time they were there kept looking at one another and whispering, wondering what Dancer had done with their children. But, though they camped there one night, they did not ask for them.

Next morning, however, just before they got into their canoe, Dancer said to each man in turn, "This is your boy."

Upon that his brothers-in-law said to him, "We will be right back to see you again. We will come and live with you." Then they went back to their village, and told the news, and the mothers, who had been mourning for their children, felt very happy to know that they were alive. Dancer's sisters, their husbands, and all their people came over to him. Dancer and his nephews had been watching for them and counting the days until they should return. Dancer's wife had not married again and was very anxious to see her husband,

but he did not look for her. The boys had drums made out of deer hide, and, as soon as the canoes arrived, they told them to come close to the beach and they would dance for them. So the canoes stopped, and they came out and danced for the canoe people. Dancer's wife had thought that he would take her in at once, but he would not have anything to do with her.

Then the people were asked to come in and eat, and they were all fed by the boys and their uncle. Afterward they built their houses all about him and made the place their permanent village.

## 76. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED THE FROG a

A certain girl once said something very bad to a frog. Some time afterward she went up to the woods with her little sister, and suddenly her little sister lost her. She had met a fine-looking man and had walked on with him for a long time until they were far off from the village. When her little sister got home they asked her, "Where is your sister?" and she said, "I thought that she had gotten back home." They searched for the girl everywhere but could not find her. They did not see her for a long, long time.

The man that this girl had met was really a frog, which she had married, and she now had two children. To her, however, the frogs looked like human beings. One day this girl said to her children, "Run down and see your grandfather and grandmother. Their house is just in the middle of the village, and you will know it as soon as you see it." So the children went down to the house, but, when they entered it, some one called out, "Look at those little frogs coming into the house." Then their grandmother said, "Put them out." So they were thrown out of doors.

When the children got back to their mother she said, "Did you see your grandmother?" and one answered, "I think it was she. We went into a house," which they described so that their mother knew at once that it was the right one, "and some one called out, saying, 'Look at these frogs.' Then some one else said, 'Throw them out,' and they did so."

Then their mother said, "Go back and try to see her again even if they do throw you out." So the little frogs went down and entered their grandmother's house once more. Again some one called out, "Those little frogs are in here again." But this time their grandfather said, "Bring them here to me. My daughter is missing. These might be her little ones." So he held out his fox robe and they laid the little frogs upon it. The frogs crawled all over his breast and shoulders. Then the frogs were seated in front of their grandfather and were given cranberries. They picked them up one by one with the fore foot and put them into their mouths.

Afterward the frogs started to hop out, and a man followed them with the dishes of food. They hopped straight up to a lake back of the village and jumped in. Then, as the chief had already directed them, the men set the dishes down at the edge and stood watching. Presently the dishes moved out into the lake and sank. All at once they came up again and moved back to the same place.

Then these men returned to the chief and reported everything that they had seen, whereupon he sent them back, saying, "Go back and say, 'Your father has invited you to the house." They did so. Then they heard a voice replying, "I can not come." They reported this to her father, and he told them to take up her marten-skin robes and her other clothing and lay them by the lake. After that she came down and along with her the two high-caste frogs whom she had married. When they had finished eating, all went back.

Now the girl's father thought often and deeply how he should get her back, for he did not know what to do. Finally he said to the village people, "Make a place where the lake can flow out." So all of the people went to work to drain the lake, and the water began flowing out. When the lake was nearly dry they saw this girl, all covered with frogs with the exception of her face, start to flow along with them. They picked her out from the very midst of the frogs and carried her home, but the frogs followed right after her. The house was quite filled with them. Then they killed all of the frogs that were upon her body, but as they did so more climbed up. When they began killing them with human bones, however, they went away. Afterward the girl remained with her father, and the frogs did not bother her any more.

# 77. THE GIRL WHO MARRIED THE L!AL!

There was a certain Chilkat chief belonging to the Gānaxte'dî whose house stood in the middle of the village. One morning his daughter, a very lively girl, went out of doors and stepped upon something slimy. "Ugh," she said, "those dirty people throw their slops out right where a person may step into them." What she stepped on was the skin of a fish called L!AL!, which is taken in Chilkat river.

The girl thought no more about this, but toward midnight a young fellow appeared to her as if in a dream and said, "I am in love with you," whereupon he sat down at the head of her bed. Although the girl had rejected many suitors, she took a liking to this youth at once and married him. This was against the will of her father, but she was his only girl and was very wilful, so he let her have her own way.

The youth was very industrious, working at all times and hauling down wood for them. From him they learned how to haul wood. It was well on toward spring, but it was dry, and the ground was frozen hard. Every day the young fellows in that village played ball, and the girl's husband, who was a very powerful fellow, kept throwing the ball farther and farther up river every time they played. At last they became so angry that they caught him and tore his clothes off. Then they saw that his skin was covered with blotches. He was really the L!AL! who had appeared to the girl like a young man. Then they said, "Look at his body all in blotches. The idea of that girl having such a fellow after she had refused high-caste people like herself."

Now the youth continued to sit day after day where his clothes had been torn off, and although people went to call him every day, saying that his wife wanted him to come back, he would not answer a word. Finally his wife went out herself and said, "You better come home," but he answered, "Tell your father to tie your house down very firmly and block up every aperture even to the smoke hole."

That night the L!AL! started off up Chilkat river, and a long time afterward they noticed that the river was going dry. They wondered what was causing it, but it was really due to the L!AL!, who had grown to be a monster and was lying right across the stream higher up. Very early one morning, however, they heard a terrible roar, for the L!AL! had left the place where he had been lying and the ponded water was coming down. It washed away the entire village except the house belonging to his wife's father.

## 78. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED A TREE

An old spruce tree stood at the end of a certain village. In this same village a high-caste girl dreamed for several nights in succession that she was married to a fine-looking man, and by and by she gave birth to a boy baby. As she was a very virtuous girl, people wondered how she had come by it.

The child grew very fast, and soon began to talk. One day it began calling for its father. It would not stop, although they tried to humor it in every way. Then people wondered whom it was calling, so the boy's grandfather invited all the men of that village and of the surrounding villages to come to his house to see if the child would be able to recognize its father. When this proved fruitless he invited the people who inhabit trees to come in, and as soon as they entered and sat down, the child stopped crying and began crawling around the circle, looking at each person. Then the people said, "We will see where that fatherless child is going."

At the very end of the line toward the door sat an old man, and the child crawled right past the high-caste tree people toward him. As it did so, the others nudged one another, saying, "Look at Kasa'l!" They said this because the girl had had nothing to do with the high-

caste tree people, but with this poor old man. The child, however, crawled right up to him, climbed into his lap and said, "Papa." At once the old man married the girl.

## 79. THE GIRL WHO MARRIED THE FIRE SPIRIT

There was a chief's daughter whom all of the high-caste men wanted to marry. One day, as she sat close to the fire, a spark came out on her clothing and she said something bad to the fire, pointing her hand at it with fingers extended.

That night the girl was missing and could not be found anywhere. They searched all of the villages and all of the houses in all of the villages where those people lived who had wanted to marry her, but in vain. Then they employed shamans from their own and all the surrounding towns to tell where she was. Finally the chief was told of a shaman in a village a very long way off, and he went to consult him. The shaman said to him, "How is it that my spirits talk of nothing but your fire? Your daughter might have said something to the fire that displeased the spirits of the fire. Let your fire go out as soon as you are through preparing food and have the rest of your village people extinguish theirs. Do so for a long time." All of this time the parents were mourning for their daughter.

Then the chief sent through all the village to ask his people to let their fires go out, and they obeyed him. This went on for some time without result, but one day the girl came up from the fireplace from between the rocks on which the logs were placed. The Fire Spirit (Ga'ntu yē'gî) had taken her as his wife. Then the girl told her parents that her husband had pitied them, and after that she stayed with them most of the time. Every now and then she would be missing, for she was very fond of her spirit husband, but she would not stay long. She went into the fire to eat, and before she went directed them to let the fire go out after a time in order to bring her back.

One day, when she had not been away for a long time, she was eating in her father's house. For the last dish they gave her soapberries. Her father's nephew, who was in love with her and who was encouraged by her mother in hopes that she might be kept from going away again, was stirring them. When she put her spoon into the dish he seized it. At the same moment the firewood began to whistle, as it does when the fire spirit is talking, and the girl understood what it meant. Then she seemed frightened, and said to her mother and the boy, "He wants me at once." All that the girl had to do when she wanted to see her husband was to think of him and she would immediately be at his side. They never saw her going into the fire. Therefore, as soon as she said this she disappeared, and they did not know what had happened. Then, however, her spirit husband hurt her in some way so as to make her scream, though the

people could not guess the cause, and next day she appeared in her father's house once more, looking very sad, for she had left her husband; and now she stayed with her father all the time.

After that her father's nephew kept trying to get her to marry him, but she would have nothing to do with him. Before she had liked him, but after she had been abused by the Fire Spirit on account of what he had done, she did not care for him and remained single all the rest of her life.

## 80. ORPHAN

An orphan girl in the Tlingit country named Sahā'n (Orphan) was adopted by some high-caste people so that she might be a companion to their only daughter. She was very fond of going to the creek to get water, and the chief's daughter always accompanied her. Every time they went the chief's daughter would drink water from this creek against the protests of her foster sister, and it made her very unlucky. When she married into another high-caste family her husband became very poor on account of her and finally abandoned her. Then he married Orphan, who was very bright and knew how to take care of things, and she made him rich. She was quiet and paid a great deal of attention to her husband. The village people were also very much pleased with her, for after her husband married her, they lived off of him.

Everything that this girl had was good, her dishes and spoons being all set with abalone shell. She had four adopted brothers, of whom the elder two were rich but the younger two very poor and unlucky. The former she would always treat well because she knew that they were bright and able to take care of things, and she always gave them food in her fine dishes. When she invited her poor brothers her husband would say, "Go and get your dishes now and let your brothers eat off of them," but she always answered, "No, I don't want to let them use my good dishes. They might leave the marks of poverty on them."

After Orphan had lived some time in luxury, however, her husband died, and, as was customary, her husband's relations took the property all away from her. She became as poor as she had been before. Luck went against her because she had treated her poor brothers so meanly. That is why, nowadays, when a rich person has a poor brother he always treats him just as well as the rich one.

#### 81. THE DEAD BASKET-MAKER

A woman at Klawak was just finishing a basket when she died. She had not yet cut off the tops. Then her husband took the basket and put it up under the roof over his bed. He thought a great deal of it because it was his wife's last work. Sometimes he would take

it down, press it against his heart and weep as he held it there. He wept all the time.

After this man had been a widower a long time he married again. One evening, when he was sitting on the bed playing with his new wife, the basket fell right over his head. He tried to pull it off, and his wife laughed, not knowing why it had been up there. When he was unable to pull it away his wife also tried, but it stuck tight around his neck. He became frightened and worked very hard at it. Suddenly the basket said to him, "Yes, pull me off of your head. Why don't you press me against your heart again?" At last if they had not cut the strings the basket would have choked him to death. Then he put it farther back and in the morning threw it into the fire.

#### 82. THE CRYING-FOR MEDICINE

One of the Kāsq!ague'dî named Floating (Nalxā'c), living at Wrangell, had a wife called axtcî'k! who kept running away from him. He was a great hunter and hunted continually among the mountains of Bradfield canal accompanied by his slave. One day, as they were pulling along in a canoe while the dogs ran on shore, they heard the dogs barking at a certain place. They landed and ran thither. Then they saw the dogs lying on the ground with saliva dropping from their mouths, while a small bear ran along some distance off. The hunter saw this bear climb up the side of a cliff and was about to pursue it when he suddenly lost all of his strength and lay there just like his dogs. He watched the bear, however, and saw it go into a hole in the very middle of the cliff. Then he said, "That is not a bear. It could not have climbed up there and have gone into that cliff had it been one. It must be something else."

Floating thought a great deal of his wife and was suffering much because she had now been gone from him for eight months.

When he saw this bear go into the inaccessible hole in the cliff, he went back to town and made a very large, strong rope out of roots and a cedar-bark basket large enough to hold one person. With these he went back again to the cliff and climbed to a position above the hole the bear had entered. Then he tied a rope around his slave's waist, and another to the basket and put the slave inside. He was going to lower him down to the hole.

Now the man said to his slave, "When I get you to the mouth of the hole, shake this basket very hard so that I may know it." He gave him a little wooden dipper and said, "Dip that into the hole and see what you get out." Then he lowered the slave. When the latter put his dipper into the hole it came out filled with ants. Then the slave screamed, but his master said, "I will let you drop if you don't hold up. Put that dipper in again and see what you bring out. The slave

did so and brought out little frogs. All these were to be used with the medicine he was to get out last. The third time he put the dipper in he got blue flies. Then he put it in the fourth time to get the medicine, and sure enough on the end of it, when it came out, there was some stuff that looked like tallow and had a pleasant odor.

After that Floating pulled up his slave, and when he reached the top he had fainted and looked as though he were dead, but he soon came to. Then Floating took one of each kind of creature, mashed them up along with the white stuff, and put all into the shaft of an eagle feather. The medicine he thus made is called Crying-for medicine. When Floating wanted to kill any bear, mountain goat, or other animal, all he had to do was to shake it in the air and whatever he wanted would come down to him.

After this Floating went back to his village, where his wife also was, and the news of his return spread everywhere. It was early in winter. Then his wife was entirely unable to stay away from him, and ran to his door very early in the morning. They let her inside, but her husband would not allow her to come any nearer to him. She begged very hard to be allowed to come back, but he had already suffered so much on her account that he was determined that she should suffer in her turn. The harder she begged the more determined he was that she should not come back. He never took her back, and she suffered a great deal, especially when she found that he had become very rich and could have any woman in the village that he wanted. It was because of this medicine that she was so anxious to get back to him, and it was because he wanted to make her suffer that he was so anxious to get it. None except people of the Raven clan use this medicine. Even now, when a girl is so much in love as to be crazy over it, it is said, "They must have used the Crying-for medicine on her."

#### 83. THE RUNAWAY WIFE

A high-caste youth among the Haida was determined to marry his uncle's daughter, because his uncle was a very old man and he wanted to take his place. But, after he had given a great deal of property for the girl and taken her, she ran away. He followed her and induced her to come back, but before long she ran away again, and she kept on acting this way for a long time.

Finally the young man heard of a very large woman who knew of medicines to get anybody with whom one was in love. When he came to her village her people treated him very kindly, asking him to come up and eat with them. After they had fed him and his companions they made a large fire on top of the retaining timbers for the woman to take her purifying bath. She had a little girl to

wait upon her when she bathed, and she was so large that this girl could bathe only one leg at a time.

After she had finished bathing, the large woman came out and gave the youth an eagle's tail across which ran a single streak of red paint. Then she said, "Right around the point from your father's village you will see land otters running up from the water. As soon as the white one among them steps up on the beach, raise your eagle's tail and see whether she will stand still. If she stands still and does not run away go right past without touching her. Then you may know that you will get your wife and that she will never leave you again; otherwise she will never come back. When you get to the village, that woman you are having a hard time with will come directly to you."

The young man did as this woman had told him, and, sure enough, when he reached the village his wife was very anxious to see him. She tried to fight against the inclination, but finally she had to go. When she entered, however, her husband refused to take her back. Instead he went to another village along with his father and married somebody else. His first wife took all this hardly, and, when they returned, came to him to demand property. Then the young man gave her some of his own and some of his father's property and some slaves so that she would not bother his new wife. At the same time the girl felt very badly. Not a day passed but she cried to think that the husband who had formerly thought so much of her now had another wife.

#### 84. THE REJECTED LOVER

Somewhere to the north lived a chief who had a daughter and a nephew who was in love with this daughter. In olden times when a man married a woman with a marriageable daughter he married the daughter as well, so the youth wanted to marry this chief's wife in order to get her daughter. The boy's father was chief of a certain clan. When he found that he could not get this woman by himself the young man told his mother, and his mother worked hard for him. They carried in slaves and goods of all kinds to the chief. Still the chief would not consent, for he wanted his daughter to marry some great chief from outside. He would not let anyone in the village have her. It was really the girl, however, that had induced her father not to give his consent. She must have been in love with somebody else or her father would not have spoken in that way.

The boy's father had him ornamented with abalone shell, in his ears and all over his shirt, but, just as soon as he came in decorated in this way, along with his mother, the girl would jump up, raise her marten robe in front of her face, run to meet them before they sat down and say to him, "You may be decorated with all kinds of valuable shells, but I will not have you." The boy and her mother were

hurt at this. At first the girl liked her cousin well enough, but, when she found that he had made hard feelings between her parents, she began to feel unkindly toward him. Probably her father hated the boy because his wife was willing to marry him.

One day the girl felt lonely and asked her cousin to go up with her, to get spruce bark to eat. The girl took along her little servant girl and the boy his little servant boy. So they went up back of the town until they came to a place where there were only spruces with open grassy spots between. The girl sat down on one of these latter and her cousin took the bark off for her. He was very good to her, and tried to humor her in every way, but by and by she said to him, "Pull off your marten robe and put it into that pond close by." The boy did so, saying, "Did you think I could not do that? I have plenty of marten robes." Then the girl spoke again saying, "Pull off all of your hair." He began to do so, and, when it was all pulled out, she said, "All right." Then she said, "Take all those shells from your ears and face and throw them away." The boy began to feel disturbed (lit. strange) about what she was saying to him, but he did so. As soon as he had finished, however, the girl and her servant ran home.

Now the boy did not dare to return, because he had nothing to wear, his marten robe being wet and his shells lost in the grass. So he took some moss wide enough to cover his shoulders and body and lay down upon a point at the edge of the woods. He felt very badly and cried hard as he lay there. When he looked up he saw a loon swimming about in the sea. By and by he looked up again and he again saw the loon in the same place. Every now and then it uttered a cry. Finally, as he was lying with his head down, he heard some one say to him, "I have come after you." He looked up again but saw nothing except that loon. The fourth time this happened he kept watch, for he thought that it was the loon, and he saw a man coming to him. Before this person, who was in fact the loon, could say anything the boy exclaimed, "I have seen you." Then the loon said, "Come along with me. Get on my back and shut your eyes tight."

Then the man did as this loon directed, and the latter dived down into the sea with him and came up quite a distance out. "Look up," it said. The youth did so and found himself some distance out on the water. The hair was growing again upon his head. Then the loon told him to close his eyes a second time, went out still farther, and told him to reopen them. He was out a very long distance. Then the boy thought, "What is he taking me out here for?" When he opened his eyes for the third time he could see a village, and the loon said to him, "You see that village. The chief there has a lovely daughter whom you are to marry." After he had come up to the shore with him he showed him this chief's house and said, "You are

to marry the daughter of the chief who owns that house." Then the loon handed him the shells for his ears and his marten robe, which looked as nice as ever.

At night the youth went to the chief's house, passed in to where his daughter was, and said, "Chief's daughter, I have been told that I am not good enough to marry you." But the girl liked him very much and married him at once.

When news came to this girl's father, who was the Calm, that his child was married, he did not say anything, for she had been brought up very well, and she was to marry whomsoever she pleased.

So the man stayed there very many years, but at last he wanted to return to his father's people. The chief took down his own canoe for his daughter and son-in-law, and they put all kinds of food into it. The people disliked to see them go, and the chief told his daughter to be good to her husband. The canoe that they had was a bear canoe, and everywhere they camped they had to take very good care of it. Before they set out the chief said to his daughter, "Don't let anybody whatever give you water. Let your husband always bring it and give it to you. He gave her a quill to drink water out of and a very small basket for her cup. Then the girl said to her husband, "You must let alone those girls you used to go with and those you were in love with. You are not to speak to them."

When they came to his father's town all were glad to see the youth, for they had been looking for him everywhere. While they were there he always brought the water for his wife to drink as he had been told. One day, however, as he was going for water, his former sweetheart, who was angry with him because he would follow his wife around and pay no attention to her, ran through the woods to him, seized him and spoke to him. He, however, pulled himself away and would not answer her. When the girl put her quill into the water this time, however, the water was slimy. Before it had been pure and would drip like raindrops. At once she said, "I must leave you," and, although he begged her hard to stay, she got up and walked out. He tried to stop her but in vain. Every time he seized her his hands passed right through her. Then she began walking right out on the surface of the sea and he followed her. She said "Go back," but he kept on until they were a long distance out. Then she said, "Go back or I will look at you," So she turned around and looked at him, and he went straight down into the ocean.

## 85. THE FAITHLESS WIFE

A man of the Anq!a'kitān at Killisnoo lost his wife. When she was dying she said to her husband, "When I die, don't bury me. Keep me out of the ground." Bodies of common people used to be put into the ground for a little while before they were burned, those of

high-easte persons being put into a house. So, when she died, instead of burying her, he placed her body up on a high place. This woman knew, however, that she was not going to die. She spoke as she did because she was in love with the son of the chief. The chief's son was also in love with her, and, when he knew that she was put away, he went there at midnight when her husband was asleep, took her out, and carried her to his own house where he kept her in the bedroom at the rear. The chief was so fond of his son that he did everything the latter asked of him. This was the only house in that town that had a fire in it at midnight, and the people wondered what was the matter. The chief had his slaves get breakfast for the young couple before others were up.

The man whose wife had left him had a little girl whom he would humor very much, and she was in the habit of roaming from house to house throughout the village. One morning very early he said to the little girl, "Run out and get some fire." As the chief's house was the only one in which she could see smoke, she ran there after some, and, as soon as she entered, saw her mother sitting with the chief's son. As soon as her mother saw her she hid her face, but the girl watched her closely. She walked directly out with the fire, however, without speaking.

When the little girl reached home with it she said, "Father, my mother is at that chief's house." "Which chief's house?" said her father. "The chief that lives up on the hill." Then her father said, "What makes you say that, child? Your mother has been dead for some time." Then he took her hand and said pityingly, "Poor child, your mother is dead." He began to cry as he held the child's hand and then said, "I will go and see the place where I put her." So he got another to accompany him, and they brought the box down. It felt very light. When he opened it it was empty. Then he thought to himself, "I am going to make certain of this." About midnight he saw a fire at the chief's house. Then he climbed up on top of it, looked down through the smoke hole, and saw his wife sitting there playing with the chief's son. She looked very happy.

When the man got home he said to himself, "What can I do?" He thought, "How can I become a wizard?" So he did everything to turn himself into a wizard. He went among the graves, and played with the bodies and bones, but could not become a wizard. Then he went out to an island in front of the village and played with the bones of the dead people that were there. Finally he got hold of two shoulder blades with which he fanned and rubbed himself and all at once he fainted. Then he thought he would try working them like wings, and sure enough he began flying along very rapidly. Now he determined to go to the place where his wife was living.

First the man went up into the woods, procured very hard limbs and began to split them. He made the points very sharp. Then he stuck them into grease and burned it off in order to harden them. He took these along with him and crawled up on top of the house. Then he flew down through the smoke hole. He bewitched everyone in the house so that all slept soundly, passed into the rear bedroom, and stuck the sticks into the hearts of his wife and her lover so that they died.

Early next morning, when the slaves got up as usual to wait upon the young people, they were kept waiting so long that they were surprised. They thought that they were sleeping very late. Finally they went to see what was the matter and saw them lying in each others' arms with the blood flowing from their mouths. The news was soon all over the village.

Early that same morning the woman's former husband took his gambling sticks and came out to gamble. He pretended that he knew nothing about what had happened. When persons came to gamble with him he shouted out as people do when they are gambling, "These are the sharp sticks. These are the sharp sticks." People wondered why he said it, and much whispering went on while they gambled. The man looked very happy.

## 86. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED THE DEAD MAN

A woman belonging to the cohoes people (L!ū'kana-cā), whose father was a chief, was kept very pure and had a girl accompany her always. One day, as she was going out with her servant, she tripped over something and on looking at it found that it was a skull. She said, "Who can the bad person be who has brought skulls near my father's house in the place where I was going to walk?" She kicked the skull to one side and walked straight back into the house, for she was frightened.

The same night this girl thought she dreamed that two boys came to her. They were two chiefs' sons who were dead, and it was the skull of the elder that she had kicked out of the way. It was really no dream, as she at first thought, and she married the elder youth. These two chiefs' sons had met with some accident together, and so they always traveled in company.

Next morning the chief said, "What is wrong with my daughter? She isn't up yet." Then he called the servant girl to go and awaken her. So the girl ran to look, saw the young men there, and told the girl's mother that she was married. "Well," said the mother, "whom can she have married? She did not know anybody." After that the girl and the young men rose and came down to the fire

to have something to eat. Her husband looked to her like a fine young man, but everyone else could see that he was a skull. They were very much frightened.

At that time the people there had very little food, and presently the girl's husband said to her, "Has your father a small canoe?" "Yes," she said, "he has a small canoe." "Ask him for it and for spears and arrows." Then the girl said to her mother, "Mother, he is asking for a small canoe. They want to go hunting." Her mother humored her, for she was afraid she would go off with that man. But when they looked for the canoe it was already missing. Afterward the young men acted in the house just as if they were in canoes, going through the motions of paddling, spearing seals, etc., and the girl was ashamed of them. In the evening they said to each other, "Let us camp." The people of the village could not see what they did or hear what they said, but the girl could, and she felt very uneasy. Then they pulled off the painted boards from her father's house and began to cook. After that she saw them act as though they were coming back bringing a load of dead seals, etc. To the people it seemed as if they were still in the house.

Presently the girl called to her mother saying, "Mother, they are in already. They want some one to go down and bring the things up from the canoe." Then her mother said to the people, "There is a canoe down on the beach, and they want you to go down and bring up what they have killed." It was late in the evening, and, sure enough, when the people went, they found the canoe loaded with all kinds of fishes, with seals and sea lions. Then the chief gave the head man of each family a seal and fed the entire village with the food which they had brought in. After that the people had plenty of ground hogs, mountain sheep, etc., with which these two men provided them.

The two men began to come to life and were beginning to look like living beings. It was then that people found out who they were. When they got up in the morning they could be seen very plainly, so the chief got some marten robes and put them upon his son-in-law and his son-in-law's brother. They were both very industrious.

In that same house was a girl who became very angry with the younger brother, after she saw who they were, because he paid no attention to anyone but his brother's wife. She marked the place where he used to sit with human blood, and as he sat on this blood eating he dropped over dead. The other lived for some time afterward, and the girl who had destroyed his brother tried to draw his attention to herself also; but he was too fond of his wife to think of her in the least. Then she marked his seat with blood, and he in turn dropped over dead.

## 87. THE RETURNED FROM SPIRIT LAND

The wife of a young man who had recently married, died, and he was very sad. His father was a chief, and both he and the parents of the girl were still living. The young couple had been married for so short a time that they had no children.

The night that his wife died the young man remained awake all night unable to sleep, and the second night it was the same. Next morning he thought that he would walk out, but finally concluded to wait until after his wife's body had been buried. The body was taken away late that afternoon, and early next morning he put on his leggings and his other fine clothes and started off. He walked all day and all night. Daylight dawned upon him still walking. After going through the woods for a long distance he came to a very large valley. There had been a creek there which was now dried up. Then he heard voices, which sounded as though they were a long way off. Where he was traveling the trees were very thick.

Finally the youth saw light through the trees and presently came out on a wide, flat stone lying on the edge of a lake. All this time he had been walking in the death road. On the other side of this lake there were houses and people were moving around there. So he shouted out to them, "Come over and get me," but they did not seem to hear him. Upon the lake a little canoe was going about with one man in it, and all about it was grassy. It looked very nice.

After the man had shouted for a long time without receiving any response and had become tired, he finally whispered to himself, "Why is it that they do not hear me?" Immediately a person on the opposite side of the lake said, "Somebody is shouting." When he whispered, they heard him. "A person has come up (dāq ā'wagut) from dreamland," the voice continued. "Let some one go out and bring him over." They carried him across, and, as soon as he got there, he saw his wife. He saw that she had been crying, and he raised his hands and looked at her. He was very happy to see her once again. Finally the people asked him to sit down in the house, and, when he did so, they began to give him something to eat. He felt hungry, but his wife said, "Don't eat that. If you eat that you will never get back." So he did not eat it.

After that his wife said to him, "You better not stay here long. Let us go right away." So they were taken back in the same canoe. It is called Ghost's-canoe (S!î'gî-qā'wu-yā'gu), and is the only one on that lake. And they landed on the flat rock where he had first stood calling. It is called Ghost's-rock (S!î'gî-qā'wu-tē'yi), and is at the very end of the trail. Then they started down the road in which he had gone up. It took them the same length of time to descend it, and the second night they reached the youth's house.

Then the young man made his wife stay outside and he went in and said to his father, "I have brought my wife back." "Well," said his father, "why don't you bring her in?" They laid down a nice mat with fur robes on top of it at the place where they were to sit. Then the young man went out to get his wife. When the door opened to let them in, however, the people in the house saw him only. But finally, when he came close, they saw a deep shadow following him. He told his wife to sit down, and, when she did so, they put a martenskin robe upon her, which hung about the shadow just as though it were a person sitting there. When she ate they saw only her arms and the spoon moving up and down but not the shadow of her hands. It looked strange to the people.

After that the young couple always went about together. Wherever the young man went the shadow could be seen following him. He would not go into the bedroom at the rear of the house, but ordered them to prepare a bed just where they were sitting. Then they did so, for they were very glad to have him back.

During the day the woman was very quiet, but all night long the two could be heard playing. At that time the people could hear her voice very plainly. The young man's father at first felt strange in his son's presence, but after a while he would joke with his daughter-in-law, saying, "You better get up now after having kept people awake all night playing." Then they could hear the shadow laugh, and recognized that it was the dead woman's voice. To what the chief said the woman's brothers-in-law would add, "Yes, get her out, for she has kept us awake."

The nephew of the father of this girl had been in love with her before she died, although she did not care for him, and he was jealous when he found that her husband had brought her back. One night she was telling her husband that she was going to show herself as she used to be and not like a shadow and that she was going to remain so permanently. Her father's nephew had covered himself up at the head of the bed and heard everything. Her husband was very glad to hear this, but, while they were playing together afterward, the man who was listening to them thought that he would lift the curtain they had around them. The moment that he did so, however, the people in the house heard a rattling of bones. That instant the woman's husband died, and the ghosts of both of them went back to Ghost Land.

#### 88. THE SKY COUNTRY

A certain man's wife was taken away from him, and he longed so much for her that he thought he would follow her along the beach. He was half crazy. When he went out and thought he was walking along the beach, he was in reality in a wide trail which ran through

the woods. As he went on he saw where people had been camping, and from the dentalia shells left by these people he made a beautiful necklace. For a long time he wandered on with his head bent down, and, when he looked up suddenly, he saw smoke ahead. He walked toward it very fast. When he came close he saw a woman tanning a skin. He showed her the necklace he had made and said, "I will give you this string if you will tell me where my wife is." The woman answered, "She is over there at the next camp." So he finally reached her, and he remained with her for a long time, thinking that he was among his brothers-in-law.

The people of the village where this man was staying, however, hated him and wanted to burn him to death. After they had kindled the fire and were dragging him toward it he said, "Oh! how happy I am. I want to die. I would rather you killed me right away than be as I have been." When they heard that they stopped and began pulling him toward the water instead. But he said that he was afraid of water, and, as they dragged him along, he struggled hard and seized everything about him. At last, when they did throw him in, he came up again in the middle of the lake and looked at them. Then one of the people said, "See him. He is out there looking at us." The man laughed at them, saying, "Don't you know that all of the waters are my work? How foolish you were to put me into the water just where I like to be." He said this because he was a good swimmer and there was a great deal of rain in his country. Afterward he stayed in the water all the time he was there.

All this while the man had really been up in the sky, and now he wanted to get down. So he and his wife started back together and came to a house where lived a certain woman. She was really the spider and the house her web. Then this woman put them into a web and began to lower them to the earth. Before they started she said to them, "When you get caught on anything jerk backward and forward until the web comes loose." The things she thought they might get stuck upon were the clouds. In this way the man and his wife reached the earth safely, and afterward the web was drawn up. Then they lived happily again as they had been living before the woman was taken away.

## TEXTS<sup>a</sup>

# 89. THE ORIGIN OF COPPER b

A chief lived in the middle of a very long town. His daughter was fond of picking berries. Once she went for berries with her father's slaves, and while picking far up in the woods she stepped upon some grizzly-bear's dung. "They always leave things under people's feet, those wide anuses," she said. When they wanted to go down her basket broke, and her father's slaves picked up the berries and put them back for her. Very close to her father's house it broke again. Then one said to her, "Now pick them up yourself." While she was putting them in a man came to her whirling a stick in his hand. "Let me marry you," he said to her. Then he started off with her. He went up toward the woods with her and passed under two logs. These things which looked like logs were mountains.

Ankułaya't! dîgī'yīga a'ya u ānqā'wo.  $\mathrm{Dus}_{ar{1}'}$ qok!ī't! was long in the middle of it was lived a chief. His daughter berries akucîta'n. Qok!ī't! ān ū'at duī'c guxq!u tîn. Akā'yan liked to pick. For berries with them she went her father's slaves kaolîya's! yuxū'ts! hā'L!î yudā'qq! qok!ī't!ê.  $Y\bar{\mathrm{e}}$ aya'osîqa she stepped the grizzly dung way up in the woods while berrying. So bear's hā'L!î, "Ts!as qa'q!osi yidê' vūxū'ts! toq qaku." has alī'l! dung, the grizzly "Always feet down to they want, anuses wide!" bear's 5 Atxê'qdê has aya' daā'dawe ya'olik!ūts duka'gu. Duī'c broke down they when wanting to go her basket. Her father's yasahē'x akā'dê dudjiyî's. Laxdê' yā'duīc nelixa'n-. guxq!ū'tcawe were picking up on to it Very close to her father for her. and putting ya'olik!ūts. Tc!ule' aya'osîqa "Tela q!awe ts!u уē wae'tc house it again it broke. Then he (i. e., one) said to her "Now you SO was yasaha'." Akā'dê tc!a Lē' na'xawe de a'na doxa'nt right pick it up." On to it right by herself at once things she was to her it was putting in ū'wagut yuqā' was!-ya acaka'nalyên. "Idâca" Le yū'Acia'osîqa. "Let me a stick was whirling in his hand. a man then what he said to her. marry you", 10 Tc!ule' gone' DAq Acī'n uwaa't. datcū'n asiyu' dēx xao with her starting he went. Up toward the woods it was two tayına'x acī'n yā'waat. XAtc cā'ayu xao tuwā'yatî. YAX AC under with her went. These mountains were logs like looked to. her

a All these stories, with the exception of nos. 100 and 106, were obtained at Sitka.

b Another version is incorporated into story 31.

The people missed this woman. For that the people were called together, and they searched everywhere for her. It was the grizzly bear to which the high-easte woman had spoken angrily that married her. The grizzly-bear people kept going after salmon. After they had gone her husband went out after wet wood. She, however, always collected dry wood. When they came up from the salmon place they threw off their coats. They shook them. Something in these like grease would burn in the soaked wood. The woman's dry wood, however, always went out. It was not long before they did something to the high-easte woman on account of it.

When they went out again, the woman saw smoke right under her foot. A grandmother mouse was coming out from under a little hill. It was that which was going to help her. "Come in, grandchild," she said, "These are very dangerous animals you are among. The grizzly-bear people have carried you away." She told her the truth. Then she gave her advice. "Over there is your father's home." So next

Duītē'x qoya'odū'waei yucawa't yū'antqenīte. Yên searched the woman the people. Yên where yu'qodūciawa having searched

duite'q! yugā' wuduwata'n. Xate xūts! qoa'nî Asiyu' Acū'waca for her for that the people were called. This grizzly bear tribe it was that married her

yuānyê'dî. naadî' yua'xk!anya-ka'oLîgadî Xāt gā what-angrily-had-spoken-to the high-caste girl. Salmon for going Yuxā't naa'dî itī'q!awe hīn tāk<sup>u</sup>cā'gê yuxū'ts! qoa'nî'. ga the grizzly bear tribe. The salmon for when they had after they had wet gone

yadanē'nutc. Ho' qo'a ts!as xūk alī'q!anutc. Kē agaa'dînawe he (her husband) always went after. She, however, only dry wood always got. Up when they came

xāt ā'ni dax qāk!uda's! kāxkî'nde du'qêtenute. Kadukî'ksînute. salmon place from their coats off they always threw. They always shook them.

Atūtxī'nawe le ex yêx at akugā'nte yū'eaq xōq!u. Doayē'
From into it (clothing) then grease like something would burn the soaked among. Hers,

qo'a awe' ts!as kułkī'ste yū'xūk yū'cāwat. Akā'q!awe Lēł however, that thing only always went out the dry wood the woman. For it was not unała' wâsa' odusniyî' yuānyê'tq!u.

was long what they did to the high-caste (or something)

Ts!u Anaā'dawe ts:u has wuā't ga'nga tc!a yā'doq!osî yêdê' a'we 10 Again when they were again they went for firewood right her foot under that thing

aositī'n yucā'watte s!ēq. Yū'gute kîtū'nax naeu' qaga'qqocā-nak! saw the woman smoke. The little hill out from was coming a grand mothermouse.

Asiyu' Acigā' wusu'. "Nēł gu texank!. Lēł niya' kucîganē'x It was that for her would help. "Into come grandchild. Not easy what saved you the house"

At iya'dawe, xūts! qoa'ni awe' ī'usinē'x." Acī'n qonā'xdaq aka'wanîk. things around you grizzly people it was saved you." To her right she told it.

Te!uLe' Acu-kā'wadja. "Yū'do yū'c ānî'." Aya'xawe te!u ts!utā't been she gave her advice. "Over there your father's home." Like it it was then in the morning

morning when they were gone after salmon she started running in the opposite direction. When they came home at midday the grizzly-bear people missed her. The woman's dress had rotted up there. After she had crossed one mountain she glanced behind her. It looked dark with grizzly bears. When they gained on her she began crying for her life. She came out on the edge of a lake. In the middle of this big lake a canoe was floating wearing a dance hat. It said to her, "Run this way into the water." Then she ran into the water toward it. She was pulled in, and it went up with her into the sun.

The sun's sons had married a cannibal.<sup>a</sup> Whomsoever they married never lasted long before they killed her. Now, however, they liked the one they had just married. To make way for her they killed the cannibal. They killed her over a Tsimshian town. They chopped her into very fine pieces. This is why there came to be so many cannibals there. They could see the Tsimshian town. When the sun got straight up over her father's town they said, "Here is your father's

xāt ga naadê', gonaye' ā'dawe AdakA'dīnawe yūt wudjixī'x. salmon after when they were going when they in exactly the opposite away went she ran.

Yī'gîyî ke aā'dawe duitē'x qoya'oduwacî Xūts! qoa'nitc. Yāq!
At midday up when they came for her they searched grizzly bear tribe. At this place

kē uwal! A'k dul!ā'ke yucā'wat. De lēq! cā kana'x yawucîxī'awe up had rotted her dress the woman's. Now one mountain across when she had run qox awulîgê'n duî'tdê. lē qagê't yax gâ'awe yatî' duî't xūts! back she looked behind her. Then it was dark like as if it was to her grizzly hear

5 qoa'nî. Ackā' yax yāgāā'dawe ciayidē'kdagā'x. Ak!ayaxê' dāk tribe. On her like when they were she began to cry for life. On the edge of a lake

udjixī'x. Yū'a Len A'dî gīyīgē't gwâyu' lixā'e yū'yāku cadakū'q! she ran. The lake big of it in the middle was was floating a canoe a dance hat with high crown

Aca'. "Hā'nde hīnt icî'x" yuacia'osîqa. Le akā'de hīnt wudjixī'x. on its head.

This way into the you run", what it said to her. Then to it into the water water

Yāx wuduwayē'q. Tclule' Acī'n dekī't wudzîxa'q gagā'n tūt.
From it they pulled her in. Then with her far up it came to go sun into.
Luqanā' asiyu' has ā'waca yū'gagān yê'tq!î. Has a'gacān lē'lsdjî
Cannibal it was they married the sun's sons. They when they never

10 has ułsā'ku. Lē sadja'qx. Yīda'tî ā'yî qo'aawe ctū'gas a'odîca.
they lasted long. Then they always killed [them.] Now it was, however, they liked they started [the one] to marry.

A'ya aq da'xawe has ā'wadjaq yū'lūqana'. Tslūtsxa'n ā'nî kînā'q!

To make way for her they killed the cannibal. Tsimshian town on top of ayu' has ā'wadjaq. Tclayē'guskî wucda'x awulîsū'. Atcawe' luqana' it was they killed. Very small apart they chopped That is why cannibals her.

ā'cayAndihēn. Ts!ū'tsxAn ā'nî Le k!awê'lguha. Duī'c ā'nî akînā' began to be so many [there]. Tsimshian town then they could see. Her father's town on top of it

town." Very soon they had a child. Their father's canoe, a grizzly-bear canoe, stood at the end of this town. The canoe could hear. They loaded it with things. They put grease inside of it for their father-in-law. Then it walked away with them. After it had walked on for a long time it would stop suddenly. This was because it was hungry, and they would then break up a box of grease in front of the bow. They came in front of their father-in-law's house. Then she recognized her father's house, and went up in front of it. Then her brother came into the house and said, "My sister has come and is outside." But his mother beat him because he claimed to see his sister who had been long dead. His mother went out. It was indeed true, and they were coming ashore. They did not see them (her husbands), however, for they were like streaks of moonlight. Now, after they had brought all their things up, one went out and said, "There is nothing there." The wife said, "That moonlight down there is they. Tell

wugaxî'xîn yū'gagān ye yên dosqê'te, "Hē duī'e ā'nî."
when gets the sun thus there they always said, "Here [is] your father's town."
Wānanī'sawe yêt has ā'wa-ū. Hasdutcuka'tawe yiata'n hasduī'e
very soon baby they had. At the end of them (i.e., the stood their father's

yā'gu xūts! yāk". Qō'waaxte yū'yāk". Āyî's at ka'oliga. canoe, grizzly bear canoe. Could hear the canoe. For it things they loaded it with.

Hasduwu' xa'ndî dane't ayîde' ye wududzî'nê. Hasdui'n gonaye' father-in-law to grease box inside it thus they came to put it. With them started

ūwagu't. Tc!āku yā'nagu'tîawe qox Akū'dadjīte. XAte u'tiyāngahē'n, it walked Longtime after it had walked on walked on longtime after it had walked on longtime longtime longtime.

dāq ūwagu't. Duī'k!tcawe nēltlā' uwagu't "Axlā'k! gānt ūwagu't."

up she came.

Her brother it was into the bouse came [and "My sister outside came."]

has dula't. Has qo'a Lēl has dutī'n. Xatc dē'tc!a a'sîyu yū'aldî's they were coming in their things.

Them, how not they saw. This very thing it was the moon they saw.

qlos yêx kātuwā'(y)ati. Dāq kadudjē'lawe yū'atlaat ā'yux ā'wagut.

shine like was. Up when they brought their things out to them [one] went.

"Lēł da At," yū'siaodudziqa. Duca't ye yawaqa', "Dete!a'a"Not there [is] a thing," what he said to them. His wife thus said, "That is
awe' wealdî's-q!os yi yêx yatî'. Yē yana-isaqa a dāq yia'dî." Ye
they that moon shine down like there is. Thus you tell them up to come." Thus

them to come up." So people went to tell them. They came up. Then the sunbeams lay alongside of the woman in streaks, and their little son in front of them was also like a sunbeam. After they were seated inside of the house they began to appear as if coming out of a fog. "Eat something, my daughter," said the chief. Then a very young man ran to get water for them. But her husband took a fish-hawk's quill out, and put this into it. If it bent over on account of the wet the man had not behaved himself. After they had examined everyone she sent her little brother, and her little brother always brought water for them. When her brother went away she took her husband's bucket for the water herself. But after she had been twice a man near the water seized her hand. And, when she brought it into the house and set it close beside her husbands, they put the fishhawk's quill into it. This time, after her hand had been caught, the quill bent over with slime. Then they started to get up to go outside, away from

ya'odudzîqa. Dāq uwaa't. Tc!uLe' gagā'n q!ōs wa'sâ nēł kax they came to tell up they came. Then the sun beams how in the across house

cka' wucku'k yuqā'. Cunāyê't yên da yē'gawetsa, duī'k! k!Atsk!ubehaved himself the man. Everyone there when they examined, her brother little. Ever since then water for them carried their brother little.

10 Qot gagū'dawe duī'k! hīn gā a'watan q!īca' duxo'xq!u wa'nq!es. Entirely when went his brother water for she took bucket her husbands for.

kîdjū'k q!î'nayî. Tc!uyū' dudjī'n wudulcā'dî awe' La yū'yênkā'watan fishhawk its quili The time her hand was caught when then it bent xēL!qāx. Lē awē' wudîna'q duxo'xq!u wa'nga'ndî duna'q. slime from. Then it was started to get up her husbands to go outside from her.

her. She would catch first one and then the other, but her hands passed right through them. Then they ceased to see them. canoe, however, ran about on the lake.

After that the sun's children began to wish that filth would kill their This is why poverty always kills a little boy when his father dies. After her little child had begun to suffer very much they compelled him to go outside with his mother. She made a house with branches at the other end of the town. There she stayed with her little child. She continually bathed her little child inside of the house of branches, and he grew larger there. People kept throwing the leavings of food on top of their house. They always called him "This man living here." They would laugh at him. Whenever the little boy ran out among the boys who were playing they said "Uh! Garbage-man." Now he said to his mother, "Make a bow and arrows for me." And, after she had made them, he went out shooting just at daybreak. He shot all kinds of things. When he was getting to be a man, he kept going up close by the lake.

Tc!ule' Ts!uhē't!aawe agaca'ttc, Le atū'nax wudja'ltc. ьēł has First one and then when she would then through [her hands] not thev would go. Ha'sduyā'gu qo'a awe' ā kat wudjixī'x. Their canoe, however, lake on saw [them]. Hasdūyī'dî qo'a awe' yē'at has aodîcî' qahā's!te yāqgadjā'q. atcawe' filth would kill him. This is why however, for this they came to Atk!A'tsk!u duī'e naganā'n q!anaskîdē'tc wudjā'qtc. wâ'yu LAX his father when he dies a little boy's always is killed of. Very poverty kacū'sawedê duyê'tk!u, dulā' tîn gā'nîvax ka'odulî-u'. An 5 her little child his mother with they let him go. Duyê'tk!o a'q! ān yē tcuka'q!awe tcāc hît aka' aolîya'x. at the other end branch house at it she made. Her little child then with it so she stayed. A'cutenute duyê'tk! yū'teāc hît yîk. Desgwa'te Llagā'yan nalgē'n. She always her little the branch house inside. he was getting bathed child "Yā't!ayauwaqā'," yuawe' Qaq!aitē'awe dukadê'q dogê'tenute. on top of him they would always throw. "This man living here," house) U'x uduleu'qnutc. dayadogā'nutc. Wānanī'sawe yux wudjixī'x they always called him. At him they would laugh. As soon as out he ran yuatkla'tsklo ackułyê'tîxōql. "Tca-ī' Qlaī'tî-cūye'-qā" la yū'duwasa. 10 the little boy among the boys "Oh! you garbage-man" playing. "Saks a'xdjîyîs laya'x." ye aya'osîqa, Dulā' Ale' ye anasnî'awe His thus he asked, "Bows for me make." Then so when she had and arrows made them te!ū'ya aka'ndaganêawe' Łdaka't ānagu'tte atlo'ktl. A'dawe just then when it was daylight he always went shooting with things

Qāx yaqsatī'yawe desgwa'tc yū'āk!

now

the lake

when he was

ayahê'taqgutte.

he always went up close by.

he would shoot.

After he had gone up there many times something came up quickly toward him. Its mouth was red. After it had done so twice he asked his mother, "What is that, mother?" Then he prepared a new spear. "When it opens its mouth for you and puts its forefeet up on land run down to it. It is your father's canoe." So he went there and it opened its mouth for him. His mother had said, "Shoot it in the mouth," and, when he had shot it, it was heard to say "Ga," like a raven. It was as if its seats had been all cut off. It was a copper canoe in which were wide seats. The canoe was nothing but copper and broke entirely up. Throughout the night he carried it into his house to his mother. No person knew of it.

Now he began making a big house out of copper. He would pound out spears and bracelets under the branches. In those days there was no iron or copper. He also pounded out copper plates. Then he set them all round the inside of the house. When they threw garbage upon his house [they kept calling him] "Pounding-chief." After he

Q!ū'na ā'daq gū'tsawe acyîs yînax ke q!ē'waxix. Q!āna'x
Many inland after he had for him toward up came quickly. It was łatî′ was Daxdanī'n ye ac nasnī' dulā' q!ē'wawūs!, "Dā'sayu ale'?" so him it had his done for mother "What is that, mother?" he asked, уїs цак. "Dekī" a′osînî Tcule' yên – q!wan dāq īcī'q îya'x now out you run for you there he prepared spear new. Seaward xāku qâ'djî ga'laat. g!aowut!ā'xe  $I\bar{\imath}'c$ yāgu' awe'. Aq! āya'x it opens its mouth claws it puts up on land. Your father his canoe it is. To it so 5 dugudē'awe AcyA'x q!ē'wat!āx. "Dułēg!a' tca t!u'k." Te!ule'

when he had gone for him it opened its mouth. "Its (mouth's) right in shoot it." Then awut!ū'guawe ye uduwaa'x "Gā" yēl ya'x. Ayê'x caya'oLixac yeya'x when he had shot it so it was heard "Ga," raven like. As if were all cut off like it to say

awe' wūne' ayêxak!ā'wu. Xatc ēq yā'gu ayu' yēkudīwuq!
that it was its seats. It was a copper canoe that in it were wide
ayaxak!āw'o. Xatc tc!as Le yē'tî ē'qayu, Le kā'wawal! yū'yāku
seats. It was only then was copperit was and broke up the canoe
ldaka't ā. Tāt yina'x awe' ā'waya duhî'tî dê dulā' xa'ndî. Lēl
all did. Night throughout it was he carried his house to his mother to. Not
10 Līngî'tte wusko'.

Tlingit knew it

Telule' ā'len hî'txawe yā'nalyax yuī'q. Yuteā'etayīq! ade'awe
Then big one into house it he was makthe the copper. Under the branches there it was ing from

ā't!Aq!anute Lāq sAk" kīs sAk". Lēł gayē's! qōstī'yīn qA'teu ēq he would pound spears for bracelets for. Not iron there was or copper

yax yatī'yī at. Tînna' yax ts!u at!ē'q!. Le nēl yī'ya aca'kanadjal. like were things. Copper like also he pounded. Then in the inside he set them all down.

Tc!uLe' doka't ku-doxē'te q!aīte'. "Yā'dat!a'q!-anqā'wo." Yên
Then on him they always threw garbage. "This pounding rich man." When

had finished the house there were plenty of copper plates which he kept pounding out. When they laughed at him and he ran outside they would say, "Uh! Garbage-man." There was a chief's daughter whom they would let no one marry. After people from all places had tried to get her he prepared himself. He dressed himself at night. took a piece of twisted copper. He knew where the chief's daughter slept. He poked the woman through a hole with this copper roll, and the woman caught hold of it. She smelt it. She did not know what the copper was, no person in the world having ever seen copper. Then he called to her saying, "Come outside," and she went outside to him. "Go down to my house with me. With me you shall stay," he said to She did not know whence the man came. The man that used to be called dirty was only going to the beach with her. Just before she touched the door it opened inward. The copper door shone in her face. Whence were all those coppers that stood around inside of the house? Then he married her in his house.

asnī' wehî't qa yu'tînna de cā'yadîhēn yū'nîlq! ade' At!aq!A't.
he finished
the house and the copper plate

of there were plenty in that house at them he was pounding.

Tc!aye' u'xanax duleu'gtawe', k!êsā'nî xō yux nacî'qtc. "Tca-ī' so at him when they laughed, little boys among out would run. "Oh! you dirty

qla-ite'-cū'ye-qā." Yū'anslatî'-si Lēl dudjîde' yē'qasado'ha. Łdaka't garbage-man." A rich man's daughter not to her would let anyone have. All [places] yētx ducā'qlawe' te!uLe' ayî's yên ū'wani. Hūtc qo'a tā'dawe from when they tried to marry. He, however, at night

ctā'de yē'djîwudîne. Eq kAtî'q! aosîte'. Ātē'xya aosîku' yuānyê'dê. himself dressed up. Copper a twist of took. Where she slept he knew the rich man's daughter.

T!aq!ā'naxawe Atc yu-Aqhî'tsAqk yucā'wat yuē'q-katî'q!tc. Yucawā'ttc
From the hole that he was pushing with it the woman the copper roll. The woman

aolicā't. Aodzînî'q!. Lēl aga' wus-ha yuē'q. Lēl līngî't-ānē'q! ax caught it. She smelt it. Not what it was the copper. Not in the world of it (for it) [she knew]

dustî'ndjîayu' ēq. TcluLe' ā'waxox, "Hāgu gā'nq!a." Xa'ni yux having ever seen copper. Then he called her, "Come outside." To him outside wugū't. "Axhî'tîyīdê' xā'naAde. Axaniye' îq-gwâte'" yū'ayaosîqa. she went. "Down to my house go with me. With me you are going to stay," what he said to her.

Gudaxqā'x sayu' ū'wadjî lēl ye'awusku. Yū'duīqonī'k qāx sateyî', 10
From whence it was he came not she knew. The man they used come to it was be the man

ts! As yuî'qtê ayu' Acī'n yā'naAt. Tc!a dudjî' cukadawe' nēl cū'djîxîn, only to the beach that with her was going.

Just before her in front of into the house

yuō'q q!axā't duyê't kaodîga'nayî'. Tc!uLe' gutxa'tsayu Le nēkyī' the copper door her face shining in. Then from where was it then down inside the house

cayaqā'wadjal yū'tînna. Tc!ule' ā'waca duhî'tîq!. stood all around the coppers. Then he married her in his house.

5

By and by the people began searching for that woman. They missed her for many days. Two days were passed in searching for her. Then her father said to a slave, "Search below here." The slave searched there for her. When he had looked into the house the slave backed out. It began shining in his face. Then the woman's husband from inside the house said to him, "Come in. Do not tell about my house," he said. "Say Garbage-man has married her." When he came into the house he told about it. He said, "Garbage-man has married her." Then they started to rush out. Her mother cried, "My daughter!" Then they rushed to his door. They kicked into the house, under the house made of branches. "Dam" it sounded. It shone out into her face, and they started back from the house door. Where was their anger against him? Then she became ashamed. After they got home he sent for his father-in-law, and he put eight coppers on him because he had married his daughter. Then they

Du-īgā' qodieī' yū'cawat. Wudū'dziha k!ū'nyagīyî. Kanaxsa'
For her they started that woman. They eame to miss her for many days. After

dēx oxe' aga' uga'qoduciya'. Wānanī'sawe duī'c gux, ye' aya'osîqa, two were for her while they were hunting.

And then her father a slave, thus said to,

"Good below here hunt." Then hunted the slave for her. Then into the house

yawusaye'awe yū'gux gā'nî qo'xodjîqaq. Duyê't ka'odigan. Yuhî't when he looked the slave outside backed. His face it started to shine in.

5 yī'dax, "Nēł gu'" yū'ayaosîqa yū'cāwat xoxtc. "Lîł kīnigī'q from in, "Into the come," what said to him the woman's husband. "Never tell it

ya Axhî'tî" Le yū'ayaosîqa. Yē qo'a yên aya'osîqa, "Q!a-ī'tîcuye-qātc about my house," then he said to him.
uwaca'" yuq!wa'nskānilnîk.
marrid tell that.
Then into house when he came he told it.

"Q!a-ī'îcuye-qātc uwaca'" yū'ckalnīk. Tc!ule' awe' yūx has "Garbage-man married her" he said. Then it was out they dju'deat. "Axsī'k!" yū'q!oyaqa dula'. Tc!ule' aq!a'wult has lū'waguq. started to "My daugh said her Then to his door they rushed. rush. ter" mother.

 $10\ \ Y\bar{u}'tcac-h\hat{i}t \quad getla'a \quad h\hat{i}t \quad n\bar{e}l \quad \text{Acuka'olitsax.} \quad \text{``Dam''} \quad y\bar{u}'yudowaax. \\ \quad \text{The branch house} \quad \text{inside} \quad \text{house} \quad \text{into} \quad \text{they kicked.} \quad \text{``Dam''} \quad \text{it was heard like.}$ Duyê'tayu kaodiga'n. Yuhî'tyīana'q gā'nîqox has wu'diqêl!. Gūsū' Her face it was it started to From the house door back outside they started to go. shine in. ayî's klant wunū'gu. Tc!ule' kāwadī'q!. Nēldê' has naā'dawe for him anger was. Then she became ashamed. Home they when went agā' qoqā'awaqa duwu'. Doxa'nt has ā'dawe naslgaducu' tînna' eight for him he sent for his father-in-law. To him they when came Acnā'ye aosî'ne Asī' awucā'yetc. Le adada'xdê caodulîgê'tc he put his daugh- because he Then from around it they threw away

5

threw the branch house away, letting the copper shine out. But his father had done this purposely to him in order to help him. So even now, when a man is poor, something comes to help him. This shows how valuable copper was at the place where this happened. Even lately a copper plate used to cost two slaves. It has since become an everlasting thing there (i. e., it is now used there all the time).

yutcā'c-hît yīyî. Yut ka'odigan yū'ēq. Qo'a duī'c awe' ye acī't the branch house did. Out started to shine the copper. But his father that one so to him ta'oditan duīgā' at nagasū't. Atcawe' yiyida'de qawu tslu did it purposely thing out. This is why even now a man also qana ackîdē'x na'xsatīn yugā'ayu at yasē'k atcawe' hē'naya ēq

q!anackîdē'x na'xsatīn yugā'ayu at yasē'k. Atcawe' hē'naxa ēq
poor is for him some-comes up and helps out.

This is why there copper out.

ā'qlaolitsīn. aq! ye at wuniyī'tc. Tc!uya' yîdat xa'ngāt ts!u dēx is expensive. At it so thing happened. Even lately too two gux cka'teatsinen tînna'. Tca la'ku qo'dzîtī'yī-atx sîtî' aq!. slaves used to cost a copper. Become an ever-living thing it is there.

# 90. THE MAN WHO WAS ABANDONED

People living in a long town were suffering from famine. A certain man stayed with his uncle, who had two wives. The people were very hungry. This man was always sleeping, for he was lazy. When their food was all gone, they started away from the lazy man to camp, but his uncle's wife threw some dried fish into a hole beside the house post for him, while she was walking around back of the fire. Then she said to him, "I threw a piece of dried fish into the post hole for you." He would put a small piece of this into his mouth. When he took it out, he would go to sleep. He always had his head covered.

Suddenly something said to him, "I am come to help you." When he looked there was nothing there. At once he fell asleep. Hunger was overcoming him. At once he prepared himself for it. What was speaking to him was a small thing running around him. Its teeth

Qowau'wau āntqenî' ān qolaya'tq! aaya' aq! qō'waēn. where in it was a famine. His uncle Were living people town in a long xanq! yē'yatî, yuqā. Daxna'x yatî' dukā'k cat. Yuqā' ā'awe yān with he stayed a man. Two were his uncle's wives. The men those were dēnkū'wane. Tela laku natē'te yuqā' ūdzîka'. Lax qāqlaxa'nt very hungry. Always slept the man, he was lazy. Very acuxī'xawe naoligā's! duna'q yū'udzikaya-qua. Dīyī'nax aa dukā'k Back of the it his fire was uncle's when [food] they started for from him the lazy man. camp gās!-k!î ite'dê at wugē'q! atq!ē'cî doq!ē's. Tea adê' 5 ea'tteawe post hole threw dried fish down in somefor him. Just as there wucka't wudigu't diyē'dî. Ayu' ye' acia'osîqa "Eqlē's gās!-k!î ītī'dî she started at the rear When thus she said to "For you post hole into to walk of the fire. atq!ē'ci xâgē'q!." Yē'kuge awe' wuctū'dî andatī'tc. Āx ke agatī'n I threw." A small piece that into his mouth he would put. From it out when he tc!a LAku natē'tc. Cana'odas!î'tte. He would always he would sleep. cover his head. ''Iīgā' ya'odudzîqa, xat wūsu'." Wananī'sawe duyîxa'ndî yē

At once down close to him thus something said to "For you I come to him,"

10 Lck! gwâ'yAl wudaA't At Alge'n. Wanani'sawe tatc uwadjA'q.

Not was anything there at it when he looked. At once asleep he fell (or was killed by).

Daduka'nax yax yatî' yū'lāxu. Wananī'sawe yên ayā'wayak.

Overcoming him like was the famine. And then there he got ready for it.

adē'awe q!ayaxa't.

it hung.

around

were long. Then he took it away. He put it among his rags, and fell asleep again. Then he dreamed that it said to him, "Put me into the water." When it was getting light he did so. He went down into the water with it. He kept throwing it up and down in his hands. Saying, "You came to help me," he threw it into the water. Where he threw it in [the water] smoked. And when it was getting dark he covered his head. When day was beginning to dawn he heard the ery of the raven below him. A halibut had drifted ashore there, and the thing that was helping him was at its heart.

Quickly he built a house. He built a big one. In the morning he went down to the beach with his helper and let it go. Toward daylight he again heard the raven's call at the beach, and he ran down. Then five seals were floating below him, one behind another. His helper hung around the neck of the fifth, and he took it off. One could not

Yū'ye-act-āyaqa-at yekuligā'yî-atawe' duyāxa'nt wudjîxī'x. What was speaking to him was a small thing which around by him was running. Its teeth yēkdiyā't!. TcluLe' ã'wacāt. Doats!ī'l! tū'q!awe ayā'wacat. ax Then from it he took it. His rags among (up) "Hīnq! q!wan yên tātc 'uwadja'q. Yeadjū'n, xat cat," "In the water (imp.) As follows he dreamt, awe' Yaqēnaē'nî aya'x a'osîne. yu-Act-ā'yaqa. Ege yēq Inside with it down what it said to him. It was getting light when like it he did. [to the waterl "Xāga' iwasu'," ke āxê'tetc. uwagu't. Dudjī'n tā'q lawe up [and down] he threw you come to he went. His hands in those "For me it always. help, Wuduwas!A'qawe yē'ayênasqā'awe hīn āwaxē'tc. nax Αt when he said so water āwaxê'teiya. Le yê'ndiyax be threw it. Then there it xîna'-a'tî cana'odîs!ît. Tc!ule' awe' he began to cover his head. it was getting dark when Then aqē'naē'nî tî'nawe ā'waax yēł sa duīgaya'dê. Tcāl gwâ'ya yā'nax it was getting when with he heard raven's cry below him. Halibut it was toward day-Atē's!î kade'q! ayaxa't yū'-Acīgā'-wusū'wu-At. yên a'osîguq. there drifted. Its heart on it was the thing that helped him. yax dji'wane. Tslayu'klawe hît Alē'n aoliya'x. Tslutā'dawe 10 Quickly house he A big one made. he made. In the morning yaqē'ga a'awe ts!u an yeq uwagu't, Adjiwana'q tslu. Ax beach with down After he went and let it go also. when it was getting again that Ā'yēq de wudū'wa\_x yēł Tclure' wudjixī'x. eq sa. the raven's call. Down there he heard he ran. kīdjî'nawe wudcu'ta ka'odiha yū'tsa duīgayā'q!. Kidjî'na lēda'q! one behind another started to the seals below him. The fifth one's neck

We'aciye gānasē'tc-at daatxakā'

Around his neck thing

from it

awadja'l.

Lēł

Not

see about inside of his house on account of the drippings. His uncles who had left him, however, were suffering from famine.

Suddenly some mountain sheep came out above him. He let it go among them. Then all fell down. The inside of his house could not be seen on account of the great abundance of food.

Now when his uncle thought that he had died he sent some one thither to burn his body. His slaves that he told to go after him came thither, and he called the slaves into the house. They came up. He gave them things to eat, and they remained with him one night. One of these slaves had a child. Then he said to them, "Do not take away anything." The little slave, however, threw a piece inside of something. "Tell your household that you burned me up." He left those directions with them.

When they reached home that night the baby began to cry: "Little fat, Little fat," the slave's child began to cry out. There was a great

```
dutī'n de duhî'tî ayî yuqalū'xtcātc.
                                              Yu acna'q-wulîgā's!î dukā'k-has
could be his house inside on account of the
                                                 Those from him went
                                                                           his unele's,
 seen
                    of it
                               drippings.
qo yaē'n dēn
how suffering from
                     wū'nî.
                       were.
   Wananī'sawe dukînā'da ka'odîk!ît! dja'nwu.
                                                              Xō'de adjī'wanaq.
                                              mountain sheep. Among
                    on top of him
                                    came out
                                                                          he let it go
                   (i. e., above him),
                                                                           quickly.
                                                                        duhî'tîyî-At
Lē łdaka't dāq
                       kawasū's.
                                     Tc!ule'
                                                ьēł
                                                      wudutī'n
                                                                  _{
m de}
                                                      could be seen
                                                                          the things in-
side of his
Then
                down
                           fell.
                                        Then
                                                 not
       ดไป
                                                                              house
```

5 cā'yelahēn Lēn.

[on account of] great.

Dutuwū'tc kā'xawe dukā'ktc ade' kokā'waqa duīga'
When he thought he had died of his uncle thither told some to go for him

qagā'x dusqā'ndayu. Dugū'xq!o a'de doxa'nt akā'waqa atxawe't in order to burn up [his body]. His slaves there he told to go after it Dāq  $Q!\bar{e}x$ Wē'guxq! nēłde′ awaxō'x. a'osiat. uwaqo'x. (they) came. The slaves into the house he ealled. Up [they] came. yê'tk!waya u , yū'gux. Lēq! acxa'nî A'siwe at tīx. uwaxe'. giving them One things to eat. [night] with him [they] stayed. It was had a child a slave.

10 Yē'sdo-dayaqa, "£î'} ai'ca'tdjīk q!wan." ke Aa'siwe- at tū'de "Nothing away take" (imp.). It was something into He said to them, "Dekē'wu tusiga'n yu-qlwa'n-ckan-īlnīkā'wugēq! yū'guxk!ute. "We burned him up threw the little slave.

îts!ā'tītîn." Yū'yên Acukā'wadja. your household." That word he left with them.

duyê'tk!°. "Tayê'k!we, qō'xawe ke ka'odigax has "Little fat, the baby. At night home they when got out began to cry yêtk!º. tavê'k!we," yūk Qō'waēn dagā'x vū'gux Little fat." out started to cry the slave's child. There was a great famine

famine in the town whither the people had moved. Some among them had died. Then the chief thought about the way the slave's baby was crying. He kept crying louder: "Little fat, Little fat," he cried. His mother said, "He is crying for the inside of a clam." But the slave had a piece of fat on her side for her baby. She sat up with it. Its mouth was greasy all over. At once she confessed to him. She said to her master, "He is there. The things that he has are many."

Then all started thither. Indeed it was a great quantity of things that he had. The wife of his uncle who had hated him tried to make herself look pretty, but when she wiped her face something got inside of the rag and she cut her face. But the one who had thrown something into the post hole for him, he thought kindly toward. Then the people moved to him. He willed, however, that the food should not fill his uncle or his uncle's wife. Just where they lay, his uncle and

yū'-at-naoliga's!îya. A'xoalaxut!. A'we ā'waqēt yūangā'wutc where the people moved to. Among them some died. This thought about yu-adê'q-daga'xya yū'gux yê'tk!. Ts!as aka' ke akanatī'n. the way was erying the slave's baby. Only to it he was adding [he was mak-ing it louder].

dagā'x yū'gux yê'tk!o: "Tā'yak!we, tā'yak!we." Yūk dagā'x yū'gux eried in the slave's baby: "Little fat, Little fat." Out eried the slave's this way

yêtk! · . ''Ga'Lgeyī'awe yī'ayasāku," duLā' ye yawaqa'. child. "The inside of a clam it is he is calling for," his mother so said.

Xate kîteyê'dawe ā'datīn yū'guxte duyê'tk!º q!ēs. Ān ca'odîqe.

But a piece [of fat] had the slave her baby for. With it she started to sit up.

Dō'q!wa da'walîtêtl!. Wananī'sawe ān yên akā'wanîk. Ye ān Its mouth was greasy all over. At once to him there she told it to him (her master).

akā'wanîk dus!atī' tîn. "Ā'wu ho. ALē'n At cā'yAlahē'nawe dudjī'." she told her master to. "He is there. Many things there are many he has."

TcluLe' nāq! ka'odowana'adê. Tcaya'x gwâ'yu aLē'n At-caya'lahēn
Then thither all started. Like it it was great there quantity of things

gwâyū' dudjī'. Lukatetā'dana Lēq! Atī'yia dukā'k cat acak!ā'ne-a.

It was be bad. Tried to make herself one it was his uncle's wife, the one that had hated him.

Du'yeda Algē'gu ayu' Atū'x At wuxī'x. Duwacka' awak!a'k!". 10

Her face was wiping when inside of someit (rag) thing got. Her face she cut.

Wē'doqles gā'sl-klî ītī'dî At wugē'qlêa qo'a kledē'n At tō'ditAn.

The one for him post hole into something threw, however, in a good way thing less threw to have thought.

TcluLe' doxa'nt naolîga's! yū'āntqenî. Yudukā'k qo'a ye atū'dîtan,
Then to him moved the people. His uncle, however, so he started to think of

yū'Atxā lqlē'a kū'nAx du'nugu qa dukā'k cāt. Tc!a a'dê tayē'dî awe'
food would not fill him and his uncle's wife. Just at it he lay where
kaolît!î'k dukā'k qa dukā'k cAt. Yu-Acī't-wudacī'yia dukā'k cAt
he was dead his uncle and his uncle's wife. The one that helped him his uncle's wife

his uncle's wife were dead. So he married the other wife that helped him. The food his helper obtained for him, however, he sold for slaves. The people came to him to buy everything. Afterward he fixed a little box for the thing that had helped him. No one ever saw it because it was kept out of sight.

One day a whale came along, moving up and down, and he let his helper go at it. In the morning the big whale floated up below on the beach. When all were busy with the whale he forgot his helper. It was hanging to the last piece. When they took up the whale he forgot it. And because he forgot it all of the people were destroyed. This is why people say to a lazy man even now: "You will be like the man that was abandoned." All the things that had been killed came to life. Some ran into the water and some into the woods. The people were completely destroyed.

Yū'-ān-duīgā'-qowasū'-at qo'a awe' gūx gā awahū'n. Le ā'waca. The food his helper got for him, however, slaves for then he married. ya'odudzî-ū yax āntgeni'. Yên kudagā'awe Adake'tkle Duī'tx a little box From him like came to buy all the people. There when he got through

aosîne' yu-acīgā'-wusuwu'-at. Lēl adu'tsa ye ustî'nte teaqā'waq he fixed the thing that helped him. Not anyone so ever saw it everyone's eyes wantlē'q layu.

because it was out of sight of.

5 Dekī'x yāyiê'ndaxun yā'î. Ā'de Atcī'wanaq. Tslutā'tayu Way out went along up and down a whale. To it he let this go. In the morning it was

eqêgayā'nax yên akā'waha yuyā'î Lanq!. Tc!u atā't qoya'ostāge all were busy below on the beach there floated up the whale big. Then with it aka'tsiwaq!aku. Yuhū'tc!î-ā'yê yuyā'r da'de q!axa'tî. the whale he forgot it. The last piece to was hanging. kadudjē'layu Tc!ule' Aka'tsiwaq!aku yuyā'î. dāq Then

when they took the whale. He forgot it up cū'waxix yū'antqenî. wuq!agō'djayu qot atcayu' This is why, were all the people. he forgot it destroyed 10 "Ye'-Atgâku-naq-naolîgā's!î wūckā'djātê q!wan yax īngā'te. the lazy man like

"The man they went away from the lazy man like (imp.) you will be."  $Y\bar{u}'a-in\hat{i}-At\ ldakA't\ qox\ wu'd\hat{i}At.$   $H\bar{i}'nd\hat{e}\ a\ At\ k\bar{a}'waAt\ q\bar{a}\ dA'qd\hat{i}.$  The things all back came. Into the it some ran and [some] killed he had [to life] water was up.

Hūte! ldaka't qotx cū'waxīx yū'antqenî. Finally all destroyed were all the people.

# 91. THE SHAMAN WHO WENT INTO THE FIRE, AND THE HERON'S SON a

A little boy's friends were all gone. His uncle was a great hunter, and the little boy was always going around far up in the woods with bow and arrows. He was growing bigger. He also went out with his uncle. His uncle went about everywhere to kill things. He always brought plenty of game down from the mountains.

One time he again went hunting. At that time the inside of the house was full of the sides of mountain sheep, on racks. His uncle's wife hated her husband's little nephew very much. When she went outside for a moment, he broke off a little piece of fat from the sides of mountain sheep hanging on the rack, to put inside of his cheek. Although there was so much he broke off only so much. Then his uncle's wife looked all around. The end piece was not there. "Is it you that has done this?" she said to her husband's little nephew. He

Ducagū'nî qotx cū'waxīx yū-at-k-!a'tsk!o. Dukā'k qo'a Αt all were Hls friends destroyed how. a little boy's. His uncle, beever. s!atē'x sîtî. Telagu'tsa nagu'tte yu-at-kla'tsklu teū'net tîn was always bow and with way up in come a was. Everywhere the little boy great hunter going around arrows An wuligā's!. Qolyē's at Desgwa'tc L!agā'ligê. wudjā'q cūt he was get-ting blgger. With him he went out. For a long things he could kill any-Cā'yadadax nagu'tte dukā'k kūdiē'ltc alē'n. yēq At from the mounhe always down things was always his uncle plenty. going tains brought Wānanī'sawe wugū't ts!u At łūn. Yū'nēł qo'a at-kagedī'te he went again things to hunt. In the house, however At once coalihî'k yū'kaxyî. Hawā'staga acik!ā'n doxo'x qel k!a'tsk!. Ga'nde it was full of upon a rack. [His uncle's wife] hated him her hus-very much band's nagū'tawe dukā'k cat yā'kaxyēx dîxwa'ts!î atkage'dî cūtx awalī'q! when she was his uncle's wife on the rack hanging the mountain- from it he broke off going sheep sides tū'gā. yutaya'k! tc!a yē'yakugā'yi at. dū'wac Hagū'sa LAX yet he only broke off so much. a little piece for the in-Much just his cheek very ' side of. Le gwâya'ł acū'wua. "Waē'tc gâwê' ge at aolîgê'n dokā'k cattc. Looked all his uncle's wife. Then not it was was any there. around yē'sînî," Le yū'ayaosîqa duxo'x qēł k!atsk!". Tc!a adē' gaxyē'dê 10 did it," she said to her hus- nephew little. Just at it he was crying band's

a For another version of the first part of this story, see Emmons, The Chilkat Blanket, in Memoirs of American Museum of Natural History, 111, 333-334.

cried and said, "No." Then she put her hand inside of his cheek. "Why don't you go up on the mountain?" [she said.] She scratched the inside of his cheek. Blood ran out of his mouth. While crying he pulled his uncle's box toward him. He took his uncle's whetstone out of it. Meanwhile his uncle was far away.

Then he started off into the woods, carrying the whetstone, and came out to a creek. He came out on a sandy bank, pounded (or scooped) it out like a salmon, and made a nest beside the water. He stayed upon it overnight. His dream was like this. He was told, "Let it swim down into the water." It was his spirit that told him to do this.

When his uncle came down he missed him. He asked his wife, "Where is my nephew?" She answered. "He went up that way with his bow and arrows."

When [the boy] got up farther he made another nest. This man was named "For-little-slave." He made eight nests. Now his spirit helper began to come to him on the last. At that time he took his whetstone

awe' ye aya'osîqa, "Lēk!." Te!uLe' a'wae tū'dî wūcî' doxo'x qēłk!. when thus he said, "No." Then his cheek inside she put her hus nephew's.

"Wa'sal cāyadat igu't?" Awactu' akaĻā'k. Doq!ē'nax cî yē'kuwūq.
"Why not up on the you go?" Inside of she scratched, From his blood ran.

"Brown his blood ran."

Te!a adî' gaxyē'de awe' dukā'k qō'gu tūt aosīî'n. Ayî'kdax ke

Just at it he was crying when his uncle's box toward he pulled. From inside out

ā'watī dokā'k yayī'nak!o. Dukā'k kō uyê'x. he took hisuncle's whetstone. His uncle far was away.

5 Le gonaye' uwagu't atgotū'dî. Hīn yax hî'taq uwagu't weyayī'na Then started he went off into the woods. Creek to out he came the whetstone xaku ka an dak uwagu't. Akat!ē'q! xāt yax. Kut awas!î't yuhī'nsandy on with it out became. He pounded salmon like. Nest he made by the it out

yāxq!. Aka' uwaxe' yuku't.' Dutcū'nî ayu' yē yatî.' Ye daya'doqa, water. On it he stayed the nest. His dream it was thus was. So they said to him,

"Down in the let it swim."

"Down in the let it swim."

"This his spirit was so to him started to have him do.

"Gūsu Duitī'q! yēq uwagu't dukā'k. Aq!ewū's! duca't, his wife, "Where After him down came his uncle. He asked 10 axqē'lk!." "Wē'de awe' tcū'nēt a'oliāt." my nephew?" "Up that way it was bow and he took," arrows

Nā'nāq! ke gū'tawe tslu'a uwas!î't weku't saku. "Gu'xk!usaku," "For-little-slave," Farther up when he went another he made a nest for. yuqā'. Nas!gaducu' awas!î't vū'dowasak<sup>u</sup> yuku't. Hūtc!îaye' the man. Eight he made the nests. ka'q!awe uxyē'k uwats!a'q. Tc!a'tc!a agā'awe hīn yaawatî' on it was his spirit began to come Just then to him, creek down into he took

down into the creek, and it swam up in it. Then he lost his senses and went right up against the cliff. He stayed up there against the cliff. Everything came to hear him there—sea gulls, eagles, etc. When his spirits left him they would always be destroyed—the eagles, sea gulls, all of them.

Now, his uncle hunted for him. After he had been out for eight days he discovered the nest his nephew had made by the creek. He saw all the nests his nephew had camped in. His uncle looked into the creek. The salmon was swimming there, and he camped under the nest. Afterward he listened. In the morning he heard the beating made by shamans' sticks. He heard it just in the middle of the cliff. Then he came up underneath it. Before he thought that [his nephew] had seen him, his nephew spoke to him: "You came under me the wrong way, uncle." The uncle pitied his nephew very much. "Come up by this corner," said his nephew. Ever afterward he was named, "For-little-slave." Then his uncle asked him, "What caused you to do this?" He did not say that his uncle's wife had

Telule' lstā'x awudanū'ku awe' duyayī'nayî.  $H\bar{\mathrm{in}}$ yîkt wulîtsî's. his whetstone. up in it swam. Then senseless he got Creek Ax wułixā't! yū'gāL! A'q!awe yugā'ı! yêt wudzigî't. ya. the eliff right up he came to go. Right up he stayed the eliff against.

doq!a'kat wuskë'nte ldaka't-at, kë'tadî, tcāk!. Qotx cū'naxîxte to him always came to hear everything, seagull, eagle. Destroyed they would always be

duī'tx qeyē'k gaA'tîn, yutcā'k!, kē'Ļadî, ldakA't a. from him his spirit, when they would go, the eagle, seagull, all of them would be destroyed.

Duīgā' quwacî' dukā'k. Nas!gaducu' uxe' aqa'x quuwacī' yuku't 5 For him hunted his uncle. Eight days he had been out there he found the nest

A'uwaxe yuku't taye'. qoła'xs!. yuxā't. atxā'we uwaq!a'q was swimming the salmon. He camped the nest under. From there Tela yū'gel! yakatū'de awe' kayē'k. Ts!utā'tawe ā'waax xē'tca beating of for spirits. Just the cliff in the mid- it was shaman's sticks dle of he heard

ā'waax. Telule' Akleyī't ū'wagut. Telul ac utē'nx ac wudjîyī'ayu 10 he heard. Then underneath it he came. Before him he saw him he thought "Qûq yē'nax axtayī't ī'yagut kāk." Lax wû'sa to him he spoke. "The wrong along under me you came, uncle." Very how way

awugā'x duqē'lk! hūte. "He q!êngu'kcî na'xo ke gu'." Gūxk!° he pltied his nephew he. "This corner from up come." Little slave

sagu'te yē uwasa'. Dukā'kte q!ē'wawūs, "Dātkulā'nsaya yē ever since thus he was named. His uncle asked him, "What caused you thus

scratched the inside of his cheek. Instead he said to his uncle: "Cave spirits told me to come here." This was a big cave, bigger than a house.

Then his spirits came to him while his uncle was with him. They went inside, and his uncle beat time for him. Then he told his uncle to remember this: "When the spirit Nixâ' runs into the fire with me, do not let me burn up. While I am getting small throw me into a basket." That was the way he did with him. It ran into the fire with him, and he threw him into the basket. Then he always came to life inside of the basket. He became a big man again.

That same evening he sent out his uncle to call, "This way those that can sing." Then the cliff could hardly be seen for the mountain sheep that came down to look into the cave. When they were seated there, he whirled about his bow and arrows and all the mountain sheep were destroyed. The inside of the cave was full of them. Now, he said to his uncle: "Take off the hides." He was singing for great

qēyanū'ku." ьēł ān akā'wunīk duwa'etu ka'oduLaku yā'nax. to do?" Not to him he told into his cheek she scratched tatū'kâvu yā'nax kuge'. hît house bigger than it was.

Te!uLe' kāyē'k wūā't dukā'k tîn. A'yi nēl has āt ac q!axē'te

Then his spirit came to him his uncle with. Inside into the they came him beat with house sticks for

5 dukā'k. Yên acukā'wadja dukā'k. "Ganaltā' xān gu gacī'x yuyē'k his uncle. Then he told to remember he told to remember with then when runs the spirit

Nīxâ', lîl Lax ye xat kuga'ndjîq. Teuyē' xat k!ugē'ik!î q!wan Nixâ, never very so me let burn up. While I am getting small (imp.) līt! tū'dayu xat nagē'yagîq!t." Aya'xawe aosî'ne acī'n ganaltā' throw." Like that he did with him into the fire basket into it is  $\mathbf{m}\mathbf{e}$ dîcî'x līt! tū'dî Ac wugē'q!. Le A'q!awe qo'xodaguttc yulī't! it ran basket into him he threw. Then at it he always came alive the basket ALē'n nastī'tc. qāx inside of A big man becoming he always was.

10 Ada'x xā'na-awe qlē'ga yū'Aq! aq!ā'wana dukā'k. "Hāde'wat After that that evening truly outside he sent out his uncle. "This way At-cī'yî." Lē'lawe At aka'odagān yugē'L! dja'nuwu yū'tatūk yidê' those that can Not things could be seen the cliff mountain sheep the cave into (i. e. hardly be seen)

Adoltīnī' sak". Yên që'awe dusa'ksî yü'aosînî, La qotx [came] to look on There when they were seated were seated arrows

cū'waxix yudjê'nuwa. Yutatū'kyî Le cā'wahîk. Dukā'kawe ā'adjî all were the mountain sheep. Inside the cave then it was full. His uncle it was to this one kā'waqa, "Dātx kī'das!îl." Ayacî' Nixâ' Lēn. Dutū'tx ke he said, "From there take off the hides." He was sing- nixa' big. From inside of him out ing for

coming.

Nixâ'. When the spirit came out of him he reminded his uncle, "When it runs into the fire with me, don't forget to take me out and put me into the basket."

After all of the sheeps' sides were covered up he sent him for his wife. He came up with his wife into the cave. Then he said to his uncle: Take the half-basket in which we cook. "Mash up the inside fat for your wife." His spirits took out the woman's bottom part from her. For this reason the woman never got full eating the mountain-sheep fat. She could not taste the fat. He put her in this condition because she had scratched the inside of his cheek.

By and by he said to his uncle: "Make your mind courageous when Nixâ' comes in." In the evening he told his uncle to go out and call. The cliffs could hardly be seen. Grizzly bears came in front of the house to the door of the cave. They extended far up in lines. Then his uncle started the song for the spirit. They kept coming

yîcī'x dukā'k yên yuayasîqē'k. "Xān ganaltā't îcî'xni a!wan "With me into the fire when it runs (imp.) came the his uncle there he reminded. aka'ttse îsaq!ā'ku āx dāq xat īcā'dê līt! tū'dê." you take basket in the." you forget from it out me Ac naca'tte yên kudaga' yü'tatük yīq! yudjê'nwu kagē'dî duca't Taking all there were covered up the cave in the sheeps' sides Ac kā'waga. Ān  $\mathbf{k}\mathbf{e}$ ū'.waAt duca't tatū'k tayī'q!. With her up his wife he sent. for he came cave in under We-aka't-at gatū'sî kagu-tā'yî q!wan ts!ū gatā'n. "Ayî'k-A'dî That-in-it-thing we cook half-basket (imp.) also "What belongs intake. side (the inside fat) ye aya'osîqa, "îca't q!ēs." thus he said to "your wife for." kat!A'q!" dukā'k Ak!ū'lî mash up," thus his uncle Bottom part from her yuqgwahē'yaku (or duyē'gî). ā'watê yū'cāwat Aya'xawe his spirits. the woman This is why ye una'xte yuca'wat, atayî' axa' yudjê'nwu. Lēł q!eakuta'nūk so ever got full the woman, fat eating the mountain sheep. Not . she could taste Aq!ā'q! duwactu' akawuLāgū'tcawe yē aqsayī'n. the fat. On account of it his cheek she seratched the inside of thus he got her. Ye ada'yaqa doka'k, "Îtuwu" q!wan catlî'q! Nîxâ' Thus he said to his uncle, "Your mind (lmp.) make courageous Nixâ' into house gu'tni." Xā'naawe yoxa'q! akā'wana dokā'k. when he In the evening out he told to go and his uncle. Not it was thing aka odagan yugë'l!. Xūts! hît yat uwaa't yutatū'k q!awu'l. could be seen [up between] Grizzly house in front of came the cave at the door of. yukî'nde sîxa't ke akā'wacī yuyē'k dukā'ktc. Neldê' [for] the Then way up in rows they extended up he started a song his uncle. spirit house Tela aka'tlut ka'qlawe ye acia'osîqa aga' qonatī's. they kept Just when - half in when they got thus he told him for it he should look.

inside. Suddenly a grizzly bear came in. It was as if eagle down were tied around its ears. At that [the uncle's] wife became scared and broke in two. He did this to her because she had scratched on the inside of his cheek on account of the fat. His spirit also ran into the fire with him. While his uncle stood in fear of the grizzly bear, Forlittle-slave burned up in the fire.

At that the cave creaked, and every animal ran into its skin. The things they were drying did so. They did so because the shaman had burned up. So the shaman and his uncle also were finally burned up.

Now people were disappearing from the town they had left. There were two wood roads. When anybody went out on one of these roads he never came back, and a person who went out on the other also, never came back. When one went away by canoe, he, too, was never seen again. He did not come home. In a single year there

ya'odzia yuxū'ts!. "Into the he is going to come." At once into the house came to be the grizzly bear. Dogu'k kaq! qlâL! wudu'waduq!wa ya'xawe yati'. Ana'qawe His ears around eagle down was tied like it was. 

"Neldê' yākugwâsa'." Wananī'sawe nēl

aoliya'x. Gałtā't Acī'n wudjîxī'x wuLagū'tcawe ye he made her. Into the fire with him she had scratched so

ganaltā'x 5 duyē'gî ts!u. Awē'te!ayu xūts! diiakułxē'L!awe And just then grizzly bear when he was afraid of also. kāwagā'n Gu'xk!usaku.

burned up For-little-slave.

Telule' awe' wucikla'll yutatū'k, telū'ye qā'awe dudugu' tū'de the cave, and then every being his skin Then it was creaked уē kawanū'ku. Yuî'xt! Yudusxū'gu-a't ayu' wudjixī'xiya. like did it. The shaman ran. . The things they were drying those kawagānē'tcayu yē wudzigē't. Hū'tc!ayu Le kā'wagān burned up because so he came to do. Finally then burned up the shaman

10 qa dukā'k. and his uncle.

> Xate yu'-āx yēs qowanū'guya ān qo'a Asiyu' ke town however Now from that (town), when they came wudaqā't. Dēx yatî' yuga'ngadê.
> was left. Two there were the wood roads. Yā't!ayîtê awucixî' Lēł down In this was when one went not dustī'nto ugu'tte. Łīngî't qa yā'tlayîte awugū'de Lēl ye qa he ever came. People and in the other road who went not thus they ever saw and again

> ye dustî'ntc. ьēł ānx uqō'x. Tslu Lēq! awuqō'xo Lēł so he would ever be Not when one went not home he came. in one

Tclule' daxana'xawe ā cwudzinē'x 15 tā'gawe Lēł wudaqā't we'ān. saved themselves year not was anyone left in the town, Then two of them

was no one left in that town except two, a woman and her daughter. After she had thought over their condition, this woman took her daughter away. She said, "Who will marry my daughter?" A heron that was walking upon the shore ice spoke to them, "How am I?" "What can you do?" said the woman. "I can stand upon the ice when it comes up." "Come home with us," said the woman. So the heron married [the girl], and she became pregnant. She brought She bore a son. It began to grow large. The heron said to his wife, "What is the matter with your friends?" and she answered, "When they went after wood they never came back."

After the child had become large he kept taking it to the beach. He would bathe it amid the ice: Then the little boy began shooting with arrows. He always took his bow and arrows around. When he killed anything his father would say of the little boy, "My little son is just like me." By and by he said to his wife, "I am going away."

tîn. yūcā'wat weca'wat yū'anq! dusī' Teal eta'yênkax in the town a woman her daughter with. When has tūndatā'nawe ān wuā't dusī'. "Adū's gî qasī' they had thought with her she went her daughter. "Who will Mv daughter marry" q!ayaqa'. Yut!ī'q! cuka't dāq nahē'n laq! a'awe hasduī't q!cwata'n. upon shore-was walk- heron that ward ing [on the reach] "Wâ'sa xat yate', xat." "Hadā'tîn SA," yū'aciaosiqa yucā'wat. I?'' "What with ?," 1 am what said to it the woman. "Kanē'q xān dāq aqgateū'kun atū' yên xâhante ān hā'awe." "Ha "The ice with me up when it comes into it there I always this is what with." stand naa'dî," yucā'wattc. yū'aciaosîqa LC AC nē'ldê hā'īn uwaca' go," what said to him the woman. Then her with us yêts!djîwaha'. TeluLe' Le ka'odzîte. duī't yuła'q!tc. Le Qā the heron. Then to him she was going to Then indeed it came to be bring forth. born. Ye ada'yaqa ayu' ka'odzîte. Desgwa'tc yānalgē'n. duca't it was came to be born. it commenced to Thus said to Now to be big. yula'q!tc, "Wâ'sa wū'nî îxō'nq!î." "Le awugudî' ga'nga Lēł "What is the matter your friends?" "When after wood they would go yēq ugu'ttc." they ever came down." T!cule' ye kawu'lgeyî awe' tacukā'dî aksanu'ktc. T!īq! tū'q!awe when to the beach they always took him. Ice got big a'cutcnuttc. Desgwa'tc at tlukt yuatk!a'tsk!o. attcu'net ana'lattc

he would bathe him. things shot with the little boy. Bow and he always Now bow and arrows took around. arrows

hasduī'c yuatk!a'tsk!o. Wugādjā'ge A'tga qot wugū't When he killed for anything away went their (his) father the little boy's. "Detcla' xa'tawe Axyī'tk!." Yū'ayaosîqa duca't, "Deyîna'q "Away from my little son." He said to his wife, (my little son is just like me).

49438—Bull, 39—09——18

10

After that the little boy began to go into the water. He crawled up, when he was almost killed by it.

Once he started off with his bow and arrows. When he was walking along the beach [he saw] a hin-tayi'cî<sup>a</sup> swimming in a little pond of sea water. He took it up. It cut his hands with its sharp sides. He reared it in the little pond. As he was going along with his bow and arrows he would feed it.

One time he said to his mother, "I am going after firewood." "But your uncles never came down," [she said]. In the morning he jumped quickly out on the floor. He took a stone ax and ran up in one of the roads. In it there was a finger sticking up, which said to him, "This way with your finger." He took hold of it and pulled up the being which was there. He threw it down on a stone. In the place from which he took it bones were left where it had been killing. Then he cut off its head with his stone ax. He took it down to his mother. He threw it into the house to her and to his grandmother, and they cut the face

koqāgu't." Dêsgwa'te hīnx ye îcxî'xte yuatk!a'tsk!. Tc!aye' lam going." Now into the water thus always ran the little boy. dāq gacī'te ac gadja'qên.

up when he crawled him when italmost killed.

Wananī'sawe tcū'net tîn wugū't. Eq dugūde'awe āk!u

At once bow and arrows with he went. The beach when walking on a little

At tī'q!nute tcūnē't aga'łaAt ganu'ku. he would feed it his bow and arrows when he was going with.

Wananī'sawe ye aya'osîqa duLā', "Ga'ngā naādê'." "Yīkā'k-has
At once thus he said to his mother, "After firewood going." "Your uncles

Lēl yî gā'ugutte." Ts!utā'tawe t!aka't in the morning on the floor Tāyī's ā'wacāt. wudjîxī'x. In the morning on the floor he jumped quickly. Stone ax he took. Lēq! yatī'yīya yîk ā'we dāg anacî'k. he was inside of that Then . in [road] one he was running. up 10 yîk naxawê'n lîcu' qā $\mathbf{L}$ ! $\bar{\mathbf{e}}$ 'q. "Hāndê' īllē'q," yū'aciaosîqa. was sticking up a finger. "This way your finger," what it said to him. Le ana'x L!akoli'tsagē'awe āx ke ā'waxot!. Taka'tawe aca'olîxot!. Then of it when he took hold from it up he pulled him. On a stone he threw him. Yu'-āx-kē-awaxo't!eya awe' qāxagî' ye wudzîgā't ade'
The place he pulled him out from 'that bones thus came to be left where qaxase' was!ū' yū's!u tayī'stc. Yî'qdê awate' Tc!ule' been kill- Then [with] his stone ax. his neck he cut off Down

dulā'x. Ana'xawe nēl ā'wagîq! qa dulī'lk!. Le has ayada'kahān. to his mother. From it into the he threw it house and to his grand mother. Then they were cutting its face all up.

5

all up. They burned its face in the fire along with urine. They treated it just as they felt like doing. By and by the boy went up to the hīn-tayī'cî he was raising. Before it got longer than himself he shot it in the head. He took off its skin. Then he put [the skin] on a

stump. How sharp were its edges!

When he got home again he jumped quickly out on the floor in the morning. He took his stone ax along in the next road. When he got far up he saw a head sticking up in the road. He said, "Up with your eyes, Kucaqē'!tku." The head was bent far backward. After he had moved its head backward he cut it off. The place where he took up this head was all full of bones. He threw that also down into the house. They rubbed its face with dung. They did to it as they felt toward it. After that he kept taking his bow and arrows up. He brought all kinds of things into the house for his mothers (i. e., his mother and grandmother). The son of the heron who came to help

Kwas tîn has ayat!ū's! ga'naltāq!. Ade' has danū'guya
Urine with they were burning in the fire. The way they felt

ya'xawe satānâ'. Wananī'sawe ts!u tcū'net a'olīāt yū'yaana'swat like it they were doing at to him.

At once again his bow and he went toward the thing he was raising

hīntayī'cî xa'ndî. Tsā'tc!as doha'nî yā'nax kolagē'yîawe āwat!u'k hīntayī'cī to. It was only his own height more than was bigger than he shot it

cakī'nax yū'yaana'swat hīntayī'cî. Cunāy'êt dāq ā'wate. Tc!ule' in the head the thing he was raising hīntayī'ci All its skin off he took.

Atgūwu'n ax awate'. Awa'n Lax wâ'sa yaklu'ts!

stump on he put it. On the edge of it very how it was sharp.

Ant gū'dawe ts!u t!ā'kat wudjîxī'x. Yā'de wucū'wu ayî'kdê tā'yīs

Home when he got again on the floor

The next road in stone ax

Yudā'qedaqe cī'xawe aositē'n qācayî' deyî'knax canacū'. ā'wacāt. when he got he saw a head in the road sticking up. Far up "Kî'ndê iwâ'q Kucaqlē'tk"." Yutclaga'xdê wūdūwaLlī'xe ya'xawe "Up with your eyes, Kucaq!e'tku." Far backward he was bent wūnî' yūqācā'yî.
was like the head. Qāxā'ge backward when he moved. ayu' yē udzîgā't. Doxa'n awacā't acayî'. Î'qdê ts!u nēl ā'wagîq!. 10 Near him he took up the head. Down again in the he threw it. it was all full of.

Hā'Lli tî'nawe ayā'wat!us. Ade' adjī'yit has ctanū'guya yax Manure with they rubbed his face. As about him they felt like ayū' has adā'na. Atxawe' te!ule' tcū'nēt ke Ala'ttc. Edaka't-At that they did to him. After it then bow and arrows all things

dula'-has qles nelde' yaakagadja'lte. Laq! duyī'dawe ye quwanu'k his mothers for into the he would always take. Heron his son it was thus was doing

aga' wusu' yuca'. Wanani'sa qle'wawus dula', "Gu'nax a'de for came to the wohim At once he asked his mother, "Where (to what side)

the woman was doing this. By and by he asked his mother, "In which direction did my uncles go who went out by sea and never came home?" She said to him, "They would go this way, little son." He went in that direction with his bow and arrows, and came out above the hole of a devilfish. As he was sitting there ready for action he looked right down into it. Then he went back for the hintayī'cî coat he had hidden. When he returned he threw a stone down upon the devilfish. He put on the hīn-tayī'cî coat in order to jump into the midst of the devilfish's arms. Then he went right into them very quickly. He moved backward and forward inside of the devilfish's arms, and cut them all up into fine pieces with his side. By and by he cut its color sac in the midst of its arms, and afterward he swam out of the hole. He was floating outside, and he came ashore and took off his coat. Then he put it on the stump, and came again to his mother. The large tentacles floated up below them. He had cut them up into small pieces. It was that which had destroyed the people.

yî'tk!ī," yū'ayaosîqa. Aniyā'deawe wūgū't tcūnē't tîn. Akînā' dak little son," what she said to Toward it he went bow and arrows with. On top out

aoı.îgê'n. Agā' qox wudjîxī'x yū'-aolîsî'nî-k!uda's! hīntayī'cî k!uda's!. he looked. For it back he went quickly the coat he had hidden hīntayī'cî coat.

5 Āqo'x wudagude'awe Le tA adê' dāq awagî'q!. Aq!î'ts cantū'dî Back to it when he went then stone there out he threw. Devilfish's into midst of arms

kax aodîgë'q! yū'hīntayī'cî k!uda's!. Tc!uLe' aq!î'ts cantū' wudîx̄ī'x̄. to he put on the hīntayī'cī coat. Then tentacles into midst of quickly.

Atudawe' yawak!u't L!adē'n qa hē'de yunā'q q!îts cantū't. Tc!ayē'
Inside he went backward and forward and here the devil- arms inside of. Very

kudayā'llawe ye aka'naxac duwa'ntc. Wananī'sawe aq!î'ts ca'ntu into short pieces so he cut it all up his side. At once its arms in midst of kaxwē'xê aka' ka'ofixac. Atcā'gawe awaqa'owū nax dāq uwaq!a'q. color sac on it he cut. When he killed it, the hole from out he swam.

10 At!ekatawe' cwuiîxā'c. Xakukā' wugu't. Kāx kē awudîtī'.

Outside of it he was floating. Ashore he came. From on up he took off his coat.

Atguwunā'x ayā'waxetc. Tslu tslas dula' xant ūwagu't. Hasduīgayā't On the stump he put it. Again only his to he came. Below then

asoîgu'q yuatle'ge l!Anq!. Yēk'dayā'l! yêx yaodulîxa'c. Detcla' floated the tentacles large. Into short pieces like he cut it up. That indeed a'ayu yū'antqenî qot aculixī'x. tt was the people destroyed.

thus he was cutting

In the it was

morning

Qē'na a'awe ha'sduēgaya' wulîxā'c acā'yî.

below them

Again he took his bow and arrows. He came across a rat hole. The rat's tail was hanging out. He came directly home and, early in the morning before the raven called, he set out for it. He took his hintayi'cî shirt. When he got back he started to put [the shirt] on after he had sharpened its edges. After he had gotten into it he went up to the [rat] hole. Then he threw a stone down upon it, making it give forth a peeping sound, as if the mountain were cracking in two. He swam round a stone, waiting for it to swim out. When it swam out it ran its nose against him. It swam past him. It wanted to drop its tail down on him. Then he floated edge up, and it tried to drop its tail down upon him. When it dropped its tail down upon him it was cut up into small pieces. Then it swam up to his side, crying on account of what he had done. He cut it all up. Afterward he swam ashore. He put his skin back on the stump. In the morning its head floated in front of them. They cut it up.

Adayu' ts!u tcū'net a'oliāt. Aka'x wugu't kuts!ī'n awa'q-qa'owuli. It was again bow and he took. Across it he came the hole of. arrows aolitsa'q. Telaka't Telu ts!ūtā't Allī't a'nax kē ānt uwagu't. Then early in the it stuck. Right home he came. Its tail through it up morning adê' gone' uwagu't. Awaā'x duk!uda's!î. liye'l duāxdjī'awe his shirt, before the called for it starting he went. He took hīntayī'cî k!uda's!. Ayat!ē't gudawe' kax aoditi', ayalane's!awe Back to it when he came on he started when he had sharphîntayî'cî shirt. to put it, nagū'dawe ā'ke uwagu't yu'waq-qawū'l. Tc!ule' Atū'x awa'n. when he got up to it Then the edges Into it he got the hole. AdA'q! Kat a'waguq ākā'was!ūnk yū'ca wa'sî wü'cdax te'awe making it give forth the mounas if a peeping sound tain (or how) he threw it a stone on a peeping sound gā'xdaga'dîn. Ana'x yū'de ko'kwaq!aqī'djayu teaya' were cracking. From it out because it was going to swim right cwuLixā'c ayayī'q! A'nAx dāq q!A'qnî yîs.

he floated for him from it out he would for. a'nax dāk q!ā'gawe From it out when he himself swim swam yā'waq!aq. DuL!ī't ackā'yanax łaxō't!. k!Ałū'wats!Aq. acivā'nax it put its nose. Out by him it swam. Its tail down on him it wanted to drop. Asiyu' La kî'ndawanîn ewuLixā'c. DuL!ī't yayī'q! Ackā'yanax laxō't!. 10 It was turned up on he floated. Its tail for down on him he wanted edge it to drop. du'łxace ayê'xayu ya'te dullī't ackā'yan yualxō't!ku". Wū'cxken like it was its tail on him when he dropped it. Akaguwu' nasti'awe a'kalyêt wulitsî's, kadagā'x acdjī'yīt. Łdaka't on account of what he had done. when it got up to his side it swam, crying ve acka'nalxac. atxawe' yên uwaq!a'q. Tslu-atguwu' nāx awate'.

After it then he swam ashore. Again a stump

it floated its head.

Yē has aka'naxac.

So they were cut-

ting it up.

After two days he pulled down his canoe. Going along for a while, he came up to the beach in front of a woman sitting in a house. She had only one eye. "Come up, my nephew. I have stale salmon heads, my nephew," she said to him. This person in front of whom he had come was the real one who had destroyed the canoes. Those were human heads that she spoke of as stale heads. He did not eat them. He saw what they were. "I have also fish eggs," [she said]. Those were human eyes, and he did not eat of them. He emptied them by the fire. The woman's husband, however, was away hunting for human beings. Lastly she got human ribs, and when he would not eat those she became angry about it. She threw a shell at him with which she used to kill human beings, but missed him, for he jumped away quickly. Then he took it up. He hit her with it in return, and the cannibal wife broke in two. After he had killed her he pulled her over on the fire. When he blew upon her ashes, however, they became mosquitoes. This is why mosquitoes eat people. After

Aya' dēx uxē'awe yāku yēk ā'wacat. Gogaqō'xwayu koqō'xsawe when two were past canoe down he pulled. When he was going when he had gone to go off for a while

aēgayā't uwaqo'x, hat cāwa't gâ'yu nelta'. Tea Lēq! yatî' duwā'q. down on the beach below a woman to sitting in the house. Only one was her eye.

"Up came my nephew. K!î'nk!awe xāu', axqē'lk!," Le yu'acia'osîqa. Stale salmon heads it was

XAtc dēca' ho qo'nax djīde' yāku nahā'yî, Asiwe' ayegayā't |uwaqo'x.

This the real one formerly the canoes destroyed, it was below her he came by canoe.

5 XAtc qācāyē' ayu' k!î'nk!îx aoliya'x. Lēl awuxa'. Aosîtī'n a'xsîteye human heads were stale heads she made into. Not he ate them. He saw they were

At. "Qahā'k" ts!u xā-u." Xate qā'wagē asîyu' Lēl awuxā'. At things. "Fish eggs too I have." Those human eyes were (of which)

ts!u gantc!ū'k! yêx aka'osîxa. Doxo'x qo'a awe' wuyê'x. Detc!a' too by the fire like he emptied. Her husband however was away. It was līngî't ga ā'ya qoeī'. Hūtc!ayî' sa'kawe a'odihān līngî't s!ū'go. people for these he was hunting.

Tca'tc!a A'qoa Aluxā'awe Actū'n wute'. A'cqosa în yīs! Ac yītī't when, however, he did not eat angry she became. She used with shell him with it to kill

10 āwagē'q!. Ā'yet kē wudjîga'n. Le āx āwacā't. Teucyā'q! Ae she missed. Away up he jumped quickly. Then from he took it up. In return her

āca'oLitsu. La wū'cdaq wuLlī'k yucā'wat xate qo'sa xakā' cadayu'.
he hit with it. Then apart broke the woman this cannibal's wife.
Adjā'gawe tc!uLe' galqādā'ga awaxo't!. Aka'L!t!ê qo'a awe' tc!uLe'
When he killed then on the fire he pulled her. Her ashes, however, then
her

awuliū'x ā'we tā'q!ax osîte'. Atcawe' qo'saxa tā'q!a. Atcā'gawe he blew when became mosquitoes did. This is why eat people mosquitoes. When he killed her

he had killed her he went away and met the cannibal man. When he met him he killed him. He cut off his head and took it to his mother's home. There they cut his face all up. They burned his face with dung.

In olden times when a person finished a story he said, "It's up

to you."

wuqo'x. Acge't uwaqo'x weqo'saxa qoan. Ā'wadjaq Acge't qōx. he went away. Meet him came to the cannibal man. He killed him when he met him.

Acayī' āx āwalī'q!. Āndê' aya'waxa dulā'-ha'sdjidē. Ayakā'wahan. His head off he cut. To his home he took it to his mother's. They cut his face all up.

Hāl! tîn has ayā'wat!us!.

Manure with they burned [his face].

Lā'gu yên qax dul-nîgî'n ye qoyanaqe'te, "Hūte! qêlqa'x." Old times when with they are through thus they always say, "I am out of it," (or "Up to you.")

#### 92. MOUNTAIN DWELLER

A chief was living with his two children in the middle of a long town. People were always visiting him, and he kept tallow stored away for strangers. By and by a big canoe came to him, and [the peoples'] things were taken up. [The children's] grandmother had charge of the tallow. She always had things stored away for strangers. Then she would give these to her grandchildren. Afterward the old woman would say, "The old shaggy dog took it away from me."

After that he invited the foreign people up. He ordered the tallow in the big box to be brought for them. Now there was nothing inside of the big box. The foreign people, however, were all seated. It was thought that his children had done it. They had invited them for the food that was all eaten up. This is why people say even now,

Qōwaŭ'avu yuāngā'wo vũ'ān qołayê'tq!a duyê'tq!î qo'dzîtî. When was living in the middle the chief the town his children he had. there of the long duyê'tq!î. yatî' Doxa'nde nahā'ye Daxana'x tc!ala'k usa'ttc. coming were his children. To him always were always visiting. Gona'n qoa'ne q!ēs at yī'akutcā'kutc yutū'. Wanani'sayu doxa'nt people for things he always had the tallow. At once to him stored away uwaqo'x yū'yāku Lēn. Da'qde wudu'lîāt. Yudulī'lk!dji big. Up the things were Their grandmother thus 5 yutū'. At yi'yeanetc go'nān qoa'nî q!es. Layu' dodatcxa'nq! q!ēx the tal- Things she always had different people for. Then to her grandehild stored away atē'xnutc. Le ye yānaqe'tc yucāna'k!, "Hesawâ'k haq!î'tstc axdjī'tx Then thus always said the old woman, she would "The dog give it. huyē'q." took it away." yū'gonan qoa'nî. Ada'xayu dāq aosîa't A'gAqā'djî kā'waqa a person  $\mathbf{u}\mathbf{p}$ he invited the foreign people. For it he told [to get] yū'yênē'slî. yuyênē's!î gwâ'ya łīyî'kda dakała'qdê. Lēk! At the tallow in the big box. Not anything inside of it thing the tallow. Dudjī' wudū'wadjî duyê'tq!itc ye 10 Yu'gonan qoa'nî gâ'ayu qēn. The foreign people, liowever, were all They thought his children thus seated. Ayî'x yaodu'dzîxa ha'sdoq!wa-itē' sayu' dāq ka'odudziāt.
Out of it ate it all up for their mouths it was up they invited them. wusî'ne. did it.

yîs dāq qox

for

"The food that

was gone

telū'yedat ye qlaya'doqā'nute, "Yîqlayitī'

they always say,

thus

Atcayu'

"They came to invite for the food that was gone." It was entirely empty, and great was the shame that the chief felt. Afterward he questioned his children. Their dishes had hair on them. There was a dish apiece, which always lay by them. Then their mother came in to them. "Did you do this?" she said. When they kept on crying, she raised the face of the older girl. She scratched her daughter's cheek, and also that of the younger one. She scratched on both of their cheeks because they ate up the tallow for which [her husband] had invited strangers. When the people went to bed that night the girls made a hole under the boards. Then they put the hairy dishes in their places. Afterward they went back into a hollow tree.

Next morning [their mother] said, "I wonder where they have gone." She said to them, "Get up now." Then the long dishes moved [as she pulled at the covers]. It was the dishes they had put in their places. They, however, had dug a hole underneath and were gone. Then their mother came out from behind the screens. No one knew

du'dzîāt." Ada'xayu Lēl gwâ'yu līî'kdaat. Ā'Lēn kadē'q!ayu ā'wet!ê they came to invite." Big one was a shame got

yuānqā'wo. Ada'x aq!ewawū's! duyê'tq!î. Hasdus!ī'q!e ayu' the chief. After that he questioned his children. Their dishes it was yax caodudzîxa'o. Djasduya'x dēx yatî'. Lāku ha'sduxa'nî yên had hair on them. Dish apiece for the there was. Always by them there

ułā'tte. Hasdula' hasduxa'nax dāq uwagu't. "Yīhâ'nte agî', ye' he always lay. Their mother to them in came. "You ? so

yī'sînî." Leyē'dîayu' has ga'xsatî ayu' Lēya'tx ayā'wacat catxē'a. you did." Kept on they cried when up she lifted the face of

Dusī' awactu' aka't Ļāku tslu kî'klia. Telu da'xanax a'yu awactu'

Her eheek on scratched also the younger one.

Then both of them it was on whose eheek

akā'walāku yū'tū yax has aya'owusixayē'teayu ayî's daq ōsîa'tî she scratched the tallow like they because ate for it up he invited a'ayu. Telule' has wuxē'q! tā'dayu telule' t!ā'tayīs akā'waha. It was. Then they went to sleep in the night then under the board a hole.

Ada'x qo'a tcluLe' yū'caodudzîxawu-slî'ql cītī'yên has a'oLiAt.

And however, then the hairy dishes in their places they put.

Te!ule' yuat!ā'k as-tūwulī' nēl has uwaa't.

Then back of them tree hollow into they went.

Ada'xayu ye aya'osîqa, "Āde' has naade' ya-ū'ekî." Ye has and then so she said, "Where they have gone I wonder." As then follows

daya'osîqa, "Ca-idaqê'de." Telu kuwû'tlayu nacxê'nte. Yū'slîql she said to, "Get up now." Then the long dishes moved. The dishes Asiyu' ciyîtī'yes a'ti u. Has qo tlāke' has acuka'osîha. Ada'xayu it was in place of things put. They, however, hole they dug under. And then

Ana'x daq uwagu't hasdula'. Le gwâa'ldaat lel has ka'oste. from it out came their mother. Then they were gone. Not they knew where.

10

whither they had gone. Afterward they went straight up into the woods. And after they had started [the people] rushed up to hunt for them, but they hid themselves. The younger kept saying to the elder, "Let us make some kind of noise for our mother." She answered, "How does the inside of your cheeks feel?" She kept saying to her younger sister, "Oh! we can not do it. She said to us, 'Let Mountain Dweller marry both of you.' I know what she was saying

For this reason they went far up into the woods. They wandered along, aimlessly crying. The younger sister wanted her elder sister to go back to the place from which they had started, but she did not want her mother to see her down there. After they had gone a long distance they saw a small mouse running across a log. The mouse went into a little hill. Then her younger sister said, "Grandmother mouse, people have seen you." So said her younger sister. "Put me quickly across this log," said the little mouse. "My grandmother says 'Call them into the house.'" On account of that it had run out.

gonē' has · uwaa't. Le Ada'xayu  $\mathbf{Le}$ da'qdatcūn gonayē' has straight up [into started the woods] they went. Then then wuadī'awe ha'sduīgā' qociyî' ana'x dāq ya'odîgîtc. Le has a'olisîn. for them going to hunt up from it started to rush. Then they hid them-Catxē'a ye yên dosqē'te ke'k!îate, "Duī'haxt duā'x dê axlā'." "Yē. 'The elder as to always said the younger, "Some kind of let us (imp.) [for] "So follows our mother." qoyênaqētc hawâ'sas ī'yênuk īwactu'?" Υē yênasqē'tc dukī'k, do you feel inside of your cheeks?" how So she kept saying sister, hayā'wa woq!. 5 "Ayē'txā Cākanā'īte q!wan yax yiya'x łaca' do it. 'Mountain Dweller we can not like marry both of you,' yu'xahādā'yaqa. Xosîkū'xoa a'da hadā'yaqaya." was what she said to us. I know what she was saying to us. what she was saying to us." Atcawe' Le da'qdatcun gonaye' has uwaa't. Tcakuge'awe ya'snaa, This is why then far up in the starting they went. In any direction they were going Qo'xde at kudana' duea'tx tcu-ē'qdax dukī'k!. has gax-satī'nute. they were always crying. To go back thing wanted her older from where they started sister Tu'wuq! ho lēł ucku' dulā' ayawutī'nî. Wā'yuskoā't-sawe' has Down there she not wanted her mother to see her. After going a long distance xao kana'x ke îcîktc kagā'q yêtk!°. 10 a'osîtēn Gūtc tū'dê nēl The little into inside up running mouse a small. "Kagā'q koca'nak! Āx dukī'k!djē aosîqa',

After it her younger sister said, līngî't kotī'nî îdayēyatî'." Yū'yawaqa dukī'k! "Halīngî'txa people seeing have done to you." What said, her younger "People the

put quickly,"

ke xat djī'watan," yū'qoyaqa yukagā'q, "Nēldē'

said

"Mouse

the little mouse. "Into the house

the log

hAS

them

her younger "People sister,"

ūwagu't yukagā'q.

up

me

kana'x

ada'yaqa.

she said to them. After it

Atxawe'

b An unusual word for "dog" occurs herc.

yên

there

Then the door flew open. They [entered and] sat down.<sup>a</sup> "Why did you come?" she said to them. After they had been seated for some time she pushed something between her teeth, and got something out. It was a piece of dried fish. She shook it. It was now a spring salmon taken from between her teeth, and they placed it by the fire. She set it before them, and they consumed it. She took a cranberry out from between her teeth. She placed it before them, and they consumed that. After they had eaten she said again, "Why did you come, my little grandchildren?" and the elder replied, "My mother said we could not marry Mountain Dweller." "He is a very difficult person to get near. Go now, my little grandchildren." Then she told them what to do. "Crushing-mountain is before the place, granddaughters, and also the fighting dogs (cak!)." She also said, "Kelps float together in front of it. Take your knife and a whetstone with you," she said. After she had instructed them they started out. When they had gone along for

gaxo'x Axlī'lk!uye īda'yaqa." Atxa'we ā'yux wudjîxī'x Atxā'yu hē'de call my grandmother says to you." After that out she ran. After that open "Dasa'k<sup>u</sup>cī yītucūna'," yū'q!oahāt. wuqe'. cudjixē'n HAS the door. They sat down. "What caused you," ve hasdudā'yaga. Telāk<sup>u</sup> has qē'ni da'xawe du'ux g!ā'de For some time they had sat down after so she said to them. her teeth between somewulîtsā'k. Ada'x dāq aka'olîhît. Atq!ē'cî kaq!ē'ltî. Akā'wayuk∙ A piece of dried fish she stuck. From it she got. it was. Gan awate' tlakî'kî du'ux qlā'dax adayu'. Aq!aseyī' ayaosiî'n ts!u her teeth between thing taken. Before them Fire it was put spring salmon ak!ī't!a. Kaxwē'x du'ux q!ātx dāq aka'ohhît. Ts!u has they consumed it. Cranberry from her teeth out between Yên has at xā'awe ts!u ye aya'osîqa, "Dasa' āwaxā'. yītucū'na When they things had eaten again so she said, eaused you axdatexa'nq!î şā'nî." Yū'ayaosîqa, "HaCakanā'îxa yīt!hayaoduwawu'q my granddaughters little?" What she said to her, "This Mountain said we could not marry AXLā'tc." "Lnī'yayîucîganî-xatî-a'dawe, naia't de, Axdaatexa'nq!î my mother." "It is a thing very difficult to get near go now (imp.) my grandehildren sā'nî." Atxā'we Acukā'wadja. "Wūtek!î'tagat-ca ayînaho' texank! 10 After that she told her what "Crushing-mountain before it grand-daughters to do. "Wudjx qa wū'djx djîtaat-cak!" ts!u ayî' a texank!," yudā'yaqa. grand- she said to them. daughters," and fighting dogs b also there are ca'tdutît-gīc ts!u ayîna'. Yī'lîtayi q!wan ts!u yītcī'q! qa yayī'na," ye together kelps also before it. Your knife (imp.) also with you and a whetstone," so

acukā' wadja.

she instructed them.

Gonave'

Started

has

they

a The story is very much condensed here. The mouse's "grandmother" had sent it to invite them in. The mouse asks to be put over the log because the entrance to her grandmother's house was on the other side. "On account of that she had run out" refers to the mouse's first appearance.

some time they saw the fighting dogs. They threw a piece of dried fish bone to them, and the dogs began to divide it. Again they went forward. Before they had gone far they came upon kelps floating together. They threw moss between. Then they passed through. After that they saw Crushing-mountain. (Just the way people tell this I am telling you, my opposite clansman.) They threw a whetstone between these. They went through. Now they saw the camp. They came to the house door.

Mountain Dweller's mother was at home. Nothing could be seen inside of this house, there was so much fat. They were told they could not get into Mountain Dweller's house. That is why they went there. After they had been seated for some time they were given something to eat. By and by the hunter brought in a load of food. He asked his mother, "What are those people that have come to you doing?" "They came to marry you because it was said that they could not." So Mountain Dweller married both of them.

Te!āku yā has naa'ti awe' has aositē'n yu-wū'tēx-djitaa't-eak!u. For some time they were gone when they the fighting dogs.a Aq!ē't aosîgî'q! s!āq. Wuct aka'tîn yū'dînî.

To them she threw a piece of dry ijsh bone. They departed together with them. Ts!u gonaye' has started Again they Łk!at has wua'tdjiayu' has aosîtē'n wūdjx-catagat-gīc. ũwaa't. Before they had gone far they saw floating together kelps. S!î'q!ga q!āt has awagî'q!. Le aq!ā'nax has yā'waat. atxayu' has Moss between they threw. Then through it they went. After that they qokalanī'k Lā'gu Axdakanū'q!".) Yayī'na Aq!ā't has aosîgî'q!.
Yam telling this old story, my opposite phratry. Whetstone between it they threw. qokalanī'k Lā'gu Ana'x has yā'waat. Has a'osîtēn yuqo'u. Ahî'tyêt has uwaa't. saw the eamp. To the house they came. They Through they went. Dulā' gwâ'ya nēl. Ayi' lēl dutī'n tā'îtc. Cākanā'yî-hî'tî ayī't His mother was at home. Inside not could be on account Mountain Dweller's into it seen of the fat. Telāk ya'oduwawō'q. ateayu' has ayā'waLaq. has qē'ni they said they could not get. This is why they went there. For some they had sat 10 awe' doq!wē' xat dutē'x. Yāndayā'n we'at-s!ā'te.

after their mouths to they fed Was bringing in the hunter. Telule' awawū's! Then packs dulā'q!ayîx, "Wa'sa qōwanū'k" qo'uawe îxa'nt has uwaa't." "Īyī't of his mother, "What are doing the people to you they came." "To you has ya'oduwawō'q yax has yagē'lacā'dahe." Le yax aya'olîca

they

came to marry you." Both of them [he] married

they said you would not like marry

Cākanā'îtc.

Mountain Dweller.

After they had been there for some time he started off. He said to his wives, "My mother does not let the person that stays with me last long." For this reason they kept sticks in their hands while he was away from them. Some time afterward their mother-in-law put a side of mountain sheep into the fire. She stood it up on end. Then it caught fire. This was the way she killed her son's wives. After that they kept watch on her. When it was burning she pushed it toward her son's wives. Then they pushed it back upon her, and killed her. They pulled her body outside and put something over it. They let it stand out of the ground a very little.

Meanwhile her son was away. When he arrived he was carrying a big mountain sheep. Then he asked for his mother. "She did to us just as you said. We threw it over upon her. We pulled her outside." He said to them, "What you have done to her is well. My mother would not let a person who lived with me last long." After that he collected sides of mountain sheep, inside fat, and tallow.

Tc!āku nastē'awe at wuxū'n. Yē aya'osîqa duca'tq!îyên a long time after they had been there he started off. So he said to his wives,

"Not let lasts long the one that stays with me my mother." Aya'xawe qās
"Not let lasts long the one that stays with me my mother." This is why sticks
hasdudji yē wūtî' ha'sdunaq nagū't. Tc!uLe' yāyī'na ya'tî awe'
they had with them them from while he was. for some it was when

De'tcaatc qosa-īn-adayu' duyī't ca'tq!îyên. Atxawe' te'!ule' has she killed with This was her son's wives. After that Adjīî'n. Adakā'wagan. Duyī't ea'tq!îyên kādē'awe ke acaka'olîtaq. toward kept watch Her son's wives out

La yuqā's!te ayinā'de kē has aka'olixît. Has ā'wadjaq hasduteā'n.

Then the sticks back on her they pushed. They killed their mother-in-law.

Gā'niyu has ā'waxot!. Aka't has ku'ca-kā'waxa. Te!a yēgugē'kawe
Outside they pulled her. On her they placed something. A very little
koL!gutū'nax wulicu'.
from into the ground they let stick.

Wuya'x duyi't. Hāt gū'dawe alē'n ayu' yā'nayan yudjê'nwu. 10 was away her son. There when he got a big one that he was carrying a mountain sheep.

Awawū's! duLā'. "Hatea'dê kī'nîk yaxa' hā'wasînî. Dokā′d₄ He asked for his mother. "Just what you told like it she did to us. Over upon her ka'otulîtaq. "Yak!e" ā'yax E'geyux wutū'waxot!." we threw it. Out from inside we pulled her." "It is good yīsî'niyiya," Leyu' aya'osîqa. "AXLa' detc!ā'gawe AXA ni ye ula you did to her," then he said to them, "My mother for a long time with me would live līngî't Lēl ūltsā'ku." Atxawe' wuckā'dê ye aosî'nî yuatkagē'dî a person not lasted long." After that so he put the sides of moun- and together

yu'AtyîkA'tî qa yū'tū sAku. the inside fat and the tallow for.

15

After many years had passed Mountain Dweller said to his wives, "Wouldn't you like to go home?" "Yes," said they. [The elder] said to him, "My mother said we could not marry you. That is why we came to find you." "Weave some baskets," he said. So they wove them. "Weave two that you can just put on your thumbs" [he said]. They were going to start. There were many mountains between. After they had put many canoe loads of things inside of the baskets he put them both on his thumb, and they started along with them. They were gone for a very few days.

When they were going along with him he seemed to be changed suddenly. Mountain Dweller began to shine from within. By and by they sighted their father's town. The town was long. In the evening they came in front of the house. He had the small baskets on his thumb. Then they wished that their little brother might run out to them. They called him to them. The people had already

Cākanā'yî q!ūn dukā'yên qola'ātsawe ye aya'osîqa duca tq!îyên,

Mountain Dweller many over them there had been years with [them] follows his wives,

yītā'wuāstc?" "Ā'a," "Lē'gîł nēł yax Lavū' has aya'osîqa. you like to go?" "Yes," then they said to him. "Wouldn't home like Ān has akā'wanik, "Ayī't hayā'wawōq axlā'te. atcaya' îkā'yade "Said we could not marry you my mother. This is why to find you Him they told wutū'waāt." "Haka'k" yīa'k." Aya'xawe has aā'k. "Tc!ā yi'yax "Now for you we came." "Some baskets you weave." Like it they wove.

5 dēx q!wan yīgucnā'q! yia'k." Wananī'sawe ayī'de has ā'waha two (imp.) on your thumb you weave." At once on to it they put yuhasdul!ē'q nāq! has-āwaa'gî-at. Gonayē' has gugwaā't. Q!ūn their thumb (lit.finger) on thing they had woven. To start they were going. Many ca sa'yu aniya'. Ayē' yên kudagā'awe yuka'ku q!ūn yāku mount there before the place Inside theywere of it going to.

yîk A'tî sayu' teludē'xa awe' dullē'q nāx dāq aya'oliAt. loads of things there were both of them it was his thumb on around he put. Teludē'x ān gonē' has uwaa't. Tela k!ūn sā'yu has uwaxe'. Both of them with these started they went. Just a few [days] it was they were gone. Ān yā has naa'tî tela qonayē'dê ayu' yukaxa't. Yucākanā'yî

An yā has naa'tî te!a qonayē'dê ayu' yukaxa't. Yucākanā'yî
With when they were going suddenly

To be changed he seemed. Mountain Dweller

tū'nax ax diga'n. Wananī'sawe yêtx kaodiya' duī'c āne'. Ān from in- began to appear shining.

And then they sighted their town. The father's town.

kułayê't!. Xā'naawe ahî't yêt has ūwaa't. Dugū'c nā'xawe dāq was long. In the evening the infront they came. His thumb on

aya'oliat yuka'kuq!u sā'nî. Detc!aye' at has tūdîta'n ha'sduīk!a'tsk!u he had the baskets small. This is how things they thought about their little brother.

ha'sduxani yux naq gacī'x. Has ā'waxōx. Dê hasdu-ite' yên to them out from would run. They called him. Now for them there

given a mourning feast for them there. A year was now past. For this reason he ran into the house. Then he said to his mother, "My sisters have come and are outside." At this she became angry with her young son, who had longed for his sisters. "You lie," she said to him. At once he went back to them, crying. When he came into the house again he said to his mother, "They are there. It is well that you go out to them." "Take a piece off of their marten blankets and bring it here," she said. So he told them. (The way I am telling you is the way people always tell old stories.) Then he brought it into the house. At that time his mother started out. She looked. Her children were really there. "Come into the house," she said. So they came into the house to her. Afterward the elder girl told her mother about the baskets. Mountain Dweller having shaken the baskets, she said, "There are big baskets outside. Let them be brought in." Then two persons went out. The baskets were too heavy for them. More went out. All the men in the house tried to bring them in.

yū'At kā'wati. Deka't qotī'n. Atcayu' Le neldē' wudjixī'x. La they had already. One year was now past. This is why then into the house he ran. Then house

dula' ye aya'osîqa, "Axlā'k! gānt has ū'waat." Le'awe k!āndē'nadana his as fol-he said to, "My sisters outside they are come." For that she became angry with

duyī't k!a'tsk!o dea' aolixā'djî duĻā'k!. "Ck!aoĻiyê'l," yuada'yaqa. herson young this one had longed his sisters. "You lie," she said to him.

Tc!a gāx-kî'knaxawe ade' wugu't. Ts!u nēl gū'dawe ts!u akanī'k atonce erying to them there he went back. Again into the when he house came

duLā' tîn. "Ā'wu has. K!e ā'yux na'gu." "Ha'sduk!ū'x-L!īdê'
his to. "They are there. It is well out to them you go." "Their marten blankets

hāt alak!u'ts." Akanī'k. (De'tc!a ade' Lā'gu kadu'lînîkya aya'xaya here breaka piece off He told them. This is the way always they tell old stories like it

yīī'n kaxanī'k.) Nēl aolica't. Tea'tea agā'awe tsa ade' wudigu't to you I am telling. Into the he brought At that time for it indeed to it started to go house

dulā'. Ā'yux a'olîgên. Q!ē'ga duyê'tq!î gwâ'ya. "Nē'lyīa," his mother. Out she looked. Really her children they were. "Come into the house,"

yū'ayaosîqa. Duxa'nînel uwaa't. atxawe' duLā' tîn akā'wanik she said to him (the man). After it her mother to shef(the elder) told about

yuka'kuq!u. Yū'cakanā'yītc acakā'wayū'gawe yuka'kuq!u, "Ala'nq!ayu 10 the basket. Mountain Dweller since he had shaken the baskets, "There are big gā'no kaku, nē'lga dulade'," yū'yawaqa. Da'xanaxayu ā'yux ā'waāt. outside baskets, into the let them be house brought," she said. Two it was outside went.

Tslas yên qō'waxêtc. Tslū ā'yux āwagu't. Łdaka't qā'djayu only then they were too heavy More out went. All men

nēldē' has ayahê'. Yên qoxē'djayu qādasē'qlan wudihā'n into the they wanted to wanted to bring them. When they were unable afterwards he started to get up

When they could not, Mountain Dweller rose to get the baskets. Although they were unable to get them, Mountain Dweller put the baskets on his third finger. Inside was fat from the inside of a mountain sheep. Because her mother had scratched the inside of her daughters' cheeks, [the elder girl] invited the people for nothing but fat. The things in the baskets were too much for them. The baskets in which these things were contained, were called World-renowned-baskets.

yuka'kuq!udê. Yên yuqoxē'djayu du'wan-kal!ē'q nāx dāq aya'oliat There they could not do it his third finger on for the baskets. yuka'kuq!u Cākanā'yītc. Ayū'gu a yutā'î dja'nwu yî'kî. Awactū' Mountain Dweller. There was the fat mountain inside their cheeks aka' wuļagū'djawe dulā'te dusī'-has, ateawe' ts!as atā'yia yū'āntqenî because she had her mother her daughters', this is why only the fat scratched ayî's wuct ayā'waîq!. Yu'kakuq!u ka a'tî ldaka't qa ka'nax a'yu wutî', for it together she invited. The baskets in things all too much for them were, 5 yu'kakuq!u ka a'tî. Ha-līngît ā'nî ka'kuq!wayu.

the baskets in things. These world [renowned] baskets were.

## 93. KĀHĀ'S!Î, THE STRONG MANa

Among some people bathing for strength was a man named Kāhā's!î. He was very poor. The people bathed continually in preparation for war. He, however, was very miserable. When the others came out of the water they always laughed at him. He kept urinating in his sleep. He was always turned over on one side. It was when all were asleep that he went down to the water. When he got very cold he came ashore and went to sleep. And when daylight was coming on he threw his urine under him. Then it always ran out from under him. They kept bathing for strength in war. His friends used to whip each other in the water with boughs. They tried their strength on a big tree having a dead branch growing out from it which they called the tree-penis. And when they ran ashore out of the water they always kicked him (Kāhā's!î) out of their way. "When will this man break off the tree-penis?" [they said].

Wudêcu'djayu yuqo'ō łatsī'n kaq! ã'xoq! ayu' yē'yatî qã Bathing the people strength for among that was a man Kābā's!î. LAX q!anā'ekîdê. Adawū'L ka'q!ayu dacū'te yū'āntgēnî. Very Kāhā's!l. was poor. Fighting for it was always bathing q!anackidē'x sêtê'. Hō qo'a Hīn dax dāq agā'adīnawe qūdūcū'qtc. He, however, become very poor was. Water from in out when they yê'ndî Adawē' nate'tc. Xatc tc!ule' yaanaxa'q!oawe Kūłq!ê'stc. He always nri-nated in bed. He was always It ls then there when all were asleep [turned] on his side. tc!uLe' nagu'tte hī'ndî. Lāx ā'tatc gadja'gînawe dāq ugu'tte. he always to the Very when he would get ashore he always went down water. came Le yaqenae'nî natē'tc. awe' ctayī't akudaxē'tete dukoa'si. atxā'we under-And then and he al-Then daylight comhe always threw his urlne. neath himself ways slept. ingon (from at that then) dutā'yenax yūt kudā'îtc. Klā'nqā dacū'tc. Dūxō'nq!î - kaducta'nîn from under him out They always bathed for strength in war. each other it always His frlends ran. wucadaxê'ct Yēk<sup>u</sup>Lā' atq!aye'tc ās ā'wua adana'x hīnq!. yut used to whip with tree boughs in the Any kind of big it was from it water. qā'waa as-L!ē'lî qālatsī'ne ā'kdoaq. Tc!uLe' hīn dax dāq ālunago'qo grew an-other plece human [they] tried Then the water from ashore running strength there. "Yāqā' awe' hē'deqekdulxī'tc tcūc q!ānāda'x. qo'a xas ās-L!ē'lî 10 [they] always kicked him out of their way. "This man, however, when tree-penis aq°gwal!ī'q!." will he break off?"

The man went into the water the last time he was going to enter it. At that very time he heard some one down in it from whom he was going to get his strength. Strength was his name. Then the person came out behind him. He had a large head covered with curly hair. He held boughs. "Now," he (Strength) said to him, "come up to me." Then he went to him. He knocked him into the water. Twice he called him. At once he whipped him hard. "I am Strength. I come to help you," he said to him. "Break off the thing the people are trying their strength on. Put it back again along with some urine." Then he ran there in the night. His friends did not know it. After day had begun to dawn his friends ran thither. It was not known that he had broken it off. Why had it never been broken off before? The very first one now broke it off. Then they inquired, "Who broke off the tree-penis?" and people said, "It was Kāhā's!î who broke it off." They laughed at him because [they thought] he was not strong. Then they started off with the strength they had waited for. At that time [the

Hū'te!îaye hīn xēqgwagū'di yuqā' hīnx ugū't. Tca'te!a agā'awe
The last time water was going into the man water be went into.

āga' yêk ū'waAx atūwā'tx qego'xlatsīn adayu' asa' AwaA'x. Łatsī'n
ai it down he heard from into it he was going to that some voice he heard. Strength

Te!ule' Yē'kuge duca' wu'lēg!ag!a yū'dowasāk<sup>u</sup>. aet!ā't uwagu't. was his name. Then back of him it came. Large his head "Hāk<sup>u</sup> de" Atq!āyē' dutcī'. vêx vate'. vū'aciaosiga, was all Tree boughs he held. "Now to" was what he said "To me

5 gu de." Te!uLe' adjīyī't ūwagu't. Te!uLe' hīn nAx ac Aqa'olīxetc. come (imp.) Then to him he came. Then the into him he knoeked.

Daxa' ac wuxō'x. Agā'awe tsa latsī'n dên ac wuxō'et. "Xā'daya Twiee him he called. For it then strength with him he whipped. "I am Łatsī'n. Ī'īgā xat wusu'," ye acia'osîqa. "Yū'ān a'yadaltsī'n at Strength To you I come to so he said to him. "With that they are trying thing

Strength. To you I come to help,"

q!wan nal!i'q! ayiti't q!wan aklali'q! ān a'tge iyatsa'q."

(imp.) be breaking off in its place (imp.) urine with it put it into it."

Tā'dawe ada'odjîxīx. Doxō'nq!ite Lēl wu'sko. Ātx yaqē'ga ā'awe
In the night he ran there. His friends not knew it. After it was getting daylight

10 doxō'nqlî adē' liwagu'q. Lēl wudusko' āwul!ī'qlî. Gūsu' yên his friends to it ran. Not it was known it had been broken off. Where there

yuq°xê'te gî. Dju euqloa'ayī'teawe Lē āx wuL!ē'q!. Te!uLe' it was never ?. And the first one then from it broke off. Then

uduwawū's!, "Adō'tsa wullī'q! ās-llē'lî." Telule' yē ya'odūdzîqa; they asked, "Who broke off tree-penls?" Then thus they came to say to him.

"Kāhā's!îdjayu' wullī'q!." Tea kaodō'waeūgayu lkūxa'llgīte.

"Kāhā's!ī it was broke it." Then they laughed at him, that he was not strong.

Ada'xawe lē yaodu'dzîqōx latsī'n duyîga'. Gūsūyu' lēl q!ān-cagū'n

And then there they came to go with their strength for. Where was it (=Then)

Where was not fighting ammunition

All.

Indians] had no fighting ammunition. This is why they always bathed for ammunition, sitting in the water. The strong men had nothing at all with which to kill the sea lions. At once the head man said as follows, "Take him also." They said, "Take him there." They had nothing with which to kill the sea lions. Then they told him that they would take him along. They said, "Take Kāhā's!î there." It was at that time that they gave him his proper name. They took him out to the sea-lion island. Then he caught up two sea lions. The one on the left he threw upon a flat rock, but the one on the right he tore in pieces. All kinds of strength came to the poor man to help him, and his friends never beat him afterward. He never put on clothes in time of war. His strength continued for a long time. It came to be known even down to this day. People always use his strength with which to surprise other people, and they always imitate his strength. This is all.

qā'djî ka'qlayu hīn tā'gaqētc. Adjayu' Acagū'n ducū'tc. at that had Why the ammufor it they bathed. Water when they altime. ways sat in. Yū'lîtsīne-at yū'tān Lē'latc gadu'Ļîdjāge qā'djî. At Wananī'sawe the sea nothing to kill it with thing lions atall "Hu ts!u." ya'odudziga. yulingî't Lēnī'to ye has ya'osiqa, Υē as fol-they "Him too head said to As folthey were say-(or great) lows (take). lows ing to him, duxā'." "Yên qō'ostî' yū'tān. Lē'late āx nax duLîdja'ge  $\mathbf{At}$ "There to take him." Nothing from it for killing thing they had the sea lions. yē Duī'n At wudū'waxūn ya'odudzîga. Tcatclaāga'tsa уē 5 they said to him. With him to it they would go as pre-At that very time cedes lows ya'odudzîqa, "Yên nax dōxā', Kāhā's!î." Agā'tsa duya'odowasa, they were saying "There to take him, Kāhā's!l." Just at that they gave him his [time] proper name, Kāhā's!î. yaodowaxā' yū'tān q!ā't!î. Te!ule' Adā't dē'xawe they took him the sea lion On to it island. Then acā'walēg yū'tān. Yū's!at!na'xa ta yaqā'e kat. Cinaxā'a he caught up the sea lions. The left one he threw upon a flat The right one, howwū'cdax āwaslē'L!. Q!anackîdē'x wusîte' yuqa' aca' yūłdaka't-at from together he tore. Poor Was the man to him (= apart) yē'de latsī'n duiga' wūsū'. duiga' wūsū'. Lēł de yuyaoduĻA'qAk doxō'nq!î. to him came to help. Not indeed ever beat him after- his friends. Lēł 10 naa't nayē'duo'xqlun Yīwuyā't! agā' adawū'L!yAq!. clothes he ever put on in time of war. A long time for it to him wu'tiyiya dułatsi'ne. Teluva'yidat tslu wudu'dziku. Dułatsī'nī his strength. Even to this time also it came to be known. His strength atx dulia'xnutc. Atc qoyaduldja'tckunutc. Duti'nute dulatsi'ne. they always use. they always use, to surprise other They always act his strength. people [with an account of it]. Hū'tc!awe.

## 94. THE L!Ê'NAXXĪ'DAQa

A man at Auk went out on the lake after firewood. On the way round it he saw a woman floating about. Her hair was long. Looking at her for some time, he saw that her little ones were with her. He took one of the children home. When it became dark they went to sleep. It was the child of the L!ê'naxxī'daq, and that night it went through the town picking out people's eyes. Toward morning a certain woman bore a child. In the morning, when she was getting up, this [the L!ê'naxxī'daq's child] came in to her into the house. The small boy had a big belly full of eyes. He had taken out the eyes of all the people. That woman to whom the small boy came had a cane. He kept pointing at her eyes. Then she pushed him away with the cane. When he had done it twice, she pushed it into him. He was all full of eyes. After she had killed him the woman went through the

Ak!ug!ayu' yatî' уē qā akadē' wugu't ga'ngā. A'vaxde , got At Auk stopping a man out on for firewood. Around it yanagudī'ayu aosītī'n cāwa't yū'adīgīgā cwū'līxāc. Dūcaxāwu' going was he saw woman one floating. Tc!āku āltî'nî a'ya aosītī'n yē'kuts!îgū'yî a. At yA'tq!î Sometime looking he saw her her little ones were. Children yek!u'Lîyāt!. was long. Some time ā'wucāt nēłde'. Yên qō'qacgēt ayu' āwaxē'q!u. XAtc he took to [his] home. There it got dark of itself there they went to sleep. 5 Llê'naxxī'daq yê'tî asiyu' tā'dawe yū'ānqlatūx yā'wagut qāwa'q āx the Lênaxxī'daq its child it was he that night through the town was going Yaqe'gaa yuca'wat yat a'wa-u. akawadia'l. kē Ts!ūtā't ayū' When it was getting light he took out. a woman child had. In the morning then yaca'ndanuku doxa'nq!u nēł ū'wagut. Atk!A'tsk!o yē'q!ołkulige she was getting up to her into the went. A small boy xāte qā'wage Asīyu' aca'olīhîk. Łdaka't yu'q°u qā'wage ayu' āx kē the people's eyes eyes it.was was full of. All these from it up yu-cāwa't acxa'nīnēl uwagu't akā'wadjêł. Wuts!ā'ga Acdjī' hu to her was that woman into the house to her came he took them. A cane 10 yu-atk! a'tsk! Duwā'qde yagacī'te. Tc!ule' duwuts!agā'yītc yūt was always pointing. the small boy. At her eyes Then her cane qawagê'tc Da'xa aqa' ka'o-lītaq. akultā'qatc!. yē'nasgīt TS!AS he did it into him she pushed. she pushed him. Twice Only ca'olīhîk. Hî'tq!î` tūx ya'owagut yucāwa't adjā'q it was full of. Houses through she was going the woman killed it Ada'xayu dax. after.

a See story 35 and cf. close of story 105. This is the equivalent of Skil djä'adal, or "Property Woman," among the Haida,

houses. Then she began to dress herself up. She took her child up on her back to start wandering. She said, "I am going to be the Llê'naxxī'daq." When she came down on the beach she kept eating mussels. She put the shells inside of one another. As she walks along she nurses her little child.

ctade' yedjudī'ne. Duya'tk!º ā'waya tc!akū'gayê ye'dî. L!ê'naxxī'daq on to she started to herself put [clothing]. Her child she took up anywhere to go to. "L'ê'naxxī'daq

xāt gux sate'" yuyawaqā'. Yēqgagū'tîn yāk āxā'nutc. Wucgedî' am going to was what she said. As she came down mussels she always atc. Inside of one another

atsū'nute yuyāk-nūk!". Tela At Anagu'tte telaā'n aqla' wuā'îte she put the mussel shells. Also as she atit walks around at the same atit always nurses

duyê'tk!o.
her little child
(=baby).

## 95. ORIGIN OF THE FROG CREST AMONG THE KÎKSA'DÎ a

A married couple went from Sitka into Gaya' bay, and camped at Ga'xgu-ān. They were there for perhaps a month. One morning they started out hunting. Then they heard a song on Gaya' bay. They listened. They did not hear plainly. [The man's] wife said to him, "Do you hear it?" He said, "I hear the thing making a noise over there." "Turn toward it," they said. They went toward it and saw it. It was a little frog which the man let float down to his wife in the stern. He said, "It is for you." So they brought it to Sitka. This is how the little frog's song came to be known, and this is why the Kîksa'dî claim the frog.

Cī't!ka ayu' wūedacā'yî wuqo'x Gaya' yî'kdê. Ga'xgu-ānq! ayu'

(On the back that married couple went Gaya' into. At Gaxguān there of Baranoff island)
Sitka

Ada'xayu has kudzīā'x. Lēl has u-a'xtc k!ēdē'n. Duca'ttc ve And then they came to listen. Not they heard well. His wife "Yīyaā'xtc agê'" "He'de tuwaa'xtcī-at," ye yā'waqā 5 ya'osîqa, "You are hearing it ?" "Over there we hear thing," said to him. SO xāā'xtc." "Akā'dêyu has ya'waqā. Aka't has qox avu' has "Toward it" [tnrn] they were saying. Toward it they went there they "I hear." Xate xîxte!î'k! asīyu' duca't-djî de ayu' aolīxā'c. Yeaosītī'n. to this he let it float. It was little frog that his wife yawaqā', "I'ayī saku." Cī't!kadê ān has wuqo'x. Yē'ayu xîxte!k!a he said, "You for." To Sitka with it they got. That is how little frog's cīyī' wududziku'. Kîksa'dite a'teayu xîxte! has ayahē'n. song is known about. Kîksa'dî that is why frog they are claiming it.

## 96. HOW THE KÎKSA'DÎ CAME TO SITKA a

When we were first born people hated us. And after that some beings named Sky-people brought war upon us. They destroyed us completely. A woman saved herself. And right here at Q!āntū'lk!î she dug a hole under a log to conceal herself from the enemy. Various creatures came out in front of her. "I wonder who can tell me about things," she said. Grizzly bear came out near her. She said, "What can you do?" "Whenever I catch a man I slap my paws down upon him." The woman said, "That is nothing." Some one in the sun spoke to her. "How am I?" it said. "What can you do?" Then he said, "My father in the sun peeps out through the clouds, through the mottled clouds." That was the one that married her. Then she began to have children. There were five of them,

Yaqlo'xtustē cū'gu līngî'ttc ha'ocīk!ān yāqlo'xtūstî. Ada'x qo'a Vhen we were born first time people hated us when we were born. After that, how-When we were born first time people aya' Gîtslo-qoa'nî yū'duwasāku āna'xaya yāq! xa hāt adjī'usigut. on account of to this war to us Sky-people by name place that A'ya qotx hacū'līxīx a'ya Lē'nax yātiyî'. Cā'wat a'ya cwutsīnē'x. This destroyed did to us quickly this the one A woman this saved herself. was. and completely he'du Q!āntū'lk!î vū'duwasāku tayî' ayu' ax dāq xao And this right here Q!āntū'lk!i under that named log Doq!awu'lk da'kde wū'āt. "Adū's gî koka'odzîha xā'djî nax. ' In front of her out to they got. she came to dig a the enemy away qon ana'x daxē'tk!"?" Xūts! ana'x dāk ū'wagut. Yē yawaqa', about things can tell me?" Grizzly bear near her out "Datî'n sukucî'." "Hā axō'nê qa āx djitgaskî' tîn kā yuqa'lt!adjî'n." "With what [can you "Whenever I get a I man having him on slap my paws down." Yucā'wat ye yawaqā', "A'ge a'dawe." Gagā'n tūtx a'dayu duī't The woman thus thing is somesald, Snn from into "(That is nothing:)" xat yatī'," "Dā "Wā'sas yuyawaqā'. tîn sa'kucî." q!ē'watan. spoke. I am," "What with "How it was saying. yawaqā', "Yū'gagan AXĪ'C guts!tū'nax 10 tutx he said, "The sun my father through the clouds from into gūtslqlāqdīyē'nax ga'gî yagasē'n." Tcā'tcla āwe' tsa ā'cuwaca. through the mottled out (when) he peeps." That one it was indeed married her. clouds Ava'xawe duya'tq!î qo'dziti. Kīdjînī'nax has qa On account her children came to be born. Five of them they were woman

including one woman. After that he lowered down a big fort on them. They grew up inside of it. And when the enemy saw that they were inside of it they started to come. One [of the brothers], named Coward, was quarrelsome. Another was named £q!ayā'k! and another Kack!a'Lk!, and to all of them he gave directions. "When they get stronger than you put your minds on me." So, when the enemy became too strong for them, they put their minds on their father (grandfather), the sun. He peeped out on the enemy. It was smoking hot. The sea water out here boiled. The [hostile] people ran down quickly into the water. They were all destroyed. Then it stopped [boiling] out on the water. The brothers stayed inside of their fort.

Lē'nax. Ada'xawe ha'sdu dāka'q! ka'oduLiya' ทมิ tēn. After that them he lowered a fort big. ·Agē'q! kē agē'dî gā'dustīn has uwawa't. Ada'xawe has awe' inside of it they Inside of it up they grew. And then saw them hasdudā't djiū'digut. Lē'nax adū'wasāku  $x\bar{a}$ ve Q!atxã'n around them the started to come. thus named One enemy dagānē'x wu'sitē. Xā'yi yakq!u ā'yax a'olīqa'nq!. Ye adū'wasāku quarrelsome Warriors' over he quarreled. So [one] named was. "Yīqā'nax 5 Łqlayā'k! Kack!a'lk! yēya'n hasducungā'wadja. qa Łq!ayā'k! and Kaek!a'lk! what to do he told them all. "Stronger than you tuna'idatān." Ada'xawe hasdu at gatī'nî q!wan axi'ga va when they are getting (imp.) on me put your mind." And then them has tu'dîtān hasduī'e Ga'gi qā'nax yaa'tgatē' agā' gagā'n. they started to remember more than then they got for it sun. Out their father yā'wat!a. yaodzia' yuxā' Wudū'wats!aq Dîgîna' hī'**nî** kaq!. It smoked he came to the enemy was hot. Outhere [the salt] on. (=it was smoking hot) water, peep qo'a wuliū'k. Yādā'qa Łīngî't .hī'ndî łū'wagōq!. Qotx boiled. Out from this [land] Indians into the water ran down. Destroyed yēyē'wutê.  $Av\bar{\mathrm{e}}'$ wutî' Hī'nxō qa'at ts!u Le has 10 cū'waxīx. In (or among) out on the water the whole stopped. Down in it they were all also then quickly.

yūnū' gê. the fort inside of.

### 97. THE FOUR BROTHERS<sup>a</sup>

Another being that hated us was a shaman, who used to live in a cave. His name was Gonē'tqāsā'xduk!ā'q!. They could do nothing to him, so they gave their sister to him in marriage. He always slept with his back to the fire, and a spirit watched at his door. Finally a plot was made regarding him, and the people prepared for him. They prepared boxes full of bows and arrows for him, and there came to be plenty of them. When they came to him they pulled their sister into the canoe. He (the shaman) always wore a red-snapper coat. When he was pursuing them, he kept jumping so (accompanied by gesture). While he was chasing them they shot at him. They kept asking their sister, "Where is your husband's heart?" She said, "I still love my husband's heart." After a time she told them where her husband's heart was. "Shoot him in the middle of his hand.

Tslu hā'cak!ā'nî-At Υē duwasā'k<sup>u</sup> ta'owültiq! yētī'yīn. Also something hating us into the place where used to be. his name was Thus Ģōnē'tqāsā'xduk!ā'q!. Lēł adê' has guna'xsîniya. Ateawe' hasduĻā'k! Not to it they could do anything. goně'tqásá'xduk!ā'q!. Why adjī't has adjī'watan. Ga'ndawe utā'îte duda'q!anax. Dō'q!awu'lq! To the fire he always his back near. to him they gave her. At his door slept awe' yên udē'ltc vēk. Wananī'sawe adā' has tucā'watān. always watched there a spirit. about him they concocted a plan. For him Finally vên has aosîne'. Teūnē't dāqakū'q! yên aosine' has things there they made ready. Bows and arrows cover for then prepared bows and arrows) cā'yadihēn. At has qū'xawe yākut has ā'waxot! hasduļā'k!. Łēq! began to be plenty. To it they got then into the they pulled their sister. Redcanoe snapper Yāha'sdu yagatsā'q yū'awe kē îck!ē'nte. kluda'sl atū'x nagu'tte. into it he always goes. Them when he was that way up chasing (a gesture) jumped. vāha'sdu at!u'kt. Le yanatsā'qeawe has HAS aqlonawū'slte Then would always ask them while he was chasing they shot at it They and arrows). tēq!." "Yesu' hasdulā'k!, "Gū'sū ixo'x yāxcîge'  $\mathbf{A}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{X}\mathbf{\bar{O}}'\mathbf{X}$ your hustheir sister, "Where heart." I want (=love) my husband's band's tēq!." Wanani'sawe vên akā'wanîk duxo'x teq!. "Dudjî'n tāk 10 After a while there her husheart. " His hand In the she told middle of

His heart is there." Then they killed him outside of Ring island. They carried him to Ring island. They took the red-snapper coat off from him. It was for this coat that they had killed their brother-in-law.

After that Łq!ayā'k! put it on and went after large animals. He chased something from below named Kack!a'lk!.a He chased it far up out into the sky. They are Łq!ayā'k!'s footprints which are there.b

yīt!u'k. A'wu dutē'q!." Ka'tnaq!tīn yaka'q!awe tsa has ā'wadjaq. you shoot. There is his heart." White-rocks-on-top- on the outside then they of-each-other (Ring of island)

 lēq! k!uda's!.
 Yuk!uda's! kā'q!awe has ā'wadjaq hasdukā'nî.

 red-snapper
 coat.
 The coat for they killed their brother-in-law.

Ada'xawe Łq!ayā'k! ātū'x yū'wugutk kodzîtī'yi-At kaq!. And then Łq!ayā'k! having gone into it big animals (things) Kack!a'lk! 5 Ada'xayu yā'diyīda'x at ya'osīnāq. yū'duwasāku- At. And then from below here some- he was chas-Kack!a'lk! was named something thing. ing.

Łq!ayā'k! hu'ayu. Łq!ayā'k! it is he, or they are his.

a An error. Kack! a'lk! was Łq!aya'k!'s elder brother.

b That is, the milky way.

# 98. THE KÎKSA'DÎ WOMAN WHO WAS TURNED INTO AN $OWL^a$

When this town (Sitka) was first discovered the Kîksa'dî were here, and we stayed on this (the north) side. This town (at the northern end) was named Mossy-town. There four men grew up, two of whom were named Łg!avā'k! and Kack!a'lk!. They married. Łq!ayā'k!'s mother was named Kack! A'Lk!'s-mother. Łq!ayā'k!'s wife refused to give her mother-in-law herring to eat. After she had refused She told [her son], "She her twice she put hot milt into her hand. put hot milt from a male herring into my hand." It burned her hand. For this reason her son carried down the canoe. with herring by means of a herring rake. When [the canoe] was filled, he brought them in. The herring rock is over yonder this side of Big-fort.<sup>b</sup> He brought them in in the evening. He said to his wife, "Go down to it," and she went down empty handed.

```
Cū'guya L!Atk wudut!ē'yê KîksA'dî yaq!e' yAtî' qa ūhā'n yā'naxAq! when first this place was found the KîksA'dî here stayed and we on this side
yē'hayêtî. S!atc-ānî' ye duwasā'k" yāt. aq!awe' uwawa't dāq!unī'nax
             Mossy-town thus was the name to this
                                                  At it
                                                           grew up
                                                                       four [men]
                                         [one].
qa ye duwasā'ku Łq!ayā'k! Kack!a'lk!.
                                                      Has ā'waca
                                                                       yuca' wat.
                                                             married
and so [two were] named Łq!ayā'k! [and] Kaek!a'Lk!.
                                                      They
                                                                         a woman
                                                                        (= women).
                                                      yū'dowasāku.
Łg!avā'k! dulā' godzîte' Kack!a'lk!-lā
                                                                       Łq!ayā'k!
            his mother
                                  Kaek!a'Lk!'s mother
                                                        was named.
 Łq!ayā'k!
                         was
duca'te yaocîgê' yu'yao dutcā'n-q!ē'dî.
                                                  Daxdahī'n ye acī'n nasqa'
                                                               thus to her she said
            refused the herring to her mother-in-law's
                                                      Twice
                                    mouth.
awe' aedjî'n tāq! yên ā'wacat yā'wat!aye yao-Llē'lî.
                                                               Duī'n akā'wanīk.
when her hand into there she put it being hot herring milt.
                                                              To him she told it.
"Yawa'tlaye yao-Llē'lî awe' axdjī'n tāql yên ā'wacat." Ke ūwaga'n
                 herring milt that my hand into there she put."
                                                                    Out it burned
dudjī'n tāq!.
                 atcawe'
                             yāk<sup>u</sup> yēq!ā'watan
                                                     duyī't.
                                                               Yao aca'waxîl!
                                                               Herring he filled with
her hand
                 That is why canoe
                                     brought down
                                                      her son.
                                                                       by means of a
                                                                        herring rake
                                          Yū'do yao tēyî'
vuyā'ku.
            Yên aya'osîqox cahī'k.
                                                                yunü' Lën ha'na
                                                               the fort big this side (= Big fort)
           There he brought them when it
                                           Over
                                                  herring's rock
the canoe.
                                was filled.
                                vên
                                       aya'osîqox.
                                                                       aya'osîga, 10
            Dēxā'na
                        ayu'
                                                       Duca't
                                                                  ye
       is. It was evenlng when
                               there he brought them in. His wife
                                                                 some-
                                                                        he said to,
                                                                 thing
"Adê' nagu'."
                    Kała'tk ade'
                                       wugu't.
         go down."
                     Without
                                to it
```

anything

Then she shouted up, "Bring down the basket," but her husband said, "Don't listen to her." Night came on. Toward morning the woman began to change her cries. "This way with the basket (kāt)," she said toward morning. Later still she began to say, "Hū, hū, hū, ū." Her husband said to her, "You can become an owl from this time on." So she started to fly off. She became an owl. She flew first among the trees. She was heard saying, "Sit in your holes," after which he (her husband) went outside. He said to her, "You put milt into my mother's hand. For that you can become an owl. Way back there for you is Owl's-rock-slide." This is why it is so. This is why we can always understand it (the owl). It always predicts bad weather. It always tells what is going to happen in other towns.

"Kāt yiêta'n." uwaî'q!, ade' kē hāt Duxo'xte ye she shouted, "Shallow to here Her husband Then you bring it down. basket yītūctī'gk." yīntk qoha'. "Łî'lq!a tāt Tāt ya'osîqa, Qēq!ē'de you listen." Toward "Not to her Night it got. morning kāt," q!a'oditan yucā'wat. "Hāndē'wadi qonaha' cū'ya Le then entirely began to change the woman.

her manner of talking the "This way with getting Qēq!ē'dî Lecū'yax wuduwaa'x, "Hū ayu' ye q!ayaqa'. toward it was thus the said it. Toward changing she was heard, [her voice] morning morning 5 hū hū ū." Duxo'xtc ye yaosîqa', hū hū ū." Her husband thus said to her, "Tc!ule' wē'dax de tsē'sk!ux "Then after that owl becoming î'naste." Te!ule' yax hoadîqē'n. Tsē'sk!ux osîte'. As ayē'yatīyēq! off she started to fly. Then Owl became, axō'q! s!a'odjîqax. Ye oduwaa'x, "A'sguteyê gayêqê'." Ax ā'yux you sit. After it outside Thus he (or she) heard, "In your holes among she first flew. Yē yaodudzîqa', "Āxlā' djīn tāq! yao-llē'lî yên iyatê'.

So he said to her, "My mother's hand in herring milt there you put. ā'wagut. Teawē'dax tsē'sk!"x înaste'. Yudā'go îqā'de sak" Tsē'sk!"-qā'de." Way back your slide for Owl's-rock-slide." Right from that you can be. becoming there 10 Atcawe' q!atū'waā'xtc. Łkū'ck!A akānî'knutc. dūwaya'. Atcayu'

we can always understand it (the owl). Yū'naxaq! wasa' atgu'gonēyî' ha-î'n yuakayanî'k. in other [towns] what is going to happen to us it always tells.

Why

it is so.

#### 99. MOLDY-END a

The Kîksa'dî used to live at Daxē't, where they dried salmon. After they had gotten through drying it they tied it up there. So he (a small boy) was baiting a snare for sea gulls. When he came into the house afterward he was very hungry. "Mother, I am hungry. Give me some dried salmon." So she gave him a piece of dried salmon which had begun to mold on the corner. Then he said, "You always give me moldy-cornered ones." They always began tying up from the corner of the house. He spoke to the dried salmon. Just then some one shouted out, "There is a sea gull in your snare." So he ran down to it. He ran out into the water to his snare. When he got out into the midst of the water he looked as if he were pulled down into it. Then all of the drying salmon ran down to him. Now

Daxē'tavu anaë'te Kîksa'dî, xāt ayē'satanē'nutc. A'awe aq! At Daxe't it was used to live the Kiksa'di, [and] salmon always dried there. In that place yê'ndî at yaatnadu'q!wan yuxā't atq!ē'cî saku dādusā'xdê. they were getting through drying the salmon dried they were tying it up there. there things for yeadā'na kē'Ļadiyayiq! dā's!a, awā'q dē'snaagnute. Acū'te a snare; inside of for seagulls he was balting they always got. From there into the gū'dawe At yan ūwaxā'. "ALE xāt yan nwaha'. atq!ē'cî axdjī't when he he was very hungry. " Mother amhungry. Dried things (i.e., salmon) came acdii't a'wate ynatq!ē'cî. Acê'nya wudîla'x. Ye aya'osîqa she gave the dried salmon. On the corner it had started of it to mold. "Ts!AS canyā'k!uLāx qaq!ē'xatexnutc." yuatq!ē'cî, Yit!ē'dax "Only moldy-cornered ones the dried salmon. you always give me." From the corner of the house ayî' dādusā'nutc. Atq!ē'cî vē aya'osîqa. Tc!ule' atū'xawe they always began to tie it up. The dried so he spoke. Then from in it "Edā's!aye awā'q!t kē'Ļadî." tlā'yaodowaga, Tc!ule' uwagu't some one shouted out, "Your snare inside of it got a seagull." akudjī'nawe ādê' TeluLe' dak wudjixī'x. akā'de hīnx wudjixī'x Then into the that is why to it down he ran. out to it dudā'slayî. Hī'ndî gīyigē'daqxū'awawe hī'nde wuduwaxō't! āya'x 10 when he got out in the middle of his snare. To the water to the water he was pulled down like it wū'nî yuyada'k!u. Łdaka't yedānē'yî yuxā't yī'yîawe dut!ā't

the salmon

those that

All

was like

the youth.

to him behind

were drying

the people were hunting for him, but he was nowhere to be seen. It was not known what had happened to him. The salmon, however, began feeling very high. They began to rush about at the mouth of the creek. It was the salmon people that had done it. Then the salmon people went out to sea with him. They went seaward with him toward their homes. To him it looked as if they were in a canoe. A chief among these salmon had made him his son. The sea gull that he had followed out went along with him. Then he stayed with them in the salmon people's town. He was among them for one year. Well out from that town fish eggs were heaped up. He began to take up and swallow some of them without asking anybody. Then the people shouted out, "Moldy-end is eating the townpeople's dung." At that time they gave him the name. Afterward he discovered that the salmon tribe had saved him. Then he went to lie down and remained in that position. In the morning his father said, "What did they say to you, my son?" He went out and spoke. "Take him up to Amusement ereek. Put his hands around the necks

Lūwagu'q. Qodueī' duīga'. Lēł wudustī'n. Te!uLe' Lēł wudusku' ran down. They were for him. Not he was seen. Then not was known

wā'sa wa'niye. Tc!uLe' yuxā't qo'a ayu' tuwu'qlîgê. Yuhī'nwatq!
what happened to him. Then the salmon, however, felt very high. At the mouth of the creek

10 ayaxā' Canyā'k!"Lāx." Agā'ayu tsa duya' wuduwasa' yusa'. Cka
is eating Moldy-end." At that time right him they called by that name. Afterward

a'odzîku yuxā't qoa'nîte wusnexe'. Te!ule' tayidē' wugu't tūdīu's. he eame to the salmon tribe had saved him. Then to lie down he went and he stayed there.

Ts!utā'dawe ye yawaqa' duī'e, "Wā'sa īya'o dudzîqa' axyī't."
In the morning thus said his father, "What did they say to you, my son."

Te!uLe' yux q!ē'watān "Qatuka'xsaqa-hī'nîde ūn yāk" ga-ī'tān.

Then ont he went and spoke "To Amusement creek by canoe take him up

of the sand-hill cranes at the mouth of it." There he saw two sandhill cranes jumping up and down, facing each other, at the mouth of the creek. All creatures, such as brants, could be heard making a noise down in this creek. This is why it was called Amusement creek. Where was it that he had been feeling badly? It all got out of him.

The salmon people all knew the salmon month had come up here which was their month for returning. They always spawn up here among us. At once they started back with him. They started up this way. Then the cohoes people broke their canoe. This is why the cohoes come up last. The L!ūk!naxa'dî were going to have the cohoes as an emblem, and this is why the L!ūk!naxa'dî are also very slow people. At once all started, dog salmon and humpbacks. They started up this way with Lively-frog-in-pond (the boy's name). The big salmon people started up thither. Very soon the salmon tribe came to the "sīt." It is this sit which gives scars to whichever one happens to get caught

Awa'tka dū'lî sē'nax q!oa'n djī'yayîte." Aya'xawe a'ositēn, yên At the mouth sand-hill around (imp.) of it eranes their necks Just like it put his hands." yūk duwaxî'xk dēx wucdayī'n yuhī'n watka'q!.
out they were jumping two toward each other the creek at mouth of. Łdaka't a'tawe All duwaa'xtc yuhī'n yîk qên. A'tcawe ye [and] brants. That is why it is called down in this could always the creek down in SO be heard Gusu' tūwunū'guyīyî? Le dutū'tx qot kaoduk!ī't. Qatu'kaxsaka-hīn. Amusement ereek. Where was it he was feeling Then from into en-bad? Then from into en-tirely it all got out. yayê'ng! Tclu qoa'nîte ts!ū siku' qo'xde dîs xāt also knew to return month up here salmon tribe Yayê'nq! hāgutū'naxawe dāk wushī'ntc yū'xāt saku. dî'sîx sateyî'. always swim the sal-(i. e., spawn) mon month Up here out among us out Wānanī'sawe duī'n at wudū'waxūn. Yāyê'nde te!u kācuka'dawe with him to it they started back. Up this way then Yāyê'ndî L!ūk! qoa'nî A'awe Le yAX ya'odudzîtAq! Up this way cohoes people those then up they came to break at wuxū'n. to it they started. Up this way eohoes Atcawe' kāî'tq! tāqawaē'tc L!ūk!. L!ūk!. L!ūk!naxa'dî come up last Cohoes-people their canoe cohoes. That is why cohoes. cagū'naya L!ūk!. ts!u Atcawe' tenyiā't L!ūk!naxa'dî līngî't 10 those that is going to have cohoes. That is why eohoes people hite!i'vîAq. Wānanī'sawe Lēq!ē'ga At wuxū'n, tīl!, qatcā's!. De are very slow. At once at one time they all started, dog salhumpback. Āk! "tatsī'n tî'nayu yê'ndî at wudū' waxūn. Gonavē' va'wa-a vê'ndî

Lively-[frog]-in-pond with to there they started up. Started went up to there

yuxā't qoa'nî Lēn. Wānanī'sawe at!ē't ya'wagu yūsîī't yuxā't the salmon people the big. to it the sii't the salmon At once came qoa'nitc. Aawe' yusîī't q!ēxqā'wagayîaawe tīladayē'natitc. tribe. That is the the sil't whichever one just happens used to get scars on thing to wait in lts body.

in it. After all got through, the people looking could see a cloud far down on the horizon which appeared like a canoe. In the evening they went ashore to camp. They dug holes in the ground and made flat sticks to stick into the ground. The salmon tribe always does that way. Then the salmon people would throw hot rocks upon one another. Their bodies vibrated with the heat. It is that that leaves scars on the skin of the salmon. It was Lively-frog-in-pond that let people know what the salmon people do to one another.

At once they started hitherward up this coast. The salmon tribe came against the herring tribe. In the canoes of the salmon tribe one stood up. He said to them, "When did your cheek-flesh ever fill a man?" The others stood by one another. The herring tribe said in reply, "We fed them before you. Our eggs are our cheek-flesh. When will the space around your backbone not be dirty?" The salmon tribe started off for the outside coasts of these islands. When

kax dak!î'tînawe te!uLe' yū'līngî'tte yatî'nî gūs! down on shore-the horizon ward shore- through they all got then the people can see cloud yāku Tc!ule' yax ya'wuguwu awe' Le uwā'nutc. dāq wugū'tc. when then canoe it always looks Then like ashore they always like. Xwē'keq duhā'îtc tsīk ts!u dulia'kanutc. Te!a'yu qoa'nî xāt and they always make flat sticks to stick in the ground. A hole in the ground they Like it always dig Yū'tayat!ayi yade' ayu' wucda' gêtenute yuxā't +ayu' yaqonu'knutc. always does. The hot rocks upon those always threw on each the salother 5 qoa'nî. aduktu' ūwas!axō'a. Itī'awe ayê'natite yū'xāt xā's!īq!. Their bodies moved or vibrated always leaves the salmon on the skin It is that [as skin roasted on [sears on] hot rocks]. yū'xāt qoa'nî ade' wuctada'naya. Ak!utatsī'nteawe' qō'sîku Lively-frog it was let know the salmon tribe (i. e., how) yayiê'ndî gonē' yā'waa. Wānanī'sawe āx at wuxū'n Yuxā't At once from that started this coast began they went up. The salagē't yā'waa yao qoa'nî. Xāt qoa'nî qoa'nî yagū'yîknax against came the Salmon tribe from inside their herring Ye has ya'odudziqa "Yıda'tsqoete yı'wackaq!o'kotc wudū'wahān, one stood up. Thus they 10 ka'osînex." Yū't!a-has wū'tciaxt kastî'q!. Tslas tslu ye yawaqa' filled (or saved) a man." Only al (again) so sald in reply Those by each other stood. also "Yīcuka't yao qoa'nî, Detc!a' hāwacqaq!o'xoawe qō'yaotuwaLa. tribe, "Before you we fed them. That is our cheek-flesh herring Yida'tguetc līyīka'deyiyî'k qolar!ī'x?" Gonayē' yawagu' hāqahā'gu. the space near your will not be dirty?" What time Started to go off yawaqa" xāt qoa'nî yaq!ā't!q!adê. Yaq!ā'dq! t!ika't saxī'xawe ye tribe for the sea outside of These islands outside [they] came thus these islands. mon

coming.

"HALagwala"

"Very fine,"

then

49438—Bull, 39—09——20

they got outside of them the salmon chief said, "To what creek are you going?" Having held a conference, the salmon people named their choices. The humpbacks said, "We will go to Saliva creek," but the one among them who had taken the man, mentioned Daxe't. The salmon people called it Right-to-the-town. Then they came in sight of the mouth of the creek. They called the point Floating point, and the smoke house that was there a fort. It looked like that in the eyes of the salmon people. The salmon called human beings "sealchildren's dog salmon." When they first came into the mouth of the creek the people sharpened poles for them to fall on when they jumped. Then the boys always said, "Upon my father's." At once one jumped upon it, where before they had not killed any. At that they (the people) were very happy.

Now they saw his father plainly coming down from far up the creek. They said to him (the boy), "Stand up." He jumped up. "Very fine," said his mother. His mother called him a fine salmon.

yuxā't anqā'wo, "Dāquhī'n de sa'yihan?" the salmon ehief, "What creek to are you going?" Yū'wuctayadaqa Having said to each the salqoa'nî, ā'xōx ya has qoa'nî, yū't!a-hī'nde yū'q!ayadoqa yű′xãt which [they] had named for themselves Among to the ereeks the salmon tribe. them djîka'ndoaq. Tcās! koyē'q!ayaqa, "Ohā'n, qo'a, tcahē' Q!a'tstu-hīn." named their choices. The humpback "We, how- will go Saliva ereck." ever, Daxē't āwasa'. Qona'x we'lingî't aosî'nexe Watā'nyayî aqo'a Among the the Tlingit one saved, however Daxe't named. xāt qoa'nîte ye'uwasa. Te!uLe' hī'nwAt Lēlguha. Yū'q!a qoyē'duwasa Then at the mouth they could The point of the creek Yulu'klîxā'ckî-qla, tcā'tclas yên wunīyî', yunū' at-qlān-hî'tî ayu'. "The Floating-point," and now there was ready, the fort smoke-house it was. Ye adō'wasāku yuxā't Hasduwā'q! yē kudaye'n yū'xāt qoa'nîtc. In their eyes so it looked the salmon people. Thus līngî'tte "tsa-yê'tq!î-tī'L!î." Cū'gu hīn devaî'n yanaē'nî WAt "seal-ehild's-dog-salmon." When first creek mouth of they were coming dusxō't!nute anā'x na'gatānt. Laganî's łu'gu Atyê'tq!î qo'a they always for them to go on on point The boys, sharpened to when they jumped. "Axī'e āyî'nade." Wananī'sawe Anā'x āgata'nîn, te!ul 10 ūłxē'snutc, always say, "My father's on it one jumps, ā'dudjaqdjî'. LAX wâ'sa qātuwu' sagū'nutc. they always killed none. Very how they were always happy. Wanani'sawe wudu'dzîtīn q!ē′ga duī'e yū'nākî hīn yîkna'x At once truly his father from far up creek down in they came to see "Ck!eā'gîtahān," yanaqo'xo. ʻyū'yaodudzîqa. Ke ūwatan. "Stand up," what they said to him.

La yū'yawaqa duLa'.

said

Up

fine,"

"Xāt k!adē'n,"

hls mother. "Salmon

he jumped.

Lavū' Ac then him After that the salmon swam up the creek. The women who were cutting salmon were always seated by Daxē't with their backs downstream. The salmon, however, were always rushing about down in the creek. The salmon tribe shouted about those who were cutting. When they were partly through drying the salmon people said to him, "Go to your mother." His mother was cutting salmon on the beach. The canoe floated below her on the back current. So he floated there with his head sticking out from under it. Then she called her husband's attention to it. "A fine salmon is floating here with its head out." His father took up a hook, for he did not know that it was his son. It swam out from him. He never expected [to see] his son again. One year had passed since he had disappeared. At once he swam out in front of his father. When he had hooked it he pulled it out on a sandy bar. He hit it on the head in order to keep it fresh. Then he threw it to his wife. "Cut it up. We will cook it," [he said]. So she put the salmon down to cut it up in the usual manner.

ūwasā' dula'. atxawe'  $h\bar{l}$ nt uwaq!a'q xāt. Daxē't his mother. After that up the creek swam salmon. Daxē't down in îxtayî'n yax wusqē'te ea daxa'cî. Yuxā't qo'a wuckē't-cādatī'te downward [turning were always the their backs] women cutting. The salmon, however, always rushed around yūdaxacā'ayu dulē'tenute qoa'nîte. yuhī'nyîq!. XAtc yū'xāt the cutters always shouted the salmon down in the ereek. About Ayī'nq! yêduq!â'nawe tsa ye ya'odudzîqa, "ÎLā'xande nagu de.'"

Down there when they were now so they said to him, "To your mother go" (imp.).

- 5 Daxa'e ēqq! dula' xāt. Yaî'c kat wulixā'c yū'yāku duēgayā'k. Was cutting on his salmon. The back on floated the canoe below her.
  - A'taye na'xawe dāq ewulîxa'ete. Tc!ule' duxo'x ayî's ā'waīq!.

    Under it from out he always floated (shoreward) himself. Then her husband on account of it
  - "Ak!axā'dahe hē'nax dāq cîyê'lxāete." K!ē'q!a ā'waeāt duī'etc. "Fine salmon here , from here out floats his head." took up his father. duyī't satīyî'. Dekī't wu'Litsîs dudjîna'q. awusku' his son he knew it was. Seaward it swam from him. De ā awulîxa'ttc duyī't. De tāk dukā'yan uwatī'. Wananī'sawe had been. Now he did not expect his son. Now one over him
- 10 ā'dāq uwaka'q! duī'cdjiyī'q!. Ak!ē'q!awe xaku kā awaxo't!. acā'
  out from he swam in front of his father. When he hooked sandy on he pulled it. On head of it
  awaxê'te tūdj saku. Te!uLe' duca'tdjīt awaxê'te. "Naxa'c. Gux
  he hit it fresh in order to Then to his wife he threw it. "Cut it up. We
  - tūsī't." Tc!uLe' wâ'sa xāt cdjiyeyê'n dusta'îtc gux duxA'cî. willcookit." Then how a is put down to she put it when it is going to be cut.

5

The Tlingit obtained copper in ancient times. A chain of twisted copper was around the young man's neck, for he had gone into the water with it on. After she had tried to cut around his neck for a while, and found that she could not, she looked at her knife. There were bits of copper on her knife. Then she called out to her husband, "Come here." So they began to examine it. It was the copper chain that used to hang around his son's neck. Anciently the people used to have a fine woven basket called lit!. As soon as he knew this he threw it into such a basket. [He spit upon it] and blew on eagle's down. Then he put the basket enclosing the salmon on the roof of the house. Toward morning there was a noise inside of it. His (the boy's) spirit began to work inside of it. At daybreak he went up to look at it, and a large man lay where the salmon had been.

They took their things out of all of the houses. When they brought what had been a salmon inside a man went out and spoke to the many

hīngî't tîn ka'odzîte Telu te!āku yuē'q. Eq katî'q!ayu twisted chain anciently Tlingit wlth came to be the copper. Copper Then dusa' yū'yatlaq!". Ān hīn xō gudī'n. Telāk" asaka't yuayetē'geayu With water into he had some time around it gone. his neck around the young man's. Lēł A'edjî gā'uetî, aya'taoLîgên dulî'taye. Eq q!aq!ê'Ltaqogâ'yaayu' not him she could cut, she looked at her knife. Copper were bits of on TeluLe' ā'waīq! duxo'x, "Hā'gu." Le adā' has yaodzī'a. dulîta'yê. she called her husband, "Come here." Then that her knife. Duyī't së'tkatīnî katî'q! gwâya'. Te!āku qā'djî vên ēq Hls son hung around his copper chain was. Anciently people there neck yū'dowasaku. unēdjî'n līt! at tcułu' awusku'uawe wełī't! tū'dî As soon as he knew it the basket inside used to [a fine-have woven basket] named. ā'waxetc. Adā' awuq!â'L!. Ya'hît kaq!ā'n ke aosîta' yū'xāt he blew eagle's This house he threw it. On it on top of up he put the salmon down. Djuqë'q!aawe ade' kayî'k wudū'waa. U'xyek ū'watsaq. bas- inside of. Toward morning on the there was [a noise]. His spirit of it Qē'naā akeka'ni ū'wagut. Qā gwâ'ya ke Lēn Αt satā'n, When dayto look at it he went. Man big it was up at it light came yū'xāt yī'yî. 10 the salmon it was.

Łdaka't yū'hîtq! a'yidax gā'niyux at ka'oduwadjêl. Ceyadihē'n the houses from down out of doors things they moved. Many in them

Kîksa'dîaq! yū'xāt yī'yî te!uLe' ün nēł awuade'awe yux qā then withit into the when they came house Kiksa'di people the salmon what had out some

Kîksa'dî. "Let all the people go with their heads down." So it was given out. They brought up salt and devil's clubs. As soon as they had drunk it down in accordance with his directions they vomited. The devil's club and sea water were vomited out. Toward evening the shaman bathed. Below this town is a little pond named Beating-time-for-shaman lake because he also bathed in that. In the evening his spirits really came to him, and blood kept running out of his mouth. The sea gull for which he had gone out came to be his spirit. Then he showed them all things that were to be done to the salmon down in the creek. "Cut them into four pieces," he said. He called [the tabus] Adēyā' ("That's the way"). After that his spirits said to him, "Tie up a raft over there on the edge of Noisy-waterfall." He was testing his spirits to see how strong they were. This waterfall comes down a long distance. The Kîksa'dî began to get on the raft, which

q!akāwana': "Yîn ducā' nagāadî' yū'āntqēnî." Yuayū' yux awagu't. "Down their heads let all go That is how out it was given. he started to the people." with speak: Kē ya'oduwaxa ēl! qa s!axt!. Yēk wududzîgu't. Tc!a dō'q!waya salt and devil's club. A spirit came to be let out. Just as they had drunk Yus!a'xt! qa yuē'L! wuduĻiqō'. Xā'nade yên dona'awe wuduriqō'. The devil's and the sea were vomited there according to they vomited. elub water yā'qogahaawe wudîcu'te yuî'xt!. Aē'q!gayā hoē'k!u ye wuduwasā'ku, when it was getting bathed the shaman. Below this a little thus pond place Xā'naawe q!ē'ga kayē'k wuā't. 5 Xî'dja-ēq!î ata'odacudjī'djayu. Beating-timetruly his spirits because he also bathed in it. At evening came to for-shaman lake, Doq!ē'nax cî tc!a yūt q!anasxê'ntc, duī'yekq! gāgaa'tîn. Duyē'gîx his spirits when they would Become his come to him. Spirit From hismouth blood far out ran always, osîte' wē'daqa A'cuyaodzihowu kē'Ļadî. Agā'awe ā'qa cukā'wadja And then about all he showed that out for he came to go seagull. things ya. "Daq!ū'n yīka'q! wucda'x "Four [pieces] into apart wehī'n yîk xā'dî adê' da gax donē'ya. the creek down in salmon what to do with. Dog!waya'x ye āwasa', "Adēya'." atxawe' ye gatduxa'ete." From his mouth thus it is called "That's-the-way." After that thus 10 acia'osîqa duyē'gî, "Yū'do a Kēs-a'xdji-hīn aq! gadū's!ît xāna's! said to him his spirit, "Over there Noisy-waterfall at it tie up a raft yuq!a'swankaq!." Akūlê'nxa ayu' duyē'kq!î adê' lîtsī'nîya. Yax on the edge of the fall." He was testing it was his spirits at it how strong they Far galē' yuq!ā's āde' uduwaq!ā'sîya. Kîksa'dî aka'dî a'odeha yuxā'nas!. it is the water- there Kîksa'dî on to it started to eomes down. "Tān-xā'nas!." Wānanī'sawe akā'wana. Duyē'kqlîtc ye uwasa'

Yūq!ā's tū'de

"Sea-lion-raft."

on it he started to blow. The waterfall into

At once

for

yîs yulë'nax qā lēł

the one

thus named it

Yuxā'nas! ada'x q!aodîsa'.

his spirits named Sea-lion raft. At once he said "Go." He began blowing on the raft. One man was not courageous enough to go down into the waterfall, and when the raft went down he seized the bough of a tree at the edge of the fall. Then it went under. It was gone for

one night.

Next morning the noise of shamans' sticks was heard at the mouth of the creek. The raft came up from underneath. Meanwhile the one that had saved himself came among his friends and told them that the Kîksa'dî were all destroyed. Therefore the women were all weeping. When the shaman saw them he spoke. His spirits said that the people were not hurt at all. Nor were their clothes even torn. This is why a Kîksa'dî is very brave. The man who jumped out, however, was very much ashamed. Then they brought the people up from [the place where they had come out].

Now the spirits worked in him, and he sang for another land otter so that the people could see his strength. He sent out his clothes-man to a point that could be seen below. "Take a spear" [he said]. He went to it. He saw nothing, and stayed there that night. Then he

Yūq!ā'swanx Ļixwa's!î at t!a'ne aolicā't, yuq!āstū'de tuwū'wîłtsīn. The edge of the was hanging thing bough he caught, to the waterfall was strong. waterfall kat caoLixê'dje ayu' yuxā'nas!. Te!ule' hāyide' wulīgā's!. Lēgi down under-neath [the earth] it went. down it went entirely when the raft. Then [night] uwaxe'. it was there. Ts!utā't hīn wa'tdî akayē'k wudū'waax atxē'tc. Hayîna'x ke of beating for Next morn- creek at mouth of noise was heard From una shaman. derneath ya'osiq!ut yuxā'nas!. Yūewuts!îne'xea duxō'nq!î xo yā'wugut. Ye The one that saved his friends among Kîksa'dî cū'waxīx. Te!ayu' ckałnī'k qot Cā qo'a gāxsatî'. the Kîksa'dî lost were all Women therefore were all Like it he was telling them quickly. weeping. waqcī'yî ayu' yēyatî. Ateayu' ye yawaqa'. Duyē'gî q laya'x This is why so that in shait was. he said. His spirits sight said man's way Lēl wâ'sa ā'wanî yū'līngît. A'na ts!u Lēł aka'owułs!eL!. Atcawe' not anyhow are hurt the people. Clothes also not they tore. This is why Kîksa'dî tuwu'lîtsīn. Yuqā' qo'a kā'dēq! akā'x ada'qt wudjīxī'xî. 10 The man, how- was much from on it out of it a Kîksa'dî is very brave. ever. ashamed

Akā'x kē yadusku'x.

From up they brought them.

Uq! yēk wū'āt. Ts!u kū'cta ayā'wacî dulatsī'ne at yaq dostā'dayu.

There spirits worked Another land otter land for his strength something could see. [people]

"Wusā'nî wasatī'nq!a adê' akā'wana Aī'haiāt dőxonga'wo. he sent out his clothes-man. "A spear point could be seen to it ga tan." A'ya wuqu'x. Lēł da'sa awustī'n. ū'waxe xā'na. he went Not any-To it he saw. There he stayed

came back. When it was day he (the shaman) said, "Take me down there." He said, "Go around the point below here." He said to his clothes-man, "Be brave." Then he spit on the end of the spear. He spoke to get strength. When he got up after speaking and threw it over the point he hit the land otter in the tail. Now the shaman sent for it [and said], "Take it round there." The land otter lay stiff. The spear was stuck into the end of its tail. This is why even now the people call that place Point-thrown-across. He put the shadow of his paddle against an island below this. He was going to cut off the tongue of the land otter upon it (the shadow). This is why they named the island Divided-by-motion-of-paddle.<sup>a</sup> He fasted eight days on the island, when he cut off the land-otter tongue. Afterward he came up. and they were going to start home from that place. He lived for more than a hundred years. His spirits were of such strength that he lived so long that he could just turn about in one place.

Teluqē'qlaawe ye yawaqa', "Ā'yā xat wugaxa'." uwaqo'x. "Down From it up he came. When it was 80 he said, daylight, there "Yaī'x uwaqo'x." .Yuî'xt! naxa' Yeye yawaqa', "This point go around." Thus he said to The shaman thus said, when below doxonqā'wo, "Îguāyê'x q!wan." Ada'de q!astō'x yuā'da "You be brave (imp.)" On it he spit the spear his clothes man, uwudagude'awe yūq!aka'nax kē Aolîhî'k. doq!waya'x Le Le after [saying it] with his mouth He spoke [to get strength]. when he got up then over the point Then yuî'xt!îtc, vukū'cta-L!īt uwaga's!. akā'wana 5 gwugugo'awe, Le when he threw it, the land-otter's tail he hit. Then sent for it the shaman. and said "Ā'nax āsaqo'x dê." Qas! ya'xayu ka'olît!î'k yukū'cta. Yuā'da "Around take it (imp.)." Stiff like · the land otter. The spear lay there dur!ī't yasa'ku dē'yaxat. ye atcawe' tc!ū'yidadî qã'wutc stuck in [the end of]. This is why even now the people thus call it its tail Yūq!aka'nax-at-yadugu'q. Aī'haya q!āt! doaxā'yî At ā'watsaq The-Point-across-which-he-threw-it. Below it an island his paddle against it ā'ya hāyî'. Aka'q!AL!ū't!î āx Aqgwaxa'c vukū'cta. a'tcawe of it the shadow. On it he was going the land otter. This is the tongue from it of it to cut off why Wucda'x-aolixī'dia. Nas!gaducu' akā' uduwasa' yuq!ā't! 10 ye they named the island Divided-by-motion-of-paddle. Eight [days] Atxawe' kē uwago'x. q!ē'waxe yuq!ā't! yukū'cta L!ū't!î ā'wuxacî. After that up the island the land tongue when he otter cut it. nago'xlagās!. ha'ndît tāk уē kē Lēq! gaacü'nax Yūā'nq! de they were going to start home from. One hundred years more than 80 up yikawayā't! aga' qōdzîtī'yiya. Wūcduwagê'gīn. yawanu'ktc He just turned around in one place, he came so that they were long for it he came to live. duyē'kq!ê adê' lîtsīnîyē'tcayu yāgāna'. his spirits then were of such when he was dying.

a By a mere motion of his paddle he cut off the land otter's tongue.

#### 100. MOLDY-ENDa

The Sitka Kîksa'dî have a salmon stream called Daxē't, and the father of Lively-frog-in-pond went there to camp. The boy was playing on the beach. Afterward Lively-frog-in-pond caught sea gulls by means of bait. Then he was hungry, and went into the house. He cried for something to eat. He asked for a piece of dry salmon, and they gave him a piece of dry salmon that was half moldy. He said, "Why did you give me a piece that is half moldly?" Then he threw it into the corner of the house. Again he went to pull in a sea gull. When the sea gull swam out from him he waded out and fell into a hole. He was nowhere to be seen.

Now his father missed him and said, "Where is my child?" He said this to his wife. Then they got up. They looked outside. They called to him, "Lively-frog-in-pond, where are you?" They looked

Yū'Cī't!ka a Kîksa'dî ā'yê has qo'satanteyê ye dowasā'ku Daxē't.

The Sitka Kiksa'dî they have a salmon stream thus called Daxē't.

Akļutatsī'n īc akō' wudzitā'n. Yuyada'kļu qosū'kļu īqq!. Ada'xayu
Lively-frog's father there came to camp. The boy was playing on the

Ak! tatsī'n yukē' Ļadî As! nū't!a. Ada'x duī't yān uwaha'. Nēle'

Lively-frog sea gulls caught with bait. And then to him hunger was. Into the house

wugū't. At yānte wudzîgā'x. Atqē'cî āwaxō'x. Doq!wē'x wuduwati' he went. Something to eat he cried for. A piece of he asked for. His mouth they gave for dry salmon

yuatqe'cî, acuwu' wudîLa'x. Ye yawaqa', "Ts!as acuwu' a piece of dry half of which was moldy. Thus he said, "Only half

wudîla'xe a kucë'gî?" Qaq!ē'x yī'ti yū'de ke awulîdju'q!. Ts!u moldy is why did you give me?" Qaq!e'x yī'ti yū'de ke awulîdju'q!. Again

wugū't yukē'Ļadi asnū'taye de. Ada'x yukē'Ļadî dudjîna'q dāk he went the sea gulls he was pulling in to. After it the sea gulls from him out nakwa'n telule' hūte tslu dāk acuyê'naskwan. Telule' qâkx wukwā'n was swimthen he also out waded. Then out he waded

dukana'x qō'cakan duwako'. Ts!u Lēł dekī' awustī'n.
from him a hole he fell into. Again not out there he was seen.

Ada'x duī'cte wusīha' ye yawaqa', "Gusū' axyī'tk!." Duca't ye 10 Then his father missed him thus and said, "Where is my child?" His wife so Adayaqa'. Ada'x te!ule' has wudînā'q. Ga'ndî has qotī's. Ada'x he spoke to. After it then they got up. Outside they looked. After it has aī'q! "Āk!"tatsī'n gusū' we ê?" Has qocī' āga'. Tcawayî'q! they called "Lively-frog, where are you?" They looked for him. Then they called to him.

everywhere. They called to everything. Then they went to the place where he had baited his traps, and saw his tracks leading into the water. They wept, saying, "What has become of you, my son?" The man waded out, crying, looking for his son. Then they did not sleep looking for their son. They hunted everywhere for him. Next morning they went into the water and along the shore. They had not eaten anything since their son was lost. They hunted for him all summer. After they had hunted for him for months they gave up looking.

Lively-frog-in-pond had been captured by the salmon people, however, who swam out with him. They looked to him like human beings. Then they came to the salmon people's village with him. He pouted all the time because he was always hungry. Then the salmon people said, "Let us go with him to Amusement creek." So they went with him to the creek. They put his arms around the necks of sand-hill cranes at the creek's mouth.

Ada'x teūł has uxê'q!u xō has queī' hasduyī'tga. Djaldaka't yēt
Then never they slept while they hunted for their son. Everywhere [their] son

5 has qoeī' āx ts!utā't yūhī'n tāq qā yên teuka'. Lēł has at uxwa' they hunted after in the morn- the water in and along the shore. Not they thing ate

aolîxā'tc.

Ada'xayu Ak!utatsī'n qo'a xāt qoa'nitc asgī'yu wusînē'x. Duī'n
After it Lively-frog, however, salmon people were captured him. With him
10 yā yanakwa'n tc!aye' līngî't yêx duwage' yati'. Ada'x duī'n xāt
there were swimming those people like his cyes were in. Then with him sal-

qoa'nî ānî't yāwagū'. Ada'x Lēl tucqē'nutc tcala'ku duī't yān people's to village they got. Then he was poutting all the time

uha'îtc. Ada'x yū'xāt qoa'nî ye ya'waqa, "Duī'n yakuna'gahā was always. Then the salmon people thus said, "With him let us go Kāta'xwaxsaka-hī'nî de." Ada'x duī'n yakuwuhā' yuhī'ndê. Ada'x amusement creek to." Then with him they went to the creek. Then asē'nax djī'yanduwati' yuhī'n wat dū'lî.

Afterward he was always hungry. But when he began to take some eggs from among those on the beach, they shouted, "Moldy-end is eating eggs along the beach of the town," a and he felt badly.

Next door to the place where he lived the people were always daneing. After a while he looked into the house where they were dancing, and his face was all over fish eggs. It was the herring people dancing for joy. One woman called him aside and said to him, "Do you remember when you said something against the salmon people? That is why they have captured you." She said to him, "Do you know the creek over there? When you are hungry roast salmon from it in the fire and eat them there. After you have eaten, put all your leavings into the water and your roasting sticks also, in order to wash the leavings off." When he was hungry he did just the way he had been told. When he was very hungry again he went to get another salmon. He

Ada'xawe duī't yān uhā'îtc. Āda'x yuā'nigayā qahā'k" cīyadihē'n then to him hunger always was. Then on beach of the town

qa yat!ē'nax Akaodieā't. Ket!ā'n duwaî'q! "Canyā'k!"Lāx ān îgaya' and irom among he began to take. They were shouting, "Moldy-end town along beach of

qahā'gu ayaxā'." Ada'x dutū'wu yên ēk".

eggs is eating." Then his feelings were bad.

At!ū'k dukîda' kade' yagasē'te al.!ē'x. Ana'x nēl aol.îgê'n

Next door to the place where he always went on dancing. After that into the house

yu'a Adul!ē'xe. Te!ule' duyakî'k ā'nel awutiyî' djaldaka't duyakî'k awhere daucing was going on.

Then his face inside it was all his face

gāq!u wusî'ti. Hadju yao qoa'nî a'yu ala'ku al!ē'x hasdutūwu' fish eggs was. Because herring people it was for it dancing for it their feelings

sîgu'. He ada'x Lē'nax cāwa'tte wuxō'x ye acdayaqa'''Îsîkū' gî were There was there one woman ealled him thus suid to him, "Do you ? happy."

xāt qoa'nîx q!A'naqeLîgA't A a'ya i'usînēx." Ada'x ye Acia'osîqa, salmon people when you ever said that is why they captured anything against that is why they captured you."

"Isîku" ge hex ka'wadayî hin. Ayî'k dax xat nada'x ganeltsî'kx "Do you ? that is there creek. Down in it from salmon from at roast by the fire

tc!Agū'q!sa îī'x yānha'. Ada'x yên îxayî' î'q!aite djaldaka't 10 and eat it to you when there is hunger. Then there after you your leavings all

hī'ndê yē yunasnī'k, îtsī'gî-dā'a ts!u adā'dax yū'nawus!k."
into the then put your roasting stick also from on it to wash off the leavings."

Tclure' duī't yān wuhayî' te!A wā'sa cū'kan duwadjā' tc!A Then to him hunger being just how all. he was told qōwanū'ku. ava'x Ada'x ts!u aLē'n duī't uwaha' ts!u yān like it he did. again very much to him again

a This has been expurgated by the story-teller. For the proper wording, see last story.

15 hagā'q!u.''

ate it. Just as he had been told, he put his leavings into the water. He washed off his roasting stick. That evening, however, the eye of the salmon people's chief was sore. He cried with it, and did not sleep. Then the woman said to him, "Do you know where you cooked? Perhaps you left the eye there." He found it, and when he had obeyed her directions the eye was cured.

After this the woman said to him, "They are going to start home with you." Then all of the salmon people started home with him. Afterward, while the salmon people were swimming along, they spoke of the sīt, of which they were frightened. By and by they came in sight of the sīt. It opened and shut. When the salmon went through it, some of them would be cut in two. Now they passed through. They saw canoes [of the herring people] coming to meet them. "We have done all of our work before you" [said they. They answered] "When will your cheek-flesh save the person that eats it?" "Our eggs are our cheek-flesh."

wugū't aga'tagêt. Āda'x awaxa' duq!waī'tê. Āde' cukdu' djēsîyê' he went to get another Then he ate what he got for There his mouth. as he was salmon. ye aosî'nê dutsī'gî ts!u Ada' wuū's!. tela ayê'x duqlaī'tê hī'ndê he put his roasting also from it washed. right like it his leavings into the thus water qoa'nî yanī'ku. Ada'xanqā'wo dū'waq хã′nа xāt Adjiyī't chief Then in the even-salmon people's his eye was were sore. On account "Isîkū" eda'yAduqA. Lēł wutē'x. Ada'xayu cā'wat ye aca'osîqa, Not Then said to him, he cried. he slept. woman so yuqā'wagê." yū'a At gayîsī'yiyê? Gwał a where things you cooked? Perhaps there 5 gî kao-uxī'x you left awū'sniyî ît yū'anqawo te!uLe' Ada'x qo'a ye Then, however, so wunē'x duwā'q. the chief having done then was cured his eye. to Ada'x yū'cāwat ye acia'osîqa, "De îānê'de thus said to him, "Away to your home with you up they are the woman Ada'x djîldaka't yū'xāt qoa'nî duī'n at wuxū'n duānî'de. the salmon people with him going to start." Then all sîī't yânakwa'n yū'xāt qoa'nî kadunī'k He-ada'x ve were swimming the salmon people mentioned thus along 10 Ak<sup>u</sup>Lîxē'L yū'xāt qoa'nî. Wananī'sayu wududzîtī'n yusîī't. were frightthe sal-At last they came to see the siit. yukndînū'ku. Ada'xayu a'xoa Ana'xayu yê'naā yū'xāt. Through it would go the salmon. [to their creeks] Then among Ada'xayu ana'q has wu'ha. Has a'osîtēn hasdugē'dî kāxdū'te. to meet them They would be cut through it they came. saw in two. qō'ya kantu'lî Lēl yida'dî gwedjî'tc." "Yī'cukat wē'yāku. yânagu' "All before you we have all done our work." were coming the canoes. "Yī'wactu qlo'xōte qogā'xsînēx dē'djaaxa'." "Awactu' qlo'xo ayu' flesh [when] will save whoever eats it." "Cheek flesh "Your cheek

Then the salmon gathered together. They said to one another, "Where are you going?" and some said, "We to the Stikine," others, "To Chilkat," others, "To Taku," others, "To Nass," others, "To Alsek." They mentioned all of these rivers. After that the canoe came to the mouth of the river. They said, "Stand up in the canoe and see where we are." Then one stood up in the canoe to look around. The salmon would say, "Is the fort ready?" and one would go up to look. What they called a fort was a salmon trap. Every time he came back he said, "It will soon be ready." By and by he said it was ready. Then the salmon people went thither. The salmon people entered the creek. They were very happy. The evening after they went to surround the fort. All the salmon went up in the creek in two schools. Then his mother, who was cutting down on the beach, saw Lively-frog-in-pond. He thought he was going to his mother. Then his mother called to his father to come and spear him. He

Ada'xayu wuexa'nt has ya'odîgu yü'xāt. Yehas q!ā'yaqa, the salmon. together they Thus they said to each got other, "Which way are you going?" Among them thus some said, "Ohā'n qō'a "We now Stîqlhī'ndê," Axō'a, "Qō'a Djîlqā'tdê," Axō'a, "Tlaqo'dê," Axō'a, to the Stikine," others, "Now to Chilkat," others, "To Taku," others, "Nā'sdê," Axō'a, "Alsē'xdê." Djîldaka't yahī'n has awasā'k".
"To Nass," others, "To Alsek." All these rivers they mentioned. Ada'xawe hīn watt wus!îxī'x wē'xāt. Ye qoyā'waqa, "Yāk" nax then river to the got the salmon. So they said, "Canoe from mouth of ā'gūx dahā'nî." Ada'xayu qadu' ke wutā'nî asgē'yu yāku nax where stand up and [we are] see." Then to see out was wudîhā'n. Ada'xayu yū'xāt ye has yanaqē'tc, "Yū'nū agî' Lēl started to stand. Then the salmon thus they would say, "The fort ? not yên unī'te." Lē'nax akīka'ndî aka'nduqē'tc.
one to go up to see they told. Tc!ule' Hadju' there is ready." Then yucā'ł A'sgîyu yunū'wu ye has ayasā'ku. TeluLe' qox wudaqlā'kte a salmon was that a fort thus they called. Then back every time he Then back every time he a fort thus they called. ye yanaqe'tc "Deye'nde yananı'n." Wananı'sayu yen uwanı' ye 10 thus he was always "Soon it will be ready." At last there was ready so thus he was always saying yawaqa'. Xāt qoa'nî de yên uwanī'. Tc!uLe' hīn uwaq!A'q yū'xāt. Salmon people thither went. Then ereek went in the salmon.

Ada'x djîldaka't yū'xāt dēxnayê'x hīnt yā'waa.

Then all the salmon in two schools in the creek went.

Ada'x aî't aosîtī'n

Then there saw

LAX hasdutuwu' yuk!e'. He ada'x yuxā'na adade' ā'waāt yūnū'. Very their minds the goodness. After this the evening to surround [they] the fort.

dulā' īgedaxa'c Ak!"tatsī'n. Ada'x dulā' xa'ndî yānagu't his cutting down on the beach Lively-frog. Then his mother to he was going

dutuwu'te. Te!ule' dula'te t!a'yawaqā duī'ete gatagê't qa'dju axa'nt 15 he thought. Then his mother called to his father to come and spear him to her

Ada'x

ts!u a-î't

Λt

again at him here he looked

aoLîgê'n

how

dukatū't

into his

dax

dukî'ndî

from farther down

swam close to her. Then she called out to him again, "A fine salmon is swimming around here." So his father speared him. He lost consciousness. Afterward the man said to his wife, "Cut it to use it fresh." But when she was trying to cut off its head it seemed hard for her to use her knife, and she saw the copper that had been about her son's neck. Then she cried out, "This is my little son. He must have been captured by the salmon people. Here is the copper ring that was around his neck." Now she took out a mat with feathers She laid the mat down and put the feathers around the inside of it. After that she put the mat on top of the house. house, however, they kept singing shamans' songs for him.

In the middle of the night something shook on top of the house. Looking at his son, the man saw that he had become a human being about his head. When he looked at him again, he saw that he had become a human being still farther down. Then he looked at him

Ada'x ts!u aî't ts!u at ayawaqā', a'skî üwaq!a'q. she ealled out, [so] close he swam. Then again to him again "A fine salmon uwaq!a'q." Telule' let ctax  $h\bar{e}x$ Ada'x qō'a duī'etc uwata'q. Then, however, his father speared him. around swims," Then here aodanu'ku wudutā'gê. Ada'x qō'a duca't ye aya'osîqa, as soon as he Then, however, his wife thus he said to, "Fresh sciousness was speared. [to use] Ada'x qō'a kāx yax āsaya'Lîq!, yêtī'q! dulî'tayî

Then, however, off like she was trying' to cut off her kuife naxa'e." Αħ to cut its head 5 yuyacî'q!ēłk dā'sayu. Aosîtī'n duyi't  $\hat{si}$ katî'q!î. Tc!uLe' ēq the hard for her how was it. She looked her son's neek copper twist. ke etlaya'odîqa, ''Axyī'tk! Asgē'ya xāt qoa'nite A'sk!î wusnexê'n.
out she cried, ''My little son this is salmon people by he must have been captured. Dusē't kalī'nî ēq katî'q! a'ya yā'tî." Te!ule' gāte ī'qge āwaca't His neek was around copper ring this is." Then mat down she took yugātc. Tc!ule' yūxā't Yeayaū' davê' awaü' q!oal!Atū'. with feathers As folshe put the mat. Then the salmon around into it. lows Ada'xvuhî't ka yên aosîta' yugā'tc. Nēł yuqloa'ıl. qo'a the feathers. Then the house on there she put the mat. In the how-10 tcala'ku îxt! cī'yê ducî' -dudā'q!. always shaman singing his songs for him. Ada'x qo'a ade' kaodinê't yū'tāt yīn yuhî't kādê'. Ada'x qo'a Then, however, there he was shak- the night mid- the house on top dle of ever, yuqā' duyī't aotiĝê'n aosîtē'n ducā'nax qo'a tclute' līngî'tx sîti'. the man his son looked at [and] saw from his head, however, then become a he was. human being dāsayu'

again. He was become entirely human. After that they heard a spirit talking to him. The spirit inside of him said, "I am Moldyend-of-salmon. It is I." "It is I," said another spirit inside of him, "It is I, Sand-hill-crane-at-the-mouth-of-Amusement-creek." Another spirit in him said, "It is I, Sīt spirit." And the woman that had helped him also became his spirit, saying, "It is I, Woman spirit." Another one said inside of him, "It is I, Herring spirit." Then another one spoke inside of him, saying, "It is I, Salmon-people's-canoe spirit, I."

After that his father came to him, and the shaman said, "Clean everything in the house thoroughly." Again he said, "The young women must never live in this house but in another." He also said, "Put clean sand around the fireplace inside. Never let a woman look at me." The spirit was singing in him. Then he went into a trance,

līngî'tx sîti'. Ada'x a-î't ts!u At aolîgê'n. Djîldaka't līngî'tx become a was. Then at him again there he looked. The whole thing become a human being sîti'. Ada'x a-î't ade' yēk dutu' yuq!ayata'nk. Ada'x qo'a yē was. Then at it there spirits in him they heard talking. Then, however, thus q!ayaqa', "Xata'ya Canyak!"ulā'x, axāt,'" yū'q!yaqa yuyē'k dutū'q!. it said, "I am Moldy-end, it is l." said the spirit inside of him, "Xata'ya," yuq!ayaqa' dutū'q! yuyē'k, "Qatukwa'x-saka-hī'nî-It is l," said inside of him the spirit, "Sand-hill-crane-at-mouth-of-watka-dū'lî, a'ya xat." Ts!u ye yawaqa' yuyē'k dutū'q!, "Xa'taya 5 Amusement-creek, it is l." Again thus said the spirit inside of him, "It is l Sîī't-koyē'ga xat." Ada'x yū'eāwat acukawudjā'yî ts!u duyē'gîx sīt spirit l." Then the woman that had helped him also become his spirit osîte', "Xata'ya, Cāwa't-qoyē'k a'xat." Ada'x ts!u dutū'q! ye was, "It is l, Woman spirit, it is l." Then again inside of him thus ayā'waqa, "Xata'ya, yao-qoyē'k a'xat." Ada'x ts!u a-î'tts!u dutū'q! said, "It is l, Herring spirit, l." Then another one inside of him āq!aodîta', "Xa'taye Kē'ladî-qoyē'k axa't." Ada'x ts!u a-î't tye spoke, saying, "It is l, the Sea-gull spirit l." Then another thus yawaqa' dutū'q!, "Xata'ya, Xāt-qoa'nî-yā'gu-qoyē'k, axa't." 10 spoke inside of him, "It is l, Salmon-people's canoe spirit, l."

Ada'x duī'e duxa'nt uwagu't. Yē q!ayaqa' yuî'xt!, "Wē'nēlyi Then his father to him came. Thus said to him the shaman, "In inside of the house ldaka't teēq! āxga'ndî naiū's!." Ada'x ts!u ye q!ayaqa', "Yūng

ldaka't teēq! āxga'ndî naiū's!." Ada'x ts!u ye q!ayaqa', "Yīs all things dirty outside put." Then again thus he said, "Young aca' lîl wē'nelq! ye tcagō't āhî't yīq! ye has nagati'." women never in the house thus another house down in so they will be." Ada'x ts!u ye yawaqa', "Wē'nēlye ga'nda k!êdē'n naiL!ē'wu." Then again so he said, "Inside the house around the it is well you put clean sand."

Ada'x ts!u ye yawaqa', "Łîł cāwa't xāx ulgenê'q." At cî yū'yēk 15 Then again thus he said, "Never woman at me allow to look." Was sing- the spirit

1.51

wrapped in a mat. He was brought into the house. There they put eagle down upon his mouth. He sang in the house, walking around the fire. Then his spirit asked to have a rattle made for him. He also said an apron should be made for him. So his rattle was made like the s!ūs!, a but his apron was designed like the sīt. His drum was painted with the sand-hill crane. Afterward his bone necklace was made of pieces like salmon and herring. Then the spirit inside of him danced. He saw the salmon very plainly as if they were people about him. Then he would talk with the salmon people, and he became a very wonderful shaman. His friends learned to obey him absolutely. Whatever he foretold came to pass. He told them that there was going to be a death before it happened. If a person was going to be saved it happened according to his prediction. If he told them to go hunting in a canoe and informed them what they were going to get, they got it.

Nēlq! q!oal! duq!we' ye duwau'. Ada'x at cî' nēlq!. Tc!ule' At the house eagle down his mouth thus they put on. Then he sang in the house.

duyē'gî Ada'x wuduLîya'x ga'nda yagū't. q!a yax cecu'x around he walked. Then his spirit voice like rattle to have made

dudjiyî's. Ts!u duk!êdē'dî saku ā'kadjî kā'waqa. Ada'x ducecū'xu for him. Also his apron for him on him he said should be made. Then his rattle

5 qo'a s!ūs! yêx wuduĻîyê'x duk!îde'dî qo'a sîī't yêx however (a water bird) was made his apron however sīt like

kandū'djîxît. Dugā'wu dū'li yêx kandudjîxî't. Ada'x dus!Aqse'dî was designed. His drum sand-hill like they painted. Then his bone neck-lace

wuduĻîyê'x xāt yêx qa yao yêx yên duĻîyê'x. Ada'x was made salmon like and herring like there they made. Then aL!ē'x yēk dutū'q!. Ada'x yuxā't LAX wā'sA ayatī'n uwaya' danced spirit inside of him. Then the salmon very who he saw [plainly] was to A duyê'x līngî't yêx. Ada'x yuxā't qoa'nî tîn yuq!o'laAtgînutc. as if around him people like. Then the salmon people with he would talk.

10 LAX wâ'sa qaya' qot wuneyî' îxt!î'x sitî'. Yudoxō'nq!î LAX wâ'sa Very how person wonderful become a he was. His friends very how

Qok<sup>u</sup>gwanā'wu tc!uLe' qōn yuAkānî'k. Qaye' qō'k<sup>u</sup>gwanēxe
If there were going to be a death then before [it happened] he told them. If a person was going to be saved

tc!uLe' yuAkanî'kk ayê'x yū'yAtīk. Yên cū'dê naqo'x yuyukoyasîqē'k then the way he told like it it was. When to hunt they went the way he told them by canoe

dā'sa gax dudjā'q qōn yuakā'yanîkk.
what they were going to before he had told them.

Then he said, "Do not take me to town right away, but in the middle of winter." They did so. They stayed there with him. They took him to the town in the very middle of winter. Then the town people were very anxious to go out to see him. He said that a fine man would be sick very soon, and they believed him. So a good man did fall sick, and they paid him to treat him. Then he became rich. The people of his town said, "Let whoever is going to look on, fast." All the town people fasted because they wanted to see what he would do. Then he would act like the salmon, the herring, the sand-hill crane, and the sīt. They were surprised to see all the things he did. The young women, however, did not look at him. When he was going to eat, he ate only those things which his spirit had purified for him, and, when he was going to drink water, the spirit also made that clean for him. He ate only after his spirit had said, "You will eat this, my master." He did all things as his spirit directed him.

q!ayaqa', "Lîl yūk ānx axī'n yīulgā's!î tcla Qa ye LAX "Never People thus he said, right out to the town with me you go tsa." Ayê'x wuti'. ьēł duī'n nahe'ulgastc. tā'guyīnq! in the middle Like it they did. Not with him they stayed there. of winter tā'kuyīn tsa duī'n ān aoligā's!. Ada'x qo'a lax yūk dū'wadjīk middle of indeed with town they took him Then, however, very out were anxious to go out to see him yū'āntqenite. Ada'x ye q!ayaqa' lē'nax yak!ē'yî qa kēkugwanī'ku. Then so he said one was good man would be sick soon. the town people. LAX dok!ē' Aduwahī'n. Aya'x wutī' Lē'nax yuk!ē'yî qa wunī'k!". Very they believed hlm. Like it it was one was good man fell siek. Aka'q! wuduwahi' āwasê'n. Te!uLe' anqa'wo wusîti'. Duāntgenî' rich man he became. His town people they paid to treat. Then ye aya'osîqa, "Q!agaxeyî"  $ad\bar{o}'sA$ at gox latī'n." Tcałdaka't "Let fast is going to look on." thus whoever yuantqenî' q!exe'tc wa'sa yūk dū'wadjīk. He-ada'x yū'xāt the town people would fast how out they wanted to see After this the salmon and what he would do. yū'yao qa yudū'ł qa yusîī't wā'sa kunūgu'n djîldaka't tca the herring and the sand-hill and the sit how they would do just LAX qaya' qot wunê' djatdaka't wuctī'n kadunī'k. Yuyī's 10 Very person were surprised at all with himself he did. The young Lēł AC ūłtī'n. Kayū' at gugwaxā'yî qo'a women, how-When things he was going to eat not kugē'yî ts!as duyē'gite k!êdē'n wūsniyî' ts!a at uxwa'îte. did so only (until) his spirit clean made for him only things he ate. And danaî' ts!u yuyē'ktc k!êdē'n hīn agu'x yusînī'k. water when he was going to drink also the spirit clean made it for him. duyē'gîte ye yaosîqa', "Yūtla't gage'xa, axslā'tî." aga' tsa axē'x. his spirit like said to him, "This you will eat, my master." After that only he ate it. Djaldaka't-at tslas duyē'gî qlaqā'k tsla'tsa aqlayê'x tsa ye yuasînē'q. 15 only his spirit told him only that like it indeed so he did.

He did not eat anything fresh. He was not married. Whatever the spirit told him to, do he did. For that reason he lived a long time. And although he lived to be very old his head did not become white. This is all.

Qa Lēl Ļîtū'djî At uxua'. Qa Lēl awuca'. Tcîldaka't yēktc ade'
And not fresh thing he ate. And not he was married. Whatever the spirit to
him
dayaqayî' ayê'x qodzîte'. Yiwuyā't! aga' kodzitiyî'. Qa ducaxā'wu
told to like it he did. A long time on account of it

Lēł Ļetî'x wunî' toa āx wudicî'n.

not became white did although after it he became very old.

Hū'to!aya.

This is all.

## 101. QĀQ!ATCGŪ'Ka

At Sitka were several brothers, the eldest of whom was named Qāq!atcgū'k. They were fond of hunting. One morning they went out among the islands. [Qāq!atcgū'k] killed nothing. Again he went to the place where he had been in the habit of going. Then his name was mentioned among the fur scals. "It is he who is always hunting. Keep quiet, for he might hear you." Now when they were going shoreward the eldest brother said, "Pull ahead quickly, for the wind is beginning to blow." Then they became angry. The bow man laid his paddle down in the canoe. All did the same. Then they began to cover their heads. The canoe, however, drifted out. It drifted far out for six days and nights. On the twelfth he awoke to find the canoe drifting ashore. He saw an island on which were sea lions, seals, fur seals, sea otters, and sea-lion bristles. All had drifted on

Cīt!kā'q!ayu ye yatî' wu'ckîk!îyên ye dowasā'ku hunxō'a

Qāqlategū'k. Allū'n ayu' has akucîta'n. Lēq! tslutā'tayu q!ā'tlqlî unting that they liked. One morning it was islands

xodê' dāk has ūwaqo'x. Lēl at utca'qx. Ts!u yên uqo'xtc, ts!u among at out they went. Not thing he killed. Again there he always again came

dāk ūwaqo'x. Ada'xayu yuq!ū'n xō'de wudūwasa'. "Hu at out he went. And then the fur seal among he was named. "He things naqo'xtcîya aya'. Cīłk!a'ı! îsa' gaā'x. Dāq has naqo'x a'ayu always is traveling around after Keep quiet your voice he might hear."

yuhunxō'a ye qlayaqa', ''ıkku aixā' yā'ndunuku.'' Lē klānt has the elder brother thus said to [them], ''Pull ahead quiekly the wind is beginning to blow.''

ū'wanuku. Caqahā'dî yākut āwago'q duaxā'yê. Ldaka't ye has got.

The bow man to the canoe pushed his paddle. All thus they wudzîgī't. Ada'xayu cana' has wu'dis!īt. Yūyā'ku qo'a Lē wu'lixāc. came to do the heads they started to cover. The canoe, how-then drifted. ever.

Dekī'de Leducu' ya'kaye qa tāt has wulīxā'c. Yadjî'nkāt qa dēx Faroutward six days and nights they drifted. Ten (-the twelfth) and two aka'tayu ke a'odzīgit yên yu'litîtk yuyā'ku. Aosītē'n q!āt!ka'q!u 10 on that up he came to was drifting the canoe. He saw on island

Asiyu' tān, tsa, qlūn, ya'xutc!, qa tān qladadzā'yî. Łdaka't ada' it vas seallons, seals, fur seals, sea otters, and sea lions their bristles. All around it

to the island. Then they took their things up. They stayed there one year. When a year and a half was completed, the man slept, thinking about himself.

One morning he awoke with a dream. He dreamed that he had gotten home.<sup>a</sup> And one morning he said to his younger brothers, "Get up quickly. Let us head the canoe shoreward at random. The sun always rises from behind Mount Verstovaia." So they headed shoreward. When it became dark they lowered their anchor into the sea in the direction of the sunrise, and after they had been out for many nights they saw a sea gull swimming about. It was really Mount Edgecumbe that they saw. When they got near to it they saw plainly that it was Mount Edgecumbe. "Head straight for the mountain," said Qāqlatcgū'k, and toward evening they came near it. They named the place where they came in Canoe-resting-place. There

Has at qā'wadjêl. Lē′q!a tāk<sup>u</sup> āyē' has aolīta'q! yuq!ā't! dāq!. drifted the island on to. They things took all up. One Kandak!ē't! yulē'q! tāku qa acūwu'. Wutē'x wute'. yuqā' Was completed the one year and a half. Slept the man stayed. tcuc-ctā't. about himself [thinking].

ts!utā't dukī'k! has ye ayaosīqa', "Cā'idaqê'dê. 5 Ada'xayu Lēq! he said to, "Get up [quickly]. morning his younger brothers thus one Tcākūge'yî yê'nde hayākugwatā'n. Yā'kuvî at kaîlaga'. Gagā'n things load up. Anywhere to there let us be heading. Canoe Kanē'sdîca cakī'nax kē xîxte." Ada'xayu yên has ya'watan. Cross mountain on the up always rises (Mount mountain quickly." And then there they were heading. Dark (Mount Verstovaia)

xîxtcîva'. LAX q!ān has uxē' sayu' has aosītē'n kē'Ladî Very many [nights] they stayed out it was always rises. they Xātc L!ux Asiyu' has aosītē'n. Axa'nga ya has 10 yadjî'ndahēn. was swimming. It was Mount Edgecumbe that they saw.

gaqō'xayu has aosītē'n L!ux k!îdē'n. "Yucā' adatcū'n" yuyawaqā' they were com- they saw Mount plainly "The moun- (head) straight what said tain at it,"

Qāq!atcgū'k, "adatcū'n yana-i'satan." Ada'xayu xā'nadê ana'x yên Qāq!atcgū'k, "straight toward be heading." And then toward even- near it there

has ūwaqo'x. Ye has ā'wasa Yāku-qalasega'ku. Tān a akawatī' they came in. Thus they called Canoe-resting-place. Sea lion be pounded out [a figure of]

a For the song composed by him at this time, see song 5,

he pounded out the figure of a sea lion so that people might know he had come ashore at that place. Then they came to Sitka.

When they arrived in front of this town his old wife was weeping outside. While she was crying she saw the canoe come in front of the town. She saw the root hat she herself had woven. She started up, and went into the house. When they came in below the old woman felt happy. When her husband came up to her he gave away all sorts of things to the people—sea-lion whiskers, sea-otter skins, fur-seal skins. He shook hands<sup>a</sup> with his brothers-in-law. Then they said to him, "This long time the death feast has been held for you." The young woman, however, was already married. She mourned much [to think that she had left her first husband who was now so wealthy].

Ada'xawe yaCī't!ka de āna'x gaduskū't hu ana'x yên wuqoxō'n. that they near it there had come (ashore). And then he might know has wuqō'x. they got. Yā'ane egayā'qdê ya has gaqō'xayu tc!ā'guayî duca't gānt agā'x. This town below (houses) when they were coming the old [one] his wife outside wept. sugāxē' aosītē'n yuyā'ku ān ēgaya'dê ayu' yānaqo'x. Just while she was crying it was she saw the canoe town below was coming. Aosītē'n āwu'āgê' xāt s!āxu. Wudihā'n nēłde' Hāt has wugu't. [what] she [spruce] had woven root hat. She started up into the she got. To it thev house Dutuwu'sigu yucā'wat Doxo'x doxa'nq! cān. ū'waqox. old. Her husband Felt happy the woman to her łdaka't-at qadjīdē' ye aosī'ne tān-q!Adadzā'yî, ya'xute! when he came all things to the people thus he gave away sea-lion whiskers, dūgu', q!ūn dugu'. Ān qādjî'n aolīĻē'ku dokā'niyên. Yē daya'doqa With his brothersskins, fur-seal skins. hands he shook Thus said to him, them (things) "Detc!ā'ku yên yuatkā'watî." iītī'q! Yuyī'sqa qo'a ayu' "This long time there a feast has been The young however, that already in your given." woman, 10 udū'wacā. Alē'n tuwunū'k āwat!ē'. was married." Much grief (or trouble)

a This form of greeting is, of course, modern.

#### 102. THE SEA-LION HUNT

A canoe [load of people] came behind the sea lions at Cape Ommaney. And they camped behind them. In the morning they went out to the sea-lion island. They sharpened limbs on the ends to make the sea lions sneeze and pushed them into their noses. In that way they killed off all the sea lions.

Cī kūtū'dê yāku wūgā's! tān t!ā'dê. Ada'xayū At!ā'x has Baranoff to the end of island (i.e., to Cape Ommaney)

Ts!ūtā't ayu' dāk has ūwaqo'x tān q!ā't!ê dādê'. Cyī ūwaxē'. Limbs camped. In the morning there out they went sea-lion island has alū' ka'osīxot! tān tslî'xayî sak". Ayu' tū'de has aka'osīgu. they on the sharpened sealions to make for. This into they pushed them. ends of them

Ada'xayu yax has ayaolīdja'q yutā'n.

And then like [it] they were killing off the sea lions.

324

#### 103. THE WAR IN THE SPRUCE CANOE a

People went to war from Chilkat in a spruce canoe. They drifted down on the people below, and they came to Dī'gātiya. Then they defeated the Stikine people completely, and afterward they made peace together.

yāku Djîlqā't dax sīt yîk xā djî'udigut. Ixkī' qā k!At Chilkat from sprnce canoe down to fight started down fast. Down people yên yawagu'. wulixā'c. Dī'gātiya ana'x Adaxayū' has Cq!At there they were com-ing. And then (lit., from it this after) it drifted. Dī'gātiya on it they qoan caoduwaxê'tc. Adaxayū' wuctî'n at wuduĻik!ê'. beat completely. together some-thing (i.e., peace was made.) people And then

a Probably refers to story 29.

### 104. STORY OF THE KĀ'GWANTĀN®

From Xakanuwu' went a man of the Xakanu'kedî, who were named from their town. The people used to go out from there after seals, which, not having guns at that time, they hunted with longshanked and short-shanked hunting spears always kept in the bow. The shank of the long-shanked spear, which is grasped in throwing, is This man's name was Qake'q!utê. On starting off, he went up toward the head of the bay.

This Qakē'q!utê was a great hunter and used to kill all kinds of things, but now he could get nothing. Then he stopped in a place named The Bay, and dropped his anchor into the water beside the Immediately his steersman went sound asleep, but he could not. By and by a small thing began flying around his face, and, taking up his paddle, he knocked it down into the canoe. noise, "Ts. ts."

	XAKANUWU'txayu wuqo'x yū'qā XAKANŪ'kedî yū'dowasāku From XAKANUWU' went a man "XAKANUWU' people" named
	yū'andjayū duĻisā'k". Yū'antqēnî atxayu' wuqo'x tsa ayu' adā'yu
	the town named from. The people from it went seal it was for
	has kū'waatk. Lēł ū'na qōgastī'tc. Ā'da qa wūsā'nî cūqā'yênduetc.
	they worked. Not was a gun. Long- and short- they always placed shanked hunting spear spear
	Yuā'da a'ttcqēt dusgo'qtc ye duwasā'ku cūx tsa an dota'kt. Ye
	The long bunting spear what they always thus is named as cux seal with they have follows (upper it spear, lows part of shaft)
5	dowasā'ku yuqā' Qakē'q!utê. Qakē'q!utê wuqō'x. Ģeîtā'x ke ū'waqox.
	was named the man Qakē'qlutê. Qakē'qlutê started off. to the head up he started.
	At s!ātē'x sîtî'. Łdaka't-At ā'wadjaq. Acdjī't qā'wacu ade'
	Things become a he was. All things he killed. To him was in there great hunter for
	qugwa'niya. Łāa't udjā'gawe yên ca'oĻītsîs. Ye dowasā'ku Yū'gei.
	he could get nothing when he could there he stopped Thus it was named The Bay. [in one place].
	Na'goq-naxq! hī'nî a'wate yuducayī'na. Tāte yax ya'olidjaq'
	From the side of water was [dropped his anchor. Sleep like killed him [his canoe]
	duat!ē'gî. Ho qo'a awe' Lel utē'x. Duya'x yādaqê'ntc yēkusîga'ik!e-at.
	his steersman. He, however, not slept. His face began flying a small thing.
10	Wānanī'sawe axā' ax ā'watān. Ayî's yaduya'x yaodaqē'nî awe

paddle from it he took up.

For it

his face

it was flying

when

At once

10

Daylight found Qakē'q!utê still awake. He took up the bird he had killed and saw that its eyes were swollen up and hung down over its face. Blood was on both sides of its mouth. What he had hit was his own sleep. Then he called to his steersman to awaken him. He did not hear him. Qakē'q!ute took up his spear and pushed his steersman with the end of it. As he did not answer, he went over to him and found him dead. Like the sleep bird Qakē'q!utê had hit, blood was coming out of his mouth. Then Qakē'q!utê went along sadly toward the town with the body. [I am now telling you about the very ancient people.]

```
When Qake'q!utê came in sight of Xakanuwu' there was no smoke
visible, and nobody walked outside or came down to meet him as he
had expected. Then he jumped out into the water and went up to his
house. The people of that town were numerous, and it was long.
                       Acā'waxêtc
                                     yāku
                                           yī wudzigī't.
                                                             Ye dowaa'x,
axā' ax ā'watān.
                                      canoe down
paddle from it he took
                          He hit it
                                                   it came
                                                            As fol- it sounded,
                                            into
              up.
"Ts, ts."
            Yāku yī udzigī't.
"ts, ts." . Canoe into
                      it came
                       to fall.
  Tcūł utexē' awe' qē'waa.
                                   Qakē'q!utê
                                                qē'na a'awe āx a'osîta.
                when daylight came.
                                     Qakē'q!utê
                                                   when it got from it he took
                                                    daylight
Yūacawaxê'tci-At yutsî'tsku dūwā'q qā yāx dixwa's! wudiq!î's duwā'q
                    the bird his eyes and face hung down swelled up his eyes (over)
   The thing he hit
ka. Xadju' duyatayî' asiyu' acā'waxêtc.
                                                Yā'dōq!wa tāq! ye yatî'
                his own
                        that
                                                  His mouth on both thus was
      It was
                                   he hit.
                  sleep
cî.
     TeluLe'
               acā'saqēx
                           doat!ē'gî. Lēł
                                              acq!ē'kuax.
                                                              Wūsā'ne ax
                he tried to
                           his steersman. Not
                                             he heard him.
                                                              His spear from
blood.
       Then
                     yūa'q<sup>u</sup>lētsakk
ā'watān, ak!ū'tcte
                                      doat!ē'igî.
                                                   Tcuł acq!ē'kuāxawe'
he took up, with the end
                         pushing
                                     his steersman. When not he could hear him
                                                   duyatayî' acā'waxêtc
ā'dāk ū'wagut kaolit!ê'k gwâya'. Tc!ayu'
out to
        he went
                      finding him cold
                                         Just like
                                                    his sleep
                        (i. e., dead).
ade' A'tiyīyA' yAX
                     ayū'yatî.
                                 Hasduq!oatā'nax cî udū'wayage yax
                                 Out from their mouths blood came out
        was
               like
                       it was.
                                                                ayā'waxa. 10
                                                        Ande'
yatî'.
              wâ'sa
                      tūwunū'k
                                  AckA't
                                           ūwagu't.
       LAX
                                  on with
       Very
               how
                       he was sad
                                            he came.
                                                        To the
                                                                  taking him
                                                         town
LAX tclā'guayî Łīngî'tawe yī'in kaxanī'k.
                  people are to you I am telling.
Very
```

Dāq akaosiya' duā'nî Xakanuwū'. Lēl slīq a yuā'n Lēl tslu. Shoreward he caught his town Xakanuwū'. Not smoke was the town not also.

Lē Łīngī't gānt wugū't te!uyē' qūdjî' dut!ā'yax ūngagū't. Lēl Then people outside would be walking then he thought down to him would come. Not

wu'łna. Tclule' yāku yîda'x hī'nî wugū't. Tc!ule' doqouwu'dî canoe down from the water he got into. Then to his dwelling it was so. leyā't! wugū't. Cayadihē'n yū'āntqēnî, yūā'n. Agā'yu he went. Were numerous the people long the town. At that time house In those days doors were made of skin hung on the outside, and the women wore labrets. All of the people there lay dead as they slept just like his steersman. He went through the houses among their bodies. Because he had knocked down Sleep not even one small boy was saved, and to this day people have the saying, "He knocked down the sleeper." They made a parable of it.

Fur blankets were not scarce in ancient times, so Qakë'q!"tê took two marten blankets out of a box and put them around him. He was going to start away in desperation because he had killed his own sleep. He also put abalone shell in his ears and piled together the things they used for snowshoes. In a bag he carried along a bone knife and a bone trap, tied a weasel skin in his hair, and put a painted drum on his shoulder such as people used to beat when anybody was dead.

aq!ahā'dî gā'nnaxat ada'k nałga'qte tsāstc to doors outside always swinging skin up hung always, and then q!ēnt!ā'q!a dū'waū'wiya awe' cātc. Tclūwe' doat!ē'îgî āde' yatiyî' the it was Just like were wearing his steersman women. ya'tî yā'nagut Tclu adē' yū'āntqēnî axō'x yuhî'tq!. yaxawe' he was going through the were the people among where (at it) cū'waxix. Lē'nax Atk!A'tsk!u · xaq!ū'ya awe' aya'x Te!u qotx like it destroyed they had all been Even they were there one little boy sleeping quickly. kāyatā'ayî caodô'xeidjī teayu'. 5 Lēł cwusnē'x Tc!ūyeda't ts!ū not saved himself the sleep he knocked down because. also as fol. Even now Atgâkū' "Ciatā'yî a caodexî'tc." At-kuqedī'x duliyē'x tc!uyeda't.
people say "Sleeper it was he knocked A sign (or parable) they take even now. down.' itior Telāku qlū Lēl ūdaya'cqên. Kōku yîda'x aosîne' ke ye Anciently blankets not were scarce. Box from down in out as fol- he took out two [of fur] Aodiq!ū' Gunxā' k!ūx. ts!u āx kē ye aosîne'. Dogu'kq! also from it out as pre-cedes he took. marten He started to put Abalone At his ear as pre-[skins]. on (or blanket himself). hūtc!avu' wutā'ayî. Awadja'q awa-ū', de duyatā'ayî. he put on, when finished it then he could sleep. He killed his own sleep. Snowshoes Was 10 ao'xqlūn ts!ū wudjkā' kē ye aosîne' tc!A Αt ān gugagu't on top of each other up as pre-cedes they used to things also he put with when he was where have for them going to go gāta' yatî' ā'ūn gānā'wayē'dî. Tsasgwē'l s!āq At tslu ye (Name of a kind bone inside as pre-of it cedes he could die with them. trap some also of bag) Gonayē' qugwagutnū'gawe dātc h'ta ts!u. knife also. Starting when he was going to go weasel thing tied on his head. Qonganā'n dugwa'lnutc gao at xa'cteayu yē'nduetc kū'dūcxîttc. they always had a painting on it. they always beat a drum some cut thing (skin) used to is dead naganā'dayu'. Tsalxā'n A'waya yū'duwasāku yū'gao tela ān to die (Cape Fairweather) He carried the drum even with it up [on his shoulder]

He was going to die with these things. Then he started toward a mountain named Tsalxā'n." He took no food with him but put some Indian red paint in a sack and, when he was ready to start, painted his face and hair. Then he started toward Gonā'xo. For perhaps ten days he traveled without food, using instead leaf tobacco mixed with calcined shells. His snowshoes had claws, enabling him to climb cliffs and cross glaciers. The mountain over which he was passing is called Tsalxā'n.

By and by Qakë'q!"tê came out upon a ground-hog place. There was then no rain, for he was traveling with reference to the clouds which rose in waves behind Mount Tsakxā'n. When these clouds come down to the very foot of the mountain there will be good weather, and people then paddle far out into the ocean. Seeing an animal go down into the ground-hog hole, he set up his trap there,

gone' yên guya' ade' ayu' ūwagu't. Tuwunū'gayu the moun- where there to it it was started he went. Since he was sad Łingî'tayî lēq! ayu' awucā't. Αt xa'etî tu yatî'. ye red paint that inside as prefood he took. Indians some saek Gonayē' qugwagagu't nūk duya'q! ye aosî'nî qa ducā'kutūq!. he was going to go when his face thus he put on it and Starting into his hair. gone' ūwagu't Ģonā'xo yî'nade. Gu'lde djî'nkāt ayu atxawe' he went (town at mouth Probably ten [days] it was After that starting toward. of Alsek river) ga'ndjayu yanaya'n. Łingî'tayî kats ts!u 5 q!a'owuxê Yūyānagu'tî leaf tobacco he was carrying. In traveling Indians' nū'q!wayu dułī'te ts!as aayu' at-xāx aoliya'x. Yūdudjā'djî a'qoa cooked only it was this for food he used. His snowshoes, however, axā'ku ā'ye yatî. Tc!u gona' casata'n yē'nax ān ke gutte qā had. claws Any sort of steep place from below with up he always and them went tc!u gona' yateyî' sît! glacier on ayu'. Yū'ca qo ye dowasā'ku axō'x Tsałxā'n. yanagu't because. The mounwas named through it he was passing weather.] S!āx ā'ni kā'dāk gū'dawe, Lēł sū qōstî'. Yū'cā ts!u a'tkanīk. 10 Ground place out on coming, hog [or town] not rain was any. [weather]. Yugū's! at!ē'dî angaxê'teîn tīt yū'djîsîtank akā'q!awe The clouds behind it always lie in waves rising up according to it he was going. agā' AgucqA'x gata'nîn qok!ā'yîsayu akā'q! adoxā' dekī'dî. it means good According to to it when it comes they pulled weather. Adjayu' akā'yanagu't akā'dāq ū'wagut yū's!āx ā'ni: Ade' aya'osîta he was going on out on it his way he came the ground place. There (to it) Dudjī'q! aqo'ūwudî. yatī'yî slāq gāta' ve ākē' asē' watî. go into the hole. thus was bone trap it up he set.

(1)

and it is from him that people know how to fix it. He camped near it. When he went to look at it next day it could not be seen. He took away the thing used to cover the top of the trap. He had set this trap because he was hungry, and he was very glad to see that it was down. When he came to examine it, however, he found that a frog had gotten inside. "This frog pretended that it was a ground hog," said Qakē'q!utê, and, taking up all of his things, he went to a bay near by called Canoe bay, hoping to see some people. He thought that he saw some at Seaweed point, and, being very lonely, he started down toward them. Then he discovered that they were black stones that looked like people, and said, "These are small stones which appear like human beings." Starting on again toward the head of Alsek, he traveled for some time and came to its upper course.

gāta' wa'dutsiku adē'yîdadunaya. Κē asatī'awe Dudjī'îtxawe came to be known trap the way to fix it. Up when it was set Qē'naā'awe tcaade'nq! uaxe'. aqaka'nt ūwagu't. Dugātā'yî close by it he camped. When it became to see it he went. daylight Lēlgâ'we saqō'stî. Ayanā'ye at nādusē'tc gāta' avanā'tx hē'de was. To cover thing was used trap from the top this Dutuwū'djawe at gaxā't tū'watî. Adjawe' yū aosî'ne. yū′gāta thing when he he thought. the trap His mind Why 5 yū's!āx yayî'q! ye aosî'ne. Lāx dūtūwu' āwe' yak!ē' ł saqō'stîyî the ground hog some-Very he felt when was good for fixed. ū'wayêł. dugātā'yî. Xîxtc! gwâ'ya ayē't ū'wagut. S!āx AC It was a frog down into it went. Him it deceived. Ground his trap. Qakē'q!utê, "S!āx yuxî'xte!. yawaqa' gâ cwuLiyê'x Υe "Ground hog it pretended As follows said Qakē'q!utê, the frog. itself yaxî'xtc!." Łdaka't cLiyē'x wuctve ayaosîne'. Yuge'yaq! vên pretended this frog." his own he took up. nax yēq ū'wagut Yāku-dē'yîta nax. Łīngî't aogaxsîtē'nîdawe ye to down he went Canoe bay to. People to see was Aosîtë'n yulingî't Łaq! A'skî-q!a yū'dowasāku. 10 yuku'wagutk. Laxde' He saw people [at] Seaweed point named. why he traveled. gone' ūwagu't. acī'salīt!ā'ne Līngî't awistene'. TcluLe' ayî'nade down toward starting Then he was lonesome people to see. wogada' tēq! satīyî' Yū'aositēne tēg! sā'nî kīngî't yax. Adā'x like. After it he had sighted stones stones little they What he saw people "Xate tēq! sā'nî līngî't yax ositē'n." clūlk!î'tîn ye qlayaqa', "It is like thus he said, stones small people yā'nax dāq ū'wagut Alsē'x cā'kdê. Wā'yukugū'tsawe  $Ts!\bar{u}'$ from there toward he went Alsek toward the For traveling quite a way 15 nā'layî ye dā'qgut.

far up so after he went.

a For songs composed regarding these experiences of Qake'q!ute, see songs 2 and 3

People did not know then that Athapascans lived up there. Although eulachon ran up this river the people there were starving, as they had no other way of catching eulachon than by means of hooks. At first Qakē'q!"tê remained in the woods, not letting himself be seen by them. By and by, however, he tied together two eulachon traps (or nets) used by the Tlingit and called "seal's-head." Toward evening he went down to the place where those Athapascans came up to fish and set the two traps near by at the edge of the water. Both of them were filled that same night, and he emptied them where the Athapascans were in the habit of fishing. There was a large pile.

When the Athapascans came up next morning they exclaimed in astonishment, "What has done this?", Qakē'q!"tê did not know that they were Athapascans, and they did not know him. After that an Athapascan shaman began performing to discover what was working

Lēł wudusko' gonanā' qostîyî'. Łīngî'tte Lēł unala' Ālsē'x cāq
Not was known Athapascan there were.
Indians
(Strange people)

Lēl wudusko' gonanā' qostîyî'. Łīngî'tte Lēl unala' Ālsē'x cāq
not far Alsek [from]
head of

aka'x wugu't Gonana'. Sāk ā'kē q!aqte. Yū'gonana xō yaē'n.

upon them he came Athapascans. Eulachon up to it always swam.

The Athapascans among was starvation

Yū'gonana Lēl tc!uLe' āwaqcīyī'q! ga'gî wugū't. Dosk!ê'q!t yusā'k.

The Athapas- not then into his own eyes at all he got. They hooked the culachon.

Tālu'ta gadux îdiā'ga at gastâ' ya la gastâ' ya la

Lēla'te gaduļîdjā'ge at qostê'. Lēl ga'gî ūqu'tx. Te!a atgutū'wu Not any to kill it with thing was. Not at all he showed himself.

hu. Wānanī'sawe aolīs!î't goqte sāk yayī' yîs. Qakē'q!utê ayu' he. At once he tied together a net culachon catching for. Qakē'q!utê he was

yēq ū'wanūk. Tsā cayî' yū'dowasāk". Łīngî'ttc aosîku'. Yugonana' the one doing it. Seal's head it is called. Indians know it. The Athapascans a'ke at djîya' yê'nde yāxîgaā'tawe ā'yēq uwagu't. Dēx aolîs!î't up to things they come there when it was getting down to it he went. Two [traps] he fixed the creek' it is a cayî yê a c

yū'hīn wanq! nax aq!a'olîat. Te!u āgatā'dawe ax ke aq!a'oliat. the water on the edge near he set it. That very night from it up he took them.

Telu dē'xa yax caya'oʻlihîk. Yū'gonana ade' has îsk!aq!adi'nudjya', Even both like were filled up. The Athapascans where they hooked the fish always ade' akaoʻlixē's!. Ye udzîgā't yū'sāk. there heputthem down. Thus there came to the culachon. (at it)

Ts!ūtā't ā'nax ke ū'waat yū'gonana. K!ū'Liyax yate' yuq!o'laatk, In the morn- to it up came the Athapascans. Astonished were in their manner of talking

Yū'gonana, "Dā'saya ye djiwane'." Ts!u hūte Lēl awusku' gonanā'x the Athapascans, "What this thus has done." Both he not knew become

satīye', qa hū ts!u Lēł wudusku' dātx sa satī'ye. Î'xt!awe A'xo they were and he also not they knew what? he was. A shaman it among them

wu yū'gonana ka'odudzîAt Adā'x yagā'gadāt dā'sayu qā'q!AxAndî lived the Athapascans came togo around from it they might find what it was to men (?)

10

for them. When he discovered it he said, "Something has come to help you. Hang all kinds of food around there." As he did not eat any of the food they hung about, they hung there a copper spear. Then they found him. They also placed the daughter of a chief there so that they could get him by having him marry her. So he at last went out among them. Now, the Athapascans took him with them, and he explained the fish trap to them. This is the way in which they were preserved from starvation, and the way in which they found out about the trap. When he married the woman they had given him they put many things upon him—moose skins, marten skins, beaver skins, and two copper spears valued at two slaves. The Athapascans paid him for that trap.

Qakē'q!utê spent two years among these people, and afterward they began to pack up his property in order to accompany him back to his friends, the Tlingit. All the Athapascans packed up his things for

yë'djîna. Ye qlayaqa' yuî'xt! yên Aqlatī'nayu ye yawaqa' "Yē was working thus said the shaman there sighting it was so said "Thus [to bring food]

yīgā' At wūsu'. Djaldaka'tat āyē'nax duu'," Yū'qlayaqa. Ade' for you some- got to help. Everything down there put," what he said. There

kax dulxwa's!î yu-at-xā' qo'a, Lēl at yawu'sa. A'qoa latwūsā'awe on being hung up the food, however, not thing he ate. On account when he did not of that eat it

ēq Lāq adê' kaodu'Ļîxwas!. Tca'tc!a-agā'awe a'oduLîha. Cāwa't cop- spear there they hung up. At that time they found him. Woman

5 ts!u a'odutsînuq ānqā'wu-si ayu' agacā'dayu ana'x yena'x duṇā'qdayu.

too they came to a chief's it was to marry-her on acplace there daughter on account they could get him.

Tca'tc!a aka'q!āwē tsa qāxō' duwagu't. Tc!uLe' dê duī'n tūt

Just on account of that indeed among the men he went. Then now with them into

ā'waāt go'nanātc. Tc!uLe' ga'gî ye aosîne' yugo'qtc qāwaqcī'yîq!. took him the Athapascans. Then indeed thus he explained the fish trap before their eyes.

10 sayu' dūnā'ye wududzî'nî tsîsk!, k!ūx, s!agē'dî, dēx ēq Lāq dēx they on him came to be put moose(?) [skins] marten, beaver, two copper spears, two

gūx yax q!aduLîtsī'n. Yū'goqtcayu ye acī'djuduwaqē' yū'gonanatc. slaves like were valued. That trap thus they paid him those Athapascans.

Ada'xawe dēx tāk dōkā'yan wulia't yū'gonana xōq!. Yadē'x and then two years over him passed the Athapascans among. These two tāku cūnaxī'xawe duī'n dā wududzia'x doxō'nq!î xōde' līngî't xōde'. years were completed with him things they came to his friends to among. Tlingit to among.

Edaka't yū'gonana ayu' doa'tê kē kugwaya' dutcīyî's. Duī'n

All those Athapascans it was his things up packed for him. With him

"What is it to us

Qakë'qiutê

Just as the warm weather was beginning these People-of-thelast-stomach, as they were called, started with him for his town.

There was a stream called Brush creek owned by the Brush-creek people, who were his friends, so, feeling high, Qake'q!"tê led these men thither. At first the Tlingit did not know who they were walking along with him, for they had never seen such people, and a great number of men came along bearing load after load by means of forehead bands. When he and his companions, carrying packs of moose, beaver, and squirrel skins, came out on the side of the stream opposite the town, Qakē'q!utê said, "Come over to me in a canoe." The people had heard about these Athapascans, although they had not seen them. But after Qakē'q!utê had said, "Come over to me" twice, one ran out toward him from among the Brush people and said, "Are we splitting land-otter tongues on account of you? Go on below. Go to the people who are splitting tongues for you." The Athapascans asked Qakē'q!utê, "What is it that they are saying to us?" and he answered, "They are sending us away from here." That

Kaodīt!a'q! ā'xo gūdiya', Tutxana'dî ayu' gonaye' ā'waāt doā'nî. among starting went [to] his town. L began to be People-of-thehot weather them Qakē'q!"tê. Qakē'q!utê. hīnî'x Hĩn ye duwasā'ku Tcūkan-hī'nî. Tcukanedî' setî' Brush ereek. the Brush-creek the stream named people Adjawe' cia'qot wudî'nî, axodê' yaqā' cunagu't. dōxōnq!ē'x sêtî'. feeling among these men his frlends eame was. Why high was lead-[to own] [them] Lēł līngî'tte ye ustî'ndjîn. Lēł līngī'tte wusku' yū-acīn-yā'naāt-at. Tlingit thus what was walking with him. Not Tlingit Yān dayā'n yū'naādî Lēn yā'na yā'ndax duyā'n. Qā'q!anax ā'ats!u those going big number load after load earried. Forehead bands Carrying packs Qakē'q!utê tîn naā'de tsîsk! yān duyā'n s!agedî' ve duwa-u'. thus they used. Qakë'q!utê with those were moose were carrying packs beaver, going kā'daq uwaāt. Ax duī'n axcū'di yaqo'x Yū'ān kika' hīn tsalk!. The town opposite water on opposite they came. ground "To me For him come over Hā'te!a akayē'k dua'xdjīn Qakē'q!utê. yū'gonana. yū'yāwaqa heard about those Athapascans. Qakē'q!utê. Now they had Daxdahī'n ye yanaqa' "axcū'di yaqo'x." TeluLe' ā'yux wududjīxī'x 10 thus he sald "To me come over." Then out to him Tcukanedî' xōna'x. Le ye ya'odudziqa, "Öhā'n age' yē'kā at tūxa'ck, Grass people from among. Then thus they came to say, "We on account the ones are of you splitting tongues q!ecā'nî. Îxî'nadê naiya': Yika' xacko tca kū'cta qoan these land-otter people many. Below here For you qoūqlxa'nde naya'." Yū'gonanatc qlawū's! Qakē'qlutê "Wasē'yu hadā'

Those Athapascans asked ye doqa'." "Yā'txayu de hāk"dona'" yū'ayaosîqa yū'gonana. thus they say." "From here away they are send- what he said to those Athapascans. ingus,"

go."

is why people now say, "The Brush people sent the Athapascans away from the other side." a

At once the Athapascans put their packs over their shoulders. It was as quickly done as if hot water had been thrown among them. The Brush people sent them away because they were afraid. As they set out they began making a noise, "Hē'yē." They went directly to the place whither they had been sent, and, crossing a glacier, came to Sand-hill-town. When the Kā'gwantān learned that Qakē'q!"tê had left Ṣakanuwū', they caught those Athapascans and obtained all of their things. The Gānaxte'dî also came to have dealings with them. Even now these people stop among them. They never became Tlingit, but they became people with whom one may trade. Whatever things they had, such as abalones, the Athapascans gave to them. That is how the Tlingit used to do in olden times. In exchange the Tlingit gave them every sort of thing to cat and especially an edible seaweed; but they did not know what to make of this last. The Athapascans

yīda't ye atgâkū', "Tcūckī'kada'x gonana' aka'odîna Tcukanedî'tc." "From the other side Athapascans sent away now thus they say, Atxawe' tc!ule' āwā'xde ā'waqe yū'gonana hasduyā'nayî. Axō't After that the Athapascans their packs. Among got (over shoulders) yat!ā'yî hīn ka'oduwaxêtcî yê'xawe wū'nī. Tcukanedī'tc qo'a a like that it resembled. Brush people, was thrown water Atcawe' ax has akāwana'. Ģonaye' has gogwaa'de, why from they sent them away. Starting they were going to go, Aka'oLexēL!. were afraid. 5 "Hē'ye," ye dowaa'xtc Lāku gonayē' kugwaa't gānugu'n. starting they were going when they let to go them go. "Hē'ye," thus it sounded fast has kaoduwana'yīya āwe' Le āde' gone' has uwaā't. Sît!kana'x there right to it started they went. tc!ule' at has ū'waāt laocā'eaki-ān. Wududzikū' ax qot wugūde' then there they got Town-on-the-sand-hill. Came to know from it he went away Xakanuwū' dax Qakē'q!utê Kā'gwantāntc. Kāgwantāndjawē' tsa from Qakē'q!¤tê Kā'gwantān. Kä'gwantān wūcā't yū'gonana. Łdaka't-at hasdoa'dî a'xo ā'waāt. Gānaxtedī'te caught those Athapascans. All the things their things among The Ganaxte'dî went. 10 ts!u tc!uLe' de has wududziku' qāxō'q! yā has unaxē'n tc!ūyeda't. also then now they came to know among men they are stopping even now. them has wustē'x. Tclaā'n qo'a qayaqā'qluwanx Lē sîtî′. Łīngî't they never became. But yet, however, men such as can be traded with Then Tlingit Te!A dā'sa qā'djî, gunxā', hAsdudjīde' Whatever they had abalones to them daduna' go'nana. gave Athapascans. Anciently qostīyea kīngî't ā'yu yēkudayē'n. Łdaka't-at hasduq!we'x dutī'x were. Everything to their mouths they gave Tlingit that way were atxā'yî lāk!a'sk. ьēł has ā'wusko ade' yuyanē'giya kīngî't. what not they knew to make of Food seaweed Qa'kutakā'yîqaq! ta akadē' wudūwagê'tc yāwat!ā'yia. 15 yūłak! A'sk. Inside a half-basket pot stones into it they threw

did not know how it was cooked, and, when hot stones were thrown inside of a basket pot and the pot began shaking, they took up their bows and arrows to shoot at it. But the people said, "It is something to be eaten after it has cooled," and gave them horn spoons for it. "Where do people go to get this?" said they, for it suited their "They get it from the very edge of the water at the lowest tide." When the Athapascans went back with Qake'q!utê to their homes they told the Tlingit to bring seaweed up when they came, so the Tlingit began taking this up to them. A beaver skin could be bought with one bunch of seaweed. From them were learned of the flat nose ring and dancing.

After this the people were going to build a feast house out of the

wealth the Athapascans had brought them. Every morning before they had eaten anything they went after large trees for house timbers. They had nothing with which to chop except stone axes. While it was being completed the drum was beaten continually. The owner at saē'x Gonanā'te qo'a Lēł wusku' adē'kdusīya. Wudū'wakîge What cooked it Athapascans, however, not how it was done. knew ayî's yuqa'k<sup>u</sup>tākāyî'. has' Yū'gonanatc tcūnē't the half basket. The Athapascans arrows was [in cooking] aka'olidjel. Ye has ya'odudzîqa "Dū'xa-a'tawe yāgasā't!awe." Tsa cal So they came to say to "That is something when it is cooled Now spoons them eaten off." them Has ā'wawūs! "Guda'x sa hasdudji't ye wudu'tsine linë't cal. thus they gave dark brown spoons. They
(i. e., horn) asked "From where ? ye dadunaA'taya." Łakāgā'saodînu'q. "Yên galē'n yē'dadunaA'tawe thus do they go and get." It suited their taste. "At low tide something they go and ca'nyādax." Ts!u duī'nāwe qox wudū'waat Qakē'q!utê yū'gonanate from the very Again with him back they went Qakē'q!utê the Athapaseans edge of the tide." ha'sdu-ānī'-dê, akā'yan has qoya'osîqa yū'lak!ask. Yē'nax dusnī't to their home to bring along they told them the seaweed. aqugwaa't nu'kni Yevîs. du-ū' Lēq! s!Agē'dî hasduxa'ndê for. Thus they bought one beaver [skin] they were going up to get Lēg! łak!a'sk. Hasdudjītxā'we wududzîku' luna'skudawōg! ga aL!ē'x [piece of] seaweed. From them they came to the flat nose ring and to dance tslu ha'sdudjītx wudu'dzîku. 10 from them eame to know. ā'gux duliye'x yuhî't q!adacî' dakayî's. Yū'gonana atxawe' they were going to build the house feasting for it. ā'yu gux dusgī't. Teluł at doxā'îdjī awe' A'diyī tîn

they were going to Every things always before it was they always do it. Every things always before it was they always went things with it was cînaxâ'yê ayu' dā'îde-de ala'nq!. Lēł ga ās for trees big. Not to chop it was what they timbers dusxō'tanute tā'yīsayu. TeluLe' wuduĻī'q!êawe' yuga'o dutA'ngînute.
had for things at a sione ax. Then when it was finished the drum was always beaten. of this house was named Man-from-himself. Soon it was finished. There were eight main timbers, and it was completed in one year. After its long stringers had been put on they danced the house together. There are always eight songs for this. Then a stomach named xe'ca-hī'nî was soaked in water. The house was so big that a person who walked in front of it always appeared small, and, when he entered, one had to speak loudly to be heard across. This is why it was named Shadow-house.

Now all the women began to put fringed ornaments upon their ears in preparation for the feast. Anciently they wore these and had red paint upon their heads. After his guests were all seated, the chief put on the gonaqadē't dance hat, and, just before the gifts were distributed, the xe'ca-hī'nî, which was close to the door, was thrown among them. Then they gave away to the opposite phratry the things

As!ā'te ye dowasā'k" yuhî't Stūwuqā'. Wānanī'sawe yê'nd The owner thus was named the house Man-from-him- of it self.
yāndusnī'n yūhî't. Daedē'dî nas!gaducū' yatî'. agā's!î te!alē'c they began to the house. The main tim- finish bers eight were. Posts to it (all togethe
āntqēnī'tcayu layē'x yūhî't. Lēq! tā'gwayu duriyê'x. Wānanī's the people it was built the house. One year it was built in. At onee
q!ē ke kawasūs aqa'xyīdî agā'awe tc!a aodū'wakîtc. Nas!gaduct all went up its long stringers at that time they danced the house together.
5 natī'te yūcî'. Yanī'awe yuhî't Lēn ka'oduLikêl yūatyuwu'. Yanī'awe he house big was soaked for building it
duwasā'ku yuatyuwu' xe'ca-hī'nî. Yūhī'ntcayu duLisā'ku. Alē' is named the stomach water. The water it is it gets its name from.
hî'tayu yuhî't. Atcayu' yū'dîyīt nagu'tteî qa' ye gunaske'ik!ît house is that house. Why below that always walks man thus is always small yū'hît ye kugeyī'te. Ayinē'l-gagu'dînawe thus being large. Inside the house when one comes person's voice is always low [to reach across.]
Atcawe' ye udūwasā'ku Qāyahā'yî-hît.  Why thus it is named Shadow-house.
(1) Wānanī'sawe cā ctātqo'daci gokuL!ē'nx qago'kq!u wudînā'c At once the began to put on fringed ornaments on their ears started to proper for the feast.
tc!ā'gu līngî'tî tc!āgo At qagu'k qaca' lēq!. Qā'yu qoī'q!e yê Old time Tlingit old things on their for their red ears heads paint. Those invited the
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Ātxawe' q!At!ā'xt-dusî'n hīn ye dowasā'ku Xe'ca-hī'nî qaxōdē' Afterward placed close to the water thus named soaked with water people
dulî'tnute dūwuwē't yayī'q! qā'dēt. Ye dusniayu' yū'duwuwe threw it the gifts just before they distributed. Thus when they gave away the gifts

they had received from the Athapascans and their other property. These feasts were always called qlaoduwacī'. They also called out to whom the slaves should be given and gave out coppers, which were placed around inside of the house. After their guests had gone out they danced. The other side also danced, wearing raven hats, and the feast was over.

The Athapascans on their way down used to be seen when still far back from the coast. One time, as they were coming across the glacier, the chief's daughter, who was menstruant, said something to make the glacier angry. In those days a girl menstruant for the first time did not stay out of the house. They placed something heavy in front of her, and for five months she was not allowed to talk. This is the period during which a labret hole was made. It was always done when she was fasting. This girl said to the glacier, "Would that that glacier were

A'tî Q!aoduwacī' Go'nana qa qā'djīg! vetī'īya. yū'dusaîtc. [what] to the men Athapascans' things and was [in possession] always named. Gux qo'a ayu' dulē'q!. Tînnā' ts!u Gonētkanayî'djīt yē'dusnītc. gave them. To the opposite phratry Slaves however those they called out coppers also [whom they should be given to]. qā'djīt ye udu'dzîne yuhî't nēłyī' cayaka'oduwadjał a'awe qā'djî had around in they set them to the thus they gave the house the house people dātx. Yuqoī'q!î naã'dawe aodū'waL!ēx. Hē'nax Lēn yux when they they danced. big around. The guests out The other it was party went ts!u s!āxu vên hē'nax ca'owu yēł aduL!ē'xawe a'ats!u Le there had on raven hats when they were the other it was also through dancing yeyē' wuti. stopped. Dusī' wuwē't yuāngā'wu Tc!unakī'dêawe' dutī'nute Sī. His daughter the rich man's · daughter. Way back in the woods they always menstruant Aka'x yên wua'dî sît! ax k!a'na ka'origat yuwë'tadîtc. yū'gonana. those Acrossit there coming glacier after said something to the menstruant Athapascans. make it angry one. dut!ekā'yî xakā'yî Aga' Lēł utē'xq!u yuwuwe'dî cā'wat. At At that outside woman, in front of Not the menstruant sometime her thing Kīdjî'n duoxq!o'nutc. yêx doxî'ttc. dî'sayu āga' 10 At AX they always put [something heavy]. months it they always put. From someduring thing it WAS gagāwē'dîn ług!ē'datangînutcya. Yū'cāwat yā'doq!oa gax dutā'gê. she was not allowed to talk. The woman when she is this is the they are going to to make a hole in. menstruant one's mouth habitually Gā'nê yūx Cawa't qo'a yā'q!agaxētc duī'n qledutā'qtc. Woman. however, when she tasts they always make a hole [in her lip]. Outside with her out "Yîda't axī'c sît!ī'x sîtî'." Tclure' tat anaā'dawe ye yawaqa', when she was she said, "Would that my become his it would." thus father glacier going night

49438-Bull. 39-09-

my father's," and during that night it began to grow out over their new house. It extended itself far out over the town, and the people fled from it to Kaqlanuwū', where they built a new one. The Tla'q!dentān fled to and established themselves at a place just opposite.

By and by the people of Kaq!anuwū' started to Gonā'xo to make war on the Łuqā'xadî, because of a Kā'gwantān woman who had been killed. They were armed with native picks, war spears, and bows and arrows. After they had killed their enemies they discovered a woman left alone in that place, whom they eaught for a slave. She was mother of Chief Q!ayega'tqēn. Then she said to them, "For what could you use me? Up here is the wolf post belonging to my son." The wolf post had been hidden when the people fled. Letting the woman go, therefore, the Kā'gwantān warriors rushed greedily for the post, and brought it down. A man whose face had been scratched up by the

gonaye' kā'waa. Te!ule' duhē'xwa Lāgu gâwe' tc!aā'nawe during started it grew out. Then in spite of them house ye kanaë'n. Telule' yū'daliyexe hît ka'xawe yekanaē'n. Telule' it kept growing down. Then the building house over it was growing down over. yakā'waa aka'x kā'waa yū'ān Le yux kiq! awe'it grew that town then out far it was was growing the glacier. Kaq!anuwū'dawe wudikê'ı! yulīngî't Lē wuduliya'x ān saku. to Kaq!anuwū' fled those Tlingit then they built a town 5 Akeka't ts!ū aodîkê'l! T!a'q!dentān saku. Opposite it also started to flee the T!A'q!dentān for. Ada'xawe xā'djiudîgut Kag!anuwū' dax Gonā'xo dê And then [they] started to war Kaq!anuwu' from Gonā'xo it was djī'udigut Łuqā'xadî xō'dê. Kā'gwantān cā'wat wudū'wadiag Łuqā'x Adî to among. Kā'gwantān woman ayā'qlayu aka'oduwanāq. Yū'Łuqā'xadi ānî' Kā'gwantān kē't!u they went forth. The Łuqā'xadi town for that Kā'gwantān native pick, ayu' xā'djiududzigut tsāga'l! tcūnē't. Has Atsū's bows and [and] war it was with came to go to war Thev killed spears 10 yuKā'gwantān. the Kā'gwantān. sak<sup>u</sup>awe' wudū'wacāt yū'eāwat. Xate yūānqā'wo dulā' asiwe' It was his mother was the woman. the chief for was caught ye yawaqa'. "Ģêgê'naho axyī't gā's!î, gōtc gās!." Telāk" xaiakūdjta'nîn "Up here is my son's post, wolf post." Anciently liked to go to war yū'gote gās!. Wu'duĻisî'n.
the wolf post. It was hidden. Łīngî't. A'dawe dutA'n Tclure' at At it [they] had Then Wucdjîsū'xawe 15 euka'oduwagîq! yū'cāwat yuxā'tte. ka'odudzî At the woman those warriors. Rushing for it greedily . came to go Te!āku Anciently with it dueudjī'n xa'eq!o. Qā'xetkat yū'dutatgî'nudjīn. Yā'duya yū'aosînê scratching On the breast rubbing it up and down. His face the one rubscratching-sponge that people used in ancient times before starting to war reached the post first. His name was Top-spirit, and the name of the next Fish-that-comes-up-in-front-of-one's-face-and-shakes. Then they started back with it but quarreled so much over it that they began to talk of not allowing anybody to have it. When they were out from shore, however, the war-leader, whose name was Dancer, stood up wearing objects representing ears over his face and said, "Who sent out these warriors? I, a high-caste Kā'gwantān, am also a brave man." Then they started off.

At that time there were two canoe loads of Island people going along, and there was a shaman among them named Wolf-weasel, who had eight tongues. The Kā'gwantān shaman tore his canoe apart by pretending to split the water of its wake. Before they got far out it began to split. The Kā'gwantān warriors had already landed at Xuq! creek where this shaman also went ashore, and they came out behind him. His spirits' apparel was in a box in the bow.

yuxa'cq!utc a īlî' ka'olîs!AL! duya' qāeu'kat adā't wudjîxī'x. Qāeuka't the sponge it scratched up his face first to it ran. The first

qā ye dowasā'ku Qā'ka-yēk Qayā'kaoduxāt ts!u. Tc!uLe' ā'nawe At man thus was named Top-spirit Fish-that-comes-up-in-front-of-one's-face-and-shukes

wuxū'n wexā' qo'xdê. Te!usū'goa awe' wūcdjide' yaodudjigē'ye ya started the warriors to go back. Then to each other that no one would have it a'da q!aoduţiā't. Dekîna' dāq saxī'xawe gē'nax a'odihān at gū'gu about they were begin ing to talk, shore out when they got quickly the shore out got quickly to stand up [with]

duya'. Ye q!ayaqa' yuxā'-s!atî, "Adū'tsa kāwanā'yî xā'ayā?" Łē'ni [or] his said to [them] the war chief, "Who sent out these war-riors?" Dancer

yū'dowasāku yuxā'-s!Atî. "Kā'gwantān ayu' ānyê'dî xat satiyî' tūq!, was the name of the war chief. "Kā'gwantān that high caste me being into Q!ē'ga qā xat sîtî'." Te!ule' ayā'xt awe' at wuxū'n. real (i.e., man I am." Then away it was they started off,

Q!atqaā'yî dēx yāku yîkt. Îxt! ts!ū has duxo' tc!a'tuyax î'xt!awe.

Island people two canoes in. Shaman too them among just as [the had a shada shaman.

Hē'nax A'a xowu' Goteda' vū'dowasāku. yatê' Nas!gaducü' The others it was Wolf-weasel among was named. Eight Wū'cdax dua't Llū'tlê. āwas!ē'L! duyā'ku īte' hī'nî. Tcuł 10 Apart he tore his canoe by splitthe Just (or his things tongues). ting water. before

wuhā'djîawe wū'cdax wudîgā't. Ha'xete yā'naa'dawe yuxā' Xuq!-hīn they got far out apart it started to split. Ashore having already warriors Xuq! creek

yū'dowasāku yē'naxawe yên uwaqo'x yuî'xt! dūwa-u'. Tc!ule'
named ashore there came the shamans [warriors] were there.

yê'ndî yānaqo'xoawe dut!ā't awaā't yuxā'. Duyē'k daîdē'dî to it while he was coming back of him come the warriors. His spirits' apparel caka'tsa-în.

was in a box in the bow.

When the warriors rushed down upon them they soon destroyed his canoe men, but the shaman himself flew away by means of his spirits. Even now people say that a shaman can fly about. After he had flown about a certain town for some time the people told a menstruant woman to look at him. She did so, and he fell into a small lake. Then he swam under a rock, sticking up in it, leaving his buttocks protruding. To the present time this lake is red. It is his blood.

The sister and aunt of this shaman were enslaved, and the warriors also carried away his spirit box. Before they had gotten very far off, however, they stopped, untied the box, and began to handle the things in it. They took out all of the spirits (i.e., masks, whistles, etc.), and asked his sister [regarding one of them], "What is its name?" This was the chief spirit, and had a long switch of hair. "The spirit is named Hanging-down spirit," said she. Then the warrior in the bow put it on saying, "Let me be named Hanging-down spirit."

ye yatî' wē'tatî. Duī'waq q!aodū'waqa. Lēl uga' yua' aka'q!awe thus was a menstruant woman. Her eyes they told her to put on him. Not for it the lake there

5 wudzigī't aka'nax. Nacū'ta atā'ye da wuq!ā'k tca tā'ye na'xawe he came to fall into it. Rock stick under it he swam right from under ing up

uy A'x y Atê' y ū'a. Ducīyī'tc y ē'sête.
like it is the lake. His blood it is.

Yuî'xt! duṇā'k! wuduṇcā't. Durā'k! ts!u ān uduṇcā't. Durā'k!

The shaman his sister was enslaved. His aunt also with they took caphrel tive. Her brother's

10 awuA'tdjî awe' yên odudziya', qa ka'oduwakeL!ayī' at kaoduwak!A't they got when there they came to and untying it things they meddled with rest,

Aka'q! aduwū's! duĻā'k! yuqō'k<sup>u</sup>. Yuxā'tc ke ka'ndudjîł yuyē'k. [in] the box. The warriors out took all the spirits. For it they asked his sister Ak!at!ū'dêsatī'n "Wasa' duwasā'k"" Lax yēk kînā'qlawe ye yatî'. "What is the name?" Very spirit head of it was. Was half added on yayē'k," yū'yaodudzîqa yucā'wat. vute!ī'n. "Wā'sA duwasā'ku is the name of this spirit," was what they said to this woman. the hair switch. "What "Kî'daxgalcū' awe' yū'awasa yuyē'k." Xā cakahā'didjawe cāx olicā't.
"Hanging-down it is named the spirit." The in the bow put it on.
[spirit] warrior [spirit]

15 "Xat yex at naxdusa'k" Kîda'xgalcu." Yūt wudu'wagoge yaxawe'
"Me like it some-let me be called Hanging-down thing Spirit."

Out (or he had been pushed like it cown)

Immediately he fell down as if he had been knocked over. He ceased to breathe. Another put it on. "Let me be named Hanging-down spirit," he said. All of those who put this on were destroyed. One, however, stood up, made a noise, and ran off. To this day his (the shaman's) spirit has not ceased killing.

After the other warriors had returned to Kaqlanuwū', they determined to erect a house. They were the old Kā'gwantān who were going to put it up. So they sharpened the jadite which they used in chopping and went out. On account of the house timbers the owner of that house fasted for four days. After they had chopped for one month it was finished, and the chief went outside and spoke to all the people. In the morning those of the opposite phratry went out in ten canoes to push the timbers down. They paddled across singing, and brought all of them in, and they left them on the beach overnight.

wū'nî yuqā'. Tc!ule' hūtc! dudāsē'gu. Ts!u go'naate cāx wullcā't.

was that man. Then ended he breathed (or had sense). Also another one on his head

"Me Hanging-down spirit let me be named." Ada'xayu qot cū'waxīx "Me Hanging-down spirit let me be named." And then destroyed were all quickly

yu'at-cāx-ye'iLca'tdjî yēk tc!ī'ne. Lē'nax ā'yîna uwahā'n A'lāx tîn those putting on his spirit's switch. One of them up stood making with a noise

yut wudjixī'x. Tc!ū yīda't Lēł qot kē uxî'xte duyē'gīte duya'x away ran. Even now not ever gets lost his spirit for him qoyawadjā'gê.

killing off.

Yuxā' qo'a de'a anî'de yā'wagu, Kaq!anuwū'dî. De gux The war- however, now home went, to Kaq!anuwû'. Now they

duliyē'x yuhî't. Tc!āku a'ye Kā'gwantāntcayu gux layē'x yuhî't. were going the house. The old [phratry] of Ka'gwantān it was were going to build the house.

ka'oduwagās!. Yāku hît daedē'dī sa'kugwa ās slā'te saku qo'a awe' they went out. Canoe house timbers for tree owner of for, however, daqlū'n qlē'waxe. Lēq! dî'sawe ayā'nax wudū'waxot! yênī'awe yux 1() four days fasted. One month it was during it was chopped and when it was outside ready

Djînkā't yāk<sup>u</sup> at Ts!utā'dawe at wuxū'n djaldaka't yū'āntqenî. started off all the people. Ten In the morning anî' yā'wagu yū'āntgenî vū'ās āx î'qdî gux dutsuya'. place from it down were going to the people the tree they push them.

ka'oduwadjêł yuhî't Lēn dāîdī' saku. Yāku kācī'yi kat doxā' they brought them the house big timbers for. Canoes singing on across paddled yū'gonetkanayī'tc. Ān egayā't doxā'tcawe ēqq! uwaxe'. Łdaka't 15 the opposite phratry. The town down to when they brought beach one night.

5

In the morning they were invited for tobacco. There was no white leaf tobacco in those days. Then mortars were brought out so that the part of the house near the door was covered with them. The tobacco was chewed, a liquid was poured over it, and it was mixed with powdered shells. After that the names of those of the opposite phratry to whom balls of tobacco were to be given, were called out, for they did not have any pipes at that time. Those who had received the tobacco prepared to dance, and those who owned emblem hats, as the raven or the whale, wore them. Now they started to carry up the house timbers for the first of the houses of the Kā'gwantān chiefs. They carved the wolf posts and finished the entire house in one year. It was named Wolf house from its posts.

When the house was completed a man went to Chilkat to invite the Gānaxte'dî, to Sitka for the Kîksa'dî, and to Killisnoo for the Dē'citān.

yū'āntqenî awa' wuduwaī'q! yū'ās axā'djî. Lēl Ļēt qagA'ndjî qōstî'.

the people it was were invited the tree those towing. Not white leaf tobaeco was. yū'taq!āyēt. ka'oduwadjêł Yu'q!ot!āq! nax yên Out they brought The door it started to the mortars. close to there be covered. dutā'q! wuduLelu'q!. Kats! atū'de nax dutī'n. Kadōna' There it was ehewed a liquid was poured Powdered into it was put. They called LA'ng!îtdjīdî'. Qo'a yū'wac-at Łingî't Lēł wudusku' s!aqdakī't. the round balls Tlingit giving them. Not was known about the tobacco of tobacco 5 yux Anaā'dawe L!ēx ka'odūwanA yū'gonētqana'etc. Yū'gante out when they were they ealled out the names and going gave balls away to the opposite people (i. e., Eagles). The leaf tobacco awata'q!e aawe' a a'qgwal!ē'x. Ālē'n cā'wahîk yūhî't. a'xo-a atū' those chewed those were who were going to dance. the one to dance. The one to dance. duca' yēł s!āxu, yā'î s!āxu. s!ātq!yê'n qodzîte' yū'Atū. De At wore raven hats, whale hats. Things owners of used those emblems. Now dusni' yūhî't daîdedī'. Kā'gwantān da'qde ye gax cagū'nayu thus they were going to the house timbers. Kā'gwantān head of (in remembrance of what they had done) tc!ākuā'yî gonētqanā'yî. ānqā'q!uayu hît a gux layē'x the oldest chiefs it was house it was were going to build the opposite tribe. Yugā's! kaxdutī't. ·10 kaodu'waqā. Yū'gōtc gā's!ayu kaxdutī' qaa'dī told them to do it. The posts they carved. The wolf post it was they carved their own [possession] saku. Tc!ule' wuduliya'x yuhî't. Lēq! tāk yanū'wanî. Le asāyî'x was made the house. One year it was finished in. Then name was Ģās! yayē' wuti'. Gōtc-hît. wusite' they were on. Wolf house. Posts Yenī'awe Djîlqā't dê kōgā'nagudî wugū't. Tclutclā'ku yūGānaxte'dî to going after the [a man] the Ganaxte'dî When it was Chilkat A long time finished guests went. Cī't!ka tslu yū'dowasāk<sup>u</sup> na aga' wugu't. qoan agā' awagu't

tribe for it

he went.

Sitka

people

for it

They were going to invite all of them besides the T!A'q!dentān into this house. Since then inviting back and forth has been going on. The guests kept coming out from the nearest point to the town site to look at the new house. The drums made a great noise there continually. After they had spent one night close to the town they came in quickly, dancing and singing. Inside, the town people began to dress themselves to dance before their guests. They went into the water, wearing Chilkat and marten-skin blankets. After that the owner of Wolf house went out and made a speech.

On the point at Kaq!anuwū' is a place named Slaves'-valley. Their slaves always a came from far to the south. Then the owner of this house killed four slaves for his guests, while the next in rank killed two slaves, and the whole number killed at that time was ten. After they had killed them they threw their bodies down into this valley. There two of them came to life, and one, getting up, opened and

Kîksa'dî, Xutsnū'wada qoan ts!u, Dē'citān. Lēq! hî'tayu a'yîde ye Kiksa'di, Killisnoo people also, Dē'citān. One house was into it they qoga'xduīq! T!a'q!dentān. Tc!uLe' atxā'ya ye yanagu't ya kīngî't-ā'nî were going to [ineluding the] Then since then thus it has been going on in this world going on in the state of the state of

to qoa'nî wuctaī'q!. Le at!ā'kultenî' ān yaogā's!te yūhî't gax dustī'n.

people invite each other. Then coming out from town a point to the house that they may see.

Ī'dayu qā'yayîk dua'xdjînute yū'andê L!uwū'gaoq!. Tlā wuduwaxa'

Around alwaysmake a big noise in the town the drums.

After they went out them

yuqoī'q!ê. Tc!u Lēq! tāt ka'dayu ān tuwanyī't yāwagū'. Ān the guests. Just one night they stayed town right close to they came. Town egayā'dî yā'nasxix. Cîka't aduL!ē'x. Ayî'q! Lākuānāyî' qoī'q!î below they came ashore, With songs they danced. Inside the town people guests

ctāt qodici' aL!ē'x yîs. Nāxē'n Anā'q qa k!ūx hīnx wu'At commenced to dress dancing before for. Chilkat blanket wearing and marten into the skin water blanket

yual!ē'xeyī'yî. Yanī'yaniwe yū'gotc hît s!ātê' yux q!ē'watān.

When they were on the wolf house owner of outside went and spoke.

the shore

Kaq!anuwū' a'lukwa ye duwasā'ku Gūx-q!aga'k!a. Yūîxkī'dax
Kaq!anuwū' on the point of thus [is a place] Slaves'-valley. From far down [south]

dus!na'xtīn Līngî't ā'awe qa'djî ya'natidjīn.. Yū'hît s!ātī'djawe 10
went Tlingit those people they always were. The house owner of was
daq!ū'n uwadja'q yugū'x yuqoī'q!e dāq!. Yū'q!āk yî'kde tc!ule'
four killed the slaves the guests for. The small valley down in then
dāk cā'dutītc. Ts!u du'niya de'a dēx gūx ā'wadjaq. Djînkā't

dāk cā'dutītc. Tslu du'niya de'a dēx gūx ā'wadjaq. Djînkā't out they always threw Next was ordered now two slaves killed. Ten

wudū'wadjaq yū'gūx. Da'xanax gū'xawe aq! qox wudia't started to slaves. Two slaves there to life started to come

a" Usually" would be truer.

closed his fingers to the people sitting on the hill. From that time the place was named Slaves'-valley by the Kā'gwantān.

By and by they began to feed their guests. The people of all this world were there. The one who had invited them began to dress himself. Even now this part of the feast is named All-arisen [to attend to the feast]. They put on their abalone shells, Indian paint, and eagle feathers on their heads, and the women ear pendants. By and by the headman was told to start his song. This man always said, "All right, you are ready, my outside shell." He wore a blanket which had been kept laid away in a box and all the other things that his dead predecessor had worn. His wife also had her blanket secured around her waist. He always handed out his moose skins to the people. The chief always distributed for the dead.

After all the blankets had been brought out, they were taken up one at a time, and the names of those who were to receive called out, beginning with the guest highest in rank. When one's name was

yū'q!āk tāq!. Telule' teaodanugū'awe gē'gwal!iawate yu-dekī'tnaq. he opened and closed to those standing the valley Then when one of them got up his fingers on the hill. tcluā'txawe dowasā'ku Kā'gwantānq!ē xō'dê ve yū'L!Atk Kā'gwantān among from that very time thus the place Gux-q!ā'gak!. Slave-valley. Lēq! ānî' qoxe' awe' yaodu'dzîdaq qoī'q!ê. Łdaka't yalī'ngît-ā'nî town they were when they come to feed the guests. this world qoa'nî at ya'odîha. -ayu′ YūL!a'tk ada'xayu ctāt ka'odicî inside people there were. began to dress himself it was The town from in "Wudū'wanāq" yu'-tut-qowaī'q!īya. dowasa'ku tc!ūyeda't. ve "All got up" [to attend to feast] the one who invited the thus is named even now. guests. Dasaqā'da qo'a gokuLlē'nxu gunxa' qā lē'q!aya cā qa q!oaL! They put on their things, abalone the however, ear pendants and Indian paint and feathers women, shells, Wanani'sayu' acā'de-hā'nî "Güc waē'tc qā'ca. q!ē'cukandoqetc. on their All at once the head man (at was told to start his song. you heads. head standing) right. dā'nayiti" "Axdakanū'q!uq!aya'xa." Yutelä'ku yū'yanaqetc, was what he always said "my outside shell." are ready." A long time 10 dunā'waq!ūu qoūłsî'ktc. Yū'aslātê At yi'yanuaxtc. Duca't always kept laid away in a box. he had on [a blanket] His wife always tied up [her The owner blanket round her waist]. wūnā' wuq!ū' qo'a wudaq!ū'tc. Qā'djīt acu'āxtc yutsî'sk! wā'sa wore, however, he always wore. To people he always the moose what handed out skins asdjī'yakugue. Aya'xawe udjā'qtc. For them (the he always killed dead) (i.e., distributed) (i. e., distributed). qax dudjî'lînawe Yuqoī'q!e xōq! dãk aqdoa'xtc. Yuqoī'q!e after they had taken all they always take up one at a time. among out "Hade" yū'yanaqetc. Djîldaka't yuqoī'qle cā'de-hānî duī't dulū'tc. head man to him always "This way" was what he the guests [among] gave it. always said.

ealled he rose and said, "Hade'" ("This way"). The chief's property was sufficient for all of his guests. Whoever had slaves gave them away as well. When they began to give his property away the giver stood near the door with a baton in his hand. At that time there were no white men's things, the guests being invited for Indian articles only. After all of his property had been distributed the chief made a speech, and the people took their things home. In the morning the guests received all of the dishes, spoons, baskets, etc., and they thanked their host by leaving a dance. Afterward all of the guests returned to their homes.

Now all the people lived inside of this big house, Wolf house. The young fellows were in the habit of racing one another when they went to cut firewood with their stone axes. They called it "Stone-axtaken-in-canoe." The party that had been beaten became angry, and when they were eating grease together they pushed the fire over upon those who had left them behind. Their opponents did the same

```
xogā' yaqā'wagî doa'tî adū'sa gūx dutcīyē'yatî yū'duĻiēk.
                                                                             Tc!ule'
         was enough his things who slaves
                                                               that is given away.
                                                                                Then
                                                   has
among
yā'q!atlāq
                        awe'
                                  yaa'tgainte,
                                                     wutsā'ga
                                                                   ha'sdutcīyē'yatî
                nax
              from near it was when they started giv-
ing his things away
                                                                      had in his hand
                                                       a cane
                                qā a'ti qō'stî.
vū-has-at-ī'nî.
                     ьēł
                         Ļēt
                                                       Tslas Łīngî't a'dî
                                                                                awe',
the one giving them things.
                     Not white men's things were any.
                                                        Only
                                                                Tlingit
                                                                        things
                                                                                there
                                                                                 were
ayî's
        wucdui'q!anutc.
                                Wānanī'sawe
                                                    qla'oduwatān
                                                                         yuqā'
                                                                                  ∧′dî
         guests always used to be invited.
                                     Atonce
                                                                        the man
                                                                                   hie
                                                          spoke
                                                                                 things
hūtc!gîxaliyē'x.
                       An
                              yux
                                     ·ā'waāt
                                                 yū'hasdułaūq!u.
                                                                        Tslutā'tawe
                       With
when he was through
                               out
                                     they went
                                                      their gifts.
                                                                         In the morning
     with all.
                      them
                Łdaka't-at tîn cał kaku
wuduLikī'tc.
                                                      qa ldaka't-at qoī'q!edjīt
all [their dishes]
                   All things
                                with spoons, baskets, and everything
were given away.
                  Qadjī't
                                                                         ctogā'datê.
     dusnîte.
                             At kadjī'lawe L!ēx wudu'dzît!e
                                   were given
when away
                                                 danee
                                                                            by way of
      they gave away.
                    To the
                            things
                                                       was left for him
thus
                    people
Łdaka't qox ya'odigu yuqoiq!e
                             the guests to their homes.
                    went
  atxā'we ayē' wudū'wa-u yuhî't Lēn ldaka't qātc. Gōtc-hît yū'duwasa.
   After that inside
                                                              Wolf house it was named.
                      lived
                                  the
                                         big
                                                ali
                                                       the
                                                      people.
             of it
                                  house
Ada'x wūdj kīgî' kanduga's!te at
                                              sanāyî' tāyī's tîn.
                                                                        Tclure' ye 10
After that together
                      they always raced things
                                               going
after
                                                         native
                                                                 with.
                                                                                   thus
                                                         axes
dowasā'ku
                De'yax tāyī's-ā'watê.
                                                Wānānī'sawe
                                                                                wūtî′
                                                                    gātū'n
                  "Stone-ax-taken-in-canoe."
                                                    At once
                                                                    angry
                                                                                  got
vū'vuduLîL!î'tkîatc.
                           Wū'djkīq!awe
                                                                yū'ēx
                                                                          k!îsā'nîtc.
                                                doxā'nate
  the canoe left behind.
                                Together
                                                                            the young
                                                 always ate
                                                             - the grease
Wānānī'sawe yūyuqo'lî-L!î'tkia xōde'awe ke yaka'oduĻîtaq yūq!ā'n.

At once the side that left among it over was pushed the fire.
                    the side that left
them behind
```

Telule' ayā'q! At wū'nî. Axodê' ke ayaka'oduļitaq yu-lîqlā'ni-xūtsī.

they pushed

in re- some- was done Among over turn thing like it. them

thing. They did not have any shirts on. The chiefs, however, were sitting on top of the retaining timbers and had nothing to do with this. It was all done by their nephews. This thing never was forgotten, although now people do not kill one another. They threw fire at one another. Finally, however, one of the cohoes people, whose house was behind this, ran down bearing the raven hat, and made a noise like the raven. "Çā," he said. Because they heard this raven they did not kill one another.

This is what caused all the trouble. We are called Burnt-house people, because the timbers of that house caught fire and were burned, and for this reason the people moved out of it and built other houses in the same place. Afterward some of the Burnt-house people moved to this place (Sitka). Because we are their descendants we are here also. They continue to be here because we occupy their places.

Łēł k!ūda's! kāka'. Łīngî't Lanq! qo'a taq! cakī' ke uwaqe'. ьēł how- retaining on top up Tlingit great ones (=chiefs), shirts they had Not ever. planks yuanqā'q!utc. Qo'a ts!as duxā'q!uawe ye quwanu'q. ьēł touched (=had the chiefs. But only their nephews thus were doing it. anything to do with) që'uxīxtc yūade' At wūnī'yiyA. it got lost what happened was like that. Tc!ūyeda't Lēl qo'a wudi qut Even now not, however, they Tc!ayā' dateū'nawe wūdj xōdê' yaoduĻîgê'te yuq!ā'n. among kill each other. Like it, however, they threw one another 5 pluknaxā'dîdjīqlawe ye yatî' yēl slāxu. at!ā't łaā' hasduhî'tî. An have raven Back of it was their house. With it Cohoes people hat. "Ģā," yū'yawaqa. Aka'oduwaax yū'yēl. ā'yeq awagu't. Atc Let He made noise of the raven. "Gā" he said. wūdj wududjā'q yēł aka' wudū'axētc. Atcawe' ayī'tx yux wu'ligās!. (because) they raven on it always was heard. That is why from down out they moved, killed in [the house] Tc!ule' hîtq! wuduliyê'x tc!ū Aq!. they built right there. houses Ataya' Yū'hît wułq!ā'netc. at cū'wanî. aqa'xyedî A'tcaya This is what caused all the The house main beams got on fire. [trouble]. 10 Kā'gwantān yū'haduwasāku. Yuhî't qa'xyedî kawugānē'tc. Adjawe' Burnt-house we are called. The house were burned. This is why people Hîtq! yūx ka'oduwadjêł. yaqā'wagê Kaq!anuwū'q!. At ye Houses (thereout things they took. there are at Kaq!anuwū'. fore) many yā'de a'oligās!. Kā'gwantān yāt wudū'wau. Ayîde' atxawe' to this place some moved. (i.e., Sitka) Their children **Burnt-house** lived. This is here (or descendants) qotu'stiyī'djaya yāq! ye hā'yate ōhā'n ts!u.
because we are here thus we are we also. atcē'ya yīda't tc!u This is why now ye yanagu't ya'yedat. a-ite' qotustēyī'tc. it goes on [because] now in place of them

# 105. STORY OF THE KÂ'CK!E QOAN a

Ltaxda'x was dead. He had a valuable copper, and he also had a dish named Ts!anatlū'k!. When he was dead they took his property out. Those of the house in which these people lived who obtained the dish got into trouble over it. Whoever had a sister told her to go with him. "Let us go to some other place," he said. The people that went away were from that side of the house from which the dish was taken away. They were sad on that account. Probably they numbered about forty. They said, "Let us go straight for that mountain." Whoever had three brothers took them along to carry things for him. After that they came out under the brow of the big mountain. On the way they dressed themselves in their fine clothing, some in weaselskin coats, some in marten-skin coats, and they wore hats also because

Adu'dji ye yatî' yutînna' q!alitsī'n, qa yus!î'q! Łtaxda'x wūna'. His a copper expensive, and the dish Łtaxda'x was dead. was ts!u du'dji ye yatî' Ts!anat!ū'k!. Nanā'awe dua'di dāq ye udu'dzînî. [named] Ts:AnAt!ŭ'k!. When he was dead had his out they came to take. things Yuq!alîtsī'nîya yus!î'q! yu'a-adjide' anudjîxê'n Lēq! anē'l qoa'nî Was expensive the dish the [side] that got it one [house] in people wucka'oduwaxîL!. Adū'sa dulā'k! qodzite' avu' aayu' adā'x got into trouble. Whoever those from it "Gude' nax tuā'de tcagūde'sa." agātsā'îtc. Yulē'q! hît ye qo-u' "To some away let us go thither." The one house with him. place aya' akē'kdax ayu' ā'waāt hē'nax āde' yên wucxenī'tc yus!î'q!. these from one side that went away on the then there was taken away the dish. other side Qā tuwunū'gu tcayu' ye at wunî'. Guł dag!ū'ndjînkadī'nax ayu' And they were sorry because so they did. Probably about forty "Tc!a kā'yaAqgaā'dê." yū'ca qō'wate, ve q!ayadoqa', Adū'sa "Right that mounlet us go to." Whoever thus they said, dukī'k-has tc!u na's!genax tī'yî Le du'ndayayî nastī'tc. Atxawe' · three were then to carry for him always took. After that ā'waat yū'ca Lēn. Qā naa'dî k!îdē'n 10 nax āna'x aq!eyī't they came to the mountain from it big. And below it going yên wudu'dzînî axō'a dā kluda's! axō'a klūx-kluda's!. atū't they prepared [their elothes] Wearing among weasel coats among them marten coats. them them weda' caya'odaha qonga'nādayu s!āxu tslu. Ada'x sîte' Lēł aye' because they wanted hats also. to die, From it was away not came away

a This story was told by a man named Q!a'dustin, who belongs to the same family, and therefore contains some of the peculiarities of Yakutat speech.

they wanted to die wearing them. Not very many came away. Many more stayed up there than came out. When they got up to the foot of the mountain they came together to talk over where they should pass through. They came to a place where there were many ground squirrels, which they clubbed. This is why it became foggy. They lost one another in it, and some of them disappeared. It was the fog that they got lost in. Then they let them (those who had disappeared) go. After that they made good headway toward the place whither they were bound. There appeared no place to get through. The mountain seemed to be very close to them.

By and by they came to the very foot of the mountain. There was no place where they could get through. But through the northern part of the mountain passed a glacier, and they went up that way toward the top. They thought that they were all going to die off when they reached the top. They did not come to the highest summit of the mountain, however. Then they put on all of their best clothing for good. They stayed there perhaps five days. They were

wutī'yia. Yū'daq ka cayadîhē'n qo'a āx dāq ū'waadîa. Yucā'q!ayit!
many. Up there were many more than from it out they started to the mountain

aā'dawe wucdā't duna'q ada'yūq! adulîa'tk ana'x aya'kugwaat.
when they together they came about it began to talk through what they should go.

[place]

Aawe' wududzîtī'n ye aokagaye tsakk Le aca'odowaxêct. Aa'sewe In the place they came to find thus were many ground some of they clubbed. This is why

aq!awe' tsa wudjîtē'x aya'odulîgên. gakā' kaolîgwa's!. Le Then each other was made. there right they missed. Then 5 gwâya'ł aqō'stê. Yū'qogās! tū'q!wasiyu qot wū'āt. Le de has there was some gone. Sie The fog in that it was they got lost. Then wuduĻîL!ī't yuqogā's! tūq! qot has wuadī'djayu. Le ade' the fog let them go into lost they because got. Then where Lēł ana'x awugā'adiya qōstê'. Tc!ayu' Lī'ya wuduĻîtsī'n yā'naat. they made strong where they headway were going. Not through it a place to go there was. close to

A'sîwe Atx dudjī'x. it was it appeared.

Wananī'sawe q!ē'ga yū'cā k!ī'yīt āwaA't. Lēl AnA'x awugā'adiyA
At once truly the mountothe foot of they came. Not through where they could it get

10 qō'stî. Lēk!-yAtī'yiyA ko'saat inā'nAx a anA'xawe sît! wūcu'.

Where was no way to go through it an ice ridge went (glacier) wert.

Ana'xawe acakī' ke āwaa't. Le kakugwanā'ayu yū'qāttu wua'tî
That way toward top up they went. Then they were going to die they thought'
off

qā'na-A'dî-nādeye' wudu'dzînî. Gul kidjî'ngiyu āqo'uxe. Awe' all their best things they put on. Probably for five days they stayed there.

now going to start on singing the song that they had sung when they left home. The morning of the day after they started away. And they started the song they used to sing up on Copper river. At that time they wore nose pins. When they were about to start from that place they put on weasel hats and coats. All mourned together over the friends they had left behind and over those who had been lost in the fog. When they were through mourning they arose and started off.

The Athapascans did not know about the sea, and they called one another together. They said, "What is that so very blue?" They said, "Let us go down to it. We have saved ourselves," they said. Coming to the lower end of the glacier, they traveled very fast down to the sea. They crossed a river boiling out from under the mountain and almost as large as Copper river. They went down to the sea alongside of the big river. Afterward they stayed down there at the

Aka't kaosîdā'gea cî awe' aka't gonaye' Aqgwaā't. Atx qē'naa away from they started song that on it to start away they were After that day it was other) went

ts!utā'dawe āx gonaye' āwaa't. Le kē kaodūwacî', Yū'ēq-hē'nî copper river

Agāawe'tsa qāka'q! yax wudjîxê'n tuwunū'k, yuna'q awaā'de a there like together they all mourned, behind these they left qaxō'nq'lî.

Dadê' kaayu' qogā's! tuq! qot wuade' adadē'ayu. Yên And about those fog in were lost about them. There gāx dustī' awe' tsa āx wudū'wanāq. Ģonaye' āwaa't.

mourne was then indeed from it they got up. Starting they went.

Lēł wudusku' yuē'L! qostiyiye' yū'gonanate. Le yatī'yi yēq!
Not knew the sca water there was the Athapascans. Then there being there
wudjxa'ndî wūcduxo'x. Ye wucdā'yadoqa, "Dāsayu' Lax ye s!u
together they called. As follows they said, "What is it very so blue
yax yatî'. K!e yên kax dusnū'ku," Le yūqoyā'waqa. 10

is? Well there out to we go," then they said.

"Dê cwutudzînē'x," ye wucdā'yadoqa. Yusî't!qanax ēq nax
"Now we have saved ourselves," so they said to one another. From the glacier beach [at on lower end]

aya'agaā't aya'xawe Le Lāku awaā't yuē'l! yā'xdê. Le Akā'nax and below it like it very fast they went the sea down to. Then across it water

yā'waāt yuhī'n Lēn yuca' tayina'x wuduwaqo'q, Lēl unala' they got a river large a mountain from underneath was boiling, not (scarcely)

Eq-hī'nî yax qogë'yî. Le ël! yā'xe yaā'waāt wehī'n lēn yā'xnax. Copperriver like was larger. Then sea down to they came the river big alongside.

Atxawe' Le ā'yēq uwate' wehī'n yāx. Tclule' qaa'dîx wusite' 15

After it then down there they stayed the river at mouth Then the first thing they did

mouth of that river. The first thing they did there was to claim the big mountain [as a crest], because they were the first to pass through it. When winter began to come on they built a house beside the river. They named it Mountain house because they had nearly lost their lives on that mountain. This is why they so named it. They stayed right there in that house, and the settlement grew into a town.

Then the Cā'dadūx a grew strong. They were the ones who built Mountain house. After they had been there ten years one person began living away from town in order to make the frame of a skin boat.

A woman named K!wâdē'łta reared a young sea gull. The sea gull did not grow large. All at once she did something to it that made it grow as large as an eagle. It began to grow big. Now it was almost as large as a house. When it got large she wanted to take it among her playmates. Her brothers, however, wanted to kill it. When she was playing with it the sea gull swam out of the mouth of the river. She also disappeared. She started after it. They used the song that

yū'ca Lēn cuq!ā'nax adā't ā'wuadī'djayu. Tā'kudê yakogwaha'awe
the big (to claim) on it because they were the first who eame.

hît wuduṭîya'x yuhī'n yāxq!we wuduṭiya'xe. Hît ya'oduwasa

house they made the river alongside they made. House they named cā hît akāyî'x qōna'x satīyī'n. Atcawe' ye wūdūwasa'. Lede' tc!a Moun-house about it they nearly lost their This is why so they named it. There right tain

Cā'dadūx-has wulîtsī'n. Hasdjawe' awu'lîyax weCahî't. has The Cā'dadūx (pl.) grew strong. It was they they built Mountain house. awe' Lēq! atī'yia dāk aya'odîhan Djî'nkāt tāk ayē' has nati' in it they when one being (person) out started to live by years were

djaqo'x atuxā'gî ye agoxsanî'.

skin boat frame of it so he was going to fix.

K!wâdē'lta hutcawe' aosiwa't yukē'ladi ya'tî. Lēl ulgē'x kē'ladî.

K!wâdē'lta itwasshewho reared a sea gull young. Not got big sea gull.

Wā'saqcū'yu aosî'nî desgwa'tc teāk! aya'x yakunalgê'n. Desgwa'tc
What all at once she did already eagle like it it began to be as big as.

10 alē'nx sîtî' gul yū'hît yā'nax yakunalgê'n. Desgwa'tc it became large almost a house like was as big as. Already la lige' yukē'ladî qosūk!xō'dê aqsanu'ktc. Duī'k!-hastc qo'a then got large the sea gull among her playmates she would always take it.

gadjā'get has ayahe'. Ān wuade'ayu kosîk!ō'dêtīt ū'dākuwaho' to kill it they wanted. With it when she was out of the mouth of swam playing the river

yukē'Ļadî. Hu ts!u Le aya'x wūna' atxawe' duīticîyî' ka'odzîte.
the sea gull. She also then out went afterward after it started to go.

a This seems to have been the ancient name of the family.

they came out with over her. The song is a hard one, having all kinds of notes.

Then the man sent off six of his nephews. He told them to go along shore in the canoe he had made, to search for people. When the weather was very good they started off. They came down this way to a place opposite Yakutat. There they discovered culachon and a fish called k!ā'gan. These were in a creek. They put a small net into it to catch the eulachon, and they put the k!ā'gan into a small cooking basket while they were still alive. They offended them, however, by laughing at them. Just as day broke they started off. When they got out on the sea there came up a south wind, so that they could not go anywhere. They came right back to their starting point, and their skin canoe was broken. One of them went under it and was killed. They stayed there. Probably they were there for twenty-one days. Then the weather became fair. Meanwhile they

Kîtedā'cîyî'x sîtî' yū'akat-dāk-ā'waadî a. Yā'nax latsī'nden yucu'k Beginning song they did the one they came out with. The song is a hard one dulxo'xgunutc. having all kinds of notes.

Le dūcū'nax duqē'lk!î-has akā'wana. Qongacī't yudjaqo'x yît
Then six [of] bis nephews he sent. He told them the canoe in
yu-yên-aolîya'xê līngî'tgaayu' has qoggwacî'. Lax wâ qoguk!ē'sawe
the [canoe] he had for people they should hunt. Very when it got to be
good weather

gonaye' has uwaqo'x. Hānā'yînadê' yat!ā'k ye dowasā'ku Yā'kudāt started they went off. Coming down this they came thus called Yakutat

kika'. Ana'xawe yên has uwaqo'x. aq!awe' aka'x has qōwacî' to. After that there they came. At it in it they discovered wesā'k k!ā'gan ts!u. Hīn yîkt ya'osîa. Kāt ye has aosî'nî yusā'k eulachon (and a fish also. Creek down there were. In it thus they put [a eulachon small net]

an has agustā'kt. Kaku ka'q!awe yên has aofixa'n te!u with them to catch. Small cooking into there they put still

kā'wusxā'de yuk!ā'gan. Aawe' axgana has kaoLîga't has a'cugōtc. they were alive the k!a'gan. This was the thing they said something they said something they were laughwrong to cause] they

Tcluye' kotiye'awe has at wuxū'n. Le dekī'dāk has naqō'xo 10

Just as day was breaking they started off. Then out on the sea they got (when)

aya'odîti da'qdî kasā'nax. Lēł gudē'sa has wuqo'x. Tcla ā'nax

there came up a wind from the south.

Not anywhere they went. Right back to [their starting point]

uwaqo'x. Hasdu-djaqo'x-yago kāwawa'L!. Lê'nax yên has came. Their skin canoe was broken. One of them yatī'yia djaqo'x tayē'x wudzîgī't. Wūna'. Le ā has yawasî'kde. there was theskin canoe under went. He was dead. There they Guł Leqā'yegeye qa Lēq! ayî's wute'. Yā'q!awe hasdukā' awadā'q. Prob- twenty [days] and one for it they stayed. There on them

lived upon k!ā'gan and eulachon. When it was good weather they again started off.

At that time the people got over to Yakutat. There were many people in the town, some called Kosk!ē'dî, some L!uq!oe'dî, who refused to let them remain, though they told them truly how they had come out from behind the mountain. They were there for some time. Then they started back to their own place. They came again to the place where their canoe had been broken and remained there for one night. Again they went out. They spent the night in their canoe. Then they came ashore. When they reached the foot of the big mountain they were told that a little girl had been given the name of the woman who followed the sea gull out.

This little girl went out to dig roots and dug up a red thing. The thing she dug up was quite long. So they made this into a dish like the one that had been taken away from them. After this dish had been finished they beat the drums for the girl who had followed out

ts!u go'na acā'yadax dāk has uwaqo'x.

Te!a' agā'awe ts!aas ayā'walāk Yakudā't. Alē'n ānqē'nî gâ'ya
At that time only they got over to Yakutat. Many people in it
ayē' yatî' yū'ān, Kosk!ē'dî yū'adowasāk, L!ūq!oe'dî yū'adowasāk.
were the town Kosk!ē'dî some were called, L!ūq!oe'dî some were called.

5 Ax has ka'odudjîk!an djusu'ga. Te!a ayê'x has Akanī'k yucat!ē'nax
From they refused to let them there. Right like it they told from behind the
mountain

dāk has wū'ade. Ā' hasta ās tc!āk" aye' has wutê'. Yā'q!awe out they had come. Some there they were. To their place

ts!u qo'xde has at wudixū'n. Ts!u we'aq! hasduyā'go kawuwâ'l!

again going they started. Again at it their canoe was broken

yē'naxawe yên has uwaqo'x. Lēq! has uwaxe'. Atxawe' ts!u dāk

one they stayed from it again out

night]

has uwaqo'x. Yāku kā has uwaxe'. Atxawe' tsās a'nax yên has they went. Canoe on they stayed. After it (ashore at it) there they 10 uwaqo'x. At has qō'xawe yū'ca Lēn sēyî' ye has duī'n kadunī'k came. At they came the big at the so to them they told it

yukē'ıadî dāk acū'yawus hū'wua de kaya'oduwasa ca atk!a'tsk!".

the sea-gull out followed after her was named [another] woman woman

Yaq! xāt las!ē't.! wugū'de yū'ca at-k!a'tsk!u q!āna'x-yātī'yiat ke
There roots to scratch went out the little girl red thing up
of trees up

aka'osîha. Ye'awa kuwā't! A yū-ke-aka'osîha'ye-At. Layu' yu-qādjī'txdug. It was quite long the thing she dug up. Then the thing that was
wudutā'nea Le aya'xawe wuduLiya'x yus!î'q!. Atxawe' yên
taken away
from them

the mountain

49438-Bull, 39-09-23

the sea gull. At that time a song was composed in remembrance of her. The people remained there one year after the six men had gotten back. Then the ninth month was beginning to come on. At that time a skin canoe came in sight from the direction of Copper river. It was bound southward. The people were called in, and they came ashore there. These were Kā'gwantān from the mouth of Copper river. They called them into the house and gave them food.

After they had fed them six brothers went hunting with dogs, and the youngest killed nothing. They always put up a great quantity of food, and carried it around with them. By and by all rushed after mountain sheep on top of the mountains. Their brother-in-law also went along with them. One of them (the youngest) in chasing the mountain sheep went astray in front of a cliff. It was toward evening. He was shaking all over. When it was almost evening the mountain sheep rushed toward him. Their leader went to him and

```
gā'wu
              yus!î'q!
wududzîni'
                        du-itī'q!awe
                                                duwatā'n wekē'LAdî
              the dish
                            for her
                                        drums
                                                were beaten
                                                             the sea gull
 came to be
                                                                          out
  finished.
                         agā'awe duī't cîyî' ka'odzîte.
acū'yawus hū'wu a.
                                                             aq! ts!u tāku
              she did.
                         At that time for her a song
                                                 was given.
                                                             There also
qakā'yan uwate' yuā'qo has wudîqo'xaya.
                                                   лda'x yax yã'qogwaha
                            they
                                    got back.
                                                    After
                                                           like was beginning to
            they
                    [after]
            stayed
                    to the
                    place
                yudî's.
                                                                 yū'Eq-hī'nî
gucu'k aayu'
                            Yā'q!awe wududzîtī'n djaqo'x
                                      came to be seen skin canoe
 ninth . it was the month.
                            At that time
                                                                  Copper river
            Hāt uwago'x.
                              A'we Leyî'nde wuduwaxō'x Le kāgayā'nax 5
vînana'x.
 from the
             This
                    eame.
                                      ashore
                                             they were called and
                                                                   toward it
direction of.
                   XAtc
                                                  yuë'q-hī'nî
                          Kā'gwantān a'seyu
                                                                 watda'x a.
yên uwaqo'x.
there they came.
                   These
                            Burnt-house
                                           were
                                                    Copper river
                                                                 from the mouth
                              people
                                                                    of were.
                           Ha'sduq!wex at wudū'wate.
Nēłde'
        wuduwaxo'x.
        they called them.
                            Their mouths
                                        things they put into.
Into the
 house
                                                    yatīyî'
  Ha'sduq!wex at naduti'
                                  weleducü'nax
                                                              wudikîk!îvê'n
    Their mouths
                 things they put
                                                                the brothers
kēr tîn
                 wuā't.
                           Kek!ea'awe
                                           ьēł
           has
                                                Adudja'q.
                                                              Wū'yên
    with they
                 went.
                           The youngest
                                           not killed anything. Lots of food
             Wucke't has udayā'îtc.
                                           Awe'
                                                  djê'nwu
aolidja'q.
                                                             has a'oliq!êL! 10
                              always carried
             With them-
                                             And
                                                   mountain
                                                              they
                        they
[and prepared.]
               selves
                               it around.
                                                     sheep
                               hasdukā'nî
                     yatī'yî
                                            ts!u
                                                   hasduī'n wuā't.
cāya'q!.
           Le nax
                                                                       Awe'
                                                  with them
on top of the And from
                       there
                              their brother-
                                 in-law
                               djê'nwu
qâq duwagu't gîL! yîq!
                                          îtq!.
                                                  Xā'na ayu'
                                                                 ye
      one went
                  cliff in front of
                                monntain
                                          after.
                                                 Evening
                                                           that
                                                                  80
                                                                       it was
                                                                       toward.
Łdaka't yî ye'kudał kaodîna't.
                                    LAX xā'naawe A'nax āt kūwagu'q
                                           near evening to him ran
                                     Very
                 he was shaking.
               Yū'aîtq! ye wunīyî' cu'q!waa-i'djawe Acī't cāwaxî'tL
yudjê'nwu.
```

it was like

the leader

took him on its horns. It ran away with him and made him stand up on a place to one side. Then the people started down. They went down without hunting any more. When they got down on the beach they started home for Yakutat.

Now the six brothers started on a journey for the place whence they had all come out. Their uncle told them to go back for a copper plate which was in a valley called Łtaxē'n, leading down to Copper river. They did not want to leave it there because it was valuable. When the people first came out, it took them forty days and nights, but the young men took only twenty days and nights. They got back among their friends. When they came among their friends again these wept with them and did not want them to return. But after they had stayed there for some time they went to the valley where was the copper plate. Since they had left their friends no one had been to the valley. The real owner of it, too, was dead. They reached the opposite side of that valley. When they got there they saw the

wulîxā't!. Tc!ule' wudjîxī'x ducedînā'x awe'Acī'n Le [and] on his horns took him. Then with him it ran it was L!ā'denyaka'q!awe a'cdjiwana'q. atxawe' yî'nde has wuā't. Le then homeward they went. at a side place let him stand up. After that Yēk has ā'dawe has at kāwana' Lēł at nati' yax has yaodahū'n. came Down they they to it Not things were like they hunted.

Yak<sup>u</sup>dā'tdê.

to Yakutat

5 Le ducū'nax-has de yu-wudjkîk!îyê'n ko has wu'deat yū'ax dāk Then the six now the brothers they started from it out

has wusda'geyedî. Hasdukā'ktcawe qox has kāwaqa' Ēq-hī'nî they had come out. Their uncle it was to go them told Copper river

katq!ata'n Łtaxē'n yū'ēq ayē'yatî. aqa'xayu q!alatsinī'tcayu Lēl leading into [a valley a copper was. Because it was expensive not

ha'sdutu wā'uc gu has atcū'wunāge'. Daq!ū'n-djî'nkāt has uwaxe' their minds wanted there they should leave it. Forty [days and nights] they camped cū'q!wa dāk has gasadā'q. Yūk!îsā'nî Lēqa' has uwaxe'. Has when first out they came. The young men twenty they camped. They

10 qo'a At has uwaa't hasduxō'nq!î xōt. Ya has wududjîgê' At however to it they came their friends among. They not wanting there to come away

has āt hasduxō'nq!î xō, hasduī'n ga'xduste. Lēl qox dê ye has they got their friends among, with them they wept. Not back to so they ā'doha. Tc!āku ayē'snati awe' te!āku yū'ēq ayiye'yatiyî cāna'xde wanted. A long time they stayed when far the copper was to the valley has wuā't. Tc!ayu' da'kdê wu'sîdagê'a hasduxō'nq!î ya'xawe Lēl they went. No one out went their friends from the time not ax yā'ugutte yū'cānax. Ats!ā'tîyīyî ts!u wū'na. At has uwaa't from had everbeen [to] the valley. The real owner also was deæd. To it they came

15 wecāna'x kīka'. At has ā'dayu has a'osîtēn yū'ēq. Dayē'kuwāt. the valley opposite side of.

copper, which was very long. It also had eyes and hands. The copper was pointing its hands in the direction whither its friends had gone. They cut it in two in the middle and took it apart. Then all six of them carried it. Their friends did not bother them about it at all. They started back. Again they traveled for twenty days, and came down to the ocean once more.

At that time all the people started for Yakutat. They started off with the copper that the six men had brought out. Again they came out to the place where their canoe had been broken up. They camped there one night. From there they started across to Yakutat. They came ashore there. Then the people did not want to have them there. The Kosk!ē'dî did not want to let them stay. They discovered Duqdanē'ku (one of the new arrivals) coming from a small stream called Kâck! with some humpbacks he had speared. When the Kosk!ē'dî saw him coming with a string of humpbacks they cut the string on which they were hung. They also broke his spear. Then

Kosk!ē'dî saw him coming with a string of humpbacks they cut the string on which they were hung. They also broke his spear. Then Ke kā'waa duwā'q ā'wu dudjī'n tslu. A'wu a yūdōxō'nq!î ade it had its hands also, its friends it grew (very long) its eyes The place to it wuade'ya yînade'awe ke djiulîtsa'q yü'eq. Ayî'n kat!ü'tq!awe ax down toward pointed its the Right down in the apart up copper. middle has āwaxa'c. Le has akā'watī wū'cdax. Telule' ducū'nax-has Then they they eut it. all six of them took it apart. Then Lēł hasdudā't 'at qo'wustî ha'sduxonq!etc tīvī'awe has ā'waya. their friends carried. Not to them anydid ts!u. Le qo'xde de has at wudîxū'n. Leqā' has ūwaxe' ts!u. now they Then back Twenty they were atxawe' weē'L! kaq! yā has wuā't. the sea to these they got. Agā'awetsa nāq! ka'odowana Yāk"dā't dê. Le At wudū'waxūn. Yakutat for. Then At that time for they started At wudū'waxūn. Welē'ducunAx qātc dāk uwayā'yî We'eq tî'nawe The copper with [they] started off. The six men out At tî'nnawe, Le wë'aq! ha'sduyi yāk" kawuwā'L!îya āna'xawe yên thing with it was; then to where their eanoe was broken up thither there yak uwaha' ts!u. Lēq! aq! uwaxe'. Ada'xawe ts!u dāt yawagu' 10 One at it [nlght] they stayed. again across they started out they came also. From it Yākudā'tdê. Ana'x yên yaku uwaha'. Lēl kāt tuwâ' ucku' ayē'stiyî. At it there ashore they came. Not there they would let them stay. āx has ya'oduwatsaq. Hīn a'ho a ye Kosk!edī'tc dowasā'k wanted to drive. from it them A ereek it was thus Kâck!-hīn ak!ua'tsk!u ayu' Duqdanē'ku awe' wētcā's! ata'kt awe' Kackl ercek a small one there Duqdanë'ku speared it was the humpbacks

wududzîtī'n. Atx ān ye yānagu'tî weteā's! q!Akaī'e gadustī'nawe they came to see. From with thus there them they saw they came to see.

weKoskledī'te qlatū'da wuduwaxa'e yudoxā'dî. Doā'dayî ts!u 15 the Koskle'dī the string of cut his salmon. His spear also the people were grieved over what had been done to him. They called one another together about it and thought it best to buy the place and pay for it once for all. So they bought the place. The six brothers were the ones who got it. They bought it for the copper plate, which was worth ten slaves, and sent the Kosk!ē'dî away. Afterward things were compared to the six Athapascan brothers [because they were very fast runners]. They stayed here probably twenty years. Meanwhile the Kosk!ē'dî and L!uq!oe'dî left the place. They were the only ones there. There were no other Athapascans at that place.

One of these brothers slept too much and became lazy. In olden times people went hunting with dogs. The six went hunting and camped in a house near a mountain. Afterward they went away from the youngest. One night while he was sleeping they went away from him hunting, because he was lazy. They went away to find out what he could do. They camped away from him for two nights. Mean-

yanü'k<sup>u</sup> yuade' Awe'gātuwe' wududzînī'yīetc. kaoduwaL!ī'q!. they felt about sorrow what had been done to him. wudu'wāu dê yāt A'awe Le Adā't wūdi wudū'waxōx. Yak!e' they called each other. that they bought the place It was then about it together It was good Wuduwa-u' yuL!A'tk. yên ka tusagē'yî. Leducū'nax hasduī'q! They bought and paid for it altogether. the place. yetī'yî wuckîk!îyê'n hastcayu' has ayā'waṭāq. Yutînna' djî'nkāt those they got it. . The copper brothers 5 gux yēq! Alîtsī'n āga'. Has ā'wa-u yul!a'tk. YuKosk!ē'dî akā'x for it. They bought the place. The Kosk!ē'd'î slaves was worth Yax at gwakū'nutc gâ Ģonana' ayu' Leducū'nax Akā'wana. hAS From things are always to Athapascans those compared yatiyi' wuckik!eyê'n. Tc!āku akayē' has wute' guł Leqa' brothers. A long time at it they stayed probably twenty yuL!A'tk. Kōsk!ē'dî qa Lluqloe'dî āx has wuligā's! Ts!as has left the place. Only Kosk!ē'dî and L!uq!oe'dî from it they Lēl tslu dā'kâ Gonanā' sa akayē' wutê'. dê Akayē' wute'. Not other on it Athapascans on it were. Yulē'k! yatī'yîya wuckik!îyê'n tā-alîts!a'x qa udzîka'. Tc!āku ts!as there was [of the] brothers slept too much and came to be In olden only At ā'wuadēn. AL!ū'n Leducii'nax-has wuā't, aL!ū'n six of them with things they went after. Hunting hunting cācuhî'tî yīde'. Atxawe' yū'kîk!îa dogō't awaā't. AL!ū'n te!u tā'yê, the youngest away they went. Hunting right while he from him was sleepa house by a mountain After it

I.ēq! dogō't qūwaxe' yuuskaī'tcayu. Ādê'n goskē't yayî's Atcayu'
one away from they stayed because he was lazy. They wanted to find out what this is why
him he could do

dugō't āwaā't. Da'xa duna'q qoxē'. Layigaye'detēx tc!ayu'
away from they went.
him they went.
him they camped.

Two away from they camped.

while he slept very soundly. He dreamed that a man came to him and said, "I come to help you. Come down here by the salmon creek and vomit." Immediately he went down to the creek and vomited four times. While he was vomiting, he vomited up a salmon bone. "This is what makes you lazy," he said to him. "This is what you are eating all the time, the salmon people's toilet sticks. This is what makes you lazy." The one that helped him was the being of the mountain. The mountain being said, "Come with me this evening." Immediately he went with him. When they got far up, the doors into the mountain were all opened. Then he went down with him inside. There were rooms inside of the mountain for all things. In the first were grizzly bears, in the next black bears, in the next mountain sheep. All things were inside.

After they had stayed away two days his brothers came back for him. Their brother was not there, and they felt very sorry. They thought

sutā'yeayu. Ye adjū'n qa doxa'nt uwagu't. Le ye acia'osîqā, Then thus he said to him, soundly was. Thus he dreamed a man to him eame. "Îīga'ava xat wusu'." atxawe' ye acia'osîqā, "He yêgê'na xāt "For you it is I come to help." After that thus it said to him, "Here come down salyāxq! xān yēq a ā'ngēlqo." Tc!a aq! aya'xawe yuhī'n hĩ′nî Right to it like it with me down come [and] vomit." here away yāxq! îłqo' daq!ū'ndahēn. āgā'awetsa ke aotîqō' yuxā't WuĻîqō' vomited four times. He vomited while up he vomited a salmon slāge'. "Aaya' at uwā'tx īdjîkayî' a'taya." Ye acdā'yaqa, "Tcla you to be is the thing." Thus he said to him, "This bone. "This thing eausing lazy ānatixa', xāt qoa'nî te!î't!ayi. Aya' At-uwâ'txaya idzîka'." LAku is what you always the sal- tribes' toilet sticks. This thing causing you to be lazy." "Dexā'naya xān ga'ge Xate cāt-wuqoa'nî a'seyu acī'ga wūsū'. to him helped. "This evening with me accom-This mountain being was yuaca'osîqa yū'cāt-wuqoa'nî. Tclaya'xawe ān wuā't.  $\mathbf{Y}$ udîkī' $\mathbf{q}$ ! the mountain belog. So right away with he went. Way up to come," said to him ā'dawe yū'ca tuhe'de cułaa't yuq!axā't. Le ayide'awe got when the mouninto were all open the doors. Then down into it Aitqle' aqodaxsîte' yucātū'q! cuka't a-ī't. Acī'n nēl ū'waAt. with inside he went. Grizzly there were inside the for everything. Rooms mountain ayî' hū'a ayî'n ade' slīk, ayî'n ade' djê'nwu. Łdaka't-at ayī' hoa'. inside one the next to it black in the to it mountain All things inside were. wudia't duxō'nq!ê Dēx has uxe' ā'qo has xō has.

gwâ'yala hasdukī'k!. Ālē'n tūwunū'gu. Has ā'wat!e le wuna' was not there their brother. Very for it they felt sorry. They thought then dead

after

stayed

Two [days] they

came to him his friends among them. Then

that he was dead. Then they floated down, laying the blame on one another. When they reached home there were other people in the town. These were the Te'qoedî who had come up from Prince of Wales island to the south.

The mountain being told the man he had taken how he could find the holes of grizzly bears in winter. Whatever he wished was killed for him inside of the mountain. While he was there winter began to come on. Then spring was coming. [The being] said to him, "Be careful not to use green fern roots for they are my things. If you are not careful about it you will kill nothing. Watch for the green fern roots. They grow wherever there are grizzly bears. The green fern roots will be found growing below. You will kill more things than your brothers. To-morrow you go away. I will give you my canoe which is here. In it you will float out among your friends." What he called one night was a whole month. Months kept on and on for him, however. His mind began to be troubled on account of it.

yūs-ūwadjî'. Le dāk has wulîxā'c. Wudjka' has at kas-hē'x.

he was. Then down they started floating. On one auother they things laid.

A'Acukudjē's! yugî'Ltu a'dî ye acdā'yaqa xūts! ata'ya kēkgetī'n This mountain being into the cliff there thus told him grizzly bear hole how he could see

5 tākq!". Tc!a dā'sa āx q!a'odînuq doq!ē's dudja'q yū'gêL! tūq!.

in winter. Whatever from it he wished for him was killed the mountain inside of,
Dēsgwa'te tāk" yē cunacxê'n aga' ayē'yatiyia. Dēsgwa'te qo'xde
Already winter so it began to be it is while he was. Already back
ka'odîha. "Yū't!at! q!wan galagā's k!walx ax-a'tî awe'," yūacia'started to be "Be careful now not to use green fern my things because they he said
spring. "Alrē'lk grâlagā's talu tāk vitī'ya van at gardiā'g at talīvit

osîqa. "Akē'k gêlagā's ts!u Lēl yitī'ya yax at gagedjā'q at īcī'nî. to him. "About it be careful also not you are like thing you will kill thing if you not to use

Āga' kêk getī's! wek!wa'lx. Dewa' xūts! katcus!ī'k at āyê'sawe For it for look out the green fern root. Wherever grizzly bear is there for it

gogwatī'. Ā'ya 10 ā'yax gayā'q! gogwatī' wek!wa'lx. yax will lie the green fern root. below will be. This like Yīhu'nxō-has yā'nax at gagedjā'q. Sega'n kax îā't.
Your brothers more than things you will kill. To-marrow away you go. 'Axyā'gu itka' Ixō'nq!î xodê' idjī'dê quqwatā'n. among with it to you I will give. Your friends êgo'xlaxāc." Dîs kawukī's!î a'siyu lēq! tāt yū'awasa. Hūte qo'a you will float." Month was a whole there was one night he called it. [For] him how-

dé'sgiyā guwaxe'. Dutūwu' yakA'ndaxîL!.

His feelings began to be troubled on account of this.

By and by they began to make things ready for him. They dried all kinds of things for him. Then he started away. [The being] said to him, "It is well that you come now and see my canoe which you are going to take among your friends." He took him thither. It looked like a grizzly bear. What was there about it like a canoe? "The things you see inside are this canoe's food. When it is hungry it will always look back. If you do not give it anything it will eat you. It gets hungry quickly," said the mountain being. "Go on now."

It went down the river. They had loaded the canoe with mountainsheep's fat and all kinds of fat. There came a time when it acted as he had said. It started to turn back. When it began to swim around quickly he gave it one whole mountain sheep. Already he was close to his home. When it started ashore with him in front of the town he began to feed it so that it would not kill any person. His friends ran down opposite him. They saw their friend who had been long lost. It came ashore with him a short distance from the town. When

Wānanī'sawe duī'ga At gAxdulxū'n. Łdaka't-yē'de-a'dawe duī'n

At once for him things they started to make ready.

All kinds of things with him

kadulnē's! dudjīyî's. Le aya'xawe teluLe' at wuxū'n. "K!e they dried to take for him. Then from them then he started. "Good gastī'n yū'axyāgu' yuxō'nq!î xōdê' ān gageqo'x." Ade' acūwagu't. you see my canoe your friends among with you are going you to take."

Xū'ts!ya ya'xayu kayaxa't. Gūsu' yuyā'kx axsanē'gî. "We-iyā'guwu Where was it looked like? "The canoe's

Duī't yān wuhayī'awe qox wusa'gwaya yū'nēl ayu' cā'wahîk. inside of that what is full of. To him hunger when there is Aqgwalgê'ntc. Ł doq!ē'x at - ī'texe qo'a teawaa' he will always look. Not his mouth thing you give however he will igoxsaxā'. he will eat you up. Asînū'k Lawe'," cāt wuqoa'nitcawe ye aosîqa', "Na'gu dê'." he gets quickly," the mounbeing thus said.

Le hī'nîyîq uwagu't. Le ayī'yên At ka'oduLîga yū'yāku djê'nwu

Then down the river it went. So inside of it things they loaded the canoe mountain sheep's

kagedî' ldaka't yē'dî. Tā'i telawe' slatī'te ade' ka'nîk-ya yaxawe' fat all kinds of fat. There came a time there he said like it yatî'. At ya'odzia hî'nxokat qox yā'wusayē'awe Le ā'dak wucī'xtc 10 it was. Then starting in the water back when it started to swim then around it turned quickly

awe' aq!ē'x at tīx Łīngî't udjā'qga. Dut!ā'dê at ka'odowaat it was he began to feed it person lest it might kill. Back of him then ran down duxō'nq!î. Tc!āku qodudzîgī'dî hasduxō'nî yêt has yā'wada. Ān his friends. Long timeago came to be lost their friend they saw. Town

he got close to the shore he took his canoe up quickly, and it became a stone. Where it had turned around the river became crooked. They called it River-the stone-canoe-came-down-through.

Then the man who used to sleep so much was ready to hunt. The man that had been lazy always went by himself. Just at the head of Kâck! is a glacier. There is a cottonwood tree standing there, rather old inside. When it is going to be stormy a noise is heard inside of this. Then people do not cross that glacier. When no noise can be heard inside then they go up across. The youngest killed more things than his brothers. He always took around bow and arrows with him. They are called dīna'. They all went in one canoe up to this glacier where was the seals' home. When they came up there, plenty of seals were around that place. There were plenty of grizzly bears and mountain sheep alongside of the glacier. The youngest would say to those with him, "There is a bear hole up there." Then they made a hunting house in one place. They took the canoe far up. After that

caka'q!awe ān dāk uwaa't. Weduyā'gu Le ān dāq naa'tî awe'tsa a short distance with ashore he came. His canoe then town ashore he got close to

Yên uwanī' weqā' gusū'wu taalts!a'xe. Qa uskā'yê Lē'naxdê There the man was all ready for hunting who used to sleep Man that was lazy alone

5 wucke't wudagu'tte: Kâck! caka' āyē'yatî sît! Atuwa'nnaxnācu' by himself went always. Kâck! at the head of is a glacier [stands] rather old inside of it

yudo'q tūx ayu' sîte'. Atu' ye ayago'xdatīyî Atū'dî dua'x. Lēl a cottonwood tree is. Inside of thus when it is going to inside of [a noise] is Not be stormy it [a noise] is Not

Aka'nax dāq ua'ttc. Lax la tū'dê qōlk!wa'ngî awe'tsa Aka'nax across it up they ever go. Very not inside can hear any noise it is as if dāq a a'ttc. Dohu'nxō-has yā'nax ayu' at uwadja'q. Tcū'net up they alwaysgo. His brothers more than were things he killed. Bow and arrows

At ye AnAsnī'tc. Dīna' yū'dowasaku. Tā'gawe Atā'k tsa anî' dê he always took around with him. Dīna' [the bow and arrows] Up at the glacier seal's home to

10 yā'kuyī has wuā't. Tclule' dūcū'nax has wē'tsa a'yê dāt inside of one they went. Then plenty of them the seals were around to

unayē'q!awe ke has uwaqo'x. Xūts! djê'nwu acayadîhē'n wesî't!

that place up they came. Grizzly bear [and] mountain sheep

wantu'. Le ye yanasqë'te, "Hîtîkinā'q! qō'ta-s!īk duī'n" aye' alongside of. Then thus he said, "A bear hole is up there with him" so yanasqë'te. Le yatī'yîya awe' cācu' hî'tî has aoliya'x. Hasduyā'gu he said. Then in one place it was hunting house they made. Their canoe dāqedā'q has ā'watan. Awē't yuxā'l yax Acaga'ti ān dāk far up they took. And when a large place from it came down with it up

a large piece of ice fell and raised a swell that carried their canoe off. They were in want of provisions. Their food was quickly gone. This happened in the Snow-shoveling moon (November). It was always blowing so that they could not get home. There was a cliff at that place. Already two months had passed over them. They could not see a canoe coming from any place, and they were living by the skill of the man whom the mountain being had saved.

When they became discouraged they made steps across the glacier. In one place was a precipice, and they had a hard struggle. They left one of their brothers in front of the cliff. He had become dizzy. So they left him. They came among trees after they had left him. He suffered very much from the cold. They, however, came upon a red-cedar house. They used a fire drill. Already it smoked. Then the fire came quickly out of the red cedar, and they sat by the fire without food. Day came without their brother having died.

aq!ułā'kuden has wū'nî. Hasduwū'wu hasduq!axa'nt q!aodiyA'q. came and took In want of provisions they were. Their food belonging to them ye cuwaxī'x. LAku Qoqahā'-dî'syadayu has wũnî'. wayaodîti', was quickly Snow-shoveling moon it was in so they got. Always it was blowing gone. yuaye' has Lēł ade' hasduā'nî has awungaĻā'gaya. GêL!x sîtî' [so that] to it their home they could get. Cliff there was that wunî'yiya. Dēsgwa'te dēx dîs hasduī'k kā'wakîs!. Gūtx yāk<sup>u</sup> has got like. Already two months on them were finished. From canoe they anywhere Teawe' qākā'q!awe wutê' agâ'qsîţīn. has wecā't wuqoa'nitc 5 could see. It was on the man they lived (were) the moun-

wusnë'xê.

Ciê'x has tāxt dahā' awe' yū'sît! yax has qe'ya kaodzît!a'q!. About they were discouraged when the glacier across they made steps. Steps.

ana'q has wuā't. Asq! cū'yīt has ū'waat ana'q. Aqlawe' -āt 10 The trees among from him they went. they came from him. tcianādja'q. Has qo'a lax hît aka'x has wuat. HAS ā'watuł. suffered very much They however red house upon it they from cold. They came. drill.

Desgwa'te yandusla'q. Le dā'k yaosîxī'x yū'lax tū'nax yū'qlān.

Already it smoked. Then out came quickly the red cedar from into the fire.

Hūte! yuwūwū' tslas yuq!ā'nawe agū'kt aqē'n. Lēl āt djudjā'q Ended the food only the fire by it sat. Not there died yuhasduhu'nx kax qe'waa. their brother but it got daylight.

Now they made fun of their youngest brother. "Where is the being that helped you? Didn't you say that you could kill anything?" Then he became angry at the way they talked about him. He started off aimlessly. When he started he did just as the mountain being had directed him. Then he saw their white dog that used to go everywhere with them. He saw the little dog running up. He looked toward it. He saw that a mountain sheep was holed in there for the winter. Before he could believe it he heard the little dog bark. The mountain sheep had very large horns. He ran his spear into it just once and killed it. Not knowing what he should do, he squeezed himself in beside it. He cut open the animal, which was very large. This was the mother of the bears. He cut off only the fat from around its It was of the thickness of two fingers. Then he ran down to his brothers with it. That made them feel lively and drove away all their hunger. Then they brought down all of the parts. After they had brought everything down into the house they started back to hunt

Has akā'wacūq yuhasdukī'k!. "Gusū'wu yīgā't wusū'wu a. Lēl
They made fun of their younger brother. "Where is for you helped is. Not
yîq!e' ulq!ē'yīn at wudjā'q." Hasduq!wai'yēt k!ānt uwanu'k.
did you say any thing you could kill." The way they talked to angry he got about it.

Tc!Akuge'yî yē'dî At wuxū'n. YāgAgū't qotī's! teayu' catuqā'wutc Aimlessly off he started. When he started did just as the mountain away

ya'xawe qōwanū'ku. adê' dayaqāyîya' Awe'aosîtī'n And then had told him like it he did. he saw hasduī'n wuckē't wudia't. 5 Let yax has ite' Yū'k!eLk! aosîtē'n white like they had with them around used to go. The little dog kînda ke nacī'xî. At aoLîgê'n. Aosîtē'n aq! qō'dat a djê'nwu asiyu'

toward up running. To it he looked. He saw there holed in a mountain was.

Łak! wuhī'nî awe' ts!as adē' sa'oduwaax. Ade' aca' ye kudîta'

Before he could believe it only there he heard it bark. There on its thus were very head large

atū'dî aosîgū' wetsaga'L!. acedî' yudjê'nwu. Lē'q!awe Le AC its horns the mountain sheep. Justonee into it he ran the spear. ū'nax sî'niiya, at!a'xkana'x nēł cka'olîq!îq!. ūwadia'q. Lēł ade' with it he should do, beside it he squeezed him-self. killed it. Not what in

10 At Lēn ayu' Ax Akaolîxa'c. Xate yetsī'net-La Asîyu'. Ts!as
Thing large was open he eut. This mother of the bears it was. Only
weayî'kîawe acū'tx awalîxa'c. Dēx Lel yaxya'x kasîkā'k. Ān dāk
the fat around the from stomach around around as.

wudjîxī'x dohō'nxō-has xa'ndî. akā'txawe qage'watsīn. Leckā'x he ran his brothers to. It was that made them feel very lively. Away

has at wuLikê'L!. Edaka'ta At has Akā'wadjêk. Yuhî't yīt.

they drove hunger.

All things they brought down. The house down into

yurī'iātxawe' qox has qaodîci' hasduhu'nxō ga. Ģōte qoa'nî a'siyu after they took back they started to their brother for. Wolf people were everything

for their brother, but the wolf people had taken him. When the canoe that was hunting for them came outside they did not have much food left. They let their brother go, for they could not find him. They started to the town, and they got home. Then they stayed right where they were because something was always happening to them.

Afterward they started down in this direction with their brother-inlaw, whose name was Heavy-wings. They started this way and came out here. He had a daughter. They came to Kastaxē'xda. Their daughter was grown up, but no man had ever seen her. Then they were going to Auk, but could not reach it on account of a storm. Heavy-wings had many nephews. They had some eulachon grease inside a sea-lion stomach, which they would throw on the fire whenever they made one. After that they said something to anger the north wind. On account of the north wind they had already been there for two months, and the food in the sea-lion's stomach that they thought would never be used up, was quickly consumed. Already only half of

De Lēł ugeyī'awe hasduwū'wu ha'sdu yā uwaqo'x wusî'nēx. AC Now not was very much their food them for ha'sduyîga' qociyî'. Has aolîlī't hasduhu'nx. Ayete'x has qowucî'. outside of them came hunting. They let go their brother. They could not find him. Ande'a has wuā't. Le ant has uwaqo'x. Hasdui'n Leye'q!de ye has To the went. Then home they came. With them right there thus they

wuqī'te LAku uxqē's-ninī'djayu. stayed always because things were happening to them.

Atxawe' yā'dê has tū'wate hasdukā'nî tîn. Kîtcîlda'lq! yū'dowasaku After that this way some started to come to

hasdukā'nî Le yā'dê has wuko'. Leyā'q dāk has uwaqo'x. Cā'wat their brotherin-law way they started. There out they came. Female

yêt ã'wa-u, Kastaxë'xda-ant has uwaqo'x. Ha'sduyê'tk!o ehild he had, to Kastaxë'xda town Their daughter they eame. Ā'k!ude ayu' yāsnaqo'x Lēł qā ye ustī'nte. koyē'kulîge. Not a man so had seen her was large. To Auk it was they were going. There ever.

has yā'wasîk ākê'nq!. Doqē'łk!î -has qodzîte' Kîteîłda'lq!. 'Tān they could not get on account of a storm. Ulis nephews were many Heavy-wings. Sea lion

yuwuyî'q! ye'yatî sāk-exē' Lacū't has awudaagê' ganałka't has ax 10 in the stomach was eulachon grease on the fire they from

ōgē'qtc. Ax has k!AnakōLîga't yuxū'n. Dēsgwa'tc dēx dîs āye's always After it they said something to anger the north wind.

yati' yuxū'n tlēq!. A has tā'ła xā'djî yū'tān yuwu' has the north wind of, thing they would be all gone they

aosîklî'tl. Dēsgwa'te Atqlē'cî kî'kî at tī'ndja Lak aya'odite consumed quickly. Already piece of dried fish was left was still blowing hard dried fish

a piece of dried fish was left and the north wind was still blowing hard. They had already consumed everything. One night, when they went to bed, they could not sleep for thinking about their condition, but toward morning all except Heavy-wings fell asleep. When he at last fell asleep he dreamed a man came to him. It was a fine-looking man that came to him. It was North Wind that he dreamed of. [The man] said to him, "Give me your daughter. Then you will see the place you are bound for." But he did not believe his dream. In the morning he said, "One does not follow the directions of a dream." His wife, however, said, "It is not right to disbelieve what the dream says." His wife was angry with him. She said, "Why then did you tell your dream to me? This is why I am talking to you so." Next-morning they went down to dig clams, but his nephews kept very silent as if they were thinking about themselves. When they were about to go to bed their fire was heard." Four days later he dreamed North

Dēsgwa'te cgaxa'nx has at yaodzîxa'. they things came to con-Ayu' with themthe north That Already selves sume. has xaq!u Lēł ci'ayide has wudaxē'q!u. Wānanī'sawe qeakāde'awe they went to not for thinking they bed about themselves could sleep. And then toward morning Tādj wudjagē'awe ye awadjū'n tādj uwadja'q Kîtcîlda'lq! qo'a. Heavy-wings, however. Asleep asleep they fell when he fell thus he dreamed acxa'nt uwagu't yuqā'. Agaqa' acxa'nt uwagu't. Yuxū'nt uwu' asiyu' came. It was the north wind a man. A fine lookcame to him ing man "  $\hat{\mathbf{I}}$ s $\hat{\mathbf{i}}'$ axdjī't djîta'n," yuacdā'yaqa. "Aga' ade' 5 ye yawadjū'n. give," "Your he dreamed of. to me he said to him. daughter ā'ni qox yayēkgêsatī'n." Lēl aqguhī'n yu-ade'-adjū'n-ya. place going to 'you are going to see." Not he believed what he dreamed. Qenaa' \*\* In the ye "Lēł ade' djūn q!a ya'x yucku'-kaĻînī'gîya." q!ayaqa', rects like (lit. voice) a dream directs thus he said. "Not Duca'tte ye da'yaqa, "Lēł aya'xawe q!ayiqa' aya'xsatî kat djūn." is right to disbelieve what the dream says." His wife thus said to him, "Not Duca't aq!akaoeîk!an "Hadā't sa'kusawes xān yuqā'te. "What was angry with . the man. for then to me A'tcawe LAku idā't q!axâ'tan." Qē'naa ha'sdu egaya'yîk 10 idjū'nî? I am talking." Next morning your dream? This is like to you them down below why gāl! kā'ha. Duqē'lk!-has qo'a qowacî' uha' hAS kaodîgā'ıl. clams to dig. Hisnephews however dug they just as if they were thinking about themselves. Has gugwaxē'qluawe hasduga'nî duā'x. Daq!ti'n uxī'awe ts!u was heard. were about to their fire ''Îsī' axdjī't djîta'n āga' go to bed ā'wadjūn wexū'n-qā'ayu acxa'nt uwagu't. he dreamed the North man to him , came. "Your to me daughter

a The fire being a medium of communication between the two worlds.

Man came to him again. "Give me your daughter quickly if you want to see the place whither you are bound." In the morning he said to his wife, "Had I not better obey my dream?" and he said to his nephew, "Go outside and shout, 'I give my daughter to you."

Then the North Wind came to his daughter. "It is well that I marry you," he said to her, and he slept with her. She was willing to cohabit with him. Then he did so, and it became calm. So they started off. Afterward the woman told her mother about it. "A fine man keeps coming to me." They started to cross the bay. Then this fine man came to her again. Cruor eius defluebat e rostro in puppim, de qua depletus est. Undae, ubi effusus erat, semper clarae erant. Now they came ashore. This is why people keep saying to one another, "Did you give your daughter to North Wind that you are not afraid of all the weather in the world?" He came ashore and stayed among the people.

That winter the people going for firewood went away forever. When they were gone, Heavy-wing's wife's labret broke and he went

āde' yānî'qoxya yēqgêsatī'n." Duca't ye adā'yaqa yuqē'naa. "Ade' where you ure going you shall see." His wife so he told to in the morning. "What

Axadjū'nî A'xdê yên ekakasyāyî'." Duqē'lk! ye aya'osîqa, my dream to me then had I not better obey?" His nephew thus he sald to, ''Yux t!ā'nīsīq! îdjī't qā'djî wuxâ'tan," yū'yênaqa.
"Go outside and shout to you person I give," he said to him.

Dusi' xant uwagu't, "Yuk!e' kaea'," yū'aciaosîqa. L acī'n

His daughter to it came, "It is well I marry you," he said to her. Then with her

wuxē'q!. Adjîgā'e kaodjînu'k. LA Lā'gAc wusî'nî. Le ka'oduwayēL!. he slept. She was willing to cohabit. Then cohabited he did. Then it became calm. Lē hAs At wuxū'n. Le dula' tîn akā'wanîk weeā'wattc. "Āga' And they started off. Then her to told about it the woman. "Always

Acxa'nt uwagu't. Cakā'naxawe cî hade' kanā'da agī'knax to her came. From the bow blood into the stern came out of which

kaduskū'x. Hī'ndê ā'yax kadusxē'xya Le ka'oduwayēL!. A'nax it was bailed. In the water just where they poured it in then it always got clear. Ashore yên has uwaqo'x. Ateawe' ye at gadulkū'wun "Djī'dlagî 10 there they came. This is why thus people always say to each "Did you give

kādjîyata'n Łīngî't-ā'nî lakīlxē'L!?" at uwaqo'x aa'q qoa'nxō aq! your daughter to that you are not afraid of all the the wind weather in the world?" he came there among the people ye wute'.

...

Tāku tākudjīyī'nawe ga'nga naadî' naa'ttc. A-ite'awe duca'tdjîyîs winter when it was toward after firewood. A that time for his wife

duca't q!ēntā'qlayî kāwawa'ı! a-iteyî's āx laye'x dawawugū't.

his wife's labret broke for after one he went.

after one. He went along the shore. He kept chopping into things to find the hard part of the tree. Then he saw a woman digging far down on the beach. She had a child on her back. He said, "Some one might think I was fooling with her." When he came up close to her, he saw that she was not a woman such as he had been in the habit of seeing. It was the L!ê'naxxī'daq that he saw. The mussel shells that she threw up always fitted together.

Then he went out after her to the place where she was digging. Without thinking of anything else he ran to her and caught her. His hands passed right through her body. He chased her and seized her again. Again his hands passed through her. When he got close up to the trees he remembered his earrings. He threw them away. Afterward he chased her once more. He seized the child on her back, and she immediately began to cry out. She scratched him in the face. She made great marks upon him. When he caught her he said within himself, "May I be a rich man. May all the children that come after

A'awe nīdjx wugu't. Łdaka't-at ke akxu't!tc gaqu sîtī'yi at kaq!.

Then along the shore he went. All things up he chopped the hard always part of always part of the tree

Akagē't aosîtī'n yucā'wat yuē'q! qokdaha'. Yêtk! duda'q! kā Way down he saw a woman the beach was digging on. A child on her back on

Lēl cā'wat ū'watclayu ayatī'nîa gonayā'dayakā'xat. Xatc not woman such as he had been in habit it was like. This

5 L!ê'naxxī'daq Asiyu' aosîtī'n. Naq!a-ite' yaduda'q!dê agē'te weyā'k L!ê'naxxī'daq was he saw. Always fitted together that she threw up the mussel nū'q!u. shells.

Le  $d\bar{a}k$   $Ak\bar{a}'waat$   $y\bar{u}'-At-kaodzîk\bar{i}'tiy\bar{e}'d\hat{i}$ . Lēl  $yu-Ak\bar{a}'wudj\hat{i}$   $axa'nd\hat{e}$  Then out he went [after where she was digging things. her] Not thinking about anything else

yagacī'xawe Akasa'nq! āwacā't. Ts!As atū'nAx yā'wadjêł. Yāayê'nAs he ran her he caught. Right through [his hands] went. He chased her again

naq āwacā't. Ts!u atū'nax yāwadjê'l. De āsdjîseyī'de yānacī'xîawe [and] caught her. [his hands] Just as close to the he was running trees

10 akā' yū'de dāk se'waha dugu'k-kadjā'cî. Gu'kdax aka'odîgêtc. he remembered he threw them. his earrings. From his ears away Ada'xawe aya'osînāq. Awacā't aka'q! yūayê'dî agawe'tsa ka'odîgāx he chased her. her child started to cry He caught on her as soon as [back]

wē'cāwat. Ga'xude ac yawacā't. A-ite' kaolisî'L!. Cū'q!wa the woman. In the face him she scratched. On him she made great time

Agacā't ye awuĻîxē's! "Anqā'wox xat naxsati' q!wan. Łdaka't when he so he said within man me be let. All

me catch you." But he made a mistake in speaking, for he said, "Let me burst open with riches." After he had chased her a short distance up into the woods she sat down in front of him. There the woman defecated. When she got up there was only foam to be seen. Her excrement was very long and white. Then he took the foam and put it into a piece of paper. He made a box for the foam. scabs from his face were called Medicine-to-rub-on-the-body (Dā-nāku), and he gave it to those of his brothers-in-law who loved him. Although anything he had was very little it grew to be much, and he became a rich man.

Toward the end of winter he started for Yakutat. Before he reached home they went ashore. The sun was shining. He had his things taken outside. Then he wanted to sleep, and he lay down beside them. By and by some children ran against them and the pile fell on top of him. A copper plate cut through his stomach, and it was all laid open. His sister's son, named XAtgawe't, was with him. Right there

yē'dê" Alxē's!, "telu axite' ya'dite children," he said, "still after me come ts!u igā'xlacāt" awe' also will eatch you" wrong qâq, "Dāqx xat kaxlanā'lx dāg yā'waga. Ts!as ye aodurixē's! he sald it. Only thus he said wrongly, "Let me burst open with riches" Yū'dage dāq ayaā't A'cu ka'odjiqāk.
When he had chased hera little
way up into the woods in front of him she sat
down. q!wan." Xate awal!î'l! There defecated yueā'wat. Ax gadagū't xēl at satī'n. Yîkuliyā't! dohā'llî the woman. From it when she got foam there was seen. Was very long her excre-Asiyu' Asiyu' Lēt yax yatî'. Le At tū'dê ye aosînê' yū'xēł kuq! tūq! white like was. Then someinto thus he took the foam paper thing ā'wa-u. Yü'xēł adā'ka  $q\bar{o}k^{u}$ Le aoliya'x. Dã-nãk<sup>u</sup> The foam for it box then he made. Medicine to rub on his body yū'duwasaku yūduyaq!ē'teî. Ac sîxa'nea dokā'nîdjī'dawe ucā'tte. was called the [seabs] from his face. Who loved him to his brothers-in-law Tela ye gugaikle'-a'tawe alē'nx wusîte'. ALē'n Le āngā'wux Though it was a little thing it grew to be large. become rich then Very man wusîte'. Tāku ite' Yākudā'tdê at wuxū'n.

Afterwinter [was to Yakutat he set out for. his home, after-Not he got to beginning to go] Aodîgā'n. Gā'niyux Akā'wadjêł doa'tî. Duī't It was sunshiny. Outside he took his things. To him dāq has uwaqo'x. yetā'waha. Atayī'q! yên cwudzîta'. At ya'tq!î At!ē'niq! luwagu'q. was desire to Under it there he laid himself. Some children against it ran. sleep.

Lēł ayā wuĻāq

doā'nî, yax 10

Dukādê' dāk kaodzîko'q. Doq!ō'L! tū'nax ayaodîgē'te yutî'nna. On top of him over His stomach through went it fell. a copper. Wulîka'ıle yê'xayu ya'tî. Dulā'k! ya'tî doxa'nî ye'yati.
All opened like it it was. His sister her son with him was. Dugë'lk! His nephew

he burned his uncle's body. He gathered together his bones and all of his uncle's property, and he took his uncle's bones to Yakutat. The same thing happened to his nephew. He also seized the L!ê'naxxī'daq. He caught her when going for an ax handle. But he handled the L!ê'naxxī'daq better than his uncle. He became richer than his uncle had been.<sup>a</sup>

Xatgāwē't yū'dowasāku. Tc!a aq! ke aosîga'n dukā'k. As!āgê'

Xatgāwē't was named. Right there up he burned his uncle. His bones
ayā'waxa qa ldaka't dukā'k a'dî. Yākudā't yā'waxa dukā'k s!ā'gê.
he took and all his uncle's property. Yakutat he took to his uncle's bones.
Lēl agowanā'dî wuti' duqē'lk!. Hūtc ts!u aolîcā't yul!ê'naxxī'daq.
Not different from him was his nephew. He, too, seized the lle'naxxī'daq.
Cînaxâ'ye-sa'kuti gā wu'gudîayu' aolîcā't. Dukā'k cayadā'xayu
An ax handle for when he went he caught her. His uncle better than
5 Adā'q wugu't yul!ê'naxxī'daq. Dukā'k yā'nax ānqā'wux wusîte'.
about he went the lle'naxxī'daq. His uncle more than become rich he was.

a Cf. stories 35 and 94.

## 106. ORIGIN OF A LOW-CASTE NAME<sup>a</sup>

There was a certain village in the north from which the people were fond of going hunting. By and by three men went out, and finally came to the rocks among which they always hunted. After they reached the rocks they saw a little boy. Then they took him aboard, thinking it was strange that he should be there. When they spoke to him he did not reply. After that they came home. They kept him as their friend. Whenever they gave him something to eat he ate nothing. Only after everyone had gone to bed did he eat. Whatever thing he touched would spill on him. He was whimsical and they could do nothing with him. He was also lazy. When he was asked to chop wood he broke all of their stone axes. The axes

```
Alēq! an ayu' At natī'. Has akucîta'n yū'an qa-ū'wu. Wananī'sayu
         vil- that there was.
                             They were fond of the town people.
                                                                  One time
        lage
nas!gina'x
                   has
                         wuqo'x at natī'.
              qā
                                                Wanani'sayu ade'ya has
             men they
                          went by things after.
                                                                ahead of they
                                                    Finally
                          canoe
                                                                 them
naqo'x yū-has-allū'nute-īteq! xō. Atxa'yu āt has uwaqo'x yuī'teq!
came to the they always hunted rocks among. After
                                                           came by
                                                 them
     da'sayu aq! has aosîtī'n atk!a'tsk!u.
                                                Ada'x yāx has aosîgū't
among where
            at it they
                                                After that abroad they
                                                                     went with
                                  a little boy.
tela go'na-at has uwadjī'.
                                Ada'xayu djagê'ga ax
                                                              has
                                                                    q!atā'n.
yet
     something
               they
                      thought.
                                   After that
                                                to him
                                                      after it they
Lēł hasduī'x qē'cgu.
                         Ada'x nēł has uwago'x.
                                                         Hasduxō'nî
                                                                        SAku
             he replied. After that home they
                                                          Their friend
Not
                                             came.
has aosînē'x.
                 Ada'xayu aq!ē'x has at tē'xnutc.
                                                           Let ha'sdudjig!
                             to him they some-always gave thing to eat.
     saved him.
                   After that
                                                           Not
     kūcta'n.
                 Ada'x
                          tsa'ts!A
                                   angaxē'q!un tsa ha'sduyat!ē'q!
any-
      he ate.
                  After it everybody
                                    when they went then to bed
                                                          after them
                                                                        things
xā'nutc.
                                   ūwacī' tc!uLe' yax kacxê'nx.
           Ada'x tela-dā'sa at
                                                                      Ada'x
he would
          After that whatever thing he would
                                            then
                                                    would spill on him-
                                     touch .
tuū's akucita'n Laku Lēł tūcgē'nutc.
                                             Lēł yūkdua'quk".
                                                                   Udzikā'. 10
he would get cranky
                   when
                                                 they could do any- He was lazy.
                          not was any reason.
                                             Not
Ada'x gan axō't! ganūgu'n, tc!ule' tayī's
                                                  yūayaL!ī'q!k.
                                                                    Yü'tayis
After that wood to chop
                     when he was
                                           stone
                                                                    The stone
                                   then
                                                    he broke all.
                                           axes
                                                                      axes
```

were then valuable. Then the people who had kept him were very sorry. When he played with the children he hurt them badly. Afterward the people who kept him would have to pay for the injuries. If he made something with a knife he would break it. Right after a skin shirt had been put upon him it was in rags. If shoes were put on his feet they were soon in pieces. He drank a great deal of water. He was a great eater. He was a dirty little fellow. He was a crybaby. If they gave him anything to take to another place he lost it. So he made a great deal of trouble for the people.

Then they said of him, "He is really a man of the rocks." All the town people agreed to take him back to the place where he had been found. After he had been brought in it was very rainy. Then the people who had saved him got into their canoe and carried him back. They put him on the very same rock from which they had taken him. Then they went back. They reached home. The world was

q!Alitsī'n. Ada'x yu-a'c-wusînē'xe-qoū' wā'sa hasdutū'wu nī'knutc. were valuble. After that those people who saved him how their minds would be sorry. Ada'x yu-at-ya'tqlî tîn ackulya'dî tc!uLe' yuqoyalis!ê'L!k. Ada'x After that the children with he would be then he would hurt them badly.

After it

yu-A'c-wusînē'xe-qoū'tc tc!uLe' koyAsAgē'x. 'Tc!ū kîtā' ān At the people that saved him then would have to pay for the cuts. Then knife with it something

łaye'xe tc!ule' yū'ayalīq!k. Ada'x tc!aye'su dunā'q! yen duē'tc At he made then he would break it. After that right on him these they put some 5 dūgu' k!uda's! tc!ule' a'qgas!ê'ltc. Ada'x tīl duq!ō'sî yen duē'tc skin shirt then always had in rags. Then shoes his feet these they had

tc!ule' A'qgas!ê'lltc. Hīn A'lits!êx. Qa LAX yala'quku. Dunā' At then he would always have them in pieces. Water he drank a lot of. He was a great he was a dirty

 httc:
 <th

kaxī'L! qadji' ye ayaū'.
he made a lot of trouble for the people.

Ada'x ye dū'wasa, "Itckaqā'wo." Ada'x djîldaka't yū'āntqenî
After it thus they said of "He is really a man of the rocks."

After that all the town people

10 yē q!ayaqa' ā'qox yêx duxa'. Telu wudusnë'xe dax tcaLA'ku they saved him back When after said to take him. Ada'x yū'qoū ac wusînē'xe djîldaka't has īldja' qasī'wu yē'yati. it had been. After it the people him that saved ts!u yū'yakuyîkx has wuā't ā'qox has ayā'waxa. Yūī'te ts!aqō'nax back with him went. The rock on the very again into the canoe they they went

Akā'x has ā'wusnuguīte ts!u Aka' yên has aosinu'k. from on it they had taken him again on it there they put him. Ada'x ana'q After it Ada'x nēł has Yū'līngîtanî has wudiqo'x. uwaqo'x. The world back they went, After it home they came.

son it is?"

now calm. The rain also had ceased. Then the town people were all talking about it. They said to one another, "What could it have been?" and no one knew. Finally the town people said, "Don't you see it was a rock-man's son?"

Ada'x ada' yuq!a'duLiatk After it about it were all talking kanduwayē'L!. Yū'siu ts!u kāwatā'n. The rain also was now calm. let up. "Dasa'yu," yū'an qoū'wutc. Ye ьēł wudusku'. qoq!ā'yaqa, the town people. Thus they were asking "What that?" [and] any one knew. one another, "Lē'gîł yī'-saku îtckaqā'wu Ada'x yuan-qoū'wu ye has q!ā'yaqa, After it the town people thus they "Don't you see a rock man's ya'dî ayu'."

## THE TOBACCO FEAST a

If one of the family of the writer's informant, the Kasqlague'dî, had married a Nanyaā'yî woman and she died, the Nanyaā'yî would invite his people for tobacco. They invited them there to mourn. This feast was different from the pleasure feasts, when dancing and such things took place. The people asked them while the dead body was still lying in the house. Then the other Kasqlague'dî would ask the bereaved man to deliver a speech. The Nanyaā'yî would be very quiet because they were mourning. Then he would rise and speak as follows:

"Yes, yes, my grandfathers, we remember you are mourning. We are not smoking this tobacco for which you have invited us. These long dead uncles of ours and our mothers are the ones who smoke it. Do not mourn, my grandfathers. She is not dead. Her aunts are holding her on their laps. All her father's brothers are shaking hands with her. Our [dead] chief has come back because he has seen you mourning. Now, however, he has wiped away your tears. That is all."

("A'a Axhī'kk!-hAs Adā't hatū'watī yītū'la yīcā'nî. Yaayî's!
("Yes, yes, my grandfathers, about it we remember you are mourning. This [tobacco] hayīīq!îs!ēq Lēl ohā'ntc a'yatūs!ē'qs. Ya-tc!āk!"-wū'nāyî hakā'k-hAs you have invited not we we are smoking it. These long dead uncles of ours us to smoke

qa hala'-hasdjaya has as!ē'qs!. Lîl yītūwu' unī'guq axlī'lk!-has. and our mothers are they smoke it. Never your minds let mourn my grandfathers.

Łēł wū'na. Duā't-hastc gōc kat î'sā. He dja'ldaka't dusa'nî-hastc Not she is dead. Her aunts have her on their laps. All her father's brothers

5 Adjî'n has Alıē'k". Haānqā'wo ēq uwagu't yīka'x yītūwunī'gu hands they are shaking. Our chief back has come on you you are mourning with her

aosîtī'n. Hayīda't qo'a yī'waq-hī'nî aolîgō'. Yūa'.") he has seen. Now, however, your eye water he has wiped away. That is all.")

One of those giving the feast would now reply:

"I thank you deeply, deeply for the things you have done to these grandfathers of yours with your words. A person will always take his shell to a dry place." So you have done to this dead of ours.

a Obtained from Katishan at Wrangell.

bImmediately following the English translations of the several speeches on pp. 372-386 are given the corresponding Indian texts accompanied by interlinear translations.

cThe opposite clan is spoken of as the "outside shell."

5

All these, your grandfathers, were as if sick. But now you are good medicine to us. These words of yours have cured us."

("Ho'ho gunałtcī'c a'skî. Yā-îlī'lk!-hasade' atq!ēyataniyê'. Hededja'
("I thank you very much. These your grand to things you have done in speech.
ye yatī' qā dākanū'q!u uwaxu'gu yex kadūlxī't. Ayī'sînî yā'yīdat

ye yatī' qā dākanū'q!u uwaxu'gu yex kadūlxī't. Ayī'sînî yā'yīdat so is a per his outside a dry place like will take to. You have done thus

wu'nawua' ya-îla'āt. He tcaldaka't ya-îlī'lk!-has yanī'ku yêx has to this dead of ours. All these these your grand-fathers

tī'yīn. Hayida't qo'a āk!e' nāku haq!ē'x yītī'. Ya-iyaqayî'
were. Butnow good medicine to us you are. These words of yours

haosînē'x.")
have cured us.")

Then they would say to the dead woman:

"Get up from your husbands' path [so that they may pass out]."

("Hasduq!anā't kîdā'n îxō'xq!uyên.") ("From their way get up your husbands.")

The spirits of the dead of both phratries are supposed to be smoking while their friends on earth smoke, and they also share the feast. People of the opposite phratry took care of the dead, because it was thought men would be wanting in respect to their opposites if members of their own phratry were invited to do it. For this service the opposites were well paid.

## SPEECHES DELIVERED AT A FEAST WHEN A POLE WAS ERECTED FOR THE DEAD a

Some morning just at daylight the chief who is about to erect the pole and give the feast, no matter how great a chief he is, passes along in front of the houses of the town, singing mourning songs for the dead. Then the people know what is wrong and feel badly for him. The memorial pole seems to bring every recollection of the dead back to him. Now is the time when the story of Raven is used.

After that the chief stands in a place from which he can be heard all over the village and calls successively for the different families on the opposite side, which in this case we will suppose to be Raven. He mentions the names of the greatest men in the family, always with the family chief's name first.

Then he will perhaps speak as follows:

"My father's brothers, my grandfathers, people that I came from, my ancestors, my mother's grandfathers, b years ago they say that this world was without daylight. Then one person knew that there was daylight with Raven-at-head-of-Nass, and went quickly to his daughter. When he was born he cried for the daylight his grandfather had. Then his grandfather gave it to him. At that time his grandchild brought daylight out upon the poor people he had made in the world. He pitied them. This is the way with me. Darkness is upon me. My mind is sick. Therefore I am now begging daylight from you, my grandfathers, my father's brothers, people I came from, my ancestors, my mother's grandfathers. Can it be that you will give the daylight to me as Raven-at-head-of-Nass gave it to his grandchild, so that day will dawn upon me?"c

("Āxsa'nî-has, ("My father's brothers, Axlī'lk!-has, Axla'-lī'lk!u-has, my grandfathers, my people I came from, My ancestors, he te!ā'ku kadunī'gîn ya'līngît-ā'nî kawucgē'dîn. my mother's grandfathers, my mother's grandfathers,

Mās caki vē'lteīg! vo tīvīvā' go'o

Ada'x Lē'nax gātc wusıkū' Nās-caki-yē'ltcīq! ye tīyīyê' qe'a. with Raven-at-head-of-Nass so one man knew was Ada'xayu asī't edjiulîhā'. Ada'x qogāstī' yuqē'a dułī'lk! A'dî to his he went quickly. when he was the daylight his grand-things born father's Then Then daughter Ada'x 5 aodzîgā'x. Aedjī't wuduwatī' dulī'lk!utc. He ada'x

he cried for. Then to him it was given [by] his grandfather. At this time qanacgîdē'x sîtī'vî aolîvē'xê łī'ngît-ā'nî to qoa'nî, ada'x akā' people were poor he had made world into people, then on them

a Obtained from Katishan at Wrangell.

b Addressing by these titles the five Raven clans at Wrangell.
 c See story 32, pp. 82-83.

k!ēwusîā'dudatexa'nte. Icandē'n adā' tuwatī'. Hē ye xat yatī'. brought day- his grandchild. Pity for them felt. This like 1 am.

qo'a de Axkā' He ada'x yīda't qokaodjîgē't. a'xtuwu nīku. My mind is siek. So this way however now On me there is darkness. axdākē'q!î, qēa' Axli'lk!-has, AXSA'nî-hAS, yiī'x xoa'sgāx my father's brothers, my people I from you I am begging daylight my grandfathers, came from,

Axdākanū'q!u, Axla'-lī'lku-has. Heyida't-ūc Axdjī't yītī' yū'qea, my ancestors, my mother's grandfathers. Can it be to me you will the day-give light,

Nās-cakî-yē'l yax yīn gatī' ada'x axkā' qêngaŭ'?'')
Raven-at-head-ofNass

as he gave to [his so that on me will be daylight?"')

Then the five opposite families will say, "Yē kugwatī" ("We will make it so").

This speech means that the chief wants the people of those five families—men, women, and children—to come and raise the pole. By "being in the dark" he means that the pole is not raised, and he tells them that they will give him daylight by raising it. After it is raised he says, "You have brought daylight on me" ("Hayeda't axqā' qeyī'yî sī ā'"). After this speech all show the greatest respect to this chief and keep very quiet. They do not allow the children to say anything out of the way.

The evening of the day when the pole is erected they have a dance. At Wrangell the Kîksa'dî, Qā'tcadî, and Tī hît tān danced on one side and the Kasq'ague'dî and Tālqoe'dî on the other. The head men of both of these divisions say, "Now we must give a dance for him." While the dancers prepare themselves in another house, the outsiders assemble in the house to look on. The Raven division that is going to dance last comes in, dressed and painted, and sits down to wait for the others. The giver of the feast sits in the rear of the house with his friends about him. Then the ones that are to dance first come in dancing one by one, all dressed and painted. As soon as they are through, the others walk out, dress again, and enter dancing. Each side has two song leaders, a head song leader and a second song leader, who bear dancing batons.

All this is done only when a chief or one of his family has died, not for a common person, and the first side to dance is that to which the widower, or the widow of the deceased belongs. Sometimes the dance used to go on all winter. Ordinary living houses for the high-caste people were put up as monuments for the dead and were viewed as such. In that case no pole was erected to the man's memory, but his body was placed in the graveyard. This is why they never built a house in old times without feasting.

After this dance the widower, or one of the widow's family, might rise and speak as follows:

"In the first time took place the flood of Raven-at-head-of-Nass. What the people went through was pitiful. Their uncles' houses and

5

their uncles' poles all drifted away. At that time, however, Oldwoman-underneath took pity [and made the flood subside]. You were like this while you were mourning. Your uncles' houses and your uncles' memorial poles were flooded over. They drifted away from this world. But now your grandfathers make it go down like Old-woman-underneath. Now all of the dead of your grandfathers' people have gathered your uncles' houses and your uncles' memorial poles together. You were as if dying with cold from what had happened to you. Your floor planks, too, were all standing up [from the flood]. But now they have been put down. A fire has been made of the frog-hat, their great emblem, hoping that it will make you warm."

("Tc!ū cū'gū Nās-cakî-yē'ł qī'sî kanada'. Īcandē'n yū'qō kāwacū'. "It was pitiful the people what they went through."

Qā kāk-has hî'tî ldaka't yē'de lîqō' qa kāk-has daqē'dî ldaka't Both their uncles' houses all away drifted and their uncles poles put up for

yē'dē lîqō'. He ada'x qoa' yuHayicā'nak!u īcandē'n kadatū'wati.

away drifted. This time at it, how-old-woman-underneath pity felt [and made the flood go down].

Heye' îtī'yīn î'tūwu nī'gutc. Aka'x ka wudā'yîn ikā'k-has hî'tî qa Like this you were your minds were sick. Over were flooded your uncles houses and 5 îkā'k-has dakē'dî. Yalīngî't-ā'nî kāde' awusku'gun. Heyīda't qo'a your uncles' memorial This world away from they drifted. So now, however.

Hayicā'nak!" yêx wutî' îlī'lk!"-has ikā'yên aolilā'. Heyida't qoa'
Old-womanunderneath

like are your grandfathers make it go down. Now, however,

tc!āku qotx cūwaxī'xî îlī'lk!u-has wūckā'nax ye has aosîne' ikā'k-has anciently those destroyed your grandfathers together so they gathered your uncles' hî'tî qā îkā'k-has dakē'dî. Qa āttc ya-i'nadjagê yê'x ts!u îtī'yîn houses and your uncles' memorial and you were dying with cold like also you were

înanī'yîtc. Qa yū'inēlyī tlā'yî āna'x acawuā'yîn. Heyîda't qo'a from this that was done to you.

Now, how, cever-

10 Ax has aya'oliādan. Qlanē' has aosî'nî xîxtel slāxu îcū'qlu-gîn-ltā't from they have put them all down right. A fire they have made frog hat from one great emblem of

has awaa'k k!uā'kcîl iwult!ā'q.")
they made hoping it would make
you warm.")

After every sentence the chief to whom is given the speech says, "Ho'ho" ("I thank you from the bottom of my heart"). When they speak of the crest, he says, "Wē't!a qo'a" ("That's the one"), meaning that that was the crest he wanted to hear of.

The speaker continues:

"We hope that you will be well warmed, and that you will sleep well on account of what your grandfathers have done for you. This is all." ("There we hope well you will be and well you sleep, your grand-fathers warmed warmed warmed states")

îdā'q! wuādiyē'tc. A'a yū'a.") for you having done. This is all.")

Then the man who is putting up the pole rises and says:

"I thank you, my grandfathers, for your words. It is as if I had been in a great flood. My uncles' houses and my uncles' poles went drifting about the world with me. But now your words have made [the flood] go down from me. My uncles' houses have drifted ashore and have been left at a good place. Through your words my uncles' poles have drifted ashore at a good place. Your kind words have put down my floor planks. We have been as if we were cold. But now that you have made a fire for us with my grandfathers' emblem we shall be very warm. Thank you for what you have done. On account of your words we will not mourn any more. This is all."

("Gūnaltcī'ca, axlī'lk!"-has, īyaqayî' āde' wutī'yiyê. Tc!ayê'xawe ("We thank you, my grandfathers, your words please me. Just so uwayā' xān wulqō'wu yêx tī'yîn yā axkā'k-has hî'tî, qa axkā'k-has it was with was flooded like was these my uneles' honses, and my uneles'

dākedî' xān līngît-ā'nî tūt wulqō'wu. Yīda't qo'a iyaqāyî' axka'q! poles with world in were drifting around.

But now your words for me

yên wulîlā'. Qā axkā'k-has hî'tî yak!ē'yî yēnax yên wulixā'c thus have made it go down. And my uneles' houses on a good place ashore there have drifted

Aq! k!êdē'n yīx wulā'. Qa Axkā'k-hAs dakē'dî yAk!ē'yi yē'nAx yên at it well down flood has gone. And my uncles' poles at a good ashore there

Qā axtoqyītā'yî yaqayê'te k!edē'n ā'yî yīsî'nî wułixā'c iyaqā'yîtc. your words. And my floor planks well down you put yīyaqayî'tc. Hāsē'waat!î yêx hātī'yīyîn, hānanī'yîte. Heyida't your [kind] words, We were cold as if we were we have been.

qo'a Axlī'lk!u-has Atū'wu hātcū'lyjūgî'te teala'k!u hā'kugwat!ā. 10
now my grandfathers' erest yon have made a
fire for us of '

we will be warm.

Gunalteī'e ādē'yīyî-dzîgī'dîyê. Lēl tu'la īcā'n hātū'yēqgwatī' āde'
Thank you for what you have done. Not any more we will mourn, because

yīyAqayî' wutī'yiyētc. A'a yū'a.'')
your words have been [so kind]. This is all.'')

Now the chief of the Kasqlague'dî, of the opposite division, speaks, directing his remarks at first, not to the giver of the feast, but to the opposite Ravens:

"My ancestors, if the other side did not share in your enjoyment it would not be right. So, if we have said anything to displease you, please overlook it for the sake of the chief."

("Axdākē'tq!î telaade' yēn goatī'yī sagūwu' Lēł gāgo'xeatī. Ła ("My ancestors, if the other side did not share in this not it would be right, So yā'q!a qowustī'yiyê yēsagū'wu he atc q!wan tcadā'qo yuq!ata'nksa if we have said anything to displease you this (imp.) please overlook agē'dî wutī'yî tcade' yî'ndî ye'na-îsa'nî nī q!wa'n.'')

for the sake of the chief.'') (imp.)

Then he says to the singers:

"Take up your poles. Start a song."

("Yīwuts!ā'gayî yīdjī'k ke at gax yîeî'.")
("Your poles you take up thing will you sing.")

After this the second division of dancers goes out, dresses up, and enters dancing. When the dance is over, the first chief of that division—of which there are three chiefs, although it contains only two families—i. e., the chief of the Kasq!ague'dî, begins to talk to the chief of the feast. He says:

"Now wrap your father's brothers up in good words. Yes, yes, hear my words just as they come to you."

("About him wrap good words (imp.) your father's brothers. A-a' he'tea ctūx xat

your father's Yes, yes, now into them-selves

alakîge'Lîguts alwa'n.")

5 q!akîge'Lîguts q!wa'n.")
words come let.")

Then he calls out the name of the chief giving the feast, that of the chief next under him, and the names of some high-caste women. As their names are called they answer, "Hē" ("Present"). Then he perhaps proceeds as follows:

"People killed one another at Gît!î'kc. And the people of Gît!î'kc were being destroyed. Then only one chief was saved along with his sister and niece. Now the chief began thinking, 'I wonder what chief would know certain things that he could tell me.' He asked one old man if he could tell him. Not being suited, he sent for several, who did not suit him either. By and by he thought of Old-man-who-knows-all-troubles. He sent for him to have him tell the thing, and he suited him completely. He stayed with him. At this time he (the old man) made him a helmet and an arrow, an arrow which could talk. Then the old man was going to show him what to do. He instructed him: 'My friends always lie way out there in their canoes. Never let it go at them.'

"Then he let the arrow go toward his enemies. It struck the chief's heart. It killed him. The people did not see where the arrow came from. Then Old-man-who-knows-all-troubles was sent for. He was examining it, and it flew out from him. As the arrow flew away it said, 'Naxguyū'uū.' So they discovered the chief who owned this arrow. They set out to war against him. Then he put on his war hat, and his sister went before him. He went out of doors in a cloud of ashes. He killed all in four of the enemies' canoes. Then they went toward him to war again, but he forgot what the old man had

told him. For this reason the old man killed the chief with his own-arrow. At this time the woman went up to the woods with her daughter. And now the two alone saved themselves. Now something helped her. The sun's son married her daughter, and her daughter had children. There were eight, one of which was a girl. Then a house was made for them and food and provisions were put into it. They were let down on Gît!î'kc, their grandfather's town.<sup>a</sup>

"That is the way your grandfathers have been. There were canoe loads of trouble around you. Now, however, these grandfathers of yours have been lowered down like the sun's children. Your food was burnt through the trouble you have had. The hard times they had at Gît!î'ke are the hard times you have been having on account of your troubles. Now your grandfathers have made war clothes for you. They have done like Old-man-who-knows-all-troubles. Now your grandfathers have put their raven hat on your head. They have put all your grandfathers' emblems around you like a fort to save you. And your grandfathers who have gone will seat themselves around you. These, your grandfathers' people, will gather around, and they will raise up these emblems to console you. It has been raining upon you so that you could not find a dry place. Now, however, your grandfathers have put the raven boards over you. Finally you are in a dry place. You will sleep well under them, grandchild. This is all."

("HeGît!î'kcîq! awe' wūc wudū'wadjaq. Ada'xawe qotx yā has they killed. Then they were getting "At this Git!!/ke one heGît!î'kc Ada'x Lē'nax te!u ā'wunēx cundulxī'x qoan. these Gît!î'kc people. Then only destroyed duĻā'k qa duqē'lk!. Ada'xawe ctā'yu tudîta'nk angā'wo qā a chief, and his sister and his niece. · Then to himself began thinkyuanqā'wo yetuwatī' āsdō'sa cka'lnîk slā'tî saku xān ckangalnī'k. what would know chief for to me he could tell.' 'I wonder Ada'xawe ā'waxōx Lē'nax wudīcanî' qā duī'n ekangalnī'k. was an old man to him he could tell. he asked one Lēł acwaga'gā wucti', ada'x la q!ūnina'x yên wāt sa ā'waxōx. for several there when he suited him, then then to that not Wananī'sayu aka'x Lēk duwā'ge k!ē wuctī'. were. Finally of him good his eyes Adawu'Ll-cā'naklu. Ada'x āwaxo'x acī'n ckangalnī'gît. Ada'x Lax Old-man-who-knows-all-troubles. he sent for to him he could tell him some things he did not know. wā'sa etu'ga q!aoditā'n. Doxwa'nî uwaxe'. Heada'x Llaocadā'dji he stayed. At this time much (lit. how) he suited him. With him yîs aoliyê'x qā teū'net, yūteū'net yu-q!ayata'nk. Ada'x yucanu'ktc 10 for he made and an arrow, an arrow that could talk. Then du-ī' kūłgu'ktc āde' qukuganū'kuyê. Ada'x acukā'wadja: would show him what to do. Then he instructed him:

Axxō'nq!î awe' da'kdê yên cakūstī'q!tc. Lîł ayî'kde djina'qxêq there out lle. Never toward it let go q!wan wetcu'net.'

the arrow.' (imp.)

"Ada'x yūtcū'net ke aocîdu'k duyanā'yî anî' kāde'. Yuanqā'wo he let go his enemies' town toward. the arrow up dutē'q! wulīga's!. Ac uwadja'q. Ada'x Lēł yên dutī'n yūtcū'net. It killed him. Then not where they saw his heart it struck.

5 Ada'x wudū'waxōx A'dawuł-cā'nak!u. Ada'xdudjī't dustā'n. Then was sent for Old-man-who-knows-all-Then to him was examintroubles.

ke udîqê'n. Ada'x Dudiida'x gan A' Xyutcū'net yūq!wayata'nk From him outside through out it flew. Then the arrow flying away smoke hole

'Naxguyü'u-ū' Ada'x a-ī't wudūdzîkū' yuq!ayaqa'. yūangā'wo 'Naxguyū'u-ū' said. Then it was he came to know Dudā't tcunē'tîx satiyî'. хã djîndudzîgū'. Ada'x dułaocadā'yê who had come to have To him to war they went quickly. Then his war hat the arrow.

tū'dê wugū't. Ada'x kanduwahā'ku duļā'ktc. Ada'x yux nagu't Then went before him his sister. Then 10 gunī'te-da'ndjayi tūt yêsē'n. Ada'xawe daq!ū'n xa'yī

yā'gu yîkt the dust of ashes in he was. Then four enemies' canoes Ada'x tslu a-ī't dudā't xā djiudigu't. Ada'x aka't kacułixī'x. he killed all. Then again there to him to war they came. Then to him yucana'kutc sēwaka'ku ade' dāyaqā'yiyê. Atcayu' duwadja'q what the old man had told him. This is why he forgot killed yucana'kutc tca dutcunē'dî tîn. yuanqā'wo Heada'x the old man indeed his own arrow with. At this time ada'qde wugū't dusī' tîn. He de'tca ye daxna'x has cudzînē'x. up to the her with. · And now thus just two they went

15 Heada'x qo'a du-ī'gā wusū'. Ada'x yugagā'n yītte uwaca' At however, for her some- was helped Then the sun's thing

daughter

duya'tq!î dusī'. Ada'x gödzîte'. Nas!gaducu'nax wūtī'. her children came to be. Eight were they. Then daughter.

cāwa'tx aosite'. Ada'x ha'sdu hî'tî yên ū'wanī ayī' atxayî' qa there was made into a woman WAS. Then their house their food and which

Ada'x has kanduliya' Gît!î'kcîk hasdulī'lk!-has ānî'q!. yū'duwēt. provisions on Gît!î'ke at their grandfathers' town. Then they were let down [went].

Ye āyatī'yîn natīvē't îkā'k-has. Qotx ac u wułxī'xîn nātiyē't. your grand-fathers. it was have been Canoe loads of trouble were around you.

20 Ada'xayu îkāk-has at-ū'wu idē'nx aya'osîgan nātī'yētte. He yīda't your uncles' crests from you burnt Now, are. Qa iatxā'yî

qoa' de gagā'n yīt yêx has wudzigī't yā-îlī'lk!-has. how-indeed the sun's chil-lik they were lowered these your grand-fathers. And your food

He yaGît!î'kcîq! yawusā'yi adawu'l iq!axa'nxya wusgānî'n īnanī'yîtc. belonging to you has been through this These at Git!i'kc were burnt trouble you have had.

a'ya īka'q! yeyati' ya-înanī'yî ye'yati. Ada'x yīda't îdjiyî's has were through your troubles are. Then now for you there to you

aoliyê'x ī'laocadayî saku îlī'lk!u-hastc. He Adawu'L!-cī'nak!u yêx have made your war clothes for your grandfathers. This Old-man-who-knows-all-troubles

has wudzîgī't. Heyida't de îcū'x has awatī' îlī'lk!-haste hasduyë'l they have come to Now indeed on your they have put your grand-fathers' their raven

slāxu. He tea gwaatē' îga' ganē'xît dagê' nu yêx idā'q! has aosîni' hat. Is it indeed for you to be saved that fort like around they put

ldaka't ilī'lk!-has atū'wu. Qa ya-da'qde-wuā'dê ilī'lk!-has idā'q!
all yonr grandfather's emblems. And they that have gone your grandfathers gou

wū'cte has gux daqē'. Qa ya-îlī'lk!-has adadê' gonaye' qwaā't ā 5 them they will scat. And these your grand fathers

has acagu'x saqe'. Qa inanawu'te ikade' kawu'\(\frac{1}{2}\) q!\(\tilde{a}\)'s\(\tilde{n}\). Heyida't they will raise up these emblems (to console you).

And it has been raining on you so that you could not find a dry place.

Now,

kawulq!ā'sî. He k!êdē'n Ata-i'yīq! gage'tā texank!. A'a.") is a dry place. This well under them you will grandchild. This is all.")

Then the chief giving the feast answers:

"I thank you very much that through these words of yours you have placed yourselves below me. And I feel that you are sitting very close to me. What you have said to me is true, my grandfathers. I have been as if enemies had surrounded me to fight in this place of my uncles. It is as if my uncles' town had been burned with me. Now, however, you have brought help to me like the children of the sun. It was just as if my uncles' crests had been burned. But now, since I have heard you speaking so well of them, it is as if my uncles had come back. My uncles' house is like that lowered down at Gît!î'ke. These words of yours have brought luck to me like the sun's children. I thank you very much. I feel that what you have said to me is true. You have put my grandfathers' hat, the ravenhat, upon my head, which will save me as if it were a war shirt. And your crests which you have put around me like a fort will also save me. It was as if I had been dying here with cold. But now that my father's brothers have seated themselves near me, I shall be warm. It is indeed as if it had been raining on me, but now that you have put my grandfathers' boards over me, I shall at last be dry. It is true that I have not slept. But now I shall soon sleep under my grandfathers' boards. This is all."

("Ho'ho gunalteī'e aleqî'ntyu yā'-idaqayî' axtayī'q! ye eiyī'dzînī.
("I thank you very much that through these words of yours me below thus you put your-selves.

Qå tūxānū'ku ax dāk wuct yīdaqēye'. La q!ē'ga awe' xat da'ya-iqa 10 and I feel me very yourself you seat. Then true it is me what you said to

Axlī'lk!"-has. He ūwaya' A'xdāt xā djiudî'gude yax tī'yî: my grandfathers. This I have been around me for war had come quickly like I have been

yāAxkā'k-has nanī'yîtc. He'tc!a ayê'x xān kēndusgā'nîn axkā'k-has these my uncles I have been living. It is indeed like it with me has burned my uncles'

ānî'. Heyida't qoa' uwayā' gagā'n ya'tq!î yêx xāga' yī'wusū. town. Now, however, it is sun children like for me you have

He djaldaka't yax ye wusganî' yêx tī'yîn axkā'k-has atū'wu.

All these things [are] just thus had been burned like it was my uncles' crest.

Heyida't qo'a uwayā' qox wudiā'di yêx yati' axkā'k-has Now, however, it is back had come like it is my uncles

5 yî-yu-q!ata'ngîte. He ūwaya' Gît!î'kcîq! ka'nduliayî hît yêx wutī' you have spoken so well of them.

This is as if at Git!î'kc lowered down house like is

Axkā'k-has hî'tî. He yī'yaqayî qo'a xāga' wūsu' uwayā' gagā'n my uneles' house. These words of yours, however, for me have it is the sun

ya'tq!î yax. Gunaltcī'c. Te!a ayê'xawe yu-q!wayī'yî-lia'tk tūxanū'k li thank you very much. Just like it what you have said to me I feel

yiyaqayî'. He yā'axcā'x yī'tī axlī'lk!"-has s!āx" yēl s!āx" at!ē'q! your words. This on my head you have my grandfathers' hat, raven hat behind it

ye xat goganë'x uwayā' sa'nkēt yêx gogwatī' axka'q!. Qa thus me will save it is was shut like it will be to me. And 10 yā'yī atū'wu ts!u axdā'q! nūx yīlīya'xe atē'q! ye xat gagwanē'x. these your emalso around me as a fort you have put behind it thus me will save.

Uwayā' ā't!teya hat yadjageya' xat tī'yîn. Heyida't qo'a ya It was cold here were killing I was. Now, however, these axsa'nî-has qotx cūwaxī'xî a'xdāq! wuct has wudaqēyî' xat gu'gat!ā.

my fathers' were destroyed to me themselves they have seated I will be warm.

Hē'tc!a ayê'x at kadê' kawu'lq!ā'sîn. Heyīda't qo'a axlī'lk!"-has Itisindeed like it on me it has been raining. Now, however, my grandfathers' q!ē'nî axkā' ke yī'tānî hūtc! axkade' kawu'lq!āsi. He q!ē'ga Lēlboards on me up you have finally over me it will bedry. This true not

15 xoatexê'n. Heyida't qo'a axlī'lk!"-has q!ē'nî tayī'q! axyade'
l have slept. Now, however, my grandfathers' boards under for me
tak"gwaxī'x. A'a yū'a.")
will soon be sleep. This is all.")

After this speech the next family on the first side, which perhaps is the Qā'tcadî, asks the second division to make another speech. They do this, because, having been the first to dance, they do not wish to be selfish. So the speaker of the Tālqoe'dî begins, perhaps thus:

"On the Nass a grizzly bear captured a high-caste girl. She was among the grizzly-bear people. She could not get away. Then she married one of the grizzly-bear people. Then they went for salmon, but their wives went after firewood. This woman did not know how to get firewood like grizzly bears. Then an old woman among the grizzly-bear people called her aside, and said to her, 'Do you know that the grizzly-bear people have captured you? They captured you because you were angry with their tracks. The same thing happened to me. I am a human being who was captured.' The old

woman said, 'Get wet wood for firewood.' After that she did as she was directed. Then her fire did not go out, and her husband was fond of her. Now the high-caste woman felt very brave.

"After some time had passed the high-caste girl felt sad. Then the old woman called her again. She said to her, 'Are you downhearted?' After that she gave her some things with which to save herself—a devil's-club comb, a wild rosebush comb, sand, mud, and a piece of rock. With these she ran off to some place where she could be saved. Then the grizzly-bear people ran after her. When they got near her the devil's-club comb became a hill of devil's club. When they again got close to her, she threw away the rosebush comb. When they got up to her again, she threw away the sand. This sand became a big sand hill. When she saw that they had come close to her again, she threw away the mud. The last thing was the stone. She threw it away. It became a big hill. She ran down to the beach. Then, however, the Gonaqadē't's son came ashore there. He saved her from her pursuers. This man's name was Gīnacamgê'tk."

"In just that way the trouble that you have had has captured you. These [grandfathers] are the old woman to you, informing you of all things. You are like the woman. They are like this to you, as if they had given you the raven hat as she gave her the devil's-club comb. This frog-cane they have given you is as if they had given the rosebush and the mud. Since you have this cane to throw you will be saved. The last one of all will be the frog-post. So your grandfathers' emblem will save you. My uncle that died long ago has come ashore to save you. I hope you will be saved at once in your grandfathers' canoe. But we who are dancing here for you are not really ourselves. It is our long dead uncles who are dancing here for you. This eagle down will descend among you from their heads and will save you like good medicine. I hope you will sleep well in all these feathers. This is all."

("A'a he Nās yî'q!awe xūts!te qōsînē'x Lē'nax anyê'dî. Ada'xawe ("Now this Nass down on a grizzly captured one high-caste girl. Then

xūts! qoa'nî xōq!" ye wutī'. Lēl ade' qon ganū'guyî qōst'î. the grizzly people among so she was. Not there a thing she could do was.

Ada'xawe xuts! qoa'nîte ūwaca'. Ada'xawe xāt ga has naa'tte
Then was [one of] people she married. Then salmon for they went
grizzly bear

wexū'ts! qoa'nî hasduca'tq!ayên qo'a gan ye has adanē'nutc. the grizzly people their wives however firewood so they used to go and get.

Ada'x yucā'wat Lēl ūcgū'k yuxū'ts! qoa'nîdji yêx gan ye'danî.

Then: the woman not knew the grizzly people like fire how wood to get.

Ada'x qo'a yucāna'k!<sup>u</sup> xūts! qoa'nî xōq! yēyatiyî yucā'tk!<sup>u</sup> ā'waxōx.

Then, however, an old woman grizzly bear people among was the little woman called aside.

[BULL, 39

Hasduī'q! īwunī'k!îte ā'ya has īusînē'x. Xat ts!u ye xat wududzinī'.

Their tracks you were dlsgusted with was they saved you.

you were dlsgusted with was they saved you.

I too thus to me something happened.

Lîngî't yī'yî ā'ya xat wududzînē'x.' Yucāna'k!utc ye dayaqa',

A human being [1] was I came to be captured.'

The old woman thus said,

'Hīn tak cā'gî qo'a gan saku ye'dānane.' Ada'x aq!ayê'x ye 'Wet wood, however, firewood for get.' Then as directed so

5 adē' wune'. Ada'x duga'nî Lēł ka wułkī's. Ada'x duxo'x tūwu' there she did. Then her fire not went out. Then her husband's

wuk!ê' duī'dê. Ada'x yuanyê'dê Lax dutū'wu wulîtsī'n.
were good over it. Then the high-caste very her feelings were strong (i.e., she felt brave).

"Ada'x ts!u te!ākux ostīyî' Lax tūwu' yênī'ku yuanyê'tqo. Ada'x "Then again quite a while passed very her feelings were sick the high-caste girl. Then

yucā'n ts!u ac wuxō'x. 'He wā'sa, îtū'watī,' yuacia'osîqa.
the old also her called. 'This how, you are downhearted,' what said to her.

xē'du, q!onyē'l-wa's!î xē'du, 10 ac gwax sînē'xe s!axt!At to save her some things devil's club eomb, wild rosebush comb. and L!ē′wu, qa k!olk, qa yayē'na. Ada'xawe ke wudjîxī'x and mud, and roek. Then away yē'dî. ac gwāx dzînē'xe He ada'x ya ac yanasa'q yuxū'ts! where she could save her- to a place. Then were running after her the grizzly

qoa'nî. Ada'x dukā'k ke lunagu'qo yuxū'ts! s!axt! xē'du s!axt!

people. Then near her were close to her the grizzly devil's comb devil's club

qā'dî Lēnx ositi'. Ada'x ts!u dukā' ke lunagu'qo q!onyē'l-wa'slî hill become big was. Then again to her close they had got rosebush

15 xē'du ke aosîgî'q. Ada'x ts!u dukā' ke lunagu'qo yuL!ē'wu ke comb away she threw. Then again to her up when they came the sand up Akāwagî'q!. A Lēn L!ē'wu L!aoca'x wusîte'. Ada'x ts!u aosîtē'n she threw. This big sand become sand-hill was. Then again she saw

dukā' ke lunagu'qo ts!u ke awagî'q! yuk!o'Lk. Äda'x wū'tc!î to her close when they got again up she threw the mud. Then the last thing

ayê'x wusîtî' yuyayē'na. Tc!uLe' ke awagî'q!. A Lēn cāx wusitī'.

20 ducū'nax yên ūwaqo'x. Aq! guganayē'dax ac wusînē'x. Yuqā' at once there came ashore. There from her pursuers her he saved. The man ye dowasā'ku Gīnacamgê'tk. thus was named Ginacamgê'tk.

"Heye' awe' îtī'yīn q!AnA A' qeyîlgā'dîn yucā'wAt yêx. Heye' ā'we
"Like this it was you have the trouble that has been on the woman like.

These
[grandfathers]

īwatī' yucāna'k!utc cukawadjā'yê. Cāwa't yêx iwatī'. He'de de arc to you the old woman informing of all things. This woman like you arc. Like this indeed idjī't has awatī'. Yayē't slāxu slaxtl xē'du yêx has aosînī'. Āya' to you they arc. This raven hat devil's comb like they gave. This

xîxtc! wuts!ā'ga de īdjī't has awata'n yuq!onyē'\lambda-was!î yax qa irog cane indeed to you they gave the rosebush like and yu'kolkē' yêx has aosînī'.

the mud like they gave.

Heyū' ya i'yanasnaqna'nî At!ē'q!

They will not catch you since you behind it

qo'dê has gux daā't. Hehū'te!î ayê'x gox satī' yaîtī'tk!u-has gā's!î, 5 these your grand- post,

xîxte! gās!. At!ē'q! îq!gwanē'x îtī'tk!"-has atū'wu. Hēde' îcū'nax frog post. Behind it will save you your grand-fathers' emblem. This ashore for you

axkā'k. yên te!āku unā'wu Heyida't qo'a dē'yāx ū' waqox my uncle. Now, however, came long ago died nīvî's ayī' He duākucê'l te!uLē'x îtî'lk!"-has iunixî'q ī'usîgūt. he has come 1 hope in it you will be your grandforever for you. fathers'

yāgu'. Heyā' ida't qo'a atūL!ē'xê Lēł uhā'n ā'ya atuL!ē'x. canoe. Here for you, however, we are dancing not we it is we are dancing.

Telāku wunā'wa akā'k-has ā'ya yaq!aL!ē'x. Heyā' hasducā' q!oa'L!î 10 Long ago died our uncles it is who are dancing here. These their heads eagle down,

gokatī'. Hedjîldaka't yaq!oa'L!tūq! gagetā' gwak"cî'l ye wutī'q. will be. All in these feathers you will sleep I hope thus will be.

A'a yu'a.")
This is so.")

Then the host answers him, after first mentioning the names of all the Raven families that are dancing, speaking as follows:

"It is indeed true that here with my uncles I have been as if captured. It is true that I have seen my aunts, and that they have shown me the way down to the beach. It is true that they are like my grandfathers' hat. It is true that my aunts have given me the frog-cane as the devil's-club comb was given. Now I feel as though I had been saved. These two emblems of my grandfathers are like a cliff behind which I shall be saved. Now my long dead fathers have come ashore. I will go down to them. I will stay with them forever. This is all, my fathers."

("Tc!aya'xawe yêxatī'yī tca gonaa'tte xat wusnexê'n ya-axkā'k-has
("Just like it I am some strange animals I was captured by these my uncles (i. e., trouble for them)

nanī'yîtc. Telaya'xawe xosîtī'n yā daganadê' wuā'dê axā't-has ahas 15 have done it. Just like it I have come to see

xat cūkawadja' yai'q. Hē'tca aya'x axdjī't has awati' axlī'lk!"-has me have showed all this beach. It is true' like it to me they are my grand-fathers'

Axdjī't Hē'tca ava'x gunalteī'e axā't-has s!āxu. has āwata'n like it I thank you my aunts to me they It is true yuxî'xtc! wuts!ā'ga yus!a'xt! xē'du yaxt has aosī'nī. Heyida't qo'a the devil's comb like to they cane

uwayā' xat wūnē'xe yaxt axtūwu' yatī'. Yaaxlī'lk!"-has ha'sduatū'wū it is I had been like to my mind is. These my grand-fathers

5 wūnā'wu axī'c-has axcū'nax yên has uwaqo'x. Ade'ha'sduyîx there they came. my fathers ashore There ha'sduyîkq! te!uLē'x gwagū't. Hade' xat wūnē'x. down with them 1 Now forever This is so. I will go. axī'c-has.") my fathers.")

Next the chief of the Tī hît tān might speak as follows:

"Down in the Tsimshian country lived a young high-caste woman who was captured by a devilfish. The people discovered that she was lost, and finally they began hunting for her, but they could find her nowhere. After they had given up looking for her they saw some young devilfish coming up on the doorstep. They were thrown down from there upon the beach. Afterward they came back again. Then they left them alone, and they climbed up into the chief's lap. From this circumstance he found out what had happened. He said, 'My daughter must have been captured by the devilfish.' Then he gave food to the devilfishes. When they went away the food left over was carried down after them and the trays were set down by the devilfish rock. When he found out that his daughter was under that rock, he felt very happy."

"So it was with you, my son. It was as if you had been captured by the devilfishes. Therefore, these your father's people have come down to ask you to partake of food with them from under that rock. That is how your father's people have gotten you now. Therefore they have taken the clothes off of you that have been wet by the sea water and which you can not yourself see. It was so with that woman. She could not see that her clothes were in that condition. Just so you are now going to be given clothing from these skins that belonged to your father's people. They will make a great fire to warm you out of everything your fathers' people have claimed.

"This is the way it has been with you. The way your uncles were taken away from you was just as though you had been captured by devilfishes. I hope you will be warm this evening and lie down and be comfortable. A'a yu'a (This is so)."

The chief would answer thus:

"Thank you, my father's people, for having talked so well of me, Kîksa'dî, Kasq!ague'dî, Tālqoe'dî, Tī hît tān, and Qā'tcadî. It is so. I have been captured by the devilfishes. This trouble had cap-

tured me. I have been cold under that rock. It was my troubles that made me cold while there with the devilfishes. But now my father that had died has sent for me. It is right that he has sent for me, for the tide used to come over me. With the troubles I have been going through it looked as though the tide had come over me. Now I thank you that you have saved me from this place where the tide has been coming over me. It is right. I have been cold. But now, since you have made a fire with the things my father's people claim, I shall be warm. But the words that you have spoken for me are so warm they will keep me warm always. A'a yu'a."

Finally they say to the chief of the Qā'tcAdî, "Now you speak a few words to this descendant of yours." So the chief of the Qā'tcAdî rises and says:

"There was a high-easte person at Ta'qdjîk-an who bathed for strength every morning. His name was Galwe't!. It was then that he made what they call anluwu'. He had a nephew by the name of Duktū'L!, and this nephew was bathing for strength in secret. Galwe't! was very proud because he was exercising thus, and the people of his village were very proud with him. They would make fun of the man who bathed in secret, but he did not say anything to them. Then he heard the voice of his Strength. While he was in bathing a voice called to him saying, 'Come here.' So he went thither. When he got there, the little man (Strength) and he wrestled, and Duktū'L! was thrown down. After he had been thrown down, Strength said to him, 'Go again into the water and bathe. I will come to you once more.' He heard the voice a second time, and went ashore, and they again wrestled. Then Duktū'L! almost threw Strength down. Strength said, 'That is enough. You are already sufficiently strong.' Then he went up, pulled the limb out and twisted the tree to the roots. Afterward he put the limb back and untwisted the tree. Now he went away and made the people who had been so proud, ashamed of themselves. This poor man, Duktū'L!, came to be above the proud people.

"After that they went to the sea-lion island. There he showed his strength. Then the proud people went away and left him on that island, but the sea-lion people helped him. They gave him a box with which to get ashore. With that he got ashore to his uncle's village. Then he took his uncle's place. He owned the whole village. So it was with this Duktū'r.!. a

"As he became very poor by his own will, so it was with you, my son. Your father's people that died years ago have come out from the woods and have given you strength. So it was with you. Your uncles and your people had left you on the sea-lion island. Now your father's people have felt for you and have given you Halibut

house (Nālx hît). They have given it to you as the sea lions gave the box to the poor man. On account of this, my son, you will forget that you are mourning. A'a yu'a."

Then the host would reply:

"Ho ho, thank you very much, my father's people. How very good your words have been to me, Kîksa'dî, Qā'tcadî, Tī hît tān, Kasq!ague'dî, Tālqoe'dî. It is true that I have become poor through mourning for my uncles. I have been teaching myself what would help me. And so my father's people have pitied me. They have brought clubs with which I can exercise. I have felt as though my uncles had left me in a desolate place, so much have I been grieving. Now these my father's people have acted like the sea-lion people. They have brought me luck. They have given me that house, Nālx hît, as the sea lions gave that poor fellow the box to bring him ashore. Therefore I thank them very much. Through them I have seen the mainland. In these words you have given me I will be clothed. Everyone will see your words on me as clothing. They will always be new. I shall never wear them out. A'a yu'a."

The dances are followed by the feast and last of all comes the distribution of property accompanied by more speeches similar to the above. Then the chief would say:

"Up above here among the upper villages (i. e., toward the north) there was a certain woman who said something about the brant that brought her bad luck. Her husband's name was Damnā'djî. Then the brants flew away with her. After that she fell from the hands of the brants. From there she went among the foxes. Going along, she found a codfish head. She cooked it and gave it to the fox. a It is that that I have done to you. I have invited you for that codfish head. So have pity on me and eat what I give you, even if it is not good enough." [The codfish head is brought in because it was found by a very poor woman who was starving. The chief humbles himself by using these words.]

Then the people invited to the feast say, "Yes, it will be so. We will do as you have asked us."

After that he calls the name of the chief of each Raven clan, as follows: "Bring me——'s dish." "Bring me——'s dish." After the chiefs' dishes those of the poorer people are called for. These dishes have been brought over in advance from the houses of their owners.

The luqana', who is the chief's nephew, performs early at the time of this feast and is brought into the feast to eat afterward. Piercings for labrets were not made at the feast, but many blankets were given away by the girl's father when it did occur. The work was done by some one of the opposite phratry.

When the feast proper was over a kind of show was given, in fact three of them, one by the family of the giver of the feast and one each by the two divisions of Ravens. The chief gives his show first and then the Raven groups in the order in which they had spoken. In one of these shows a man wearing a mask would come in and some one would say, "My uncle (a dead relative) has come back to see you. He must have been captured by a gonaqadē't, a grizzly bear, or a wolf." The persons with these masks on are all supposed to be yēks, (i. e. supernatural beings).

# WORDS OF SONGS TAKEN IN CONNECTION WITH GRAPHOPHONE RECORDS

The language of these songs is so highly metaphorical that they are often difficult to understand even in the light of the native explanations, and in some cases the author's informants were themselves uncertain with regard to the meaning. Several songs refer to myths and are explained by them, and there are a few shamans' songs, but by far the larger number were composed for feasts or in song contests between men who were at enmity with each other.

(1) A song about Raven's travels through the world, used at all kinds of dances:

Dēl yax wudatsē'n cēyē'l. Hayidē' wugudī'n. Agā'gucî duluwu'

A big like must have been that raven. Down under he went, fellow

neuth

At that time his nose

ke wududzîya'q. Aga' āntū'x yāwagu't dulū'wuga. Acdjī't dutī' up they came to pull. At that through the he went for his nose. To him it was [given]

ān gānt wudîqî'n. Ayê'x ansînī' dogodjiyaqayî'. Ān gānt with it out of he started to fly. Like it he does now to his (opposite) Wolf With it outside phratry.

wudîqî'n. Wâ'sa yūlcîtî'kudaya tc!A nao gadana'. Atū'nax he flew. Why does he not look like but whisky ought to drink. After that

nī'tct na'gegut.
about the you can wander.
whole beach

That Raven must have been a great fellow. He went down under the sea. Then they pulled up his nose. He went through the town for his nose. When it was given to him, he started to fly out of doors. He does so now to his Wolf phratry. He flew out with it. Why! instead of looking like himself, he looks as if he ought to have a drink of whisky. After you have done that you can wander about the entire beach.

# (2) A song about Qakē'q!utê. (See story 104, p. 330.)

E'gê yêq gū'dayn doxō'nq!î qotx cū'waxīx ayu' Le līngî't ye The beach down to when he his friends were all destroyed then [no] per- thus Łaqla'sgî-qla "Lil îłatī'nq!ēq tcîgede'ayu aosîtī'n. ustī'nte. he saw. Łaq!a'sgi point just inside of he saw. "Never you let me

yutē'q! sā'nî, īî'x una'x lîq!ā'ca." the stones little, from me lest it bewitch."

When he came down to the beach, his friends were all destroyed, so that he saw no one. He saw something just inside of Łaqla'sgî point. "Do not let me watch the little stones or I might get bewitched."

· (3) A second song of Qakē'q!"tê composed when he caught a frog instead of a ground hog. (See story 104, p. 330.)

S!āxê'x gâ teucĻîyē'x hedixî'xte!, qā'djî kangahē'n.

Becoming a into might have made ground hog itself that frog, or it might have dug a hole under my trap.

That frog might have turned itself into a ground hog, or it might have dug a hole under my trap.

(4) This was sung by Kaka' after he had been brought up from the south by the land otters (stories 5 and 31). The words below were at the end of the two parts, and when they were uttered he drifted out to sea or ashore, as the case might be.

Da'qdê hā'de qāde'.

seaward let me drift.

Yê'nde hā'de qāde'.

Shoreward let me drift.

(5) Song composed by Qaqlategū'k after his dream on the island. (Stories 67 and 101.)

Ā'ekat nolîxū'djî qa ye teue nadateu'nte. Axānī'q! qoxoagage'
About himbat thought the thus dreams. To my home I got he had persished.

yu-Axtū'natītc. is how I always feel.

The man, who thought he had perished, dreams thus about himself. I keep feeling as if I had gotten home.

(6) Composed about the Gānaxte'dî woman (Gāna'xta-ca) who reared the woodworm. (See pp. 151–152.)

Desgwa'te gî naxāgū't, nana' yîs naxā'gut. Desgwa'te gî
Already I am going, die to I am going. Already
naxā'djūn axyī't.
I have dreamed of my son.

Already I am going, I am going to die. I have dreamed of my son.

(7) A spirit song composed by a shaman called Lūswa't belonging to the Kā'gwantān.

Ł ana'x ke qâgudîya' Djîlqā't kînā'nax qo'a ke qâgudî'.

Not through it up I come Chilkat through, however, up I come.

Łxodē't kîna'nax ke gagu't duyahā'yî āgā'x.

Łxodē't through up I will come and cry.

Not having any place to come up through (i. e., shaman to speak through), I think I will go to Chilkat and come up there.

I will come up through £xode't and cry.

(8) Composed by a man of the T!A'q!dentān named One-whose-quill-is-disliked (T!āwn'kdūłnuk).

Naxā'djūn ceî'xt!agî-yē'gî.

I was dreaming of my spirit under the fireplace.

İxt!ā'gî-yē'gî.

Under the fireplace spirit.

I was dreaming of my spirit under the fireplace.

Under-the-fire-place spirit.

(9) Composed by one of the T!a'q!dentān named Kās!endua'xtc. These spirit songs were also used in dancing.

Hī'nde naixē'te dê, î'xdenax laxā'cî. Watsla's iyē'lî îxînā'nax Into river you throw (imp.) down to the nouth float. Let you at the mouth of the river

ҳа′kut ga dusҳã′t!.

to dry drug him up.

ground
Thusan him into

Throw him into the river that he may float down. Let the Raven people at the mouth of the river drag him up.

- (10) A song with Athapascan words which came to a shaman named Cūwusē'n from an Athapascan spirit—words unintelligible to my informants.
- (11) This is a ground-hog song sung while the singer holds up its skin in front with both hands. Its ery when jumping into its hole is also imitated.

Cana' isanu' dixâ' gël! yît ka tū'āt. Īdjîgē't cuka't yên wake up that young man [and] up on let us go. You get anything before

cīstā'itc. Īdjîgē't cuka't Atcawe' Lēl At idja'qx.
you always
sleep. You get anything [before] not thing you ever
therefore kill.

Wake up that young man and let us go up on the cliff. You always sleep before you hunt. That is why you never kill anything.

(12) After a bear had been killed its head was set up by the fire and people dropped grease into the fire in front of it, at the same time saying "You have come out of the body among us, so you are we."

Yāx agā'n dixâ' yuxū'ts! ade' duaxdjînu'teya, "Whu, whu, whu," In front is burn-of him ing the young fire man bear to say, "Whu, whu, whu," whu," whu,"

ayu' aya'x dayadoqā'nute. that like they always talk to it.

The fire is burning in front of this young man. This is what the grizzly bear is always heard to say: "Whu, whu, whu," so they always talk to it.

(13) A Kā'gwantān cradle song, sung over the child and used also at feasts. The child itself is supposed to be speaking.

hē'dudîkaxēc. Ān dāt naxasgê'ttc.
and I should be Town around I always tramp.
very much ashamed.

I like to ereep around the house all the time after my brother's wife.<sup>a</sup> I thought that he would jump up and I should be very much ashamed. I always tramp about the town [after my brother's wife].

(14) Cradle song for a girl.

La'oxackōxo' xat kadē'xnute, xat kadē'xnute. Cāklu sā'nî he.

If I do not take
anything
I shall always be
ashamed,
I shall always be
ashamed.
Girls little, listen.

Cāk!u sā'nî he.

If I do not take anything [to the party], I shall be ashamed, I shall be ashamed. Little girls, listen. Little girls, listen.

(15) Cradle song for a boy.

Hagu' qadîcā'egî axhu'nx duca't naq nanā'nî.

Now I am certain my brother his wife after he dles.

I am certain to marry my brother's wife after he dies.a

(16) A cradle song of unknown authorship. It might be used by anyone.

Ts!îtsk! agatlū'ku kaiti-ya'dî q!ēs. Q!ât agatage' axlā'k! q!ēs. Small bird let me shoot my younger for. Asmall let me my sister for.

Let me shoot a small bird for my younger brother. Let me spear a small trout for my sister.

(17) The song with which Raven was nursed. Both phratries use it. q!āt!î-dayē'djîyî. Ahā Yēł q!osite'  $AX\bar{O}'X$ vaolîcu'. Aha aha island snipes. Raven tracks among [1] see. Raven's (i.e., here it is)

që'lk!"-has. Dzana', dzana', dzana'.

Bad smelling fish, bad smelling fish, ing fish.

Aha, aha, island snipes. Among them I see lots of raven tracks, the nephews of ravens. Bad-smelling fish, bad-smelling fish, bad-smelling fish.<sup>b</sup>

(18) Composed by one of the Llenē'dî named Cuklusā'yî (Little-lake-up-above), when his people expected others to come with food to give them a feast. His name was probably derived from Auk lake.

Tc!a yigiyî' tūq! qāya't kanahā'ntc. Tsu naqatē'n uga' an Every day in front of my face it always is. Also I sleep when of them

xalqê'ntc. De iī'tde sax"Lît!a'n.

I always Indeed for I long much.
think.

a When a man died and was succeeded by his brother, the latter married the widow.

b Beenuse ravens lived on them.

It is before my face every day. And when I sleep I always think of you. I long much for you.

Thinking about you Ravens comes to me like a sudden sickness.

(19) Also composed by Cukļusā'yî on the same occasion as the preceding.

Tukaisîna't yë'lî etanū'gya qōt uwatī' îda'yu tuta'nk L!enē'dî You make me Raven as if shaking I were completely you thinking L!enē'dî's ya'tq!î.

children.

You make me feel as if I were shaking, thinking about you, L!enē'dî's children.

(20) Composed by Cuk!usā'yî after they had vainly expected a feast for some time.

ehildren.

Ts!u Aka'x ganē'xt xânu'ku îsagūwu' Çānaxa'dî ya'tq!î. Ts!u Again I try to make myself well thinking about you Gānaxa'dī's children. Also îdadê' gāx ctutx xadatē'x.

about crying into I alway try you myself to stop.

I alone am going to die without having seen T!a'q!dentān's children. I try to make myself well again thinking about Ģānaxa'dî's children. I keep trying to stop crying about you.

(21) Composed by Kuxē'r! of the r!enē'dî when they expected people to give them a feast. There is a little bird called people's-thoughts (qātuwu'), and a person knows when he sees it that a feast is coming.

Sugaa'sgî tugasagwē'te iyē'li dîgō'te qātuwu' hāt gadaqê'nîn.

Always feels happy about you thi Welf people's toward when his thoughts fly.

Adū'sgî yēl gux sanē'x dekī'yaq!āq! hī'nî wūtc wuĻîā't. Dea'q! I wonder Ravens will save way out there water together are upset on. On it

has wulixā'c yuyē'l.

You Raven always feel happy about this Wolf phratry when your thoughts fly toward him like the bird named people's-thoughts.

I wonder who can get out and save the Ravens that are upset together way out there in the seas.

(22) This is called Big-song (Cî-Lēn) and was used by all the Kā'-gwantān at feasts after a rich man had died. As they sang all turned around in the direction of the sun. It was also sung for the Deer in making peace, when it was ended differently. Originally it is said to

have come from Lucā'cak!î-ān, where it was composed by Dātxagu'tte (named from the action of a man carving a wolf post when he steps some distance away to take a good look at it).

· [Introductory words] Itë' qoxdziti'yî qāq! aya'q!a Dātxagu'tte q!a

After I am living man I am saying like,

Dātxagu'tte mouth
(he used
to say)

ya'xa Lucā'cak!î-ān dax cī a. like it Sand-hill town from song is.
Uhā'n līngî't-ā'nî tūq! hāqlîge'.

We world inside we feel higher of we feel higher than all.

I am now saying just as the man I live after, Dātxagu'tte, used to say. This song is from Sand-hill town.

We are the people who feel higher than all others in the world.

(23) A song used at feasts when two of the host's people dance and one of each of the two parties invited sings for them.

Kīt-gū'ci-hīnax tela xāt qalixā'c. Da yīā'nî kana'x yên xat In Killer-whale's-dorsal-right I am floating Now your town in front of there I down.

kai'lahît Kā'gwantān yê'tq!î. Kut xat gox lixā'e. wish you would Kā'gwantāh's children. Away I might drift.

I am floating right down in Killer-whale's-dorsal-fin river. I wish you would help me ashore in front of your town, Kā'gwantān's children. I might drift away.

(24) Composed by a man called Small-lake-underneath (Hayi-ā'k!u) about a drifting log found full of nails, out of which a house was built. It is used when a feast is about to be given for a dead man, and they have their blankets tied up to their waists and carry canes.

Wuckē't wulîxā'cî gāyē's! xā'wu yax îda' axtunatī'te. axhu'nx

Drifting [with] log like with I always compare. My brother

tela'ya gax laxā'e. Telanī'dit gu laxā'e. just so let him float. On a good sandy beach sahore.

yax Guts! tū'dî wuxī'xî ida' gagā'n Axtunati'tc AXLa'. like around you goes Clouds into I compare my mother. Acga' Łīngît-ā'nî kanacgê'ttc. That is world makes always dark.

I always compare you to a drifting log with iron nails in it. Let my brother float in, in that way. Let him float ashore on a good sandy beach.

I always compare you, my mother, to the sun passing behind the clouds. That is what makes the world dark.

(25) A Kā'gwantān song used at a feast when a slave is to be killed.

Yek!u'l qodzîti' dî'nayāqāyî', lk!ax ucîtī'yî nayaqāyî'.

Are now backing down the people's words, worthless (people) are people's words.

The words of people are now backing down on me, the words of worthless people.

(26) A potlatch song composed by Man-that-obeys (Qlaya'x-qō'ste) of the Box-house people.

Qā'kdê îtūwati' tca kīt katī'yî? Yayî'kde wudaqē'nî Yēl rēl Out you want to indeed whale are i Inside went Raven not

Acq!ē' wuk!â's? TcA'te!awa AgwAtsā's Yēl q!e'îqgwak!âs tcA dikī't?

[you know what]
he consumed? And indeed you think Raven you will satisfy now you killer whate?

Te! A hūte ciya'x aodîta'n doā'nî. TeA Lē'nax l âganē'x?

Just he with him-turned over his town (the world). And alone how can he save himself?

Why do you want to come out, killer whale? Don't you know what Raven did when he went inside of a whale? And do you think you will satisfy Raven, you killer whale?

He turned this world over with himself. And how can he alone save himself?

(27) Composed by Nawē'ya, a very old man of the Box-house people, just before he died, so that it could be used at feasts.

Ak<sup>u</sup>ce' īwak!e'gî Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î. Îya'tq!î kat idjîk!a'n.
You must be very good, Kā'gwantān's children. Your children for you have jumped to save.

Qē'ga xat ya'yagāxe Wuckitā'n ya'tq!î. De dāq naxagu't Truly she you have pitied Wuckitā'n ehildren. Now up I am going s!agî-qā'wu anî' dê.

ghost world to.

You must be very good, Kā'gwantān's children. Your children have jumped to save you.

I am very glad that you took pity on me, Wuckitā'n's children. Now I am going up to the ghost world.

(28) Song about the eagle hat, sung at a feast when one is not satisfied with the property he has obtained. The word given below, which is the only one, is said to be Tsimshian.

Xēdzicxāga', Here is the eagle hat.

(29) A similar song about the gonaqadē't hat. Informant did not know what the words mean, they being in Tsimshian.

Naganawâ' łuqana' hao hao. Łuqana', however, is evidently Lō'koala, Kwakiutl name for the winter ceremonial.

(30) This song is used by all the Wolf families, who sing it all together just as they are coming in to a feast.

Anqā'wo yanagu't. Yītuwu' yīcAt!î'q!.
A rich man is coming. Your feelings you keep silent.

[Words repeated at the end] Cîsatê' ye yanaqe'tc "Gānha'o hūtc!."

When it is thus they always say "It is all gone."

There is a rich man coming. Keep silent.

When it is ended, they always say, "It is all gone."

(31) Composed in the Tsimshian language and used by the  $K\bar{a}'g$ wantān at a great feast.

Guda'x ganā'keia langī'keia agī'keia. The last word is said to mean "stern of canoe."

(32) Song used like the above.

Xuts!nuwu' de ts!u ye naga'xduūq!. Tca anya'tq!î naxā'.

Hutsnnwu to also thus we are going to to be invited. Very high-caste, are going to eat.

We are also going to be invited to Killisnoo. High-caste people are going to eat.

(33) Composed by a Haida living in Sitka, called Naqā'li, or popularly "Haida Charley," and used when four dance together at a feast.

Wāsā'ku dêndzîgī't Axcagî'nîya. Yēl hī'nî kî'na qohâ'n qo'a I wonder what will do to me my future life. Raven's river at head of people, however.

gote ānî' kādê' telayu' luwagu'q. Wolf town to right to have started to go.

Uqa'tulîtsī'n cêqayē'lî qo'a Lēk! yên dudzîqā' cîĢānAxte'dî thaye no hard feelings against tribe,

ya'tq!î. Hānde' idjî'n te!înakalaĻē'gu. enildren. Come here your hands I will shake.

I wonder what will happen to me in the future. The people at the head of the Raven's river have started for the Wolf phratry's town.

I have no hard feelings against the Raven phratry and I said nothing to Gānaxte'dî's children. Come here and I will shake your hands.

(34) Song composed by Naqā'di (Haida Charley) for four when they are dancing at a feast.

Dēxtutse' Kîksa'dî ya'tq!î tc!a akayē'x tcuc gîĻîyē'x, da îcandê' If two-minded Kîksa'dî's children just so like it might something happen,

iyē'lî qo'a.
your Raven however.
phratry

Nao yax yā xat kanalcē'n axlī'lk!"-has ānî'. Daga gōt'c sa Whisky like like this I were getting drunk my grandfathers' town. What Wolf [phratry]?

Axdauna'x sîdā'q.
ean bring my mind into
the right place.

Don't be double-minded, Kîksa'dî's children, or something might happen to you, but have pity on your Raven phratry.

Thinking about my grandfathers' town is just as if I were getting drunk with whisky. There is no Wolf phratry (person) that can set my mind aright.

(35) Composed by Going-aeross-the-road (Degahē't!) who belonged to the T!î'kana tribe of the Xakanū'kedî.<sup>a</sup>

De sēq! qokastū'q!" Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î. Aga' naxatō'nî yê'ndî Now on neck lamgoing toticit, Kā'gwantān's children. So that when I am asleep

xat tu gux ładjā'q.
1 shall know that it is with me.

I am going to tie it around my neck, Kā'gwantān's children, so that when I am asleep I shall know that it is with me.

I wonder if Kā'gwantān's children will ever forgive me. My feelings are always troubled.

(36) Composed by Little-lake-up-above (Cuk!usā'-yî) of the L!enē'dî. See songs 18-20, above.

De'djî yanū'gu kātuwu' cēyu'gî îtna'x ka dunē'k ka godjî' yaqayî'.

Must have been very great that they were telling to me after it is past

Wolf phratry's

Duhū'tc! īn yîs wute yên Axdogā'x Kîksa'dî ya'tq!î.

The last time for with each other let us be very friendly,

The Wolf phratry's words that they are telling me about must have been very great.

Let us be friendly with each other for the last time, Kîksa'dî's children.

(37) Composed by one of the Kîksa'dî named Dead Raven (Nāwiyē'l). There was a second part to this which the writer's informant had forgotten.

Teusu'ga iyuq!âta'ngî tū'de qoxdzîā'x Q!atkaū'yî ya'tq!î.

Very attentively what you have said to I listened Island-people's children.

I have listened very attentively to your words, Island-people's children.

(38) Composed by one of the Kā'gwantān named Be-careful-of-it (Kālgā's).

Āgā'xa yūt iya'k!<sup>u</sup> xogē'qte Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î gōte q!a'łatsīnî. No more away your face I will throw Kā'gwantān's children Wolf because you make valuable.

Daqâ't kax sa Axtuwa'sîgu yē'lyi anî'? Gul kawusū'nkax What ? do I care about Raven's town? Only when there is just a little in me

axtuwâ'sigu yē'lyi ā'nî.

I like Raven's town.

I will no more throw your faces away, Kā'gwantān's children, because you are the ones that make the Wolf phratry valuable.

What do I care about the Raven's town? I like it only when there is a very little [whisky] in me.

(39) Composed by one of the L!ūk!naxadî named Nawutsī'n, probably from the jerking of cohoes when dying.

Ada' Axā' yêx ckugwalyē'x dogō'teyi yā'gu Adā'de gax dutī'n.

Now paddle like he is going to use his Wolf phratry's canoe around it so that he will be seen.

This Raven did to the Wolf's town just as if he were taking me out of the water.<sup>a</sup>

Now he is going to use himself as a paddle so that he will be seen around his Wolf phratry's canoe.

(40) Composed by Kākayē'k of the Kā'gwantān.

Inuwu' gedî' wuctuka'odjîtān yagodjî', Wuckitā'n ya'tq!î agē'q! Wuckitā'n ya'tq!î agē'q! wuctuka'n's children linside of it

tsa gax tuxē'q!".

Yēl yax kogwatī' Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î. Dogō'djî tūx yēkgwagu'ttc.
Raven like are going Kā'gwantān's children. His Wolf among he is going.
phratry

This Wolf phratry wants to put itself inside of your fort, Wuckitā'n's children, so that we can sleep. <sup>a</sup>

The Kā'gwantān's children are going to be like Raven. He is going among the people of his Wolf phratry.

(41) Composed by Sāxa' of the Kā'gwantān.

Xāte xatī'n yēk nīya'. Gū'slî hayina'x tela wugaā't. Axsatî' saku lt is I see spirits that will come to me. Cloud from down right they get. My masters for under

yēł ānî' kat nagaā't. Raven town on they will walk.

I can see the spirits that are going to come to me. They will go under a cloud. They will be my masters who will walk in the Raven town.

(42) Composed by Crying-[wolf] (Gā'xe) of the Chilkat Kā'gwantān. Wâ'sa ac nasinî' ditcā'k!. Duyē'lî acdā't kanalyî'tete. I wonder has done to him the eagle. Hls Raven around always flies. In the air him [phratry] what aedā't kanaldu'Llte līngî't-ā'nî al yax yēql utcla's dutuwu' diyē'l. they would fly very quickly not like he made his mind this Raven. around world him

Hūte! hasdutuwu' diyē'l hasdukī'dî hasduna'q yên nagu'.
Finally their minds this Raven their killer whale from them there went.

I wonder what the Eagle has done to him. His Raven phratry always flies around him. They fly around thickly unlike Raven when he made the world.

[The translation of the last paragraph is uncertain.]

(43) This was sung by New-rich (Yīsgānā'lx), chief of the Auk people, when he defeated a Yakutat chief in a property contest, as related in story 26.

Xat kanlîdī'xasî yūānqā'wo. Ts!as tī-sē'Llî aq!ē'x aosîa'x.

I am very much ashamed of the chief. Only cedar bark with lt he made a pretense.

a Complimentary metaphorical terms used toward the opposite phratry.

Tînmā'x aolîya'x. Hāt qox te!u Laduda'x agî'! Lā q!edueî'

Copper | he made it into (i.e., pretended it was). | Here | back | then | will you come | ? Never | feast |

qā's!īyayîk ān?
do you think we have in this part of our

I am very much ashamed of the chief. He only made a pretense with cedar bark. He made it into copper plates. Will you come back here? Do you think we never have feasts in this town?

(44) Composed by one of the Kā'gwantān called Yuwâ'k!". Yē'gî yêx Ackādê' yanaa't Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î dātuwu'. Spirits like on him coming down Kā'gwantān's children thinking of.

Hātsatîya' Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î gūsu' xān îkgwanā'wu kayaqayî' Alas! (a Haida word; hadjadi'u) Kā'gwantān's daughters where with me you were going your words xadē's ādushā'îte?

you ought to fulfill?

Thinking of you, Kā'gwantān's children, is just like having spirits come down upon me.

Alas! Kā'gwantān's children, why don't you fulfill your promise that you were going to die with me?

(45) Composed by For-a-town spirit (Ān-de-yēk) of the L!enē'dî about the T!a'q!dentān, because when the latter came to Juneau to drink they did not pay any attention to the Auk people.

Îlī'lk!u-lias ānî' akya aq! yîq! aklîge'. axlī'lk!u-has ānī'te yax ye Your grandfather's town this is not. My grandfather s town like thus [rich]

ya'osite tca qā gux k!ucā'nî. has made you now [you] slaves poor.

Ye suka'tya teucka'x xaltī'n ade' natī'teya wunā'wu qā. Ayayide' so people are how I see when are dead men. Before it

xat kacē'x.

I am drinking.

iya'kuqwaq!ē' te!ā waa iyaqayî'. Ate ye eyīdzînî' yā'dîyēl. I will blame you for will blame your words. That is his own fault this Raven's.

This is not your grandfather's town. It is my grandfather's place that has made you rich, you poor slaves.

I observe how people are treated after they are dead, and therefore I drink before I die (i. e., enjoy myself).

What you did was very selfish, T!A'q!dentān's children. But I will not blame you for your words. It is this Raven's fault.

(46) Composed by Nîgō't, one of the Taku Yênyē'dî. His name is used also by the Kā'gwantān.

Yēsu' xat ya-ilidjē'te ceyē'l. Tc!a go'naa gōte yîsatī'nî teusū'ga You now surprise me, you Raven. Another Wolf when you

kīnā'q! cî'yîka ke idjaqa'k.
way up on branch up you want to

Dāqâ'tkax sa cxa'dzîxan? Na'odana kax cxadzîxa'n. Īcā'n xat
For what ? do you think I To drink whisky I live. Pity me

Xēl Te'qoedî ya'tq!î xat yenaigā'x.
Foam Te'qoedi's children me have on.

You surprise me, you Raven. When you see a person of the Wolf phratry, you want to get way up on a branch.

What do you think I live for? I live to drink whisky. Have pity

on me, Foam Te'goedî's children.a

(47) Composed for and given to Other-water (Gonahī'n) of the Kā'gwantān, who lived very long ago. He went to Prince of Wales island to marry a woman named S!ēltî'n. When he was ready to start back, his father-in-law laid down a row of copper plates for his daughter to walk down on, and, as she went down, they sang this song and gave it to the Kā'gwantān. It is therefore called S!ēltî'n q!osîye'dî, "S!ēltî'n's-return-song."

The words are in Tsimshian and are the following: Xēlgayuwa hēyuwâ' haya'cgīlnaxa, hayu'wacgīlnaxa.

(48) Composed by Ts!akā'k!, a Da'qLlao-ca, about Kūlts!a'xk of the Kosk!ē'dî.

QAtī'yî DaqLlawe'dî ya'tqlî naq xat gogana'. Aya'x a'kwe îkda's I am DaqLlawe'dî's children for I am going to die. Like it is nothing if

Agō'tx goxlayē'xtc.
I lose lots of property.

· De'tc!A ciya'idê dagā'x awe' At cīx Axq!ē'nAstītc.

. It is only about crying it is [in] song that comes to me.

I am going to die without seeing DaqLlawe'dî's children any more. That is nothing if I lose lots of property.

It is only crying about myself that comes to me in song.

(49) Composed by one of the L!enē'dî about Juneau when gold was first found there.

q!ayaikā'q ya'tq!î. Łīngît-ā'nî qoa'nî Łîdā'ł ye L!enē'dî tu World in Do not Lienē'dî's children. people any more yayīĻā'k.

Do not talk any more, L!enē'd'î's children. You are ahead of all the people in the world.

 $<sup>\</sup>alpha$  Evidently the Te'qoedî living at Foam from which the Xêl qoan, or Foam people, also came.

<sup>49438-</sup>Bull. 39-09-26

(50) An "Angry song" composed by Sēxdagwē't! of the L!enē'dî against Little Raven (Yēlk!), a blind man of Tongass (Tā'nta qoan), with whom he was angry.

Dekī' dāk acia'waadî do'xonî qā'yaqayî q!aye'nax tācukādê' his friends' on the beach out chased words Teluqlwa'slga yê'x ł etūx ve cdî-xē'tc Yēlk!. danū'qnutc. Lckax so threw himself Little A little numb like not into I ever feel. Not for himself myself before my words]

kodjîtī'nî Yēłk! xān q!Ak gax duqē'n.

Just as if a man chased him out on the beach because of some one's talking, Little Raven threw himself before my words. I do not feel even a little numb. That fellow, Little Raven, whose words they are always reporting to me, can not see anything.

(51) On the same subject as the above and by the same composer.

Yēłk! leka'x ke djîtī'nî yêx guxyîkya'tîx îsatīyī'te xā îq!ā'yanūk.

Little not for out can see like slave's son because you always say.

Yēn qohâ'ni yax iyadā'ts!îk!ā'nq! qā gux ucya' Ate xā iq!ayanū'k.

Sea cu-big like you have spots all over and slave look just for I hate to have you talk to me.

cumber(?)

Wâse'L l ke citī'ni yeq! s!î'q!e yax L!ē'wu gîlaxa'ntc Ckax

Why not seeing anything into dish like sand you always religible up

at all

ke djîtī'nî yeq! tca gux yîk ya'dî? not seeing into you big slave's son?

Little Raven, I hate what you keep saying, because you are a slave's son and can see nothing. I hate to have you talk to me because you have spots all over your face like a big sea cucumber (?) and look like a slave. Don't you know that, because you can not see anything, you big slave's son, you keep picking up sand instead of dipping into the dish?

(52) Composed about a certain man by Āndeyē'k, one of the Llenē'dî. Ts!u Jamestownte iyā'wadji Llenē'dî ya'tq!î. Ts!u na'ilaLlīt Also the Jamestown had punished Llenē'dî's children. Also you put away

dê yīq!Alaiyē'lî. Atc ke yai'lalAkq!u.
(imp.) your lying. That is you get the best of people.
how

Axtuwâ'sîgu yāGold creek xat ya'yagaxe'. Tslu at cnaxaltī'tc
I always like this Gold creek me to have you pity in. Also I always feel very happy when

yāGold creek xAt yayagā/xe KîksA'dî yA'tq!î.
this Gold creek me you pity in KîksA'dî's children.

The Jamestown<sup>a</sup> has punished you already, Lenē'dî's children. Put away all of your lying. That is how you get the best of people. I always like to have you pity me in this Gold creek. I always feel very happy when you pity me in this Gold creek, Kîksa'dî's children.

aA former revenue cutter, which probably carried away the man against whom this was composed and held him in confinement for a time.

(53) Composed by one of the Box-house people called Sāxa', about another man, Among-the-brant (Qênxo'), one of the Kîksa'dî. It was sung at feasts and in making peace.

Ye wusgī't yadîyē'l tela gōtc qlasē'gu āwacā't. Yādiyē'l de So always does this Raven this very Wolf the lives of takes away. This Raven now

ān cyīka't wudîqê'n. Acī'x gaxō'x gōte yAqayî'.

with upon the has flown. From him is asking Wolf words,

Ts!u duyaqa' yex Asî' Anadji' doxonî' yaqayî'. Ts!u Adjiye't Also he was saying like it was he thought his friend's words. Also to him

#### kandana'ttc.

it always shakes.

This is the way this Raven always takes the lives of the Wolf phratry. This Raven has already flown up on the branch with the words of the Wolf phratry for which the Wolf phratry is asking him.

He thought that it was his friend's words that the Raven was doing this with. That always shakes him (i. e., it was really the words of the Wolf phratry).

(54) Reply of Among-the-brant (Qênxo') to Sāxa'.

yēł wucuxdiya' îtūwu'. Deq!ē't cwudîta'n gā'wu tîn On the way drum with I compare myself your mind. Now they are Raven's back beating it to make peace ā'nî kaq!. town

I compare myself to a drum beaten to make peace on the way back. They are beating it already in the Raven's town.

(55) Composed by Dead-slave (Gux-nawu') about a woman named Poor-orphan (Kâhântî'k!î), who was a very poor girl, but who, when she grew up, became the richest woman in Wrangell.

Qā'tcxan-āk!u ux axlacū'go cātk! ya'tsklox yîsatī'ql.

Human-hip lake in when I used to girl little you were very small.

Gutx nao sa îka'olîcu. Lel îkudē'q!.

Where whisky? did you get. Never you get ashamed.

I used to make fun of this poor little girl at Wrangell when sne was very small.

Where did you get the whisky [that makes you feel so high]? You are never ashamed.

(56) Composed by Kālgī's, a man of the Sitka Kā'gwantān, about one of the Nanyaā'yî named Cugâ'n, before the victory of the Sitka people over those of Wrangell.

ya'odawūL Tcuc ASÎ' niyati' ī'wana, Nanyaā'yî tclA Atsū'x right along Nanyaā'yî's May be too fast it is you are hurrying you die,

ya'tqiî. Tcla qā gōdjî' gâ'slas gadustī'ntc. children. Still Wolf phratry you ought to have seen first.

You are hurrying to death too fast, Nanyaā'yî's children. You ought to have seen your Wolf phratry first.

(57) Composed by Kakayē'k, a Kā'gwantān, about his brother's wife. His name probably refers to the wolf making a noise that can be heard a long distance off. The woman is represented as if speaking, and anticipating being sent away by the whites for drunkenness.

De Agwûyū'ge îgodjî' yAstī'yî naotc ka'owulcu. Āya' îsitî'

Asif he were beginning your Wolf phratry is whisky were drunk on. This is you are what like

Tcūkane'dî ya'tq!î. Grass-people's children.

Yādjînahē'n ayayīdê' xat yênaigā'x Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î.
I am sent away just before it me have pity on, Kā'gwantān's children.

It is just as if I were beginning to get drunk. This is what you are like, Grass-people's children.

Have pity on me before I am sent away from here, Kā'gwantān's children.

(58) Composed by the woman referred to above, in reply. Her name was Toxaocî', and she belonged to the T!a'q!dentān.

De tułatsī'n katya' aya'x q!ayīqa' Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î. Axtuwu'

It is a very hard thing like it you are saying Kâ'gwantān's children. My mind

LAX YAnī'ku. very is sick.

Wuctū'x nao ye xat wusî'nî. Atc xat yê'nayîgāx Kā'gwantān
One after whisky thus me has been another whisky thus me has been why why (mourn for)

ya'tq!î.
children.

What you are saying about me is very hard, Kā'gwantān's children. I am very sad.

You (i. e., the man accusing her) have given me one drink of whisky after another. So you ought to have pity on me, Kā'gwantān's children.

(59) Composed by a shaman of the Kā'gwantān named K!aga'nk!.

Tc!a nao kax asiyā'gê XAt ya'yīgāxēn. Da'yidat ts!u XAt it is [that] Just whisky for me you pity. Why not now me yê'nayîgāx Dē'citān ya'tq!î? you pity (or love) Dē'citān's children?

It is only on account of whisky that you pity me. Why don't you also love me, Dē'citān's children?

(60) Composed by Little Raven (Yēlk!), one of the Prince of Wales Island people (Tā'nta qoan) about Sēxdagwē't! of the L!enē'dî, who had previously gotten the best of him (see song 50). He speaks sarcastically.

Yên duwaxē'te ceyādiYēlk!. Teue kanLîdē'q! ceyādiYē'lk!.

There they have aiready knocked him down this Little Raven. Already he is ashamed this Little Raven.

They have already knocked down this Little Raven. This Little Raven is already ashamed.

(61) Composed by Under-a-blanket (Kāguntū'k!) of the Watāne'dî, part of the Kîksa'dî, about the son of a L!ūk!naxa'dî named Yēsgu'qtc, whose brother had been killed in compensation for the killing of her brother.

Axtuwū' tîn wūtc udiya' L!ūk!naxa'dî ya'tq!î. Atc axtuwū'tc ke My mind with his is just the same L!ūk!naxa'dî's children. So I am beginnasxa'n.

ning to love him.

Dāsa'kucî āga' anxalgê'nte qē xat ga'sgîdîn. Yā'q !gwa axhu'nxo-has I wonder for it I always look I wake up in the what morning. There might my brothers qâkxasîtī'n.

I might see.

His mind is just like mine, L!ūk!naxa'dî's children. So that I am beginning to love him.

I wonder what I always look for when I wake up in the morning. Sometime I might see my brothers.

(62) Composed by Man-that-is-not-all-right (Qa-uctê') about Princess Thom (Gadjî'nt), because when she was very young all sorts of young men went to her house, filling it as if it were a saloon. Princess Thom was the own sister of Q!ā'dustin. (See p. 347.)

Kat-hī'yî nao-daka-hî'tîyî at qa cuxī'xtc îlîkū'dzî a'sî yadîyē'l. Even from whisky house (saloon) people get away but not from it is this Raven.

Even from a saloon people get away, but not from you, Raven woman.

(63) Composed by a man named Kātda' (Around-a-flat-basket, or Around-a-woven-oil-presser), whose wife was taken away from him by her people, who would not let her return.

Tela não datūwu' yax l xã ustē'x, Toqye'dî ya'tqlî.

Just whisky desire for like never I sleep, Toqye'dî's children.

Like one who desires whisky, I never sleep, Toqye'dî's children.

(64) Composed by Among-the-brant (Qênxo')<sup>a</sup> of the Kîksa'dî, about Sāxa', when his wife had been taken from him, and he felt very sad. The last words are said to be in Tsimshian.

Xāq! hazī' yaaxtuwu'. Wudjkē't xoyā'îte yāt axtuwu'.

To me is very this my mind.

Around I were carry-to this my mind.

ing

Hayu' walgā'k cînda'?

What is the matter with you? [Tsimshian words].

My own mind is very hard to me. It is just as if I were carrying my mind around.

What is the matter with you?

(65) Composed by Sāxa' on the same subject as the song next preceding. A man named K!ult!e'-īc, belonging to the Chilkat Kā'gwantān, ran away with Sāxa''s wife, but the latter was afterward killed by K!ult!e'-īc's first wife whom he had abandoned.

Dēsgwa'tc gî gêsîtī'n ke yagadîda' ya'diyēl.

Already you have up going to the spirit world this Raven.

Acdayī'n āyA'x uwagu't doqōdjî'. Na'na yîs aositī'n dogodjî'.

To see her out to her has eome her Wolf [phratry].

You have already seen this Raven going up to the ghost country. Her Wolf phratry has come out to see her. She has seen her Wolf phratry for death.

(66) A man named Nū's!nî composed this song and immediately afterward stabbed several of his friends.

 $Y\bar{e}'k\hat{t}tekacaxw\bar{e}'q!-y\bar{e}'g\hat{t}te \quad nadate\bar{u}'n \quad y\bar{u}'ya-kuL\hat{t}nu'tsk.$  Y\vec{e}'k\tekacaxw\vec{e}'q!\text{spirit} \quad \text{he was dreaming of always smiling around.}

He was dreaming of Yē'kîtckacaxwē'q! spirit always smiling around.

(67) Song said to have been sung by Wrangell Indians on the way to Sitka when they felt sure that they were going to be killed.

Ctaq!hī'n yîx yē'nalxāc dutū'wu ya'dîyēl Tī-hît-tā'nî ya'tq!î Stikine down from floating his feelings this Raven Bark-house people's children dutuwu'dî.

his feelings [are toward].

Qāq!Asē'gu dākAcu' At uwaya' da yututa'nk, Tī hît tān ya'tq!î.

About their lives they do that it is like about thinking,

Bark-house people's children.

Floating down from the Stikine, the feelings of this Raven are toward the Bark-house people's children (i. e., he worries about his family).

He thinks about the lives of the Bark-house people's children.

(68) Dorsal-fin-of-killer-whale-seen (Guc-dutī'n), one of the Nan-yaā'yî, almost died when on the way to Victoria, and composed this song about his old friends.

Yel ani' A'kya Adadê' xaga'x. Axlī'lk lu-has ani' aya' Adadê' Raven's town that [not] about I am crying. My grandfather's town that about it XAgā'x.
I am crying.

Icā'n Gucdutī'n Waktâ'nî qînq! gogana'.

Poor Dorsal-fin-of-killer-whale-seen Victoria before he he will die.

It is not Raven's town I am crying about. It is my own grand-father's town I am crying about.

Poor Dorsal-fin-of-killer-whale-seen will die before he reaches Victoria.

(69) Although this song is very much older, the words were put in at the time the people of Sitka killed those of Wrangell. Just before they started singing, everyone had to raise his paddle and cheer on account of the scalps. A Nanyaā'yî killed at that time was named Lte!ūq!.

Ts!u q!wan na-u' wet Ctaq!hī'n.

Again (imp.) you live at it the Stikine.

Will you live at the Stikine any more?

(70) This is sung by all the Kā'gwantān when a person's body is being burned, the first part during the burning itself and the second part while the women are dancing around the fire, wearing ear pendants. The first part is called Nodding-of-heads-to-and-fro (Kītcdaeīyî'), and the only words used are Tînna' sūwu', "There are lots of coppers," repeated again and again.

[Second part] At ācuwagu't kiwâ'Lēn ya'da Axqē'lk!.

To it he has been led up to a place where people are killed my nephew.

[Third part] De Acyayī'q! hît yên aoliya'x dukā'k-has.

Already for him house there have made his uncles.

My nephew has been led up to a place where people [go who have been] killed. $^a$ 

His uncles have already made a house for him there.

(71) A man had all of his friends destroyed by a bear, and was the only one left in the fort they were then occupying. There he composed this song. The last words are used because he was going to succeed his uncle.

Iwuxfidjā'q akā'k ixō'nî anyê'tīt ixfidja'qu. axya'x wuni'yî qa l compare you, my uncle, your friends caste l compare you.

cî'tīngît-ā'nî tūt wusgaxē'n. Agagucî' duā'n itī'dî s!īt wudulwu's!īn. this world in is crying about. At that time his town to have taken out from

I compare you, my uncle, to your high-caste friends. A man in the same state as myself is now wandering about this world, crying. At that time a man such as that asked to have the things taken out from his place.

(72) Composed by a Chilkat man named Kaogu' on the instant when he was asked to compose a song about a certain man's mother who had just died.

L!ē'wu k!ē'nax yên ayacā't duyē'li weditcā'k!. Gāx A'sgîde qōt
Sandy beach over on there has taken his Raven over the Eagle. To make anyone enough

Asiha', Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î. Yēlte qo'a dutū'tx qonashē'te.

It is, Kā'gwantān's children. Raven, however, to her always comes to amuse.

This Eagle has taken his Raven over to a good sandy beach. It is enough to make one cry, Kîksa'dî's children. A Raven, however, always comes to amuse her.

(73) Composed by Other-water (Gonahī'n) over a dead man.

Ha'de at cuga'sî axtū't asixa' axkī'k!.

Here a great joy of to me has brought my younger brother.

Udë' yu-Agu'tq'lūc gonaya' ade' An gagū't duya'x.

Thither if I had known the starting way they go thither to him I would as he [went].

My younger brother has brought me a great joy of laughter.

If I knew the way they go, I would go right to him.

(74) Composed by Joined-together (Wūct-wudūtsu') when all of his friends went down the rapids at Gonaxō' and were drowned.

Ānt!îkāna'x qogo'xdîhān ts!u yā'tgānykîkayī'q! at qoxatî's!nutc In front of the will stand up again in the bay there I always look

yū'ant!eka.

expecting to see them.

Gāx<sup>u</sup> koxâ'nîx q!a'na kowulgadī'n aya'x xat tunastī'te axkī'k!-has.

To the people the Duck tribe saved like it I always compare my brothers.

Hayī'q! cē'gîs tc!a'ya wucxēnīn anya'tq!î yax.

Down under the right they went the high caste people like.

I always look expectantly to see some one stand up in front of the town and in the bay.

I always compare my brothers to the people the Duck tribe saved. They went right down under the earth like those high-caste people.

(75) Composed by Here-is-a-feather (T!aoyā't!), one of the Kā'gwantān, when his brother died. It is used as a mourning and dancing song.

Î-At-k!ahī'nî tîn xāt yidacî' Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î.
Your believing with me your help, Kā'gwantān's children.

Deyî'n datā'n xān wudjîxē'n axkī'lk!u-has hî'tî. Dā'go qātc sa It is as if with were turning my grandfathers' house. Where person ?

xat gax sînē'x?
me will save?

Help me with your believing, Kā'gwantān's children.

It is as if my grandfathers' house were turning over with me. Where is the person that will save me?

(76) Composed by Man-for-himself (Stuwa-qa'), one of the Kā'gwantān, about his wife, who was from Kake. It was originally composed in Haida, and the Haida words are said to be the following: Łaqīwê' gīcîndê' hê'lgugê.

The Tlingit equivalent is given at greater length, as follows:

LAX AXTĒ'q!tc îsêxA'n Tsague'dî yA'tq!î. Teā'tc!A iī'n tsa XAT Very my heart I love you from Tsague'di's children. Only with ln-you deed I

goqwana'.

I love you from my heart, Tsague'dî's children. You are the only one I will die with.

(77) Composed by Pressing-down (Kast!ā'k), one of the Tcū'kan-ca (Tcūkane'dî women). Her brothers were drowned and their bodies were not recovered.

ya'tq!î. Da Iq!ayî' xat yawaLā'k Kā'gwantān icā'n xat ye Your point me has beaten, Kā'gwantān's children. But pitỳ me this nā'yîgāx. you have ou.

Dasa'kucî āga' anxalgê'nte që xat asgī't. Yāq! gâ axī'k!-has I wonder what for it I always look when I wake up in the morning. There might be a time when

qâkasîtī'n. I would sce.

Your point a has beaten me, Kā'gwantān's children. But take pity on me.

I wonder what I always look after when I wake up in the morning. Sometime I might see my brothers.

(78) Composed by Kāqātucū'tc of the Kā'gwantān when his father and his uncle died.

Djîlqā't hīn yîx yakugwasā'x îkanē'k axkā'k.

Chilkat river down through will come down your sickness (sound of your death)

Nādada'x gadjîxā'n nādāgawu' axlā'. Nātū'tx ke yitā'n From the nations has fallen down the nation's drum, my mother. From among the nations

Atū'denax dua'xtc axlā'. from among can be heard my mother.

The noise of your death, my uncle, will come down through Chilkat river.

The nation's drum has fallen down, my mother. Take the drum out from among the nations so that they can hear my mother.

(79) Composed by a Nanyaā'yî named Kakasguxo', about Kack!a't.k! and Łq!ayā'k!, referring to the time when they strove to cross the Stikine and were turned to stone. This is a mourning song, therefore a long cane is used when it is sung.

Acī'n gua yên yulītî'tk dînayî' yagu'. Axkā'k deye kandawa'L!. With him goes there (ashore) drifting the nation's canoe. My uncle already is breaking up (= is dead).

Uq! Ana'xlixatc.

Him I do not expect any more.

kāna'x dage' wukânī'n Kack!a'lk!-has. Ctaq!hī'n Dulā'k!tc waded Kack!a'Lk! and his brothers. out aoĻîgê'n. Tc!ule' Aq!  $\mathbf{t} \bar{\mathbf{e}} \mathbf{x}$ wusite'. or them) Then at it become they were. stone

The nation's canoe is drifting ashore with him. My uncle is already dead. I do not expect him any more.

Kack!a'lk! and his brothers waded out across the Stikine. Their sister looked at them. Then they turned into stone.<sup>a</sup>

(80) Composed by Man-who-obeys (Q!aya'x qoste') of the Kā'-gwantān about his son who was drowned coming down Chilkat river.

Tea teūe kogasgā'x diyēł-ānî' kada'x digō'te.

Already will go away erying this Raven town from on this Wolf (phratry).

Wae'te Agî Acuka' yiliya'x yagodjî' diyē'l?
You ? the future you made this Wolf this Raven (or you)?

This Wolf phratry will go away crying from the Raven town.

Do you think you made the future for this Wolf phratry, you Raven?

(81) Composed by one of the Kā'gwantān named Cgwatc, about an uncle who had died.

At A'sîs tu'naxdata'ntc yalī'ngît-ānî', gūsu' gucê' laq! ye At lalways think about myself this world, but when not thus things qōnukuya'.

they do (= die).

Gudē'sa u'nxadjītc axkā'k. Hā'da yēk tatū'gu yītgâ' yēkte Where is I do not know my uncle. Around this spirits cave down into spirits

yaxē'te axkā'k.

I always think within myself that there is no place where people do not die.

I do not know where my uncle is. Probably the spirits threw down my uncle into the spirits' cave around this world.

(82) Mourning song composed by Sakwē't!, a woman of the Llenē'dî (Llenē'dî-ca), about her brother who was drowned.

Sānaxē'tte gu Adā'x qoya'olîdjagê qā yax xat gugwati'.

South wind from it were killed people like F am.

I am like the people who were killed by the south wind.

(83) Mourning song composed by Sakwē't! about her drowned brother.

Yisla'gucê ī'watî ugā' At wusuwu' cāwa't yax uc XAt I wish I were for her [with things] helped woman like I wish 1 were

Taxgwa'stc. Ugā' wusū'wu cā'wat yax xat nagate' axkā'k duhî'tî raxgwa's

i'gaxsaxī'x.

For her helped woman like I were my uncle's house

I might rebuild.

Ayī'q!gua yāwagu't gagā'n deyī'. Atcgâ' l yax wū'nxada axī'k!.

Perhaps into it he went sun's trail. So that not like I can ever see my brother.

I wish I were like that woman who was helped by Taxgwa's. If I were like the woman that he helped, I should rebuild my uncle's house.

Perhaps my brother went into the sun's trail so that I can never see him again.

(84) Tlaoyā'dînīk, chief of the Kā'gwantān, dreamed this song about the wolf post:

- I will put back my uncles. I will go into the sun-world's houses.
- (85) A song without words, sung by spirits when food is sent to them through the fire.
- (86) Composed since the missionaries came, by a man named Deerwoman (Cawa't-qōwakā'n), at a time when the people were hunting sea otter.

Almighty God, have pity on me so that I can reach my town.

(87) A peace song composed by a Chilkat man named Kî'ngu (perhaps Qê'nxo) after there had been war between his people and the Wuckitā'n, and the latter were coming up there to a peace feast.

Wuckitā'n Djîlqā't yek  $Uxk\bar{e}'$ yanaqë'ncî ye yatî' ya'tq!î? do you talk so thus it is children? Chilkat to Why Wuckitā'n's Łingî'tc agî' ye usî'ni Wuckitā'n ya'tq!î. Tc!a Lakux thus can make Wuckitā'n's you are going Indians children. From far back aq!alîtsī'n.

they are valued.

Why do you talk so, Wuckitā'n's children? You are going to see Chilkat. A person can not make anyone like Wuckitā'n's children. They have been valued from long ago.

(88) This is sung when peace is being made after a great war. With a change in the name of the clan mentioned it could be used by anyone.

Iwuna' qluc Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î ikādē' ca'nkalxac.
If you had died Kā'gwantān's children for you I would have cut
my hair.

Waî'x sa xa'nisa ikadê' yankadat!ū'tc!t, Kā'gwantān yê'tq!î. So much I love you for you I would have blackened Kā'gwantān's children.

If you had died, Kā'gwantān's children, I would have cut off my hair for you. I love you so much that I would have blackened my face for you, Kā'gwantān's children.

(89) The singer of this is a Hummingbird Deer (Dawa'tgîya qō'wakān), so called because he performs like a hummingbird. Just-before he started this song, the persons who had charge of him turned around four times with him in the direction the sun takes.

[Words recited] Axs!ā'tq!eyên, Axdakē'tq!f. Q!aya'xa. Danaete'

My masters, my outside box. I am going to speak like. Started (or joined in with me)

Axs!ā'tq!iyên.
my masters.

[Words sung] Ts!a kaxwâ'asga ana'q akuxagū't axkā'k-has ānî'.

Very I am feeling lonely away from I am going my uncles' town.

Atcī' Agê' xatī' Axs!ā'tq!îyên. Tcuc etā'dî dagā'xaya xātî'.

Singing inside I am, my masters. Crying about myself I am.

My masters, my opposite phratry, I am going to speak thus. My masters joined in with me.

I am feeling very lonely away. I am going to my uncles' town. I am singing inside, my masters. I am crying about myself.

(90) A deer song supposed to have been used by the land otters when they were making peace and afterward by men also.

[Words spoken] Kū'cta qoan cā'wu ayu' awacā' Yēl. Aga'ayu Land otter people woman of it was married Raven. At that time

nākā'nīx wusite' Yēl. Qō'wakā'nt wuc ka'odîdjêl kucta qoa'nî.

a messenger became Raven. As deer started to take each land otter people. other up people feasted)

[Words sung] Gā'wa yā't!A. Q!exetAnū'q!u. Gā'waya kut here is. Lobster (?) this is. This drum

wulîga'wu gā'wa yāt!. Tc!ule' awulîtsī'n Yēltc. "De cîlîgā'wu is very noisy the drum that is here."

Then beat it very hard Raven. "Now very noisy very noisy is very noisy here."

gawayā'gê." Le AnA'x qōcā'wat!ēx. XAtc akA'xayu Attc is this drum." Then through it he knocked a hole. It was for this there djiuLîha' yū'gao.

he got the drum.

Raven married a woman of the land-otter people. At that time Raven became a messenger. The land-otter people began to take one another up as deer.

Here is a drum. This (i. e., the drum) is a big lobster. This drum is very noisy. Then Raven beat it very hard. "This drum is very noisy." Then he knocked a hole through it. It was to do this to the drum that he came among those people.

(91) This is called a "half song," and was composed by a man named Sāxa', about a deer.

He has now gone in among them. His Raven phratry will save him.

(92) Composed by Naotsī'n when peace was made between the Llūk!naxa'dî and the Kā'gwantān.

Lāk yî'xa yē'lyī yagu'. Dewē'du yak!ē'yia Yēl yakudē'yî.

Fast pull ahead Raven's canoe. Not very far from here (shelter)

Ayayidê' tūka'odînat gōteyi anî' wustī'n.
For himself he wus very wolf's home to see.
much afrald

Paddle ahead that Raven's canoe very fast. A sheltered place for the Raven's canoe is not very far from here.

He is very much afraid of seeing the Wolf's home.

(93) Composed by Going-across-the-road (Degāhē't!), a rich man who was paid to compose it, one time when the Ka'gwantān and the Wuckitā'n made peace.

Yel yanaqo'x gotc anî' kadê'.

Raven is coming Wolf's town going to.

[by canoe]

Hā'da ckedjanaihu'ktc. Wuckitā'nî ya'tq!î yāgu' k!ehu'k.
Hurrah! Wuckitā'n's children canoe shout well for.

Raven is coming by canoe to the Wolf's town.

All shout "Hurrah!" Wuckitā'n's children. Shout well for the canoe.

(94) This was composed by a L!ūk!naxa'dî man named Łqena' when he was the only one of his people saved and his enemies wanted to make peace with him. He danced as a deer, singing this song, and at the end of it cut in two the man standing next to him. When used as a deer song in later times, the last words were of course different.

Detcū'cta kacu' tc'ayē' naxdzîgī't. Tca xat guce' dē l tcūctū't About myself like this I did. Indeed me said to not to myself ana'x datī' axtuwū'.

by I would my conscience.

Nānayî'sgucî Axsîtī'n ducagī'nîya.

Already before
his death
his ghost.

[Spoken] Atū'x gwał aosîgu' Cādasî'ktc āwadja'q.

Into him as soon as he stabbed Cādasî'ktc he killed.

I did this way regarding myself. I would not let what my conscience said to me, pass.

Before his death I saw his ghost.

At once he stabbed and killed Cādasî'ktc.

(95) A peace song composed by a Kā'gwantān man of Chilkat named Nāllī'c.

Îkayade' yū'ca qkwagē'q! Kā'gwantān ya'tq!î.
Toward you the head I am golng to nod, Kā'gwantān's children.

Ili' iyaqayî'. Lâ'xayî a iyaqayî' yadiye'l.
Not so your words. Good-by with your words you Raven.

I am going to nod my head toward you, Kā'gwantān's children. Don't talk like that. Good-by with your words, you Raven.

(96) Composed by one of the Kā'gwantān named Kêtlcī'k!ê, and used in making peace and at feasts. When the dancers have reached the door, some one says, "Where is the man?" and they reply, "Up in the woods," because the man who is to start the song hides himself just before it begins.

Łîł uga' qetī's!îk iyē'lî digō'tc. Tc!a Lēx yê'nax dāq uwagu't Never after it you look, you Raven your Wolf [phratry]. Already from there up it has gone,

yadiyē'ł. you Raven.

Do not look after your Wolf phratry any more, you Raven. It has already gone into the woods, you Raven.

(97) a Composed by Qā'uctê, a Kā'gwantān man, about men who never keep their word—those who talk much after they have been drinking and later do not remember what they have said. The Te'qoedî are referred to because he married a woman of that family, and they always came to him when they got drunk.

Agō'tdê na'okat teue dadê' etuwū'k danī'k, Te'qoedî ya'tq!î.

After you have been drinking whisky you better put away talking of how well you were brought up,

Ādutū'q!sas yē natī'tc qā'da an gada'qên? In whose mind thus is it when you are sober?

After you have been drinking you better stop talking about how well you were brought up, Te'qoedî's children. What one of you thinks about it when he is sober?

(98) Song composed by a man who had been brought up in court before Judge Tuttle.

He'daho djatc dā îlī' îtuwu' waa'qwe. Kîksa'dî ya'tq!î î'sîte About this, Judge, about never your mind disturb. Kîksa'dî's children you are îdjiyī't q!ax dugā'q!.

of you one should be afraid.

Never mind about this, Judge. You are not a child of the Kîksa'dî that people should be afraid of you.

(99) A love song originally obtained from a Tägish woman.

Dāt saku sayu' Daye' cāk dax îxa'ndî xâgudiye'q!. Ts!as axna'q what for was it Dyea far up from to you I have gone to. Only from me yāx igū't gōtL!a'tkî qādê'. Īitī't xodzîgā'x.

on you went some other to. For you I am erying.

Why have I come to you to Dyea from far inland only to find that you have gone away to another town [on a steamer]? Here I am, crying for you.

a Songs 97 to 102 were given the writer by his interpreter, Don Cameron. The rest were obtained from a Sitka Indian of the Box-house people named Dekinā'k!".

(100) A very modern love song.

Djîldaka't-at Lëxko'etu yêx kātī'yî my dear boy xat djiwana'q, Everything indifferent to me as it is me has gone from, my dear Tommy.

I don't care about anything since even my dear boy, my dear Tommy,

has gone from me.

(101) A love song composed by a dancer named Sīq!oē't, who belonged to the Raven phratry. His sweetheart was away when the 4th of July came.

Wâ'sa kueîs xat qogwati' yadjulai'a yaqē'ga-ē'nî. Axā't-has Lēl How I wonder I will be this July morning is coming. My aunts not qoqāti'n Lax yē'xa gugē'k! Axtūwu'. I can see very a weak about it my thoughts.

I wonder what this coming July morning will be like. My mind is very weak thinking that I shall be unable to see my aunts (i. e., my sweetheart).<sup>a</sup>

(102) Composed by a man named Raven-skin (Yēł-dūgu') when his sweetheart abandoned him.

Yūk doqē'q!ūe gogana' qū godjî' tîn qongana'. Lēx cēl gux
If one had charge of death person (woman)

Wolf with it would be easy to die.

sagū'gîs. very pleasant.

If one had control of death, it would be very easy to die with a Wolf woman. It would be very pleasant.

(103) A mourning song belonging to the Kā'gwantān.

Tela hu dūtuwu' Acī't ūsîte' yadego'te. Lîl q!wan etu ye'daq!ēq.
Right his mind to him was this man of Wolf Never (imp.) blame others.
[people].

It is his own fault that this Wolf man got into that condition (i. e., died). Do not lay the blame on anybody else.

a The term translated "aunts" is used generally for those women of the opposite clan with whom it was allowable to marry.

# ABSTRACTS OF MYTHS

## MYTHS RECORDED IN ENGLISH AT SITKA

#### 1. RAVEN

Raven was the son of a man named Kit-ka'ositiyi-qā, who gave him strength to make the world. After he had made it he obtained the stars, moon, and daylight from their keeper at the head of Nass by letting himself be swallowed by the keeper's daughter and be born of He obtained fresh water by tricking its owner, Petrel. As he was flying out through the smoke hole, however, Petrel made his smoke-hole spirits catch him and lighted a fire under him, turning him from white to black. Raven scattered the fresh water out of his mouth to make rivers and streams. Because some people who were fishing for culachon would not take him across a river, he let the sun forth, and they fled into the woods or ocean, becoming such animals as the skins they wore had belonged to. Next Raven stole fat from some boys who were throwing it back and forth. He found a piece of jade bearing some design, stuck it into the ground, and pretended to a spring salmon that the object was calling it names. The salmon came ashore, and Raven killed it. Then he got the birds to procure him skunk cabbage so that they might eat the fish, but instead of feeding them, he sent them away a second time and ate it himself, burying the bones in the ashes. After that the birds dressed and painted themselves up. Raven came to the Bear, and the latter fed him on some of his own flesh, a proceeding which Raven tried to imitate in vain a little later. Then Raven went out fishing with Bear and Cormorant, killed the former by cutting off a piece of flesh, and pulled out Cormorant's tongue so that he could not tell anybody. Afterward he killed Bear's wife by inducing her to eat halibut bladders which he had filled with hot stones. He came to some fishermen and stole the bait from their hooks, but was finally hooked in the nose and had to recover his nose disguised as another person. Now he came to some deer with fat hanging out of their nostrils, pretended that it was mucus, and obtained it. He started along by canoe, and all of the animals wanted to accompany him, but he accepted only Deer. Coming to a deep valley, he laid some dried celery stalks across, covered them with moss, and induced Deer to try to walk across. and was precipitated to the bottom where he was devoured by Raven.

Afterward Raven began mourning for him. Now he met the old woman who controls the tide, and forced her to let the tide fall and rise as it does to-day. At the same time he told Mink to live on sea urchins. Then he went on erying, "My wife, my wife," and, when he saw some gum on a tree, thought that the tree also was mourning. Coming to Petrel again, he contended with him as to which was the older, but finally Petrel put on his fog-hat so that Raven was unable to find his way out and had to admit Petrel was older than he. He induced Petrel to let his hat "go into the world," so that when people see fog coming out of an opening in the woods and going right back, they know it will be good weather. He obtained fire with the help of a chicken hawk whose bill was burned off in getting it, and he put the fire into red cedar and some white stones. Coming to the great house containing all fish, he brought it ashore by means of a cane carved to resemble the tentacle of a devilfish, and gave a feast for his dead mother out of part of its contents. The other fish spread throughout the world. He invited the killer whales, pretended that he was going to show them how to stick canes into their necks, and stuck sharp pointed sticks in instead, thus killing all but one. (When Raven and another person were boiling down the grease from these killer whales, he stole all from the other man. Then this man shut him up in a grease-box and kicked it off a high cliff, but Raven had induced him to fasten it with a piece of straw instead of rope, and immediately flew out. a) He flew inside of a whale, and lived on what it swallowed and its insides. At last he cut out its heart and killed it. After he had floated ashore the people cut a hole through and he flew away. Returning to the same place, he persuaded them that this was a bad portent, so they left the town, and Raven consumed what they had abandoned. Once Raven went to a calm place just outside of Sitka and made many waves by rocking his canoe, since which time it has always been very rough there. Next he set the heron and sea gull to quarreling in order to obtain a herring which the former had swallowed. Having stolen a salmon from some people when they were asleep, they in turn discovered him asleep and wrenched off his gizzard. He went after it, found them using it as a polo ball, and recovered it, but ever since the Raven's gizzard has been big and dirty. Next he married the daughter of Fog-on-the-salmon, and they put up many salmon eggs and dried salmon. When it became stormy the salmon eggs helped him paddle. Afterward he carried up the dried salmon and dumped the salmon eggs overboard, so that people do not care much for salmon eggs nowadays. He met a man whose club would go out to sea and kill seal of itself, stole this club, and tried to make it do the same thing for him, but it would not, and he broke it

a An episode which is perhaps misplaced. See p. 418.

in pieces on the rocks. He tried to make a certain place like Nass, but the clams shooting upward drowned his voice and he was unsuccessful. He turned to stone two brothers who had started to cross the Stikine. Coming to the ground-hog people, he tried to make them believe that the spring snowslides had begun so that they would throw their surplus food out of doors, but in vain. He had to wait until spring, when they threw it all out, and he gave a feast for his mother with it. Before this took place, however, he obtained the female genital organs from a certain island and put them in their places. Then he invited everybody in the world to his feast because he wanted to see a dance hat and Chilkat blanket which were owned by the Gonaqadē't. Since then people have liked to attend feasts.

Raven put a woman under the world to attend to the rising and falling of the tides. Once he wanted to go under the ocean, so he had this woman raise the waters, and they went up to the tops of the mountains. They went up slowly, however, so that people had time to load their canoes. The bears which were walking around on the tops of the mountains tried to swim out to them, and those who had dogs were then well protected. Some people walled about the mountain tops and kept their canoes inside. All who survived were without firewood, however, and died of cold, except some who were turned to stone by Raven along with many animals and fishes. Then the sea went down so far that it was dry everywhere. Raven and another bird-man went about picking up fishes to boil the grease out of them, but Raven took only small fishes like sculpins while the other took whales, etc. Raven scared his companion away and began drinking his grease, but he came back, put Raven into a grease-box, and kicked him off from a high cliff as had happened before. Raven also escaped in the same manner.<sup>a</sup> One time Raven invited the bears to a feast, and induced the wren to pull out the entrails of one of them through his anus and thus kill him. Raven had become so great an eater from having eaten the black spots off his toes. After everybody had been destroyed at the time of the flood, Raven made a new generation out of leaves, and so it happens that at the time when leaves fall there are many deaths. He made a devilfish digging-stick and went around to all things on the beaches, asking them if they were going to hurt human beings. If they said "No," he left them; if "Yes," he rooted them up. In his time fern roots were already cooked, but he made them green; while devilfish, which were fat, he made hard. On one occasion he invited all the tribes of little people. and, when they were seated upon mats, he shook them and the little people flew into people's eyes, becoming their pupils. He tried to capture a sculpin in order to eat it, but it slipped between his fingers, and its tail became slender as it is to-day. He threw his blanket upon

the sea, let it float ashore, and threw it upon a bush where it became Rebis bracteosum (cax). Drinking water he called cat!k!. He placed a woman at the head of a creek and said that the salmon should go up to see her. He made the quills of the porcupine out of yellow cedar bark. He made the west wind, which he placed in a house on top of a mountain, and decreed that it should hurt nobody. He also told a person how to obtain strength enough to paddle home by taking up a piece of red salmon and blowing behind him. Raven made also the south wind and the north wind. He made all the other native races of people. The dog was at first a human being, but Raven altered him because he was too quick. One time Raven came to a thing called fat-on-the-sea. He made it go under water and come up again, and every time it came up he cut some of it off with his paddle. The eighth time it went under for good. At one place a person came out and spoke angrily to Raven, whereupon he turned him into a wild celery plant. He tied something around the head of a clam and gave it the same name as a man's privates.

After having tried every sort of contrivance for supporting the earth, Raven drained a sea-water pond when the tide was out, killed a beaver living at the bottom of it, and used its foreleg. Old-woman-under-the-earth has charge of it. Afterward Raven killed a big whale and tried to have it towed into the pond where the beaver had been. Finally he got tired out and turned it into stone along with the four canoes that were towing it. He gave names to several other places in this neighborhood.

### 2. THE BIG CLAM

In Tenakee inlet is a place named after a person who was swallowed by a halibut in attempting to wade over to some girls picking berries at a strawberry patch on the other side. In the same neighborhood is a big clam which used to swallow canoes. Raven, however, directed a little mink to call to it to stick its head out, and after it had done so the people plunged sticks into it and cut in two the ligament for closing its valves.

## 3. English Version of the Story of the Four Brothers

Four brothers owned a dog which pursued a cloud up into the sky, and they followed it, coming out at the edge of a very steep place on the other side of the world. Descending this with difficulty they came upon a one-legged man spearing salmon, and one of them stole his spear point by concealing himself in a salmon and cutting it off. Next day the man discovered them and killed three, but the fourth, who had red paint and a rattle, assisted by his dog, killed him and restored his brothers to life. After that they killed the bear chief, whose slave they had already destroyed, and went down to his house, where the

most powerful of them took his place. That evening the people outside played with a hoop, and the three younger brothers were killed by it. Then the other brother sent the dog after it, and he threw it far up into the mountains where it made their curved outlines. time he threw, it went around the sun and made the ring of light seen there. After that the three brothers were restored to life and all started off. They came to Athapascan people, who had holes in their faces in place of mouths, and who fed themselves with worms through these. There the youngest brother, Łq!ayā'k!, obtained bows and arrows. By and by they came to some people who were bathing for strength in the sea, and joined them. At this time they suspected that Łą!ayā'k! was going with his sister, so they put spruce gum around the place where she slept and discovered it was true, for which they called him all sorts of names, and told him to go away from them and become a "thunder." He did so, and their sister was so ashamed that she went down into Mount Edgecumbe. When the thunder is heard nowadays people call upon it to drive away sickness. The other brothers started across the Stikine and became rocks there.

#### 4. ORIGIN OF THE KILLER WHALE

The killer whales were made out of yellow cedar by a man of the Tsague'dî after he had tried every other kind of wood in vain.

One time a man and his wife discovered some killer whales camping, and scared them away. When the man began to take away their provisions, however, they came back and carried off his wife. The husband followed, and when he saw them go down into the ocean he jumped in after them. First he came to a town occupied by the shark people, where he met a hook he had formerly lost, now become their slave. Directed by the shark chief, he met the killer-whale chief's slave chopping wood behind the town, caused him to break his ax, and mended it for him. Then the slave stationed him at the door, and as he carried some water into the house pretended to spill it into the fire. While the house was full of steam the man seized his wife and Then the killer whales and sharks had a great fight and many killer whales were destroyed. When the killer whales start north the seals say, "Here come the warriors!" There are several kinds of killer whales. In former times the killer whales dug through a cliff in the bay Kots!ē'L! and carried their canoes across to the other side on skids. They still cross at this place every year.

#### 5. KAKA'

Kaka' was taken south from Sitka by the land otters and sent back again by the husbands of a woman who had been carried off like himself. What they used as a canoe was a skate, and they kept him

covered all the way. After a time one of his friends heard him singing in the midst of a fog, but they could not get near him until they had fasted for two days. Then they found him lying upon a log with blood running out of his nose and mouth. They brought him home, and he became a great shaman.

# 6. THE LAND-OTTER SISTER

A man's sister had been taken away by the land otters and was married among them. One time, when he was camping by himself making a canoe, she began bringing him food. Afterward she sent her three children to help him get bait, catch halibut, and launch his new canoe.

#### 7. THE LAND-OTTER SON

During a famine at Sitka a man's son, who had been taken by the land otters, brought him bait and put halibut on his hook when they went fishing together. On the way back he speared a seal, and afterward they brought home loads of halibut, seal, etc. At first he went back into the forest during the day, but after a while he began to stay with them and day by day his body became plainer. By and by they started back to town, and as they neared it, their son's form began to grow indistinct. When his mother moved forward to look at him he was gone.

# 8. The Wolf-Chief's Son

A boy found a little wolf, which killed all kinds of animals for him. One day he loaned it to his brother-in-law, and the latter did not treat it right, so it ran away. The boy followed it, and finally came to a big lake over which he was helped by an old woman, who told him that his wolf was the son of the town chief in the village opposite. When he got there he was given a quill that would kill any animal it was pointed at, and a blanket which healed on one side and killed on the other. The people in that village were rolling something about which the chief told him was the rainbow. When he reached home again he found all dead, but he restored them to life by means of his blanket. With his two gifts he became wealthy.

#### 9. WOLVERINE-MAN

A man out hunting saw a wolverine killing a herd of mountain sheep, and presently he came to Wolverine-man's house, which was full of game. Wolverine-man taught him various hunting tabus for that region, and showed him how to make a ground-hog trap. The man also learned that a small bushy tree called slax is Wolverine-man's wife. When he got home he explained the trap to his people, and then started off trapping again with another man who thought he

understood how to do it. He who had been with Wolverine-man soon discovered, however, that this person thought he had said that the ground hogs were caught by whittling up sticks in front of their holes.

### 10. THE HALIBUT PEOPLE

A chief's daughter stepped on halibut slime and said something that made the halibut people angry. They came by canoe to get her in marriage, but as soon as they were out of sight of the town they fastened her to a rock by means of some pitch, and she died there. By and by her brothers found her body. Then one of them, disguised as their sister, went down to the halibut chief and killed him. On their way home after this one of the brothers shot a duck and said something offensive to it. For this the killer whale, the duck's grandfather, took them down to his house, burned them badly before the fire, and turned them into a certain species of duck.

#### 11. STORIES OF THE MONSTER DEVILFISH AND THE CRY-BABY

A big devilfish swept all of the occupants of a certain camp into the sea except three brothers who were out hunting. Then the two elder brothers killed it with sharpened sticks, although they were themselves dragged down by it, while their youngest brother traveled to another place and reported what had happened.

In the same town was a little boy who cried so constantly that his father called upon a land-otter-man to carry him off. The land-otter people fed him on what looked like blackberries, but were really spiders. Two days later his people found him, but when they had expelled the spiders from his body, nothing was left but his skin.

#### 12. THE WOMAN WHO WAS KILLED BY A CLAM

A woman reached under a rock for clams, and a large bivalve closed upon her hand and held her. When the tide rose she was drowned.

#### 13. ROOT-STUMP

The people of a certain village were carried up into the sky out of sight by seizing something which dropped down among them. Those who were making canoes also disappeared mysteriously. Only a woman and her daughter were left. Then the daughter swallowed some root sap and gave birth to a boy called Root-stump. This boy pulled down the thing that had carried off his people, by running his roots into the earth, and he killed the man who had destroyed the canoe makers. Afterward he became a great hunter.

#### 14. THE PROTRACTED WINTER

For treating a piece of seaweed disrespectfully a certain town was buried deep in snow at the very beginning of summer. The people were in want until informed by a bird that berries were ripe in a neighboring town. So they repaired thither and found it midsummer.

#### 15. BEAVER AND PORCUPINE

Porcupine stayed with Beaver to protect him from Bear. By and by Porcupine went home and Beaver with him, and when Bear approached, Porcupine carried Beaver up to the very top of the tree and left him. Finally Squirrel came and helped Beaver down. Then Beaver carried Porcupine out to an island, from which he escaped only by calling on Wolverine, who caused the surface of the lake to freeze over. After that happened, Porcupine went to live with Ground hog. A man caught a ground hog, but, as he was about to cook its head, the head spoke. He was scared, stopped trapping ground hogs, and went up to see his bear dead falls, when one of these fell upon him and killed him.

# 16. THE POOR MAN WHO CAUGHT WONDERFUL THINGS

A poor man could catch no halibut, although others were very successful. One day he pulled up a huge abalone, but he became so tired at what people said to him about it that he let it go again. By and by he baited his hook with a sponge saturated with blood from his nose and pulled up a nest in which were multitudes of fishes called fcqē'n. From these he became very rich.

# 17. THE FINDING OF THE BLUE PAINT, AND HOW A CERTAIN CREEK RECEIVED ITS NAME

Four brothers were forced by a storm to take refuge at a place near Mount Edgecumbe, and one of them discovered a blue substance out of which they made paint. When they started back with some of this the weather became stormy, and one of them suggested it might be best to throw the blue substance overboard, but the eldest held on and they reached home safe.

One day some women were gathering shellfish at a place not far from Sitka. While they were down on the beach the baby belonging to one of them began crying, and its mother shouted to an older child to give it something to eat. Misunderstanding her words, the child rolled the baby into the fire and burned it up. Thereafter the stream at that place was named Creek-where-a-person-was-burned (Ka'xsîganîhīn).

#### 18. VARIOUS ADVENTURES NEAR CROSS SOUND

A man collecting cedar bark slipped from his tree climber and was strangled by it. Afterward the board he had slipped from was always exhibited at potlatches. Two men belonging to the same place had their canoe swallowed by a devilfish, and the people of the town sank a great piece of half-burned wood in the sea over the devilfish hole. It was never seen afterward [and probably killed the devilfish].

Some hunters killed a land otter, cooked and ate it. They were followed home by a land-otter-man, who began throwing rocks at them from a tree. After they said something to it, it threw cones instead. Toward morning they lighted a fire under the tree and made the land-otter-man fall into it.

A woman had disappeared from the town these men came from, so everybody hunted for her. At last they came upon the house of those who had killed her, which they overthrew and set on fire over the heads of its occupants. A shaman who belonged to the people they had destroyed learned from his spirits where there was flint and broke some off by their help.

#### 19. Kāts!

A Sitka man named Kāts! hunted bear, was taken into a bear's den, and married a female grizzly bear by which he had several children. When he went back to his own people his bear wife told him to have nothing to do with his human wife and children. He went hunting every day, but took everything to his bear wife and children. One time, however, he disobeyed her injunctions and was killed by his bear family. Kāts!'s bear children afterward spread over the world and were killed in various places, the last by the Sitka people in White Stone Narrows. Before they killed him the bear destroyed an entire camp in which a girl had said something bad to him.

#### 20. The Unsuccessful Hunters

A sea-lion hunter speared the sea-lion chief's son and was drowned, but his companion reached a rock in safety. He was taken into the sea-lion chief's house, cured the chief's son by pulling out the spear point, and was sent home inside of a sea-lion stomach.

Two other hunters, along with their canoe, were taken into the house of the Gonaqadē't because one of them had struck his slave, the skate. When he learned that they were Katagwa'dî, however, he sent them home, and told them to use his emblem, Rock House.

# 21. Origin of Iceberg House

A man whose friends had all died took some pieces of ice up into the house and treated them as if he were feasting them, in order to show respect to his dead friends. Since that time the Grass people have owned Iceberg House. Afterward he went outside and called aloud as if he were inviting people to a feast, upon which a multitude of bears came down, and he feasted them. As they went out they showed their respect for him by licking him.

# 22. THE WOMAN TAKEN AWAY BY THE FROG PEOPLE

A woman in the Yakutat country said something which displeased the frogs, and she was taken away by them. Next spring a man saw her among the frogs. So the people drained the pond and recovered her. She had been living on black mud like the frogs, and after her people got all of this out of her, she died. From this, according to some, the Kîksa'dî claim the frog crest and names.

# 23. How the Frogs Honored the Dead

A Kā'gwantān chief having died, one of his friends called upon the Kîksa'dî to take care of his body. The frog people, hearing this, thought that they were meant, and when the corpse was being burnt a big frog jumped out from the place, made a noise, and then jumped into the flames. Afterward they captured slaves for the dead man, and, when they put food into the fire for him, they named the frog as well.

# 24. THE BRANT WIVES

A Kîksa'dî found two women swimming in a pond, seized their coats, and compelled them to marry him. They were really brants. When the brants came north in the spring his wives obtained food from their people, but when they returned south the wives went with them. The man went after them, and, although they were at first afraid of his bow and arrows, they finally let him live with them. When they went north once more, war broke out between the heron people and the brant people, and the man killed so many of the former that they made peace.

#### 25. Story of the Puffin

A woman used to wish that she might live among the birds on a certain island. One time, as she and some other women were endeavoring to land there, they were capsized and all her companions drowned. Some time afterward her father happened to pass the place and saw his daughter sitting among the birds. He tried to induce the birds in every way to give her up, but succeeded only by offering them some white hair that had belonged to his wife's grandfather. Each bird put one of these hairs on its head, and they let the woman go. Because the women who were drowned there were T!A'q!dentān the T!A'q!dentān claim that island.

# 26. Story of the Wain-house People

A youth who had been trained to hunt mountain sheep was carried away by them, and liberated only after his people had made war on the mountain sheep. Then he taught the people mountain-sheep tabus, and he became a great shaman. Afterward his people went to Little-lake-fort and built a big house for him. When the shaman fasted for this, he saw the Wain, so they carved the posts to represent the Wain and named it Wain House. Once, after he had had a possession, he sent his friends out for a grizzly bear. They destroyed it, but it killed the first man who attacked it, and the shaman restored him to life. Later he performed about a dead raven to make his people successful in war, and, when they went out, they destroyed their enemies' fort completely.

One time some women went to a reef near this town, lost their canoe, and were drowned in the rising tide.

Another time a wealthy man from Yakutat visited Auk. While he was there the son of the town chief threw the stern piece of his canoe, which was covered with abalone shell, into the fire. A property contest followed between the two chiefs in which the man from Yakutat was worsted.

In the same fort a woman gave birth to the greatest liar among those people. When his mother died he started for Chilkat to give the people a death feast, and on his return related the following adventures. He said that on his way Indian rice hailed down into the canoe, and he obtained sirup to put on it from a waterfall of sirup. They got up to Klukwan by blowing on the sail, and when he began crying he put a piece of bark in front of his face and the tears ran down on it in streams.

#### 27. THE ALSEK RIVER PEOPLE

Two shamans at Alsek river began singing, the one to bring up eulachon, the other to bring bears and other forest animals. The first succeeded in starting a run of fish by going down under the river in a little canoe. After that the land otters tried to carry off two women who were menstruant, but, with the assistance of the shaman, the people finally made them desist. Some people in a neighboring town who heard of it spoke contemptuously of the land otters, and their whole town with the exception of two men was destroyed by a flood of water from the lake above them. After this one of the shamans set out for another place. On the way he hooked an enormous devilfish which swept all the forest trees in his vicinity into the ocean. When he performed blindfolded at that town, the people ran out their feet to trip him up, but he jumped over them. He also stabbed a man and restored him to life. Presently he predicted an eclipse, and when

it came on, the people all danced to dance the moon out and held out their property to it so that it would not feel poor.

Meanwhile the other shaman brought an enormous salmon into Alsek river, and his spirits were so powerful that a small boy sufficed to kill it. There is a hole in the neighborhood of that place out of which quantities of rocks used to come when there was to be a great run of eulachon or other fish. A glacier crosses Alsek in one place, and he who speaks while passing under it is overwhelmed. When it was asked for food, it would rush into the water and raise a wave, carrying numbers of salmon ashore. An Athapascan shaman living far up the river was visited by several canoe loads of people from below and prophesied that one canoe load would be lost under the glacier. The down-river shaman then fought with the Athapascan by means of his spirits and killed him. There is a rock just south of Alsek river inhabited by the spirits of a certain shaman, and it is used as a crest by the T!A'q!dentān.

The Alsek River people once killed a rich man belonging to some people who lived on a stream farther north. The next time they went up there the enemy forced them to enter their fort through a narrow passage and killed a large number. On their third expedition, however, they destroyed the fort and all within it. Another time some Alsek people visited at a place beyond, where they were invited to take sweat baths, and were killed. Then the Alsek people made their shaman fight the shaman of the northern people, undertook another raid, and killed a number equal to those that had been lost.

# 28. The Youthful Warrior

A man wearing a bear skin climbed a tree, and was accidentally killed by his brothers-in-law. Some time later his young nephew heard of it and bathed for strength. Four men went out to carve things for a shaman, and the young man was deceived into thinking that they had been killed by the same persons who had shot his uncle, so he started out to war. After he had killed a great many people he was induced to give up fighting by some words uttered by his father's sister. After a time he killed one of his own clan from another town and lost some of his immediate friends in return, so he decided to go to war, but he was captured and many of his people were killed. Then he promised not to fight again, so they let him take the bodies of his people home. Some time afterward a man from Prince of Wales island, on the way to Chilkat, visited him to inquire about that place. Then his visitor continued up to Chilkat and brought home great quantities of presents in payment for dancing.

A rich man started from Chilkat for Kaq! Anuwu' to obtain property for a dead friend. He was so high that no one dared speak to him

until a poor man rushed down with a war spear as if he were going to kill him. This was to shame them for their delay, and they immediately brought the visitor ashore and paid him for his dead friend.

#### 29. THE FIRST WAR IN THE WORLD

A man named Xaku'te! killed a large devilfish with his spear, but perished in doing so. Afterward his spirit came to a man of his clan who was very powerful. Having tested his spirits, the people started Just before they reached the fort a brave man there was killed by a little boy held captive among them. Then they came upon the fort and destroyed it. Now the southern people started north. On the way they came to a great climber whom they tried to test by seeing if he could climb a very steep cliff near Huna. He went up and got away. Afterward he came down to the place where they were camping and liberated his steersman to whom they had tied their canoes. The enemy then attacked a fort and killed all of the people except one woman who was pregnant. Her they carried south, and she gave birth to a boy, who became a wealthy shaman, purchased his mother's freedom, and went north with her. Then he performed for his own people, and they set out to war and destroyed many towns, but spared that in which he had formerly lived. Now the southern people made a great raid, capturing fort after fort. At the second fort two canoes attempted to pass down through a tideway at half tide and were destroyed. From another they were driven off by means of clam shells. In one fort a man was living alone because he was very jealous of his wife, and while the warriors were talking to him one of their canoes ran against a rock and split in two, so they left him. When they had no more space for slaves, the southern people destroyed the canoes at every fort so that the northern people could not retaliate. The bulk of the northern people, however, had been encamped along the coast to the westward. When they heard what had happened they · cut down an enormous spruce, hollowed it out, and started to war the following spring. The southern people thought that the northern people could not do anything to them. They were scattered about in various camps and fell an easy prey to their enemies.

# 30. How Protestant Christianity was First Heard of at Sitka

A man returning to Sitka from the south told his people that Dekī'-anqā'wo (God) had come down from Heaven to help them, and the women dressed up and began dancing. They danced an entire year.

# MYTHS RECORDED IN ENGLISH AT WRANGELL

#### 31. RAVEN

[This version of the Raven story contains, besides frequent minor variations, many episodes not found in the Sitka version, and a number of stories usually given independently are incorporated into it. Only the sections that do not occur in the Sitka version are noted at length.]

Raven's mother kept losing her children, until Heron told her to swallow a red-hot pebble. She did so and gave birth to Raven, who was called from that circumstance Hammer-father. Nās-ca'kî-yēl tried to make human beings out of rock and leaf, but the latter was quicker and man came from it, so there is death. Then he told them that if they lived right there would be a good place for them afterward. One time Rayen sent a woman into the other world to convince her that it existed; so she went along the spirit trail and was ferried across a river at the end of it to the ghosts' country. The ghosts told her that they were hungry, thirsty, and cold, so, when she got back she told people to send the dead food and to burn their bodies. Raven taught people to have slaves and shamans, also to make all kinds of hooks, spears, traps, and canoes. He went under the sea and visited all of the fish people, teaching men afterward that fish are really human beings. Then Raven instituted war. Afterward he told the birds what they were to be like. He told what the land otter would do, especially how it would capture men. [Here follows the account of Kaka', story 5.] After this, Raven lived in a cliff near Taku with North Wind, and that is why people believe that cliffs are inhabited by spirits. He also taught them the tabus to be used when paddling on the rivers. The killer-whale chief took him into a sweat house and tried to roast him, but Raven outwitted him by concealing a piece of ice near by. He taught the people that there were Athapascans, and he taught the Chilkat people how to keep salmon frozen in storehouses all winter. He taught them also about Indian tobacco.

Now Raven went to Łaxayî'k and taught the people there to make skin canoes. A man in that country killed all of his wife's people and kept their hands in a basket in his house. When she found it out the woman asked to be taken to her own town. Her husband left her there with her children, and they found everyone dead. Then her children made a canoe out of skins taken from the bodies, went to their father's town and made him give up their uncles' hands. Afterward they made his town sink under the sea with everybody in it. Raven instructed the boys how to restore their uncles to life.

One time Raven came to a town inhabited by ghosts and tried to carry off their property, but it was taken back by invisible hands.

He went into the interior and lived with two giants successively. He told the second giant how he might kill Wolverine-man by pretending that he had been caught in Wolverine-man's trap. After Wolverine-man had carried him home Raven continued to instruct the giant, and helped him burn Wolverine-man's body, which turned into mosquitoes and gnats.

Coming to another place, Raven found a woman and her daughter living alone, and he told the latter how to make fire with the fire drill, and then told her to eat some of the powder that comes from it. She gave birth to a boy, who was called Fire-drill's-son. When he grew up his father, Fire-drill, gave him a dog, a bow and arrows, and a club, with which he killed Man-with-one-eve, a shaman who had destroyed the people of his village. Then he came to the wife of this man, who killed people by throwing her hand, which had a knife fastened to it, at them, and he destroyed her also. Starting inland, he came to Old-mole-woman, who fed him with food taken from between her teeth, and told him where the hawk lived that had carried away his people. When he reached the place he made the young birds tell him about their father and mother, who came in clouds, and killed them, after which he got ground hogs for the young ones and told them not to eat human beings any more. After that he left enough food with his mother and grandmother to last them all their lives, and went away from them. Pursuing something called Drycloud, he came among the mink and the marten people successively, but did not stop until he reached the wolf people. These became jealous of him and tried to destroy him by getting him to jump through a hoop which cut a person in two if he failed. His dog, however, seized it and threw it up to the moon, where it became the ring that indicates change of weather. Now the man and his friend among the wolves kept on after Dry-cloud and came to an old woman who told them that there was a monster fish near by. On looking at it, they found only a red cod, which Fire-drill's-son killed. He skinned it and dried the skin. After that he married Daughter-of-the-calm, and they had a son named Łakîtcîne', and this man married a woman who had a litter of puppies by the dog. Afterward she found that they were able to take off their dog skins and appear in human form, so she surprised them, gathered together the skins, and burnt them. When Łakîtcîne' saw these children he began to maltreat his wife, and her children jumped upon him and killed him. Then they went through Alaska, killing off harmful monsters. One of these, which was like an eagle, used to forewarn other animals, until they made him promise not to do so. [Here follows the adventure with the one-legged man told in story 3.] Afterward Łglavā'k! chased Dry-cloud across the sky and made the Milky Way. Coming to a very cold region in the sky, he wanted to get down, but the clouds prevented until his eldest brother, Kack! A'Lk!, opened a passage. After that they wanted to kill a monster near Wrangell, so they borrowed the canoe of Hewho-knows-everything-that-happens, and passed many obstacles in it, thereby rendering them harmless, until they came to the monster and tried to catch its head in a noose. All of their nooses broke, however, until they tried one made out of the sinews of a little bird called old-person. After that they returned to their mother and sister and went southward with them through the forest, destroying the forest monsters. Coming to an old blind man whose wife had left him, they taught him how to catch fish in a net and how to cook it. met an Athapascan shaman with long hair, and he and Kack! A'Lk! compared the relative strengths of their spirits in the sweat house, Kack! A'Lk!'s proving to be the stronger. So they told the Athapascan not to harm the people in his neighborhood. Then they moved south and tried to cross the Stikine, but their sister, who was menstruant, looked out at them, and they were turned to stone.

One time while Raven was traveling along he came to a sculpin who claimed to be older than he, so he placed it in the sky where it still is (the Pleiades). He also sent a canoe load of halibut fishermen thither. He invited the seal people to a feast, smeared their foreheads with pitch which ran down over their eyes, and then clubbed them. married the daughter of a chief named Fog-over-the-salmon, who obtained a quantity of salmon for him by simply washing her hands in a basket filled with water. One time he hit her with a piece of dried salmon, and she went away, taking all of the salmon with her. He wanted to marry another high-caste woman, but a bird named tsagwâ'n told the people how he had treated his first wife and they rejected Going on from there, he turned an old man named Damnā'djî into a handsome youth, and told him to marry the girl. This man did so, but on the way home resumed his proper shape. When his wife's people came to visit him, he had to receive them in his miserable hovel because no one else would have anything to do with him. When he went out after water, however, he came to an old woman at the head of the stream who made him young again, and gave him a basket full of dentalia through which he became rich. Some time afterward his wife wished to marry among the bird people, and at last the brants carried her off, finally dropping her naked. She came to an old woman and obtained some fox skins. She was now really a fox, and let herself be killed by her father. On cutting the fox open, however, they discovered her copper ornaments, and laid her on top of the house, when she revived and became a great shaman.

After this Raven changed himself into a woman, and married the killer-whale chief's son. She stole their food at night, and when her labret was discovered in a box of grease, pretended that it had gone there of its own accord. By and by she killed her husband, and pre-

tended to mourn over his body while in reality eating him. Raven pretended he was going to make all of the killer whales white, but instead of doing so killed and ate them. Then he came to the fishhawk and began living upon its food, saying that he was going to bring it food in return later on. He tried to live with another bird, also, but the bird left him. He married among the goose people, but they discovered him eating a goose, so they left him. After this Raven was invited to a feast, but did not come at once, and they went on without him. When he did come they paid him no attention, and he had nothing but leavings. Then Raven gave a feast himself, and instituted the feast customs.

Now Raven returned to the house of his grandfather, Nās-ca'kî-yēl, and liberated the flickers which had been kept under his mother's arms. For this his grandfather tried to kill him by having a tree fall upon him, and a canoe close in on him, and by putting him into a kettle full of water over the fire, successively, but in vain, so finally he raised a great flood. Raven and his mother climbed from one retaining timber to another in Nās-ca'kî-yēl's house, which was really the world itself, and finally flew to the highest cloud in the sky and hung there, while his mother floated on the water in the skin of a diver. Then he let go and fell upon a kelp. Next he obtained sea urchins from the bottom of the sea and deceived the woman who controls the tide, so as to make it go down. He and another person tried out grease, and the other for a deceit Raven practised put him inside of a box of grease and kicked him off of a cliff.

All of the people of a Nass town named Gît!î'kc were killed except a chief, his sister, and his sister's daughter. Then the chief got Oldman-who-foresees-all-troubles-in-the-world to help him. This old man gave him an arrow which enabled him to kill many of his enemies, but finally he disobeyed instructions and was himself killed, while his sister and her daughter fled to the woods. Having offered her daughter in marriage and refused all of the animals, this woman finally accepted the sun's son. Then he put his mother-in-law into a tree where she became the echo, and took his wife up to the sky. There she had eight children, who were let down to earth on the town site of Gît!î'kc and were helped by the sun to destroy all of their enemies.

One time a woman of the same town stepped upon some grizzly-bear excrement and was carried away by the bear people. Finally she was helped by an old woman, and ran away. As she went she threw various articles behind her which obstructed her pursuers, and at last she was taken into the canoe of a man named Ginaxcamgê'tk who married her and took her home. Her husband had also for wife a big clam, which killed the new wife, but was in turn destroyed by her husband, who also restored her to life. Finally she went back to her father, but she had really been living under ground all this time and

was very filthy. After a time she gave birth to a boy who was very smart. When he was out fishing he was taken into his father's house and received a magic club which killed of itself. With this he destroyed a giant crab and a giant mussel which used to kill people. By and by this boy had a son, who was very different from him and was called Man-that-eats-the-leavings. At that time the daughter of a chief in a neighboring village said something about the devilfish for which she was carried off by them and married to a devilfish man. Presently her two children came up to visit their grandfather and he learned what had become of her. Then he invited her and her husband and children, and killed the husband, keeping her with them. For this the devilfish made war upon them and suffocated several people, but Man-that-eats-the-leavings happened along and stopped them. Then Man-that-eats-the-leavings lived in a brush house on the beach, and the rest of his story is similar to that of Garbage-man in story 89.

Man-that-eats-the-leavings had a son who was a great hunter. One time, when he was out hunting, he lost consciousness and, coming to, found himself surrounded by several men who taught him the secret-society dances. After a time he went to the Queen Charlotte islands and was told about two youths who had become wizards by sleeping on the beach among driftwood. They would be out all night, flying around among the brants and geese. Finally a man found it out by fasting and drinking sea water, but they paid him not to tell about them. When he got back to Alaska the secret-society man told this story, and wherever it was repeated there began to be wizards.

One time Raven went shooting with some boys, when the canoe was upset and they were drowned, and he changed them into sea birds.

At the southern end of Prince of Wales island he met a man called Qonalgī'c, who had lost everything by gambling, and he enabled him to meet Greatest Gambler and win. So Qonalgī'c renewed the game and got back everything he had lost besides all that his antagonist had owned. Then his opponent's wife left him, and he went away and lived by himself. From a grouse this latter learned of a great medicineman, who in turn taught him a medicine which would make him a great dancer. He went to another town and pleased people so much by his dances and the songs that he composed that they paid him a great deal of property, and he became wealthy. After a while he taught a chief's son, so that he became a still better dancer, but the boy's father determined that it was best to leave this sort of dancing to low-caste people, reserving the chief's dance for those of high caste.

The man that first learned about dancing was upset in a canoe and became a land-otter-man called Tūts!īdîgū'L, who has very great power. Some time afterward four boys were drawn out to sea after some black ducks, upset there, and taken into the land-otters' dens. A shaman

told the people where they were, and they burned out the dens, killing many otters, but Tūts!īdîgū'L escaped with the boys. Now the land otters made war on human beings, and the bodies of the latter broke out in pimples and sores which were really caused by the spidercrab-shell arrows. At last some people came upon two white land otters, which they carried home and treated as if they were deer (peace ambassadors). Then the land otters came to the town and danced to make peace.

The people of that place were now very happy, but before they could leave it Raven came to them and told them not to go away. When four boys were at last sent, a man came down from the woods. and told them that three would die successively, while the fourth would reach home, announce that the shaman was to die, and then perish. Everything happened as he foretold, so that the people were very much frightened and no longer dared to leave town. A child which cried very much was carried away by Man-with-a-burninghand, and when its parents found it, was lying in a hole in the cliff, and ants were erawling out of its nose, eyes, and ears. Now follows a much longer version of story 93, below. Instead of being brought home at once from the sea-lion rock, according to this version the hero was abandoned there and taken into the house of the sea lions, where he cured a wounded sea lion and received a box in return which controlled the winds. Inside of this he drifted ashore. Next follows the story of the monster devilfish (story 11). At Tuxican a girl began to nurse a woodworm, which grew so large that the people became afraid, induced her to come away from it, and killed it. Since then her people, the Ganaxte'dî, have used it as a crest. A shaman there named S!āwa'n was sent for by the land otters to cure one of their number, who was carried along concealed under a mat. When they reached their town they tried to make him think that the sick person was in another house, but his rattle and belt ran ashore ahead of him to the right place. Then he cured the sick otter by drawing an arrow point out of its side; soon afterward the shaman was found lying upon a sandy beach not far from his own town with gulls flying about him.

# 32. Kakē'Q!"TÊ

This story is partially identical with story 104. A man named Kakē'-q!utê went up among the Athapaseans and taught them all sorts of ways of collecting and preserving food. Then he brought them down to the Grass people, who sent them away, so they came to the L!ūk!naxa'dî. After that the L!ūk!naxa'dî settled along the coast above Cross sound. One time the Gānaxte'dî of Chilkat gave a feast and made a raven hat. The L!ūk!naxa'dî also made a raven out of coppers, and took it to the Kā'gwantān when they went to feast them.

War followed with the Chilkat, and at first the Llūk!naxa'dî were defeated, but, when they had obtained new spear heads made of iron that had been washed ashore on some wreckage, they renewed the fight, killed Chief Yēl-xāk, and carried off his carved pole. Then the Chilkat went to Kaq!anuwū', and they made peace.

# 33. ORIGIN OF THE GONAQADE'T

A certain woman disliked her son-in-law very much because he was lazy and fond of gambling. When the people went to camp he split a tree in two, spread it apart, and caught a lake monster. He put on its skin and then began catching fish and sea animals, which he left where his mother-in-law could find them. She thought she was a shaman, and began prophesying what animal would be left next. One time the Raven called just as her son-in-law was coming out of the monster's skin in front of the village, and he died, and, when she found who had been bringing in the animals, his mother-in-law died of shame. After that the man's wife had his body and the skin carried back to the edge of the lake. There he came to life and carried her down into his house at the bottom. He became the Gonaqadē't, and their children are the women at the head of the ereeks.

# 34. A STORY OF THE GONAQADE'T

A chief accompanied by his nephews anchored in front of a cliff near the mouth of Nass. During the night all were carried away by the Gonaqadē't except the chief, who was discovered there and brought home. At first the people prepared to wage war in retaliation, but the chief induced them to invite the Gonaqadē't to a feast instead. The latter came, restored the chief's nephews, and gave each of them a headdress, rattle, and songs.

# 35. Origin of the L!ê'naxxī'daq

The first part of this is another version of story 94, while the latter part is a version of the last episode in story 105.

#### 36. THE THUNDERS

A girl offended a snail and was found next morning on the side of a high cliff with a big snail coiled about her. Then her brothers made wings, flew up to her, and brought her down. Afterward they brought food to the people of that town, and finally they became the Thunders.

### 37. ORIGIN OF THE SCREECH OWL

A woman at Sitka refused to give her mother-in-law herring, and when she held out her hand for some, dropped the hot milt of a male herring into her hand and burned it. When her son came home the old woman told him. Then the son went out in his cance, brought in a load of herring, and told his wife to go down and bring it up. She went down without her basket, and began calling to them to bring it to her. As they paid no attention, she kept on calling, and she called all night. Finally her voice changed to the hooting of an owl, and she also changed into an owl.

#### 38. LITTLE FELON

A little person came out of the felon on a man's finger. He was a hard worker and a fast runner. One time he raced Heron all the way around Prince of Wales island. A certain woman would give her daughter only to the person who should guess to what animal a louse skin she had, belonged. Little Felon helped a young man to guess it and afterward assisted him to overcome various monster animals the woman sent him after. Finally he helped him bring up the old woman's bracelet from under the ocean. By and by this young man and his wife had a quarrel and she disappeared. He went hunting for her and became a beach snipe.

# 39. Origin of the Fern Root and the Ground Hog

A cliff fell over on some girls, imprisoning all of them. They rubbed grease on the rocks, and the birds inclosed with them pecked at it and pecked a hole through. As the last girl was trying to get out through this aperture the rock closed on her, and her head and breast became the fern root, but her hinder portion the ground hog.

# 40. The Halibut that Divided the Queen Charlotte Islands

An unsuccessful fisherman on the Queen Charlotte islands finally caught a small halibut which flopped about on the beach, and at last increased so in size that it smashed that town to pieces and the Queen Charlotte islands themselves into numerous fragments.

# 41. THE IMAGE THAT CAME TO LIFE

A young Haida lost his wife, of whom he was so fond that he had an image carved to resemble her. He cherished this for a long time, until it finally came to life, but it neither moved nor spoke much. It gave birth to a flourishing red cedar, and that is why cedars are so fine on the Queen Charlotte group.

#### 42. DJĪYĪ'N

An orphan girl named Djīyī'n was very badly treated. One time she determined to stay on an island by herself, and while there she became a shaman and discovered a great quantity of food which made her rich. By and by the town chief's daughter fell sick and all kinds of shamans were summoned to no purpose. Finally they called Djīyī'n, who found that the wild canary (slās!) had bewitched her. She made this bird find the charm and throw it into the sea. Then the bird was taken at its own request to a place some distance from the village, where it disappeared.

### 43. THE SELF-BURNING FIRE

All of the people of a certain town on Copper river died of starvation except eight men. These started to walk down to the sea, but fell by the way one at a time. Then the last man came to a selfburning fire which warmed him, and all of his friends came to life and assembled around it.

#### 44. THE GIANT OF TA'SNA

A boy whose people had died off met a giant and shot him in the mouth, bringing them all back.

#### 45. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED A LAND OTTER

Another version of story 6, which differs principally in making the man visit the land-otter town.

# 46. THE LAND-OTTERS' CAPTIVE

A Sitka man was captured and carried south by the land otters. There he met an aunt who had been captured long before, and her husbands brought him back again. He was now a land-otter-man, and annoyed the people so much that they captured him and restored him by harsh treatment to his senses.

# 47. THE MAN FED FROM THE SKY

During a period of scarcity a chief's nephew received food through the smoke hole, with which he filled the empty food boxes and feasted all of his uncle's people. Then his uncle gave him his younger wife, who had been kind to him.

#### 48. THE SALMON SACK

A poor boy went fishing and pulled up a sack filled with multitudes of salmon.

#### 49. Roots

A version of story 13.

# 50. THE MUCUS CHILD

All of the people of a certain village disappeared except a woman and her daughter. The latter swallowed some mucus and gave birth to a boy who grew rapidly. By and by he met a being called Strength, who made him bathe every day, pull up trees, and break rocks, till he was very strong. After that he climbed to the top of a mountain, found a town occupied by wolves, and killed all. He came to another wolf town and obtained the box of his uncles' lives. After he had left this in each house for four days, his people all came to life again.

# 51. THE SALMON CHIEF

A man came upon a salmon lying on the beach and was about to take it home, when the salmon spoke to him, telling him to put it into the sea. He did so and afterward caught many salmon. Another time he met a salmon in the same place, which told him to eat it and put the bones of its head under his pillow. In the morning he saw two fine baby boys there. One always stayed at home, but the other was very energetic and started away. He came to an old woman who told him about a seven-headed monster to which they were about to give the chief's daughter. The boy killed this monster and married the girl.

#### 52. The Jealous Uncle

A man was so jealous of his wife that he killed all of his nephews but one by pushing them inside of the shell of a big clam or into the hole of a devilfish. The last of the nephews obtained an eagle-down bracelet which enabled him to turn into a ball of feathers, and with its assistance destroyed both of the creatures. He also escaped in this manner when his uncle pushed him off a high tree. Finally his uncle fastened him on a plank, which he set adrift, but the plank went ashore where two girls lived, and he married them. One of these had been in love with the first boy that was killed. By and by the man returned to his uncle and killed him.

# 53. THE MAN WHO MARRIED THE EAGLE

The wife of a Haida youth went with the son of the town chief, and when her husband discovered it he shot him. The slayer, escaping by canoe, was abandoned by his slave on a small reef. He got inside of a sea-lion skin, floated ashore, and was found by a girl among the eagle people, whom he married. All his brothers-in-law gave him eagle skins, in which he went hunting. After a while he learned that his mother had been driven out of town, so he carried all kinds of animals to her. One time he killed a whale and left it in front of her house. The people of the town he had come from found this and began

cutting it up, but he seized the town chief and carried him, along with the other men in that village, who were holding on to one another, far out to sea, where he drowned them.

#### 54. THE BRANT WIFE

This is a version of story 24. It differs mainly in the concluding portion, according to which the hero was left on a rock far out at sea and was carried ashore by a sea bird.

#### 55. THE DUCK HELPER

All the people of a certain village died except a woman and her son. One time the boy went far inland and got lost. He came to a lake and found a black duck there, which lent him its coat in which to fly home.

# 56. The Boy who Shot the Star

Two boys were great playmates, but one of them said something that displeased the moon, and the moon carried him off. Then the other boy shot an arrow into a star in the sky and kept shooting until he had made a chain reaching down to the earth. This turned into a ladder on which he mounted, living on berries borne on branches stuck Arrived in the sky country, he met an old woman who into his hair. told him where to go for his friend and how to get him. Then he went to the moon's house, pulled his friend out from a place near the smoke hole where he had been kept, and placed a cone there to imitate his cries. When the people discovered that their captive was gone, they pursued, but the boys threw behind them some things that the old woman had provided, which turned into great obstacles, and escaped to her house. Afterward, by her direction, they lay down where the second boy had lain, went to sleep there, and, when they woke up, found themselves on the earth below.

# 57. THE BOY AND THE GIANT

A little boy went hunting and came upon a giant with whom he lived for a long time. As the giant was carrying him along they came upon a very small bird, which the boy shot and put into the bosom of his shirt. This bird was so heavy for the giant that he had to throw it away. By and by another giant attacked the first, and would have killed him, but the boy threw his friend's club, made out of a beaver skeleton, at the intruder, and it ehewed off his legs, so that he was easily destroyed.

# 58. THE BOY WITH ARROWS ON HIS HEAD

A boy was born with sharp arrow points on his head. He was of so evil a disposition that he killed his own mother and afterward ran about in the forest, destroying all he met. At last an uncle of his killed him and burned his body, the ashes of which became minute gnats.

#### 59. GAMNĀ'TCK!Î

A somewhat extreme variant of part of story 4. The hero obtains the favor of the red-cod people by painting them red and of the shark people by painting them black.

# 60. Тие Нім-тауї'сї

A shaman took his friends to a place near Sitka and seated them there facing the sea. Then a large number of killer whales came near and fought a flat fish with sharp edges, called hīn-tayī'cî, which killed all of them except three. Some time later the shaman took them out again and the same thing recurred. The killer whales got devilfishes and a big halibut to assist them successively with like result, but finally they brought a big crab by which the hīn-tayī'cî was destroyed.

#### 61. THE EAST AND NORTH WINDS

A man married the daughter of East Wind, and afterward he married the daughter of North Wind. Everyone thought the latter was very pretty on account of her sparkling clothing, but when the east wind began to blow it disappeared, for it was only frost and icicles.

#### 62. THE BIG BEAVER

Some people drained a beaver lake and killed all of the beaver there except one very large one. Some time afterward they went up to that place and heard a woman singing, and on their way down they were all drowned. Most of them were taken captive by the big beaver.

### 63. BEAVER AND PORCUPINE

A short version of story 15.

# 64. THE MAN WHO ENTERTAINED THE BEARS

A man who had lost all of his friends did not care to live, so he lay down across a grizzly-bear trail. When the bears came down, however, he invited them to his house to a feast, upon which they went straight back into the forest. Early next day they came down, and he fed them, after which they licked the paint from his breast and arm. Next day the smallest bear came back, told their host that he was a human being who had been carried off by the bears, and interpreted what the bear chief had said in his speech the day before.

#### 65. MOUNTAIN DWELLER

Two girls ate between meals, contrary to the tabus, and their mother scratched the inside of the mouth of the elder and scolded them both. Among other things she told them that they could not marry Mountain Dweller. Then the girls ran away, and after wandering for some time, came to Mountain Dweller, who married them. While they were there their mother-in-law killed them because they looked at her while she was eating, but Mountain Dweller killed her in turn and restored them to life. After that they went to their father's town, and their husband accompanied them, carrying a magic basket which contained an enormous amount of food, and yet was made small enough to be carried on his thumb. Afterward they killed their mother in revenge.

# 66. How the Sitka Kîksa'dî Obtained the Frog

A man and his wife hunting near Sitka heard a frog singing. Both claimed it at first, but finally the man let his wife have it, and her people, the Kîksa'dî, have used it ever since.

# 67. Qāq!atcgū'k

A very successful fur-seal hunter was driven to a rock far out at sea where there was a great abundance of sea animals. After some months he and his companions set out on their return, guiding themselves by the sun. At length they came in sight of the summit of Mount Edge-cumbe and later of Verstovaia. They rested on Kruzof island, and then came to Daxē't, where the people were camping, and were received joyfully. The elder of his two wives had grieved for him all this time and was the first to catch sight of him, but the younger had married again and now felt very much ashamed.

#### 68. THE BEAVER OF KILLISNOO

A beaver was captured by some of the Dē'citān, who afterward found two spears that it had made. Becoming offended, it killed its master with one of these and then caused the earth on which his house stood to fall in. It had previously made a great excavation underneath.

69. Story of the Grizzly-bear Crest of the Te'qoedî Almost the same as story 19.

# 70. STORY OF THE EAGLE CREST OF THE NEXA'DÎ

A poor man out hunting was guided by an eagle to a great house up in the woods. This was occupied by eagles, and the man was so happy

among them that he married there and remained with them forever. Then his brothers-in-law gave him an eagle skin with which he caught all kinds of fish. Some of these he left where his mother and brothers could find them, and he told them in a dream what had become of him, and that it was he that was providing them with food. One day they saw him bringing in some fish, and heard him say, "It is I."

# 71. STORY OF THE KILLER-WHALE CREST OF THE DAQLIAWE'DÎ

A man quarreled so much with his wife that his brothers became ashamed of it and left him on an island out at sea. There he whittled out from various kinds of wood killer whales, to which he endeavored to give life, and was finally successful with yellow cedar. He sent these out to upset his brothers-in-law's canoes and destroy them.

# 72. Story of the Nanyaā'yî Crests

At the time of the flood a grizzly bear and a mountain goat accompanied the Nanyaā'yî as they were climbing a mountain. Since then they have used those animals as crests.

# 73. Story of the Frog Crest of the Kîksa'dî of Wrangell

A youth kicked a frog over on its back and lost his senses. His body was taken home, but his soul had been captured by the frogs. He was tied to a post by them until the chief came home, who upbraided him for having treated one of his own people, also a Kîksa'dî, in this manner. Then he let him go, and immediately his body revived. He told his friends all that had happened to him.

#### 74. STORY OF THE KA'GWANTAN CRESTS

A man removed a bone from the mouth of a wolf and next night dreamed that he had come to a fine town where the wolf told him something that would make him lucky.

While members of this clan were out camping, a bear stole some fish by reaching down through the smoke hole. Then they called it a thief, and it became so angry that it destroyed all of them. Afterward the people made war on all of those bears—who were Kāts!'s children (see story 19)—and destroyed them.

# 75. MIGRATION OF THE GĀNAXA'DÎ TO TONGASS

A man at Klawak lost all of his property in gambling, and his wife left him. Then he took the sons of his seven sisters and started away by canoe. Finally they settled at Tongass. While there they saw an animal that looked like a bear and shot at it, but it was medicine, and a clayey substance came off on their arrow points, which enabled them to get plenty of game, and which also caused them to become

handsome men. One time they went farther on and came to a Tsimshian town. After that a canoe came to them from their friends, and when these found what had happened to them, all joined them.

# 76. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED THE FROG

A version of story 22.

## 77. THE GIRL WHO MARRIED THE LIAL!

A girl said something about a fish called L!AL!, and afterward the fish married her. He was a very good polo player, and one time the boys became so jealous of him that they knocked him down and made fun of him. Then the L!AL! told his father-in-law to tie down his house firmly, and went off up stream. There he grew large, lay down across Chilkat river for a while, and then got up, letting the stream sweep all of the houses away except that of his father-in-law.

#### 78. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED A TREE

The spirit of a spruce tree at one end of a village came to a girl and married her, and they had a son. One day the child began calling for its father, and after all the other people had been called in, the tree people were summoned, and the child recognized an old man near the door as its parent.

# 79. THE GIRL WHO MARRIED THE FIRE SPIRIT

A girl said something to the fire which offended it, so that it carried her away and married her. After her people had hunted everywhere for her they kept the fires extinguished as much as possible, and she was sent back. For some time she kept going back and forth from her husband to her father and mother, but once her nephew, who was in love with her, seized a spoon that she was holding and her fire husband treated her badly on account of it. She never went back to him.

#### 80. Orphan

A poor girl was so smart and painstaking that she married a wealthy man. She became proud, however, and treated her poor adopted brothers ungenerously. By and by her husband died and his relatives took all of his property, leaving her as poor as before.

#### 81. THE DEAD BASKET-MAKER

A man used to cry over his dead wife's incompleted basket. By and by he married again, and one time, when he was playing with his new wife, the basket fell from above over his head and almost strangled him, so that the people were obliged to cut it loose.

# 82. THE CRYING-FOR MEDICINE

The wife of a certain man kept running away from him. One time when he was out hunting, he pursued what he thought was a bear and saw it go into a hole in the side of a cliff. He knew that it was medicine, so he took his slave up to the top of the cliff and let him down in front of it, telling him to reach a dipper in and take whatever came out. With the things so obtained the man compounded a medicine which made his wife want to come back to him, but he refused to take her. It would also bring down any animal he wanted, so that he became very wealthy.

#### 83. THE RUNAWAY WIFE

The wife of a Haida youth kept leaving him until he learned from a certain woman how to make her love him. When she tried to come back, however, he refused to take her, and married somebody else.

# 84. The Rejected Lover

A youth was in love with his cousin, but she would have nothing to do with him. Finally, in order to please her she made him throw away his clothing and ornaments and pull out all of his hair, after which she left him. Then a loon came to him and restored his hair by diving under water with him. It also gave back his clothing and landed him at another town where he married the daughter of Calm. A long time afterward they went back to his people. Every day while they were there he brought his wife water, and she put a quill into it before drinking to see whether he had been faithful to her. One day the girl he had formerly been in love with seized his hand, and when his wife tried her quill the water was slimy. Then she left him and started to walk home on the surface of the sea. He followed her, but presently she looked round on him and he went down out of sight.

# 85. THE FAITHLESS WIFE

The wife of a certain man pretended to die and was put into the grave box. Then the son of the town chief, with whom she was in love, took her to his father's house and married her. One time her little girl came to that house for fire, saw her, and told her father. Then her father went to the grave box and saw it was empty, and through the smoke hole of the chief's house he saw her playing with the chief's son. Then he made himself a wizard by playing with dead men's bones, flew to the chief's house, and ran two sharp-pointed sticks into the hearts of his wife and her new husband. Next morning he went out gambling.

# 86. THE WOMAN WHO MARRIED THE DEAD MAN

A girl kicked aside the skull of a dead person, and the following night two boys came to her and she married one of them. This was the man who had owned the skull. The two youths stayed there for a long time. When they hunted they went all through the actions of paddling, spearing, and camping without ever leaving the house. When they pretended to get back, however, their canoe would be found on the beach loaded with fish and seals. They were slowly becoming materialized when another girl became jealous of them and destroyed them by marking the places where they sat with human blood.

## 87. THE RETURNED FROM SPIRIT LAND

After the death of a certain woman her husband, who was very fond of her, started off aimlessly and came by the spirit road to a lake. He shouted to the people on the other side to come over and get him, but they did not hear him until he spoke in a whisper. After he reached the other side he found his wife and started back with her. At first nothing could be seen of her but a shadow, but gradually she became more and more distinct. She was about to resume her proper shape, when a young man who had been in love with her lifted the curtain which was stretched around her and her husband, and both went back to ghost land.

#### 88. The Sky Country

A man whose wife had died felt so lonely that he set out after her along the beach. He soon found himself in a wide trail, and met a woman tanning a skin, who directed him to his wife. The people in the town where she was staying wanted to burn him, but he made them think he was more afraid of being thrown into the water, so he saved himself. They were really in the sky. By and by a spider woman let them down, and they returned home.

#### 89. THE ORIGIN OF COPPER

A woman was carried away by the grizzly-bear people, escaped, and impeded her pursuers by throwing small objects behind her which changed into great obstructions. Finally she was taken up into the sun in a canoe and married the sun's sons, who made way for her by killing their former cannibal wife above a Tsimshian town. Therefore there are many cannibals among the Tsimshian. At last the woman returned to her parents in a canoe which was like a live grizzly bear. By and by her husbands became angry with her and left her. Then she and her child lived in a brush house covered with filth, at one end of the town. When he got larger her boy shot something in the lake which proved to be his fathers' canoe, and pounded

out all kinds of copper objects from the metal of which it was composed. Then he married the daughter of the town chief and became a great man.

### 90. The Man who was Abandoned

A lazy man was abandoned by his townspeople, who left him nothing except a piece of dried fish which one of his uncle's wives dropped into a post hole. After that a small animal killed all kinds of game for him, and he became wealthy, while the other people were starving. By and by some slaves were sent to burn his body and were feasted by him. They were told not to say anything about him, but one of them concealed a piece of fat for her child and the cries of the infant over this food let the truth be discovered. Then they went to him and he became a great chief. He married the woman who had been good to him, but killed his uncle's other wife and her husband.

# 91. THE SHAMAN WHO WENT INTO THE FIRE, AND THE HERON'S SON

A little boy was so badly treated by his uncle's wife that he went off into the woods, made eight nests, like those of the salmon, along the edge of a stream, and spent as many nights in them. So he became a shaman and could bring to himself and destroy all kinds of animals by means of his songs. By and by his uncle searched for him and found him. A spirit called Nixâ' came to him and took him into the fire, and he burned down to a very small size, but his uncle, obeying his directions, took him out, put him into a basket, and so restored him. Afterward he had his uncle send for his wife, but he took the bottom part of her away so that what she ate did her no good. By and by a spirit showed itself in the form of a bear, after the shaman had been carried into the fire, scaring his uncle's wife so that she died, while the uncle forgot to take his nephew out of the fire and let him burn up. At once all of the animals that had been killed came to life and ran away.

All the people of the town to which this shaman had belonged disappeared except a woman and her daughter. The woman called for something to marry her daughter and was answered by the heron, by whom the daughter had a son very fond of hunting. One time he found a fish called hīn-tayī'cî swimming in a pool, reared it, and, when it became as large as himself, killed it and made use of its skin. After a while he went up on one of the two trails on which his uncles had disappeared, saw a finger sticking up there, pulled up the being to which it belonged, and killed it. Then he went along in the other trail, saw a head, and killed the being to which it belonged. Next he went along the beach, came upon a monster devilfish, and killed it by means of his hīn-tayī'cî coat. He killed an enormous rat in the same manner. Then he came to a cannibal woman who offered him human

flesh to eat. When he refused it she threw a mussel shell at him to kill him, but he jumped aside, threw the shell back, and destroyed her. He put her body into the fire and the ashes became mosquitoes. Then he met and killed her cannibal husband.

#### 92. MOUNTAIN DWELLER

Another version of story 65.

# 93. Kāhā's!î, the Strong Man

In a certain town two persons were bathing for strength in order to kill sea lions. One of these, the town chief, bathed in public accompanied by all of the town people, while his nephew bathed during the night only, and lay in bed all day, pretending that he was a weakling. Finally a being called Strength came to the latter and made him so powerful that he was able to accomplish the feats the chief had set himself, namely, to pull the stump of a branch out of a tree and twist another tree down to the base. Having done so, however, he put them into their original positions, and when the chief tried them next he thought that he had become strong. When they started out for the sea-lion islands, they let Kāhā's!î go along also, and, while the chief was killed, Kāhā's!î destroyed two big sea lions, one with each hand.

# 94. The L!ê'naxxī'daq

A man saw a woman and two children floating in Auk lake, and he captured one of the children and brought it home. During the night the child gouged out the eyes of all the people living in the village except one woman, and ate them. This woman killed the child, and taking on her back her own child, to which she had just given birth, she went up into the woods and became the L!ê'naxxī'daq. As she went along she ate mussels and fitted the shells together.

# 95. Origin of the Frog Crest among the Kîksa'dî Another version of story 66.

#### 96. How the Kîksa'dî Came to Sitka

When the Kîksa'dî first reached Sitku some people, called Sky people, killed all of them except one woman who concealed herself in a cave. She called for some one to marry her, and, after having refused all the animals, married the sun's son. By him she had four boys and a girl, and their grandfather placed them inside of a fort which he let down on the site of their former village. Then the enemy came upon them, and when they were in danger, their grandfather heated the land so hot that the enemy ran down into the sea. They found that boiling hot also and were destroyed.

#### 97. The Four Brothers

In order to destroy a malevolent shaman four brothers let their sister marry him, took her back, and got her to tell them the location of her husband's heart. They killed him outside of Ring island, Sitka sound, and took away his red-snapper coat. One of these brothers, named Łq!ayā'k!, then put this on and used it in the pursuit of large animals. By and by he pursued an animal up into the sky and his footprints formed the Milky Way.<sup>a</sup>

98. The Kîksa'dî Woman who was Turned into an Owl Another version of story 37.

#### 99. MOLDY-END

A small boy made an angry remark about a piece of moldy salmon and was carried off by the salmon people to their town. When he became hungry he began eating the salmon eggs lying upon the beach, but was told that they were salmon dung. Finding that he was homesick, his salmon father diverted him by sending him to Amusement creek and placing his arms around two sand-hill cranes. By and by they started back with him, and passed through something called sit which opens and closes, and scars those salmon which are caught in it. When they camped they made other scars by throwing hot rocks upon one another, as if cooking. Then they met the herring tribe, with which they had a verbal contest, and finally announced what creeks they would enter. The boy's father went to Daxē't, where the boy let his human father spear him. When his mother began to cut him open she discovered his copper necklace, and concluded it was her son. His father put him into a basket and placed it upon the roof, where his spirit began to work in him, and he turned back into a man. Then he became a great shaman and told the people what had happened to him. By and by he tested his spirits by sending a raft load of his people over a waterfall under the sea. The next morning it came up with all the people safe. He sent his clothes-man to spear land otter, and, although he had him throw his spear across a point at an invisible animal, it struck the land otter on the tip of the tail and killed it. lived to be more than a hundred.

#### 100. MOLDY-END

Wrangell version of the above story, more detailed in the main portion but without the last episode.

101. Qāq!atcgū'k

Another version of story 67.

a This is part of a longer story of which story 3 is one version while a second is contained in story 51.

#### 102. THE SEA-LION HUNT

Some hunters killed a large number of sea lions by pushing sharpened sticks into their noses.

#### 103. THE WAR IN THE SPRUCE CANOE

The Chilkat people once warred against the Stikine in a spruce canoe and killed numbers of people. (This probably refers to story 29.)

#### 104. STORY OF THE KAGWANTAN

A noted hunter named Qakē'q!"tê killed the sleep bird, and along with it all his own people. Being unable to sleep himself, he wandered north to the mouth of Alsek river where he tried to trap a ground hog, but found a frog in his trap instead. He thought he saw some people but found they were stones. Then he went up the river and came among the Athapascans, whose good will he obtained by teaching them how to catch eulachon, thus preserving them from starvation. In spring they accompanied him back to his own people, bringing loads of furs with them. They came first to the Grass people, but these were afraid and sent them away, so they went to the Kā'gwantān who opened trade with them and became rich. The Athapascans traded particularly for a kind of seaweed.

From the wealth thus obtained the Kā'gwantān built Shadow house, and had a great feast. By and by the chief's daughter, who was menstruant, said something to anger the glacier, and it extended itself over the town, driving the people to Kaq!anuwü', while the T!a'q!dentan settled opposite. Later on the people warred with the Ługā'xadî of Alsek river and captured the Wolf post from them. A Ługa'xadî shaman was attacked by some warriors and flew away. He flew around for some time until a menstruant woman looked at him. making him fall into a pond. The warriors who had attacked him began to tamper with his spirit paraphernalia, and all but one of them were destroyed. Then the Kā'gwantān erected another house, which they named Wolf house, and carved its posts like the Wolf post they had captured. They invited people to the feast from Chilkat, Sitka, and Killisnoo. Slave's valley then received its name from some slaves who came to life after having been killed and thrown down into it, supposedly dead. Afterward two parties of young people contended with each other going after firewood, and later on pushed the house fire over on each other until the great beams caught. As a result of this fight the family scattered, and some moved to Sitka. From that time, too, they came to be known as Burnt-house people (Kā'gwantān).

# 105. STORY OF THE KÂ'CK!E QOAN

After the death of an Athapascan chief on Copper river the people of his house began fighting over the possession of a dish, and those who lost it determined to emigrate. They set out, and, after losing some of their people in the mist, crossed the mountains near Mount St. Elias and came to the sea. While they were living at the mouth of a large river a little girl reared a sea gull which attained enormous proportions. When it got large her brothers wanted to kill it, but it disappeared together with the girl. By and by the chief sent six brothers alongshore to hunt for other people. They encountered head winds at one place and lost one of their number, but finally reached Yakutat. When they got back they heard that the name of the girl who had reared the sea gull had been given to another. This girl dug up some thing long and red in the forest out of which a dish was carved like the one that had been taken away from them. Presently they called in some Burnt-house people who were coming south from the mouth of Copper river and entertained them.

After this the six brothers were sent back to Copper river for a certain copper plate that had been left there, and they went and came in twenty days each way, half the time it had taken the whole band to come out. Then the people all set out for Yakutat, where they were at first received in a hostile manner by the Kosk!ē'dî and L!ug!oe'dî living there, until they purchased a creek from them with the copper plate and settled upon it. This was Kâck!, from which they obtained their name. By and by the six brothers went hunting, and one of them became so lazy that the others left him for some time. mountain being came to him and helped him to become a great hunter. Finally he sent him home in a canoe which was really a grizzly bear. This bear turned around to be fed when it was hungry, and that is what made the turns in the river. After a time the brothers went up to a glacier at the head of Kâck! to hunt, but their canoe was carried away by a swell raised by falling ice. After waiting in vain for succor, they started to cross the glacier, but one of them became dizzy and was carried away by the Wolf people. The others got across and were in a starving condition, when the youngest discovered a mountain sheep with very large horns, that was really "the mother of the bears." After that they reached home.

By and by the six brothers started south with their brother-in-law. They tried to cross from Kastaxē'xda-ān to Auk, but were delayed for months by storms. Finally Heavy-wings, their brother-in-law, discovered that this was caused by North Wind, who was in love with his daughter, and he gave her to him. After that Heavy-wings saw and caught the L!ê'naxxī'daq and became wealthy, but because he did not use exactly the right words at that time he was killed by a copper

falling upon him and cutting him open. His nephew also saw the Llê'naxxī'daq, used the right words toward it, and became very wealthy.

## 106. ORIGIN OF A LOW-CASTE NAME

Some people found a rock man's son on some rocks and adopted him, but he got them into so much trouble that they carried him back there. Then the weather, which had been bad, immediately cleared. Since that time a low-caste person has been called a "man of the rocks."







# CIRCULATE AS MONOGRAPH

E U.S. Bureau of American 51 Ethnology U6 Bulletin no.39

PLEASE DO NOT REMOVE
CARDS OR SLIPS FROM THIS POCKET

UNIVERSITY OF TORONTO LIBRARY

CIRCULATE AS MONOGRAPH

